

International Journal of *Financial Studies*

The Financial Industry 4.0

Edited by

Thanh Ngo, Dominique Guégan, Dinh Tri Vo, Aviral Kumar Tiwari and Tu Le

Printed Edition of the Special Issue Published in International Journal of Financial Studies



www.mdpi.com/journal/ijfs

The Financial Industry 4.0

The Financial Industry 4.0

Editors

Thanh Ngo Dominique Guégan Dinh Tri Vo Aviral Kumar Tiwari Tu Le

 $\texttt{MDPI} \bullet \texttt{Basel} \bullet \texttt{Beijing} \bullet \texttt{Wuhan} \bullet \texttt{Barcelona} \bullet \texttt{Belgrade} \bullet \texttt{Manchester} \bullet \texttt{Tokyo} \bullet \texttt{Cluj} \bullet \texttt{Tianjin}$



Editors Thanh Ngo Massey University New Zealand Aviral Kumar Tiwari Indian Institute of Management India

Dominique Guégan IPAG Business School France Tu Le Vietnam National University Vietnam Dinh Tri Vo IPAG Business School France

Editorial Office MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel, Switzerland

This is a reprint of articles from the Special Issue published online in the open access journal *International Journal of Financial Studies* (ISSN 2227-7072) (available at: https://www.mdpi.com/journal/ijfs/special_issues/fintech).

For citation purposes, cite each article independently as indicated on the article page online and as indicated below:

LastName, A.A.; LastName, B.B.; LastName, C.C. Article Title. *Journal Name* Year, *Volume Number*, Page Range.

ISBN 978-3-0365-7164-5 (Hbk) ISBN 978-3-0365-7165-2 (PDF)

© 2023 by the authors. Articles in this book are Open Access and distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license, which allows users to download, copy and build upon published articles, as long as the author and publisher are properly credited, which ensures maximum dissemination and a wider impact of our publications.

The book as a whole is distributed by MDPI under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons license CC BY-NC-ND.

Contents

About the Editors
Preface to "The Financial Industry 4.0"
Richard Chamboko and Sevias GuvuriroThe Role of Betting on Digital Credit Repayment, Coping Mechanisms and Welfare Outcomes:Evidence from KenyaReprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2021, 9, 10, doi:10.3390/ijfs90100101
David MhlangaIndustry 4.0 in Finance: The Impact of Artificial Intelligence (AI) on Digital Financial InclusionReprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 45, doi:10.3390/ijfs803004513
Dulani Jayasuriya Daluwathumullagamage and Alexandra SimsBlockchain-Enabled Corporate Governance and RegulationReprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36, doi:10.3390/ijfs802003627
Amir Mehdiabadi, Mariyeh Tabatabeinasab, Cristi Spulbar, Amir Karbassi Yazdi and Ramona BirauAre We Ready for the Challenge of Banks 4.0? Designing a Roadmap for Banking Systems in Industry 4.0Reprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 32, doi:10.3390/ijfs802003265
Ramzi Nekhili and Jahangir SultanJump Driven Risk Model Performance in Cryptocurrency MarketReprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 19, doi:10.3390/ijfs802001993
Dominik Metelski and Janusz Sobieraj Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Projects: A Study of Key Performance Indicators in Terms of DeFi Protocols' Valuations Reprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2022, 10, 108, doi:10.3390/ijfs10040108
Ekaterina Koroleva FinTech Entrepreneurial Ecosystems: Exploring the Interplay between Input and Output Reprinted from: <i>Int. J. Financial Stud.</i> 2022 , <i>10</i> , 92, doi:10.3390/ijfs10040092 135
Gencay Tepe, Umut Burak Geyikci and Fatih Mehmet Sancak FinTech Companies: A Bibliometric Analysis Reprinted from: <i>Int. J. Financial Stud.</i> 2022 , <i>10</i> , 2, doi:10.3390/ijfs10010002
Yao Wang and Zdenek DrabekAdverse Selection in P2P Lending: Does Peer Screening Work Efficiently?—Empirical Evidencefrom a P2P PlatformReprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2021, 9, 73, doi:10.3390/ijfs9040073173
Xueer Chen and Chao Wang Information Disclosure in China's Rising Securitization Market Reprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2021, 9, 66, doi:10.3390/ijfs9040066
Soojin Park, Prida Erni Kesuma and Man Cho Did Financial Consumers Benefit from the Digital Transformation? An Empirical Investigation Reprinted from: <i>Int. J. Financial Stud.</i> 2021 , <i>9</i> , 57, doi:10.3390/ijfs9040057

Tu D. Q. Le, Tin H. Ho, Dat T. Nguyen and Thanh Ngo

Fintech Credit and Bank Efficiency: International Evidence	
Reprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2021, 9, 44, doi:10.3390/ijfs9030044	239
Favourate Y. Mpofu	
Taxing the Digital Economy through Consumption Taxes (VAT) in African Countries:	
Possibilities, Constraints and Implications	
Reprinted from: Int. J. Financial Stud. 2022, 10, 65, doi:10.3390/ijfs10030065	255

About the Editors

Thanh Ngo

Thanh Ngo is a Senior Lecturer at School of Aviation, Massey University, New Zealand. His works involve efficiency and productivity analysis in banking and finance, sustainability, agriculture and manufacturing sectors, aviation, and transportation economics. Dr. Ngo's research papers have been published in Transportation Research Part A, Annals of Operations Research, Transport Policy, Business Strategy and the Environment, and International Journal of Managerial Finance, among others. He is currently a member of the Editorial Board of International Journal of Financial Studies (MDPI) and an Associate Editor for Asian Economic and Financial Review (AESS).

Dominique Guégan

Dominique Guégan is Emeritus Professor at the University Paris 1 Panthéon-Sorbonne. Her domains of expertise are Risk measures in finance, Financial Regulation, Deterministic dynamical systems, Nonlinear time series, Nonparametric statistics, Contagion and Systemic risks, Extreme value theory, and Fintech technology. She belongs to the LaBex "Financial Regulation", through the Finance team of the University Paris 1—CES and she is affiliated to the Financial Engineering Department inside NYU (New York, USA) and to the IPAG Business School (Paris and Nice, France). She has supervised 37 PhD and published 10 books, 110 academic papers and 30 book chapters. She also participates to several international projects supported by Governments or supra-national bodies, and she is regularly invited in the most well-known universities in Europe, USA, Australia, and Asia.

Dinh Tri Vo

Dinh Tri Vo is an Associate Professor at IPAG Business School, Paris. He received his MSc. in Management from the CNAM and his Ph.D. degree in Management Science (Finance & Insurance) from Paris Saclay University, France. He teaches finance and banking courses such as Financial Analysis, Financial Markets, and Global Banking and Financial Regulation, in both the "Grande Ecole" and dual degree programs (IPAG-Greenwich MSc. International Banking and Finance). His main research interests are insurance markets, impact investing, and sustainable finance. Besides teaching and research, he has consulting activities and publishes commentaries in some magazines and newspapers.

Aviral Kumar Tiwari

Aviral Kumar Tiwari is an Assistant Professor of Economics at the Indian Institute of Management Bodh Gaya (IIMBG) in the Department of Economics and Business Environment. Prof. Tiwari is a C-EENRG fellow at the Department of Land Economy (University of Cambridge) and a Research Fellows at University of Economics Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. Prior to joining IIMBG, he worked as Associate Professor at Rajagiri Business School (RBS), India and Montpellier Business School (MBS), Montpellier, France from where he received his post-doc as well. After graduating with a degree in Economics from Lucknow University, Lucknow, India, he received his M.Phil. (in Labour Economics) and Ph.D. (in Energy and Environment) from ICFAI University Tripura. He is basically an applied economist with broad empirical interests with a focus on but not limited to emerging economies in particular Asia. His research interests focus on various issues concerning energy, environment, tourism, macroeconomy and growth & development etc. He has

published widely in peer-reviewed international journals and contributed more than 100 ABDC-A &A* research papers so far. He is the only Economist included from India in the career ranking of World's top 2% scientists list of 2021 published by Stanford University Study. He is ranked at first position in India as a researcher by IDEAS. He is one of the Highly Cited Researcher 2020 by ClarivateTM of Web of ScienceTM. He is one of the recipients of M J Manohar Rao Award (for young econometrician) for 2014 from The Indian Econometric Society, 2015. He is Life member, Indian Economic Association (India) and member at several other international associations such as International Association for Energy Economics (IAEE), USA, Association for Comparative Economic Studies, USA, Western Economic Association International, USA etc. He holds different editorial positions at more than 10 journals of international repute (ABDC, Scopus and ABS indexed journals).

Tu Le

Tu Le is a researcher at the Institute for Development & Research in Banking Technology, University of Economics and Law, Vietnam. His works focus on efficiency and productivity measurement in the field of banking and finance, and the industry sector, and the impact of e-commerce on economic growth, and Fintech. His recent papers have been published in Annals of Operations Research, International Journal of Managerial Finance, Managerial Finance, Post-Communist Economies, Central Bank Review, and Review of Economic Analysis. He is also a member of the reviewer board in several journals including Journal of Risk and Financial Management, Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science, Journal of Asian Business and Economic Studies, and so on.

Preface to "The Financial Industry 4.0"

Technology has been introducing and enabling new paradigms in different industries. In the financial sector, the rapid growth of technology-based financial firms (e.g., Fintech and InsurTech) has put incumbent financial institutions (e.g., banking, insurance, and credit institutions) under pressure to transform their business strategies and operations to cope with these changes. The main emphasis of this book is on The Financial Industry 4.0 to provide insightful understanding about the benefits as well as the challenges that financial institutions are facing.

We extend our thanks to the authors of the book's chapters for their dedicated efforts in delving into the presented topics. We appreciate the time and effort they invested in exploring the presented topics, and we trust that their work will enhance our comprehension of the financial sector under the emerge of the Industry 4.0.

Thanh Ngo, Dominique Guégan, Dinh Tri Vo, Aviral Kumar Tiwari, and Tu Le Editors





Article The Role of Betting on Digital Credit Repayment, Coping Mechanisms and Welfare Outcomes: Evidence from Kenya

Richard Chamboko 1,2,* and Sevias Guvuriro 3

- ¹ International Finance Corporation, World Bank Group, Washington, DC 20433, USA
- ² Institute for Intelligent Systems, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg 2092, South Africa
- ³ Department of Economics and Finance, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein 9301, South Africa; guvuriros@ufs.ac.za
- * Correspondence: richardchamboko@gmail.com

Abstract: Digital financial services and more importantly, mobile money, have become an important financial innovation to advance financial inclusion in developing and emerging economies. While digital financial services have improved the lives of many Kenyans, to the growing betting segment of the Kenyan population, these innovations have also brought great convenience to betting. The innovations have allowed easy access to digital credit which can be used for betting. Despite betting or gambling being a widely studied area, particularly in developed countries, little is known about its interaction with financial innovations such as digital financial services in developing and emerging economies. Using data from a 2017 digital credit survey in Kenya, this study investigates if bettors are more likely than non-bettors to be financially distressed or engage in welfare-undermining coping strategies and potentially experience inferior welfare outcomes. The study uses a representative sample of 1040 digital borrowers, of which 304 were digital bettors. Using multivariate logistic regressions, the study found that, after controlling for socio-economic and demographic factors, bettors are significantly more likely than non-bettors to be financially distressed, engage in welfare undermining coping strategies, and have inferior welfare outcomes.

Keywords: digital financial services; digital credit; betting; financial distress; coping strategies; welfare outcomes

JEL Classification: D60; E42; E51; G23; G29; O12; O33

1. Introduction

Digital financial services, and more importantly mobile money, have become an important financial innovation to advance financial inclusion in developing and emerging economies. The advent of digital financial services has provided those who are marginalized, traditionally financially excluded, and occupying the lower rungs of a socio-economic status ladder, with an opportunity to partake in the formal financial system. Increased financial inclusion has become possible due to deliberate policy interventions, the growing availability of mobile phones (including smartphones), and internet connectivity in developing and emerging economies (Chamboko et al. 2018). Individuals can remotely access financial services through their phones and hence enjoy improved convenience, improved accessibility, and reduced costs of using financial services (Chamboko et al. 2020).

A growing body of literature also reports a positive and significant impact of digital financial services on household welfare outcomes. Digital financial services facilitate a stable path of consumption amidst financial and income shocks (Suri and Jack 2016) and increase per capita consumption levels, thereby reducing poverty levels in the long run (Munyegera and Matsumoto 2016; Suri and Jack 2016). Wieser et al. (2019) show that digital financial services increase the likelihood of poor rural households to send and receive peer-to-peer cash transfers, reduce the cost of remittances, reduce food insecurity,

Citation: Chamboko, Richard, and Sevias Guvuriro. 2021. The Role of Betting on Digital Credit Repayment, Coping Mechanisms and Welfare Outcomes: Evidence from Kenya. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 10. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijfs9010010

Received: 7 August 2020 Accepted: 18 November 2020 Published: 1 February 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1

and increase non-farm self-employment. Msulwa et al. (2020) also show that access to formal financial services such as savings, credit, and insurance has a positive and significant impact on consumers' asset holding.

In the Kenyan financial market, the availability of financial services through mobile money services is widely celebrated as it has led to the growth of financial inclusion from 26.7% (2006) to 82.9% (2019) (Central Bank of Kenya et al. 2019). With increased access to digital credit in Kenya, consumers can conveniently access loans on their digital platforms, particularly mobile phones, and can use the same channels to make payments and store value. About thirty-four percent of the mobile-phone-owning Kenyan adult population (77% of the adult population) had once taken a loan through a mobile phone (Gubbins and Totolo 2018). Importantly, the number of digital loans has surpassed that of traditional loans at a ratio of about 10:1 by 2018 (MicroSave Consulting 2019).

While digital financial services have improved the lives of Kenyans, the rise in digital credit provisioning has nonetheless facilitated access to cash that can be used for betting. Gambling in Kenya takes on various forms, including sports betting (e.g., SportPesa, Betin, and Betway), casinos, pool games, bingo, phone-in-talk shows, scratch cards, and lotteries. The most common are sports betting, where bettors wager money on an outcome of an uncertain sports event with the hope of winning more money (Prasad and Jiriwal 2019; Williams et al. 2017). King et al. (2014); Gainsbury et al. (2013) and Gainsbury et al. (2012) pointed out that increased access to mobile devices (smartphones and tablets) has made some gambling activities an "anytime, anywhere" activity. A GeoPoll survey shows a startling prevalence of betting in Kenya, estimating that about 57% of the adult population (above 16 years) have participated in betting in the past, with a high prevalence among smartphone owners (Roxana 2019). Kisambe (2017) reports that Kenya (76%) leads in Sub-Saharan Africa in terms of youth gamblers, and among these youth gamblers, 96% use their mobile phones. The Kenyan FinAccess Household Survey of 2019 reports a conservative 1.9% prevalence of self-reported betting activities among mobile money users in Kenya. It is however important to highlight that the FinAccess survey could be understating the betting level in Kenya since it is an adult survey, which does not report underage bettors. In addition, the 2019 FinAccess Household Survey shows that among those who indulge in betting, 22.6% bet daily, 51.7% bet weekly, 6.9% bet monthly, and 17.1% bet intermittently, especially when there are big prizes to be won. Furthermore, close to 20% of the Kenyan adult population holds the opinion that betting is a good source of income (Central Bank of Kenya et al. 2019), and Schmidt (2020) reports that many Kenyans see gambling as a legitimate activity to earn a living in an economy unresponsive to their employment demands.

The Kenyan government recognizes the potential danger that is posed by gambling in an inadequately regulated environment. The growing prevalence of betting and more so the frequency of betting among bettors can potentially have harmful effects. The government of Kenya has recently raised taxes for betting, lottery, and gaming and for companies running prize competitions from around 10% to 20%, but this has faced resistance, resulting in some of the major companies in this business closing their operations in Kenya. Continued pressure on the government resulted in outright cancellation of the tax as gazetted and signed in the 2020 Finance Bill (iGaming Business 2020).

Despite gambling in general being a widely studied area, particularly in developed countries, little is known about betting, an activity gamblers engage in, and its interaction with financial innovations such as digital financial services, especially in developing and emerging economies. This study thus contributes to the literature by exploring the role of betting on digital credit repayment, coping mechanisms, and welfare outcomes in Kenya (a digitized African society). We first investigate if bettors are more likely to be financially distressed as illustrated by late repayments, having multiple loans due, failing to make all payments, and receiving reminders to repay loans. Secondly, we evaluate the possibility of bettors engaging in welfare-undermining coping strategies such as the selling of assets and borrowing to repay loans. Finally, we investigate the potential impact of betting on food and medical uptake by bettors. As far as our search is concerned, this is the first

peer-reviewed paper to study the relationships between digital financial services, betting, and welfare outcomes in the form of foregoing food and medical uptake in a developing country setting.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 provides brief literature on gambling and new financial technology. Section 3 discusses the data and measurements and methods employed in this paper, whilst Section 4 presents results and discusses the findings of the study. Section 5 concludes.

2. Gambling and New Financial Technology

Two important theories are key in explaining gambling, i.e., the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen 2011; McEachan et al. 2011) and the habitual behavior theory (Van Rooij et al. 2017). The intention to engage in a behavior (gambling) depends on beliefs about and attitudes towards the behavior, perceived social and subjective norms surrounding the behavior, and the extent to which people perceive to have behavioral control over their own behavior (Van Rooij et al. 2017). With new financial technology that is accessible with any mobile phone, behavioral intentions and actual behavior in gambling are brought close to each other. Moreover, Van Rooij et al. (2017) argue that with online gambling, the thresholds for digitally accessing content are very low and costs of initiation quite low, so the role of habitual behavior hypothetically becomes larger.

As the literature suggests, gambling has undesirable and unavoidable effects. It is addictive and becomes compulsive. Compulsiveness is explained by both the strength model (Baumeister et al. 2007) and the process model (Inzlicht et al. 2014), leading to impulsive choices being pursued. In Kenya, the absence of regulations that, for instance, allow gamblers to impose time limits, spending limits, and placing themselves in exclusion limits paves the way for this compulsiveness. Gambling is also associated with a greater degree of delay discounting i.e., growing impatience, especially as the gambling habit becomes strong (Orford 2011). Self-control and exercise of willpower are overridden. In fact, the capacity to favor abstract and distal goals when they are threatened by competing concrete and proximal goals (Baumeister et al. 2007; Fujita 2011) diminishes in compulsive gambling. Gambling effects are substantial in digital gambling because the breadth involvement and depth involvement (LaPlante et al. 2014) are quite high due to the accessibility of the addictive object. In other words, the gambler has access to gambling opportunities on the device readily available, allowing for between-session and within-session chasing of gambling (Nigro et al. 2019; Sacco et al. 2011).

Brevers et al. (2018) discuss satisfaction derived by gamblers from online gambling, now with new financial technology as ready-to-consume rewards redefining humans' selfcontrol abilities. However, rewards from gambling are very unlikely, such that Jerome Cardano (1525) wrote " ... The greatest advantage of gambling comes from not playing at all. There are so many difficulties and so many possibilities of loss that there is nothing better than not to play at all" (cited in Orford 2011, p. 50). Clinical case studies across the world, surveys of Gamblers Anonymous members, and in-depth interview studies suggest "indebtedness, stealing, deceiving and lying, arguments, violence and the breakdown of relationships, as well as personal depression and suicidal feelings" (Orford 2011) as some of the effects of gambling. Håkansson and Widinghoff (2020) find that over-indebtedness is associated with combined online casino gambling and sports betting, expected overindebtedness is associated with online gambling, and problem gambling is associated with a history of having borrowed money for gambling. Problem gambling also leads to psychological distress via a direct pathway, i.e., problem gambling is included as a predictor in the model, and via an indirect pathway, i.e., debts accumulated as a result of problem gambling drive psychological distress (Oksanen et al. 2018). Thus, the spread of digital gambling in Kenya, a developing economy with a youthful and mostly unemployed population and a non-banking adult population in need of financial inclusion, is an issue that requires policy intervention. Hence this paper's aim to explore the potential role of betting on financial distress, coping strategies, and the welfare of bettors.

3. Data and Methods

This study employs data from a Kenyan nationally representative digital credit survey conducted in 2017. The sample constitutes 3130 participants among Kenyan mobile phone users. The data are the property of the Central Bank of Kenya, Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, and Financial Sector Deepening Kenya, and the authors obtained permission to use the data for this study. Since the survey was conducted telephonically, the sample was drawn from mobile phone users in Kenya and was weighted to be representative of mobile phone owners in the country. Given that one can only use digital credit when one has access to a mobile phone, the subsample that reported to have used digital credit can be considered as representative of digital credit borrowers in the country. Out of the total sample (3130), about a third (1040) reported that they are digital credit users, and about 29% (304) of these digital credit users were identified as bettors. The key questions in the instrument that enabled us to assess the likelihood of being financially distressed included whether the participant was ever late in repaying a loan they took from the mobile phone, whether they received an SMS from the lender as a reminder for repayment on an overdue balance, and whether they were ever in a situation when payments were due on multiple loans at the same time and could not make all payments. For the welfare-undermining coping strategies, information on whether participants had to sell assets to pay loans or borrow to repay loans was gathered. Welfare outcomes included going without food or without medicine or medication that was needed.

Descriptive statistics are used in understanding the sample studied and the occurrence of betting and loan repayment behavior. The Chi-square test for association is used to ascertain if there is a relationship between the outcome variables and explanatory variables without controlling for other factors (Chamboko et al. 2017). Univariate logistic regression is used to determine if there is a relationship between the outcome variables and the individual explanatory variables. Further, multivariate logistic regression is used to check for an association between betting and the outcomes variables (proxy measures of financial distress, undesirable coping strategies, and welfare outcomes), controlling for education, age, gender, locality, and income. For the multivariate analysis component, the following specifications are implemented using the binary logistic regressions:

$LatePayment_i = \beta_0 + \beta$	$Bettor_i + \beta_2 Agegroup_i + \beta_3 Gender_i + \beta_4 Education_i$
$+\beta_5$	$Locality_i + \beta_6 Incomegroup_i + \varepsilon_i$

$ReceivedSMS_i =$	$\beta_0 + \beta_1 Bettor_i + \beta_2 Agegroup_i + \beta_3 Gender_i + \beta_4 Education_i$
	$+\beta_5 Locality_i + \beta_6 Income group_i + \varepsilon_i$

- $\begin{aligned} MultipleLoans_{i} \ = \ \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}Bettor_{i} + \beta_{2}Agegroup_{i} + \ \beta_{3}Gender_{i} + \beta_{4}Education_{i} \\ + \beta_{5}Locality_{i} + \beta_{6}Incomegroup_{i} + \ \varepsilon_{i} \end{aligned}$
 - $\begin{array}{l} SoldAssets_{i} \ = \ \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}Bettor_{i} + \beta_{2}Agegroup_{i} + \ \beta_{3}Gender_{i} + \beta_{4}Education_{i} \\ + \beta_{5}Locality_{i} + \beta_{6}Incomegroup_{i} + \ \varepsilon_{i} \end{array}$
- $\begin{aligned} \textit{WithoutFood}_i \ = \ \beta_0 + \beta_1 \textit{Bettor}_i + \beta_2 \textit{Agegroup}_i + \ \beta_3 \textit{Gender}_i + \beta_4 \textit{Education}_i \\ + \beta_5 \textit{Locality}_i + \beta_6 \textit{Incomegroup}_i + \ \varepsilon_i \end{aligned}$

$$WithoutMeds_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}Bettor_{i} + \beta_{2}Agegroup_{i} + \beta_{3}Gender_{i} + \beta_{4}Education_{i} + \beta_{5}Locality_{i} + \beta_{6}Incomegroup_{i} + \varepsilon_{i}$$

where the main explanatory variable *bettor* is a binary (Yes/No) derived from a survey question "Have you tried any of the digital betting services?". A more detailed description of the other covariates in the models is provided in Table 1.

Variable	Sample	Bettor (Yes)	Bettor (No)	Chi-Square	<i>p</i> -Value
Gender	n = 1040				
Male	55%	39.43	60.57	46.0114	0.000
Female	45%	20.25	79.75	46.0114	0.000
Locality	n = 1040				
Urban	49%	29.62	70.38	0.0805	0.220
Rural	51%	26.70	73.30	0.9893	0.320
Education	n = 1040				
None-primary	28%	27.56	72.44		
Secondary	46%	18.57	81.43	47.4835	0.000
Tertiary	26%	44.53	55.47		
Age group	n = 1040				
16-25	15%	35.81	64.19		
26-35	42%	21.86	78.14		
36-45	27%	39.86	60.14	41.0758	0.000
46-55	10%	13.01	86.99		
56+	6%	23.33	76.67		
Income group	n = 1040				
0-10,000	59%	26.63	73.37		
10,001-20,000	22%	32.06	67.94	(((19	0.082
20,001-40,000	13%	35.43	64.57	0.0618	0.083
40,001+	6%	37.14	62.86		

Table 1. Bivariate relationship between betting and socio-demographic variables.

The outcomes variables are derived from the survey questions and are defined as follows:

LatePayment: Have you ever been late in repaying a loan that you took from your phone? *ReceivedSMS*: Received SMS from the lender to encourage repayment on your overdue balance? *MultipleLoans*: Have you ever been in a situation when payments were due on multiple loans at the same time and you could not make all payments?

SoldAssest: Sold assets or belongings to pay loan?

BorrowToPay: Borrowed to pay loan?

WithoutFood: In the last 12 months, how often have (you) or your family gone without enough food to eat?

WithoutMeds: In the last 12 months, how often have (you) or your family gone without medicine or medical treatment that was needed?

The welfare variables *WithoutFood* and *WithoutMeds* required respondents to indicate the frequency at which they experienced the situations. Four options were provided, and from these, a binary variable indicating whether or not the person experienced the situation was constructed. All responses given as "often; sometimes or rarely" equal 1, and "never" equal 0.

4. Results and Discussion

As shown in Table 1, fifty-five percent of the participants were males, and 51% lived in rural areas. About 28% had primary or no formal education, 46% had secondary education, and 26% had tertiary education. Middle-aged people (26–45 years) dominated the sample (69%), while the remaining 31% was shared almost equally between those under 26 years and those above 45 years of age. In terms of income, more than half (59%) of the sample earned 10,000 shillings or less (1 US $$\approx$ 108 Kenyan shillings), 22% earned 10,001–20,000 shillings, 13% earned 20,001–40,000 shillings, and 7% earns 40,000 shillings or more. Table 1 also shows significant variation of betting by participants' gender, education, age, and income group (Chi-square tests). About 39% of males and 20% of females were bettors. Almost half of those with tertiary education, about a fifth of those with secondary school, and almost a third of those with primary or no formal education were bettors, a pattern that suggests that betting is common among educated adults. Except for those in the age range of 46–55 years, for all other age categories, more than a fifth of the participants were bettors, and more than a quarter of each income group reported betting. Schmidt (2019, 2020) emphasized that gambling in Kenya is viewed as a legitimate and transparent way of earning a living and is motivated by limited employment and income-earning opportunities, but it is also viewed as a future-income-earning opportunity, especially among the affluent. These are all possible explanations why betting is high among the educated, as well as young and middle-aged adults, and cuts across all income groups.

The bivariate relationships between betting and financial distress, as well as undesirable coping strategies and selected welfare outcomes, are presented in Table 2. The prevalence of having multiple payments due at the same time and not being able to make all payments was 20%, that of receiving an SMS as a reminder for delayed due payment is 53%, and that of being late in repaying digital loans was 48%. In terms of undesirable coping mechanisms, the prevalence of borrowing to pay an existing loan was 16%, while that of selling assets/belongings to be able to repay the loan was 5%. With respect to welfare outcomes, the prevalence of having gone without food at some stage is 29%, while that of going without required medicine is 22%. Chi-square tests were employed to check on the associations of these covariates and outcomes. Bettors (57%) were significantly more likely to receive an SMS for their digital credit repayment from a lender to encourage repayment on overdue balance than non-bettors (51%) (p = 0.065). Bettors (54%) were also more likely than non-bettors (45%) to be late in repaying a loan taken through their phones, and this relationship is statistically significant (p = 0.007). The results also reveal that bettors (25%) were significantly more likely than non-bettors (17%) to have payments that were due on multiple loans at the same time and to be unable to make all payments (p = 0.004).

Regarding betting and coping mechanisms, the results show that bettors (8%) were more likely to sell assets or belongings to pay loans compared to non-bettors (4%), and this relationship is statistically significant (p = 0.015). However, bettors (18%) and nonbettors (15%) did not show any differences in terms of borrowing to repay loans (p = 0.211). The bivariate analysis between betting and selected welfare outcomes did not show any significance, although the percentages for going without food (30.9% vs. 29.6%) and without needed medicine or medication (23% vs. 21%) were higher for bettors compared to non-bettors.

Table 3 presents the univariate and multivariate association between betting and *digital credit repayment* outcomes. The results of interest are those from the multivariate regressions. After controlling for income, age, gender, location (rural/urban), and level of education, the results show that bettors were almost twice more likely than non-bettors to have payments due on multiple loans at the same time and could not make all payments, and this relationship was significant (odds ratio (OR) = 1.84, p = 0.002). Similarly, bettors were almost one and half times more likely than non-betters to receive an SMS from a lender encouraging repayment on the overdue balance, and this association is statistically significant (OR = 1.4, p = 0.043). Bettors were also one and a third significantly more likely than non-bettors to be late in repaying a digital loan (OR = 1.33, p = 0.072).

As is reported in Table 4, after controlling for income, age, gender, locality (rural/urban), and level of education, being a bettor is significantly associated with selling assets or belongings in order to pay loans. In fact, bettors are more than twice as likely as non-bettors to do so (OR = 2.39, p = 0.012).

When "being a bettor" is the explanatory variable for a binary logistic regression model and "going without food" is an outcome, and income, age, gender, locality (rural/urban), and level of education (Table 5) are controlled for, bettors are one and half times more likely than non-bettors to have gone without food at some point in the past 12 months, and this association is significant (OR = 1.56, p = 0.017). However, going without medication has no significant association with being a bettor.

2
6
2021,
Stud.
iancial
. Fin
<u> </u>
Int.

All	All	29% 71%			1040	
rithout or Medical that Was d (%)	No	76.97 79.48	%	00 88	10	
Gone w Medicine o Treatment Neede	Yes	23.03 20.52	22	0.3	10	
vithout Food to (%)	No	69.08 70.38	%	735 77	40	
Gone v Enough Eat	Yes	30.92 29.62	29	0.17	10	
ssets or gs to Pay 1 (%)	No	92.43 96.06	%	536 115	40	
Sold A Belongin Loar	Yes	7.57 3.94	ũ	5.9	1	
d to Pay 1 (%)	No	82.24 85.33	%	513 11	40	
Borrowe Loan	Yes	17.76 14.67	16	1.56	104	
s Due on Loans at Time and ot Make ents (%)	No	75.00 82.74	%	140 04	40	
Payment Multiple the Same Could N All Payr	Yes	25.00 17.26	20	8.2	10	
l SMS to urage nent on Balance	No	42.76 49.05	%	107 165	40	
Received Encou Repayn Overdue	Yes	57.24 50.95	23	3.41	104	
een Late aying a Taken 10ne (%)	No	45.72 54.89	3%	467 307)40	
Ever Be in Rep Loan from Pł	Yes	54.28 45.11	4	7.2	10	
	ctor	Yes No	Total	Chi-Square <i>p</i> -value	ole (n)	
	Fac	Bettor (%)			Samp	

Table 2. Bivariate relationship between betting and digital credit repayment/coping strategies/welfare outcomes.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2021, 9, 10

						þ	þ					
Factors	Ever Been ir on Multiple No	1 a Situatic Loans at ti t Make Al	on When Payme he Same Time a l Payments (Yes	ents Were Due ind You Could s/No)	Receivec Repayı	l SMS from nent on Ov	the Lender to] erdue Balance	Encourage (Yes/No)	Ever Been I	ate in Repa from Your J	ying a Loan Th	ıt You Took
	Univar	iate	Mult	ivariate	Univar	iate	Mult	ivariate	Univar	iate	Multiv	ariate
	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)
Bettor	0.469 ***	0.164	0.610 ***	1.840 (0.356)	0.253 *	0.137	0.337 **	1.401 (0.233)	0.368 ***	0.137	0.296 *	1.344 (0.221)
				Educat	ion (base outco	ne: primary	or no formal e	ducation)				
Secondary	0.144	0.210	-0.030	0.970 (0.246)	-0.126	0.169	-0.090	0.913(0.193)	-0.090	0.168	-0.034	0.966 (0.203)
Tertiary	0.004	0.197	-0.078	0.924(0.209)	-0.225	0.155	-0.189	0.827(0.155)	-0.120	0.154	-0.054	0.947(0.177)
Urban	-0.028	0.164	0.013	1.013(0.179)	0.034	0.131	0.016	1.016(0.147)	-0.042	0.131	-0.079	0.923(0.133)
Female	-0.072	0.156	-0.073	0.929 (0.169)	0.017	0.125	0.130	1.138(0.169)	-0.159	0.124	-0.153	0.857 (0.127)
					Age (bas	e outcome:	55+ years)					
16-24	0.705	0.519	0.545	1.725 (0.938)	0.340	0.313	0.328	1.389(0.487)	0.548 *	0.327	0.383	1.467 (0.535)
25-34	0.982 *	0.483	0.813	2.255 (1.120)	0.718 **	0.283	0.739 **	2.094 (0.657)	1.034 ***	0.297	0.879	2.409 (0.787)
35-44	1.206 *	0.488	1.215 ***	3.372 (1.684)	0.597 **	0.291	0.597 *	1.818 (0.582)	0.609 **	0.306	0.533	1.704(0.569)
45-54	1.081 *	0.517	1.234 ***	3.435(1.824)	0.688 **	0.321	0.637 *	1.89(0.671)	0.733 **	0.334	0.591	1.805(0.663)
					Inc in 000 (bé	ise outcome:	: 40+ shillings)					
≤ 10	-0.197	0.309	0.001	1.001 (0.367)	-0.154	0.253	-0.112	0.893 (0.268)	-0.191	0.252	-0.015	0.984 (0.292)
$10 < Inc \leq 20$	0.168	0.333	0.147	1.158 (0.427)	-0.047	0.278	-0.209	0.811 (0.254)	-0.451	0.277	-0.340	0.711 (0.221)
$20 < \text{Inc} \le 40$	-0.319	0.377	-0.288	0.749(0.302)	-0.119	0.299	-0.278	0.756 (0.251)	-0.441	0.299	-0.313	0.730(0.241)
constant	ı		-2.347 ***	0.095(0.056)	ı		-0.289	0.748(0.310)	1		-0.578	0.560(0.236)
Pseudo R2	'		0.0	0249	1		.0	0135	1		0.0	197
Sample (n)	1040	0	1	040			1040				1040	
			4	Votes: Inc = incon	ne group; level c	f significanc	e: <i>p</i> < 0.01 ***, <i>p</i>	< 0.05 **, p < 0.10	0*.			

Table 3. Association between betting and digital credit repayment.

	Sold Assets or Belongings to Pay Loan Borrowed to Repay a Loan							ı
Factors	Univari	Univariate M		ivariate	Univariate		Multi	variate
	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)
Bettor	0.691 **	0.288	0.869 **	2.386 (0.825)	0.228	0.183	0.063	1.066 (0.231)
	Education (base outcome: primary or no formal education)							
Secondary	0.303	0.396	0.777	2.175 (1.077)	-0.498 **	0.222	-0.517	0.595 (0.159)
Tertiary	0.222	0.373	0.356	1.428 (0.640)	-0.544 ***	0.202	-0.661	0.516 (0.123)
Urban	0.868 ***	0.309	1.181	3.260 (1.088)	0.168	0.181	0.149	1.161 (0.223)
Female	-0.543 *	0.289	-0.420	0.656 (0.218)	-0.063	0.172	-0.047	0.954 (0.190)
			Age (b	base outcome: 55	+ years)			
16-24	0.505	0.806	0.697	2.009 (1.676)	0.229	0.440	0.087	1.091 (0.533)
25 - 34	0.447	0.752	0.483	1.622 (1.264)	0.333	0.401	0.236	1.266 (0.553)
35 - 44	-0.033	0.795	-0.126	0.880 (0.733)	-0.006	0.418	0.012	1.013 (0.457)
45-54	1.047	0.786	1.512	4.538 (3.713)	0.042	0.461	-0.025	0.975 (0.491)
Inc in 000 (base outcome: 40+ shillings)								
≤ 10	0.686	0.738	0.685	1.984 (1.573)	0.486	0.413	0.844	2.327 (1.091)
$10 < Inc \le 20$	0.636	0.781	0.292	1.340 (1.099)	0.594	0.439	0.593	1.810 (0.877)
$20 < Inc \le 40$	0.101	0.879	-0.238	0.787 (0.716)	0.688	0.460	0.634	1.885 (0.943)
constant	-		-4.994 ***	0.006 (0.007)	-		-2.054 ***	0.128 (0.078)
Pseudo R2	-		0.0)765	-		0.0)132
Sample (n)	1040		1	040			1040	

Table 4. Association between betting and coping mechanism.

Notes: Inc = income group; level of significance: $p < 0.01^{***}$, $p < 0.05^{**}$, $p < 0.10^{*}$.

Table 5. Association between betting and welfare outcomes.

	G	one withou	t Enough Food to	Gone without Medicine or Medical Treatment that Was Needed				
Factors	Univari	ate	Mult	ivariate	Univar	iate	Mult	ivariate
	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)	Coefficient	SE	Coefficient	OR (SE)
Bettor	0.061	0.148	0.443 **	1.558 (0.290)	0.148	0.164	0.307	1.359 (0.276)
		Ed	ducation (base ou	tcome: primary or	no formal educat	ion)		
Secondary	0.918 ***	0.197	0.322	1.380 (0.339)	0.722	0.212	0.030	1.031 (0.269)
Tertiary	0.697 ***	0.186	0.233	1.263 (0.286)	0.344	0.205	0.030	0.767 (0.188)
Urban	0.208	0.141	0.450 ***	1.569 (0.257)	-0.018	0.157	0.204	1.227 (0.220)
Female	0.335	0.137	0.218	1.244 (0.210)	0.291	0.154	0.052	1.053 (0.195)
			Age	(base outcome: 55-	⊦ years)			
16-24	-0.487	0.319	-0.625	0.534 (0.205)	-0.325	0.342	-0.568	0.566 (0.228)
25 - 34	-0.555 *	0.285	-0.459	0.631 (0.213)	-0.692 *	0.309	-0.634	0.530 (0.189)
35 - 44	-0.304	0.293	-0.225	0.798 (0.276)	-0.469	0.318	-0.561	0.570 (0.209)
45-54	-0.557 *	0.332	-0.343	0.709 (0.276)	-0.156	0.348	-0.233	0.792 (0.321)
Inc in 000 (base outcome: 40+ shillings)								
≤10	2.387	0.521	2.551 ***	12.82 (3.847)	2.173 **	0.597	2.555 ***	12.880 (3.510)
$10 < Inc \le 20$	1.423	0.543	1.556 **	4.743 (2.963)	1.280 ***	0.623	1.586 **	4.887 (2.682)
$20 < Inc \le 40$	0.715	0.588	0.894	2.445 (1.622)	0.646	0.676	1.004	2.730 (2.172)
constant	-		-3.162	0.042 (0.029)	-		-2.978	0.050 (0.040)
Pseudo R2	-		0.	0849	-		0.0	0689
Sample (n)			1040				1040	

Notes: Inc = income group; level of significance: p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.05 **, p < 0.10 *.

The risks associated with gambling in general are well-known, and Effertz et al. (2018) posit that the discussion about the gambling risks is as old as gambling itself. Research on online gambling is relatively recent, however, and Papineau et al. (2018) put the time frame of research focusing on online gambling and public health concerns as having started about twenty years ago, with the advancement in technology facilitating online gambling. In the current study, digital financial services, facilitated by accessibility of advanced technology-savvy gadgets such as smartphones and tablets, allow for ease of access to gaming and online applications for gambling. Effertz et al. (2018) argue that gaming and online applications for gambling are faster, more attractive, and less costly, yet they are more addictive when compared to traditional gambling opportunities. Zhang et al. (2018) find that mobile phones, especially smartphones, are the most commonly used platforms for online gambling arong Asian individuals. Black et al. (2017) and Papineau et al. (2018) report gambling problems to have more adverse effects among online gamblers compared to offline gamblers. The current study reports such negative effects of digital betting on credit repayment, coping mechanisms, and welfare outcomes in a digitized developing economy.

The self-reported financial distress measures show that bettors have a higher likelihood of becoming financially distressed when compared to non-bettors. Mihaylova et al. (2013) and Håkansson and Widinghoff (2020) also report that online gambling is associated with problem gambling, overspending, and over-indebtedness. Online gambling as a behavioral addiction (Mallorquí-Bagué et al. 2017) is in our study found to be associated with negative outcomes. Participants in our study embraced financial innovations that are accessible via mobile phones and tablets, thus making finances accessible through digital means and at the same time have the opportunity to gamble. This puts them in a position to easily engage in online or digital gambling.

The current study also indicates that betting is associated with undesirable coping mechanisms as shown by the tendency to use assets or other belongings to repay loans among bettors. These undesirable coping mechanisms are exemplary of what Black et al. (2017) and Papineau et al. (2018) consider as extra burden impacts of online gambling on the lives of gamblers. Together, the association between betting and being financially distressed and engaging in undesirable coping mechanisms, as well as the risk of going without food among bettors, suggest an impaired quality of life among bettors. A study by Papineau et al. (2018) shows that online gambling impacts gamblers' work, relationships, mental and physical health, finances, and quality of life. Although financial innovations such as digital financial services improve peoples' lives, for the betting segment of the population, the negative effects of betting pose a considerable threat given that it enables problem gambling, Black et al. (2013) and other earlier researchers argue to be a public health problem that is costly to the society.

5. Conclusions

Digital financial services and, more importantly, mobile money, have become an important financial innovation to advance financial inclusion in developing and emerging economies. A growing body of literature also reports a positive and significant impact of digital financial services on household welfare outcomes. Nevertheless, to the growing betting segment of the Kenyan population, digital financial services have brought great convenience to betting by allowing easy access to digital credit that can be used for betting. Using survey data from Kenya, this study shows that digital betting is associated with undesirable outcomes on credit repayment, coping mechanisms, and the welfare of bettors. When controlling for socio-economic and demographic factors, bettors were shown to be more likely than non-bettors to be financially distressed, engage in welfare undermining coping strategies, and have inferior welfare outcomes. These findings suggest the need for educating the public about the possible effects of betting and gambling in general.

This study has some limitations. First, it only shows associations between betting and identified outcomes, and it does not infer causal relationships. As such, studies that can isolate the effects of betting on these outcomes using careful identification strategies are

needed. The second limitation in the data is that there is no specific survey question that captures the amount of the wagers. For example, a 100 shillings wager every day, though higher in frequency, is less significant than a 2000 shillings wager three times a week. In addition, no information was gathered with respect to an increase in the amount of a wager over time. These data limitations can be addressed by developing a specific questionnaire that gathers detailed information with regard to gambling and welfare outcomes in Kenya.

Author Contributions: R.C. contributed to this article in terms of conceptualization, formal analysis, funding acquisation, methodology, visualization and reviewing and editing of the manuscript. S.G.'s contribution is on conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, writing up original draft and reviewing and editing the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This project benefits from the research funds from the Institute for Intelligent Systems at the University of Johannesburg and the University of the Free State. The authors are very grateful.

Acknowledgments: The authors acknowledge the insightful comments from the unknown reviewers as well as the Central Bank of Kenya, Kenya National Bureau of Statistics & Financial Sector Deepening Kenya for allowing access to the data.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

Ajzen, Icek. 2011. The theory of planned behavior: Reactions and reflections. Psychology & Health 26: 1113–27. [CrossRef]

- Baumeister, Roy F., Kathleen D. Vohs, and Dianne M. Tice. 2007. The strength model of self-control. Current Direction in Psychological Science 16: 351–55. [CrossRef]
- Black, Donald W., Martha Shaw, Brett McCormick, and Jeff Allen. 2013. Pathological gambling: Relationship to obesity, self-reported chronic medical conditions, poor lifestyle choices, and impaired quality of life. Comprehensive Psychiatry 54: 97–104. [PubMed]
- Black, Donald W., William Coryell, Brett McCormick, Martha Shaw, and Jeff Allen. 2017. A prospective follow-up study of younger and older subjects with pathological gambling. *Psychiatry Research* 256: 162–68. [PubMed]
- Brevers, Damien, Jennifer Foucart, Ofir Turel, Anais Bertrand, Mikael Alaerts, Paul Verbanck, Charles Kornreich, and Antoine Bechara. 2018. The impact of self-control cues on subsequent monetary risk-taking. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions* 7: 1044–55. [PubMed]
- Central Bank of Kenya, Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, and FSD Kenya. 2019. FinAccess Household Survey. Available online: https://fsdkenya.org/publication/finaccess2019/ (accessed on 18 March 2020).
- Chamboko, Richard, Alessandro Re, and Sevias Guvuriro. 2017. Mapping Patterns of Multiple Deprivation in Namibia. International Journal of Social Economics 44: 2486–99.
- Chamboko, Richard, Fabian Reitzug, Robert Cull, Sorein Heitmann, and Morne Van Der Westhuizen. 2020. The Role of Gender in Agent: Evidence from Democratic Republic of Congo. Policy Research Working Paper No. 9449. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Chamboko, Richard, Soren Heitmann, and Morne Van Der Westhuizen. 2018. Women and Digital Financial Services in Sub-Saharan Africa: Understanding the Challenges and Harnessing the Opportunities. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Effertz, Tobias, Anja Bischof, Hans-Jürgen Rumpf, Christian Meyer, and Ulrich John. 2018. The effect of online gambling on gambling problems and resulting economic health costs in Germany. *The European Journal of Health Economics* 19: 967–78. [CrossRef]
- Fujita, Kentaro. 2011. On conceptualizing self-control as more than the effortful inhibition of impulses. Personality and Social Psychology Review 15: 352–66. [CrossRef]
- Gainsbury, Sally M., Alex Russell, Nerilee Hing, Robert Wood, and Alex Blaszczynski. 2013. The impact of internet gambling on gambling problems: A comparison of moderate-risk and problem Internet and non-Internet gamblers. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 27: 1092–101. [CrossRef]
- Gainsbury, Sally M., Robert Wood, Alex Russell, Nerilee Hing, and Alex Blaszczynski. 2012. A digital revolution: Comparison of demographic profiles, attitudes and gambling behavior of Internet and non-Internet gamblers. *Computers in Human Behavior* 28: 1388–98. [CrossRef]
- Gubbins, Paul, and Edoardo Totolo. 2018. Digital Credit in Kenya: Evidence from Demand Side-Survey. Financial Sector Deepening (FSD) Kenya. Available online: https://fsdkenya.org/publication/digital-credit-in-kenya-evidence-from-demand-side-surveys/ (accessed on 16 April 2020).
- Håkansson, Anders, and Carolina Widinghoff. 2020. Over-Indebtedness and Problem Gambling in a General Population Sample of Online Gamblers. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 11: 7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- iGaming Business. 2020. Kenya Betting Tax Removed as Kenyatta Signs Finance Bill. Available online: https://www.igamingbusiness. com/news/kenya-betting-tax-removed-kenyatta-signs-finance-bill#:~{]:text=Kenyan%20President%20Uhuru%20Kenyatta% 20has,and%20Betin%20exiting%20the%20market (accessed on 16 April 2020).
- Inzlicht, Michael, Brandon J. Schmeichel, and Neil C. Macrae. 2014. Why self-control seems (but may not be) limited. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 18: 127–33. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- King, Daniel L., Paul H. Delfabbro, Dean Kaptsis, and Tara Zwaans. 2014. Adolescent simulated gambling via digital and social media: An emerging problem. *Computers in Human Behavior* 31: 305–13. [CrossRef]
- Kisambe, Samuel. 2017. Kenya Boasts of Having the Most Young Gamblers in Africa. CGTN Africa. Available online: https: //africa.cgtn.com/2017/04/07/kenya-boasts-of-having-the-most-young-gamblers-in-africa/ (accessed on 12 February 2020).
- LaPlante, Debi A., Sarah E. Nelson, and Heather M. Gray. 2014. Breadth and depth involvement: Understanding Internet gambling involvement and its relationship to gambling problems. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 28: 396. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mallorquí-Bagué, Nuria, Fernando Fernández-Aranda, María Lozano-Madrid, Roser Granero, Gemma Mestre-Bach, Marta Baño, Amparo D. Pino-Gutiérrez, Monica Gómez-Peña, Neus Aymamí, José M. Menchón, and et al. 2017. Internet gaming disorder and online gambling disorder: Clinical and personality correlates. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions* 6: 669–77. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- McEachan, Rosemary R. C., Mark Conner, Natalie J. Taylor, and Rebecca J. Lawton. 2011. Prospective prediction of health-related behaviors with the Theory of Planned Behavior: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology Review* 5: 97–144. [CrossRef]
- MicroSave Consulting. 2019. Making Digital Credit Truly Responsible: Insights from Analysis of Digital Credit in Kenya. Nairobi: MSC.
- Mihaylova, Tsvetelina, Sylvia Kairouz, and Louise Nadeau. 2013. Online poker gambling among university students: Risky endeavour or harmless pastime? *Journal of Gambling Issues* 1–18. [CrossRef]
- Msulwa, Baraka, Richard Chamboko, Celina Lee, Jaco Weideman, and Krista Nordin. 2020. The Impact of Formal Financial Services Uptake on Asset Holdings in Kenya: Causal Evidence from a Propensity Score Matching Approach. African Review of Economics and Finance. Available online: https://african-review.com/online-first-details.php?id=4 (accessed on 25 September 2020).
- Munyegera, Ggombe Kasim, and Tomoya Matsumoto. 2016. Mobile Money, Remittances, and Households Welfare: Panel Evidence from Rural Uganda. World Development 79: 127–37. [CrossRef]
- Nigro, Giovanna, Olimpia Matarazzo, Maria Ciccarelli, Francesca D'Olimpio, and Marina Cosenza. 2019. To chase or not to chase: A study on the role of mentalization and alcohol consumption in chasing behavior. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions* 8: 743–53.
- Oksanen, Atte, Iina Savolainen, Anu Sirola, and Markus Kaakinen. 2018. Problem gambling and psychological distress: A crossnational perspective on the mediating effect of consumer debt and debt problems among emerging adults. *Harm Reduction Journal* 15: 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Orford, Jim. 2011. An unsafe bet. In The Dangerous Rise of Gambling and the Debate We Should Be Having. Birmingham: Wiley.
- Papineau, Elisabeth, Guy Lacroix, Serge Sevigny, Jean-Francois Biron, Nicolas Corneau-Tremblay, and Fanny Lemétayer. 2018. Assessing the differential impacts of online, mixed, and offline gambling. *International Gambling Studies* 18: 69–91. [CrossRef]
- Prasad, Sambhu, and Prakash O. Jiriwal. 2019. Pathological Gambling Disorder: An Overview. Journal of Clinical & Diagnostic Research 13: 1–5. [CrossRef]
- Roxana, Elliott. 2019. Gambling in Kenya: Mobile Phones and Football Boost Popularity. Available online: https://www.geopoll.com/ blog/gambling-kenya-mobile-phones-football/ (accessed on 10 June 2020).
- Sacco, Paul, Luis R. Torres, Renee M. Cunningham-Williams, Carol Woods, and Jay G. Unick. 2011. Differential item functioning of pathological gambling criteria: An examination of gender, race/ethnicity, and age. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 27: 317–30. [PubMed]
- Schmidt, Mario. 2019. 'Almost everybody does it ... ' gambling as future-making in Western Kenya. Journal of Eastern African Studies 13: 739–57.
- Schmidt, Mario. 2020. Gambling against the Kenyan State. Africa at LSE 1–10. Available online: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/10 3749 (accessed on 23 September 2020).
- Suri, Tavneet, and William Jack. 2016. The Long-Run Poverty and Gender Impacts of Mobile Money. Science 354: 1288–92. [CrossRef] Van Rooij, Antonius J., Mariek V. Abeele, and Jan Van Looy. 2017. OP-119: Examining the role of (un) conscious determinants in online
- gambling: Complementing the theory of planned behavior with the concept of habit. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions* 6: 57–58. Wieser, Christina, Miriam Bruhn, Johannes Kinzinger, Christian Ruckteschler, and Soren Heitmann. 2019. The Impact of Mobile Money
- on Poor Rural Households Experimental Evidence from Uganda. In *Policy Research Working Paper 8913*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Williams, Robert J., Rachel A. Volberg, Rhys M.G. Stevens, Lauren A. Williams, and Jennifer N. Arthur. 2017. *The Definition, Dimensionalization, and Assessment of Gambling Participation*. Alberta: Canadian Consortium for Gambling Research.
- Zhang, Melvyn, Yi Yang, Song Guo, Chris Cheok, Kim E. Wong, and Gomathinayagam Kandasami. 2018. Online gambling among treatment-seeking patients in Singapore: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 15: 832. [CrossRef]





Article Industry 4.0 in Finance: The Impact of Artificial Intelligence (AI) on Digital Financial Inclusion

David Mhlanga

School of Accounting, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg 2006, South Africa; dmhlanga67@gmail.com Received: 3 June 2020; Accepted: 8 July 2020; Published: 28 July 2020

Abstract: This study sought to investigate the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. Digital financial inclusion is becoming central in the debate on how to ensure that people who are at the lower levels of the pyramid become financially active. Fintech companies are using AI and its various applications to ensure that the goal of digital financial inclusion is realized that is to ensure that low-income earners, the poor, women, youths, small businesses participate in the mainstream financial market. This study used conceptual and documentary analysis of peer-reviewed journals, reports and other authoritative documents on AI and digital financial inclusion to assess the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. The present study discovered that AI has a strong influence on digital financial inclusion in areas related to risk detection, measurement and management, addressing the problem of information asymmetry, availing customer support and helpdesk through chatbots and fraud detection and cybersecurity. Therefore, it is recommended that financial institutions and non-financial institutions and governments across the world adopt and scale up the use of AI tools and applications as they present benefits in the quest to ensure that the vulnerable groups of people who are not financially active do participate in the formal financial market with minimum challenges and maximum benefits.

Keywords: artificial intelligence; digital financial inclusion; finance; industry 4.0

JEL Classification: G2; G4; O; O16

1. Introduction

Digital financial inclusion is increasingly becoming central in the debate on how to ensure that people who are at the lower levels of the pyramid become financially active (Peric 2015). Banks and non-bank institutions are coming together to widen financial access using digital financial approaches to include those who are financially excluded and the underserved populations (Peric 2015). Banks and non-banking institutions are building on digital ways that were in use for years through the direct application of artificial intelligence (AI) to improve access even to the people who were previously served by the formal financial institutions (Alameda 2020; Peric 2015). The fourth industrial revolution is bringing changes in the traditional banking sector built in the industrial revolution premised on paper and physical distribution of cash (Alameda 2020).

The term fintech or financial technologies is used to describe different innovative business models that have great potential to transform the financial services industry (Mamoshina et al. 2018). The fintech business model offers various financial products or services in an automated fashion through the wide use of the internet (Paul 2019). Technologies that are driving industry 4.0 such as AI, machine learning, cognitive computing and distributed ledger technologies can be used to supplement fintech new entrants and traditional incumbents (Lopes and Pereira 2019a). Some other AI technologies that can be applied in the fintech sector to promote financial inclusion including *audio processing, knowledge representation, speech to text, deep learning, expert systems, natural language processing, machine learning*

(*ML*), *robotics*, *and symbolic logic* (Paul 2019). It is believed that the popularity of AI technologies boomed in 2011 when companies like Google, Microsoft, IBM and Facebook embarked on a massive investment in AI and machine learning to be applied in the commercial space.

The traditional banking market is equipped with millions of customers with a history that spans over hundreds of years, and some of these customers may be worth billions (Alameda 2020; Peric 2015). The challenge which is currently there is that these customers are not digital (Alameda 2020; Loufield et al. 2018). On the other hand, fintech start-ups have a rich digital vision but to win the trust of customers is a huge obstacle to them (The World Bank 2020). The occurence of the disturbances caused by COVID-19 brought another perspective of fintech to customers as it was the only option available to engage in banking as well as buying. Banks resorted to digital banking while shopping in many countries was done online using various banking applications to perform transactions. In addition, the existence of various tech corporations like Google, Apple, Facebook Amazon in America and Baidu, Alibaba and Tencent in Asia who take pride in having millions of customers with financial returns in the billions and decades of history and a pure digital vision will act as examples a for banks to embrace digital technology and to understand the importance of AI in finance (Alameda 2020).

The World Bank stated that digital financial services which include the use of mobile phones have been launched in more than 80 countries (The World Bank 2020; Chu 2018). As a result, millions of formerly excluded and underserved poor individuals are migrating from cash-based transactions to formal financial services where a variety of services like payments, transfers, credit, insurance, securities and savings are offered to them (The World Bank 2020). Mobile phones and other digital tools including AI are widely used and the rate at which financial inclusion is rising is commendable (Salampasis and Mention 2018; Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation 2019). With digital financial inclusion, financial services are provided to customers at an affordable cost in ways that are sustainable to customers (Gomber et al. 2017). Digital financial services provide unlimited benefits to the previously excluded customers but it comes with a lot of risks which result from the introduction of non-financial firms in the provision of new technologies used in the process (The World Bank 2020; Rathi 2016).

Another risk in digital finance lies in the existence of new contractual relationships between financial institutions and third parties which involve the use of agent networks, other risks result from different regulatory treatment of deposit-like products as compared to real deposits, there are other risks which result from unknown and unpredictable costs to inexperienced and vulnerable consumers, together with risks that result from the use of new kinds of data which come with new privacy and data security issues (The World Bank 2020; Rathi 2016). However, experts are indicating that the use of AI (particularly algorithms) can help to fight some of the risks (Chu 2018; Killeen and Chan 2018). Motivated by the fact that in the industry 4.0, AI is increasingly becoming common while on the other hand digital financial inclusion is becoming central in the debate on how to ensure that people who are at the lower levels of the pyramid become financially active, for instance, groups of women, youths, small businesses among many disadvantaged groups. This study, therefore, intends to investigate the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion, that is to understand the channels in which AI can help to improve financial inclusion.

1.1. History and Definition of Digital Financial Inclusion

Financial inclusion refers to the number of adults having access to banking or financial services. The Global Findex Survey reported that in the 15+ age group, 79.9% of the population had accounts with financial institutions in the year 2017 (Demirguc-Kunt et al. 2017). This meant a strong growth compared to 53.1% reported in the previous edition of the survey in 2014, and 35.2% in 2011. Nearly half of the world's adult population (or 3.5 billion people) are unbanked and underbanked (with limited or non-transactional access to finance). Of these 1.7 billion adults in the world without an account, China, India, Pakistan and Indonesia account for the largest unbanked persons.

The first step towards financial inclusion is having an account (Sarma 2015). Increasingly, digital payments are being used for financial transactions (Muneeza et al. 2018). Digital financial

inclusion is explained by the World bank as the deployment of cost-saving digital means to reach the financially excluded and the generally underserved population groups with formal financial services that are tailor-made to satisfy their needs (Alameda 2020). Wang and He (Wang and He 2020) also described digital financial inclusion as broad access to and use of formal financial services by the excluded or underserved individual. Digital financial inclusion began to attract the attention of many people as a result of the success of M-PESA, one of the payment innovations introduced in Kenya (Beck et al. 2018). With M-PESA, mobile money is used for digital payments (Dubus and Van Hove 2017; Van Hove and Dubus 2019). According to Wang and He (Wang and He 2020), digital financial inclusion in China represents more than a payment instrument as it includes three basic business formats which include digital payments, digital investment and digital financing.

Digital financial inclusion put more emphasis on the importance of information communication technology (ICT) in expanding the scale as well as the use of financial services by the previously disadvantaged individuals (Lauer and Lyman 2015; Wang and He 2020). The journey started with microcredit, microfinance and financial inclusion, then the journey is now striving for digital financial inclusion (Lauer and Lyman 2015). The word microcredit was first used to refer to institutions like the Grameen Bank of Bangladesh which was created to provide small loans to the poor (Chatterjee and Sarangi 2006; Wang and He 2020). In the early 1990s, the word microcredit was dominating before it was replaced by the word microfinance which was described as the supply of a variety of financial services which include savings, insurance, loans (Karlan and Morduch 2010; Wang and He 2020).

The field-based operation which was used by banks like Grameen where microcredit, microfinance and financial inclusion was developed, weakened the efficiency of these banks in serving the poor (Visser and Prahalad 2013). The existence of ICT and AI made it possible for financial inclusion to change to digital financial inclusion which is the fourth stage which will change the lives of those individuals at the bottom of the pyramid (Visser and Prahalad 2013). Wang and He (Wang and He 2020) indicated that to do business with people at the bottom of the pyramid requires unique business models and radical innovations such as AI. Wang and He (Wang and He 2020) noted that digital financial inclusion is different from traditional financial inclusion because digital financial services reduce transaction costs in rural areas due to lower marginal costs. When relying on ICT digital financial services require no physical outlets. However, coming up with new technologies face higher start-up costs to have them established, but their marginal costs normally move towards zero when business volume increases (Liao et al. 2020).

The use of AI and various ICT tools helps to overcome the major problem of traditional financial inclusion which is information asymmetry (Gomber et al. 2017). Online services and products offer a lot of information to customers which could not be accessible without the use of digital services. The availability of this information helps to reduce information asymmetry between the financial institutions and individuals (Gomber et al. 2017).

The important components of digital financial inclusion include but are not limited to digital transaction platforms, which allow customers to make payments and to store electronic value (Peric 2015; GPFI 2017). The other important aspect provided by digital finance is devices which are used by customers which can either be digital devices like mobile phones that can transmit information or instruments like payment cards that can be used to connect with digital devices like point of sale terminals (Alameda 2020; Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation 2019). Moreover, digital financial inclusion is characterized by retail agents with digital devices connected to communication infrastructure that will transmit and receive transaction details. This activity allows customers to convert cash into electronically stored value also referred to as cash in or to convert back the stored values back into cash which can also be referred to as cash-out (Peric 2015). With digital financial inclusion, additional financial services like credit, insurance and even savings can be offered by banks and non-banks to the financially excluded and those underserved individuals through digital tools like AI.

As articulated by Peric (2015) the benefits of digital financial inclusion include access to formal financial services by the financially excluded individuals, and the fact that digital financial services

and products are offered at a lower cost to the customer and the provider. This allows customers to transact in irregular tiny amounts to assist them to manage their uneven incomes (Koh et al. 2018). Additionally, with digital financial inclusion, it is possible to have additional financial services tailor-made for customers' needs and financial circumstances which are made possible by the value storage services embedded in it and the data generated within it (Bourreau and Valletti 2015). Digital financial services also help to reduce risks of loss, theft, and other financial circums posed by cash-based transactions, as well as the reduced costs associated with transacting in cash and using informal providers (Muneeza et al. 2018). Again, it can also promote economic empowerment by enabling asset accumulation for women, in particular, increasing their economic participation (David-West 2015; Peric 2015).

1.2. Industry 4.0

Industry 4.0, also known as the fourth industrial revolution, can be described as the advent of cyber-physical systems involving entirely new capabilities for people and machines (Schwab 2015). While these capabilities are reliant on the technologies and infrastructure of the third industrial revolution, the 4IR represents entirely new ways in which technology becomes embedded within societies and even our human bodies (Schwab 2015). 4IR is defined as the fusion of technologies that is blurring the lines between the physical, digital, and biological worlds (Schwab 2015; Moloi 2020). The term 4IR was first coined by Klaus Schwab, founder and executive chairman of the World Economic Forum. *"The 4IR is sometimes described as an incoming thunderstorm, a sweeping pattern of change visible in the distance, arriving at a pace that affords little time to prepare. While some people are ready to face the challenge, equipped with the tools to brave the change and take advantage of its effects, others do not even know a storm is brewing" (Deloitte 2018a).*

The 4IR is affecting almost every facet of our daily life, impacting how individuals relate to technology and changing how and where work is done (Schwab 2019). Another way to have an understanding of industry 4.0 is to appreciate the technology used in this revolution. Some of the technologies include artificial intelligence and robotics, ubiquitous linked sensors, virtual and augmented realities, additive manufacturing, blockchain and distributed ledger technology, advanced materials and nanomaterials, energy capture, storage and transmission, new computing technologies, biotechnologies, geoengineering, neurotechnology, space technologies. These are some of them that are driving the fourth industrial revolution in the 21st century (Schwab 2019; Moloi 2020).

1.3. Brief Definition and History of Artificial Intelligence

As propounded by Hassani et al. (2020), artificial intelligence has multiple definitions. As a result, no one definition can define artificial intelligence (Hassani et al. 2020). Legg and Hutter (2007) came up with 70 definitions of artificial intelligence covering multiple views. Colom et al. (2010) defined artificial intelligence as a general mental ability for reasoning, problem-solving, and learning while Snyderman and Rothman (1987) defined artificial intelligence as a general mental ability for reasoning, problem-solving, and learning. Gottfredson (1997) also defined artificial intelligence where more emphasis was given to learning swiftly and the ability to learn from experiences. Hassani et al. (2020) also defined AI as an intelligent system created to use data and to analyze the data as well as involving the performance of certain tasks without the need for programming. AI has a strong capacity to create a foundation for decision making and support through insights and results, collected from vast and complex data sets which are compressed into the manageable scale (Hassani et al. 2020).

There were generations of scientists, mathematicians and philosophers who had the concept of AI in their minds by the 1950s (An Editorial with 52 Researchers 1994). Gottfredson (1997) insinuated that the history of AI began in the periods of human classical civilization with myths and rumours of artificial beings endowed with intelligence or consciousness by master craftsmen. The attempt by the classical philosophers to describe the process of human thinking as the mechanical manipulation of symbols gave more meaning to the concept of AI (Colom et al. 2010). As articulated by Colom et al. (2010),

the effort in describing human thinking as mechanical manipulation culminated in the invention of programmable digital computers in the 1940s. These programmable computers were machines premised on the abstract essence of mathematical reasoning (Hassani et al. 2020). The ideas around the developed device influenced several scientists to start discussing, with seriousness, the possibility of coming up with an electronic brain (Gottfredson 1997).

According to Hassani et al. (2020), artificial intelligence was mentioned for the first time in 1956 at a computing conference. In 1956 in a workshop at Dartmouth College during the summer of 1956, the research on AI began. The people who attended the workshop became the leaders of AI for decades (Hassani et al. 2020). Considerable investment in AI boomed in the first decades of the 21st century due to availability of large data sets, powerful computer hardware and due to the availability of new methods. This motivated the application of machine learning to many problems in academia and industry (Frank 2019; Hassani et al. 2020). In this century AI has evolved from being an academic field to become a key factor in the social and economic mainstream technologies including banking, medical diagnosis, autonomous vehicles as well as voice-activated assistance (Frank 2019).

1.4. Literature Review

The literature on digital financial inclusion is available, especially literature on how mobile phones are increasingly influencing financial inclusion. Ozili (2018) insinuated that digital financial inclusion is a critical component of the efforts applied in trying to include the groups of people who are not part of the formal financial system. Ozili (2018) went on to argue that digital finance is beneficial to financial users, providers governments and the general economy. However, Ozili (2018) believes that there are many issues which still need to be resolved in digital finance, about regulation among others.

Additionally, Dawei et al. (2018) also argued that it is a paradox in a globalized world to have a third of the population who are not part of the formal financial system, yet literature points out that financial services can assist to improve the welfare of the households and to promote small businesses. Dawei et al. (2018) believes that the inherent limitations of the conventional financial system hinder the prospects of the excluded population. However, Dawei et al. (2018) believes that digital financial inclusion through digital currency and mobile technology can help penetration of financial systems in the unserved parts of the world or country. It is believed that the high cost for small-ticket financial transactions makes these services virtually impossible and unavailable (Dawei et al. 2018).

Dawei et al. (2018) went further to state that digital currency and mobile technology allow small transactions at an affordable cost which is a benefit to small businesses and vulnerable groups. Digital currency and mobile transactions can also help to reduce time and to make transactions in bulk and with accuracy (Dawei et al. 2018). Many developing nations such as Brazil, India, Nigeria and other African nations like Kenya and Zimbabwe embraced mobile technology to overcome the problem of financial exclusion.

Sapovadia (2018) also argued that digital financial inclusion is different from traditional banking in that it serves the clients without requiring historical records. Sapovadia (2018) went further to state that digital financial inclusion uses data technology and AI to unravel credit assets of clients and mitigate information asymmetry. It is believed that the availability of AI and big data allow the use of alternative information like shopping history, online behavior pattern, transaction record and many other potential information sources of information not common to the convectional banking for credit scoring. Credit Ease Financial Cloud is one of the examples of big data which provides open and always accessible functions of anti-fraud, risk management, real-time loan granting and targeted marketing to external and internal people.

In addition, Levin et al. (2018) also argued that the crisis of the 1960s created the need for the growth and development of electronic trading and the development of financial services technology. The author believes that technology like AI is important in the financial sector as people are preparing for the new era. Hotchkiss and Lee Kuo Chuen (2018) support Levin et al. (2018), Hotchkiss and Lee Kuo Chuen (2018) argued that the development of innovations like fintech and blockchain technology

has taken the attention off the people around the world and the attention of the banking world. Hotchkiss and Lee Kuo Chuen (2018) stated that digital financial inclusion is doing great things in Myanmar, one of the fastest-growing economies in Southeast Asia where approximately 52 million people who live in the country are gaining access through digital financial inclusion.

Killeen and Chan (2018) also stated that bitcoin blockchain is creating new ways of transacting with security without the need for an intermediary. Killeen and Chan (2018) went on to insinuate that the use of ledger to verify and record identity and asset ownership for individuals to have access to the transactional account is free from the limitation associated with centralized controls when blockchain is used. Killeen and Chan (2018) believe that blockchain is satisfying the old needs previously served by convectional banks more efficiently which risks rendering the existence of the old central institutions like development banks and large scale investment firms obsolete. Killeen and Chan (2018) further argued that global financial institutions must try to respond swiftly to the changes in culture and dynamic values accompanied by blockchain innovation.

David-West (2015) also believes that digital financial inclusion can help many households who were previously excluded to have access to formal financial services. David-West (2015) believes that documentation requirements, costs and literacy issues are some of the factors forcing households and individuals to adopt informal financial services. The existence of mobile money and digital currency has revolutionized the traditional perspective of financial access and inclusion. Moreover, digital financial currency and mobile money have led to the introduction of new financial service providers such as mobile money operators sometimes referred to as agents in many African countries such as Kenya and Zimbabwe. The existence of mobile money also resulted in policy changes that led to the existence of other operators which led to the unbanked community being offered financial services (David-West 2015).

Rathi (2016) also stated that digitization has enabled a large population of individuals who were not financially active to be able to enjoy financial services due to the fact that digital tools make the financial services affordable to many. Rathi (2016) also reiterated that developing nations such as India are relying on digital technology to provide financial services to the unbanked population. In a way, digital technology is allowing the previously unbanked population to be included in the mainstream formal financial market. Chu (2018) also argued that digital technology is expanding financial inclusion where it is made possible for the unbanked to be able to access banking services like savings, insurance, and other financial services crucial to the unbanked population and those living in poverty. Chu (2018) argued that financial inclusion is important to bridge the gap between the physical, digital and the psychological use of money. Chu (2018) also believes that bringing together the digital financial tools such as blockchain with the psychological tools like financial education can allow the unbanked to have access to financial services which can help to break the poverty cycle.

Salampasis and Mention (2018) in the paper, *fintech: harnessing innovation for financial inclusion*, argued that financial inclusion has been taken as the soft side of financial services with limited attention given to it from the regulators, and policymakers despite its importance in the empowerment of the marginalized population. Salampasis and Mention (2018) argued that many disadvantaged people in society are left out of the formal financial market, thus creating inequality and general dependence syndrome by those who are unable to access financial services and making the fight against poverty difficult. However, Salampasis and Mention (2018) also suggested that the emergence of fin-tech, a new breed of financial innovation, is increasingly closing the gap between unbanked, underbanked and developed societies. Salampasis and Mention (2018) believe that digital technology is opening previously closed doors in the digital economy for many individuals leading to more equitable growth and society.

Muneeza et al. (2018), in the paper, the application of blockchain technology in crowdfunding: towards financial inclusion via technology, posit that the advent of innovative digital technologies such as blockchain and crowdfunding is showing new sustainable ways to support the economically poor and the vulnerable people. Muneeza et al. (2018), after an investigation of the development of

crowdfunding in Malaysia, found out that crowdfunding is a necessary way to promote financial inclusion while blockchain can assist in mitigating the risks faced by platform operators.

In summary, the empirical literature review discovered that literature on digital financial inclusion is available, especially literature on how mobile phone technologies are influencing financial inclusion. In this review, it was noted that digitization has enabled a large population of individuals who were not financially active to be able to enjoy financial services because digital tools make the financial services affordable to many. The review also discovered that digital technology is expanding financial inclusion where it is made possible for the unbanked to be able to access banking services like savings, insurance, and other financial services crucial to the unbanked population and those living in poverty. The other important aspect noted was that financial inclusion is important to bridge the gap between the physical, digital and the psychological use of money. Authors like Arifin (Muneeza et al. 2018) indicate that the emergence of innovative digital technologies such as blockchain and crowdfunding is showing new sustainable ways to support the poor.

1.5. Research Methodology

This study article is premised on desktop research to investigate the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. The study used unobtrusive research techniques to analyze objectively the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. The techniques include conceptual and documentary analysis of peer-reviewed journals, reports and other authoritative documents on AI and digital financial inclusion.

Table 1 gives an estimated number of journal articles, reports and other authoritative documents which include news articles and web page articles that helped to shape the direction of the study. Some of the journal reports and news articles listed were not necessarily referenced in the paper as they contributed to ideas which led to the development of the paper. The criteria used in the selection of the articles, reports and other important documents were simply the relevance of the articles in the provision of information useful for the main objective of the study which was to investigate the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. Conceptual analysis and document analysis were used in the study because documents come in a variety of forms, making documents a very accessible and reliable source of data. Obtaining and analysing documents is often far more cost-efficient and time-efficient compared to conducting field research or experiments.

Journal Articles	Reports	Other Documents Web Pages Articles and News Articles
66	33	40
		Source: Author's Analysis.

Table 1. Journal articles, reports and news articles that shaped the trajectory of the study.

2. Results

2.1. The Influence of AI in Driving Digital Financial Inclusion

Fintech companies are increasingly applying AI applications for many purposes which include but are not limited to the following: to manage and detect risk, risk measurement, fraud detection, consumer protection (Paul 2019). Other prominent areas of use include credit scoring, chatbots, capital optimization, market impact analysis, trade signalling, and 'reg tech' applications (Paul 2019).

2.1.1. Risk Detection, Management and Measurement

One major reason for many vulnerable groups—like women, youths and small businesses-like smallholder farmers—being excluded from the formal financial market in the traditional banking sector was driven by issues around risk (Beck et al. 2009). Many of these vulnerable groups were viewed as high risk due to the limited capability to detect and measure the risk among them (Park and Mercado 2015, 2018). Some of the factors that exacerbated this was lack of data (Park and Mercado

2018). However, AI is transforming financial inclusion through the widespread use of algorithms to automate risk detection management and measurement (Peric 2015; Muneeza et al. 2018). The use of AI is making it possible for the previously excluded groups to be able to access financial services using various digital tools such as cell phones or instruments like payment cards that can be used to connect with digital devices like point of sale terminals (Alameda 2020; Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation 2019).

In Kenya, M-Pesa, where M represents mobile while Pesa is another word for money in Swahili, is one of the mobile phone-based money transfer service operated by Safaricom which was able to offer payments services, and micro-financing service lunched in 2007 (Osah and Kyobe 2017; Burns 2018). The service has since spread to many countries which include Tanzania, Mozambique, DRC, Lesotho, Ghana, Egypt, Afghanistan, South Africa, India, Romania and Albania among many other countries (Jacob 2016; Burns 2018). The ability of a mobile device using AI intelligence could make it possible for people to make deposits, to withdraw money, to transfer money, pay for goods and services, to have access to credit and savings (Van Hove and Dubus 2019). This helps the low-income earners to be able to access these services which they could not access in the traditional banking system (Wang and He 2020). Additionally, through the use of AI intelligence, registration of accounts was achieved digitally; approximately 17 million accounts were registered in Kenya in its initial stages in 2012 while 7 million accounts were registered in Tanzania in 2016 (Van Hove and Dubus 2019; Wang and He 2020).

AI also plays an important role in preventing currency risk (Paul 2019). Through digital finance, individuals and small businesses (SMEs) have the option to add funds in the fiat currency which allows a shift in the volatility risk to the financial intermediary (FI) (Paul 2019). Many FIs are using bitcoin as a vehicle currency with the United States dollar as the dominant vehicle currency used in 88 per cent of trades (Global Partnership For Financial Inclusion 2016; Paul 2019). The use of bitcoin as a vehicle currency and block chain's platforms means that the recipient and the sender are not exposed to the volatility of virtual currency (Paul 2019). The ability to prevent risk is allowing small income earners to participate in the financial market as a result of the strength of AI technology (Alameda 2020). In short, financial markets are adopting more and more to AI to come with more exciting nimble models which are being utilized by financial experts to pinpoint trends, identify risks, conserve manpower and to ensure better information and for future planning (GPFI 2017).

2.1.2. AI and Information Asymmetry

The credit rationing theory credited to Stiglitz (Berardi 2011). This theory asserts that when information asymmetry (also referred to as imperfect information) is present in a competitive loan market, credit rationing will be the major feature of that credit market. Among a group of borrowers with fully observable and identical characteristics, some will receive loans while others will not get anything (Stiglitz 1989; Yuan et al. 2011). In the process, some disappointed borrowers will be more than willing to pay an interest rate which is more than the market interest rate. However, financial institutions will not be willing to respond to excess demand for loanable funds through raising the interest rate for borrowers (Stiglitz 1989). The major reason given was that in many circumstances when the interest rate is high, safer borrowers do not borrow as they are disuaded from borrowing (Yuan et al. 2011).

In addition, when the interest rate is high, borrowers will invest in high-risk projects which will limit the probability of paying back the loan (Berardi 2011). This condition will limit the participation of other potential players in the credit market. Accordingly, this explanation will help to explain why some economic agents will be excluded in the financial market and the increase in financial exclusion in the formal financial markets. According to the credit rationing theory, one of the major factors which cause the market to malfunction in developing nations is information asymmetry (Bell et al. 1997). It is believed that information asymmetry through adverse selection and moral hazards is the primary source of market inefficiencies (Bell et al. 1997). As a result of these inefficiencies in the market, high-risk borrowers like small scale farmers will be excluded from the group of potential borrowers

(Yuan et al. 2011). This will mark the reason many economic agents are financially excluded in the formal financial markets.

However, digital tools like AI can overcome the problem of information asymmetry (Kaya and Pronobis 2016). Digital financial inclusion through AI can have access to various online shopping platforms and various online social networks which produces a large amount of information on individuals which will help to do away with the problem of information asymmetry between financial institutions and individuals (Wang and He 2020; Yang and Zhang 2020). Digital tools improve access to credit to vulnerable groups especially those without collateral security based on big data analysis and cloud computing (Wang and He 2020). Many digital technologies which use AI technology utilize other credit score mechanisms to create collateral free-loan products (Matsebula and Yu 2017). One example of the bank which offered collateral-free loans was the Grameen Bank that won a Nobel Prize in 2006 together with Prof. Muhammad Yunus. The bank distributed collateral-free loans of united states dollars (USD) 24 billion to borrowers (Karlan and Morduch 2010; Wang and He 2020). In a way, AI solutions are assisting financial institutions and credit lenders to make smarter underwriting decisions through the use of many factors that assess accurately traditionally underserved borrowers in the credit decision-making process (Paul 2019).

2.1.3. AI and Customer Support and Helpdesk through Chatbots

Through the use of AI, banks are now adopting customer support and help desks which are impacting more on increasing efficiency and reducing the cost of customer support. Banks are offering an electronic virtual assistant (EVA). Moreover, with AI, financial institutions can provide personalized banking where chatbots and AI assistants, use AI to come up with personalized financial advice and natural language processing to provide instant, self-help customer service (Alameda 2020; Paul 2019).

Besides, AI is used as a relationship manager, banks are introducing chatbots for this purpose. This allows vulnerable households in rural areas to access financial advice and help which they cannot enjoy when dealing with human beings (Paul 2019). The HDFC bank of India has already introduced a chatbot for relationship manager purposes (Paul 2019). It is alleged that many bank staff have an urban orientation which makes it difficult for them to have the patience to deal and talk to the rural customers (Journal of Digital Banking 2019). Through the power of AI, banks can come up with natural regional language processing-based AI-trained robots for training and talking to the rural customers in regional language (Paul 2019). These robots explain various banking products offered by the bank, the robots can also explain the amount of debt rural customers have and even offer suggestions on the need to save (Siddiqui and Siddiqui 2017). AI-trained robots can become financial advisors to rural households (Deloitte 2018b; Paul 2019). As a result, AI is helping a lot to allow previously vulnerable groups to be able to access formal financial services (Wang and He 2020).

Additionally, some customers can access banking services through their mobile phones, where they can transact even while at home in the remote parts of their countries as long as they are connected to mobile networks. Furthermore, the use of AI can help a lot in account opening as individuals can open accounts or deposit through the use of phones (Paul 2019; Wang and He 2020). The use of blockchain has also allowed usability of accounts to be more effective; it takes approximately 10 minutes to transfer money which is faster than the conventional means mainly used in developing nations (Paul 2019). When using blockchain technology in digital finance payments, there is no need for payments to go through the national payments system and as a result, there is no need for physical branches. This makes payments more feasible as the cost of the transfer is the percentage of the value of the transferred (Paul 2019). On some instances, AI can facilitate quantitative trading. AI-powered computers can have a deep analysis of large and complex data sets very fast and more efficiently than human beings. This will result in automated trading which saves valuable time (Wang and He 2020).

2.1.4. Fraud Detection and Cybersecurity

Ramping up cybersecurity and fraud detection efforts is becoming a necessity for any financial institution or bank because of huge quantities of digital transactions which are carried out via online accounts every day, sometimes through mobile phone and applications (Lopes and Pereira 2019b; Paul 2019). AI is playing a big role in the improvement of security of online finance. The ability of AI to offer this kind of security to online finance makes it possible for the people at the bottom of the pyramid concerning financial inclusion to be able to participate in the formal financial sector (Reim et al. 2020). Further, fintech companies are using AI applications to advance consumer protection and user experience, manage risk, detect fraud in many countries (Paul 2019). Various national stock exchanges in many countries are contemplating the use machine learning to identify market patterns to improve monitoring and prevent manipulation of its high-frequency trading (HFT) markets (Journal of Digital Banking 2019; Deloitte 2018b). In reality, AI-enabled cybersecurity systems are increasingly being used to guard against and prevent possible security breaches. In addition, AI is influencing wealth management through robot advisors that provide automated financial planning services like tax planning advice, insurance advice, health, investment advice and many other crucial services (Journal of Digital Banking 2019). The HDFC bank of India is using AI for its Mobile Banking App, and On Chat, which makes use of Natural Language Processing where users can interact, confirm and pay for services within chat (Paul 2019).

2.2. Challenges of AI

Though AI is promising and doing a lot in fuelling digital financial inclusion, however, there are challenges associated with reaping the benefits from intelligent algorithms (Deloitte 2018b). Some of the challenges relate to data quality, responsibility requirements to roll out AI technology (Sundblad 2018). The prediction power of AI depends chiefly on the availability of quality data, However, limited availability of the right quality and quantity of data may act as an obstacle of the power of AI (Harkut and Kasat 2019). The prediction power of an algorithm depends highly on the quality of data fed as an input. Sometimes even in quality data, biases can be hidden (Sundblad 2018). In the financial sector, some reference data are often affected by quality issues (Sundblad 2018). The concept of AI is premised on having a data-quality program in place (Sundblad 2018). Moreover, the use of intelligent machines represents a challenge concerning liability (Harkut and Kasat 2019). The questions which remain unanswered are who/what shall be responsible in case something goes wrong? Financial institutions are sometimes reluctant to give machines full autonomy since the behavior of machines is not fully foreseeable (Deloitte 2018b; Sundblad 2018). In many cases, they tend to keep the human supervisor in place to validate the critical machine activities and decisions like blocking payments or releasing payments (Sundblad 2018). This, in a way, partially defeats the purpose of using machines in the first place (Sundblad 2018). In some instances, compliance and operational security standards are relatively strict and insufficient understanding of AI's inherent risks, the culture of the firm and regulation can all act as barriers to widespread adoption of AI in financial services firms (Harkut and Kasat 2019).

2.3. Conclusion and Policy Recommendations

The research was premised on investigating the impact of AI on digital financial inclusion. Digital financial inclusion is becoming central in the debate on how to ensure that people who are at the lower levels of the pyramid become financially active. On the other hand, fintech companies are taking advantage of the availability of AI to apply its applications to ensure that the goal of digital financial inclusion is realized that is to include groups of low-income earners, the poor, women, youths, small businesses in the mainstream financial market. The study discovered that AI has a strong influence on digital financial inclusion in areas related to risk detection, measurement and management, addressing the problem of information asymmetry, availing customer support and helpdesk through chatbots and fraud detection and cybersecurity. On the aspect of risk, AI is transforming financial inclusion

through the widespread use of algorithms to automate risk detection management and measurement. This enables vulnerable groups of women, youths and small businesses such as smallholder farmers, who were excluded from the formal financial market in the traditional banking sector driven by issues around risk, to access banking services. Considering issues related to information asymmetry, digital financial inclusion through AI can have access to various online shopping platforms and social networks which produces a large amount of information on individuals; this will help to do away with the problem of information asymmetry between financial institutions and individuals, thus increasing the financial inclusion. These are some of the areas where AI is influencing digital financial inclusion among many other issues discussed. It is also important to note that though many people have a lot of misgivings about AI in the industry 4.0, it is, however, important to notice that AI is providing subatantial assistance in the digital financial inclusion sphere. Therefore, this study recommends that financial institutions and non-financial institutions adopt and scale up the use of AI as it presents benefits in the quest to ensure that people who were previously unable to participate in the formal financial market can do so with ease.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The author declares no conflict of interest.

References

- Alameda, Teresa. 2020. DATA, AI AND FINANCIAL INCLUSION: THE FUTURE OF GLOBAL BANKING—Responsible Finance Forum, Responsible Finance ForumBBVA 2020. Available online: https://responsiblefinanceforum.org/data-ai-financial-inclusion-future-global-banking/ (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- An Editorial with 52 Researchers. 1994. Mainstream Science on Intelligence. pp. 13–23. Available online: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.366.7808&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed on 19 May 2020).
- Beck, Thorsten, Asli Demirgüç-Kunt, and Patrick Honohan. 2009. Access to financial services: Measurement, impact, and policies. *World Bank Research Observer* 24: 119–45. [CrossRef]
- Beck, Thorsten, Haki Pamuk, Ravindra Ramrattan, and Burak R. Uras. 2018. Payment instruments, finance and development. *Journal of Development Economics* 133: 162–86. Available online: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0304387818300075 (accessed on 14 May 2020). [CrossRef]
- Bell, Clive, T. N. Srintvasan, and Christopher Udry. 1997. Rationing, Spillover, and Interlinking in Credit Markets: The Case of Rural Punjab. Oxford Economic Papers 49: 557–85. Available online: https://academic.oup.com/ oep/article-abstract/49/4/557/2361652 (accessed on 2 June 2020). [CrossRef]
- Berardi, Marco. 2011. Credit Rationing in Markets With Imperfect Information. SSRN Electronic Journal. [CrossRef]
- Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. 2019. A G7 Partnership for Women's Digital Financial Inclusion in Africa. Available online: https://docs.gatesfoundation.org/Documents/WomensDigitalFinancialInclusioninAfrica_ English.pdf?sf105300406=1 (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- Bourreau, Marc, and Tommaso Valletti. 2015. Enabling Digital Financial Inclusion through Improvements in Competition and Interoperability: What Works and What Doesn't? Available online: http://www. cgdev.org/publication/enabling-digital-financial-inclusion-through-improvements-competition- (accessed on 18 May 2020).
- Burns, Scott. 2018. M-Pesa and the "Market-Led" Approach to Financial Inclusion. *Economic Affairs* 38: 406–21. [CrossRef]
- Chatterjee, Prabirendra, and Sudipta Sarangi. 2006. The Economics of Microfinance. *Southern Economic Journal* 73: 259. [CrossRef]
- Chu, A. B. 2018. Mobile Technology and Financial Inclusion. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion, Volume 1: Cryptocurrency, FinTech, InsurTech, and Regulation. Cambridge: Academic Press, pp. 131–44. [CrossRef]
- Colom, Roberto, Sherif Karama, Rex E. Jung, and Richard J. Haier. 2010. Human intelligence and brain networks. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience* 12: 489–501. Available online: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ pmc3181994/ (accessed on 19 May 2020).

- David-West, Olayinka. 2015. The path to digital financial inclusion in Nigeria: Experiences of Firstmonie. Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems 9: 256–73. Available online: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/hsp/ jpss/2016/00000009/00000004/art00007 (accessed on 18 May 2020).
- Dawei, Liu, Hu Anzi, and Li Gen. 2018. Big Data Technology: Application and Cases. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., pp. 65–82. [CrossRef]
- Deloitte. 2018a. The Fourth Industrial Revolution Is Here—Are South African Executives Ready? Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/za/en/pages/about-deloitte/articles/gx-preparing-tomorrow-workforce-for-the-fourth-industrial-revolution.html (accessed on 13 May 2020).
- Deloitte. 2018b. Challenges Artificial Intelligence in Financial Services—Deloitte Forward, Deloitte. Available online: https://www.deloitteforward.nl/en/artificial-intelligence/challenges-to-widespreadartificial-intelligence-in-financial-services/ (accessed on 2 June 2020).
- Demirguc-Kunt, Asli, Leora Klapper, Saniya Ansar, and Aditya Jagati. 2017. Making It Easier to Apply for a Bank Account A Study of the Indian Market. Available online: https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/ 1813-9450-8205 (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- Dubus, Antoine, and Leo Van Hove. 2017. M-PESA and Financial Inclusion in Kenya: Of Paying Comes Saving? Available online: https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01591200 (accessed on 14 May 2020).
- Frank, Morgan R. 2019. The Evolution of AI Research and the Study of Its Social Implications. MIT MEDIA LAB 2019. Available online: https://medium.com/mit-media-lab/the-evolution-of-ai-research-and-the-study-ofits-social-implications-4a9598b3d7db (accessed on 25 May 2020).
- Global Partnership For Financial Inclusion. 2016. G20 High-Level Principles for Digital Financial Inclusion. *Global Partneship for Financial Inclusion*, 3–23. Available online: https://www.gpfi.org/sites/gpfi/files/documents/G20 (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- Gomber, Peter, Jascha-Alexander Koch, and Michael Siering. 2017. Digital Finance and FinTech: Current research and future research directions. *Journal of Business Economics* 87: 537–80. [CrossRef]
- Gottfredson, Linda S. 1997. Why g matters: The complexity of everyday life. Intelligence 24: 79–132. [CrossRef]
- G20 Global Partnership for Financial Inclusion (GPFI). 2017. Digital Financial Inclusion: Emerging Policy Approaches. Available online: https://www.gpfi.org/sites/gpfi/files/documents/DigitalFinancialInclusion-CompleteReport-Final-A4.pdf (accessed on 13 May 2020).
- Harkut, Dinesh G., and Kashmira Kasat. 2019. Introductory Chapter: Artificial Intelligence—Challenges and Applications. In *Artificial Intelligence—Scope and Limitations*. London: IntechOpen. [CrossRef]
- Hassani, Hossein, Emmanuel Sirimal Silva, Stephane Unger, Maedeh TajMazinani, and Stephen Mac Feely. 2020. Artificial Intelligence (AI) or Intelligence Augmentation (IA): What Is the Future? *Ai* 1: 143–55. [CrossRef]
- Hotchkiss, Griffin, and David Lee Kuo Chuen. 2018. From the Ground Up: The Financial Inclusion Frontier. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., pp. 405–29. [CrossRef]
- Jacob, Frank. 2016. The Role of M-Pesa in Kenya's Economic and Political Development. In *Kenya After 50*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US, pp. 89–100. [CrossRef]
- Journal of Digital Banking. 2019. The Digitalisation of Payments in South-East Asia: Ingenta Connect, ingentaconnect.com. Available online: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/hsp/jdb001/2019/00000004/ 00000001/art00008 (accessed on 2 June 2020).
- Karlan, Dean, and Jonathan Morduch. 2010. Access to finance. In *Handbook of Development Economics*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, vol. 5, pp. 4703–84. [CrossRef]
- Kaya, Devrimi, and Paul Pronobis. 2016. The benefits of structured data across the information supply chain: Initial evidence on XBRL adoption and loan contracting of private firms. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 35: 417–36. [CrossRef]
- Killeen, Alyse, and Rosanna Chan. 2018. Global Financial Institutions 2.0. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., pp. 213–42. [CrossRef]
- Koh, Francis, Kok Fai Phoon, and Cao Duy Ha. 2018. Digital Financial Inclusion in South East Asia. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Cambridge: Academic Press, pp. 387–403. [CrossRef]
- Lauer, Kate, and Timothy Lyman. 2015. Digital Financial Inclusion: Implications for Customers, Regulators, Supervisors, and Standard-Setting Bodies. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Legg, Shane, and Marcus Hutter. 2007. A Collection of Definitions of Intelligence. Available online: www.idsia.ch/ \$\sim\$shanewww.hutter1.net (accessed on 19 May 2020).

- Levin, Richard B., Peter Waltz, and Holly LaCount. 2018. Betting Blockchain Will Change Everything-SEC and CFTC Regulation of Blockchain Technology. In *Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., pp. 187–212. [CrossRef]
- Liao, Gaoke, Dequan Yao, and Zhihao Hu. 2020. The Spatial Effect of the Efficiency of Regional Financial Resource Allocation from the Perspective of Internet Finance: Evidence from Chinese Provinces. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade* 56: 1211–23. [CrossRef]
- Lopes, Jorge, and José Luís Pereira. 2019a. Blockchain projects ecosystem: A review of current technical and legal challenges. In Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Cham: Springer, pp. 83–92. [CrossRef]
- Lopes, Jorge, and José Luís Pereira. 2019b. Blockchain technologies: Opportunities in healthcare. In Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Cham: Springer, pp. 435–42. [CrossRef]
- Loufield, Ethan, Dennis Ferenzy, and Tess Johnson. 2018. Accelerating Financial Inclusion with New Data. The Mainstreaming Financial Inclusion: Best Practices Series. pp. 1–30. Available online: https://medium.com/ nest-ideas/accelerating-financial-inclusion-with-blockchain-6eb658fbfb0e (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- Mamoshina, Polina, Lucy Ojomoko, Yury Yanovich, Alex Ostrovski, Alex Botezatu, Pavel Prikhodko, Eugene Izumchenko, Alexander Aliper, Konstantin Romantsov, and Alexander Zhebrak. 2018. Converging blockchain and next-generation artificial intelligence technologies to decentralize and accelerate biomedical research and healthcare. Oncotarget 9: 5665–90. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Matsebula, Velenkosini, and Derek Yu. 2017. Financial Inclusion in South Africa: A NIDS Data Analysis of Household Access and the Usage of Financial Services and Products. Cape Town: Department of Economics, University of the Western Cape, pp. 1–21.
- Moloi, David Mhlangaand Tankiso. 2020. COVID-19 and the Digital Transformation of Education: What we are learning in South Africa. *Preprints*. [CrossRef]
- Muneeza, Aishath, Nur Aishah Arshad, and Asma Tajul Arifin. 2018. The Application of Blockchain Technology in Crowdfunding: Towards Financial Inclusion via Technology. International Journal of Management and Applied Research 5: 82–98. [CrossRef]
- Osah, Olam, and Michael Kyobe. 2017. Predicting user continuance intention towards M-pesa in Kenya. African Journal of Economic and Management Studies 8: 36–50. [CrossRef]
- Ozili, Peterson K. 2018. Impact of digital finance on financial inclusion and stability. *Borsa Istanbul Review* 18: 329–40. [CrossRef]
- Park, Cyn-Young, and Rogelio Mercado. 2015. Financial Inclusion, Poverty, and Income Inequality in Developing Asia. SSRN Electronic Journal. [CrossRef]
- Park, Cyn-Young, and Rogelio Mercado. 2018. Financial inclusion, poverty, and income inequality. *Singapore Economic Review* 63: 185–206. [CrossRef]
- Paul, Sandeep. 2019. Use of Blockchain and Aritificial Intelligence to Promote Financial Inclusion in India Smita Miglani Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations. Available online: https: //economictimes (accessed on 28 May 2020).
- Peric, Kosta. 2015. Digital financial inclusion. *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems* 9: 212–14. Available online: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/hsp/jpss/2015/00000009/00000003/art00001 (accessed on 11 May 2020).
- Rathi, Vandana. 2016. India amidst digital banking and financial inclusion—A review. International Journal of Management and Social Sciences 6: 24–28. Available online: http://journals.foundationspeak.com/index.php/ ijmss/article/view/340 (accessed on 25 May 2020).
- Reim, Wiebke, Josef Åström, and Oliver Eriksson. 2020. Implementation of Artificial Intelligence (AI): A Roadmap for Business Model Innovation. AI 1: 180–91. [CrossRef]
- Salampasis, Dimitrios, and Anne-Laure Mention. 2018. FinTech: Harnessing Innovation for Financial Inclusion. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Cambridge: Academic Press, pp. 451–61. [CrossRef]
- Sapovadia, Vrajlal. 2018. Financial Inclusion, Digital Currency, and Mobile Technology. In *Handbook of Blockchain*, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., pp. 361–85. [CrossRef]
- Sarma, Mandira. 2015. Measuring financial inclusion. Economics Bulletin 35: 604-611.
- Schwab, Klaus. 2015. The Fourth Industrial Revolution. What It Means and How to Respond? Snapshot. Available online: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/01/the-fourth-industrial-revolution-what-it-means-andhow-to-respond/ (accessed on 25 May 2020).
- Schwab, Klaus. 2019. Davos Manifesto 2020: The Universal Purpose of a Company in the Fourth Industrial Revolution, World Economic Forum. Available online: http://www.worldacademy.org/files/global_ leadership/papers/Davos_Manifesto_2020.pdf (accessed on 5 May 2020).
- Siddiqui, Taufeeque, and Kashif Iqbal Siddiqui. 2017. Exploring Linkages between Telecom and Financial Inclusion: An Innovative Strategy for Success. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Strategies in Volatile and Uncertain Environment for Emerging Markets, New Delhi, India, 14–15 July 2017; pp. 830–37, ISBN 978-93-83893-05-8. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3392300 (accessed on 5 May 2020).
- Snyderman, Mark, and Stanley Rothman. 1987. Survey of Expert Opinion on Intelligence and Aptitude Testing. *American Psychologist* 42: 137–44. [CrossRef]
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. 1989. Chapter 13 Imperfect information in the product market. *Handbook of Industrial Organization* 1: 769–847. [CrossRef]
- Sundblad, W. 2018. Data is The Foundation for Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning, Forbes. Available online: https://www.forbes.com/sites/willemsundbladeurope/2018/10/18/data-is-the-foundationfor-artificial-intelligence-and-machine-learning/#12324a7751b4 (accessed on 2 June 2020).
- The World Bank. 2020. Digital Financial Inclusion. Available online: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/ financialinclusion/publication/digital-financial-inclusion (accessed on 12 May 2020).
- Van Hove, Leo, and Antoine Dubus. 2019. M-PESA and financial inclusion in Kenya: Of paying comes saving? Sustainability 11: 568. [CrossRef]
- Visser, W., and C. K. Prahalad. 2013. The Fortune at the Bottom of the Pyramid. In *The Top 50 Sustainability Books*. pp. 200–203. Available online: https://www.csrwire.com/pdf/Prahalad-excerpt-001-022.pdf (accessed on 5 May 2020). [CrossRef]
- Wang, Xue, and Guangwen He. 2020. Digital financial inclusion and farmers' vulnerability to poverty: Evidence from rural China. *Sustainability* 12: 1668. [CrossRef]
- Yang, Liu, and Youtang Zhang. 2020. Digital Financial Inclusion and Sustainable Growth of Small and Micro Enterprises—Evidence Based on China's New Third Board Market Listed Companies. *Sustainability* 12: 3733. [CrossRef]
- Yuan, Yan, Youxin Hu, and Ping Gao. 2011. Farmers' Choice and Informal Credit Markets in China. Available online: https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/103887/ (accessed on 2 June 2020).



© 2020 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Blockchain-Enabled Corporate Governance and Regulation

Dulani Jayasuriya Daluwathumullagamage * and Alexandra Sims

Department of Accounting and Finance, Department of Commercial Law, University of Auckland, Auckland 1021, New Zealand; a.sims@auckland.ac.nz

* Correspondence: d.jayasuriya@auckland.ac.nz

Received: 27 May 2020; Accepted: 5 June 2020; Published: 18 June 2020

Abstract: There is considerable hype about blockchain in almost every industry, including finance, with significant investments globally. We conduct a systematic review of 851 records and construct a final article sample of 183 for the sample period 2012 to 2020 to identify relevant factors for blockchain adoption in corporate governance. We conduct textual and empirical analysis to develop a decentralized autonomous governance framework and link traditional corporate governance theories to blockchain adoption. Furthermore, we explore present and future use cases and implications of blockchains in corporate governance. Using our systematic review and textual analysis, we further identify gaps and common trends between prior academic and industry literature. Moreover, for our empirical analysis, we compile a unique database of blockchain investments to forecast future investments. In addition, we explore blockchain potential in corporate governance during and post COVID-19. We find prior academic articles to mostly focus on regulation (49 studies) and Initial Coin Offerings (ICOs) (46 studies), while industry articles tend to concentrate on exchanges (10 studies) and cryptocurrencies (9 articles). A significant growth in literature is observed for 2017 and 2018. Finally, we provide behavioural, regulatory, ethical and managerial perspectives of blockchain adoption in corporate governance.

Keywords: blockchain; disruptive technology; corporate governance; corporate voting; tokenisation; smart contracts

JEL Classification: G20; G3

1. Introduction

Coined as a disruptive innovation, blockchain technology (Nakamoto 2008) has potential for creating and increasing socio-economic welfare as well as increasing the financial industry's reputation. Moreover, the use of blockchains simultaneously interacts with and challenges firms, stakeholders and financial markets. However, as identified by our study, literature solely focusing on corporate governance adoption of blockchain remains sparse. Most slightly touch on one or two applications but are primarily focused on other blockchain-related topics such as Initial Coin Offerings (ICOs) or cryptocurrencies. In addition, our study would particularly be relevant in a post-COVID-19 world, where the ability to digitally conduct business online will be paramount in the "new normal". Thus, we systematically review prior academic and industry literature for the current use of blockchains (BC) in corporate governance (CG) and regulation and link its implications to traditional theories in corporate governance. Our study identifies how academic and industry literature evolved through time and across key areas relevant to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. We further identify similarities, trends and gaps between academic and industry literature. Furthermore, we provide a behavioural, ethical and managerial perspective on blockchain adoption in corporate governance and regulation. In addition, we compile a unique empirical database and conduct an empirical analysis

of blockchain and related start-up investments globally and forecast future blockchain investments. Finally, we develop a blockchain adoption framework in corporate governance.

We pose the following research questions: 1. What are the current and future use cases of blockchain applications in corporate governance? 2. What are the trends, gaps and similarities between prior industry and academic literature? 3. What are the implications of adopting blockchain in corporate governance and links to theories in prior literature? 4. What are the advantages, challenges, misconceptions and limitations for blockchain adoption in corporate governance during COVID-19 and post COVID-19? 5. What are the links between investments in blockchain internationally and future forecasts? Although there is a growing literature on the development of blockchain technology, few studies explore blockchain applications, particularly with regard to corporate governance. Our study is most related to Yermack (2017), who focuses on the impact of blockchain adoption in corporate governance on various stakeholders such as managers, small shareholders, institutional investors and other parties. Yermack (2017) finds blockchain adoption in corporate governance would result in reduced cost, increase in liquidity, transparency and bookkeeping accuracy. Our study differs from these papers and prior literature in several aspects. 1. We develop a framework for blockchain adoption in corporate governance. 2. We compare academic and industry literature to identify common trends, over- and under-explored areas and evolution of literature through time for a large sample of articles (183). 3. We provide an empirical analysis of blockchains and related start-up investments globally. 4. We link theories in corporate governance to implications from blockchain adoption. Thus, this study contributes to the behavioural perspectives and structural changes not limited to firms due to technology shocks such as blockchain but including market participants, developers and regulators alike. From a social paradigm perspective, this study would appeal to academics, industry practitioners, governments, law- and policymakers, entrepreneurs and investors of blockchains.

Selected key findings from the systematic review of 851 records and a final article sample of 183 for the sample period 2012 to 2020 include the following. We identify nine primary themes from prior literature that has some relevance to blockchain adoption in corporate governance, discussed in detail in the results (Section 5.1). On one hand, academic articles mostly focus on the regulatory theme (49 studies) and ICO theme (46 studies). On the other hand, industry articles primarily focus on exchange-related themes (10 studies) and the cryptocurrency theme (9 articles). We observe a significant interest in both academia and industry during 2017 (48 studies) and 2018 (42 studies) in aggregate. With China's renewed investments in the Blockchain-based Service Network (BSN) and COVID-19 lockdowns driving many firms towards digital transformation, interest in blockchains is most likely to further increase in 2020.

Selected findings from the textual analysis include the following: We identify that both industry and academic literature is largely concentrated around 1. Bitcoin, 2. markets, 3. technology and 4. fintech application themes. However, the industry and academic interests diverge in the following cases, where the industry focuses more on 1. privacy, 2. business and 3. global themes and academia concentrates on 1. governance, 2. networks and 3. ledger themes. Giving context to these themes from the content of these literatures enables us to observe that the industry focuses more on blockchain potential on a global scale, with business applications and features of blockchain such as privacy. Meanwhile, academic literature tends to have a narrower focus, with much concentration on exploring blockchain governance and architecture.

We compile a unique empirical database from industry data sources such as PwC, ICO insights, token data, CB Insights, Statista and Hutt Capital. Primary results from our empirical analysis for quarterly data from 2013 to 2019 includes the following. A growing linear trend is observed for investments and deal count beyond 2020, with investments and deal counts in 2020 and 2021 reaching 6.173 and 6.051 USD billion and 822 and 937, respectively, despite the COVID-19 crisis. We observe a negative correlation between European blockchain investments and Asia (largely driven by China). However, there is a strong correlation between global blockchain investments and Asia. These key

results and additional results from our systematic review, textual analysis and empirical analysis are discussed in more detail in the results and discussion (Section 5).

This study is organised as follows. Section 2 provides a literature review. Section 3 outlines the research design. Section 4 discusses blockchain technology. Section 5 includes the results and discussion from the systematic review, textual analysis and empirical analysis, including the Decentralized Autonomous Corporate Governance (DACG) Framework. Section 6 outlines blockchain adoption in corporate governance, impact and present and future use cases. Section 7 identifies the governance and ethical aspects of blockchains with regard to corporate governance applications. Section 8 explores blockchain potential in corporate governance during COVID-19 and in the post-COVID-19 environment. Section 9 discusses the limitations of our study. Finally, Section 10 concludes the study.

2. Literature Review

This section provides a detailed description of corporate governance and blockchain-related corporate governance literature. The findings from the systematic review of literature are provided in the results and discussion (Section 5.1). In this study, a systematic, structured literature review is undertaken to identify sources of secondary data, the historical context and best practice comparator information. While we discuss prior research on corporate governance, our objective is not to provide an exhaustive review of every aspect of blockchains in finance or corporate governance. This study is focused on the adoption of blockchain technology on corporate governance and thus would only focus on corporate governance theories that can be affected by blockchain adoption.

2.1. Corporate Governance

One of the first definitions widely accepted of corporate governance is offered by the Cadbury (1992), where corporate governance is defined as "the system by which companies are directed and controlled". Several adaptations of this first definition have been used later by academics in corporate governance research (du Plessis et al. 2005; Monks and Minow 1995). The agency cost theories of corporate governance state that the primary goal of good governance of firms is to protect shareholders and other stakeholders from managerial discretion. The separation between ownership, control and divergent interests of different stakeholders make it necessary to adopt governance mechanisms to align stakeholders' interests (Aguilera and Cuervo-Cazurra 2009). There are multiple corporate governance mechanisms recognized by research, both internal and external (Fama and Jensen 1983; Jensen 1993). These mechanisms attempt to reduce agency costs and guarantee an efficient decision-making process that maximizes the firm's wealth (Ahlering and Deakin 2007). Amongst the internal mechanisms, the most relevant ones seem to be the shareholders' ownership structure, the board of directors and the role of compensation of directors and managers.

In addition, transaction cost theory, first initiated in Coase's (1937) paper and later theoretically described by Williamson (1996), is an interdisciplinary alliance of law, economics and organizations. This theory defines the firm as an organization consisting of people with different views and objectives. The underlying assumption of transaction theory is that firms have become so large that they in effect substitute for the market in determining the allocation of resources. In other words, the organization and structure of a firm can determine prices and production. An alternative theory in corporate governance, which is the stewardship theory, has its roots in psychology and sociology and is defined by Davis and Thompson (1994). According to this theory, stewards are company executives and managers working towards protecting and creating wealth for the shareholders. Unlike agency theory, stewardship theory stresses not the perspective of individualism, but rather the role of top management as stewards, integrating their goals as part of the organization. Another theory in corporate governance is resource dependency theory. While stakeholder theory focuses on relationships with many groups for individual benefits, resource dependency theory concentrates on the role of board directors in providing access to resources needed by the firm. Hillman et al. (2000) contend that resource dependency theory

focuses on the role that directors play in providing or securing essential resources to an organization through their links with the external environment.

Finally, political theory considers the approach of developing voting support from shareholders by purchasing voting power. Hence, having political influence may direct corporate governance within the organization. Public interest is much reserved as the government participates in corporate decision-making, taking into consideration cultural challenges. The objective of this study's literature review is not to discuss the entire literature on corporate governance but to identify certain theories that may be affected by blockchain adoption in the corporate governance sphere. In Section 6, our framework and several key Tables link these theories to blockchain adoption in corporate governance.

2.2. Blockchain and Corporate Governance

The article mostly related to our study is Yermack (2017). Yermack (2017) states that blockchain adoption in corporate governance would result in greater liquidity, lower costs, accurate record-keeping and transparent ownership. As mentioned in the introduction section, our paper significantly differs from Yermack (2017) and prior literature by developing an adoption framework, conducting a systematic review of a large sample of articles, differentiating between academic and industry literature and identifying gaps and trends, and finally linking prior traditional corporate governance theories to blockchain adoption. Catalini and Gans (2016) assert that integrations of multiple ledgers of banks via blockchain would speed up processes and reduce costs. However, Cong and He (2019) find that smart contracts can lead to increased collusive behaviour among participants. Several studies explore payment system applications for blockchains (Yamada et al. 2016) based on alternate ledger designs (Badertscher et al. 2017) and smart contracts (Atzei et al. 2017). Abadi and Brunnermeier (2018) question blockchains' ability to remain cost-effective, decentralized and accurate all at once. Houy (2014) finds that transaction fees, which are the prices paid to trade a security, are directly linked to computing power of miners. Aoyagi and Adachi (2018) develop a theoretical framework to explain cryptocurrency prices based on blockchains under asymmetric information. Kim (2017) find Bitcoin transaction costs to be 2% lower relative to standard conversion rates on average. Easley et al. (2017) test transaction fee evolution by implementing a game-theoretic model and explain users' and miners' strategic behaviour. Jayasuriya and Sims (2019) explore the effects of blockchain applications in accounting and find numerous applications including triple-entry accounting, reduced earnings management, real-time auditing.

A key differentiation to be made between blockchain-based and non-blockchain-based firms is the use of cryptocurrencies or crypto tokens. These tokens may impact operational, financing and strategic aspects of firm decision making (Rohr and Wright 2017; Chen 2018; Howell et al. 2018; Liu and Wang 2019a). Entrepreneurship-based crypto tokens enable stakeholder coordination with network externalities in a single ecosystem (Li and Mann 2018; Bakos and Halaburda 2018; Sockin and Xiong 2020). Cong et al. (2020) state that blockchain features such as immutability, transparency and wealth-sharing incentivize developers, early adopters and entrepreneurs to this particular technology. Li and Mann (2018) find that as the quality of the platform improves, it attracts more users and further drives up the value of the tokens, creating positive network effects.

We identify prior literature related to ICOs. However, the objective of this study is not to review ICO literature extensively but to identify aspects relevant for corporate governance and blockchains, as detailed in the results and discussion section. ICOs are a new financing mechanism for blockchain-based ventures, especially at the early stage of development (Ante et al. 2018; Kaal and Dell'Erba 2017; Zetzsche et al. 2018; An et al. 2019; Momtaz 2019a). Chod and Lyandres (2018) state that ICOs facilitate fundraising without having to relinquish control rights by the founders. Kaal and Dell'Erba (2017) compare ICOs with initial public offerings (IPOs) and state that ICOs have significantly lower issuer fees due to the non-involvement of intermediaries such as banks. Conley (2017) and Catalini and Gans (2018) state that ICOs create more demand for tokens and increased competition among token buyers and subsequently reveal consumer value. Chemla and Tinn (2017) identify similarities of ICOs to

crowdfunding, where informed investment decisions are made through the wisdom of the crowds. Adhami et al. (2018) assert that ICO whitepapers and project-related details being widely available over the Internet will reduce information asymmetry and at the same time expose entrepreneurs to a wider range of investors. Lee and Parlour (2019) argue that ICOs provide a more liquid and secondary market for tokens listed on crypto exchanges relative to venture capital and private equity investments. However, several studies such as Collomb et al. (2018), Clements (2018) and Zetzsche et al. (2018), identify regulatory arbitrage and uncertainty around regulation as ICO disadvantages. Trimborn et al. (2018) find that majority of ICOs have a fixed token supply with a single round of financing which is required to increase token price with more demand. Liu and Wang (2019b) review prior literature on ICO token construction and valuation.

Literature that analyses ICO success include (Adhami et al. 2018; Blaseg 2018; Deng et al. 2018; Feng et al. 2018; Fisch 2018; Howell et al. 2018; Rhue 2018; Zetzsche et al. 2018; Bourveau et al. 2019 and Dean et al. 2019). Several studies focus on the quality of the management team and ICO advisors as signals of project quality and success potential (Amsden and Schweizer 2018, Lyandres et al. 2019, Bourveau et al. 2019). An et al. (2019) and Howell et al. (2018) highlight the significance of the enterpreneurs' experience, and Momtaz (2020a) and Momtaz (2019c) find CEO emotion and loyalty as being significant for ICO outcomes. Another strand of ICO literature finds significant underpricing in ICOs relative to IPOs (Adhami et al. 2018; Momtaz 2018; Bourveau et al. 2019; Ofir and Sadeh 2019). Benedetti and Kostovetsky (2018) and Momtaz (2019b) state that tokens are under-priced to attract a wider investor base and to overcome information asymmetry issues related to ICOs. Furthermore, studies such as Benedetti and Kostovetsky (2018); Momtaz (2018); Felix and Eije (2019); Drobetz et al. (2019) and Lyandres et al. (2019) focus on ICO under-pricing determinants and identify investor sentiment and first-day returns as being significant for long term ICO return prediction.

2.3. Legal and Governance Aspects of Blockchains and Applications

Blockchain-based firms would be a novel institution type which may require new economic analysis and governance mechanisms. Thus, several studies highlight the importance of government oversight on blockchain adoption (Davidson et al. 2016; Yeoh 2017). Other studies identify problems with ICO bans and explore optimal ICO regulation (Robinson 2017; Barsan 2017; Chohan 2017; Kaal and Dell'Erba 2017; Li and Mann 2018; Zetzsche et al. 2018). According to Kaal and Vermeulen (2017), 25 countries are considering comprehensive cryptocurrency regulation. Such regulation is key to prevent money laundering and black-market operations (Brenig et al. 2015; Abramowicz 2016; Hardy and Norgaard 2016; Humphries and Smith 2018; Foley et al. 2019). Piazza (2017) discusses blockchain adoption in corporate governance purely from a regulatory perspective. The author surmises that due to uncertainty in regulation, Bitcoin and blockchain adoption in ownership reporting and accounting is not prudent. However, Piazza (2017) does support the adoption of blockchain as a corporate voting tool. Brainard (2016) discuss various cryptocurrency regulation and courses of action. Furthermore, another strand of studies highlights the importance of regulation coordinated within society (Atzori 2015; Hughes and Middlebrook 2015; Mills et al. 2016; Robinson 2017; Nabilou and Prum 2019). Harwick (2016) discusses cryptocurrency-related, economic barriers, legal, technical, intermediation, governance factors and solutions.

Evans (2014) analyses present cryptocurrency platforms and alternatives and highlight the need for adequate governance. Tasca (2015) provides a case for country-level governance with regard to cryptocurrencies and payment systems related to financial intermediaries. Bagby et al. (2018) propose expanded jurisdiction on cryptocurrency regulatory initiatives. Luther (2016) states a lack of government support and regulation as a key barrier for cryptocurrency prevalence and success. Barsan (2017) and Pilkington (2018) discuss ICOs in general and advocate for stringent regulation to avoid hacking similar to the decentralised autonomous organisation (DAO) hack. Zetzsche et al. (2018) provide legal recommendations that would mitigate participation risks in ICOs to investors. Kim et al. (2018) explore the cryptocurrency regulatory landscape and develop a framework for cryptocurrency valuation.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36

Blockchain-based regulation also involves regulation of equity crowdfunding. Zhu and Zhou (2016) explore Chinese equity crowdfunding platforms and provide blockchains as a viable solution resulting in low-cost, efficient, secure platforms requiring regulatory oversight. The next section provides a detailed description of our research design.

3. Research Design

This section firstly explains the research design for the systematic review and textual analysis and secondly provides the research design for the empirical analysis. The systematic survey and textual analysis enable us to identify the key diverse factors to be included in our framework. Our framework provides an overall picture of the many parties involved, theories from prior literature, market forces and the role of blockchain governance factors as it relates to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. Next, we hand-collect blockchain-related investment data globally and forecast future investments, deal counts and correlations among different geographic regions.

3.1. Systematic Review

As a meta-analysis method, systematic reviews are developed to explore, collect and analyse present knowledge and gaps regarding certain concepts (Briner et al. 2009). Industry and academic articles on general blockchain applications across industries and its impact have begun to proliferate in prior literature. However, each analysis in some way possesses limited scope about applications and impact on corporate governance. This proliferation further creates risks in knowledge collection and integration of findings to academics and practitioners (Briner et al. 2009). Hence, this study collates these dispersed articles in a systematic and coherent manner to identify factors relevant for blockchain adoption in corporate governance, analyse gaps, similarities and trends between the academic and industry literature and develop an adoption framework.

Given this setting, we follow (Briner and Denyer 2012) and (Moher et al. 2009) to implement a systematic literature review. The key steps are as follows. 1. Identify the motivation behind the review and formulate research questions; 2. collate the relevant articles from prior literature, conduct quality assessments and synthesise the required data; 3. carefully analyse the final sample of articles manually and through textual analysis to identify trends, gaps and similarities between academic and industry literature and to develop the framework; and 4. finally, present the findings from our review and the developed framework for blockchain in corporate governance. We construct a final sample of 183 (28 industry and 155 academic articles) articles. These articles are finalised from a preliminary search that yielded 851 articles for the sample period from 2012 to 2020. Further details about the article inclusion and exclusion criteria, search methods and keywords are described in detail in the next sub-sections.

3.1.1. Definition of Research Questions

The first stage involves motivating the study and defining the research questions. Blockchain is an ever-evolving technology and is a key part of the digital transformation process for most businesses. Hence, understanding this technology and its impact is important. However, a key part that often gets missed by most prior literature is how blockchain relates to corporate governance, its theories and implications. Furthermore, due to the proliferation of general blockchain adoption literature, it is important to conduct a systematic review to comprehend prior literature and identify insights relevant for blockchain adoption in corporate governance. To this end, the following research questions are formulated.

1: What are the present and future use cases of blockchain applications in corporate governance?

This research question identifies present and future blockchain use cases from a wide range of applications of blockchain across many industries, from general adoption articles and finance-related articles themselves.

2: What are the trends, gaps and similarities between prior industry and academic literature?

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36

This question is formulated to obtain an overview of over- or under-explored areas and differences of interest between the industry and academic literature with regard to blockchain and corporate governance. The findings related to this research question would aid future researchers and industry practitioners to identify gaps where more research and applications are required and would promote collaborations between industry and academia.

3. What are the implications of adopting blockchain in corporate governance and linking to theories in prior literature?

Clearly identifying the impact of blockchain adoption for corporate governance is key for successful deployment and maintenance of blockchain within the finance industry. By linking existing traditional corporate governance theories to blockchain adoption, this research question aids in better understanding impacts and unintended consequences.

4: What are the advantages, challenges, misconceptions and limitations for blockchain adoption in corporate governance during and post COVID-19?

Due to lockdowns and social distancing, most businesses have been pushed for digital transformation at a faster pace, including those in the financial sector. Blockchain being one of the key fintech technologies, this research question aims to understand the advantages, limitations and barriers of adoption of blockchain in corporate governance during and post COVID-19.

5. What are the links between investments in blockchain internationally and future forecasts?

This empirical research question collates empirical data on blockchain investments from several data sources and forecasts future investments to identify future investment trends.

3.1.2. Collating Articles

This section details the steps followed for article selection. We carried out a systematic literature search in Science Direct, Business Source Premier, Scopus and Google Scholar. The article collation process involved the following steps: 1. database identification (Science Direct, Scopus, Business Source Premier and Google scholar); 2. finalising keywords and search criteria (for the preliminary search); 3. identifying the initial set of articles and analysing manually and through textual analysis; 4. constructing the final sample of articles; and 5. classifying the identified relevant articles into major themes; Science Direct, Scopus and Google Scholar were selected as suggested by finance specialist librarians at the university as being the primary databases¹ with an exhaustive list of industry and academic articles relevant to blockchain technology in finance.

The article search included several permutations of the following keywords: "finance+blockchain", "decentralised system+finance", "decentralised network+finance", "decentralised ledger+finance", "cryptocurrencies+corporate governance", "digital currencies+corporate governance", "bitcoin+corporate governance", "Ethereum+finance", "ICO+finance," "financial services+blockchain", "security+blockchain", "ethics+blockchain", "blockchain+corporate governance", "financial intermediaries+blockchain", "COVID-19+blockchain", and "regulation+blockchain" in the title, abstracts, text, and keywords fields of the search engine. Moreover, the reference list from selected articles was further analysed to identify more articles not previously captured by the search criteria (snowball effect). This preliminary search yielded 851 records in total from all the databases. These articles include peer-reviewed research articles, conference proceedings papers, consulting and professional body reports, white papers, book chapters, short notes and short surveys. Subsequently, we segregated academic and articles and constructed a final sample of 183 blockchain-related articles (28 industry and 155 academic articles), which was used in the analysis, possessing factors relevant to or that can be re-purposed for corporate governance.

¹ Several search refinement features of Scopus and Science Direct are used following specific articles that might be in a grey area with regard to interest. However, for good measure we conducted a regular Google search as well and reviewed search results so as not to miss important industry reports.

3.1.3. Final Article Sample Selection

The pre-defined inclusion/exclusion criteria in Table 1 aid in constructing the final sample of articles. Several exclusion criteria are implemented prior to including the articles in the bibliographic manager. These included perusing for language, document type (notes, editorials) and further removing articles that contain no information relevant to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. In the initial stage, all articles' keywords, abstracts and introductions were assessed. Subsequently, any article that met one of the exclusion criteria was excluded. Several articles were further excluded following a full text review and being purely related to technical aspects of blockchain technology. Additional articles related to finance, corporate governance and survey methodologies are included in the reference list of the study but not included in the review analysis as they are not related to blockchain technology.

Selection Criteria		Article Description	Grey Literature (Literature Whose Relevance Is Unclear from the First Search)
Inclusion	With time-frame restrictions beginning from 2012	Peer-reviewed research articles (including articles in press), conference proceedings papers, book chapters, review papers, short surveys, serials etc.	Technical reports relating to blockchain but with factors that can be relevant or repurposed for applications in corporate governance.
		Databases used: Google Scholar, Science Direct, Business Source Premier and Scopus.	
Exclusion	Prior to importation to bibliographic manager	Non-English articles, articles with missing abstracts, notes, editorials	Generic reports related to blockchain technology without any factors relevant to corporate governance.
	During title screening	Generic articles related to the blockchain technology and/or blockchain architecture with no application possibility in finance or relevance for corporate governance.	
	During abstract screening	Software-oriented articles related to blockchain technology and not related to blockchain governance	
	During full-text screening	Articles solely addressing technical aspects of blockchain technology and not related to blockchain governance	

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

3.1.4. Textual Analysis and Thematic Coding

All articles in the final sample are submitted to machine-learning-based textual analysis software named 'Leximancer'. Through Leximancer, key themes and sub-themes are identified for the framework development and further differentiation between industry and academic literature. Additional factors to the framework are included by carefully reading the articles in the final sample for robustness of the results from Leximancer and to provide context to the key themes identified by the software. Thematic content analysis through Leximancer is conducted via resource maps, and detailed results are explained in Section 5.2.

Resource Maps

A resource map provides a broad view of a large amount of literature in one single graph. The size of each concept point indicates its connectedness. As the algorithm goes through the list, it will attempt to draw words as close as possible to the centre of the visualization. These key themes and sub-themes identified via the resource maps and the manual systematic review of prior literature form the foundation for our DCAG.

3.2. Empirical Data Collection and Methodology

Due to blockchain's relative novelty, its exponential development and secrecy by adoptive firms due to future profitability prospects, empirical data with regard to blockchain applications are difficult to obtain (Dapp 2014). Given this setting, for the empirical analysis, firstly, we hand-collected and compiled a unique quarterly database from 2012 to 2020 of blockchain and related start-up investments globally through historical reports from PwC, Token Data, CB Insights, ICO Insights, Statista and Hutt Capital. The future values are forecasted using a basic average linear extrapolation on past values due to the lack of a number of observations and additional data.

4. Blockchain Technology

Blockchain is just one form of the broader area of distributed ledger technology (Brainard 2016). Given the widespread use of the term "blockchain", we use that term instead of distributed ledger technology (DLT). There are two main types of blockchains: public and permissioned. On a public blockchain, such as Bitcoin, no permission is required to use or view the blockchain. The two highest-profile public blockchains are Bitcoin and Ethereum (Atzei et al. 2017). Bitcoin was the first blockchain (Nakamoto 2008). Most public blockchains are open-source, and no central authority or person runs a public blockchain. Rather, a network of peers agrees on the state of the blockchain. Newer platforms such as IOTA, Hashgraph, Holochain and Dfinity do not use a chain of blocks (Wright and De Filippi 2015). Verification on the Bitcoin blockchain is made via peers (miners). Bitcoin's blockchain is a ledger that records the number of bitcoins an entity owns in a particular wallet (Abadi and Brunnermeier 2018). It also contains a full transaction history of all transactions sent and received by that particular wallet. People or entities are not defined by their names, as they would be for a bank account; rather, public keys are used (Chen 2018). Public keys are a long string of numbers and letters. The Bitcoin blockchain records the bitcoins each public key owns. A public key, in turn, is controlled by the individual who has the private key (another long string of numbers and letters). Whoever has access to the private key is able to transfer bitcoins, highlighting the importance of the security of the private key (Atzei et al. 2017). Crucially, unlike with a password for a bank account, there is no ability to recover a lost or forgotten private key.

Miners are incentivized to perform the validation and block creation work by a block reward: a reward of bitcoin for successfully adding a block to the blockchain, plus the transaction fees from the transactions the miner includes in the block (Babich and Hilary 2019). The block reward further serves to distribute newly created bitcoin. Bitcoin is currently capped at 21 million bitcoins and it is expected that in approximately 2140, the last bitcoin will be created. Once the last bitcoin is created, miners will receive only transaction fees that are attached to transactions (Beck et al. 2018). Transactions cannot be altered after the fact, although it is possible in exceptional circumstances to make retrospective changes (DuPont 2017). Bitcoin and its proof-of-work consensus system have been criticized for their electricity use, although Vranken (2017) has questioned the estimates. Several blockchains, mindful of electricity usage, use proof-of-stake or delegated proof-of-stake, which do not expend large amounts of electricity, as nodes are chosen at random to validate transactions (Vranken 2017). For example, proof of importance consensus is used in the NEM blockchain. Permissioned blockchains, which are considered next, do not normally use proof-of-work and thus have minimal electricity requirements (Vranken 2017). Permissioned blockchains, as the name suggest, can limit who has permission to validate transactions, view the blockchain and create transactions. Permissioned blockchains are generally run by consortiums. Fewer participants translate to a permissioned blockchain that is not as decentralized as a public blockchain (Beck et al. 2017). Several public blockchains, such as Ethereum and NEM, offer permissioned versions.

4.1. Smart Contracts

Smart contracts are a set of instructions residing on a blockchain, written in computer code, and are a key aspect of harnessing blockchains' capabilities. Szabo (1994) states that a smart contract can execute the terms of a contract and is a computerized protocol. They can be used, for example, to guarantee payment by counterparties involved in a contract. Ethereum is the first blockchain to successfully employ smart contracts. The self-enforcing nature of smart contracts results in transaction costs of monitoring and enforcing adherence to rules and laws being removed (Cong and He 2019). Sisli-Ciamarra (2012) states that firm board composition may also be affected by smart contracts. Generally, firms have bankers as directors to signal financial markets' creditworthiness, and smart contract signalling may deter this need. Mik (2017) argues that smart contracts can be implemented to solve numerous legal and enforcement issues. In our opinion, applications of smart contracts in corporate finance and governance could include option exercises and other contingent claims requiring instant collateral transfer in case of default. They can also include performance-based employee compensation packages. Moreover, smart contracts alleviate agency costs in many of these scenarios in corporate governance (Yermack 2017). Finally, a firm's willingness to implement smart contracts can signal future ethical behaviour.

4.2. Decentralized Autonomous Organizations (DAO)

Organizations/firms are deemed to be a natural mechanism for conducting businesses, and this form of organization dates back to the mid-19th century (DuPont 2017). However, blockchains have the potential to transform the future organization to a digitized decentralized network of stakeholders (DuPont 2017 and Sims 2019). In our opinion, blockchains can facilitate a form of novel organization without senior management or an organizational hierarchy. Blockchains are an opportunity for new organization types to develop based on a distributed decentralized structure (Scott et al. 2017). Shermin (2017) argue that blockchains can overcome traditional principal-agent dilemmas through decentralized governance and highlight the importance of smart contracts to implement a trust regulatory system. A DAO is an amalgamation of blockchains, smart contracts and stakeholders all working together interactively. The basic rules of governance are programmed into the blockchain at setup (DuPont 2017). All stakeholders involved with the DAO will possess tokens that represent a share in the DAO's performance (similar to a share of an organisation/firm). Therefore, the fundamental profit maximisation goal of the firm can be restated as the value maximisation of the tokens for a DAO (DuPont 2017). Essentially, in our opinion, a DAO is an organisation controlled by token holders that operate on a blockchain through smart contracts. Thus, DAOs will have to be governed by laws and regulations similar to all regular firms in order to interact and conduct business in the real world. Therefore, these token holders will replace board members AND top management, where decisions would be made by token holders. Moreover, the type of token possessed by each token holder may determine the type of contract for each project within the DAO, similarly to an employee in a regular organization/firm.

5. Results and Discussion

This section firstly discusses the systematic review results, then the results from the textual analysis and DACG framework and finally moves on to the empirical results. Moreover, this section answers Research Question 2: What are the trends, gaps and similarities between prior industry and academic literature? The key findings from the systematic review section involve the identification of nine key themes with regard to prior literature, the time trends and cross-sectional distributions of these literature, common trends and over- and underexplored themes between industry and academic literature.

5.1. Systematic Literature Review Results

The study analyses 183 articles, out of which 28 are from the industry for the sample period from 2012 to 2020. By reading through prior literature, we are able to broadly classify them into the following key themes: 1. exchanges and CG, 2. corporate voting and CG, 3. practice and education of BC, 4. BC and CG, 5. regulation, 6. BC technology related to CG, 7. ICOs and crowdfunding, 8. cryptocurrencies and 9. other. The "Other" theme includes articles with a prime focus in another area than the themes identified with regard to blockchain but still having some relevant factors to draw upon for blockchain adoption in corporate governance.

Academic and Industry Article Comparison

Table 2 identifies the number of articles that focus on the key themes utilized to develop the decentralized autonomous corporate governance framework (DACGF) in this study. According to Table 2, the industry focus is primarily on the two themes of stakeholders (23 studies) and blockchain impact and value creation (20) from our DACG framework. Academic studies primarily focus on market mechanisms (60 studies) and blockchain governance (57 studies). Corporate governance emerges as an underexplored area by both academic (7 studies) and industry (1 study) literature, highlighting the importance of our study and the DACG framework. Table A1 is provided as a separate Internet Appendix A for brevity and identifies the themes from the systematic review on blockchain adoption in corporate governance among academic studies and industry articles.

Table 2. Fo	ocus counts for f	ramework develop:	men	t fro	om	prior literature.
-				-		1.1.1 001

Framework		Focus on Any Factor with	thin Theme
Key Themes	Total	Industry Reports	Academic Studies
Corporate governance theories relevant to blockchain adoption	8	1	7
Blockchain impact and value creation	54	20	34
Stakeholders	53	23	30
Market mechanisms	74	14	60
Blockchain governance	60	3	57

Source: CB insights, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.

Figure 1 depicts the industry and academic article count across time, and Figure 2 provides the article count by key themes for industry and academic literature and the aggregate of both. In Figure 2, several articles from both industry and academic may overlap across several themes. Figure 2 further enables us to identify the trends, gaps and similarities between academic literature and industry reports.



Figure 1. Year-wise article count.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36



Figure 2. Topic-wise article count for academic and industry articles and total aggregate.

According to Figure 1, articles skyrocketed during 2017 and 2018 for academia, with 43 and 38 and for industry, with 5 and 4 articles, respectively. However, the year with the greatest number of articles from the industry with some relevance for corporate governance was 2015 (8 studies). This count suggests that academia seems to lag behind industry by two years in terms of blockchain articles with factors relevant for corporate governance. Due to some stringent regulatory measures and bans in 2018 in China, there is a significant decline post-2018 (Allan and Hagiwara 2018), with only 20 academic studies in 2019. This trend is likely to reverse with interest picking up due to COVID-19 and renewed interest from China. Figure 2 displays the theme-specific distribution of our sample of 183 articles. These themes are identified from our systematic review as opposed to the earlier themes mentioned that are directly from our DACG framework. According to Figure 2, academic articles mostly focus on regulation (49 studies) and ICOs (46 studies). Industry articles primarily focus on exchanges (10 studies) and cryptocurrencies (9 articles). This result is understandable, as most industry applications tend to focus on digital or cryptocurrencies and their many applications in financial services. These numbers highlight the interdisciplinary potential of blockchains across industries.

5.2. Textual Analysis

The first step in manually identifying differences, gaps and trends between academic and industry literature involves carefully reviewing the text body. However, as an additional step, these three resource maps further help to differentiate between academic and industry literature. Moreover, to develop the DACG framework, we use textual analysis to obtain a broad perspective of prior literature and industry reports. Through this, we identify the key themes and which studies are clustered around them as explained in the first part of Section 5.1.

The Map

The resource maps below provide information about the main concepts across the literature analysed and finally the similarities in the contexts in which they occur. This analysis helps us to develop our DACG framework and to identify key themes. Figure 3 shows words such that the terms that occur the most frequently are positioned centrally and are of the largest size for academic and industry literature, thus, providing an overall birds-eye view of the entire sample of 183 articles. According to the large-sized and nearby linked words, we can observe that Figure 3 identifies 1. blockchain, 2. technology, 3. markets, 4. financial, 5. shareholders, 6. transactions, 7. information and 8. transparency as key themes emerging from prior literature. By coding those themes and giving them context, we can identify that they relate to focus on blockchain technology itself: blockchains in finance and financial markets, blockchains in exchanges with links to shareholders, blockchains for payment systems with links to transactions, and finally blockchain features such as transparency

and information on a blockchain. Further examples and explanations of blockchain applications are explained in Section 6.



Figure 3. Resource map from textual analysis of both industry and academic literature.

Figures 4 and 5 display resource maps for academic and industry literature separately. By comparing key themes identified in Figures 4 and 5 we again explore the differences, similarities and gaps between academic and industry literature. Figure 5 depicts 1. blockchain, 2. Bitcoin, 3. technology, 4. financial, 5. transactions, 6. network, 7. fintech, 8. governance, 9. markets and 10. ledger as key themes in the academic literature. Meanwhile, Figure 5 shows 1. blockchain, 2. markets, 3. technology, 4. business, 5. global, 6. privacy, 7. Bitcoin, 8. industry, 9. transactions, 10. bank, 11. currencies and 12. fintech as key themes from industry reports. By comparing these themes, we can identify that both industry and academic literature can be largely concentrated on 1. Bitcoin, 2. markets, 3. technology and 4. fintech. This shows the preferred blockchain-based areas in Bitcoin, blockchains in markets, technology of blockchains itself and use of blockchain as a financial technology. However, the industry and academic interests diverge in the following cases: industry focuses on 1. privacy, 2. business and 3. global, and academia focuses on 1. governance, 2. networks and 3. ledger. Giving context to these themes would enable us to observe that industry focuses more on blockchain potential on a global scale, with business applications and features of blockchain such as privacy. However, the academic literature is relatively narrower by exploring blockchain governance and blockchain architecture with regard to its networks and the decentralised nature of blockchains.



Figure 4. Resource map from textual analysis of academic literature.



Figure 5. Resource map from textual analysis of industry literature.

5.3. Decentralized Autonomous Corporate Governance (DACG) Framework

In essence, blockchain is a distributed ledger (which can be open, permissioned or private) that records transactions in a permanent verifiable manner among parties efficiently. In some platforms, these tasks can be programmed to trigger transactions automatically given certain contingencies (smart contracts). With blockchain-enabled corporate governance, need for intermediaries such as brokers, banks and lawyers would be significantly reduced. Instead, stakeholders, users, organizations and blockchains would transact and communicate with each other with as little friction as possible. Such a newly digitized world of corporate governance, which may seem decades away into the future, is the daunting potential of blockchains. Moreover, due to COVID-19, that future may come more sooner than anticipated. Figure 6 outlines our DACG framework.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36



Figure 6. Decentralized autonomous corporate governance.

Key features of the blockchain technology are already deeply embedded in our economic, legal and political systems in terms of record-keeping, transactions, contracts and stakeholders. Similar to the functions in a blockchain, organizational governance and boundaries are established as is verification of ownership, identities, recordkeeping of events and interactions among stakeholders. Hence, in our opinion, application of blockchain into corporate governance is just another form of digitizing the same factors in corporate governance. However, the possibility of digitization at every level may pose several ethical, regulatory and social issues apart from key advantages. These issues and advantages are discussed in the later sections of this study. The DACG Framework is designed to help organizations and interested parties achieve clarity, ensure value from their efforts, create a clear mission, maintain scope and focus and establish accountabilities with regard to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. This section of the paper describes the key components and core factors of the DACG Framework. In essence, this framework provides an overview of blockchains, its impact and relevant corporate governance applications and theories to enable proper adoption.

5.3.1. Why Use the DACG Framework?

Most transactions of an organization revolve around the following key drivers: profit maximization, manage complexities and costs, risk management, security and privacy. All efforts of an organisation would ultimately revolve around these three core mandates. However, maintaining focus on all factors and keeping all aspects in mind may be difficult, especially when trying to explore the feasibility and potential adoption of a new technology such as blockchains. Given this setting, our framework helps interested parties and organisations to keep the bigger picture in mind. Frameworks enable us to organize how we envision and communicate about ambiguous, new and complicated concepts.

Thus, a proper framework at a higher level on the impact of blockchain adoption can provide clarity and purpose for interested stakeholders. Our framework has five main components: corporate governance theories, market mechanisms, blockchain impact, stakeholders and finally, at the centre, blockchain governance. The key themes in our framework are explained in detail below.

5.3.2. Corporate Governance Theories Relevant to Blockchain Adoption

One contribution of our study is to survey prior literature on corporate governance theories and identify theories that are related to blockchain adoption and explore their subsequent impact. Table 3 explains these theories and impact of blockchain adoption in more detail. Identification of such theories is important to fully understand the potential and implications of blockchain adoption and develop new theories related to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. To this end, we have identified these key theories in corporate governance. 1. Goals of stewards as part of the firm (Davis et al. 1997, Stewardship Theory). 2. Role of stewards providing access to resources (Hillman and Dalziel 2003, Dependency Theory). 3. Determining allocation of resources (Coase 1937, Transaction Cost Theory). 4. Relationships with many groups for individual benefit. (Stakeholder Theory). 5. Centralized decision making (Fama and Jensen 1983 Agency Costs).

Corporate Governance Theory	Theory Description	Blockchain Adoption Implications
	1. Shares of a corporation would be issued and l	held on a blockchain
Agency costs	The primary goal of good governance in firms is to protect shareholders and other stakeholders from the managerial discretion	 Increased transparency and subsequent reduced information asymmetry would significantly change incentives and profit opportunities for managers.
Transaction cost theory	The organization and structure of a firm can determine price and production.	 Reduced cost and speed of execution would greatly improve liquidity, and information incorporation into asset prices would facilitate high frequency. It would increase demand for investments in stocks and also create new investing strategies, objectives and dynamics. The real-time archiving of trades would result in information being incorporated into prices more speedily, making markets more efficient
Stewardship theory	Stewards are company executives and managers working and protecting and making money for the shareholders.	 It would reduce information asymmetry and would significantly change incentives and profit opportunities for institutional investors, insiders and other traders in general
Resource dependency theory	Concentrates on the role of board directors in providing access to resources needed by the firm	 Increased transparency may change and even expand the role of shareholders in corporate governance. This may also hinder the board of directors and be interrupted by shareholders with no expertise in the relevant field.
Political theory	Considers the approach of developing voting support from shareholders, rather than by purchasing voting power	
	2. Corporate Voting	
Agency costs	The primary goal of good governance in firms is to protect shareholders and other stakeholders from the managerial discretion.	 Voters and the firm would be able to see that votes had been cast validly, but if desired, would not be able to see how particular voters voted. This in turn would greatly increase the cost and speed of voting, would increase accuracy and would reduced interference by management.
Transaction cost theory	The organization and structure of a firm can determine price and production.	
Stewardship theory	Stewards are company executives and managers working and protecting and making money for the shareholders.	 Increased transparency and speed and reduced costs would result in more shareholder and other interested stakeholder participation. Thus, stakeholders may get involved directly in corporate governance and petition for votes on important firm decisions.
Resource dependency theory	Concentrates on the role of the board directors in providing access to resources needed by the firm.	
Political theory	Considers the approach of developing voting support from shareholders, rather than by purchasing voting power	 Using blockchain for corporate elections and shares would make empty voting more difficult or even prevent it entirely. Smart contracts can be used so that there is a stand-down period following the transfer of a share, during which time that share has no voting rights.

Table 3. Blockchain Adoption Implications and Corporate Governance Theories.

5.3.3. Blockchain Impact and Value Creation

This section is an amalgamation of our identification of the bridge between prior academic research and industry reports on blockchain applications in corporate governance. This key theme was developed by identifying the characteristics, advantages and disadvantages of present and future use case applications of blockchain adoption in corporate governance through our systematic review, then linking these to value creation avenues in terms of prior academic literature and market mechanisms that are affected by blockchain adoption in corporate governance. These key factors include the following: 1. Information asymmetry—blockchain offers transparency. 2. Efficient markets—blockchain offers higher speed, efficiency, lesser agency costs and transparency. 3. Liquidity—blockchain can handle large amounts of data with ease and efficiency and more transparency. 4. Competition—blockchain allows more participation. 5. Social welfare—blockchains would result in lesser agency costs, frauds and mismanagement. 6. Agency costs—removal or reduction of agents in blockchains results in lesser agency costs. 7. Efficient asset allocation—increased speed, efficiency and transparency and more efficient markets would result in efficient resource allocation. 8. Decision-making—blockchain would result in better decision making due to lesser agency costs, more transparency and efficient markets.

5.3.4. Stakeholders

This section synthesizes the stakeholders involved in blockchain adoption in corporate governance. This identification is fundamental to the understanding and implementation of blockchain adoption with regard to corporate governance. The key factors in this section include 1. firm management. 2. shareholders. 3. creditors. 4. auditors. 5. regulators. 6. investors. 7. customers and general public.

5.3.5. Market Mechanisms

This section identifies the market mechanisms that would be affected by blockchain adoption in corporate governance. The key factors include 1. trading, 2. short selling, 3. insider trading, 4. mergers and acquisitions, 5. initial public offerings and seasonal equity offerings, 6. executive compensation, 7. financial reporting, 8. earnings management, 9. auditing, 10. Litigation, 11. Regulation, 12. financial fraud and 13. corporate voting.

5.3.6. Blockchain Governance

Finally, at the centre of the framework lies the blockchain governance section that is linked to all other sections. Without proper governance of blockchains, its adoption in any area would not be sustainable long term. Therefore, this section includes the following key blockchain governance factors: 1. blockchain protocol, 2. forks, 3. Privacy, 4. Security, 5. quality assurance, 6. Interoperability, 7. Innovation, 8. usability and efficiency and 9. cost reduction. To ensure efficient, ethical and sustainable blockchain adoption in corporate governance, it is important to understand all themes and factors identified in our DACG framework.

5.4. Empirical Analysis

This section answers Research Question 5: What are the links between investments in blockchain internationally and future forecasts? Table 4 outlines blockchain wallet users in millions with numbers increasing to 44.69 million users in the 2019 fourth quarter, showing demand interest increasing. A significant increase in users can be observed between the first and second quarter in 2019 to reflect the Bitcoin price fluctuations, trade war fears between U.S. and China and growing interest in cryptocurrencies.

From the supply side, Figure 7 depicts the number of venture rounds completed between 2017 and the end of February 2018 led or participated in by key investors in blockchain and innovative technologies. It identifies several key venture capital firms monopolising investments in blockchain technologies in financial markets. Figure 8 depicts the percentage of blockchain and related startups

for several key countries between 2017 and the end of February 2018. The U.S. is leading investments in blockchain and related startups. The majority of the "other" percentage is due to China.

Year	Number of Blockchain Wallet Users in Millions
2016 Q3	8.95
2016 Q4	10.98
2017 Q1	12.89
2017 Q2	14.97
2017 Q3	17.26
2017 Q4	21.51
2018 Q1	23.95
2018 Q2	25.76
2018 Q3	28.89
2018 Q4	31.91
2019 Q1	34.66
2019 Q2	40.09
2019 Q3	42.31
2019 O4	44.69

Table 4. Number of Blockchain Wallet users.

Source: Statista.



Figure 7. Venture round count completed by key investors of blockchain between 2017 and end of February 2018. Source: CB insights, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.



Figure 8. Percentage of Blockchain and related start-ups by geography between 2017 and end of February 2018. Source: CB insights, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.

Figure 9 depicts blockchain technology investment by different categories. According to Figure 9, the majority of blockchain investments are applications related to Bitcoin, with the highest and third-highest investments being in bitcoin exchanges and Bitcoin-based financial services. The second highest investment is in innovations in blockchain platforms. It is concerning to observe the low investments in blockchain big data, where developments would be made in handling the large amount of data maintained on blockchains. Figure 10 depicts the number of investments in each blockchain

category. This supports the picture provided in Figure 9 with numerous Bitcoin-related applications monopolizing developments with regard to blockchain technology.

The quarterly data for the sample period 2013 to 2019, for Table 5 and Figures 11 and 12, are collected from CB insights, Hutt Capital, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data. There is negative correlation between European blockchain investments and those of Asia (largely driven by China). Table 5 provides the correlation of investments in blockchains between global investments, U.S., Europe and Asia. There is negative correlation between European blockchain investments and those of Asia (largely driven by China). Table 5 provides the correlation of investments in blockchains between global investments, U.S., Europe and Asia. There is negative correlation between European blockchain investments and those of Asia (largely driven by China). There is strong correlation between global blockchain investments and Asia showing a co-movement of optimistic sentiment in blockchains and the massive investments by China.



Figure 9. Blockchain Technology investment by different categories. Source: CB insights, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.



Figure 10. Number of blockchain technology deals by different categories. Source: CB insights, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.

Table 5. Correlations of quarterly investments in fintech between global investment, U.S., Europe and Asia from 2013 to 2019.

Region	Correlation
Global and U.S.	0.22
Global and Europe	0.20
Global and Asia	0.94
U.S. and Europe	0.11
U.S. and Asia	0.16
Europe and Asia	-0.15

Source: Calculated by the authors using CB insights, Hutt Capital, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data sources.

We used average linear extrapolation to forecast future investments and blockchain deal counts globally. Figures 11 and 12 both exhibit a growing linear trend for investments and deal counts in 2020 and 2021, reaching 6.173 and 6.051 USD billion and 822 and 937, respectively despite the COVID-19 crisis. This is expected, as with lockdowns and social distancing measures expected to be in place

for the foreseeable future, most firms are driven to digital transformations where blockchain is a key technology. In addition, with increased investment from China in the BSN and the race to implement digital currencies by central banks in several countries including the U.S., increases in blockchain investments are expected to further increase globally.



Figure 11. Venture capital investments in blockchain technology and future investment forecasts (\$ million). Source: Calculated by the authors based on quarterly data from 2013 to 2019 using CB insights, Hutt Capital, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data sources.



Figure 12. Number of deals by venture capital firms in blockchain technology and future deal count forecasts. Source: Calculated by the authors using CB insights, Hutt Capital, PwC, ICO Insights and Token Data.

6. Blockchain Adoption in Corporate Governance

This section answers our Research Question 1: What are the current and future use cases of blockchain applications in corporate governance? We discuss applications of blockchain by financial institutions, accounting and taxation and initial coin offerings in two other studies. The work by stock exchanges around the world on blockchain is particularly significant. They signal that tokenization of shares will occur sooner rather than later. The key implementations of blockchain in clearing houses and securities exchanges are provided in Table 6.

Moving exchanges to blockchain platforms would reduce information redundancies, costs and speed of transactions, subsequently improving performance (Mathew and Irrera 2017). However, a common risk with regard to blockchains is the issues of security of private keys (Mathew and Irrera 2017). These are proofs of ownership which can be stolen. In our opinion, multi-signature transactions where signatures of all parties are required before agreement to a transaction may circumvent this issue. Table 7 provides a summary of the implications of blockchain adoption in corporate governance to various market mechanisms and market participants based on prior literature and our opinion.

Plastahain Amplication	Evaluation	Veer	Description and Use Case	Collaborating Tesh Firm
Blockchain Application	Exchange	rear	Description and Use Case	Collaborating lech Firm
LINQ	NASDAQ	2015	Blockchain platform for private bond and stock trade	
	Toronto's TMX Group		Blockchain platform for its Natural Gas Exchange (NGX)	
	Australian Stock Exchange (ASX)	2015	Replacing its clearing and settlement platform CHESS with blockchain technology	Implemented by Digital Asset Holdings.
	Japan Exchange Group (JPX)		Developing a blockchain platform for trading low liquidity securities	IBM
Korean Start-up Market	Korea Exchange	2017	To trade shares of start-up companies	
	India's National Stock Exchange (NSE)	2017	Conducted a blockchain trial of a KYC (know-your-customer) data protocol	
	Moscow Exchange (MOEX)		Exploring moving its National Settlement Depository (NSD) to a blockchain platform	
	Deutsche Börse and Deutsche Bundesbank	2016	Been testing blockchain platform prototypes for securities settlement	
	London Stock Exchange		Use of blockchain platforms to improve post-trade processing	
	Luxembourg Stock Exchange		Implemented a blockchain platform for a security system for digitally signed documents and related codes	
	Santiago Exchange is		Exploring blockchain technology to be applied across Chile's financial sector	IBM
	Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing (HKEX)		Enhance its post-trade infrastructure.	implemented by Digital Asset Holdings.
	the Singapore Exchange (SGX)	2018	Integrating Blockchain technology into its core infrastructure.	
	Zimbabwe Stock Exchange		Exploring adoption of blockchain technology	

Table 6. Present Blockchain Applications in Corporate Governance.

Table 7. Stakeholders and Blockchain Adoption Implications in Corporate Governance.

Stakeholders	Behavioural Perspectives of Blockchain Adoption
1. Market Mechanisms	Mergers where building hostile positions for takeovers may be hindered and blockchains may become a part of takeover defence mechanisms.
2. Shareholders	Whilst shareholders might become more passive, similar to what is discussed in Grossman and Hart's (1980) free-rider problem, it is more likely that the increased transparency that blockchains offer may change and even expand the role of shareholders in corporate governance. This may also hinder board of directors' and managers' decision-making, especially if interrupted by shareholders with no expertise in the relevant field.
3. New Breed of Third-Party Identity Verification Firms	Even if aliases are used for share purchases, third parties could earn fees for ascertaining the identity of shareowners. These third parties would build upon the existing mechanisms used in financial markets to identify certain traders based on observed sequences, size and timing of trades.
4. Intermediaries and Exchanges	Blockchains could reduce settlement times to minutes if not seconds, or slightly longer if public blockchains are used, and without the need for intermediaries.
5. Insiders	Insiders'/managers' buy order trades result in significant and stronger market reactions as opposed to sell orders (Brochet (2010)). Blockchains would enable easier differentiation of informed trading, subsequently increasing the information content and absorption into asset prices.
6. Retail Investors	Blockchain, with its increased transparency and (considerably) faster execution, would be available to retail investors. The advantages previously available to institutional investors may be reduced and the playing field levelled.
7. Block Holders	The reduction in costs especially for selling shares via increased liquidity would enhance block holder exits and would increase block holders' power over managers (Edmans (2014)). The increased threat of exit by block holders would result in managers pursuing shareholder-value-maximizing projects and deter them from projects with private benefits (Admati and Pfleiderer (2009)).

6.1. Firm Share Tokenization

This article explores the effects of blockchain adoption in the corporate governance sphere such as the tokenisation of a corporation's shares. Tokenisation involves placing shares onto a blockchain and the resulting consequences and opportunities. Blockchain could provide unprecedented transparency to market participants to identify the ownership positions and transactions of debt, equity investors and insiders (managers) (Primm 2016). This would decrease moral hazard, fraud and errors by firms, exchanges and regulators alike (Kahan and Rock 2008). The tokenisation of shares allows for increased efficiency, specifically in terms of accuracy and timeliness of shareholder voting, payment of dividends and a myriad of other uses including limiting empty voting (Accenture 2017). Lee (2016) states that blockchain technology has advantages such as cost execution speed and settlement time reduction.

The ability to observe trading transactions historically, as well as in real-time, reduces information asymmetry and would significantly change incentives and profit opportunities for institutional investors, insiders and other traders in general (Primm 2016). In our opinion, securities may be designed to better utilize the ability of smart contracts to be executed autonomously. There are, however, legal issues with the tokenisation of a corporations' shares, which are not discussed in this study. Schroeder (2015) explores the legal implications of virtual assets existing on blockchains, classifying them as uncertificated securities under Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code. Other implications of blockchain adoption would be spillovers to mergers and acquisitions. Even market mechanisms such as mergers where building hostile positions for takeovers may be hindered, and blockchains may become a part of takeover defence mechanisms (Schroeder 2015), whilst shareholders might become more passive, similar to what is discussed in Grossman and Hart's (1980) free-rider problem. In our opinion, it is more likely that increased transparency offered by blockchains may change and even expand the role of shareholders in corporate governance.

Malinova and Park (2017) state that identifying buyers and sellers would benefit markets in general and increase market welfare. Thus, based on this argument, digital identity would be preferred over attempts to hiding identity. In the U.S., stock trades generally take approximately three business days to settle (Malinova and Park 2017). Many parties are involved in these transactions, which occur under the Depository Trust Clearing Houses' supervision. Blockchains could reduce settlement times to minutes if not seconds or slightly longer if public blockchains are used, and without the need for intermediaries (Primm 2016), thus reducing costs and commissions involved. In our opinion, significantly improved liquidity would facilitate high-frequency trading and demand for investments in stocks and create new investing strategies, objectives and dynamics.

Insiders'/managers' buy order trades result in significant and stronger market reactions as opposed to sell orders (Brochet 2010). It is our view that blockchains would enable easier differentiation of informed trading, subsequently increasing the information content and absorption into asset prices. This would be a departure from current market dynamics, where speed of bad news and good news absorption to prices is slow (Hong et al. 2000). Market makers would be able to observe all shares traded by investors. This would increase the quality of information content generated (Accenture 2017), thus leading to more efficient prices and reduced risk premiums (Edmans et al. 2016). We perceive that this would spill over to efficient resource allocation in the real economy and also better decision-making internally at firms.

6.2. Corporate Elections

Corporate elections are one of the many ways blockchains can be used in corporate governance. Current corporate elections are often conducted through proxy voting systems. Kahan and Rock (2008) find that present proxy voting systems are flawed as there are erroneous voter lists, incorrect vote tabulations and incomplete ballot distributions. Listokin (2008) identifies close elections as ending up in favor of management choices. Blockchain can be used to implement accurate proxy voting by allocating eligible voters a token or vote coin as a number that represents their voting power (Boucher 2016). Voters and the firm may observe that votes had been cast validly. However, if desired, they would not observe how particular individuals voted. In our opinion, this would greatly increase the speed of voting and accuracy and would reduce cost and interference by management. Moreover, we believe that increased transparency, speed and reduced costs would result in more shareholder and other interested stakeholder participation. Thus, stakeholders may get involved directly in corporate governance and petition for votes on important firm decisions.

6.3. Empty Voting

Empty voting involves using borrowed shares or derivative combinations to acquire voting rights on a temporary basis. This mechanism would shield the voter from being exposed to cashflow rights, monitoring or enforcement of those securities (Hu and Black 2006; Christoffersen et al. 2007). Shareholders engage in empty voting to gain immediate profits or for long-term ownership motivations. Using blockchain

for corporate elections and shares would prove empty voting more difficult or even prevent it entirely (Boucher 2016). Smart contracts can be used to enforce a stand-down period following the transfer of a share, during which time the share is stripped of its voting rights. Table 3 mentioned earlier provides a summary of the implications of blockchain adoption in corporate governance. This table further links blockchain adoption to traditional corporate governance theories in academic literature.

6.4. Reg Tech and Corporate Governance

RegTech refers to digitized regulation compliance and has been prevalent since the 1990s. Growing investments in blockchain and wide adoption especially in the financial services industry have picked the interest of regulators on evaluating blockchain's potential in this sphere. Moreover, the global RegTech Market revenue is expected to reach \$7.2 billion by 2023 (Infoholic Research 2018). However, the majority of existing regulation on blockchain is limited to ICOs, cryptocurrencies and very specific legal issues such as "know your client (KYC)" and "Anti-money-laundering (AML)". The role of RegTech with regard to corporate governance is very clear. Blockchains can provide enhanced security, process digitization, document tracking and internal and external management with regard to regulatory compliance (De Lis 2016). Blockchain has the capability to track and monitor compliance rates at an individual level in a relatively small amount of time. Several RegTech applications track online activities of a firm's employees (Arner et al. 2017). Subsequently, these records compiled can be used to identify adherence to firm rules and other regulations. In addition, these applications can track and monitor irregularities in documents, employee activities and create incident reports (Deloitte 2016).

7. Blockchain Governance and Ethical Aspects

Governance of blockchains is a key issue. Public blockchains are governed autonomously by software code. The code specifies inputs, the priority and timing and limits the sizes or contingencies associated with encoding every transaction into the blockchain (Atzori 2015). These parameters of governance in a blockchain are similar to the regulations specified by stock exchanges for listed firms. Most corporations that are exploring blockchain projects are using permissioned blockchains such as a permissioned version of Ethereum. However, even in permissioned blockchains, governance rules would need to be negotiated and renegotiated, similar to partnerships or other customized financial contracts (Paech 2017). Beck et al. (2018) provide an excellent discussion on blockchain governance from a DAO case study perspective. Table 8 summarizes present regulation of blockchain technology in several selected countries.

Ethical Aspects of Blockchain

A key relevance of blockchains to financial markets is its immutability (Papadopoulos 2015), thus limiting or removing a firm managements' ability to influence accounting records and other business transactions ex-post. Fraudulent activities such as using employee stock options to extract private benefits at the shareholder's expense by backdating the option date when price levels are lowest (Bray and Mathews 2011) would be mitigated by blockchain adoption. It is our view that the high level of transparency provided by blockchain would reveal more high-quality information and increased speed to shareholders. This in turn would increase firm management accountability to shareholders, regulators and other market participants. Tapscott and Tapscott (2017) argue that blockchains introduce a novel sphere of business integrity of transparency, honesty, consideration and accountability, which in turn would result in better accurate pricing of executive compensation and asset prices in general. Ultimately, blockchains may shift power from firm management towards shareholders, employees and regulators (Yermack 2017).

In addition, blockchains can help solve coordination, verification, authentication and enforcement issues. For example, extremely high transaction costs and many breaches of the law go unnoticed. Even if such breaches are identified, it is often too late, with substantial damage already ensured (Brummer 2015). Finally, in our view, an overlooked feature of blockchain is its potential in preventing wrongdoing. For example, instead of designing a regulatory system to attempt to prevent empty

voting, empty voting can be prevented as follows: shares can be in effect programmed so that following the sale of a share, it is stripped of voting rights for a set period; nor would an individual be able to borrow a share and vote using that particular share.

Country	Regulation
United States	Enacted state laws on smart contracts, blockchain-based digital signatures and legal admissibility of blockchain ledgers as evidence.
Russia	Announced a regulatory framework for ICOs.
France	Allows crowdfunding records to be kept on blockchain ledgers.
United Kingdom	Started to allow sandboxes for certain fintech products including blockchains.
Switzerland and Luxembourg	Announced similar sandboxing initiatives to the United Kingdom.
Australia	The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) has set up a task force working on these internal blockchain standards and also on standards about the interoperability of separate blockchains.
China	Prohibition of crypto-currencies/taskforces on blockchain.
Japan	Reports/declarations/taskforce.
India	Reports/statements of intent to regulate.
Turkey	Taskforces on blockchains.
Singapore	AML regulation on c-currencies/taskforce on blockchain.
Canada	Reports/taskforces/sandboxing.

Table 8. Global Regulation of Blockchains.

8. Blockchain Adoption and Corporate Governance during the COVID-19 Crisis

This section answers our Research Question 4: What are the advantages of blockchain adoption in corporate governance during and post-COVID-19? With an ongoing major worldwide health outbreak challenging and disrupting firms, individuals and many social aspects, corporate governance digitalization becomes increasingly important. Blockchains can play a central role in this setting. In our opinion, blockchain technology may be used to record firm data and ensure these data sources are transparent and traceable within each firm to effectively reduce errors, processing times and smooth firm administration. Thus, blockchains would provide management with a platform, to track progress of projects in real-time, and employees can register the relevant data on to the chain securely. The data links based on transparent monitoring and increased security via blockchains would result in an increase in accountability by employees and other stakeholders linked to the firm. This would further reduce mismanagement, security risks and errors during lockdowns and working-from-home environments. Moving firms day-to-day operations and transactions onto a blockchain platform would aid in corporate boards having better oversight. With blockchain platforms updated in real time, boards would possess increased visibility of business operations and better understand the risks faced by the firm and the impact of the ever-evolving pandemic situation, thus resulting in improved day-to-day and strategic decision-making. Additionally, blockchains can facilitate efficient coordination of information sharing, planning, implementation and communication to employees and other stakeholders.

Moreover, the pandemic has highlighted the fragilities in the traditional financial markets and fiat currencies, with many advocating for digital currencies. Cryptocurrency is a key theme of blockchain applications and is relevant to corporate governance as identified by our study. Two major reasons behind this renewed interest in digital or crypto currencies stem from inflation of traditional fiat currencies and the decrease in interest rates of traditional assets such as bank deposits. Thus, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the development of central bank digital currencies. For example, the People's Bank of China has already completed basic function development for a digital yuan. Moreover, the development of Blockchain-based Service Network (BSN), which is backed by an alliance of Chinese state-owned firms, government agencies, banks and technology firms further highlight the importance of corporate governance with regard to blockchains. The BSN is expected to reduce the costs of doing blockchain-based business in China by 80%. Alibaba subsidiary Ant Financial also grabbed the spotlight by announcing its new consortium chain called Open Chain. The COVID-19 outbreak is a common challenge faced by businesses across the world. Thus, blockchain can be the new tool for corporate governance to overcome this unprecedented disruption for our way of conducting business and traditional corporate governance.

9. Limitations of Our Study

This section discusses several limitations of our study. With regard to the empirical analysis section, a major limitation is the small sample period of 2012 to 2020. Most firms are secretive in their nature on investment breakdown into new technologies. Thus, it is difficult to obtain investments only relating to blockchains. Another limitation is that of sample selection bias, which can occur in systematic reviews due to distortions in the search and selection criteria. In order to overcome this issue, we used various permutations of our search topics, backtracked from key words in other survey articles on blockchain unrelated to finance and used refinements in our search databases. In addition, we further perused the reference lists of articles selected to identify relevant articles (snowball effect). Inconsistent coding of themes may be another limitation of our study. Thus, we supplemented our manual review process through textual analysis and by carefully re-assessing the articles in our final sample manually with special focus on the abstract, keywords, introduction and conclusion.

10. Conclusions

Blockchain technology has great potential to provide efficient solutions to many issues that adversely affect current systems in corporate governance. However, several issues of permissioned versus public blockchains, capital required, possibilities of hacking, lack of extensive research and understanding, to name a few, still persist. Our study differs from its contemporaries by systematically reviewing prior scattered literature, conducting a textual and empirical analysis to develop a framework for blockchain adoption in corporate governance, differentiating between industry and academic literature over time and key themes and forecasting future investments. In addition, our study provides a behavioural and ethical perspective to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. A systematic review of 851 records and a final article sample of 183 for the sample period 2012 to 2020 resulted in the identification of nine primary themes from prior literature with relevance to blockchain adoption in corporate governance. Academic articles mostly focus on regulation (49 studies) and ICOs (46 studies), while industry articles primarily focus on exchanges (10 studies) and cryptocurrencies (9 articles). Significant growth in academic and industry literature is observed for 2017 (48 studies) and 2018 (42 studies) in aggregate.

Through our textual analysis, we identified that the industry and academic literature pursue common themes, such as 1. Bitcoin, 2. markets, 3. technology and 4. fintech related to blockchain. However, their interests diverge, where industry focuses more on 1. privacy, 2. business and 3. Global, and the academia concentrates on 1. governance, 2. networks and 3. ledger. Based on our empirical analysis, we forecast investments and deal counts in blockchain for 2020 and 2021 reaching up to 6.173 and 6.051 USD billion and 822 and 937, respectively. Finally, we conclude that with regard to corporate governance, permissioned blockchains may still be used to limit transparency, yet absolute transparency may cause unwarranted shareholder panic. Thus, firms would most likely implement different accessibility levels. A key question is whether regulators should allow firms to limit transparency. Blockchains may result in better corporate governance models with higher accuracy, accessibility and efficiency, resulting in improved decision making by shareholders. Smart contracts on blockchains in the future can provide novel ways of governing corporates. However, as highlighted by this study, such progression should go hand-in-hand with the corresponding regulatory developments. Moreover, COVID-19 environment driving most firms to digital transformation including China's massive investments in Blockchain technology (BSN) and the digitalisation of the Yuan and interest in blockchains is most likely to further increase significantly in the future.

Author Contributions: The authors contributed equally to the article. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

V	
ï.	
pu	
be	
A	

studies and professional bodies.
academic
between industry,
n of literature
Compariso
Table A1.

	Exchanges & CG	Corporate Voting & CG	Practice and Education of BC	BC &CG	Regulation	BC Technology	ICOs & Crowd Funding	Crypto-Currencies	Other
	2	•			2	3	5		
Industry	10	6	2	1	6	б	ю	6	1
Academia									
Abadi and Brunnermeier (2018)			1			1			1
Abramowicz (2016)									
Adhami et al. (2018)			,					1	
Aggarwal and Stein (2016)			1		-				
Amsden and Schweizer (2016)						÷	Т	Ŧ	Ţ
Aoyagi and Adachi (2016) Arner et al (2017)					-	Т		I	T
Ante et al. (2018)							F		
An et al. (2019)							. 1		
Asharaf and Adarsh (2017)						1			1
Atzei et al. (2017)						1		1	1
Atzori (2015)					1	1		1	1
Babich and Hilary (2019)						1			1
Barefoot (2015)					1				
Badertscher et al. (2017)	1					1		1	
Bagby et al. (2018)					1				1
Bakos and Halaburda (2018)							1	1	
Barber et al. (2012)						1		1	
Barsan (2017)					1				
Bebchuk and Jackson (2012)	1				1				1
Benedetti and Kostovetsky							÷		
(2018)							-		
Blaseg (2018)							1		
Böhme et al. (2015)	1			1		1			
Boucher (2016)		1				1			1
Bourveau et al. (2019)	1						1	1	
Braggion et al. (2020)									
Brenig et al. (2015)					1			1	
Brainard (2016)	1				1	1			
Brummer (2015)	1				1				
Butenko and Larouche (2015)					1				
Buterin (2014)						1	1		-
Catalini and Gans (2016)	1		1						
Catalini and Gans (2018)					1			1	1
Carvalho (2020)						1			
Chemla and Tinn (2017)							1		
Chen et al. (2019)				1					1
Chen (2018)						1	1		1
Chiu and Greene (2018)							1		1
Christensen et al. (2015)						1	1		1
Chod and Lyandres (2018)			1		 .				
					-		-		

	Exchanges & CG	Corporate Voting & CG	Practice and Education of BC	BC &CG	Regulation	BC Technology	ICOs & Crowd Funding	Crypto-Currencies Ot	ther
Clamonts (2018)							-	-	
			÷				-	ч	
			Т		-				
	-				-		Ŧ		
Collomb et al. (2018)							I	T	
Cong and He (2019)			L	-			,	,	
Cong et al. (2020)						1			
Contey (2017)					-		-	-	-
D- Bi J B (2017)					-				
Da Kin and Penas (2017)									
Lapp (2014)									_
Davidson et al. (2016)					1				,
Dean et al. (2019)									_
Deer et al. (2015)									-
Filippi and Hassan (2016)					1				1
De Filippi and Wright (2018)									1
De Lis (2016)									1
Deng et al. (2018)							1		
de Reuver et al. (2018)			1						
Dierksmeier and Seele (2018)					1				
Drobetz et al. (2019)							-		
DuPont (2017)				-					
Factor of al (2017)				< .					-
				-		÷			
Eyal and Sirer (2018)					·				-
Evans (2014)					-	-			
Fanning and Centers (2016)		1							
Feng et al. (2018)							1		
Fenwick et al. (2018)					1				1
Felix and Eije (2019)							1	1	
Fichman and Zheng (2014)			1						1
Fisch (2018)							1		
Folev et al. (2019)					1			1	
Frame and White (2014b)			1						1
Gomber et al. (2017)									1
Goldstein et al. (2019)		1							
Governatori et al. (2018)					-				
Gradia and Mallon (2018)					,				-
Harwick (2016)					-			-	-
(Hileman and Rauchs 2017)					,			•	
Holden and Most (2017)									-
	÷					Ţ			-
(1000) 1- 1- 1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-	-			÷		-	Ŧ		
Hore et al. (2016)						-	-	- .	
Huchos and Middlohnoob (2015)				-	-	1			
Trugues and MudueDrook (2010)			-					Ŧ	
(2017) SIIIIC DI a di Adagan (2017) (2017) (2017) (2017) (2017)			т						
Variand Wanner and War									-
Kaal and Dell'Erba (2017)									-

Table A1. Cont.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 36

	Exchanges & CG	Corporate Voting & CG	Practice and Education of BC	BC &CG	Regulation	BC Technology	ICOs & Crowd Funding	Crypto-Currencies Other	
Vanalar (2015)	÷		-					-	
Kim (2012)			Т						
Kim et al (2018)	-				-			Ŧ	
[] T ao (2016)	-				,		-		
Lee and Parlour (2019)	•						· .		
Li and Mann (2018)									
Liu and Wang (2019a, 2019b)				2			- 64	6	
Luther (2016)					1			1	
Lyandres et al. (2019)							1		
Malinova and Park (2017)	1								
Mathew and Irrera (2017)	1							1	
McWaters et al. (2016)	1	1							
Mik (2017)								1	
Mills et al. (2016)					1				
Momtaz (2018)							1		
Momtaz (2019a, 2019b, 2019c)							ŝ	1	
Momtaz (2020a, 2020b)							2		
Nabilou and Prum (2019)					-			1	
Nowiński and Kozma (2017)			-					4	
Offir and Sadah (2019)	-	-					-		
Darch (2017)	-	٦			-	-	Ŧ		
Danadamonica (2015)	-					Т		-	
rapauopomos (2013)	1								
(9102) uoddinu.r	Ŧ		-					Т	
1/1azza (2017)	1		Т						
Pilkington (2018)					_, ,				
1'rimm (2016)					-			Т	
Proskurovska and Dörry (2018)						1			
Rabah (2017)						1			
Rhue (2018)							1		
Robinson (2017)					2				
Robinson (2018)					2				
Rohr and Wright (2017)						1		1	
Ron and Shamir (2013)	1							1	
Rossow (2018)								1	
Scott et al. (2017)					-1				
Schindler (2017)			1						
Shermin (2017)					1				
Sims et al. (2018)					-			1	
Sockin and Xiong (2020)							1	1	
Suzuki and Murai (2017)	_						I	I	
Tama et al. (2017)			1						
Tanaka et al. (2017)	-							1	
Tapscott and Tapscott (2017)				1					
Tasca (2015)					1				
Trimborn et al. (2018)							1	1	
Tsukerman (2015)					1				
Vranken (2017)								1	

Table A1. Cont.

	Exchanges & CG	Corporate Voting & CG	Practice and Education of BC	BC &CG	Regulation	BC Technology	ICOs & Crowd Funding	Crypto-Currencies	Other
Wang and Verene (2017)							1	-	
Wang et al. (2016)						1			
White (2017)	1	1				1			
Wright and De Filippi (2015)						1		1	
Wu and Liang (2017)	1					1			
Yamada et al. (2016)	1					1		1	
Yermack (2017)	1	1	1						-1
Yeoh (2017)					1				
Ying et al. (2018)	1	1							
Yli-Huumo et al. (2016)	1								
Yoo and Won (2018)	1								
Zalan (2018)	1								
Zavolokina et al. (2016)	1								
Zetzsche et al. (2018)					1		-		
Zetzsche et al. (2017)							1		
Zheng et al. (2018)									1
Zhu and Zhou (2016)					1				
Academia Total	30	6	17	10	49	31	46	34	45
Industry Total	10	ю	2	1	9	3	5	6	1
Total References (Only those									
that fall under these	40	12	19	11	55	34	51	43	46
classifications)									

Table A1. Cont.

References

- Abadi, Joseph, and Markus Brunnermeier. 2018. Blockchain Economics (No. w25407). National Bureau of Economic Research. Available online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w25407 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Abramowicz, Michael. 2016. Cryptocurrency-Based Law. *Arizona Law Review* 58: 359–420. Available online: http://arizonalawreview.org/cryptocurrency-based-law/ (accessed on 1 June 2020).

Accenture. 2017. Banking on Blockchain. In A Value Analysis for Investment Banks. Dublin: Accenture.

- Adhami, Saman, Giancarlo Giudici, and Stefano Martinazzi. 2018. Why do Businesses Go Crypto? An Empirical Analysis of Initial Coin Offerings. *Journal of Economics and Business* 100: 64–75. [CrossRef]
- Admati, Anat R., and Paul Pfleiderer. 2009. The 'Wall Street Walk' and Shareholder Activism: Exit as a Form of Voice. *The Review of Financial Studies* 22: 2645–85. [CrossRef]
- Aggarwal, Reena, and Peer Stein. 2016. The Complex Regulatory Landscape for FinTech: An Uncertain Future for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprise Lending. Cologny: World Economic Forum.
- Aguilera, R Ruth V., and Alvaro Cuervo-Cazurra. 2009. Codes of Good Governance. *Corporate Governance: An International Review* 17: 376–87. [CrossRef]
- Ahlering, Beth, and Simon Deakin. 2007. Labour Regulation, Corporate Governance and Legal Origin: A Case of Institutional Complementarity? *Law & Society Review* 41: 865–908.
- Allan, Gareth, and Yuki Hagiwara. 2018. *Bitcoin Futures Get Cold Shoulder From Japanese Regulator*. New York: Bloomberg, Available online: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-01-24/bitcoin-futures-getcold-shoulder-from-japan-financial-regulator (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Amsden, Ryan, and Denis Schweizer. 2018. Are Blockchain Crowdsales the New "Gold Rush"? Success Determinants of Initial Coin Offerings. In Proceedings of the Decentralized Identity Foundation Conference, Chiemsee, Germany, May 16. [CrossRef]
- An, Jiafu, Tinghua Duan, Wenxuan Hou, and Xinyu Xu. 2019. Initial Coin Offerings and Entrepreneurial Finance: The Role of Founders' Characteristics. *The Journal of Alternative Investments* 21: 26–40. [CrossRef]
- Ante, Lennart, Sandner G. Philip, and Ingo Fiedler. 2018. Blockchain-based ICOs: Pure Hype or the Dawn of a New Era of Startup Financing? *Journal of Risk and Financial Management* 11: 80. [CrossRef]
- Aoyagi, Jun, and Daisuke Adachi. 2018. Economic Implications of Blockchain Platforms. arXiv arXiv:1802.10117.
- Arner, Douglas W., Janos Nathan Barberis, and Ross P. Buckley. 2017. FinTech, RegTech and the Re-Conceptualization of Financial Regulation. Northwestern Journal of International Law and Business 37: 371–413.
- Asharaf, S., and S. Adarsh. 2017. Decentralized Computing Using Blockchain Technologies and Smart Contracts: Emerging Research and Opportunities. Hershey Pennsylvania: IGI Global.
- Atzei, Nicola, Massimo Bartoletti, and Tiziana Cimoli. 2017. A Survey of Attacks on Ethereum Smart Contracts (SoK). In Proceedings of the International Conference on Principles of Security and Trust, Uppsala, Sweden, April 22–29; pp. 164–86. [CrossRef]
- Atzori, Marcella. 2015. Blockchain Technology and Decentralized Governance: Is the State Still Necessary? Available online: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2709713 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Babich, Volodymyr, and Gilles Hilary. 2019. Distributed Ledgers and Operations: What Operations Management Researchers Should Know About Blockchain Technology. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management* 22: 223–428. [CrossRef]
- Badertscher, Christian, Ueli Maurer, Daniel Tschudi, and Vassilis Zikas. 2017. Bitcoin as a Transaction Ledger: A Composable Treatment. In Proceedings of the Annual International Cryptology Conference, Santa Barbara, CA, USA, August 20–24; Cham: Springer, pp. 324–56. [CrossRef]
- Bagby, John W., David Reitter, and Philip Chwistek. 2018. An Emerging Political Economy of the Blockchain: Enhancing Regulatory Opportunities. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3299598 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Bakos, Yannis, and Hanna Halaburda. 2018. The Role of Cryptographic Tokens and ICOs in Fostering Platform Adoption. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3207777 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Barber, Simon, Xavier Boyen, Elaine Shi, and Ersin Uzun. 2012. Bitter to Betterhow to Make Bitcoin a Better Currency. Financial Cryptography and Data Security. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 399–414.
- Barefoot, Jo Ann S. 2015. Disrupting Fintech Law. Fintech Law Reporter 18: 1–18.

- Barsan, Iris M. 2017. Legal Challenges of Initial Coin Offerings (ICO). Paris: Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Financier (RTDF), pp. 5–65. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3064397 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Bebchuk, Lucian A., and Robert J. Jackson Jr. 2012. The Law and Economics of Blockholder Disclosure. *Harvard* Business Law Review 2: 39–60. [CrossRef]
- Beck, Roman, Michel Avital, Matti Rossi, and Jason Bennett Thatcher. 2017. Blockchain Technology in Business and Information Systems Research. Business and Information Systems Engineering 59: 381384. [CrossRef]
- Beck, Roman, Christoph Mueller-Bloch, and John Leslie King. 2018. Governance in the Blockchain Economy: A Framework and Research Agenda. Journal of the Association for Information Systems 19: 1020–34. [CrossRef]
- Benedetti, Hugo, and Leonard Kostovetsky. 2018. Digital Tulips? Returns to Investors in Initial Coin Offerings. Returns to Investors in Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm? abstract_id=3182169 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Blaseg, Daniel. 2018. Dynamics of Voluntary Disclosure in the Unregulated Market for Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3207641 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Böhme, Rainer, Nicolas Christin, Benjamin Edelman, and Tyler Moore. 2015. Bitcoin: Economics, Technology, and Governance. Journal of Economic Perspectives 29: 213–38. [CrossRef]
- Boucher, Philip Nicholas. 2016. What If Blockchain Technology Revolutionized Voting? Luxembourg: European Parliament.
- Bourveau, Thomas, Emmanuel T. De George, Atif Ellahie, and Daniele Macciocchi. 2019. Information Intermediaries in the Crypto-Token Market. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm? abstract_id=3193392 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Braggion, Fabio, Alberto Manconi, and Haikun Zhu. 2020. Can Technology Undermine Macroprudential Regulation? Evidence from Online Marketplace Credit in China. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/ sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2957411 (accessed on 1 June 2020). [CrossRef]
- Brainard, Lael. 2016. Distributed Ledger Technology: Implications for Payments, Clearing, and Settlement. International Institute of Finance Annual Meeting, Washington, DC, October 7; vol. 7. Available online: https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/brainard20161007a.pdf (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Bray, Alon, and Richmond D. Mathews. 2011. Empty Voting and the Efficiency of Corporate Governance. Journal of Financial Economics 99: 289–307.
- Brenig, Christian, Rafael Accorsi, and Günter Müller. 2015. Economic Analysis of Cryptocurrency Backed Money Laundering. In Proceedings of the ECIS, Münster, Germany, May 26–29.
- Briner, Rob B., and David Denyer. 2012. Systematic Review and Evidence Synthesis as a Practice and Scholarship Tool. In *The Oxford Handbook of Evidence-Based Management*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 112–29.
- Briner, Rob B., David Denyer, and Denise M Rousseau. 2009. Evidence Based Management: Concept Cleanup Time? *The Academy of Management Perspectives* 23: 19–32. [CrossRef]
- Brochet, F. 2010. Information Content of Insider Trades Before and After the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. *The Accounting Review* 85: 419–46. [CrossRef]
- Brummer, Chris. 2015. Disruptive Technology and Securities Regulation. Fordham Law Review 84: 977–1051. [CrossRef]
- Butenko, Anna, and Pierre Larouche. 2015. Regulation for Innovativeness or Regulation of Innovation? Law, Innovation and Technology 7: 52–82. [CrossRef]
- Buterin, Vitalik. 2014. Ethereum White Paper. Available online: http://www.the-blockchain.com/docs/Ethereum_ white_paper-a_next_generation_smart_contract_and_decentralized_application_platform-vitalik-buterin. pdf (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Cadbury. 1992. Shared Vision and Beyond. Available online: http://www.data.unibg.it/dati/corsi/900002/79548-Beyond%20Cadbury%20Report%20Napier%20paper.pdf (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Carvalho, Arthur. 2020. A Permissioned Blockchain-Based Implementation of IMSR Prediction Markets. *Decision Support Systems* 130: 113228. [CrossRef]
- Catalini, Christian, and Joshua S. Gans. 2016. Some Simple Economics of the Blockchain (No. w22952). Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. [CrossRef]
- Catalini, Christopher, and Joshua S. Gans. 2018. *Initial Coin Offerings and the Value of Crypto Tokens (No. w24418)*. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. [CrossRef]

- Chemla, Gilles, and Katrin Tinn. 2017. Learning through Crowdfunding. *Management Science* 66: 1783–1801. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Yan. 2018. Blockchain Tokens and the Potential Democratization of Entrepreneurship and Innovation. Business Horizons 61: 567–75. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Mark A., Qinxi Wu, and Baozhong Yang. 2019. How Valuable Is FinTech Innovation? *Review of Financial Studies* 32: 2062–106. [CrossRef]
- Chiu, Iris H.-Y., and Edward Greene. 2018. Can ICO Markets Offer Insights into Marketizing Sustainable or Social Finance? Proposals for a Revolutionary Regulatory Framework. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/ abstract_id=3290762 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Chod, Jiri, and Evgeny Lyandres. 2018. A Theory of ICOs: Diversification, Agency, and Information Asymmetry. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3159528 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Chohan, Usman W. 2017. Initial Coin Offerings (ICOs): Risks, Regulation, and Accountability. Discussion Paper Series: Notes on the 21st Century. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3080098 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Christensen, Clayton M., Michael E. Raynor, and Rory McDonald. 2015. What Is Disruptive Innovation? *Harvard Business Review* 93: 44–53.
- Christoffersen, Susan E. K., Christopher C. Geczy, David K. Musto, and Adam V. Reed. 2007. Vote Trading and Information Aggregation. *Journal of Finance* 62: 2897–927. [CrossRef]
- Clements, Ryan. 2018. Assessing the Evolution of Cryptocurrency: Demand Factors, Latent Value, and Regulatory Developments. *Michigan Business & Entrepreneurial Law Review* 8: 73–97.
- Coase, Ronald H. 1937. The Nature of the Firm. Economica 4: 386-405. [CrossRef]
- Cocco, Luisanna, Andrea Pinna, and Michele Marchesi. 2017. Banking on Blockchain: Costs Savings Thanks to the Blockchain Technology. *Future Internet* 9: 25. [CrossRef]
- Cohen, Lewis Rinaudo, Lee Samuelson, and Hali Katz. 2017. How Securitization can Benefit from Blockchain Technology. *The Journal of Structured Finance* 23: 51–54. [CrossRef]
- Collomb, Alexis, Primavera De Filippi, and Klara Sok. 2018. From IPOs to ICOs: The Impact of Blockchain Technology on Financial Regulation. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id= 3185347 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Cong, Lin William, and Zhiguo He. 2019. Blockchain Disruption and Smart Contracts. The Review of Financial Studies 32: 1754–97. [CrossRef]
- Cong, Lin. William, Ye Li, and Neng Wang. 2020. Tokenomics: Dynamic Adoption and Valuation Columbia Business School Research Paper No. 18-46. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3222802 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Conley, John. P. 2017. Blockchain and the Economics of Cryptotokens and Initial Coin Offerings. Vanderbilt University Department of Economics No. 17-00008. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Department of Economics, Available online: https://ideas.repec.org/p/van/wpaper/vuecon-sub-17-00007.html (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Cortez, Nathan. 2014. Regulating Disruptive Innovation. Berkeley Technology Law Journal 29: 175–228. [CrossRef]
- Da Rin, Marco, and María Fabiana Penas. 2017. Venture Capital and innovation strategies. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 26: 781–800. [CrossRef]
- Dapp, Thomas F. 2014. *Fintech—The Digital (r)Evolution in the Financial Sector*. Frankfurt: Deutsche Bank Research. Davidson, Sinclair, Primavera De Filippi, and Jason Potts. 2016. Economics of Blockchain. [CrossRef]
- Davis, Gerald F., and Tracy A. Thompson. 1994. A Social Movement Perspective on Corporate Control. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 39: 141–73. [CrossRef]
- Davis, James H., F. David Schoorman, and Lex Donaldson. 1997. Toward a Stewardship Theory of Management. *The Academy of Management Review* 22: 20–47. [CrossRef]
- Filippi, Primavera, and Samer Hassan. 2016. Blockchain Technology as a Regulatory Technology: From Code is Law to Law is Code. *arXiv* arXiv:1801.02507. [CrossRef]
- De Filippi, Pilippi, and Aarron Wright. 2018. Blockchain and the Law: The Rule of Code. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- De Lis, Santiago Fernández. 2016. RegTech, the New Magic Word in FinTech, Banking Outlook. Madrid: Madrid.
- de Reuver, Mark, Carsten Sørensen, and Rahul C. Basole. 2018. The Digital Platform: A Research Agenda. Journal of Information Technology 33: 1–12. [CrossRef]

- Dean, Tobia, D. Dulani Jayasuriya, and Alastair Marsden. 2019. Predictability of ICO Success and Returns. Available online: https://www.arx.cfa/-/media/regional/arx/post-pdf/2019/11/19/predictability-of-ico-successand-returns.ashx? (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Deer, Luke, Jackson Mi, and Yu Yuxin. 2015. *The Rise of Peer-To-Peer Lending in China: An Overview and Survey Case Study*. London: Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
- Deloitte. 2016. Over the Horizon. Blockchain and the Future of Financial Infrastructure. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/nl/Documents/financial-services/deloitte-nl-fsi-blockchain-and-the-future-of-financial-infrastructure.pdf (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Deng, Xin, Yen Teik Lee, and Zhengting Zhong. 2018. Decrypting Coin Winners: Disclosure Quality, Governance Mechanism, and Team Networks. Governance Mechanism and Team Networks. Available online: https: //ssrn.com/abstract=3247741 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Dierksmeier, Claus, and Peter Seele. 2018. Cryptocurrencies and Business Ethics. *Journal of Business Ethics* 152: 1–14. [CrossRef]
- Drobetz, Wolfgang, Paul P. Momtaz, and Henning Schröder. 2019. Investor Sentiment and Initial coin Offerings. The Journal of Alternative Investments 21: 41–55. [CrossRef]
- du Plessis, Jean Jacques, Anil Hargovan, and Mirko Bagaric. 2005. *Principles of Contemporary Corporate Governance*. Melbourne: Cambridge University Press. [CrossRef]
- DuPont, Quinn. 2017. Experiments in Algorithmic Governance: A history and Ethnography of "The DAO," A Failed Decentralized Autonomous Organization. In *Bitcoin and Beyond*. Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 157–75.
- Easley, David, Maureen O'Hara, and Soumya Basu. 2017. From Mining to Markets: The Evolution of Bitcoin Transaction Fees. *Journal of Financial Economics* 134: 91–109. [CrossRef]
- Edmans, Alex. 2014. Blockholders and Corporate Governance. Annual Review of Financial Economics 6: 23–50. [CrossRef]
- Edmans, Alex, Doron Levit, and Devin Reilly. 2016. Governing Multiple Firms. London: London Business School.

Evans, David S. 2014. Economic Aspects of Bitcoin and Other Decentralized Public-Ledger Currency Platforms. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2424516 (accessed on 1 June 2020).

- Eyal, Ittay, and Emin Gün Sirer. 2018. Majority is not Enough: Bitcoin Mining is Vulnerable. *Communications of the* ACM 61: 95–102. [CrossRef]
- Fama, Eugene F., and Michael C. Jensen. 1983. Separation of Ownership and Control. *The Journal of Law and Economics* 26: 301–25. [CrossRef]
- Fanning, Kurt, and David P. Centers. 2016. Blockchain and its Coming Impact on Financial Services. Journal of Corporate Accounting Finance 27: 53–57. [CrossRef]
- Felix, T. H., and H. von Eije. 2019. Underpricing in the Cryptocurrency World: Evidence from Initial Coin Offerings. *Managerial Finance* 45: 563–78. [CrossRef]
- Feng, Chen, Nan Li, M. H. Franco Wong, and Mingyue Zhang. 2018. Initial Coin Offerings, Blockchain Technology, and Voluntary Disclosures. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3256289 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Fenwick, Mark, Wulf A. Kaal, and Erik P. M. Vermeulen. 2018. Regulation Tomorrow: What Happens When Technology Is Faster Than the Law? Lex Research Topics in Corporate Law & Economics. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=2834531 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Fichman, Robert. Brian L. Dos Santos, and Zhiqiang (Eric) Zheng. 2014. Digital Innovation as a Fundamental and Powerful Concept in the Information Systems Curriculum. *Management Information Systems Quarterly* 38: 329–43. [CrossRef]
- Fisch, Christian. 2018. Initial Coin Offerings (ICOs) to Finance New Ventures: An Exploratory Study. Journal of Business Venturing 34: 1–22. [CrossRef]
- Foley, Sean, Jonathan R. Karlsen, and Tālia J. Putniņš. 2019. Sex, Drugs, and Bitcoin: How Much Illegal Activity is Financed through Cryptocurrencies? *The Review of Financial Studies* 32: 1798–853. [CrossRef]
- Frame, W Scott, and Lawrence J. White. 2014b. Technological Change, Financial Innovation, and Diffusion in Banking. In *The Oxford Handbook of Banking*, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Goldstein, Itay, Wei Jiang, and G. Andrew Karolyi. 2019. To FinTech and Beyond. *The Review of Financial Studies* 32: 1647–61. [CrossRef]
- Gomber, Peter, Jascha-Alexander Koch, and Michael Siering. 2017. Digital Finance and FinTech: Current research and Future Research Directions. *Journal of Business Economics* 87: 537–80. [CrossRef]

- Governatori, Guido, Florian Idelberger, Zoran Milosevic, Regis Riveret, Giovanni Sartor, and Xiwei Xu. 2018. On Legal Contracts, Imperative and Declarative Smart Contracts, and Blockchain Systems. Artificial Intelligence and Law 26: 377–409. [CrossRef]
- Graglia, J. Michael, and Christopher Mellon. 2018. Blockchain and Property in 2018: At the End of the Beginning. Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization 12: 90–116. [CrossRef]
- Grossman, Sanford J., and Oliver D. Hart. 1980. Takeover Bids, the Free Rider Problem, and the Theory of the Corporation. *Bell Journal of Economics* 11: 42–64. [CrossRef]
- Hardy, Robert Augustus, and Julia R. Norgaard. 2016. Reputation in the Internet Black Market: An Empirical and Theoretical Analysis of the Deep Web. *Journal of Institutional Economics* 12: 515–39. [CrossRef]
- Harwick, Cameron. 2016. Cryptocurrency and the Problem of Intermediation. The Independent Review 20: 569-88.
- Hileman, Garrick, and Michel Rauchs. 2017. *Global Blockchain Benchmarking Study*. Cambridge: Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance.
- Hillman, Amy J., Albert A. Cannella, and Romona L. Paetzold. 2000. The Resource Dependence Role of Corporate Directors: Strategic Adaptation of Board Composition in Response to Environmental Change. *Journal of Management Studies* 37: 235–56. [CrossRef]
- Hillman, Amy J., and Thomas Dalziel. 2003. Boards of Directors and Firm Performance: Integrating Agency and Resource Dependence Perspectives. *Academy of Management Review* 28: 383–96. [CrossRef]
- Holden, Windor, and James Moar. 2017. Blockchain Enterprise Survey: Deployments, Benefits & Attitudes. Hampshire: Juniper Research.
- Houy, Nicolas. 2014. The Economics of Bitcoin Transaction Fees. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/ abstract_id=2400519 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Hong, Harrison, Terence Lim, and Jeremy C. Stein. 2000. Bad News Travels Slowly: Size, Analyst Coverage, and the Profitability of Momentum Strategies. *Journal of Finance* 55: 265–95. [CrossRef]
- Howell, Sabrina T., Marina Niessner, and David Yermack. 2018. Initial Coin Offerings: Financing Growth with Cryptocurrency Token Sales (No. w24774). Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. Available online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w24774 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Hsieh, Ying-Ying, Jean-Philippe Vergne, and Sha Wang. 2017. The Internal and External Governance of Blockchain-Based Organizations: Evidence from Cryptocurrencies. In *Bitcoin and Beyond*. Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 48–68.
- Hu, Henry T. C., and Bernard S Black. 2006. The New Vote Buying: Empty Voting and Hidden (Morphable) Ownership. Southern California Law Review 79: 811–908.
- Hughes, Sarah Jane, and Stephen T. Middlebrook. 2015. Advancing a Framework for Regulating Cryptocurrency Payments Intermediaries. *Yale Journal on Regulation* 32: 495–559.
- Humphries, Chris A, and James Smith. 2018. Cayman Islands: Initial Coin Offerings (ICO) In The Cayman Islands. London: Modaq, Available online: http://www.mondaq.com/caymanislands/commoditiesderivativesstockexchanges/667952/initial-coin-offerings-ico-in-the-cayman-islands (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Infoholic Research. 2018. Global Regulatory Technology (RegTech) Market: Drivers, Restraints, Opportunities, Trends, and Forecast up to 2023. Bengaluru: Infoholic Resarch LLP, Available online: https://www.researchandmarkets. com/reports/4614548/global-regulatory-technology-regtech-market#pos-0 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Jayasuriya, D. Dulani, and Alexandra Sims. 2019. From the Abacus to Enterprise Resource Planning: Is Blockchain the Next Big Accounting Technology? Unpublished Working Paper.
- Jensen, Michael C. 1993. The Modern Industrial Revolution, Exit, and the Failure of Internal Control Systems. *The Journal of Finance* 48: 831–80. [CrossRef]
- Kaal, Wulf A. 2016. Dynamic Regulation for Innovation, Perspectives in Law, Business & Innovation. U of St. Thomas (Minnesota) Legal Studies Research Paper No. 16-22. New York: Springer.
- Kaal, Wulf A., and M. Dell'Erba. 2017. Initial Coin Offerings: Emerging Practices, Risk Factors, and Red Flags. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3067615 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Kaal, Wulf A., and Erik P. M. Vermeulen. 2017. How to Regulate Disruptive Innovation—From Facts to Data. Jurimetrics 57: 169–209. [CrossRef]
- Kahan, Marcel, and Edward B. Rock. 2008. The Hanging Chads of Corporate Voting. *Georgetown Law Journal* 96: 1227–81.

- Kanzler, Viktor. 2015. How Do Fintech Startups and a Changing Consumer Behaviour Reshape the Financial Services Industry? Bachelor's thesis, Frankfurt School of Finance and Management, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- Kim, T. 2017. On the transaction cost of bitcoin. Finance Research Letters 23: 300-5. [CrossRef]
- Kim, Seoyoung, Atulya Sarin, and Daljeet Virdi. 2018. Crypto-Assets Unencrypted. Available online: https: //papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3117859 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Lee, Larissa. 2016. New Kids on the Blockchain: How Bitcoin's Technology Could Reinvent the Stock Market. Hastings Business Law Journal 12: 81–132. [CrossRef]
- Lee, Jeongmin, and Christine A. Parlour. 2019. Consumers as Financiers: Crowdfunding, Initial Coin Offerings and Consumer Surplus. Working Paper. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3300297 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Li, Jiasun, and William Mann. 2018. Initial Coin Offering and Platform Building. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3088726 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Listokin, Yair. 2008. Management Always Wins the Close Ones. American Law and Economics Review 10: 159–84. [CrossRef]
- Liu, Chen, and Haoquan Wang. 2019a. Crypto Tokens and Token Offerings: An Introduction. In Cryptofinance and Mechanism of Exchange: The Making of Virtual Currency. Edited by Stéphane Goutte, Khaled Guesmi and Samir Saadi. Boston: Springer.
- Liu, Chen, and Haoquan Wang. 2019b. Initial Coin offerings (ICOs): What do we Know and What are the Success Factors? In *Cryptofinance and Mechanism of Exchange: The Making of Virtual Currency*. Edited by Stéphane Goutte, Khaled Guesmi and Samir Saadi. Boston: Springer.
- Luther, William J. 2016. Cryptocurrencies, Network Effects, and Switching Costs. Contemporary Economic Policy 34: 553–71. [CrossRef]
- Lyandres, Evengy, Berardino Palazzo, and Daniel Rabetti. 2019. Do Tokens Behave Like Securities: An Anatomy of Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3287583 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Malinova, Katya, and Andreas Park. 2017. Market Design for Trading with Blockchain Technology. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=2785626 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Mathew, Susan, and Anna Irrera. 2017. Australia's ASX Selects Blockchain to Cut Costs. Toronto: Reuters.
- McWaters, Jesse, Rob Galaski, and Soumak Chatterjee. 2016. *The Future of Financial Infrastructure: An Ambitious Look at How Blockchain Can Reshape Financial Services*. Cologny: World Economic Forum.
- Mik, Eliza. 2017. Smart Contracts: Terminology, Technical Limitations and Real World Complexity. Law, Innovation and Technology 9: 269–300. [CrossRef]
- Mills, David, Kathy Wang, Brendan Malone, Anjan Ravi, Jeff Marquardt, Clinto Chen, Anton Badev, Timothy Brezinski, Linda Fahy, Kimberley Liao, and et al. 2016. Distributed Ledger Technology in Payments, Clearing, and Settlement; Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2016-095; Washinton: Federal Reserve Board of Governors. [CrossRef]
- Moher, David, Alessandro Liberati, Jennifer Tetzlaff, and Douglas G. Altman. 2009. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine* 6: e1000097. [CrossRef]
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2018. Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=3166709 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2019a. Token Sales and Initial Coin Offerings: Introduction. *The Journal of Alternative Investments* 21: 7–12. [CrossRef]
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2019b. The Pricing and Performance of Cryptocurrency. The European Journal of Finance. [CrossRef]
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2019c. CEO Emotions and Underpricing in Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3305765 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2020a. Initial Coin Offerings, Asymmetric Information, and Loyal CEOs. Small Business Economics. [CrossRef]
- Momtaz, Paul P. 2020b. Entrepreneurial Finance and Moral Hazard: Evidence from Token Offerings. Journal of Business Venturing. [CrossRef]
- Monks, Robert A. G., and Nell Minow. 1995. Corporate Governance. Cambridge: Basil Blackwell.
- Nabilou, Hossein, and André Prum. 2019. Ignorance, Debt and Cryptocurrencies: The Old and the New in the Law and Economics of Concurrent Currencies. *Journal of Financial Regulation* 5: 29–63. [CrossRef]
- Nakamoto, Satoshi. 2008. Bitcoin: A Peer-To-Peer Electronic Cash System. Available online: https://bitcoin.org/ bitcoin.pdf (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Nowiński, Witold, and Miklós Kozma. 2017. How can Blockchain Technology Disrupt the Existing Business Models? Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review 5: 173–88. [CrossRef]
- Ofir, Moran, and Ido Sadeh. 2019. ICO vs IPO: Empirical Findings, Market Frictions and the Appropriate Regulatory Framework. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership* 7: 120–28.
- Paech, Philpp. 2017. The Governance of Blockchain Financial Networks. *Modern Law Review* 80: 1073–110. [CrossRef]
- Papadopoulos, Georgios. 2015. Blockchain and Digital Payments: An Institutionalist Analysis of Cryptocurrencies. In *Handbook of Digital Currency*. Edited by David Lee Kuo Chuen. London: Academic Press, pp. 153–72.
- Philippon, Thomas. 2016. The FinTech Opportunity. NBER Working Paper, No. 22476. Available online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w22476 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Piazza, Fiammetta S. 2017. Bitcoin and the Blockchain as Possible Corporate Governance Tools: Strengths and Weaknesses. *Penn State Journal of Law & International Affairs* 5: 262–301.
- Pilkington, Marc. 2018. The Emerging ICO Landscape-Some Financial and Regulatory Standpoints. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3120307 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Primm, Harold. 2016. Regulating the Blockchain Revolution: A Financial Industry Transformation. *Review of Banking & Financial Law* 36: 75–91.
- Proskurovska, Anetta, and Sabine Dörry. 2018. *Is a Blockchain-Based Conveyance System the Next Step in the Financialisation of Housing? The Case of Sweden*. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/bstract_id=3267138 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Rabah, Kefa V. O. 2017. Overview of Blockchain as the Engine of the 4th Industrial Revolution. Mara Research Journal of Business & Management 1: 125–35.
- Rhue, Lauren. 2018. Trust Is All You Need: An Empirical Exploration of Initial Coin Offerings (ICOs) and ICO Reputation Scores. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3179723 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Robinson, Randolph II. 2017. The New Digital Wild West: Regulating the Explosion of Initial Coin Offerings. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3087541 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Robinson, Randolph II. 2018. The New Digital Wild West: Regulating the Explosion of Initial Coin Offerings. Tennessee Law Review 85: 897–960. [CrossRef]
- Rohr, Jonathan, and Aaron Wright. 2017. Blockchain-Based Token Sales, Initial Coin Offerings, and the Democratization of Public Capital Markets. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=3048104 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Ron, Dorit, and Adi Shamir. 2013. Quantitative Analysis of the Full Bitcoin Transaction Graph. Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 6–24.
- Rossow, Andew. 2018. Appraising the Luxury Goods Market with Blockchain Technology. Jersey City: Forbes.
- Schindler, John. 2017. *FinTech and Financial Innovation: Drivers and Depth;* Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2017-081; Washington: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. [CrossRef]
- Schroeder, Jeanne L. 2015. Bitcoin and the Uniform Commercial Code. University of Miami Business Law Review 24: 1–80. [CrossRef]
- Scott, Brett, John Loonam, and Vikas Kumar. 2017. Exploring the Rise of Blockchain Technology: Towards Distributed Collaborative Organizations. *Strategic Change* 26: 423–28. [CrossRef]
- Shermin, Voshmgir. 2017. Disrupting Governance with Blockchains and Smart contracts. *Strategic Change* 26: 499–509. [CrossRef]
- Sims, Alexandra, Kanchana Kariyawasam, and David Mayes. 2018. *Regulating Cryptocurrencies in New Zealand*. Wellington: The New Zealand Law Foundation.
- Sims, Alexandra. 2019. Blockchain and Decentralised Autonomous Organsiations (DAOs): The Evolution of Companies? New Zealand Universities Law Review 28: 423–458.
- Sisli-Ciamarra, Elif. 2012. Monitoring by Affiliated Bankers on Board of Directors: Evidence from Corporate Financing Outcomes. *Financial Management* 41: 665–702. [CrossRef]
- Sockin, Michael, and Wei Xiong. 2020. A Model of Cryptocurrencies. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/ papers.cfm?abstract_id=3550965 (accessed on 1 June 2020).

- Suzuki, Shigeya, and Jun Murai. 2017. Blockchain as an Audit-Able Communication Channel. In Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 41st Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference (COMPSAC), Turin, Italy, July 4–8; pp. 516–22.
- Szabo, Nick. 1994. Smart Contracts. Available online: https://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/rob/Courses/ InformationInSpeech/CDROM/Literature/LOTwinterschool2006/szabo.best.vwh.net/smart.contracts.html (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Tama, Bayu Aadhi, Bruno Joachim Kweka, Youngho Park, and Kyung- Hyune Rhee. 2017. A Critical Review of Blockchain and its Current Applications. In Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Electrical Engineering and Computer Science (ICECOS), Palembang, August 22–23; pp. 109–13.
- Tanaka, Kenji, Kosuke Nagakubo, and Rikiya Abe. 2017. Blockchain-Based Electricity Rrading with Digitalgrid Router. In Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE International Conference on Consumer Electronics, Taipei, Taiwan, June 12–14; pp. 201–2.
- Tapscott, Don, and Alex Tapscott. 2017. How Blockchain will Change Organizations. MIT Sloan Management Review 58: 10–13.
- Tasca, Paolo. 2015. Digital Currencies: Principles, Trends, Opportunities, and Risks. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2657598 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Trimborn, Simon, Mingyang Li, and Wolfgang K. Härdle. 2018. Investing with Cryptocurrencies-a Liquidity Constrained Investment Approach. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=2999782 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Tsukerman, Misha. 2015. The Block is Hot: A Survey of the State of Bitcoin Regulation and Suggestions for the Future. *Berkeley Technology Law Journal* 30: 1127.
- Vranken, Harald P.E. 2017. Sustainability of Bitcoin and Blockchains. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 38: 1–9. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Huaiqing, Kun Chen, and Dongming Xu. 2016. A Maturity Model for Blockchain Adoption. Financial Innovation 2: 12. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Sha, and Jean-Philippe Vergne. 2017. Buzz Factor or Innovation Potential: What Explains Cryptocurrencies' Returns? PLoS ONE 12: e0169556. [CrossRef]
- White, Gareth R. T. 2017. Future Applications of Blockchain in Business and Management: A Delphi Study. *Strategic Change* 26: 439–51. [CrossRef]
- Williamson, Oliver E. 1996. Economic Organization: The Case for Candor. The Academy of Management Review 21: 48–57. [CrossRef]
- Wright, Aaron, and Primavera De Filippi. 2015. Decentralized Blockchain Technology and the Rise of Lex Cryptographia. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract_id=2580664 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Wu, Tong, and Xiubo Liang. 2017. Exploration and Practice of Inter-Bank Application Based on Blockchain. In Proceedings of the ICCSE 2017 12th International Conference on Computer Science and Education, Houston, TX, USA, August 22–25; pp. 219–24.
- Yamada, Yuki, Tatsuo Nakajima, and Mizuki Sakamoto. 2016. Blockchain-LI: A Study on Implementing Activity-Based Micro-Pricing Using Cryptocurrency Technologies. In Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Advances in Mobile Computing and Multimedia, Singapore, November 28–30; pp. 203–7. [CrossRef]
- Yeoh, Peter. 2017. Regulatory Issues in Blockchain Technology. Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance 25: 196–208. [CrossRef]
- Yermack, David. 2017. Corporate Governance and Blockchains. Review of Finance 21: 7-31. [CrossRef]
- Ying, Wenchi, Suling Jia, and Wenyu Du. 2018. Digital Enablement of Blockchain: Evidence from HNA group. International Journal of Information Management 39: 1–4. [CrossRef]
- Yli-Huumo, Jesse, Deokyoon Ko, Sujin Choi, Sooyong Park, and Kari Smolander. 2016. Where is Current Research on Blockchain Technology?—A Systematic Review. PLoS ONE 11: e0163477. [CrossRef]
- Yoo, Minjae, and Yoojae Won. 2018. Study on Smart Automated Sales System with Blockchain-Based Data Storage and Management. In Advances in Computer Science and Ubiquitous Computing. Singapore: Springer, vol. 474, pp. 734–40.
- Zalan, Tatiana. 2018. Born Global on Blockchain. Review of International Business and Strategy 28: 19-34. [CrossRef]
- Zavolokina, Liudmila, Mateusz Dolata, and Gerhard Schwabe. 2016. The FinTech Phenomenon: Antecedents of Financial Innovation Perceived by the Popular Press. *Financial Innovation* 2: 1–16. [CrossRef]

- Zetzsche, Dirk. A., Ross P. Buckley, Douglas W. Arner, and Janos Nathan Barberis. 2017. From FinTech to TechFin: The Regulatory Challenges of Data-Driven Finance. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2959925 (accessed on 1 June 2020).
- Zetzsche, Dirk. A., Ross P. Buckley, Douglas W. Arner, and L. Föhr. 2018. The ICO Gold Rush: It's a Scam, It's a Bubble, It's a Super Challenge for Regulators. *Harvard International Law Journal* 60: 267–315. [CrossRef]

Zheng, Zibin, Shaoan Xie, Hong-Ning Dai, Xianping Chen, and Huaimin Wang. 2018. Blockchain Challenges and Opportunities: A Survey. *International Journl Web and Grid Services* 14: 352–75. [CrossRef]

Zhu, Huasheng, and Zach Zhizhong Zhou. 2016. Analysis and Outlook of Applications of Blockchain Technology to Equity Crowdfunding in China. *Financial Innovation* 2: 29. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article

Are We Ready for the Challenge of Banks 4.0? Designing a Roadmap for Banking Systems in Industry 4.0

Amir Mehdiabadi 1, Mariyeh Tabatabeinasab 2, Cristi Spulbar 3, Amir Karbassi Yazdi 4 and Ramona Birau 5,*

- ¹ Department of Management, South Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran 1584743311, Iran; Amir.mehdiabadi@gmail.com
- ² Department of Law, Payame Noor University, Tehran 1584743311, Iran; smtn.1798@gmail.com
- ³ Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, University of Craiova, Craiova 200585, Romania; cristi_spulbar@yahoo.com
- ⁴ Young Researchers and Elite Club, South Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran 1584743311, Iran; st_a_karbassiyazdi@azad.ac.ir
- ⁵ Faculty of Education Science, Law and Public Administration, Constantin Brancusi University of Targu Jiu, Târgu Jiu 210135, Romania
- * Correspondence: ramona.f.birau@gmail.com; Tel.: +40-767970777

Received: 9 April 2020; Accepted: 22 May 2020; Published: 27 May 2020

Abstract: The purpose of the present paper is to provide an advanced overview of the practical applications of Banking 4.0 in Industry 4.0. This paper examines the technology trends in the Fourth Industrial Revolution and identifies the key indicators behind the creation of a strategic map for the fourth-generation banks and their readiness to enter Industry 4.0. This paper examines a systematic review of fully integrated Banking 4.0 and the application of the technologies of Industry 4.0 and illustrates a distinct pattern of integration of Banking 4.0 and Industry 4.0. One of the prominent features of this article is the performance of successful global banks in applying these technologies. The results showed that Banking 4.0 in Industry 4.0 is an integrative value creation system consisting of six design principles and 14 technology trends. The roadmap designed for banks to enter Industry 4.0 and how they work with industrial companies will be a key and important guide.

Keywords: technology; banking 4.0; industry 4.0; roadmap; digitalization; big data

1. Introduction

The technology landscape, which is evolving thanks to the introduction of 5G networks, has affected all sectors of the banking industry. Emerging technologies have opened the door to a range of applications and inter-industrial collaborations that were previously only imagined in dreams. New applications have changed current business models, paved the way for innovation, and created new opportunities for revenue generation.

The term "Industry 4.0" refers to the concept that technology has permeated all areas of society: production, finance, services, transportation, and communications (Cividino et al. 2019). Such developments are driven by digital integration (with devices and processes capable of transmitting and processing huge masses of data) and automation (the availability of machines capable of carrying out tasks of medium–high complexity) (Muscio and Ciffolilli 2019; Rossini et al. 2019). The pervasiveness of the Internet and smart mobile phones, along with the emergence of technologies such as the Internet of Things, biometrics, big data, advanced analytics, artificial intelligence, blockchain, etc., has created an organizational focus on designing and developing pre-designed products and services, and personalized and customized services are provided for each customer. One of the industries that

have changed a lot as a result of the advancement of technology is the banking industry, but it seems that these changes continue. "The development of technology has revolutionized all industries in the world, and the banking industry is no exception," Banker (2019) wrote in a recent report.

Some researchers suggested that the notion of Industry 4.0 supposes blurring the differences between the work of people and the work of machines (Ślusarczyk 2018). Lu (2017) argued that the concept of Industry 4.0 can be summarized as an integrated, adapted, optimized, service-oriented, and interoperable manufacturing process that is correlated with algorithms, big data, and advanced technologies. The Fourth Industrial Revolution, also known as Industry 4.0, provides smart, efficient, effective, individualized, and customized production at reasonable cost (Erol et al. 2016). According to Stock and Seliger (2016), the concept of Industry 4.0 includes three fundamental dimensions of integration: (1) the horizontal integration across the entire value creation network, (2) vertical integration and networked manufacturing systems, and finally (3) end-to-end engineering across the entire product life cycle.

Today, a significant portion of bank customers are young people and middle-aged people who have different expectations and preferences than the previous generation. Meeting these expectations and preferences is no longer possible with existing banking models, and it will only be possible with the use of fourth-generation tools, technologies, and mechanisms. Entering Industry 4.0 has two distinct natures: first satisfying new needs through new products and processes, and second, higher productivity thanks to the implementation of process innovations (Zambon et al. 2019). Entering the new generation of customers into the marketplace and doing business in this revolution requires a thorough rethinking of existing banking services and products. Productivity enhancement, innovative products, speedy transactions seamless transfer of funds, real-time information system, and efficient risk management are some of the advantages derived through the technology in banks (Saravanan and Muthu Lakshmi 2016).

The current global economy is constantly changing, so innovation and technological development are key issues in the context of a sustainable approach. Industry 4.0 should be perceived as a great opportunity due to its new technologies. Moreover, Ślusarczyk (2018) argued that the main objective of Industry 4.0 is to achieve a higher level of operational effectiveness and productivity, and simultaneously a higher level of automation. Certain researchers also suggested that the four major pillars of Industry 4.0 are the following: Internet of Things (IoT), Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT), cloud-based manufacturing, and smart manufacturing, which contribute significantly to the metamorphosis of the manufacturing process into a completely digitized and intelligent process (Vaidya et al. 2018). Companies are interested in meeting their customers' needs, but also in obtaining useful information from them, which can be used for innovation (Nethravathi et al. 2020).

Remarkably, Industry 4.0 needs its banking system. The use of Industry 4.0 technologies for digitizing assets, creating a digital identity, providing special offers to customers, offering customization, etc., is one of the most central strategies of Banking 4.0. For example, South Korea currently has the third-largest cryptocurrency market after Japan and the United States, and Shinhan Bank, South Korea's second-largest bank, has recently joined KT Corp, the second largest provider of services, and the country's telecommunications has cooperated. The subject of this collaboration has been the development of a block chain-based platform. For a long time, it was the banking industry that decided how to interact and provide customer service. In Generation Banking, the optimal combination of interaction is determined by the customer. As a result, banks need to fundamentally reconsider their business model.

According to an IBM World Business Partner in Taiwan, the company is ready to enter the era of Bank 4.0 (IBM Business Partner Directory 2018). Accordingly, banks will be set up to provide an integrated system that will improve mobile banking by providing solutions to help facilitate the automation of banking processes. In classifying the evolution of the bank over the past few decades, the Internet has helped Banking 1.0 to grow into Banking 2.0, and with the rapid rise of smartphone popularity, Banking 3.0 has come to life. Now, the third generation bank is moving forward to Banking 4.0, but not because of new inventions, but because of the maturity and growth of new technologies such as artificial intelligence and virtual reality systems and voice recognition, which together make a powerful team for better banking services and solving modern problems. Banks are globally readjusting their business strategies toward e-banking in order to achieve rapid growth in financial development (David and Kaulihowa 2018). E-banking represents an innovative process by which a customer performs banking transactions electronically without having to physically enter a bank or financial institution (Simpson 2002). Banking 4.0 provides its customers with personalized, integrated, and customized experiences that are transforming customer interactions with the bank. Becoming a Bank 4.0 means providing a convincing presentation of both customer experience and performance experience based on open, flexible, and integrated architecture.

Jack Ma (who is the founder of the e-commerce platform Alibaba) founded MyBank four years ago. The bank has introduced a new era of offering services to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). In recent years, MyBank has loaned 2 trillion yuan to 16 million small and medium-sized Chinese companies. This is done by real-time data and 3000-variable risk-based credit management models. In addition to the advantages of the MyBank lending system, transactions are carried out at a high rate. Loan applications are processed and approved within 3 minutes. Now, compare this technology trend in MyBank with the 30-day time required by traditional banks! The difference is extremely obvious and indisputable, and the gap can no longer be covered by traditional banking.

Due to the high volume of data collected by Alibaba and other related e-commerce platforms, it uses the business information and social credit rating of potential customers with their consent. Capgemini (2017a) argued that high-class BigTechs such as Google, Facebook, Apple, and Amazon imposed a very high upper limit on the customer expectations using superior personalized and digital customer interactions. As a result, this amount of big data and analytics makes it easier for small and medium-sized companies to approve loans and, of course, pay less ineffective loans. These are loans that are spent for non-strategic and non-practical purposes. MyBank says it has been able to lend to SMEs up to four times more than traditional banks. However, traditional banks reject about 80% of SMEs' lending applications due to insufficient credit or data.

Industry 4.0 provides competitive advantages based on advanced technologies and practices for companies in the manufacturing industry. Having a deep understanding of the particularities of Industry 4.0 is a prerequisite for the development of the strategic and technological roadmap in bank 4.0. Therefore, the present study first examines the technologies used in Industry 4.0 and examines them as applied examples in prestigious banks in the world. Then, by integrating the views, we present an applied model of the fourth generation banking approach in the context of Industry 4.0. Finally, a clear roadmap for achieving fourth-generation banking has been formulated. Figure 1 shows the research plan. So, the researchers are asking three main questions:

- 1. Is it necessary for the banking sector to join Banking 4.0?
- 2. In practice, is there an interaction between Industry 4.0 and Banking 4.0 within the organizations?
- 3. Is it possible to develop a codified roadmap for entering Industry 4.0?



Figure 1. Research plan. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Industry 4.0

Our current business environment is radically changing, and the increasingly demanding and rapidly changing customer needs are the underlying reason that has driven industry revolutions at different periods (Mohamed 2018). These revolutions have brought to the world drastic changes in diverse areas, posed huge challenges for industries and manufacturers, led to massive innovations and transformations, and remarkably affected people's way of life (Huang 2017). Industry 4.0 is also known as the Digital Revolution or the Fourth Industrial Revolution. The First Industry Revolution encompasses the use of the steam engine in manufacturing facilities, followed by the introduction of electrically powered mass production (Second Industry Revolution) (Pagliosa et al. 2019). The Third Industry Revolution corresponds to the use of electronics and information technology (IT) to automate manufacturing (Kagermann et al. 2013). I4.0, deemed as the Industry 4.0, focuses on the digitalization of all physical assets and the massive integration of value chain participants (PwC 2017) (see Figures 2 and 3).



Figure 2. Through the industry revolutions. Source: Own contribution of the authors.



Figure 3. The Concept of the Fourth Industry Revolution. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

There are various definitions for Industry 4.0 considering that many researchers and practitioners define this term according to their level of understanding and unique perspective. There are also inter-relating terms such as IoT, Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS), Smart Systems, Digitalization, and Digital Factory (Khan and Turowski 2016).

Certain researchers define Industry 4.0 as the concept of automation and data exchange in the manufacturing technologies, which enables the use of Internet of Things (IoT), Cyber–Physical Systems (CPS), big data analytics, cloud computing, and cognitive computing, with the main goal of achieving a higher level of progress (Herčko et al. 2015). Other researchers suggested that the crown jewel of Industry 4.0 is the networking of smart digital devices with products, tools, robots, and people based on intelligent factories (Mekinjić 2019).

Moreover, I4.0 is the latest trend when it comes to automation and data exchange in production systems (SCOOP 2017; CNI, National Confederation of Industry 2016). The adoption of technologies, such as CPS, big data, and IoT provides relevant information and creates new possibilities for process improvement (Bohács et al. 2013; Schuh et al. 2017). In addition, one of I4.0's main

advantages is the ability to adapt quickly to volatile demand scenarios and products with short life cycles (Sanders et al. 2016). According to Tamás and Illés (2016), I4.0 has generated important changes in production systems and created demand for new jobs. Recent research on this subject indicates a lack of studies about the impact of I4.0 on manufacturing environments (Zuehlke 2010; Landscheidt and Kans 2016; Gjeldum et al. 2016; Xu and Chen 2016; Martinez et al. 2016; Sanders et al. 2016; Kolberg et al. 2017; Santorella 2017).

Agrawal et al. (2017) argues that Industry 4.0 can be identified as an emerging platform of technologies that revolutionize the rate of productivity per employee while reducing the cost of controlling and compliance incurred by corporations. According to Berger (2017), Industry 4.0 provides flexibility to the production processes; thus, it helps to create products that are tailored to the target segment while satisfying personalized needs through a low marginal cost. Vaidya et al. (2018) discusses the challenges incorporated with the applications of Industry 4.0, namely, intelligent decision making and negotiation mechanism, high-speed networking protocols, manufacturing specific big data and analytics, system modeling and analysis, cyber security, modularized and flexible physical artifacts, investment, etc. Lu (2017) mentions that Industry 4.0 creates a value-added integration horizontally and vertically in the manufacturing processes. Thus, horizontal integration was done through value creation modules from the material flow to the logistics of product life cycle, whereas the vertical integration through product, equipment, and human needs with different aggregation levels of the value creation and manufacturing systems.

2.2. Banking 4.0

Today, the rate of technological change in the banking sector and the entire economic ecosystem is extremely high. These changes have a significant impact on the dynamism of individuals and the socio-political community that no one could have imagined. Increasing data usage, machine learning based on artificial intelligence, the Internet of Things, and digital technologies play an important role in this process.

Banking 1.0 is what we call banking, and this is the same traditional banking that services are provided at certain times in the branch. The contemporary banking theory argues that commercial banks, composed with other financial mediators, are essential in the distribution of wealth in the economy (Bhattacharya and Thakor 1993). Then came the introduction of technologies such as the Internet and some Banking 2.0 services that were slowly pushing banking out of the branches. This is possible with the advent of ATMs and card readers, since we are witnessing the formation of off-branch services at different times. This period began in 1980 and lasted until 2007. With the advent of self-service banking, things have changed, and we have come to realize that banking can also be portable, which is Banking 3.0 (It is related to the supply and expansion of mobile services. These services may be provided on a smartphone platform or even portable card readers. This period lasted from 2007 to 2015), but banking 4.0 is a major transformation that will live with you (Figure 4). Topics such as intelligence, sharing, and evolutionary computing are discussed.

Harjanti et al. (2019) argued that digital transactions necessitate an improved banking experience, so the banking industry also conducts experiments by applying innovative technology in order to support mobility and increase transaction speeds and efficiency for its customers. Some previous studies suggested that the highest dilemma for the current banking system is to explain the high costs of branch banking but also to obtain an increase in profitability as branch-driven revenue growth (Capgemini 2012). According to Athanasoglou et al. (2006), the size of banks contributes to recognizing possible economies or diseconomies of scale in the banking area considering cost differences, products, and risk diversification.



Figure 4. The banking revolution. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

The banking system represents a fundamental pillar of the economic growth and macroeconomic stability, especially in the context of globalization. However, the evolution of the banking sector in each country is affected by continuous changing dynamics of the international banking architecture and financial environment (Spulbar and Birau 2019b). Nowadays, a company or startup can provide banking services by providing financial technology (FinTech)-based applications. The use of artificial intelligence and intelligent, cognitive, and voluntary algorithms has entered banking in this period). The banking sector has been immensely benefited from the implementation of superior technology during the recent past almost in every nation in the world. Productivity enhancement, innovative products, speedy transactions, the seamless transfer of funds, real-time information system, and efficient risk management are some of the advantages derived through the technology (Saravanan and Muthu Lakshmi 2016). The new era of financial deregulation is supported by the revolution in information and communication technology, which helps banks ensuring innovation in their products and services at competitive prices (Turk Ariss 2008).

Maturity models offer a complex guidance to define, assess, and evaluate the progress of the current state of the banking sector in its journey of Industry 4.0. (Bandara et al. 2019). Other researchers developed a maturity model using the existing model of Software Process Improvement and Capability Determination (SPICE) considering only two main dimensions, i.e., capability dimension and aspect dimension (Gökalp et al. 2017). On the other hand, the technology acceptance model is generally considered as the most influential theory in IT and information systems (Benbasat and Barki 2007).

The paradigm shift from the concentrated market structure under financial repression to the competitive framework under financial liberalization has laid down the foundation for the emergence of private and foreign banks originally in developed countries and afterward in developing countries (Sohrab Uddin and Sohel 2018). Today, a significant portion of bank customers are young people and middle-aged people who have different expectations and preferences than the previous generation. Meeting these expectations and preferences is no longer possible with existing banking models and will only be possible with the use of fourth generation tools, technologies, and mechanisms.Banks can no longer begin their design with business goals and market share, but they need to know how to get their attention and preferences without directly interacting with the customer, thereby achieving business goals.Based on the definition of Temenos (2018), properly digitizing, or in other words Banking 4.0, means "Experience-Driven Banking" capability that requires coverage of both "Customer Experience" and "Execution Experience"(see Figure 5).

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 32



Figure 5. The relationship between Banking 4.0 and infrastructure. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

Industry 4.0 needs its own banking structure. Industries 4.0 are largely international in scope, and customers from all over the world choose them. A radical change in the marketing and segmentation of banking customers makes it unique for each customer. There seems to be only one type of banking, and that is proprietary banking in a new way. With the development and maturation of technologies such as the Internet of Everything (IoE) (by creating a connected network of people, processes, data, objects, etc.), Internet of Value, blockchain technology, cloud technology, advanced robotics, virtual reality, 3D printing, miniaturization of sensors, and the exponential development of emerging technologies and innovations are coming across completely different generations of banking.

Certain researchers provide a Maturity Model to assess the level of readiness in adapting to Industry 4.0 of the banking sector, which includes the following maturity levels, i.e., Initial, Managed, Defined, Established, and Digital Oriented (Bandara et al. 2019).

2.3. The Relationship between Industry 4.0 and Banking 4.0 in Practice

2.3.1. Replacing Banks with Organizations and Institutions

Heffernan (2005) considers that banks represent financial firms, offering loan and deposit products on the market and catering to the changing liquidity needs of their consumers, such as borrowers and depositors. However, banks hope that by improving the level of technology and technological development, they will be able to provide more services to customers at a higher rate and have greater transparency in this process. The establishment of an efficient and solid banking system is an important prerequisite for sustainable economic growth (Spulbar and Birau 2019a). A significant part of the bank's resources each year are spent securing the system and complying with other principles approved by the world's financial system, and it is in this environment that financial institutions grow. Institutions that are responsible for providing services to the people but do not comply with the cumbersome rules of the banking system in the countries. Since these financial institutions spend a large portion of their financial resources on upgrading their financial and banking technologies, the efficiency of these institutions is higher, and they can be more creative with the tools available. Therefore, in the next 5 years, banks can be considered the financial and economic body of large countries, but small and medium-sized financial institutions are responsible for the micro-tasks of the banking system, and more people will be in contact with these institutions.

2.3.2. Advantages and Disadvantages of FinTech Development in Banking

FinTech has found a broader meaning day by day and now plays its role as a disruptor of order in various parts of the financial and monetary system, including micro payments, money transfer, lending, comparison and online sales of various types of insurance policies, capital increase, and asset management. It has even been recognized in the formation of new paradigms such as the Bitcoin currency. The industry has expanded the number of online solutions in the above fields to the extent that it has become one of the most important threats to traditional banking and portfolio management. In addition, today, FinTech is seen as a good platform for implementing ideas based on the sharing economy and crowdfunding. That is why Ernst and Young (2016) cited consumers' main reasons for accepting FinTech's solutions: easy account opening (43.3%), more attractive rates/costs (15.4%), access to various products and services (12.4%), better online experience and performance (11.2%), better service quality (10.3%), more innovative products than products available in traditional banks (5.5%), and a higher level of trust than traditional solutions (1.8%). They also remove barriers that prevent consumers from accepting FinTech solutions: the lack of knowledge of Fintech products and services (53.2%), lack of needing to use them (32.3%), Prefer to use traditional financial service providers (27.7%), Not being aware of how to use them (21.3%), not trusting them (11.2%), and Fin-techs have been used in the past, but they don't want to use them again (0.8%). Instead of attacking each other, banks and FinTech are increasingly partnering with each other (see Figure 6).



Figure 6. The future strategy of banks and financial technology (FinTech). Source: Capgemini Financial Services Analysis (Capgemini 2017a).

2.3.3. JAK Bank: Interest-Free Banking

Looking at the outside world, we will see that the government, non-governmental public institutions, military institutions, philanthropists, and even in some cases the private sector have established banks that bear a strong resemblance to what we call Islamic banking. Nonprofits need bank accounts to collect revenues used in moving the nonprofit's mission forward. A nonprofit is a corporation given "exempt organization" status by the Internal Revenue Service. Banks usually follow the same rules for opening and maintaining accounts as they do with for-profit organizations with some variations. Individual banks and individual nonprofits may have their own rules and regulations for added security (Leonard 2019). Unity Trust Bank, Meezan Bank, and JAK Bank are examples of nonprofit banking that have taken steps toward fourth-generation banking goals.

The JAK bank was started in 1930 following a massive recession in Denmark (Ielasi and Vichi 2013). Unemployment and high interest rates at the time led farmers to form a co-operative in one year. This cooperative was named in honor of the three founders of classical economics, JAK: Jord (Land), Arbejde (Work Force), and Kapital (Capital). JAK's members concluded that earning profits was the main cause of economic instability and, as a result, inflation and unemployment. So, they started three nonprofit projects to demonstrate the idea of nonprofit loans. JAK Bank may be the first nonprofit bank in the world (Williams and Anielski 2004). A membership of approximately 39,000 (as of December 2015) dictates the bank's policies and direction. The Board of Directors is elected annually by members, who are each allowed only one share in the bank. The JAK Members Bank does not offer any interest on saved money. All of the bank's activities occur outside of the capital market, as its loans are financed solely by member savings. JAK Bank differs significantly from other banks in the following areas, as shown in Table 1.

Difference	JAK Bank	Other Banks
Customers	Partner-centric, joint venture, one-vote-one-share model	Based on customer-centric model and activity sharing
Bank system	A fully savings-based system, loans are based on savings. On the other hand, loans are fully backed by member savings	Partial storage system; when a loan is granted, new money enters the bank through retained earnings. The loan is not backed by other investors. Only a small amount of the required loan is protected by the private bank. Of course, under the supervision of the central bank. Money saving in private banks in the United States is between 1% and 3%.
Loans	Loans are offered on the basis of deposit and member capacity, and the sole purpose is to repay the loan	Loans are repaid on the basis of the customer's credit value, and loan repayments include the principal and interest of the money.
Interest on loans	Interest is not credited, but the price of executive services is reviewed annually	All loans and credits accrue interest.
Interest on deposits	For deposits, interest is not paid, but concessions are granted equal benefits	The deposits accrue interest, but it is not so high.
Investor Profits	JAK Bank does not operate similar toother banks. Does not even benefit from the loans	Other banks obtain a return on their investment based on value and profitability results, which is used to pay employees and so on.

Table 1. JA	K Bank	differences.
-------------	--------	--------------

Source: (Williams and Anielski 2004).

The global crisis and the inability of the conventional banking system to prevent and deal with it, on the one hand, and the relative stability of Islamic banking in the face of this crisis, on the other, have attracted the attention of financial and banking experts and policymakers on Islamic banking. However, Islamic banks have many similarities with conventional banking in the type of transactions and services they provide, so that sometimes these similarities are questioned. Thus, these banks follow the principles and rules, the correct and complete observance of which leads to the stability of the banking system and the fair distribution of income throughout the economy. According to the doctrine of the Islamic Economic Sector, although human beings are free to design financial contracts, invent production methods, and organize economic activities, this freedom is within the limits set for justice and public welfare.

The main similarity between Islamic banking and JAK is the lack of interest. In fact, they both share an ideology. The only difference in religion (fighting corruption, usury, and the spiritual upliftment of man) is that it affects Islamic banking (Hyder 2013). Ahmad (2000) Islamic banking policy that is also in line with JAK principles: (1) the need for spiritual and moral awakening; (2) the rediscovery of the importance of physical and human capital information and the production of real services and goods; (3) a market economy with social responsibility, (4) moral commitment, and the positive role of government. The following Table 2 shows the main differences between Islamic Banking and JAK.

The Main Criteria	Islamic Banking	JAK
Ownership	The shareholders own the bank	Members own the bank
Taking Part	Shareholders participate by sharing capital	Members, especially the borrowers, contribute capital
Main Products	Profit and loss sharing, joint venture, leasing	Savings and lending
Attributes	Spirituality, ethics, rationality and philanthropy	Economic freedom, justice, democracy, shared responsibility, and no interest
The Cost of Loans	No interest	No interest
Marketing	Using experienced media similar to traditional banks	Selective and informative, regular efforts to train members and customers of the bank
Vision	Borrowers have to make long-term savings	Borrowers do not have to make long-term savings

Table 2. Main differences between Islamic Banking and JAK.

Source: Own contribution of the authors.

It is clear that bankinginterest rates cause unemployment, poverty, and social harm. In 1931, JAK members concluded that profit was the main cause of economic instability, resulting in high inflation and unemployment. So, they started profit-free projects to show that the idea of profit-free loans is coming true. High interest rates mean the rising cost of goods and services in all production and trading activities associated with lending. In the face of such price increases, industries are forced to (1) decrease wages or dismiss part of staff; (2) increase the price of their goods or services and; (3) increase the production of your goods or services by producing them on a large scale, in whichcosts are staggering and economical in scale.

2.3.4. Atom Bank and Gobank: Branchless Banking (BB)

Atom Bank is the first bank in the United Kingdom to be established based on BB and mobile application architecture (Atombank 2016a, 2016b). In order to achieve better customer service, the specialized focus of the branch staff and cutting costs is a convenient and cost-effective way. BB requires changes inside and outside the bank branches so that the role of the physical branches will not be the same as before, and out-of-the-box changes require up-to-date technology and the use of payment tools such as the Internet, telephony, mobile, ATM, POS, VTM, etc. (Dzombo et al. 2017). BB involves the delivery of financial services outside conventional bank branches, using retail agents or other third-party intermediaries as the principal point of contact with customers, and use of technologies such as card-reading point-of-sale (POS) terminals and mobile phones to transmit transaction details (CGAP 2011).

Banks are being innovative, largely due to intense competition, and they are therefore at the forefront of new developments, not only in banking but also in wider financial markets (Faure 2013). The BB concept began in South America, specifically in Brazil and Mexico (CGAP 2008). Based on early experiences, BB has made a significant contribution toward financial inclusion in developing countries. Most financial service providers collaborate and use partnerships with businesses that have a substantial local retail presence as a key competitive strategy (CGAP 2008).

Delloite (2012) believes that this type of banking is one of the distribution channel strategies used to provide financial services.BB enables customers to reduce costs through instant access. This model of banking to organizations reduces the costs associated with conducting low volume transactions as well as the costs associated with physical presence. There are two main advantages of this type of banking nowadays: first, diversifying services and adapting to market needs, and second, responding to market-created needs (Delloite 2012).

In addition, in many different parts of the world, the development of BB has been emphasized in various ways (CGAP 2010). In Brazil, private and state-owned banks provide services through micro agents such as supermarkets, pharmacies, post offices, and lottery shop. These agents are called "banking correspondents". Municipalities in Brazil belong to this category. In January 2006, The Central Bank of India issued guidelines for banks to use micro agents. The ICICI Bank in India is one of them. In South Africa, BB through micro agents is only permitted for approved financial institutions. ABSA and MTN banks are examples of this type of banking. In the Philippines, since the year 2000, mobile telecom operators and smartphones have been offering BB services. Safaricom in Kenya, a wholly owned subsidiary of Vodafone and a pioneering operator, offers its M-Pesa account to its customers who can fill or empty the account in ways similar to those in mobile electronic money. Gobank is another one of the best and most practical examples of offshore banking that has been launched solely for Americans (GoBank 2016). Go Bank is a real bank that works entirely on mobile. There are five important reasons that drive customers to this type of banking in the US: quick inventory checking, online check-in, money transfer, an extensive ATM network, and security.

2.3.5. Financial Technology (FinTech)

Financial technology (FinTech) is recognized as one of the most important innovations in the financial industry and is evolving at a rapid speed, which is driven in part by the sharing economy, favorable regulation, and information technology (Lee and Shin 2018). FinTech systems provide new and advanced business models such as crowdfunding, P2P, and B2B using disruptive technology, and as a consequence, the traditional banking business model faces a major challenge (Dasho et al. 2017). The progress of FinTech is defined as an uninterrupted process during which finance and technology have evolved together based on rapidly developing technology (Arner et al. 2015). FinTech promises to reshape the financial industry by cutting costs, improving the quality of financial services, and creating a more diverse and stable financial landscape. After all, it can be perceived as a FinTech revolution. According to PwC (2017), 83% of financial institutions believe that various aspects of their business are at risk to FinTech startups. Figure 7 presents the five components of the FinTech ecosystem.



Figure 7. The five elements of the FinTech ecosystem. Source: Lee and Shin (2018).

- **FinTech startups** (e.g., payment, wealth management, lending, crowdfunding, capital market, and insurance FinTech companies);
- **Technology developers** (e.g., big data analytics, cloud computing, cryptocurrency, and social media developers);
- Government (e.g., financial regulators and legislature);

- Financial customers (e.g., individuals and organizations);
- **Traditional financial institutions** (e.g., traditional banks, insurance companies, stock brokerage firms, and venture capitalists).

At the center of the ecosystem are FinTech entrepreneurial organizations that represent the Industry 4.0 in a very good way. The core of these organizations in Industry 4.0: innovation in payment, wealth management, lending, financial aggregation, capital markets, lower operating cost insurance, targeting the niche market, and providing personalized services in facing traditional companies. Figure 8 shows the investment in FinTech companies from 2010 to 2017.



Figure 8. Investing in FinTech companies. Source: (KPMG 2017).

As a result, venture capitalists have invested more than \$12 billion in FinTech startups over the past five years. In Figure 9, you can see the list of companies in the field of FinTechnologies up to Year 2017 that have become Unicorn companies (with a market value of \$1 billion).



Figure 9. Unicorn companies. Source: (KPMG 2018).

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 32

Certain researchers stated that the FinTech structure of business is digital-based financial services that range from payment systems, banking services, insurance services, loans, and fund collections, to mere advice or learning to the public through digital media (Koesworo et al. 2019).

2.3.6. Open Banking (OB): APIs and Fidor Bank

OB is a newly emerging and rapidly developing area in financial systems (Open banking homepage 2018). The focus is on sharing data using the Open Application Programming Interfaces (Apiacademy homepage 2018). Applications that collect banking data from different institutions through API (application program interface) and present them on a single platform can be developed. APIs or application program interfaces are sets of rules that functions (applications) that can follow to communicate with each other and act as an interface between different applications. In addition to other benefits and advantages, APIs also save on costs; APIs can be used to implement app data from one app to another on a platform or service in a relatively inexpensive and simple way. The technology also adds value to the services provided. These applications can be developed by the in-house software developers as well as by the developers from outside of the organization (Kandırmaz and Tiryaki 2018). Customers can make better decisions by monitoring all their financial information in a single application (Figure 10).



Figure 10. The structure of open banking (OB). Source: (Kandırmaz and Tiryaki 2018).

OB has enabled the organizations of Industry 4.0 to disclose data, algorithms, and processes through application programming interfaces and to generate new revenue streams. AnOB model also presents new opportunities for product creation and distribution (Figure 11). In the approach of Industry 4.0, the banking industry has made major changes by involving a large number of partners who are able to incorporate themselves into the product development process. In this new approach, the importance of APIs is emphasized.

Fidor Bank, given its relatively long focus on providing APIs, has significant experience developing revenue streams around API-based businesses. Figure 12 shows the benefits of implementing banks APIs. While the bank often earns its income through the community-banking model, net interest income, fees, and commissions, about one-third of its revenue comes from activities that provide open APIs and white-label (a product or service that is manufactured by one company but re-marketed by another company, as if it were made by a second company) solutions. Fidor Bank is growing as much as its white-label partnerships, the revenue generated by shared revenue streams will grow, and partners will expand their businesses.



Figure 11. The role of application programming interfaces (APIs) in Industry 4.0. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

Enhanced Customer Experience



Bank Perspective

Figure 12. Benefits of implementing banks' APIs. Source: Capgemini (2017b) Retail Banking Executive

Interview Survey, Capgemini Global Financial Service.

OB and BB are both on the path to fourth-generation banking development. The difference is that having open APIs, in particular, enables banks to collect operational data from a variety of sources, including customer buying habits, financial requirements, and risk appetite. Therefore, banks can offer products and services to customers with different tools and channels. However, banks also need to provide personalized services and products to different audiences through different channels. To this end, banks will work with FinTech to design a variety of products from platforms and tools, which will greatly improve product distribution. Therefore, in BB, by maximizing the potential of information and communication technology to customers without visiting the branch, through customer distribution and the supply of products and services with the same platforms and tools, customer satisfaction increases.

2.3.7. Omni-Channel (O-C): Disney Company and Starbucks

The O-C approach can be seen as the evolution of the multi-channel and having its origins in the retail industry (Rosman 2015). According to the multi-channel view, the customer gets a diverse experience across channels and acts as an integrator of information, whereas the O-C view focuses on bridging the gaps between different channels with the aim to provide a consistent and seamless customer experience (Rosman 2015; Saghiri et al. 2017). Based on this, three key principles or factors of O-C can be defined as follows: (1) seamless interaction between the channels (i.e., seamless transition to a second channel, enabling continuation of what was already started in the first channel), (2) optimization across channels (i.e., designing tasks and functionalities for different devices adapted to their unique context and strengths), and (3) consistent experience across channels (e.g., presentation and language or that task models are found consistent over different devices) (see McKinney 2014; Rosman 2015).

It should be noted in the first place that the concept of the O-C is in fact an organizational strategy. The O-C concept is not limited to banks and financial institutions, but it can be applied to any business dealing with customers (Figure 13).



Figure 13. The relationship of communication channels in the Industry Revolution. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

According to Figure 10, in Industry 4.0, where human resources face plenty of new technologies, sensitivity, creativity, and communication in enterprises should be improved (Lee et al. 2018). Industry 4.0 is based on the unique involvement of human resources in the use of technology. All previous revolutions were limited only to increasing efficiency through the use of modern work methods and technical inventions. Currently, ensuring comprehensive integration of the human and technological sphere requires profound changes in the social sphere—also among employees of enterprises (Jasińska and Jasiński 2019). The following are the types of communication channels simultaneously with the developments of the Industry Revolution:

Single Channel: The most primitive way of connecting businesses with customers has been around for centuries. In this way, customers are connected to the business in only one way, mainly through physical communication (shop, bank branch, insurance office, etc.).

Multi-Channel: In this way, businesses can communicate with customers in several ways or ports, but each of these ports is completely independent of the other ports. The emergence of electronic tools such as phones, mobile phones, and computers has greatly helped to expand this way of communication, as most businesses today use the multi-channel method to communicate with their customers. In the case of banks and financial institutions, the advent of systems such as ATMs, telephone banks, internet banking, mobile banking, etc., has practically led to the relationship of customers with banks in a multi-channel manner.

Cross-Channel: This is a higher level of multi-channel mode. As stated in the multi-channel method, each communication port is completely independent of the other ports and virtually a single client is seen as a separate and separate identity in each port. In contrast, in the cross-channel approach, each customer has a single identity that is recognized in all ports with the same identity. It should be noted that in the cross-channel method, communication ports are still independent of each other.

Omni-Channel: In this case, not only does the customer have a single identity across all ports, but virtually all ports see it as a unified system. In the O-C style, customer communication is performed seamlessly, anytime, anywhere on all devices. In this way, the customer and the activities he/she does are central to the way the services are provided to him/her. Accordingly, the service to each customer is personalized based on the activities he has done on all ports. As a result, it not only responds to the customer's explicit requests, but also their interests and implied needs.

The most important difference between multi-channel and O-C is that multi-channel puts the brand at the center of the strategy and sends a similar message to customers on all communication channels. However, omni puts the customer channel at the center of the strategy. In this way, the message that is to be sent to the customer changes and will be appropriate to the way the customer interacts with other communication channels. So, the five main features of the O-C in Banking 4.0 are:

- Port uniformity
- Integration of ports versus independent ports
- Customer-centric versus bank-centric
- Interaction versus transaction
- Guessing customer needs versus making requests

Technically, in order for an O-C-based architecture to meet these needs, it needs to take advantage of new technologies such as responsive design. Big data, NoSQL database, data mining, data analysis, etc., which emerged in Industry 4.0. For instance, a NoSQL (originally referring to "non SQL" or "non-relational") database provides a mechanism for storage and retrieval of data that is modeled in means other than the tabular relations used in relational databases.

- **Disney Company:** Disney is one of the companies that has good communication with customers by using the O-C concept. It is based on fiction and creative stories, and it is no wonder that in the real world, it also uses creative ways to omni-channel. Disney paid close attention to details and made it possible to access all parts of the website via mobile. After logging in, the user can plan each minute of the trip through the app. Visitors can follow the park through the app, the location of all sights, and the length of time they need to queue. Users also get their rooms through the app and charge all the purchases they make to room service. All Disney communication channels are interconnected and provide a good user experience.
- Starbucks: Starbucks is another brand that has made good use of the omni-channel concept. Starbucks has branches in most cities around the world and provides a good customer experience.Each time a user pays his account via bank or mobile card, the purchase points he has are added to his account. The Starbucks app also introduces the nearest branch to the user

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 32

and prepares the coffee by the time the user arrives. Users can also view the new coffee list in the menu and be informed of the song played in each branch (Starbuck works with many companies. Playing all kinds of music and having a lot of branches around the world has made customers understand different pleasures. So, customers can choose their Starbucks according to the music played). Surely every user after experiencing such features will become a permanent customer of the brand.

2.3.8. Robotics in Banking

Robotics is revolutionizing the way lots of banking and finance companies do business through something called robotic process automation (RPA). According to Romao et al. (2019), RPA represents the use of software with artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning capabilities in order to drive high-volume, repeatable tasks that previously required only humans to perform. It is essentially a virtual workforce based on software that frees up human employees to focus on less tedious tasks that only humans do well. For example, PayPal and credit institutions also use robots to provide services to their customers. PayPal uses the robot to transfer money from person to person on its own program. PayPal also interacts with robots from companies such as Uber. MasterCard has also built a robot for its customer service department as well as for its Masterpass application. Bank of America has also created a robot on Facebook for its cardholders. Robotic process automation is a quick and simple way for banks to automate a wide range of processes (Mlađenović 2018):

- Secure efficient interaction between different systems, thus eliminating the need for employees to
 manually source data
- Upgrade middle and back-office processes (faster execution, fewer errors)
- Speed up the processing of big data
- Free up employees to focus more on clients and provide a better customer experience
- Reduce time-to-market and total cost of ownership (TCO)
- Simplify regulatory compliance with greater transparency
- Pave the way for a new wave of transformation toward 100% digital banking.

3. Banking 4.0 Roadmap in Industry 4.0

It is imperative to create a roadmap for Banking 4.0 in Industry 4.0. While technology acts as an empowering factor for banks to move in the right direction, it has also led to the growth of non-traditional companies in Industry 4.0. Companies use technology to provide simple, easy, convenient, and affordable financial products and services to customers. Since the emergence of the technologies of Industry 4.0 has had a significant impact on both industry and financial services, there has been a growing trend in the banking industry that focuses on innovation using these new technologies.

Figure 14 shows the most important components of the Fourth Industrial Revolution and its relationship to fourth-generation banking. There is a great deal of ambiguity about the definition of IoT, as each stakeholder has defined it according to its user (Atzori et al. 2010). IoT refers to IIoT in the Fourth Industrial Revolution, which deals with industrial applications of IoT (Wang et al. 2016a). Physical objects can work through IoT to communicate with each other and to better coordinate decision making (Al-Fuqaha et al. 2015).

Internet of Services (IoS) refers to the purposeful use of new value creation methods through PaaS (Product-as a-Service) business models (Ghobakhloo 2018, p. 919). IoS provides the technology makers with the technological infrastructure needed to provide services and provide customers with continuous communication and increased competitiveness (Becker et al. 2014). The transformation of humans and their devices into active elements on the Internet is called a complex social and technical system called IoP (Internet of People) (Conti et al. 2017). The existence of the social devices (SDs) and People as a Service (PeaaS) constitutes the necessary infrastructure for IoP. The development of IoT,

which is of great interest to researchers today, is called the Internet of Data (IoD) (Fan et al. 2012). Paying attention to the means of transmitting, storing, and processing data in the IoT environment where a lot of data is generated is one of the tasks of IoD (Anderl 2014).



Figure 14. Design principles of Banking 4.0 in Industry 4.0. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

Although cloud computing is not a new concept, there is no single definition for it yet (Ghobakhloo 2018, p. 920). The concept has expanded into the world of technology through the development of hardware, technology and computing, and the provision of services over the Internet (Oliveira et al. 2014). Using this concept has created a variety of applications, including web-based management dashboard and cloud-based collaboration, and it enables the integration of distributed manufacturing resources and the establishment of a collaborative and flexible infrastructure across geographically distributed manufacturing and service sites (He and Xu 2015). In fact, the concept of cloud structures will generate subsequent structures (Ooi et al. 2018).

The concept of big data has been in technology and industry for many years (Ghobakhloo 2018). Srivastava and Gopalkrishnan (2015) argued that big data has recently unlocked secrets of money movements, helped prevent major disasters and thefts, but also understand consumer behavior. For instance, the core idea of business intelligence (BI) is to recognize the behavior of the customer and to predict their purchase pattern for improvement of the business considering that building strong customer relationships is very important for companies (Nethravathi et al. 2020). Consequently, this approach benefits the banking sector, considering the flexibility and easiness of extracting useful information for the interest of their consumers. However, organizations are analyzing data to maintain good survival and make effective decisions in times of crisis as well as market competition (Hu et al. 2014). For example, big data analytics helps companies improve their performance, monitor the status of competitors in the industry, develop customized products, and take preventive measures to prevent crashes. They can also make the production chain and operations easier and more transparent (Babiceanu and Seker 2016; Wang et al. 2016b). Analyzing this type of data enables traditional organizations to better plan the future and use the results to increase system efficiency and efficiency (LaValle et al. 2011). On the other hand, customers' buying behavior could be accurately researched in the actual market place, rather than in surveys and samples (Hawaldar et al. 2019).

Blockchain has many capabilities and is based on emerging financial currencies such as bitcoin and Ethereum (Ghobakhloo 2018). This technology is also known as distributed ledger technology. By providing transparent, secure, reliable and fast solutions, blockchain provides special conditions for public or private organizations (Underwood 2016). The application of this technology is crucial in the Fourth Industrial Revolution because the use of countless smart devices around the world makes it possible to perform transparent, secure, fast, and flawless transactions without human interference in the IoT environment (Devezas and Sarygulov 2017; Sikorski et al. 2017). Blockchain activity is not just about financial services, but any kind of digital activity developed in the Fourth Industrial Revolution based on automation. The activity that this concept offers is in fact leading the organizations and creating a trusted, independent relationship between smart factories, suppliers, and customers.

The type of technology that enables organizations to graphically visualize the real environment in the Fourth Industrial Revolution is Augmented Reality (AR) (Yew et al. 2016). The development of software and hardware applications has led AR to act in various industrial processes and products as a guide in describing, planning, and monitoring real-time performance, error detection and recovery, and various training strategies (Doshi et al. 2017; Khan et al. 2011). The search for industrial reality also shows that manufacturing organizations use AR to support employee training programs, task simplification, control, and product design (Elia et al. 2016).

Today's organizations are turning to the use of robots due to the increasing use of automation. The use of robots is essential for world-class organizations because of the benefits such as increased efficiency and quality, increased reliability and waste reduction, the better utilization of resources, and increased competitiveness (Ghobakhloo 2018; Esmaeilian et al. 2016). The importance of cybersecurity in the Fourth Industrial Revolution was high because no organization was safe from cyber threats. Threats of recent years include The Stuxnet. Malware created a serious threat to nuclear power plants by slowing down the speed of centrifuges. There is no doubt that in the Fourth Industrial Revolution, the issue of cybersecurity and privacy for organizations and individuals is a challenge (Thames and Schaefer 2017). It is essential to create some sort of industrial integration in the chain through the Internet. Obviously, the more links there are, the more information security and transparency they will have (Mehnen et al. 2017).

One of the things that created a trusting relationship between financial organizations in the Fourth Industrial Revolution is 3D printing technology (Ghobakhloo 2018). This technology enables organizations to generate prototypes and conceptual designs that create and play an important role in simplifying activities and increasing their speed (Gilchrist 2016). The Fourth Industrial Revolution has brought organizations and customers together so that customers can come into their organization, even at home, at night, or even while swimming, and do different things. Simulation and modeling techniques have been developed to improve economic designs and evaluate their performance in the real world (Kocian et al. 2012). These concepts are needed in smart factories to evaluate the actual performance of machines, products, and employees (Rüamann et al. 2015). Simulation and modeling not only enable manufacturers to detect errors in the early stages, they also avoid significant costs and irreparable damage to the organization (Gilchrist 2016).

CPS is a suite of state-of-the-art technologies that are capable of interconnecting physical assets and computing operations (Lee et al. 2015). CPS is controlled by computer-based algorithms and integrated with its users over the Internet. The CPS also plays a human role in everything that is capable of computing, networking, and physical processes (Gilchrist 2016). Another important component of the Fourth Industrial Revolution that can be a common standard for information exchange is semantic technologies (Janev and Vraneš 2011). Semantic technologies achieve a high level by offering an abstraction layer above existing IoT technologies and infrastructure that connects data, content, and processes. Importantly, the IIoT lacks universal protocols for integrating machines and does not have the various components of smart factories to achieve a single user (Thuluva et al. 2017). In such circumstances, utilizing the integration of the semantic web with Web of Things (WoT) technologies can provide a definite framework. This feature facilitates the interoperability of assets and services as well as the way in which heterogeneous components are communicated in the Fourth Industrial Revolution.

Industry 4.0 needs its own banking. Industry 4.0 is largely international in scope and customers from all over the world choose it. A radical change in the marketing and segmentation of banking customers makes it unique for each customer (Figure 15). In the short term, the fourth-generation banking strategies must first be identified in the context of the Fourth Industrial Revolution. It is necessary to set a timetable for developing the infrastructure and creating user relationships. A specific management team can be appointed in this regard. In the medium term, it is necessary to carefully monitor the timing of all aspects of the strategic plan. The Digital Acceptance and Readiness Program, Human Capital, Digital Culture, Regulatory, Capabilities and Technologies, and Networking should be delivered to the Fourth Industrial Revolution in accordance with the world schedule.



Figure 15. The strategic roadmap for Banking 4.0 based on Industry 4.0. Source: Own contribution of the authors.

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 32

In the long run and after achieving short and medium-term goals, the two goals of digital marketing maturity assessment and IT governance strategy will be provided for fourth-generation banking.

4. Results

We are at a time when exciting things are happening in the banking industry. Non-stop technology is advancing, providing opportunities for institutions through which they can expand their services and eliminate traditional financial services altogether. These state-of-the-art technology networks will provide the opportunity to meet customer needs instantly and intelligently through various channels. This will be achieved when new strategies for computing and storage are explained, advanced analysis is performed, cyber security capabilities are upgraded, and a completely new perspective for banking services is outlined. Which technology has the greatest potential for the Industry 4.0 in Banking 4.0? The exact answer to this question is not clear, but there is no order in the application of the introduced trends, but it is these organizations that must prioritize and allocate the necessary capital to implement each of them. There are so many opportunities, and any passivity or desire to stay calm will put a high risk on the organization.

Banking and payment services must move toward the formation of a fully intelligent network. Overall, improving the customer experience, using artificial intelligence, the emergence of databases, the use of identification algorithms, the use of machine learning methods, and data analysis are among the features of the new generations of banking. However, the important thing is that digital technologies have made major changes in banking. Traditional banks are migrating more digital services to digital channels every day. Customer preference for the increased convenience and availability of services is also strongly aligned with this change and gives it more acceleration. This has led to a change in the structure of the distribution network of banks, and in addition to reducing the need for physical branches, it has also changed the function and mission of branches. However, evidence from international banks and even some traditional industries shows that non-alignment with digital and technological developments, while reducing profitability and value creation, will also jeopardize the survival of these institutions. Today, banking is a cascade of multiple technologies, rules and regulations, and demographic factors that cut the length and breadth of its value chain. These factors affect the way businesses are run by banks, so that common banking practices are not enough to meet growing customer expectations as well as improve profitability. Therefore, the factors influencing the evolution of the banking industry can be divided into two main categories: business developments and technical developments. In the area of business developments, new non-bank actors in the form of FinTech or startups have disrupted the banking business and impaired the role of intermediaries in banks. However, in the technical sector, the emergence of new technologies such as blockchain, robotics, etc., has had a significant impact on the performance of the banking industry.

5. Conclusions

Banks and FinTechs have been working for years to find common ground. The FinTechs have stepped in to gain market share and have been successful in injecting new concepts into banking. However, they ran into trouble when they tried to get a large scale of banks to be able to process and reach more customers. Banks initially looked at the FinTechs with skepticism and distrust, but since then they have praised their entrepreneurial approach. Undoubtedly, due to the existence of old systems and cultural frustration with risking within banks, FinTechs have breathed new life into the banking system. Both sides (banks and FinTechs) have increasingly come to the conclusion that by combining and synergizing their strengths, they can create value.

Banks need to change the way they think about the past and keep up with the advances in technology. Besides, the first thing they need to focus on is improving and providing services from the customer's point of view so that they can create the key factor of customer experience in the best way. Therefore, the basis for valuing fourth-generation banks is based on the creation of cooperation between the bank and customers. Finally, banks need to work closely with technology and knowledge-based

companies to introduce new operating methods. Banks will be very similar to technology companies, and they desperately need to work with these companies to accelerate the process of transformation and business transformation. From the point of view of Industry 4.0, a successful economy has the most assets, activities, and focus in digitizing its assets. The experience of using technology is very new, even in the world.

However, the most important limitations of the research are the limitations of technology and culture, as well as the type of vision of customers regarding the nature of banking. A study of the structure of various industries and the lack of attention to the necessary infrastructure for the development of technologies required by Banking 4.0 in different countries shows that more studies should be done on the use of emerging technologies in various banking and industrial sectors.

Future researchers are also advised to identify and prioritize the following: (1) the pathology of various emerging technologies in Banking 4.0 in terms of legal and regulatory structures and (2) the indicators of Industry 4.0 to enter Banking 4.0.

Author Contributions: All authors contributed equally to this research work. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ahmad, Khurshid. 2000. Islamic finance and banking: The challenge and prospects. *Review of Islamic Economics* 9: 57–82.
- Al-Fuqaha, Ala, Mohsen Guizani, Mehdi Mohammadi, Mohammed Aledhari, and Moussa Ayyash. 2015. Internet of things: A survey on enabling technologies, protocols, and applications. *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials* 17: 2347–76.
- Anderl, Reiner. 2014. Industrie 4.0-advanced engineering of smart products and smart production. Paper presented at the 19th International Seminar on High Technology, Technological Innovations in the Product Development, Piracicaba, Brazil, October 9; pp. 1–14.
- Agrawal, Anirudh, Sebastian Schaefer, and Thomas Funke. 2017. *Incorporating Industry 4.0 in Corporate Strategy*. Hershey: IGIGlobal.
- Apiacademy Homepage. 2018. Available online: https://www.apiacademy.co/lessons/2015/04/api-strategy-lesson101-what-is-an-api (accessed on 10 September 2018).
- Arner, Douglas W., Janos Barberis, and Ross P. Buckley. 2015. The Evolution of FinTech: A New PostCrisis Paradigm. *Geo. J. Int'l L* 47: 1271–71.
- Athanasoglou, Panayiotis P., Matthaios D. Delis, and Christos K. Staikouras. 2006. *Determinants of Bank Profitability in the South Eastern European Region*. Working paper no. 40. Athens: Bank of Greece.
- Atombank. 2016a. Fabulous Atom Questions. Available online: https://www.atombank.co.uk/ (accessed on 7 October 2016).
- Atombank. 2016b. The Future of Banking. Available online: https://www.atombank.co.uk/ (accessed on 7 October 2016).
- Atzori, Luigi, Antonio Iera, and Giacomo Morabito. 2010. The internet of things: A survey. *Computer Networks* 54: 2787–805. [CrossRef]
- Babiceanu, Radu F., and Remzi Seker. 2016. Big Data and virtualization for manufacturing cyber-physical systems: A survey of the current status and future outlook. *Computers in Industry* 81: 128–37. [CrossRef]
- Bandara, Oshadhi, Kasuni Vidanagamachchi, and Ruwan Wickramarachchi. 2019. A Model for Assessing Maturity of Industry 4.0 in the Banking Sector. Paper presented at the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, Bangkok, Thailand, March 5–7.
- Banker. 2019. Annual Report. Available online: https://www.thebanker.com/ (accessed on 18 July 2019).

- Becker, Tilman, Catherina Burghart, Kawa Nazemi, Patrick Ndjiki-Nya, Thomas Riegel, Ralf Schäfer, Thomas Sporer, Volker Tresp, and Jens Wissmann. 2014. Core technologies for the internet of services. In *Towards the Internet of Services: The THESEUS Research Program.* Edited by Wolfgang Wahlster, Hans-Joachim Grallert, Stefan Wess, Hermann Friedrichand and Thomas Widenka. Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 59–88.
- Benbasat, Izak, and Henri Barki. 2007. Quo vadisTAM. Journal of Association for Information Systems 8: 3–13. [CrossRef]
- Berger, Roland. 2017. Industry 4.0, New Industrial Revolution HowEurope will Succeed. Munich: Roland Berger Strategic Consultants, Available online: http://www.iberglobal.com/files/Roland_Berger_Industry.pdf (accessed on 10 March 2020).
- Bhattacharya, Sudipto, and Anjan V. Thakor. 1993. Contemporary banking theory. *Journal of Financial Intermediation* 3: 2–50. [CrossRef]
- Bohács, Gábor, Ivett Frikker, and Gabor Kovács. 2013. Intermodal logistics processes supported by electronic freight and warehouse exchanges. *Transport and Telecommunication* 14: 206–13. [CrossRef]
- Capgemini. 2012. Trends in Retail Banking Channels: Improving Client Service and Operating Costs. Available online: www.capgemini.com/banking (accessed on 25 June 2019).
- Capgemini. 2017a. Capgemini Financial Service Analysis, World_FinTech_Report_2017. Available online: https://www.capgemini.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/world_fintech_report_2017.pdf (accessed on 18 July 2019).
- Capgemini. 2017b. Capgemini Financial Service Analysis, Retail Banking Executive Interview Survey, Capgemini Global Financial Services. Available online: https://www.capgemini.com/at-de/wp-content/uploads/sites/25/ 2018/08/WorldRetailBankingReport2017.pdf (accessed on 30 July 2019).
- CGAP. 2008. Banking through Network of Retail Agents. Washington, DC: CGAP/World Bank.
- CGAP. 2010. CGAP Annual Report 2010. Available online: https://www.cgap.org/about/key-documents/cgapannual-report-2010 (accessed on 1 December 2016).
- CGAP. 2011. Bank Agents: Risk Management, Mitigation, and Supervision. Available online: https://www.cgap. org/ (accessed on 1 December 2016).
- Cividino, Sirio, Gianluca Egidi, Ilaria Zambon, and Andrea Colantoni. 2019. Evaluating the Degree of Uncertainty of Research Activities in Industry 4.0. *Future Internet* 11: 196. [CrossRef]
- CNI, National Confederation of Industry. 2016. Industry 4.0: A new challenge for Brazilian industry. CNI Indicators 17.
- Conti, Marco, Andrea Passarella, and Sajal K. Das. 2017. The Internet of People (IoP): A new wave in pervasive mobile computing. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing* 41: 1–27. [CrossRef]
- David, Loide, and Teresia Kaulihowa. 2018. The Impact of E- Banking on Commercial Banks' Performance in Namibia. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Research* 4: 313–21.
- Delloite. 2012. Are We Headed towards Branchless Banking? Available online: www.deloitte.com/ar (accessed on 7 December 2019).
- Devezas, Tessaleno, and Askar Sarygulov. 2017. Industry 4.0: Entrepreneurship and Structural Change in the New Digital Landscape. Heidelberg: Springer.
- Dzombo, Gift Kimonge, James M. Kilika, and James Maingi. 2017. The Effect of Branchless Banking Strategy on the Financial Performanof Commercial Banks in Kenya. *International Journal of Financial Research* 8: 167–83. [CrossRef]
- Doshi, Ashish, Ross T. Smith, Bruce H. Thomas, and Con Bouras. 2017. Use of projector based augmented reality to improve manual spot-welding precision and accuracy for automotive manufacturing. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 89: 1279–93. [CrossRef]
- Elia, Valerio, Maria Grazia Gnoni, and Alessandra Lanzilotto. 2016. Evaluating the application of augmented reality devices in manufacturing from a process point of view: An AHP based model. *Expert Systems* with Applications 63: 187–97. [CrossRef]
- Ernst and Young. 2016. FinTech on the Cutting Edge. Available online: http://www.ey.com/uk/en/ industries/financial-services/banking--capital-markets/ey-uk-fintech-on-the-cutting-edge (accessed on 18 January 2020).
- Erol, Selim, Andreas Jäger, Philipp Hold, Karl Ott, and Wilfried Sihn. 2016. Tangible Industry 4.0: A scenario-based approach to learning for the future of production. *Procedia CIRP* 54: 13–18. [CrossRef]

- Esmaeilian, Behzad, Sara Behdad, and Ben Wang. 2016. The evolution and future of manufacturing: A review. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems* 39: 79–100. [CrossRef]
- Fan, Wei, Zhengyong Chen, Zhang Xiong, and Hui Chen. 2012. The internet of data: A new idea to extend the IOT in the digital world. *Frontiers of Computer Science* 6: 660–67. [CrossRef]

Faure, Alexander Pierre. 2013. Banking: An Introduction, 1st ed. Western Cape: Quoin Institute (Pty) Limited.

Ghobakhloo, Morteza. 2018. The future of manufacturing industry: A strategic roadmap toward Industry 4.0. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management 29: 910–36. [CrossRef]

Gilchrist, Alasdair. 2016. Industry 4.0: The Industrial Internet of Things. Heidelberg: Springer.

- Gjeldum, Nikola, Marko Mladineo, and Ivica Veža. 2016. Transfer of model of innovative smart factory to Croatian economy using Lean Learning Factory. *Procedia CIRP* 54: 158–63. [CrossRef]
- GoBank. 2016. Green Dot's GoBank Opens its US-Only Branchless Mobile Bank to the Public, Available Today. Available online: http://thenextweb.com (accessed on 20 October 2016).
- Gökalp, Ebru, Umut Şener, and P. Erhan Eren. 2017. Development of an Assessment Model for Industry 4.0: Industry 4.0-MM, Software Process Improvement and Capability Determination. New York: Springer International Publishing.
- Harjanti, Istidana, Faisal Nasution, Nerifa Gusmawati, Muhammad Jihad, Muhammad Rifki Shihab, Benny Ranti, and Indra Budi. 2019. IT Impact on Business Model Changes in Banking Era 4.0: Case Study Jenius. Paper presented at 2nd International Conference of Computer and Informatics Engineering (IC2IE), Banyuwangi, Indonesia, September 10–11; pp. 53–57.
- Hawaldar, Iqbal Thonse, Mithun S. Ullal, Felicia Ramona Birau, and Cristi Marcel Spulbar. 2019. Trapping Fake Discounts as Drivers of Real Revenues and Their Impact on Consumer's Behavior in India: A Case Study. Sustainability 11: 4637. [CrossRef]
- He, Wu, and Lida Xu. 2015. A state-of-the-art survey of cloud manufacturing. International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing 28: 239–50. [CrossRef]
- Heffernan, Shelagh. 2005. Modern Banking. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Herčko, J., E. Slamková, and J. Hnát. 2015. Industry 4.0—New era of manufacturing. Proceedings of InvEnt 2015: Industrial Engineering–From Integration to Innovation 1: 80–83.
- Hu, Han, Yonggang Wen, Tat-Seng Chua, and Xuelong Li. 2014. Toward scalable systems for big data analytics: A technology tutorial. *IEEE Access* 2: 652–87.
- Huang, Taoying. 2017. Development of Small-scale Intelligent Manufacturing System (SIMS)—A case study at Stella Polaris. Master's thesis, AS UIT Faculty of Engineering Science and Technology the Artic University of Norway, Narvik, Norway.
- Hyder, Akmal S. 2013. Interest-free banking in Sweden: How much is it Islamic? Paper presented at the Second International Conference on Emerging Research Paradigms in Business and Social Sciences, Dubai, UAE, November 26–28.
- IBM Business Partner Directory. 2018. Available online: https://www.ibm.com/partnerworld/public (accessed on 10 March 2017).
- Ielasi, Federica, and Giulia Vichi. 2013. A particular model of interest-free bank: The case of JAK bank in Italy. Available online: www.jakitalia.it (accessed on 10 March 2017).
- Janev, Valentina, and Sanja Vraneš. 2011. Applicability assessment of semantic web technologies. Information Processing & Management 47: 507–17.
- Jasińska, Katarzyna, and Bartosz Jasiński. 2019. Conditions of a Corporate Communication in the Industry 4.0: Case Study. *IBIMA Publishing* 1: 1–15.
- Kagermann, Henning, Johannes Helbig, Ariane Hellinger, and Wolfgang Wahlster. 2013. Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0: Securing the future of German manufacturing industry. Final Report of the Industrie 4.0 Working Group. Munich: Forschungsunion.
- Kandırmaz, Ebru Özdoğru, and Ufuk Tiryaki. 2018. A Real Time Price Sharing Architecture for Open Banking. Paper presented at 7th Turkish National Software Architecture Conference, Istanbul, Turkey, November 29.
- Khan, Ateeq, and Klaus Turowski. 2016. A Perspective on Industry 4.0: From Challenges to Opportunities in Production Systems. Paper presented at the International Conference on Internet of Things and Big Data (IoTBD2016), Rome, Italy, April 23–25; pp. 441–48.
- Khan, Wasim Ahmed, Abdul Raouf, and Kai Cheng. 2011. Augmented reality for manufacturing. In Virtual Manufacturing. Edited by W. A. Khan, A. Raouf and K. Cheng. Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 1–56.

- Kocian, Jiri, Michal Tutsch, Stepan Ozana, and Jiri Koziorek. 2012. Application of modeling and simulation techniques for technology units in industrial control. In *Frontiers in Computer Education*. Edited by Sambath Sabo and Egui Zhu. Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 491–99.
- Koesworo, Yulius, Ninuk Muljani, and Lena Ellitan. 2019. Fintech in the industrial revolution era 4.0. International Journal of Research Culture Society 3: 53–56.
- Kolberg, Dennis, Joshua Knobloch, and Detlef Zuehlke. 2017. Towards a lean automation interface for workstations. International Journal of Production Research 55: 2845–56. [CrossRef]
- KPMG. 2017. The Pulse of Fintech Q2 2017 Global Analysis of Investment in Fintech. Available online: www.kpmg.com/fintechpulse (accessed on 19 June 2019).
- KPMG. 2018. Global Analysis of Investment in Unicorn Companies. Available online: https://home.kpmg/xx/en/ home/campaigns/2018/12/global-review.html (accessed on 19 June 2019).
- Landscheidt, Steffen, and Mirka Kans. 2016. Automation practices in wood product industries: Lessons learned, current practices and future perspectives. Paper presented at 7th Swedish Production Symposium SPS, Lund, Sweden, October 25–27.
- LaValle, Steve, Eric Lesser, Rebecca Shockley, Michael S. Hopkins, and Nina Kruschwitz. 2011. Big data, analytics and the path from insights to value. *MIT Sloan Management Review* 52: 21–32.
- Lee, In, and Yong Jae Shin. 2018. Fintech: Ecosystem, Business Models, Investment Decisions, and Challenges. Business Horizons 61: 35–46. [CrossRef]
- Lee, Jay, Behrad Bagheri, and Hung-An Kao. 2015. A cyber-physical systems architecture for Industry 4.0-based manufacturing systems. *Manufacturing Letters* 3: 18–23. [CrossRef]
- Leonard, Kenneth. 2019. Banking Rules for Non-Profit Organizations, Small Business, Business Models & Organizational Structure. Available online: https://smallbusiness.chron.com/banking-rules-non-profitorganizations-829.html (accessed on 28 December 2019).
- Lu, Yang. 2017. Industry 4.0: A survey on technologies, applications and open research issues. *Journal of Industrial* Information Integration 6: 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Lee, Min Hwa, Jin Hyo Joseph Yun, Andreas Pyka, Dong Kyu Won, Fumio Kodama, Giovanni Schiuma, Hang Sik Park, Jeonghwan Jeon, Kyung Bae Park, Kwang Ho Jung, and et al. 2018. How to Respond to the Fourth Industrial Revolution, or the Second Information Technology Revolution? *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, Complexity* 4: 21. [CrossRef]
- Martinez, Felipe, Petr Jirsak, and Miroslav Lorenc. 2016. Industry 4.0. The end lean management. Paper presented at 10th International Days of Statistics and Economics, Prague, Czech Republic, September 8–10.
- McKinney, Tonya. 2014. Omni-Channel Banking Customer Experience: Forget What You thought You Knew about Channels. Available online: https://docplayer.net/18988425-Omni-channel-banking-customer-experience-forget-what-you-thought-you-knew-about-channels.html (accessed on 3 December 2019).
- Mehnen, Jörn, Hongmei He, Stefano Tedeschi, and Nikolaos Tapoglou. 2017. Practical security aspects of the internet of things. In *Cybersecurity for Industry 4.0*. Edited by Lane Thames and Dirk Schaefer. Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 225–42.
- Mekinjić, Boško. 2019. The impact of industry 4.0 on the transformation of the banking sector. *Journal of Contemporary Economics* 1. [CrossRef]
- Mlađenović, Srđan. 2018. Banking Industry 4.0: Robotic Automation as an Answer to the Challenges of Tomorrow. Available online: https://www.comtradeintegration.com/en/banking-in-industry-4-0-robotic-automation-asan-answer-to-the-challenges-of-tomorrow (accessed on 15 April 2020).
- Mohamed, Mamad. 2018. Challenges and Benefits of Industry 4.0: An overview. *International Journal of Supply and Operations Management* 5: 256–65.
- Muscio, Alessandro, and Andrea Ciffolilli. 2019. What drives the capacity to integrate Industry 4.0 technologies? Evidence from European R&D projects. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology* 29: 1–15.
- Nethravathi, Periyapatna, Sathyanarayana Rao, Gokarna Vidya Bai, Cristi Spulbar, Mendon Suhan, Ramona Birau, Toni Calugaru, Iqbal Thonse Hawaldar, and Abdullah Ejaz. 2020. Business intelligence appraisal based on customer behaviour profile by using hobby based opinion mining in India: A case study. *Economic Research -EkonomskaIstraživanja* 33: 1889–908. [CrossRef]
- Oliveira, Tiago, Manoj Thomas, and Mariana Espadanal. 2014. Assessing the determinants of cloud computing adoption: An analysis of the manufacturing and services sectors. *Information & Management* 51: 497–510.

- Ooi, Keng-Boon, Voon-Hsien Lee, Garry Wei-Han Tan, Teck-Soon Hew, and Jun-Jie Hew. 2018. Cloud computing in manufacturing: The next industrial revolution in Malaysia? *Expert Systems with Applications* 93: 376–94. [CrossRef]
- Open Banking Homepage. 2018. Available online: https://www.openbanking.org.uk/customers (accessed on 10 September 2018).
- Pagliosa, Marcos, Guilherme Tortorella, and Joao Carlos Espindola Ferreira. 2019. Industry 4.0 and Lean Manufacturing A systematic literature review and future research directions. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management, Emerald Publishing Limited* 1741–038X. [CrossRef]
- PwC. 2017. Global FinTech Report. Available online: https://www.pwc.com/fintechreport (accessed on 24 April 2020).
- Romao, Mário, Joao Costa, and Carlos J. Costa. 2019. Robotic Process Automation: A Case Study in the Banking Industry. Paper presented at 14th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), Coimbra, Portugal, June 19–22; pp. 1–6.
- Rosman, Tobias. 2015. Investigating Omni-Channel Banking Opportunities in Sweden: From a User Perspective. Stockholm: KHT Royal Institute of Technology, School of Computer Science and Communication.
- Rossini, Matteo, Federica Costa, Guilherme L. Tortorella, and Alberto Portioli-Staudacher. 2019. The interrelation between Industry 4.0 and lean production: An empirical study on European manufacturers. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 102: 3963–76. [CrossRef]
- Rüamann, Michael, Markus Lorenz, Philipp Gerbert, Manuela Waldner, Jan Justus, Pascal Engel, and Michael Harnisch. 2015. Industry 4.0: The future of productivity and growth in manufacturing industries. *Boston Consulting Group* 9: 54–89.
- Saghiri, Soroosh, Richard Wilding, Carlos Mena, and Michael Bourlakis. 2017. Toward a three-dimensional framework for omni-channel. *Journal of Business Research* 77: 53–67. [CrossRef]
- Sanders, Adam, Chola Elangeswaran, and Jens P. Wulfsberg. 2016. Industry 4.0 implies lean manufacturing: Research activities in industry 4.0 function as enablers for lean manufacturing. *Journal of Industrial Engineering* and Management 9: 811–33. [CrossRef]
- Santorella, Gary. 2017. Lean Culture for the Construction Industry: Building Responsible and Committed Project Teams. New York: Productivity Press.
- Saravanan, K., and K. Muthu Lakshmi. 2016. A Study on Banking Services of New Generation Banking in the Indian Banking Sector. Purakala with ISSN 0971-2143 is an UGC CARE Journal 31: 552–61.
- Schuh, Günther, Reiner Anderl, Jürgen Gausemeier, Michael ten Hompel, and Wolfgang Wahlster, eds. 2017. Industrie 4.0 Maturity Index: Managing the Digital Transformation of Companies. Acatech Study. Munich: Utz, Herbert.
- SCOOP. 2017. Industry 4.0: The Fouth Industrial Revolution Guide to Industrie 4.0. Available online: www.iscoop.eu/industry-4-0/ (accessed on 6 June 2017).
- Dasho, Anni, Elvin Meka, Genci Sharko, and Indrit Baholli. 2017. Digital Banking the Wave of the Future. Paper presented at ISTI 2016: The New Paradigm for a Smarter Economy, Tirana, Albania, June 17–18.
- Sikorski, Janusz J., Joy Haughton, and Markus Kraft. 2017. Blockchain technology in the chemical industry: Machine-to-machine electricity market. *Applied Energy* 195: 234–46. [CrossRef]
- Simpson, John. 2002. The impact of the Internet in banking, Observations and evidence from developed and emerging markets. *Telematics and Informatics Journal* 19: 315–30. [CrossRef]
- Ślusarczyk, Beata. 2018. Industry 4.0—Are we ready? Polish Journal of Management Studies 17: 232–48. [CrossRef]
- Sohrab Uddin, S. M., and S. Mahmood Sohel. 2018. Performance of Fourth Generation Private Banks in Bangladesh: An Evaluation. In 9th PIMG International Conference, Prestige Institute of Management. Gwalior: Jiwaji University.
- Spulbar, Cristi, and Ramona Birau. 2019a. *Emerging Research on Monetary Policy, Banking, and Financial Markets*. Pennsylvania: IGI Global, 322p.
- Spulbar, Cristi, and Ramona Birau. 2019b. Financial Technology and Disruptive Innovation in ASEAN (book). In *The Effects of Cybercrime on the Banking Sector in ASEAN*. Pennsylvania: IGIGlobal, chp. 7.
- Srivastava, Utkarsh, and Santosh Gopalkrishnan. 2015. Impact of Big Data Analytics on Banking Sector: Learning for Indian Banks, 2nd International Symposium on Big Data and Cloud Computing (ISBCC'15). Procedia Computer Science 50: 643–52. [CrossRef]

- Stock, Tim, and Günther Seliger. 2016. Opportunities of Sustainable Manufacturing in Industry 4.0, 13th Global Conference on Sustainable Manufacturing—Decoupling Growth from Resource Use. *Procedia CIRP* 40: 536–41. [CrossRef]
- Tamás, Péter, and Béla Illés. 2016. Process improvement trends for manufacturing systems in Industry 4.0. Academic Journal of Manufacturing Engineering 14: 119–25.
- Thames, Lane, and Dirk Schaefer. 2017. Industry 4.0: An overview of key benefits, technologies, and challenges. In *Cybersecurity for Industry 4.0*. Edited by Lane Thames and Dirk Schaefer. Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 1–33.
- Temenos. 2018. Annual Reportand Accounts. Available online: https://www.temenos.com/wp-content/uploads/ 2019/07/2018-annual-report-2019-mar-26.pdf (accessed on 30 October 2019).
- Thuluva, Aparna Saisree, Darko Anicic, and Sebastian Rudolph. 2017. Semantic web of things for Industry 4.0. Paper presented at the Doctoral Consortium, Challenge, Industry Track, Tutorials and Posters, London, UK; pp. 11–15.
- Turk Ariss, R. 2008. Financial liberalization and bank efficiency: Evidence from post-war Lebanon. *Applied Financial Economics* 18: 931–46. [CrossRef]
- Underwood, Sarah. 2016. Blockchain beyond Bitcoin. Communications of the ACM 59: 15–17. [CrossRef]
- Vaidya, Saurabh, Prashant Ambad, and Santosh Bhosle. 2018. Industry 4.0—A Glimpse. Procedia Manufacturing 20: 233–38. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Gang, Angappa Gunasekaran, Eric W.T. Ngai, and Thanos Papadopoulos. 2016a. Big data analytics in logistics and supply chain management: Certain investigations for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics* 176: 98–110. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Shiyong, Jiafu Wan, Daqiang Zhang, Di Li, and Chunhua Zhang. 2016b. Towards smart factory for Industry 4.0: A self-organized multi-agent system with big data based feedback and coordination. *Computer Networks* 101: 158–68. [CrossRef]
- Williams, Bob, and Mark Anielski. 2004. An Assessment of Sweden's No-Interest Bank. Available online: www.anielski.com (accessed on 15 March 2017).
- Xu, Yuchun, and Mu Chen. 2016. Improving just-in-time manufacturing operations by using internet of things based solutions. *Proceedia CIRP* 56: 326–31. [CrossRef]
- Yew, A. W. W., S. K. Ong, and Andrew Y. C. Nee. 2016. Towards a Griddable distributed manufacturing system with augmented reality interfaces. *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing* 39: 43–55. [CrossRef]
- Zambon, Ilaria, Massimo Cecchini, Gianluca Egidi, Maria Grazia Saporito, and Andrea Colantoni. 2019. Revolution 4.0: Industry vs. agriculture ina future development for SMEs. *Processes* 7: 36. [CrossRef]
- Zuehlke, Detlef. 2010. SmartFactory—Towards a factory-of-things. Annual Reviews in Control 34: 129–38. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Jump Driven Risk Model Performance in Cryptocurrency Market

Ramzi Nekhili ^{1,*} and Jahangir Sultan ²

- ¹ Department of Accounting and Finance, Applied Science University, East Al-Ekir 5055, Bahrain
- ² Department of Finance, Bentley University, Waltham, MA 02452, USA; jsultan@bentley.edu
- * Correspondence: ramzi.nekhili@asu.edu.bh; Tel.: +973-39477694

Received: 26 February 2020; Accepted: 27 March 2020; Published: 1 April 2020

Abstract: This paper aims at identifying a validated risk model for the cryptocurrency market. We propose a stochastic volatility model with co-jumps in return and volatility (SVCJ) to highlight the role of jumps in returns and volatility in affecting Value-at-Risk (VaR) and Expected Shortfall (ES) in cryptocurrency market. Validation results based on backtesting show that SVCJ model is superior in terms of statistical accuracy of VaR and ES estimates, compared to alternative models such as TGARCH (Threshold GARCH) volatility and RiskMetrics models. The results imply that for the cryptocurrency market, the best performing model is a stochastic process that accounts for both jumps in returns and volatility.

Keywords: stochastic volatility with co-jumps; threshold GARCH; RiskMetrics; validation; cryptocurrency market

JEL Classification: C22; G11; G12

1. Introduction

Forecasting volatility is pivotal for developing accurate and realistic risk management models that perform well in good times and in bad. An accurate volatility forecast depends on the assumptions made by the analyst and selection of proper statistical models that can provide a parsimonious representation of the stylized features of the data. When risk management fails, the blame is squarely placed on risk models. According to Bernanke (2008), "Those institutions faring better during the recent turmoil generally placed relatively more emphasis on validation, independent review, and other controls for models and similar quantitative techniques. They also continually refined their models and applied a healthy dose of skepticism to model output". Hence, a crucial task facing a risk manager is to make sure the models are tested, back-tested, and validated to minimize expected losses.

Academics, practitioners, and regulators have commonly used risk models that were deemed sophisticated in terms of forecasting risk. For instance, JPMorgan and Bank of America use historical simulation to estimate their trading risk. Others rely on volatility forecasting models such as GARCH family models, exponentially moving average, JPMorgan's RiskMetrics, and extreme value theory models. In this respect, academics provided various results of the reality checks of these models and suggested different versions of the GARCH volatility models by alternating between Normal, Student-*t*, and Skewed-*t* distributions in an attempt to better capture tail events and asymmetry of the data generating process (see, for example, Bauwens and Laurent (2005), Danielsson and Morimoto (2000)). Other scholars suggested hybrid models combining, for instance, filtered historical simulation with GARCH models or assuming different error terms in the models. Nevertheless, such models require assumptions about the stochastic processes of the underlying asset prices that are subject to validation failure either because of misspecification or the latent characteristic of the parameters, especially during economic downturns.

On a more macro level, it is now evident that the importance of risk models remains fundamental for capital requirements as imposed by the Basel regulations. Decision-makers rely on these risk models as long as they have passed some validation criteria adopted by financial institutions and regulatory authorities. Three critical model-failures have been noted in the literature—1992 Deutsche Bank loss of \$500 million, the 1998 collapse of Long Term Capital Management (LTCM), and the 2012 "London Whale"¹ debacle of JPMorgan Chase & Co. For the Deutsche bank loss, the culprit was the assumption of flat volatility to price options and, in the case of the LTCM debacle, the blame was placed on the model's use of Gaussian copula and the assumption of no contagion (Jorion 2000).² Finally, the 2012 loss of \$6.2 billion, due to a spreadsheet error in calculating Value-at-Risk (VaR) and operational risk at JPMorgan Chase, highlights why it is important to validate risk models.³

In light of some of these historical data, it is fitting that scholars shifted their approach to stochastic volatility risk models, postulating that volatility is driven by its own stochastic process that accounts for jump dynamics in the returns rather than skewness or excess kurtosis. Such an approach, when pitted against other risk models, outperformed both in and out-of-sample backtesting results (see, for example, Maheu and McCrudy (2005), Su and Hung (2011), and Ze-To (2012)). Their results supported a consensus that jumps are causing extreme value in returns and taking them into consideration provides better VaR forecasts for long and short positions at lower and higher VaR levels. Though such models were successfully validated, they accounted for jumps in the return series and not in volatilities. In addition, many of these risk models were validated in a portfolio context, and little has been done with individual assets with a stochastic model that accounts for both jumps in returns and volatilities (see, for example, Eraker et al. (2003)).

The challenge, therefore, is to identify the best risk model that has passed some validation criteria using risk measures such as VaR and Expected Shortfall (ES), which remain the building-block of market risk regulations. One typical means for identification of the best risk forecast model is by analyzing violation ratios, which is better known as backtesting. Although some scholars argue that risk model choice is the least concern for decision-makers (see, for example, Danielsson et al. (2016)), the scenario takes a different path when dealing with individual financial assets and considering economic events affecting financial markets.

Risk validation in any financial asset that trades on organized platforms is critical for national and international regulatory bodies that are entrusted with providing a safe and sound financial environment for financial transactions. To this extent, investor safety is paramount for an assessment of risks of cryptocurrencies so that proper regulatory controls, if needed, can be designed and implemented. The popular media have declared the cryptocurrencies as some of the most volatile assets in the financial market worldwide. Such assertions must be validated using appropriate econometric risk models that incorporate stylized features of the market to understand the evolution of risk and the factors that are responsible for it. Most importantly, the structure of the market, transaction costs, market microstructure, price formation, and the volatility should be studied within an appropriate risk model. For the emerging cryptocurrencies market where governmental oversight and regulatory structure is still evolving, model risk due to wrong assumptions can lead to wrong conclusions and incorrect policy implementation.

Overall, cryptocurrencies have taken place in the financial markets and in portfolio management. They may be useful in risk management and ideal for risk-averse investors in anticipation of negative shocks to the market. They are also considered as investment assets useful for portfolio diversification and hedging against movements in other financial assets such as commodities. To sum up, for an

¹ The term "London Whale" was based on the enormous size of the bet on credit default swaps made by the London office of the bank's risk management division.

² In addition, the LTCM model made several critical mistakes, including assuming that returns were normally distributed, and the time period to establish the risk parameters was rather short. See Jorion (2000) for more.

³ Interestingly, JPM CEO Jaime Dimon had initially described the problem as "a tempest in a teapot".

investor trying to manage tail risk in cryptocurrencies, choosing an appropriate model is critical for forecasting volatility.

This paper aims at exclusively identifying a risk model that is valid for the cryptocurrency markets. It also attempts to build up on the consensus that cryptocurrencies exhibit extreme volatility that needs to be properly quantified for risk management purposes. The existing literature suggests that both stochastic volatility and jumps in returns in the equity market are important components of the returns. Hence, we consider theoretical and applied return models that require the specification of a stochastic volatility component. The model that we select accommodates the persistence in volatility, and volatility of a jump to address the unpredictable and large movements in the price process. In essence, our objective is to examine if jumps in returns and volatility can help us predict tail risk and expected shortfall more accurately. Furthermore, it also is important to determine if jumps in returns and volatility can help us accurately predict and manage expected losses from investing in cryptocurrencies. This particular focus on the volatility structure of the cryptocurrency market is incomplete in the literature.

Our risk model validation approach starts with a nonparametric test to detect jumps in the dynamics of the price process in the cryptocurrency market. Next, we introduce the price dynamics as inputs in a stochastic model that allows for jumps in both returns and volatility, as well as their correlation. We call this the Stochastic Volatility with Co-Jumps (SVCJ) model. We further study how such a model could be appropriate for risk measurement and compare its Value-at-Risk and Expected Shortfall predictions with competing models that are frequently applied to financial time series. Backtesting criteria are implemented to test the statistical accuracy of the models, followed by an examination of the statistical significance of the differences between the models.

Our results suggest that no one model universally fits all cryptocurrencies. We find that there are jumps in the returns and volatility of returns in the cryptocurrency market, though jump probability estimates vary across currencies. We find evidence of the leverage effect where volatility has an asymmetric response to good news and bad news. Both the SVCJ and TGARCH models produce accurate forecasts of tail risk and Expected Shortfall (ES) better than the popular RiskMetrics model. Finally, the strongest result in the paper is that the proposed SVCJ model produces lower economic losses than the TGARCH and RiskMetrics models. This implies real savings for an investor for dealing with capital losses for investing in the cryptocurrency market.

The paper proceeds as follows. In Section 2, we discuss the proposed stochastic volatility model with jumps and leverage. In Section 3, we offer empirical results. The final section concludes the paper.

2. Methodology

An understanding of the volatility process of financial assets is necessary for investors to manage risks of investing in financial markets. Equally important is that regulators have a more informed view of the underlying volatility structure of these assets so that appropriate regulatory policies can be designed to attract investors and potential new issuers. To this extent, it is important to examine if assets have time varying volatility, jumps, autocorrelation, extreme risk, and how the volatility process responds to good news and bad news in the markets. These issues have been investigated in the literature individually in a disparate manner when they should be addressed simultaneously in an integrated model to allow interaction among these volatility parameters (see Ardia et al. (2019), Barivera et al. (2017), and Segnon and Bekiros (2019), and references therein). Hence, we adopt a model that can capture quick and persistent movements of the conditional volatility of returns as in Eraker et al. (2000). Such models showed that, with jumps in returns and jumps in stochastic volatility, the performance is better than competing models with different specification of the volatility process. A number of papers have examined equity price models with jumps in returns and stochastic volatility (see, for example, Bakshi et al. (1997), Andersen et al. (2002), and Pan (2002))

and made it clear that both stochastic volatility and jumps in returns are important components of the time series properties of financial assets.

Let us begin by defining $logP_t$ as the logarithmic price process with V_t as the stochastic variance. Both processes are assumed to have a continuous path or happen to be discontinuous with the occurrence of at least one jump:

where the stochastic volatility V_t has parameters κ and θ that are the mean reversion rate and mean reversion level, respectively. W^X and W^V are correlated standard Brownian motions with $Cov(dW_t^X, dW_t^V) = \rho dt$. $Z_t^X = Z_t^V$ are contemporaneous jump arrivals in both prices and volatility and are assumed to follow a Poisson process with constant intensity λ . σ_V represents the volatility of volatility and measures the variance responsiveness to diffusive volatility shocks.

Because data are observed in discrete time, it is common to use an Euler discretization of the continuous time process in Equation (1). Assuming a time discretization of one day (dt = 1) and $X_t = log P_t - log P_{t-1}$, the discrete model, labeled SVCJ, becomes:

$$X_t = \mu + \sqrt{V_{t-1}} \epsilon_t^X + J_t^X Z_t^X$$

$$V_t = \kappa(\theta - V_{t-1}) + \sigma_V \sqrt{V_{t-1}} \epsilon_t^V + J_t^V Z_t^V$$
(2)

where J_t^X and J_t^V are the correlated jump sizes with $J_t^V \sim exp(\mu_V)$ and $J_t^X|J_t^V \sim N(\mu_X + \rho_J J^V, \sigma_X^2)$, and e_t^X and e_t^V are standard normal random variables with correlation ρ . We note that, when $\rho_J = 0$ and $\mu_V = 0$, the model turns to a stochastic volatility with jumps of Bates (1996), and, when $\rho_J = 0$, $\mu_V = 0$, $\lambda = 0$, $\mu_X = 0$, and $\sigma_X = 0$, the model is a stochastic volatility of Heston (1993).

We use a likelihood-based framework for estimating multivariate jump-diffusion models using the Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) method. This method is based on Bayesian modeling that requires using a likelihood, a priori distribution, and a posteriori distribution. Prior distributions are required for the initial volatility state, V_0 , and for all parameters governing the dynamics of the volatilities. Moreover, the prior contains information about both the parameters and the structure of the latent processes: the stochastic specifications of the jump sizes, and jump times. As in Eraker et al. (2003), the priors are always consistent with the intuition that jumps are "large" and infrequent. More specifically, we choose a prior that places low probability on the jump sizes being small, say less than one percent, and a prior that places low probability on the daily jump probability being greater than 10 percent. In this paper, we generate results with priors.

Next, the forecastability of the SVCJ model is compared to commonly adopted alternative volatility models within the popular GARCH family. For this and to be in line with the stylized facts that financial time series have leptokurtosis, heavy tail, and autocorrelation, we impose volatility dynamics within the universe of GARCH specifications. We choose the TGARCH specification of Glosten et al. (1993) is due to its ability to capture the so-called leverage effect, the tendency of volatility to increase more with negative news rather than positive news. Brownlees and Engle (2012) argued that this volatility model has superior forecasting performance than other known volatility models⁴. The model takes into consideration any presence of autocorrelation of order p and is presented as follows:

⁴ Other volatility forecasting models would include ARCH, GARCH, I-GARCH, GARCH-M, GJR-GARCH, and TARCH, for example. However, it is very tough to generalize the statement because results from the above models may vary due to differences in assets, data, and time period under study. See, for example, Ali (2013).

Int. J. Financial Stud. 2020, 8, 19

$$X_{t} = a_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} a_{j} X_{t-1} + u_{t}$$

$$\sigma_{t}^{2} = \omega + \alpha u_{t-1}^{2} + \gamma u_{t-1}^{2} I_{t-1}^{-} + \beta \sigma_{t-1}^{2},$$
(3)

with $u_t \sim D(0, \sigma_t^2)$ representing independent and identically distributed shocks with zero mean and time-varying variance, and $I_{t-1}^- = 1$ if $u_t < 0$, and zero, otherwise. In this model, the parameters α and β are respectively the ARCH and GARCH coefficients, and the parameter γ captures the leverage effect of the returns. In line with the stylized facts observed in the cryptocurrency market (see for example Chan et al. (2017), Caporale and Zeokokh (2019), and Ardia et al. (2019)) and, because there is a large departure of the cryptocurrencies returns from normality, we allow for the distribution *D* of shocks to follow a Student-*t* or skewed Student-*t* with ν degrees of freedom.

We explore whether the forecasts generated from the two models are able to provide an investor with a valid tool to hedge risk. Therefore, we derive VaR and ES using the simulated volatility series when fixing the parameter estimates produced by the models. An *n*-day τ % VaR is defined as

$$\operatorname{VaR}_{t}^{\tau}(X) = \inf\{x \mid \Pr(X_{t} < -x) \leq \tau\},\tag{4}$$

and, once *X* is below VaR_{τ} , we define

$$\mathrm{ES}^{\tau}(X) = \frac{1}{\tau} \int_0^{\tau} \mathrm{VaR}_u(X) du.$$
(5)

To concentrate on a specific return bracket, we adopt a non-parametric technique based on Filtered Historical Simulation of Barone-Adesi et al. (1999) to simulate 5000 returns' paths from both the SVCJ and the AR(2)-TGARCH (1,1)~ t models. For the latter, we first standardize returns by quantiles and volatility estimates and then generate returns' paths serving as the basis for calculating VaR and ES.

Next, we evaluate the accuracy of each model through backtesting the estimated VaR and ES. The backtesting relies on comparing the risk measures estimated by the models under analysis with the actual trading results. The cases in which the actual loss exceeds the VaR estimate are called exceptions. According to Christoffersen (1998), the exception sequence is defined as:

$$I_t^{\tau} = \begin{cases} 1, \text{if } X_t < -\text{VaR}_t^{\tau} & \text{violation occurs} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(6)

for t = T + 1, ..., T + n, where *T* is the number of return observations used to estimate the VaR of the day T + 1, and *n* is the number of one-step-ahead estimates of that risk measure included in the test. Consequently, Christoffersen's conditional coverage test (LR_{cc}) for VaR backtesting consists of determining whether the probability of occurrence of an exception, $p = Pr[X_t < VaR_t^{\tau}]$ is significantly different from the defined τ (unconditional coverage test LR_{uc}) and whether the exception sequence is serially independent (independence test LR_{ind})⁵. The likelihood ratio statistics for the test of correct conditional coverage is defined as:

$$LR_{cc} = 2\ln\left[(1-\pi_{01})^{n_{00}}\pi_{01}^{n_{01}}(1-\pi_{11})^{n_{10}}\pi_{11}^{n_{11}}\right] - 2\ln\left[(1-\tau)^{n_{0}}\tau^{n_{1}}\right]$$
(7)

where n_0 and n_1 are respectively the number of 0s and 1's in the indicator series, n_{ij} is the number of observations with value *i* followed by value *j* in the I_t^{τ} series. The value *i*, *j* = 0 denotes no violation, while *i*, *j* = 1, denotes the opposite. The series I_t^{τ} are assumed to be a first-order Markov process

⁵ The probability of an exception does not depend on the previous day's outcome.
with transition probabilities $\pi_{ij} = \frac{n_{ij}}{\sum_j n_{ij}}^6$. The likelihood function LR_{cc} follows a $\chi^2_{(2)}$ and tests the independence of exceedance (loss) across time periods. If the sequence of losses is independent, then $\pi_{01} = \pi_{11} = p$. Hence, this test can reject a model that generates too many or too few violations.

Given that VaR passes this test, we then proceed with backtesting the excess loss component, $L = ES^{\tau} - VaR^{\tau}$, using the McNeil et al. (2005) 'zero mean test' and the bootstrap method of Efron and Tibshirani (1994), which requires no assumption on the distribution of $S = (L - ES^{\tau})1_{L>VaR^{\tau}}$.

Lastly, we test the superiority of a model vis-à-vis a competing model with respect to the loss function of Angelidis et al. (2004) and using Sarma et al. (2003) 'zero median test'. The loss function is defined as:

$$C_t = \begin{cases} (X_t - (-\operatorname{VaR}_t^{\tau}))^2, & \text{if violation occurs} \\ \left(q_{\tau}[X_t]_{T+1}^{T+n} - (-\operatorname{VaR}_t^{\tau})\right)^2, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(8)

where $q_{\tau}[X_t]_{T+1}^{T+n}$ is the quantile of the out-of-sample returns used for backtesting. At each time t, C_t increases either by excess loss, if a violation occurs, or by the difference between VaR_t^T forecast and the future quantile. It follows that choosing the best accurate model *i* over model *j*, which will minimize the total loss $\sum_{t=1}^{T} C_t$, can be decided by testing the hypothesis that the median of the distribution $B_t = C_{it} - C_{jt}$ is equal to 0. Here, B_t is known as the loss differential between model *i* and model *j* at time *t*, and a negative value indicates the superiority of model *i* over *j*. This loss function is of practical interest to investors seeking to reduce market risk and avoiding allocating more money than needed.

3. Data and Empirical Results

In this section, we describe the details of the procedures for the comparison of the previously discussed risk models for the matter of validation, and, for a better understanding of our results, we divide this section in three parts. In the first part, we describe the stylized facts of the sample and conduct preliminary diagnostics. The second part presents the details of the in-sample estimation of the risk models, namely SVCJ, TGARCH, and RM. In the third part, we evaluate the out-of-sample forecasting ability of the models in terms of VaR and ES, and then perform backtesting for validation purposes.

3.1. Data

Over the last few years, the most important aspect of cryptocurrencies which has gained prominence in the media is the realized market volatility. To be fair, the media's infatuation with cryptocurrencies is manifested in the actual market data. Between 26 April 2013 and 16 May 2019, the daily average return from the largest cryptocurrency Bitcoin (BTC) was 0.3% with 4.34% standard deviation. There were 174 days with daily returns falling by more than 5%, and 178 days with daily returns increasing by more than 5%. The maximum daily return during this period was 43.58% (19 November 2013) and the largest one-day change was –23.43% (12 December 2013). On 18 December 2017, the market cap for BTC was \$320 billion and the price soared to \$19,783 (17 December 2017). One year later, the market cap for the currency declined to \$63 billion (28 December 2018). As of this writing (23 May 2019), BTC had a market cap of \$138.5 billion. Such large, unprecedented swings in the market value can be terrifying for some investors, while others see opportunities. In more recent days, however, there is a lot more emphasis on avoiding volatility and promoting the stability of the cryptocurrencies to bring some sense of calm in the market. For example, companies like Google, IBM, and Facebook⁷ have announced their plans to introduce newer coins and each one is claiming that their currency will be a more stable asset than the others (Forbes, 16 April 2019).

⁶ $\pi_{01} = Pr[I_t^{\tau} = 1 \mid I_{t+1}^{\tau} = 0)$, and $\pi_{11} = Pr[I_t^{\tau} = 1 \mid I_{t+1}^{\tau} = 1]$.

⁷ In fact, Facebook is planning to introduce a cryptocurrency, appropriately named as 'Stablecoin' for its "WhatsApp" platform.

We use daily prices of seven successful⁸ cryptocurrencies: Bitcoin (BTC), Ripple (XRP), Litecoin (LTC), Stellar (XLM), Monero (XMR), Dash (DASH), and Bytecoin (BCN), all collected from cryptocompare.com⁹. The data span the period 5 August 2014 to 24 March 2019, with a total of 1693 daily observations. Table 1 reports the summary statistics including the mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, skewness, kurtosis, and the *p*-values of the Ljung–Box test for first-order autocorrelation for all cryptocurrencies. Ripple has the highest mean of 0.24% and Bytecoin has the highest standard deviation of 11.44%. All cryptocurrencies display excess kurtosis and the Ljung–Box test shows that data exhibit first and second-order autocorrelation except for Stellar at the 5% confidence level.

	Mean	StDev	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis	AR1	AR2
BTC	0.010	0.166	-0.146	1.788	3.609	22.78	0.091	0.117
XRP	0.037	0.355	-0.309	6.190	5.546	65.93	0.421	0.048
LTC	0.016	0.248	-0.136	4.789	9.196	130.18	0.880	0.766
XLM	0.015	0.213	-0.206	3.808	5.532	68.53	0.037	0.039
XMR	0.007	0.134	-0.147	1.306	2.998	15.12	0.733	0.423
DASH	0.012	0.175	-0.196	1.595	2.705	12.23	0.671	0.180
BCN	0.009	0.163	-0.157	3.049	6.775	95.30	0.234	0.117

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of daily log-returns of cryptocurrencies.

Data spans from 5 August 2014 until 24 March 2019. AR1 and AR2 display the *p*-values of the Ljung–Box for autocorrelation of first and second order. *p*-values below the 1% significance level indicate rejection of the null hypothesis of no autocorrelation.

3.2. In-Sample Estimation

Table 2 provides posterior summaries for parameter estimates from the stochastic volatility with co-jumps (SVCJ) model for all cryptocurrency series. For the MCMC framework, there were 10,000 iterations with a burn-in of 2000 iterations to minimize the influence of the initial values. The initial values were as follows: $\mu \sim N(0,1)$, $\kappa \sim N(0,1)$, $\kappa \theta \sim N(0,1)$, $\rho \sim u(-1,1)$, $\sigma_V^2 \sim IG(2.5,0.1)$, $\mu_X \sim N(0,100)$, $\rho_I \sim N(0,4)$, $\sigma_X^2 \sim IG(5,20)$, $\mu_V \sim G(20,10)$, and $\lambda \sim B(2,40)$. The SVCJ model appears to be an ideal candidate for the cryptocurrencies, as indicated by the low MSE. The results show that the jump intensity λ is significant for all cryptocurrencies and is high for XRP and LTC, respectively 10.6% and 9.3%, and low for BCN and BTC, respectively 2.5% and 3.8%. The jump correlation ρ_I is insignificant for all cryptocurrencies, similarly to the findings of Eraker et al. (2003) with stock prices.

The results also show a positive correlation, ρ , between the Brownian motions of returns and volatility for all cryptocurrencies except for XRP and DASH, where it is negative. This shows that a negative shock to returns increases volatility, and we can infer that the leverage effect contributes to the effectiveness in fitting the volatility of cryptocurrency returns. Figure 1 displays the jumps in returns and volatility for selected cryptocurrencies with high and low intensity of jumps. XRP and LTC have high intensity, and BTC and BCN have low intensity jumps.

⁸ Our sample of cryptocurrencies captures market dynamics for various market capitalizations, ranging from high to low. Among the largest market caps (22 May 2019), we have Bitcoin (\$136.13 billion) and XRP (\$15.88 billion), in the middle market cap category, we have Litecoin (\$5.44 billion), and Bytecoin (\$0.169 billion) represents the small market cap category.

⁹ It is important to acknowledge that there are significant differences in the quality of data that are available at multiple sites including CoinAPI, Cryptodatadownload, Cryptocompare, Coinmarketcap, and Coingecko. According to Alexander and Dakos (2019), some of these data are traded prices while others are non-traded prices issued by the exchanges, leading to questionable results in empirical studies.

	BTC	XRP	LTC	XLM	XMR	DASH	BCN
μ	0.023	-0.042	-0.003	-0.046	-0.009	-0.020	-0.032
	(0.007)	(0.023)	(0.009)	(0.016)	(0.018)	(0.014)	(0.042)
κ	0.088	0.162	0.055	0.309	0.356	0.188	0.108
	(0.003)	(0.016)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.015)	(0.005)	(0.230)
θ	0.091	0.314	0.165	0.168	0.132	0.186	0.505
	(0.009)	(0.025)	(0.010)	(0.012)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.138)
μ_X	-0.002	-0.003	0.004	0.003	0.001	0.000	0.002
	(0.031)	(0.050)	(0.040)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.028)	(0.048)
σ_X^2	2.37	1.83	7.05	1.92	1.92	1.51	1.76
	(0.068)	(0.065)	(0.105)	(0.065)	(0.067)	(0.050)	(0.062)
λ	0.038	0.106	0.093	0.050	0.061	0.079	0.025
	(0.007)	(0.017)	(0.010)	(0.009)	(0.012)	(0.011)	(0.011)
μ_V	0.732	2.509	1.079	3.787	1.583	1.796	2.747
	(0.110)	(0.383)	(0.107)	(0.531)	(0.240)	(0.224)	(11.747)
σ_V	0.011	0.029	0.010	0.041	0.034	0.021	0.162
	(0.003)	(0.008)	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.011)	(0.004)	(0.046)
ρ	0.012	-0.016	0.002	0.006	0.005	-0.020	0.007
	(0.021)	(0.041)	(0.026)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.040)
ρ_J	0.000	0.003	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.000
	(0.001)	(0.013)	(0.024)	(0.005)	(0.012)	(0.010)	(0.001)
MSE	0.854	0.853	0.869	0.837	0.878	0.853	0.826

Table 2. Parameter estimates of stochastic volatility with co-jumps (SVCJ).

Parameter estimates of SVCJ model are displayed along with the posterior means and the posterior standard deviations (in parentheses). The posterior sampling was carried out with 10,000 MCMC iterations and 2000 burn-in iterations.



Figure 1. Jumps in returns (left columns) and jumps in volatilities (right columns).

We have also estimated several AR(2) return models with various volatility specifications namely, asymmetric GARCH, IGARCH, TARCH, and GJR-GARCH, and by alternating between Student-*t* and Skewed Student-*t* errors. Table A1 (see Appendix A) displays the estimation results of these models for the cryptocurrencies. Each model was ranked on the basis of the log-likelihood function (higher the better) and the AIC (lower the better). Overall, the TGARCH with skewed *t*-distributed errors turns out to be the best volatility fitting model for the cryptocurrencies considered in this paper. These results contradict the findings of Chan et al. (2017) that IGARCH and GJR-GARCH models provide the best fits for the most popular and largest cryptocurrencies.

Table 3 summarizes these results by reporting the AR(2)-TGARCH(1,1)~Skewed *t* estimated parameters. The parameters α and β , which represent short-run dynamics, are all significant for all cryptocurrencies. This suggests that the volatility is intensively reacting to market movements and that shocks to the conditional variance take time to die out. The leverage effect γ is statistically significant for all series except for XRP, DASH, and BCN. There were no remaining autocorrelations in both the standardized residuals and the squared standardized residuals.

Table 3. Parameter estimates of AR(2)-TGARCH(1,1)~Skewed *t* volatility model.

	BTC	XRP	LTC	XLM	XRM	DASH	BCN
<i>a</i> ₀	0.093	-0.117	0.046	-0.098	0.218	0.103	0.308
	(0.040)	(0.041)	(0.054)	(0.040)	(0.106)	(0.069)	(1.002)
<i>a</i> ₁	-0.055	-0.098	-0.081	-0.157	-0.053	-0.062	-0.235
	(0.018)	(0.028)	(0.022)	(0.041)	(0.025)	(0.020)	(0.026)
a2	-0.061	-0.042	-0.072	-0.048	-0.027	-0.064	-0.036
	(0.024)	(0.025)	(0.021)	(0.019)	(0.023)	(0.017)	(0.143)
ω	0.066	0.632	0.125	0.474	0.569	0.448	0.794
	(0.032)	(0.201)	(0.059)	(0.158)	(0.177)	(0.130)	(0.244)
α	0.271	0.634	0.421	0.271	0.193	0.268	0.167
	(0.061)	(0.139)	(0.095)	(0.054)	(0.035)	(0.042)	(0.039)
β	0.852	0.620	0.859	0.775	0.794	0.755	0.810
	(0.020)	(0.053)	(0.021)	(0.043)	(0.038)	(0.038)	(0.038)
γ	-0.136	-0.061	-0.169	-0.222	-0.183	0.066	-0.197
	(0.071)	(0.064)	(0.087)	(0.089)	(0.093)	(0.073)	(0.161)
Shape	2.473	2.383	2.117	2.852	3.487	3.246	3.398
-	(0.218)	(0.026)	(0.038)	(0.244)	(0.371)	(0.313)	(0.363)
Skewness	0.930	1.057	1.056	1.145	1.104	1.118	1.078
	(0.027)	(0.026)	(0.028)	(0.033)	(0.036)	(0.035)	(0.117)
LogLikelihood	-3315.8	-3757.8	-3586.5	-4230.5	-4321	-4064	-4735.8
AIC	5.007	5.672	5.419	6.389	6.523	6.138	7.151

Summary of the estimation results of the AR(2)-TGARCH(1,1) \sim Skewed *t* for the cryptocurrencies. Standard errors are in parentheses and bold indicates insignificance at 5% and 1% levels.

The estimated volatility from these three distinctly different models are reported in Figure 2 for BTC, as an example. A visual examination shows that the volatility graphs are markedly different across models. The SVCJ model produces the smoothest plot because it includes all parameters of the volatility series. The plots generated from the remaining models are substantially jagged and show significant structural breaks, which can impede our estimation of tail risk.



Figure 2. Estimated Volatility from SVCJ, TGARCH, and RiskMetrics Models

3.3. Out-of-Sample Validation

We proceed with an out-of-sample comparison of the risk measures and forecasting ability of the two models, SVCJ and TGARCH. Our benchmark model is the RiskMetrics (RM) of J.P.Morgan (1996). The risk measures VaR and ES were estimated with a rolling window of T - 365 = 1328 daily log-returns, and the remaining 365 days (24 March 2018 to 24 March 2019) are kept for out-of-sample forecasts and accuracy checks. We then simulate 5000 returns paths from both models. For the AR(2)-TGARCH(1,1)~Skewed *t* model, we used the Filtered Historical Simulation by first extracting the standardized residuals using the volatilities to form a new set of innovations, which are then utilized to obtain the conditional mean. For each return, these steps are repeated recursively to obtain different simulated pathways, with 5000 draws from the standardized residuals to generate 1328 (same as in-sample size) replicates of the returns.

Table 4 reports the out-of-sample backtesting results. The Christoffersen (1998) conditional coverage test confirms that the two models SVCJ and TGARCH accurately forecast the VaR as the *p*-values are greater than 5%. There is an exception for XRP where TGARCH performs better for 1% VaR. Although the RiskMetrics model displays forecasting accuracy, it occasionally fails to perform accordingly for LTC and XLM cryptocurrencies. Speculative investors taking either a long or short position in a cryptocurrency can generate accurate VaR forecasts using these two models.

		SVCJ			TGARCH	I		RM	
	LR _{cc}	VaR (%)	ES (%)	LR_{cc}	VaR (%)	ES (%)	LR _{cc}	VaR (%)	ES (%)
1% Level									
BTC	0.660	6.89	9.41	0.499	9.23	13.96	0.017	8.91	13.24
XRP	0.047	11.34	16.74	0.993	9.62	12.36	0.476	12.90	19.53
LTC	0.177	11.45	17.05	0.407	12.74	19.80	0.017	11.72	19.00
XLM	0.053	15.99	22.43	0.408	10.13	12.60	0.047	14.38	21.35
XMR	0.289	10.76	15.13	0.289	10.94	14.67	0.940	15.11	21.96
DASH	0.083	9.42	13.67	0.452	11.91	15.85	0.256	13.57	19.77
BCN	0.098	17.79	24.78	0.365	18.10	20.75	0.630	24.62	37.38
5% Level									
BTC	0.401	2.49	5.09	0.998	4.38	7.52	0.181	4.67	7.55
XRP	0.623	4.34	8.65	0.499	4.85	7.70	0.913	6.94	11.07
LTC	0.446	5.04	9.10	0.842	5.74	10.25	0.001	5.88	10.06
XLM	0.239	5.38	11.57	0.457	5.17	7.87	0.150	7.99	12.40
XMR	0.296	3.49	7.89	0.159	5.94	8.96	0.163	8.37	12.94
DASH	0.404	3.66	7.13	0.235	6.78	9.85	0.649	7.54	11.69
BCN	0.050	5.75	12.61	0.348	10.20	14.50	0.256	13.02	21.04

Table 4. Value-at-Risk backtesting results.

Christofersen's test *p*-values and average values of the VaR and ES forecasts are displayed under SVCJ, AR(2)-TGARCH(1,1)~Skewed *t*, and RiskMetrics (with a decay factor of 0.94). Bold *p*-values below 5% rejects the null hypothesis of correct exceedances and independence of violation sequences, and hence represents inaccurate VaR estimates.

Given the accuracy of the models, Table 5 reports the zero mean test of excess loss provided that the model first passes the test for VaR. The results indicate that the predictive power of SVCJ model is better than TGARCH and RM models at the 5% level (many of the *p*-values are less than 5%). One possible explanation of such a finding is that TGARCH and RM models' forecasting have less significant gains over the forecasts of the SVCJ model. This particular evidence supports our prior that accounting for jumps in returns and volatility is a reason for the SVCJ model's superior predictive power.

		1% Level			5% Level	
	SVCJ	TGARCH	RM	SVCJ	TGARCH	RM
BTC	0.334	0.798	Fail	0.137	0.610	0.703
XRP	Fail	0.999	0.999	0.701	0.871	0.708
LTC	0.996	0.999	Fail	0.881	0.998	Fail
XLM	0.685	0.999	Fail	0.984	0.940	0.390
XMR	0.753	0.509	0.923	0.281	0.788	0.896
DASH	0.539	0.533	0.920	0.000	0.982	0.234
BCN	0.546	0.865	0.957	0.571	0.971	0.907

Table 5. Expected Shortfall backtesting results.

Results of the zero mean test for the excess loss, provided that the model generates accurate VaR estimates. *p*-values are reported at 1% and 5% risk levels for the cyptocurrencies. *p*-values below 5% indicate inadequacy of the model for estimating ES.

Table 6 summarizes the test of the best performing model with respect to the quantile loss function of Angelidis et al. (2004). For each cryptocurrency and confidence level, we present the loss differential *B* and the *p*-values of the zero median test of Sarma et al. (2003). When *p*-values are less than 5%, it implies that two competing models are significantly different from each other in terms of estimating risk. The opposite implies that the two competing models are not significantly different from each other, with respect to the quantile loss function. Hence, regulators and risk managers remain indifferent between these two models. The results suggest that, at the 5% level, the SVCJ model is better than TGARCH and RiskMetrics models because it produces lower economic losses. At the 1% level, some of

the results show that a risk manager is indifferent between the models for VaR estimation. For instance, for Bitcoin and Stellar, SCVJ and TGARCH models are not significantly different from each other, with respect to the quantile loss function. For the same cryptocurrencies, these two models are performing better than the RiskMetrics model. Therefore, as far as loss is concerned, a risk manager would prefer either SVCJ or TGARCH model over RiskMetrics.

	SVC	J vs. TGARCH	SVG	CJ vs. RM	TGA	RCH vs. RM
	В	<i>p</i> -Value	В	<i>p</i> -Value	В	<i>p</i> -Value
1% Level						
BTC	277	1.0000		SVCJ	Т	GARCH
XRP		TGARCH		RM	4	0.0000
LTC	155	0.0023		SVCJ	Т	GARCH
XLM	287	1.0000		SVCJ	Т	GARCH
XMR	176	0.2480	100	0.0000	8	0.0000
DASH	147	0.0001	105	0.0000	56	0.0000
BCN	234	1.0000	162	0.0159	12	0.0000
5% Level						
BTC	93	0.0000	209	0.9975	147	0.0001
XRP	86	0.0000	85	0.0000	2	0.0000
LTC	131	0.0000	112	0.0000	157	0.0034
XLM	185	0.6030		SVCJ	Т	GARCH
XMR	95	0.0000	27	0.0000	0	0.0000
DASH	77	0.0000	40	0.0000	46	0.0000
BCN	130	0.0000	96	0.0000	43	0.0000

Table 6. Quantile Loss Function test for the best model for VaR estimates

B statistic and p-values, at 1% and 5% risk levels are reported for the cyptocurrencies. p-values below 5% indicate that the difference in the performance of models is significant. If one model fails the previous backtest, we then report the other prevailing model.

Overall, as noted earlier in Table 5, there is a gap between the quantities of risk measured by VaR and ES at the 1% and 5% confidence levels. This suggests that ES gives a more accurate measure of risk than the traditional VaR measure. This finding seems to support the recommendation from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2013) that banks use ES in lieu of VaR, and that there should be a recalibration of the confidence level for consistency and accuracy of the risk measure. In terms of the forecast accuracy, our results show that SVCJ and TGARCH generate better forecasts at the 1% level then RM. This evidence clearly supports the notion that fat-tailed volatility models can predict risk more accurately than non-fat-tailed models. In summary, the combination of jumps in returns and volatility in a stochastic model yields the most accurate VaR forecasts for the majority of the cryptocurrencies studied in this paper.

4. Conclusions

It is now a widely accepted view that risk models should account for the stylized facts of the data in order to be successfully validated. Estimating risk was mainly performed on many financial asset markets but not on the emerging cryptocurrency market, which has been proven to be extremely volatile. Typical volatility models may not adequately provide an accurate representation of the cryptocurrencies volatility process for successful risk management purposes. In particular, risk models must be able to capture the cryptocurrencies volatility process that includes stochastic volatility, persistence in volatility, and jump process. All these stylized features are critical for capturing unpredictable and large movements in the price process and for accurately predicting tail risk and expected shortfall. There is limited research on this topic despite the fact that investors are exploring how cryptocurrencies can be integrated into a portfolio along with other traditional assets such as stocks, bonds, currencies, and commodities. Choosing a proper model that provides a parsimonious representation of the distribution of the return-generating process is the first step.

In this paper, we identified risk models for the cryptocurrency market and evaluated their performance for validation purposes. We evaluated models based on stochastic volatility with co-jumps in returns and volatility (SVCJ), threshold GARCH volatility (TGARCH), and RiskMetrics. Backtesting methods using the conditional and unconditional coverage were performed to test the validity of the models, and the regulatory loss function was applied to choose the most accurate model.

The validation results reveal that, although the models considered in this paper are effective for fitting the cryptocurrency returns, the SVCJ model more accurately forecasts risk in a VaR and ES sense, and the reality check proves its superiority over TGARCH and RiskMetrics models. Therefore, incorporating jumps in the cryptocurrency volatility model improves the forecasting ability of risk in terms of VaR and ES. This is important for risk-averse investors and for speculative investors who are particularly interested in hedging their risk in a VaR sense. It is, therefore, recommended to use a model that accounts for jumps, leptokurtosis, and leverage effects when dealing with cryptocurrency market data. Such a model improves risk forecasting in terms of VaR and Expected Shortfall.

The results in this study have several implications for applying the SVCJ model to other assets including commodities, foreign currencies, and stock market indices, especially in times of stress. The global financial market has seen unprecedented volatility in recent days, given falling oil prices and concerns related to the COVID-19 pandemic. It would be interesting to see if such wild swings in the market can be studied using the SVCJ model to incorporate the co-jumps in returns and volatility affecting the measurement of VaR and Expected Shortfalls in the contagion like period that we now have. We leave that for a future study.

Author Contributions: R.N. collected the data, carried the statistical analysis, and drafted the manuscript. J.S. carried the literature review and helped with the discussion. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments: R.N. would like to acknowledge the financial support provided by Applied Science University (Grant: Admin1/2019).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

imates.	
lity est	
Volati	
le A1.	
Tab	

			Iadie A	The rotating con	lidles.			
	$\frac{\text{GARCH}}{\sim t}$	GARCH ~ Skewed t	$\begin{array}{c} \text{IGARCH}\\ \sim t \end{array}$	$\frac{\text{IGARCH}}{\sim \text{Skewed }t}$	$\frac{\text{TGARCH}}{\sim t}$	$\frac{\text{TGARCH}}{\sim \text{Skewed }t}$	$\begin{array}{l} \text{GJR-GARCH}\\ \sim t \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \text{GJR-GARCH}\\ \sim \text{Skewed }t \end{array}$
Bitcoin (BTC)								
a_0	0.191(0.048)	0.140(0.058)	0.191(0.048)	0.140 (0.057)	0.175 (0.032)	0.093 (0.040)	0.197 (0.050)	0.149(0.056)
a_1	-0.021(0.026)	-0.021 (0.026)	-0.022(0.026)	-0.021(0.026)	-0.051(0.023)	-0.055(0.018)	-0.031(0.031)	-0.032 (0.027)
<i>a</i> ₂	-0.043(0.025)	-0.044(0.025)	-0.043(0.025)	-0.044(0.025)	-0.059(0.014)	-0.061 (0.024)	-0.048 (0.023)	-0.050(0.025)
Э	0.205 (0.090)	0.210(0.089)	0.203 (0.077)	0.207 (0.077)	0.063(0.030)	0.066 (0.032)	0.169 (0.175)	0.173(0.085)
ø	0.171(0.024)	0.173(0.024)	0.171 (0.023)	0.173(0.023)	0.254(0.053)	0.271 (0.061)	0.195(0.032)	0.197(0.030)
β	0.827 (0.025)	0.825(0.025)	0.828 (NA)	0.826 (NA)	0.857 (0.021)	0.852 (0.020)	0.839 (0.049)	0.837 (0.027)
λ.					-0.141(0.073)	-0.136(0.071)	-0.073(0.041)	-0.073 (0.032)
shape	3.385 (0.240)	3.401 (0.242)	3.377 (0.191)	3.393 (0.193)	2.517 (0.216)	2.473 (0.218)	3.417 (0.284)	3.441 (0.246)
skewness		0.951 (0.030)		0.951(0.030)		0.930(0.027)		0.951(0.030)
LogLikelihood	-3333.9	-3332.6	-3333.7	-3332.4	-3315.8	-3313.3	-3331.4	-3330.2
AIC	5.035	5.034	5.033	5.033	5.009	5.007	5.033	5.032
Ripple (XRP)								
a_0	-0.256(0.067)	-0.161(0.083)	-0.256(0.067)	-0.162(0.082)	-0.220(0.054)	-0.117(0.041)	-0.250 (0.068)	-0.156(0.083)
a_1	0.001 (0.028)	0.001 (0.029)	0.001 (0.028)	0.001 (0.028)	-0.011 (0.028)	-0.098 (0.028)	0.004 (0.028)	0.005 (0.028)
<i>a</i> 2	-0.040(0.023)	-0.035(0.025)	-0.040(0.022)	-0.035(0.025)	-0.047(0.017)	-0.042(0.025)	-0.041(0.023)	-0.035(0.025)
θ	1.940(0.776)	1.843(0.766)	1.932 (0.671)	1.834(0.663)	0.617(0.196)	0.632 (0.201)	2.033 (0.806)	1.933(0.808)
x	0.375 (0.072)	0.364 (0.073)	0.374(0.071)	0.364(0.072)	0.640(0.140)	0.634 (0.139)	0.425 (0.092)	0.411(0.095)
β	0.623(0.080)	0.634(0.081)	0.624 (NA)	0.635 (NA)	0.625 (0.051)	0.620(0.053)	0.615(0.081)	0.627 (0.084)
λ					-0.055(0.064)	-0.061 (0.064)	-0.083(0.041)	-0.077 (0.032)
shape	3.025 (0.184)	3.036 (0.187)	3.023 (0.152)	3.034 (0.154)	2.370 (0.163)	2.383 (0.165)	3.014(0.184)	3.021 (0.187)
skewness		1.062(0.032)		1.062 (0.032)		1.057 (0.026)		1.062(0.032)
LogLikelihood	-3778.7	-3776.7	-3778.6	-3776.6	-3759.5	-3757.8	-3778.1	-3776.2
V L								

Cont.
A1.
Table

	$\operatorname{GARCH}_{\sim t}$	$\operatorname{GARCH}_{\sim}\operatorname{Skewed} t$	IGARCH $\sim t$	${f IGARCH}\sim{f Skewed}~t$	${ m TGARCH} \sim t$	${ m TGARCH}\sim{ m Skewed}t$	GJR- $GARCH\sim t$	$ m GJR-GARCH \sim Skewed t$
Litecoin (LTC) a ₀ a ₁	$-0.027 (0.034) \\ -0.084 (0.024)$	0.043 (0.055) -0.083 (0.022)	$-0.027 (0.044) \\ -0.084 (0.022)$	0.043 (0.055) -0.083 (0.022)	$-0.028 (0.040) \\ -0.086 (0.021)$	0.046 (0.054) -0.081 (0.022)	- 0.021 (0.044) -0.086 (0.022)	0.054 (0.055) -0.083 (0.022)
<i>a</i> ₂	-0.057 (0.021)	-0.076 (0.021)	-0.075 (0.021)	-0.076(0.021)	-0.071(0.021)	-0.072(0.021)	-0.075(0.021)	-0.074(0.020)
θ	0.181(0.087)	0.182(0.085)	0.179(0.081)	0.180(0.081)	0.126 (0.058)	0.125(0.059)	0.139(0.070)	0.146(0.071)
s o	0.115 (0.027)	0.115 (0.020)	0.116 (0.018)	0.116 (0.019)	0.448 (0.066)	0.421 (0.095)	0.139 (0.024)	0.143 (0.026)
д L	(96U.U) 2882U	0.883 (0.020)	U.883 (INA)	(NA) (NA)	-0.158(0.086)	(1.000) (0.001) (0.087)	-0.083(0.023)	-0.086(0.024)
shape	2.677 (0.119)	2.679 (0.118) 1.063 (0.030)	2.670 (0.075)	2.672 (0.075) 1.063 (0.030)	2.102 (0.006)	2.117(0.038) 1.056(0.028)	2.639 (0.114)	2.631 (0.114) 1.067 (0.031)
LogLikelihood	-3610.6	-3608.4	-3610.4	-3608.1	-3588.6	-3586.5	-3604.0	-3601.5
AIC Stellar (XLM)	5.452	5.450	5.450	5.448	5.420	5.419	5.444	5.441
a ₀	-0.407 (0.089)	-0.162(0.111)	-0.407 (0.089)	-0.162(0.111)	-0.385(0.074)	-0.098(0.040)	-0.384(0.090)	-0.140(0.113)
a_1	-0.156(0.028)	-0.162(0.028)	-0.156 (0.028)	-0.162(0.028)	-0.157(0.025)	-0.157(0.041)	-0.154(0.028)	-0.156(0.028)
<i>a</i> 2	-0.061(0.025)	-0.056(0.024)	-0.061(0.025)	-0.056(0.024)	-0.062(0.028)	-0.048 (0.019)	-0.057(0.025)	-0.050(0.025)
ω	3.069(1.197)	3.046(1.101)	3.057 (1.127)	3.037 (1.071)	0.490(0.179)	0.474 (0.158)	3.395 (1.246)	3.377 (1.174)
α	0.272 (0.058)	0.267 (0.056)	0.272 (0.055)	0.268(0.051)	0.305 (0.065)	0.271 (0.054)	0.341 (0.080)	0.332 (0.080)
β	0.726 (0.058)	0.731 (0.052)	0.727 (NA)	0.731 (NA)	0.760 (0.048)	0.775 (0.043)	0.711 (0.056)	0.718 (0.051)
λ					-0.195(0.086)	-0.222 (0.089)	-0.106 (0.074)	-0.097(0.073)
shape	3.073 (0.215)	3.090 (0.224) 1 111 (0.020)	3.069 (0.167)	3.086 (0.170) 1 141 (0.030)	2.738 (0.225)	2.852 (0.244) 1 145 (0.033)	3.043 (0.217)	3.046 (0.224) 1 138 (0.030)
LogLikelihood	-4243.1	-4235.6	-4243.1	-4235.5	-4237.9	-4230.5	-4241.9	-4243.5
AIC	6.405	6.395	6.404	6.394	6.399	6.389	6.405	6.395
Monero (XMR)								
a_0	-0.064 (0.127)	0.153 (0.154)	-0.067 (0.126)	0.152 (0.155)	-0.021 (0.127)	0.218 (0.106)	-0.031 (0.130)	0.183 (0.156)
a_1	-0.044(0.025)	-0.044(0.024)	-0.044(0.026)	-0.044(0.026)	-0.054(0.027)	-0.053(0.025)	-0.044(0.026)	-0.043(0.028)
<i>a</i> ₂	-0.024 (0.026)	-0.023 (0.026)	-0.024 (0.026)	-0.023 (0.025)	-0.031 (0.026)	-0.027 (0.023)	-0.024 (0.025)	-0.021(0.026)
ω	3.852 (1.275)	3.633 (1.232)	3.810 (1.271)	3.570 (1.228)	0.601 (0.181)	0.569(0.177)	3.838 (1.265)	3.655 (1.235)
ĸ	0.235 (0.053)	0.224 (0.051)	0.244(0.042)	0.236 (0.042)	0.199(0.036)	0.193(0.035)	0.265 (0.064)	0.255 (0.063)
β	0.754 (0.042)	0.762 (0.042)	0.755 (NA)	0.763 (NA)	0.785 (0.039) 	0.794 (0.038) 	0.756 (0.042) 	0.764 (0.042)

Cont.
A1.
Table

	$\operatorname{GARCH}_{\sim t}$	$ m GARCH \sim Skewed t$	IGARCH $\sim t$	$ m IGARCH \sim Skewed t$	$\mathrm{TGARCH} \sim t$	TGARCH \sim Skewed t	GJR-GARCH $\sim t$	$ m GJR$ -GARCH \sim Skewed t
shape skew	3.420 (0.365)	$3.486\ (0.374)$ $1.094\ (0.039)$	3.358 (0.254)	3.395(0.264) 1.094(0.039)	3.432 (0.365)	3.487 (0.371) 1.104 (0.036)	3.448 (0.371)	3.503(0.378) 1.094(0.039)
LogLikelihood	-4324.1	-4320.9	-4326.7	-4322.9	-4324.1	-4321.0	-4323.2	-4320.1
AIC Dash (DASH)	6.527	6.524	6.533	6.529	6.526	6.523	6.527	6.524
an an	-0.057 (0.094)	0.166 (0.116)	-0.057 (0.044)	0.166 (0.166)	-0.089 (0.063)	0.103 (0.069)	-0.074 (0.095)	0.144 (0.116)
о и1	-0.058(0.028)	-0.049 (0.028)	-0.057(0.028)	-0.049(0.028)	-0.061 (0.024)	-0.062(0.020)	-0.058(0.027)	-0.052(0.027)
<i>a</i> ₂	-0.055(0.026)	-0.055(0.026)	-0.055 (0.026)	-0.055(0.026)	-0.065(0.020)	-0.064(0.017)	-0.054(0.026)	-0.055(0.026)
θ	2.779 (0.814)	2.616 (0.770)	2.777 (0.809)	2.615 (0.770)	0.481(0.140)	0.448(0.130)	2.680 (0.788)	2.486 (0.734)
α	0.290 (0.058)	0.275 (0.056)	0.291 (0.045)	0.276(0.043)	0.292(0.047)	0.268 (0.042)	0.244 (0.054)	0.227(0.051)
β	$0.708\ (0.045)$	0.723 (0.043)	0.708 (NA)	0.723 (NA)	0.741(0.040)	0.755 (0.038)	0.711 (0.044)	0.725(0.042)
λ					-0.141(0.073)	-0.136(0.071)	-0.073(0.041)	-0.073 (0.032)
shape	3.313 (0.293)	3.342 (0.309)	3.309 (0.226)	3.336 (0.292)	3.147 (0.296)	3.246 (0.313)	3.367 (0.292)	3.419(0.310)
skew		1.127(0.039)		1.127(0.039)		1.118(0.035)		1.129(0.039)
LogLikelihood	-4071.2	-4065.3	-4071.2	-4070.6	-4069.1	-4064.0	-4070.3	-4064.3
AIČ	6.145	6.139	6.145	6.140	6.145	6.138	6.146	6.139
Bytecoin (BCN)								
a_0	-0.015(0.147)	0.184 (0.180)	-0.011(0.145)	0.199 (0.182)	0.049 (0.147)	0.308 (1.002)	-0.009(0.149)	0.203 (0.183)
a_1	-0.221(0.028)	-0.220(0.028)	-0.221(0.028)	-0.220(0.028)	-0.240(0.027)	-0.235(0.026)	-0.221(0.028)	-0.219 (0.028)
<i>a</i> 2	-0.034(0.026)	-0.033 (0.026)	-0.034 (0.025)	-0.034(0.026)	-0.038 (0.025)	-0.036(0.143)	-0.034(0.026)	-0.033(0.026)
ω	8.810 (2.772)	8.472 (2.630)	8.972 (3.038)	8.589 (2.891)	0.829(0.255)	0.794 (0.244)	8.795 (2.754)	8.496 (2.610)
α	0.199(0.052)	0.193(0.050)	0.242(0.045)	0.237(0.044)	0.169(0.034)	0.167 (0.039)	0.205 (0.059)	0.207 (0.059)
β	0.759(0.046)	0.764 (0.044)	0.757 (NA)	0.762 (NA)	0.806(0.039)	0.810(0.038)	0.760 (0.045)	0.765(0.043)
λ.					-0.159 (0.120)	-0.197(0.161)	-0.016 (0.066)	-0.033 (0.064)
shape	3.290 (0.336)	3.345 (0.350)	3.045 (0.198)	3.075 (0.204)	3.346(0.340)	3.398 (0.363)	3.294 (0.337)	3.351 (0.352)
skew		1.065(0.034)		1.064(0.034)		1.078(0.117)		1.067(0.035)
LogLikelihood	-4737.8	-4735.9	-4738.3	-4736.5	-4738.3	-4735.8	-4737.8	-4736.8
AIC	7.151	7.149	7.150	7.149	7.153	7.151	7.152	7.152
	Estime	tion results of varic	ous GARCH volatili	ty models with t an	d Skewed t errors f	or the cryptocurren	icies	
	are rep	orted in this Table.]	For each parameter,	we report the stand	ard errors in parent	heses and bold indic	ates	
	crypto	uncance at 37% and currencies.	1 % levels. Tigner I	-одгикешпооа апа	JOWET AIC INUICAN	e une pest III mode	I IOF	

References

- Ali, Ghulam. 2013. EGARCH, GJR-GARCH, TGARCH, AVGARCH, NGARCH, IGARCH and APARCH models for pathogens at marine recreational sites. *Journal of Statistical and Econometric Methods* 2: 57–73.
- Andersen, Torben G., Luca Benzoni, and Jesper Lund. 2002. An empirical investigation of continuous-time equity return models. *Journal of Finance* 57: 1239–84. [CrossRef]
- Angelidis, Timotheos, Alexandros Benos, and Stavros Degiannakis. 2004. The use of GARCH models in VaR estimation. *Statistical Methodology* 1: 105–28. [CrossRef]
- Ardia, David, Keven Bluteau, and Maxime Rüede. 2019. Regime changes in Bitcoin GARCH volatility Dynamics. *Finance Research Letters* 29: 266–71. [CrossRef]
- Bakshi, Gurdip, Charles Cao, and Zhiwu Chen. 1997. Empirical performance of alternative option pricing models. Journal of Finance 52: 583–602 [CrossRef]
- Bariviera, Aurelio F., Maria José Basgall, Waldo Hasperué, and Marcelo Naiouf. 2017. Some stylized facts of the Bitcoin market. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications* 484: 82–90. [CrossRef]
- Barone-Adesi, Giovanni, Kostas Giannopoulos, and Les Vosper. 1999. VaR without Correlations for Nonlinear Portfolios. *Journal of Futures Markets* 19: 583–602. [CrossRef]
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 2013. Fundamental Review of the Trading Book: A Revised Market Risk Framework. Second Consultative Paper. Switzerland: Bank for International Settlement.
- Bates, David. 1996. Jump and Stochastic Volatility: Exchange Rate Processes Implicit in Deutsche Mark Options. The Review of Financial Studies 9: 69–107. [CrossRef]
- Bauwens, Luc, and Sébastien Laurent. 2005. A New Class of Multivariate Skew Densities, With Application to Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity Models. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics* 23: 346–54.
- Bernanke, Ben S. 2008. Risk management in financial institutions. Presented at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago's Annual Conference on Bank Structure and Competition, Chicago, IL, USA, May 15.
- Brownlees, Christian T., and Robert F. Engle. 2012. Volatility, Correlation and Tails for Systemic Risk Measurement. Working Paper, NYU, New York, NY, USA. Available online: http://https://www.semanticscholar.org/ paper (accessed on 12 February 2019).
- Caporale, Guglielmo, and Timur Zeokokh. 2019. Modelling volatility of cryptocurrencies using Markov-Switching GARCH models. *Research in International Business and Finance* 48: 143–55. [CrossRef]
- Chan, Stephen, Jeffrey Chu, Saralees Nadarajah, and Joerg Osterrieder. 2017. A statistical analysis of cryptocurrencies. *Journal of Risk Financial Management* 10: 2–32. [CrossRef]
- Christoffersen, Peter F. 1998. Evaluating Interval Forecasts. International Economic Review 39: 841-62. [CrossRef]
- Danielsson, Jon, and Yuji Morimoto. 2000. Forecasting Extreme Financial Risk: A Critical Analysis of Practical Methods for the Japanese Market. *Monetary and Economic Studies* 18: 25–48.
- Danielsson, Jon, Kevin R. James, Marcela Valenzuela, and Ilknur Zer. 2016. Model risk of risk models. *Journal of Financial Stability* 23: 79–91. [CrossRef]
- Duffie, Darrell, Jun Pan, and Kenneth Singleton. 2000. Transform analysis and asset pricing for affine jump-diffusions. *Econometrica* 68: 1343–76. [CrossRef]
- Efron, Bradley, and Robert J. Tibshirani. 1994. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. New York: Chapman & Hall/CRC, pp. 141–152.
- Eraker, Bjørn, Michael Johannes, and Nicholas Polson. 2003. The impact of jumps in volatility and returns. *Journal* of Finance 59: 227–60. [CrossRef]
- Glosten, Lawrence R., Ravi Jaganathan, and David E. Runkle. 1993. On the relation between the expected value and the volatility of the normal excess return on stocks. *Journal of Finance* 48: 1779–801. [CrossRef]
- Heston, Steven L. 1993. A Closed-Form Solution of Options with Stochastic Volatility with Applications to Bond and Currency Options. *The Review of Financial Studies* 6: 327–43. [CrossRef]
- Jorion, Philippe. 2000. Risk Management Lessons from Long-Term Capital Management. European Financial Management 6: 277–300. [CrossRef]

J.P.Morgan/Reuters. 1996. RiskMetrics-Technical Document, 4th ed. New York: J.P.Morgan/Reuters.

Maheu, John M., and Thomas H. McCurdy. 2004. News Arrival, Jump Dynamics, and Volatility Components for Individual Stock Returns. *The Journal of Finance* 59: 755–93. [CrossRef]

- McNeil, Alexander J., Rúdiger Frey, and Paul Embrechts. 2005. *Quantitative Risk Management*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Pan, Jun. 2002. The jump-risk premia implicit in options: Evidence from an integrated time-series study. Journal of Financial Economics 63: 3–50. [CrossRef]
- Sarma, Mandira, Susan Thomas, and Ajay Shah. 2003. Selection of Value-at-Risk models. *Journal of Forecasting* 22: 337–58. [CrossRef]
- Segnon, Mawuli, and Stelios Bekiros. 2019. Forecasting Volatility in Cryptocurrency Markets. CQE Working Papers 7919. Münster: Center for Quantitative Economics (CQE), University of Muenster. Available online: www.uni-munster.de (accessed on 12 February 2019).
- Su, Jung-Bin, and Jui-Cheng Hung. 2011. Empirical analysis of jump dynamics, heavy-tails and skewness on value-at-risk estimation. *Economic Modelling* 28: 1117–30. [CrossRef]
- Ze-To, Samuel Y. M. 2012. Crisis, Value at Risk and Conditional Extreme Value Theory via the NIG + Jump Model. Journal of Mathematical Finance 2: 225–37. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Projects: A Study of Key Performance Indicators in Terms of DeFi Protocols' Valuations

Dominik Metelski^{1,*} and Janusz Sobieraj²

- ¹ Department of International and Spanish Economics, Faculty of Economics and Business Sciences, University of Granada, 18071 Granada, Spain
- ² Department of Building Engineering, Warsaw University of Technology, 00-637 Warsaw, Poland

Correspondence: dominik@correo.ugr.es

Abstract: Decentralized finance (DeFi) protocols use blockchain-based tools to mimic banking, investment and trading solutions and provide a viable framework that creates incentives and conditions for the development of an alternative financial services market. In this respect, they can be seen as alternative financial vehicles that mitigate portfolio risk, which is particularly important at a time of increasing uncertainty in financial markets. In particular, some DeFi protocols offer an automated, low-risk way to generate returns through a "delta-neutral" trading strategy that reduces volatility. The main financial operations of DeFi protocols are implemented using appropriate algorithms, but unlike traditional finance, where issues of value and valuation are commonplace, DeFis lack a similar value-based analysis. The aim of this study is to evaluate relevant DeFi performance metrics related to the valuations of these protocols through a thorough analysis based on various scientific methods and to show what influences the valuations of these protocols. More specifically, the study identifies how DeFi protocol valuations depend on the total value locked and other performance variables, such as protocol revenue, total revenue, gross merchandise volume and inflation factor, and assesses these relationships. The study analyzes the valuations of 30 selected protocols representing three different classes of DeFi (i.e., decentralized exchanges, lending protocols and asset management) in relation to their respective performance measures. The analysis presented in the article is quantitative in nature and relies on Granger causality tests as well as the results of a fixed effects panel regression model. The results show that the valuations of DeFi protocols depend to some extent on the performance measures of these protocols under study, although the magnitude of the relationships and their directions differ for the different variables. The Granger causality test could not confirm that future DeFi protocol valuations can be effectively predicted by the TVLs of these protocols, while other directions of causality (one-way and two-way) were confirmed, e.g., a two-way causal relationship between DeFi protocol valuations and gross merchandise volume, which turned out to be the only variable that Granger-causes future DeFi protocol valuations.

Keywords: decentralized finance; DeFi; blockchain technology; total value locked; TVL; gross merchandise volume; panel data analysis; granger-causality

1. Introduction

Despite the widespread use of the internet over the past 30 years and its numerous applications, it has definitely not lived up to the expectations in terms of the development of the financial industry, especially considering the dynamics of change versus technological progress (Abdulhakeem and Hu 2021; Harwick and Caton 2020). Moreover, despite widespread access to the internet, there are still about 1.7 billion people in the world who are bank-excluded, i.e., have no access to bank accounts at all. At least that is what a report by the World Bank Group says (Abdulhakeem and Hu 2021). Even with a relevant number of innovative institutions such as investment banking and fintechs, the biggest shortcoming of the financial sector remains its heavy concentration and centralization.

Citation: Metelski, Dominik, and Janusz Sobieraj. 2022. Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Projects: A Study of Key Performance Indicators in Terms of DeFi Protocols' Valuations. International Journal of Financial Studies 10: 108. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijfs10040108

Academic Editors: Than Ngo, Aviral Kumar, Tu Le and Marwa Elnahass

Received: 3 August 2022 Accepted: 21 November 2022 Published: 25 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). A breakthrough in this regard—raising hopes for a progressive decentralization of the entire financial system—only came with the development of blockchain technology and the innovations associated with this revolutionary technology (Sobieraj 2019; Abdulhakeem and Hu 2021). It should be emphasised that blockchain itself as a technology enables peer-to-peer transactions without intermediaries and any centralization (Swan 2015; Sobieraj 2019; Saengchote 2021; Almeida and Gonçalves 2022; Xu and Xu 2022).

With the development of the Blockchain, an entire ecosystem of financial applications has also emerged, built on the Blockchain network, using crypto tokens and smart contracts, and offering transparent financial services without intermediaries (Caldarelli and Ellul 2021; Grassi et al. 2022). This entire ecosystem has been named DeFi, from decentralized finance (Stepanova and Eriņš 2021). DeFi implies that financial services should be provided by users themselves to other users (Schueffel 2021). In short, this is made possible by using software components for a decentralized peer-to-peer system on the blockchain (Schueffel 2021). As Zetzsche et al. (2020) note, DeFi protocols and platforms are some of the most widely discussed new technological developments in global finance today. They are trustless and based on transparent solutions (Caldarelli and Ellul 2021). Saengchote (2021) notes that the existence of DeFi protocols offers many advantages. One of the most valuable, in his opinion, is composability, i.e., that different protocols can freely interact with each other to form new services.

This study addresses some basic metrics that allow DeFi protocols to be compared in terms of their basic analytical performance. One of these metrics is the Total Value Locked (TVL), which defines the DeFi market and indicates how much money is locked in a given DeFi protocol. Since there are different types of DeFi protocols in the DeFi market (e.g., decentralized exchanges, lending protocols, asset management, etc.), TVL represents different things for different types of DeFis. To illustrate what exactly TVL is, it is therefore useful to use a concrete example. Assuming that we are referring to lending protocols, the TVL associated with such DeFi platforms can be explained as the funds held as collateral for the loans taken out. More precisely, it is the total value of DeFi tokens staked on the blockchain as collateral.

The design of the study is very simple. We examine the relationship between DeFi protocol valuations and a whole set of financial metrics (variables) commonly used to compare the performance of these protocols. In reviewing the literature (Table A1 in Appendix A), there are not that many studies that address this issue. Admittedly, there are quite a number of studies on the emerging DeFi market. However, they mostly address the same, highly theoretical issues, i.e., the challenges, benefits and potential of the DeFi ecosystem (Abdulhakeem and Hu 2021; Werner et al. 2021; Calcaterra and Kaal 2021; Makarov and Schoar 2022), primitives, types of operational protocols and safety (Werner et al. 2021; Sun et al. 2021; Kitzler et al. 2021; Caldarelli and Ellul 2021), problems and risks associated with the formation of DeFi markets (including market manipulation, distorting incentives, excessive short-termism, Ponzi schemes and money laundering) (Chohan 2021; Schär 2021; Sun et al. 2021; Caldarelli and Ellul 2021; Bekemeier 2021), comparisons between the DeFi market and the CeFi market (Qin et al. 2021b), and inefficiencies of the DeFi market (Momtaz 2022). There are also few studies that rely on robust statistical models, and those that have been conducted relate exclusively to the most popular performance indicator, namely TVL (as if this were the only indicator that tracks the performance of DeFi protocols), alternatively to investor attention (Corbet et al. 2022; Şoiman et al. 2022) or to the association of the performance of DeFi protocols with traditional cryptocurrencies (Corbet et al. 2021; Dahlberg and Dabaja 2021; Maouchi et al. 2022; Schär 2021; Soiman et al. 2022; Yousaf et al. 2022). There is also a study that refers to the returns of DeFi protocols (Soiman et al. 2022). The literature also contains very focused studies that address specific issues related to DeFi protocols, such as the study on the nature of user behavior (Green et al. 2022) or the studies on explosive dynamics (Corbet et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2022). In contrast, there is a distinct lack of research addressing the issue of protocol valuation and how it depends on relevant financial variables. Indeed, Kaal et al. (2022) and Brucker (2022) point to the lack of such

studies and the need for research to better understand digital asset valuations, including DeFi protocols in particular. Our study attempts to fill this gap. More specifically, the study examines how the valuations of individual DeFi projects depend on their TVL and a number of other important metrics characterizing individual DeFi projects, such as protocol revenue, total revenue, gross merchandise volume, and DeFi tokens' inflation factor, etc.

Furthermore, the study shows a difference between different DeFi protocols' classes (i.e., decentralized exchanges, lending protocols and asset management). Finally, the study also highlights some similarities between DeFi and conventional finance—in terms of the relevant valuation metrics considered in this study (and their counterparts in traditional finance). This knowledge leads to a better understanding of DeFi markets that are only in their early stages of emergence. We note that there is a lot of research on DeFi, but there is a lack of solid, model-based econometric research explaining the specificity and relevant properties of this market from a financial analysis perspective.

As for the contribution, the study shows that there are a number of different metrics that go beyond the most well-known TVL. Knowing these metrics allows for a better understanding of the DeFi market and a more in-depth evaluation of DeFi protocols. In the article, we analyze the valuations in the context of these metrics and provide a set of definitions. Among other things, we point out that besides TVL, another metric that seems to be widely underestimated is gross merchandise volume (GMV), which is the total value of sales and has gained popularity in the analysis of internet companies and especially e-commerce platforms (Yan et al. 2017; Prokhorova 2020; Sharma 2021). We also note that there are several categories of DeFi protocols that differ from each other. For example, they show different tolerance to changes in TVL (which is shown in a simple experiment where valuations are regressed on TVL values). All in all, the work is quantitative in nature and in it we use different research methods (correlation analysis, Granger-causality, and panel data analyses) that lend themselves to the analysis of associations between the type of data used in the study.

The structure of this article is as follows. First, we provide an overview of the literature to date, outlining the current state of academic knowledge on decentralized finance. We then present a methodology and model that explains the relationship between the valuations of DeFi protocols. Finally, we describe the results obtained, provide a discussion, and present conclusions from the conducted research.

2. Characteristic of the DeFi Market

There is currently a growing global interest in the digital economy, with a particular focus on blockchain technology. Decentralized finance is one of the leading current trends related to blockchain technology (Stepanova and Eriņš 2021). DeFi offers exciting possibilities, i.e., it consists of many highly interoperable protocols and applications. The advantage of DeFi over traditional finance of centralised finance (CeFi) is that all transactions can be independently verified by anyone due to the easy accessibility of data to users. DeFi platforms work as decentralized applications with smart contracts implemented on the blockchain (distributed ledger technology). As an emerging technology, they have the potential to disrupt the entire financial sector in the future (Soiman et al. 2022). Schär (2021) sketched a picture of the DeFi market with a special focus on the opportunities this market offers and the potential risks of the DeFi ecosystem. According to the author, the DeFi market currently has a niche character, but could offer a more transparent, open and stable financial infrastructure in the future due to some of its specific features, i.e., easy accessibility, transparency, efficiency, and composition.

The decentralized nature of smart contract applications (based on distributed ledgers) provides these systems with a properly managed settlement layer. DeFi's blockchain-based ecosystem architecture enables the creation of many innovative products, e.g., decentralized equivalents of traditional financial instruments, but also completely novel instruments that did not exist before. Examples include decentralized stablecoins, flash loans (Qin et al. 2021a; Chohan 2021), autonomous liquidity pools (Schär 2021; Borisov 2022) or atomic

swaps (Tefagh et al. 2020; Reiter 2022). All this makes the potential of DeFi enormous. For example, flash loans are a unique concept related to blockchain and DeFi, offering the ability to borrow hundreds of millions of dollars without putting up any collateral. However, the caveat (limitation) is that such an operation (transaction) must be completed in a single block. This gives an opportunity to borrow unlimited funds, provided that such a flash loan is repaid immediately after all sets of operations have been completed in one full transaction.

Below is a diagram of the layers of the DeFi market (also known as the DeFi stack), which gives a better understanding of the nature of this market (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. DeFi stack.

It is also worth pointing out some significant risks and weaknesses associated with DeFi technology. There are at least several of them. The most serious relate primarily to the safety of users of this technology, with unintended use and the oracle problem (Caldarelli and Ellul 2021) cited among the greatest threats. The latter is a problem arising from the system's reliance on external data sources to properly update smart contracts (e.g., clearing issues). These problems are discussed in great detail in the work of Caldarelli and Ellul (2021), among others. In the same vein, Chohan (2021) points to a number of problems associated with the emergence of the DeFi sector, namely various types of security risks that prevent the wider adoption of DeFi, such as distorting incentives, market manipulations, Ponzi schemes or money laundering practices. One such Ponzi scheme turned out to be the Terra-LUNA project, which collapsed spectacularly in just one week in early May 2022. The crypto community is still struggling with the aftermath of the billion-dollar collapse of Terra LUNA. Within a week, around \$45 billion of the market capitalization of UST and Luna was completely wiped out of the market.

It is important to note that the empirical research and literature on DeFi is not yet as extensive as that on cryptocurrencies. However, there are some interesting studies that deserve to be mentioned. For example, Gudgeon et al. (2020) have presented evidence of the inefficiency of DeFi tokens in relation to their liquidity, market efficiency and interest rates. Werner et al. (2021) characterize the DeFi market in the context of operational protocol types, its overall ecosystem primitives and its security concerns. Zetzsche et al. (2020) have analyzed the development potential of the DeFi market in relation to its security, threats, risk control and regulatory needs. The authors emphasize the need for efficient design of regulatory issues, which in their view should include their embedding in the DeFi protocols themselves, i.e., through algorithmization in smart contracts. According to these authors, the biggest threat to the DeFi market is the risk that the traditional form of accountability will be challenged by decentralization, potentially compromising the effectiveness of enforcement of traditional financial regulations. Harwick and Caton (2020)

note that if decentralized, autonomous finance is to be taken seriously in the financial world, it must begin to integrate identity with the real world.

Among the benefits that DeFi protocols can offer are, for example, a much wider range of financial services, lower costs of the services offered, as well as the business model itself, which operates at a lower operating cost, and finally the obtaining of greater privacy (Soiman et al. 2022). DeFi offers easy access to services (pseudo-anonymity). Furthermore, it makes use of multiple technological layers (Katona 2021). Stepanova and Eriņš (2021) provided an overview of the capabilities, advantages and disadvantages of DeFi projects/protocols, analyzing and discussing the 12 most popular DeFi applications, and relying on the TVL metric.

For a more detailed characterization of the DeFi market, it is worth reaching for the work of Harwick and Caton (2020), Schär (2021), Stepanova and Eriņš (2021), Zetzsche et al. (2020), among others. In terms of the technology itself and business models, DeFi protocols are based on smart contracts and implement decentralized management. What is also important is that DeFi platforms use multiple technology layers, which provides opportunities to easily combine existing applications and create new innovative solutions (Katona 2021; Popescu 2020; Soiman et al. 2022). Soiman et al. (2022) note that DeFi tokens share a number of similarities with ICO tokens and, like the latter, can serve many different functions depending on the needs of the platform, e.g., they can be traded on platforms, held for profit, but they can also provide access to various products or services. The functions of DeFi platforms (protocols) can be very complex and play different roles, e.g., they offer the possibility to trade digital assets, lend digital tokens and earn interest, trade derivatives, buy insurance and more (Coinbase 2022). An important and growing application of DeFi protocols are stablecoins, which are tokens that attempt to tie their market value to an external reference asset, such as fiat currencies. Examples of such stablecoins are Tether (USDT), USD Coin (USDC), Dai (DAI), Binance USD (BUSD), Pax Dollar (USDP), TrueUSD (TUSD), and Digix Gold Token (DGX).

Examples of the different roles/functions that DeFi protocols can fulfil are (1) utility tokens that provide access to platform services and can be used to regulate payments for services offered on such DeFi platforms (such utility tokens are payable in relation to such services); (2) governance tokens (examples are year.finance or Maker Protocol) that allow users to benefit from the development of the platforms. Such tokens are similar to equity shares in public companies; (3) stablecoins, whose price is linked to other more stable currencies; (4) liquidity provider tokens (LPTs), which increase the liquidity of decentralized exchanges (DEXes); and (5) collateral tokens, which facilitate transactions in lending protocols. These can be stablecoins, for example, but also LPTs or even non-fungible tokens (NFTs).

Qin et al. (2021b) point out that unlike traditional finance, in the case of DeFi, the blockchain technology (on which DeFi is based) ensures an adequate integrity, transparency and control of the entire system. In contrast to conventional cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoin or Ethereum, which are touted as alternative money and payment solutions, DeFi protocols offer an alternative to banking and investment services (Zetzsche and Anker-Sorensen 2021; Şoiman et al. 2022). Aramonte et al. (2021) point out the differences between DeFi and traditional finance. More specifically, DeFi protocols are different in terms of the functionalities they offer. DeFi operates on different principles than traditional finance, including the use of digital collateral instead of physical collateral (Aramonte et al. 2021). Digital assets used as collateral in DeFi protocols include cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoins, Ethereum or Non-Fungible Tokens (NFTs). DeFi market participants who use their funds in lending protocols can book interest gains and, in return, borrowers can reinvest borrowed assets in other platforms and projects (Corbet et al. 2021). Furthermore, Qin et al. (2021b) and Saengchote (2021) highlight another important feature of DeFi, namely the significantly higher returns on financial assets that DeFi protocols offer.

It is also worth noting that not everyone shares the optimism related to DeFi development. For example, Momtaz (2022) examined the efficiency and role of intermediation in a large segment of DeFi, with particular attention to the theory of search. More specifically, to search-related frictions, which, according to this theory, offset to some extent the efficiency gains attributed to lower transaction costs through blockchain and smart contracts. Viewed through the lens of Walrasian equilibrium, search constraints in the DeFi market reduce society's wealth by almost half, which is why DeFi appears to be relatively inefficient, according to the authors.

3. Empirical Background

In-depth econometric analyses arising from robust models provide great opportunities to assess the relationships between different types of data. In the case of DeFi, unfortunately, there is a lot of data available, while there are few such studies. For example, Corbet et al. (2021) examined DeFi markets for explosive dynamics (bubbles), relying on the Supremum Augmented Dickey-Fuller (Sobieraj and Metelski 2021) and the modified Hacker-Hatemi-J Wald method, as well as the Diebold-Yilmaz return and volatility spillover analysis. Interestingly, their results showed the presence of bubbles in the valuations of DeFi protocols in Q3 2021, while it is worth noting here that the TVL peak in the DeFi market was reached in early December 2021. A similar study was later conducted by Wang et al. (2022) and also showed the existence of bubbles in the DeFi market. Thus, it can be seen that SADF and GSADF tests for price exaggeration (explosiveness) detection can serve as a tool to effectively monitor this market. In another study, Corbet et al. (2022) used the Mackey-Glass causality test and Markov regime switching vector autoregression analysis to investigate what drives DeFi prices and the impact of investor attention. Green et al. (2022) used survival analysis, more specifically Kaplan-Meier survival curves and Cox hazard regression, to assess usage and risk patterns within the AAVE protocol, which is one of the largest lending protocols within DeFi.

Interestingly, regarding the specifics of the bubbles in DeFi tokens, Corbet et al. (2021) have shown that they are self-generated and that the catalyst for their acceleration is associated conventional cryptocurrencies, mainly Ether and Bitcoin. On the other hand, an analysis of the comovement between DeFi tokens and cryptocurrencies has shown that DeFi tokens should not be placed in the same asset class as conventional cryptocurrencies. In this context, they are a separate asset class (Maouchi et al. 2022; Corbet et al. 2021; Schär 2021; Soiman et al. 2022; Yousaf et al. 2022), although they are strongly linked to cryptocurrencies. The study by Corbet et al. (2021) also shows that, given the returns and volatility, it is not the leading cryptocurrencies Bitcoin and Ethereum, but rather Chainlink (LINK) and Maker (MKR) that have a significant impact on DeFi tokens and contribute to bubbles in this market.

Zmaznev (2021) investigated the negative impact of regulatory uncertainty shocks on the TVL in DeFi smart contracts using a structural VAR model. Overall, the response is negative for the leading DeFi categories (decentralized exchanges, lending protocols). However, the author emphasises that uncertainty contributes to the TVL in derivatives and payment protocols.

As with traditional cryptocurrencies (Bitcoin, Ethereum), the extremely dynamic development of the DeFi market in its initial phase was influenced by the so-called network effect (i.e., the capture of user acceptance) (Liu and Tsyvinski 2021; Cong et al. 2021; Ante 2020; Şoiman et al. 2022). Typically, network effects consist of an exponential growth of people joining a particular protocol, making a particular DeFi token more useful and valuable. Each additional user of DeFi tokens makes them more valuable to all other players at a rapid pace (Alabi 2017; Wheatley et al. 2019).

Another study worth mentioning is the work of <u>Soiman et al.</u> (2022), who conducted an analysis of the determinants of DeFi market returns. In their study, they considered four important factors that can affect the returns of this market, namely (1) the relationship of DeFi tokens to the cryptocurrency market, (2) network factors, (3) investor attention, and (4) the TVL-to-market valuation ratio. The study by <u>Soiman et al.</u> (2022) highlights the importance of TVL, which is a measure of the amount of funding allocated to DeFi projects, while illustrating the extent of the growth and performance of this market.

4. Total Value Locked

Total value locked is the value of assets deposited in a project's smart contracts (Zakieh et al. 2022). In addition to the valuations themselves (i.e., the capitalization of individual projects and the market as a whole), TVL is one of the cryptocurrency indicators that DeFi market investors use to evaluate the projects they put their money into (Zmaznev 2021). The fact of the matter is that funds are invested in different DeFi protocols for a variety of purposes, including staking, liquidity pools, and lending. According to Xu and Xu (2022), the exponential growth of TVL in DeFi protocols shows that there is a bright future for automated financial services. The TVL is specifically brought up as a comprehensive metric for DeFi protocols, as it directly reflects the financial side of services as well as their usage (Zmaznev 2021).

Saengchote (2021) sheds light on what DeFi Total Value Locked (TVL) could really measure and illustrates the complexity of DeFi analysis and market monitoring. The author notes that TVL is calculated as the market value of tokens deposited/locked in the system and is therefore highly dependent on token prices. Therefore, the relationship of this variable to valuations is expected to be relatively strong. Soiman et al. (2022) refer to TVL as a certain unique variable that is specific to the DeFi market, as it is an indicator of the growth and success of that market. In simple terms, it corresponds to the amount of committed funds in DeFi protocols. According to the empirical evidence presented by these authors, TVL seems to be the most important variable for this market, followed by transactions (investor attention) and network effects. Some interesting remarks on TVL can also be found in the work of Stepanova and Eriņš (2021). According to Maouchi et al. (2022), TVL can be used to evaluate DeFi tokens and monitor this market. It is therefore worth taking a closer look at this variable and evaluating its historical performance.

The sharp downward trends in the cryptocurrency markets that have emerged in the second quarter of 2022 have led to decentralized finance seeing a very dramatic decline in TVL. A major impetus that accelerated this trend was the price collapse of the major cryptocurrencies Bitcoin and Ethereum below the level of 50% of their peak values reached in the first half of 2022. The slump in the market for the leading cryptocurrencies also led to declines in the DeFi market. As a result, the TVL across all decentralized financial protocols has fallen by 50% in a relatively short period of time. It should be noted that in early May 2022 (i.e., before the actual crash of the entire cryptocurrency market, which coincided with the collapse of Terra-LUNA project), the TVL in all DeFi protocols was estimated to be around \$200 billion. At that point, it was difficult to even speak of a crash, as the historical TVL for this market reached \$252 billion in December 2021. The sequence of events was as follows. In the last week of April there was a drop of about \$20 billion in DeFi's TVL. However, the real crash began on 9 May 2022. From then on, it took only 3 days (until 11 May 2022) for the TVL of the entire DeFi market to shrink by another \$30 billion to \$150 billion. And yet this was only the beginning. In the weeks that followed, further declines occurred, for a total of an additional \$40 billion in TVL. This development shows how high the risk is when investing in DeFi markets at this early stage of their development (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Top 10 dapps based on daily total value locked. Source: own elaboration.

5. Data and Methodology

5.1. Data Collection

We collected information on 30 DeFi tokens using data from the defillama, tokenterminal and dappradar databases (tokenterminal.com, defillama.com and dappradar.com websites accessed on 15 July 2022). Table 1 shows the exact names of the DeFi types and protocols examined. Defillama and Tokenterminal are the most complete data aggregators collecting important metrics for DeFi platforms and financial data for DeFi protocols. From the above databases, we have extracted data on key DeFi performance metrics, i.e., market capitalization, TVL, protocol revenue, total revenue, gross merchandise volume, and the inflation factor of DeFi protocols.

Table 1. DeFi protocols used in this study.

Decentralized Exchanges	Lending Protocols	Asset Management
Uniswap	Aave	Convex Finance
Synthetix	MakerDAO	Lido Finance
Loopring	Compound	Yearn.Finance
PancakeSwap	Abracadabra Money	Yield Guild Games
Curve	Centrifuge	Fei Protocol
1inch	Liquity	Ribbon Finance
Osmosis	Venus	Rari Capital
Maiar	Maple Finance	Enzyme Finance
0x	TrueFi	Alchemix Finance
SushiSwap	Homora	Harvest Finance

Source: own elaboration.

The study investigates the relationships between different variables related to DeFi protocol assessments. To this end, we have used several research methods that are appropriate for investigating relationships between data of this type, namely causality analysis and a panel regression study, which is underpinned by the fact that the study examines longitudinal data and thus both cross-sections and time series. The causality study shows how knowledge about individual variables enables the assessment of the interaction between variables, but can also be used to predict future valuations. In causality analysis, the interaction between variables can be determined. While x determines y, y can determine x. In panel regression analysis, there is a one-sided interaction.

The data used in the study refer to the period between 11 January and 8 July of 2022. The advantage of choosing such a data window is that the results provide a better answer to the question of how to mitigate the decline in valuations during the bear market. One of the ways to do this is to control the supply of tokens, which should be more tightly controlled by an appropriate inflation factor. But of course there are a number of other factors that could be considered. One such factor could be the investment strategies of the protocols themselves. A good example is Umami Finance, a protocol that is pioneering the mass adoption of DeFi with its growing ecosystem of professional, regulatory-compliant DeFi products tailored to the institutional market (Umami Documentation 2022). The Umami team is building a suite of rigorously tested, highly scalable vaults that generate sustainable returns on key crypto assets (e.g., \$USDC, \$ETH and \$BTC). Umami's goal is to establish decentralized, permissionless smart contracts as the foundation of the global financial system and enable financial autonomy for investors around the world. The Umami Finance protocol pays out a portion of the return to market participants who stake their governance tokens. In short, the Umami Protocol uses a delta-neutral strategy where it earns returns on both long and short positions (Umami Documentation 2022). It is expected to be able to generate returns between 15-35% while remaining delta neutral. For historical comparison, as far as Umami Finance is concerned, its non-native treasury assets were worth \$5.6 m in February 2022, and by the end of May 2022 they had fallen to \$5.4 m (a drop of \$0.2 m), a decline of 3.5%. It is also important to note that the broader market has fallen by 30% over the same period. This means that in a declining market, the US Treasury was able to generate enough returns and fees to reward the protocol token holders, cover its operating costs and still outperform the broader market.

Table 2 below shows the variables used in the study and their descriptions.

Table 2. Variables used in the study and their description.

Variable	Description
Valuations (VAL)	The valuation of defi protocols is equal to the number of tokens in circulation multiplied by the token price. Kaal et al. (2022) and Brucker (2022) point out the lack of studies dealing with the valuation of digital assets, especially with regard to DeFi protocols.
Total Value Locked (TVL)	Total value locked refers to the amount of user funds deposited in a DeFi protocol. This indicator assesses the total value of assets deposited in a single DeFi project or in all DeFi protocols (usually expressed in US dollars). DeFi assets include rewards and interest derived from typical services such as lending, staking and liquidity pools in the form of smart contracts. In staking, for example, TVL allows investors to select the DeFi platforms with the highest rewards. More specifically, the TVL in DeFi's staking protocols represents the amount of assets deposited by liquidity providers. By the end of 2021, TVL had reached a value of approximately \$250 billion globally, an increase of more than 600-fold in a 2-year period during which the DeFi market grew from \$400 million TVL to the aforementioned \$250 billion. With the growing popularity and value of DeFi in the cryptocurrency space, TVL has become an important metric for investors to assess whether the entire DeFi ecosystem or a single protocol is safe and worth investing in. First of all, it is important to stress that capital is required for DeFi protocols to work. DeFi market participants usually deposit their capital as collateral for loans or liquidity and utility. These factors contribute to the success of such a protocol. With higher committed capital in DeFi protocols, their participants receive more significant rewards and revenues. In contrast, an outflow of funds (i.e., a lower TVL) means that fewer funds are available and therefore lower revenues are generated. With new protocols merging in the DeFi space all the time, it can be difficult for end users to determine the exact TVL of or safer protocols that have a more consolidated market position due to the blockchain (e.g., DefiLlama or DeFi Putocols that nonitor the more flows in DeFi protocol smark contracts on the blockchain (e.g., DefiLlama or DeFi Putocols that have a more consolidated market position due to the high value of the funds deposited in them (e.g., one can assume that only th

Variable	Description
Protocol Revenue (PR)	Protocol revenue is equal to the amount of revenue that is distributed to tokenholders. Put differently, DeFi protocols' revenues show the amounts of money the protocols generated for its users and token holders.
Total Revenue (TR)	Total revenue is equal to total fees paid by the users. It is calculated over a given time period. For example, daily total revenue for a given day is equal to the fees paid during that day (24 h). More importantly, protocol revenue and total revenue has different economic meanings for token holders. While the former only includes revenue paid to the protocol and/or its token holders, the latter also includes revenue taken by supply-side participants such as makers or liquidity providers. That is to say that supply-side revenue is equal to the amount of revenue a DeFi project pays to its supply-side participants. An example of the supply-side participants are liquidity providers who are given a number of liquidity provider tokens (LPTs) when they deposit their cryptocurrency in a DeFi pool. LPTs are returned to the DeFi system when a liquidity provider wishes to withdraw their deposited coins.
Gross Merchandise Volume (GMV)	In addition to the above indicators, another indicator that helps in analyzing the growth of DeFi businesses is the gross merchandise value (GMV). GMV is most commonly used to assess online businesses, and has particularly gained popularity in relation to e-commerce businesses (Yan et al. 2017; Prokhorova 2020; Sharma 2021). Sharma (2021) defines GMV as an indicator used in online retailing to indicate a total sales dollar value for merchandise sold through a particular marketplace over a certain period. The GMV is particularly useful in analysing the growth potential of DeFi projects/applications/ protocols. The popularity of the DeFi sector is clearly reflected in the growth of the number of new DeFi projects and the volume of TVL deposited in these protocols. Interestingly, the indicator is very popular with marketplaces that are directly or indicator involved in online trading. In its simplest form, the GMV is defined as the total value of sales in a given period. Thanks to the GMV, internet companies whose business model is to sell to non-business customers can compare their value in a given period with the corresponding periods in the past. The indicator makes it possible to estimate the growth of their business over time (for a given time horizon). Investors can also compare companies with a similar business profile in a fairly simple way thanks to the GMV value of fuerof the rubule of the index, the greater the DeFi protocol. From an investor's point of view, the GMV enables the selection of business profile in a fairly simple way thanks to the growth of financial results in the future. In addition, the GMV indirectly shows who is the leader in a particular niche. The higher the value, the better known a particular project is among consumers/users. And every market leader receives a bonus because of its size. Therefore, it has to spend relatively little on marketing because it has a large base of customers/users and a high level of awareness. Therefore, it can do its business cheaper (due to lower costs
Inflation Factor (INF)	The inflation factor reflects the dilution of the market capitalization in circulation of a given DeFi protocol. One of the key factors that crypto market traders consider when making investment decisions is the inflation rate of the native token or coin for a particular protocol/project. The inflation rate is therefore an important issue when it comes to the supply and demand of DeFi (cryptocurrencies) tokens. When the supply of a token exceeds the demand for it, the line of least resistance for the price of that cryptocurrency will point downwards, leading to a price decline in the market. In other words, the inflation rate should be considered as the rate at which the supply of a particular token in circulation changes. For example, if the inflation rate is 5%, this means that 5% more tokens have entered circulation. The reasons for the number of tokens in circulation can be different, e.g., rewards, staking or minting. The number of tokens in circulation can be different, e.g., rewards, staking or minting. The number of tokens in circulation can be different, e.g., rewards, staking or minting. It is worth noting that in the early stages of development of some crypto projects, the associated inflation can have a positive effect (as was the case for Bitcoin in its early years). However, from a logical point of view, it is the low inflation rate that should be better perceived by participants in this market, as it naturally leads to less pressure on the buy side (the traditional law of supply and demand and scarcity of goods applies here). In the early stages of a project development, the inflation rate can remain at a relatively high level. This was the case, for example, with Bitcoin itself, where inflation was high in the first years after the digital currency appeared on the market (in 2012 it was even over thirty per cent, but halved already by the following year). In general, the inflation rate indicator is calculated as follows: Inflation Rate $\% = (\text{Supply}_{1}/\text{Supply}_{t-1}) - 1.$

Table 2. Cont.

Source: own elaboration.

Tables 3–5 show some descriptive statistics for different classes of DeFi protocols (lending protocols, decentralized exchanges and DeFi apps).

Lending	Total Lending Revenue	Aave Dominance	Median Lending Revenue	Median Lending P/S Ratio
	\$1.25b	+43.6%	\$736.44k	17.2x

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for the lending protocol class of tokens.

Note: Total Lending Revenue—total borrowing interest generated by listed lending protocols; Dominance—the leading lending protocol's share of total borrow interest; Median Lending Revenue—the median of total borrowing interest generated by listed lending protocols; Median Lending Price to Sales (P/S) ratio—median of P/S ratio of listed lending protocols. Source: own elaboration.

Table 4. Descriptive statistics for the decentralized exchanges class of tokens.

Exchange	Total Exchange Revenue	Uniswap Dominance	Median Exchange Revenue	Median Exchange P/S Ratio
	\$5.80b	+41.4%	\$3.87m	14.6x
Note: Total Exchange	e Revenue—total tradir	g fees generated by	listed exchanges: Do	minance—The leading

exchange's share of total trading fees; Median Exchange Revenue—Median of total trading fees generated by listed exchanges; Median Exchange P/S ratio—Median of P/S ratio of listed exchanges. Source: own elaboration.

Table 5. Descriptive statistics for the DeFi class of tokens.

DeFi	Total DeFi Revenue	Uniswap Dominance	Median DeFi Revenue	Median DeFi P/S Ratio	
	\$13.14B	+25.7%	\$6.33m	13.4x	
	-		-		

Note: Total DeFi Revenue—Total revenue generated by listed DeFi protocols; Dominance—the leading DeFi protocol's share of total transaction fees; Median DeFi Revenue—median of total revenue generated by listed DeFi protocols; Median DeFi P/S ratio—Median of P/S ratio of listed DeFi protocols. Source: own elaboration.

Table 6 shows similar statistics for the conventional blockchain class. It is worth noting that most DeFi protocols are based on the Ethereum blockchain.

Table 6. Descriptive statistics for the blockchain class of tokens.

Blockchain	Total Blockchain Revenue	Ethereum Dominance	Median Blockchain Revenue	Median Blockchain P/S Ratio
	\$20.12b	+76.3%	\$3.87m	7559.8x

Note: Total Blockchain Revenue—total transaction fees generated on listed blockchains; Dominance—the leading blockchain's share of total transaction fees; Median Blockchain P/S ratio—median of total transaction fees generated by listed blockchains; Median DeFi P/S ratio—median of P/S ratio of listed blockchains. Source: own elaboration.

5.2. Methodology

Since the study aims to examine the relationship between the DeFi Protocol valuations and a number of financial variables that can be used to represent and justify the performance of this market, it is assumed that both Granger causality analysis and panel data analysis are methods commonly used to assess the relationship between different variables. Panel data analysis is a widely used statistical method for analysing two-dimensional (i.e., crosssectional and time-series) data. In the empirical part, valuations are estimated using panel regressions. More specifically, DeFi protocols are represented as panels and subsequent days as time. The pooled OLS specification assumes that there is no heterogeneity between different DeFi projects, which is expressed by using the following equation:

$$Val_{it} = \alpha + \beta X'_{it} + e_{it} \tag{1}$$

where *Val_{it}* denotes the valuation corresponding to each of the projects and is log-linearized to adjust for disparities, to better explore their dynamic properties and simplify the cal-

culations (Metelski and Mihi-Ramirez 2015). In other words, i = 1, 2, ..., 30 refers to the number of individual projects recorded in the database, and t = 11 January 2022...8 July 2022 refers to consecutive days. The term α is the common intercept, X' is the vector with the predicting variables, which means that a specific set of control variables is used to obtain the results. The same predictors are used in all models, i.e., total value locked (tvl), protocol revenue (pr), total revenue (tr), gross merchandise volume (gmv), inflation factor (inf). Moreover, the term e_{it} included in the model presented above is the error term. The specification FE with fixed individual effects is expressed by the following equation:

$$Val_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta X'_{it} + e_{it} \tag{2}$$

where α_i represents the fixed effects of each DeFi protocol. It controls for heterogeneity between different DeFi protocols. The difference between the FE specification and the OLS model is that the former, unlike the latter, reflects DeFi protocols' effects, which are reflected in the term α_i . Therefore, α_i can be viewed as the ignorance about all of the other systematic factors that predict DeFi projects' valuations, other than X'.

In the study, we will also conduct a correlation analysis and check whether there are causal relationships between the variables under study. To this end, we conduct Granger causality and Granger causality reversal tests. For a more detailed explanation of the Granger causality method, see the work by Metelski and Mihi-Ramirez (2015).

6. Results

As mentioned earlier, for the analysis, we use daily data from the first two quarters of 2022 (between 11 January and 8 July), specifically data on circulating market capitalization (val) (response variable) and the total value locked (tvl) and a whole host of other variables, i.e., protocol revenue (pr), total revenue (tr), gross merchandise volume (gmv), and inflation factor (inf) (explanatory variables) for 30 different DeFi protocols studied (i.e., Uniswap, Synthetix, Loopring, PancakeSwap, Curve, etc.). The study examines the relationships between the data and, in particular, explores how the TVL and the rest of the explanatory variables affect the valuations of these protocols. In other words, the panel regression analysis aims to provide evidence that helps to better understand what drives DeFi valuations in relation to some intrinsic characteristics and informative metrics of the DeFi protocols. We tested all correlation coefficients (for each pair individually) and found that all corresponding p-values were less than 0.05 (see Figures 3 and 4). This is an indication that the correlation estimates between the variables studied are statistically significant. For example, the correlation between the valuation of the DeFi protocols and their respective TVLs is 0.6080682, and this is a statistically significant result (Pearson *t*-test value = 52.639, df = 4723, p-value $< 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$) (see Figure 3 below). However, it must be taken into account that we are dealing with a time series, so the reliability of such tests is weaker than with cross-sectional data.



Figure 3. Correlations between Valuations and TVLs for 3 different DeFi classes' protocols. Note: All data logarithmized. Source: own elaboration in R-Studio.



Figure 4. Pairwise Correlations for the Variables Used in the Study. Source: own elaboration in R-Studio.

Interestingly, for the different classes of DeFi protocols, we can see that the relationships between the valuations of these protocols and their TVLs vary (this can be seen in the elasticities of the regression lines shown in Figure 3 above). In general, the steepest regression line is for the "Asset Management" class and the flattest for the 'Decentralized Exchanges" class. It is thus clear that the TVL is relatively more important for "Asset Management" protocols, which seems logical in that the performance of these protocols is much more dependent on the funds under management. To understand this better, an analogy can be drawn with mutual funds, whose valuations depend to a much greater extent (than e.g., other companies in the financial industry) on the amount of capital under management. In general, the value of a fund is determined by its net asset value (NAV), which is equal to the total value of assets minus the total value of liabilities. Moreover, assets under management (AUM) represent the total market value of investments, which depends on the flow of funds entrusted by investors. On the other hand, AUM determines the level of asset management fees, which influence the valuations of these funds (Boudoukh et al. 2004).

However, the pairwise correlations between the variables studied do not suggest causality. Based on the above results, it is difficult to give a clear answer as to whether TVL and other exogenous variables cause an increase in DeFi valuations, which would confirm our research hypotheses that DeFi valuations are dependent on TVL, total revenue, and gross merchandise volume-which might be perceived as proxies reflecting the success of the DeFi protocols. There is much evidence to suggest that this may be the case. The results of the correlation coefficients give an indication that this is indeed the case. To be sure, we use the Granger causality test to assess the causal relationships between the variables under study (Thurman and Fisher 1988; Metelski and Mihi-Ramirez 2015). This can help us understand whether some of the explanatory variables provide statistically significant information about future DeFi valuations. The results of the Granger causality tests suggest that knowledge of DeFi valuations (as measured by daily circulating market capitalization) is useful in predicting future values of the TVL in these protocols [F = 5.6021,]Pr(>F) = 0.009755]. As it turns out, of all the explanatory variables included in the study, only the Gross Merchandise Volume can be useful in predicting the future valuations of the DeFi protocols [F = 2.6968, Pr(>F) = 0.04435]. All tested relationships are listed in Table 7.

Dependent Variable	Hypothesis Tested:	F-Statistic	<i>p</i> -Value
	TVL: there is a unidirectional relationship (VAL⇒TVL)	5.1128	0.001566 **
VAL	PR: there is a unidirectional relationship (VAL⇒PR)	5.556	0.0008394 ***
VAL	TR: there is a unidirectional relationship (VAL⇒TR)	27.354	$<2.2 \times 10^{-16}$ ***
	GMV: there is a bilateral relationship (VAL⇔GMV)	2.6968; 13.749	0.04435 *; 6.531×10^{-9} ***
TVL	PR: there is a unidirectional relationship (TVL⇒PR)	18.321	$8.4 imes 10^{-12} ***$
	TR: there is a bilateral relationship (TVL⇔TR)	4.6502; 31.471	0.003005 **; <2.2 × 10^{-16} ***
	GMV: there is a unidirectional relationship (TVL⇒GMV)	17.384	3.385×10^{-11} ***
	TR: there is a bilateral relationship (PR⇔TR)	9.3282; 11.368	3.819×10^{-6} ***; 2.008×10^{-7} ***
PR	INF: there is a unidirectional relationship (PR⇒INF)	3.4802	0.01525 *
TR	GMV: there is a unidirectional relationship (TR⇐GMV)	3.7378	0.01071 *
	INF: there is a unidirectional relationship (TR⇐INF)	3.4491	0.01592 *

Table 7. Pairwise Granger causality tests.

Note: Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05. Source: own elaboration.

The results of the Granger causality tests show the most likely direction of the relationships between the variables. Thus, the results suggest that DeFi protocols' valuations drive the change in TVL and in other pivotal variables such as protocol revenue and total revenue, and gross merchandise volume. TVL, on the other hand, drives protocol revenue, total revenue, and gross merchandise volume. This could suggest that at this early stage of the DeFi market's development, increased valuations are attracting new users and liquidity providers to these protocols, which translates into an increase in the total revenue from these protocols, and also an increase in payments to token holders in the form of protocol revenue, which further pulls in new users and new capital (in the form of staking and yield farming). As for the relationships between DeFi protocols' valuations and the other explanatory variables, the bilateral relationship was only demonstrated for one variable, namely gross merchandise volume. This type of data analysis allows for a better understanding of the relationships that exist between the variables.

In general, a higher TVL of DeFi protocols means greater liquidity, popularity and, at the same time, usability—an indication of the success of DeFi projects. When the TVL increases, it means that more capital is committed to DeFi protocols, which translates into significant benefits and revenues for participants in these protocols. Lower TVLs, on the other hand, mean less availability of funds (liquidity pools) and thus lower revenues from these protocols.

To better explain the assessment of the association of DeFi protocols' valuations with other variables studied, we also conducted a short panel regression analysis, the ordinary least squares (OLS) and fixed effects model specifications.

The results of the FE model specification can be found in Table 8. We omit the results of the OLS model specification because the F-test showed that it is inferior to the results of the FE specification (F = 713.02, df1 = 19, df2 = 3174, *p*-value < 0.00000000000022; alternative hypothesis: significant effects). All variables were log transformed (Metelski and Mihi-Ramirez 2015). The logarithmic transformation of the variables in the model has some important advantages. In general, a regression model without transformation has unit changes between the explanatory and response variables, where a unit change in an independent variable coincides with a constant change in the dependent variable. Taking the logarithm of one or both variables, the case changes from a unit change to a percentage change (Metelski and Mihi-Ramirez 2015).

Predictor	Estimate	Std. Error	<i>t</i> -Value	Pr(> t)
Total Value Locked	0.3886304	0.0102634	37.8655	<0.0000000000000022 ***
Protocol Revenue	-0.0193467	0.0047426	-4.0793	0.00004628 ***
Total Revenue	0.0168036	0.0041144	4.0841	0.00004534 ***
Gross merchandise volume	0.1757711	0.0103339	17.0092	<0.0000000000000022 ***
Inflation factor	-0.0192243	0.0017573	-10.9399	<0.0000000000000022 ***
Total Sum of Squares:	138.75			
Residual Sum of Squares:	75.903			
R ² /R ² adjusted		0.45293/0.44897		
F-statis	stic: 525.57 on 5 a	nd 3174 DF, <i>p</i> -val	ue: < 0.00000000	0000000222

Table 8. Fixed Effects panel regression model.

Note: Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001. Source: own elaboration.

As far as the modelling assumptions are concerned, a number of tests were carried out to verify that the model used is robust and reliable. In particular, the Breusch-Pagan LM test of independence (chi2(171) = 191.56, Pr = 0.1344) indicates that there is no crosssectional dependence in the model. As for heteroskedasticity, the modified Wald test (since the best model specification turned out to be the one with fixed effects) confirms that no heteroskedasticity problem was found in the model (Prob > chi2 > 0.05 [chi2 (19) = 27.09, Prob > chi2 = 0.10257). With regard to the analysis of stationarity, a Fisher's test was performed (which assumes under the null hypothesis that all series are non-stationary; H0: all panels contain unit roots and the alternative assumes that at least one series in the panel is stationary). The results confirm stationarity (i.e., inverse chi-square(60) P = 91.6689, p-value = 0.0052, and since the p-value is less than 0.05, we reject H0). As for the analysis of the cointegration test, it is assumed that researchers conduct cointegration tests when time series are non-stationary to determine whether they have a stable, long-term relationship. Since we are dealing with already transformed data and stationarity in the model, there is no need to conduct a cointegration test analysis. Furthermore, the F-test of overall significance shows that the variation in the dependent variable (the valuations of the DeFi protocols) is

explained by the independent variables (jointly). In other words, the regression model is a better fit than a model that does not contain independent variables. The F-test is used to test the overall significance of the multiple regression by determining whether the variation in the dependent variable (DeFi protocols' valuations) is explained by the independent variables. It is also worth noting that the goodness of fit (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.44897$) indicates that almost 45% of the variability in the valuations of the DeFi protocols (endogenous variable) is explained by the explanatory (exogenous) variables—which seems to be an indication of a good model.

From the results, it can be concluded that TVL, Total Revenue, and Gross Merchandise Volume have a positive impact on the valuations of DeFi protocols. All beta coefficient estimates for these variables are positive and statistically significant. It should be noted that the influence of the variable TVL on DeFi protocols' valuations is the largest. These results find a logical explanation as we are dealing with proxies for the performance of DeFi protocols. This is because the more resources that go into these DeFi protocols, the better it is for their valuations (which means that higher valuations are justified). Since the TVL reflects the value of funds paid into the smart contracts of these protocols, higher numbers usually mean higher valuations for these protocols. In turn, the gross merchandise volume is equal to the total value of sales. It has a different meaning for the different classes of DeFi protocols. For decentralized exchanges it is the total trading volume, for lending protocols it is the total borrowing volume and for asset management it is the total trading volume of their product. Total revenue, in turn, is the total fees paid by users of DeFi protocols. It is calculated over a certain period of time. Thus, the daily total revenue for a given day corresponds to the fees paid on that day. The protocol revenue and the inflation factor, on the other hand, show a negative association with DeFi protocols' valuations, for which there is also a logical explanation. This is because the protocol revenue is equal to the amount of revenue distributed to DeFi token holders. The protocol revenue can therefore be understood in a similar way to the dividends that a public company distributes to its shareholders. In the case of DeFi protocols, the capital paid out is the capital flowing out of the protocol. The inflation factor, on the other hand, reflects the dilution of the valuations, i.e., it has a similar meaning to the issuance of new shares in traditional companies. Even for a typical equity company, an increase in the number of shares in circulation usually has a negative impact on the valuation.

7. Discussion

The emergence of DeFi in 2020 has brought with it the possibility of new forms of investment. From a financial perspective, this is positive as DeFi can help diversify and complement traditional portfolios by seeking returns that are independent of traditional asset classes such as equities and bonds, and by reducing overall sensitivity to traditional markets (Yousaf and Yarovaya 2022). In particular, some DeFi protocols offer an automated, low-risk way to generate returns with a "delta-neutral" trading strategy that reduces volatility. On the other hand, DeFi represents a completely new field and therefore requires an unconventional view when measuring performance. It is worth noting that there are no comprehensive studies (robust model-based econometric analyses) in the literature that justify the evaluation of DeFi protocols in the context of some specific metrics of a financial nature. The need for such studies has been highlighted by Kaal et al. (2022) and Brucker (2022), among others. One performance metric that is becoming increasingly popular among DeFi investors is TVL, a cryptocurrency indicator to assess the total value of all assets (funds) deposited in DeFi protocols (TVL can be reported for a single DeFi protocol, but can also be aggregated and reported as a value for all protocols). According to Zmaznev (2021), TVL reflects the financial side of DeFi services and their use and is therefore a suitable metric for assessing DeFi protocols. However, it should be noted that DeFi assets are not homogeneous, but are composed of different classes of contributed funds in DeFi protocols, i.e., they include liquidity pools as well as interest or different types of rewards resulting from the services offered in DeFi protocols, such as loans, stakes, or the aforementioned liquidity pools locked in smart contracts. In terms of stakes, the TVL metric should be interpreted as the amount of assets deposited by liquidity providers in DeFi protocols. Such a metric makes it easier to compare different DeFi protocols to select those that offer the highest returns in terms of annual percentage yields (APYs). Of course, it is not possible to flawlessly rank individual protocols (e.g., based on their TVLs), and therefore the demise of a DeFi protocol that offers high staking premiums while having a high TVL cannot be ruled out. An example of this is the recent quick total failure of Terra (LUNA), which allowed up to 20% APY through stakes. TerraUSD (UST) was a stablecoin hosted by the Terra network that became the second blockchain with the highest TVL after Ethereum in the second quarter of 2022 (Azar et al. 2022).

Typically, TVL can be used to assess whether an individual DeFi protocol is sound and worth investing in. As a rule of thumb, determining the value of TVL sometimes requires more sophisticated mathematics than taking into account all deposits, withdrawals and determining the actual amount held in a DeFi protocol and deposited in smart contracts. The TVL is also affected by the value of the native token and the fiat currency in which it is denominated. Therefore, the TVL changes when these values change. An increase in the value of a DeFi token therefore leads to an increase in its TVL (Saengchote 2021). The TVL is important from the perspective of DeFi protocols because it is their lifeblood and enables them to operate; without deposited capital, in the form of smart contracts, DeFi protocols could not function. In this context, the TVL can be interpreted as an early indicator of the potential gains of DeFi protocols as well as the benefits to participants and investors in these protocols.

In addition to TVL, this study also considers metrics such as protocol revenue, total revenue, gross merchandise volume and the inflation factor. Each of these metrics is important in its own way (in the context of the DeFi assessment) from the perspective of both project teams and investors. However, if one takes protocol revenue and total revenue, for example, it is interestingly difficult to find broader definitions for these terms that explain how the two metrics differ. It turns out that the difference between them is significant. First of all, protocol revenue and total revenue have different economic meanings for token holders. Protocol revenue includes only the revenue paid to the owners of the protocol and/or its token holders, while total revenue also takes into account the revenue of supply-side participants. Supply-side participants, for example, can be defined as liquidity providers who receive a certain number of liquidity provider tokens (LPTs) when they deposit their cryptocurrency into the DeFi pool. What the policy of each DeFi protocol is in terms of revenue generated depends largely on the individual strategies of those protocols. The design teams of the DeFi protocols are staffed by the respective strategists and project managers who develop the financial and marketing policies implemented in the smart contracts. These policies define, among other things, the strategy plans for issuing additional tokens (minting, burning), payouts, rewards, etc. It is in this context that the inflation factor variable, which was included in our study (and whose broader definition is included in Table 2), should be understood. In fact, all these points are interlinked and form part of complex DeFi protocol strategies. A number of complex factors such as adding new tokens or removing them, involving market participants in the development of DeFi platforms by issuing governance tokens (Soiman et al. 2022), offering high rewards for providing liquidity (to attract capital to the protocol so that the whole project gains momentum)-these are all elements of complex system dynamics that ultimately lead either to the success or failure of the project. In the case of Terraform Labs, the company behind Terra USD (UST) and Terra (LUNA), their flawed adoption led to the collapse of the entire project. It is therefore worth highlighting and analyzing these problems. By clearly pointing them out, we also see the value and contribution of this study.

The results also show that GMV has a significant Granger effect on DeFi protocol valuations, implying that there is some kind of interaction between the two variables. In practise, this can be seen as a kind of relationship between variables, where each of the variables under consideration influences the other reciprocally. This confirms that the

GMV is particularly useful as an indicator for analyzing the growth potential of DeFi projects/applications/protocols. This indicator makes it possible to estimate the performance of DeFi protocols' business models over time. Simply put, DeFi market participants can use the GMV indicator to easily compare protocols with a similar business model. Obviously, the higher the value of the indicator, the greater the DeFi protocol. From the investor's perspective, the GMV enables the selection of business projects with higher growth potential and the estimation of the growth of financial performance in the future. In addition, the GMV indirectly shows who is the leader in a particular niche. The higher the value, the better known a project is among its participants/users. In the context of the DeFi protocols and the results of the study (both the causality analysis and the panel regression analysis), it can be assumed that the GMV is strongly undervalued in contrast to the TVL. The causality analysis suggests that GMV is the only variable that Granger-causes future DeFi protocol valuations.

In contrast, the results of the panel regression analysis study show that the beta coefficients of the variables protocol revenue, total revenue and inflation rate are small and therefore these variables have low predictive power (compared to TVL and GMV), although on the other hand, the direction of these relationships suggests that slightly higher valued projects are those that distribute less revenue to their token holders and control their token supply in circulation more restrictively. It is likely that in the early stages of development of these projects, retained revenues may have a positive impact on subsequent valuations. In the early stages of project development (presumably to maximize the network effect), distribution to supply-side participants in the form of liquidity pools might make more sense from the perspective of the project teams behind the development of the DeFi protocols.

As a future research direction, it might be interesting to link DeFi protocol valuations to the treasury metric (which is the value of project funds held in the chain and includes the value of unallocated governance tokens). The value of the treasury can be seen as an indicator of the financial strategies of each protocol, which of course are also related to the reward distribution policy. This would make it possible to examine the correlation between the distribution policy of the rewards and the overall strategies of the individual protocols.

8. Conclusions

The study is based on a dual quantitative methodology (panel data analysis + Granger causality) and analyzes the valuations of 30 selected protocols representing three different classes of DeFi projects (i.e., decentralized exchanges, lending protocols and asset management) in terms of their relevant performance metrics. More specifically, the study shows how the valuations of DeFi protocols depend on key financial variables that represent their performance, such as total value locked, protocol revenue, total revenue, gross merchandise volume and inflation factor.

The study shows the results of the pairwise Granger causality tests for all variables and the results of the fixed effects panel regression model. The panel data analysis provides evidence that all five explanatory variables examined influence DeFi protocol valuations (TVL, total revenue and gross merchandise volume—positively; protocol revenue and inflation factor—negatively). Considering that for each explanatory variable studied there is a specific counterpart in the world of traditional finance (e.g., TVL corresponds to assets under management, total revenues to corporate profits, protocol revenues to the share of profits paid to investors, etc.), one can conclude that DeFi protocols' valuations follow very similar laws to those of traditional finance. As for the Granger causality tests, it could not be confirmed that future valuations of DeFi protocols can be effectively predicted based on knowledge of the TVLs of these protocols, while other directions of causality (unilateral and bilateral) were confirmed, e.g., a causal bilateral relationship between valuations of DeFi protocols and gross merchandise volume. As for the Granger causality tests, knowing the causal relationships between the variables (see Table 7) can serve to better understand the interdependencies between all variables. Also, assessing of the correlations between valuations and TVLs for three different classes of DeFi protocols shows that the strongest relationship between DeFi protocol valuations and their respective TVLs is reported for asset management protocols and the weakest for decentralized exchanges (DEXes). In general, the steepest regression line is for the "Asset Management" class and the flattest for the "Decentralized Exchanges" class. It is thus clear that the TVL is relatively more important for "Asset Management" protocols, which seems logical since the performance of these protocols depends much more on the funds under management. To understand this better, an analogy can be drawn with mutual funds, whose valuations depend to a much greater extent (than for other companies in the financial sector, for example) on the amount of capital under management.

In summary, the study firstly confirms the relevance of the relationship between TVL and the performance of DeFi protocols (their valuations). TVL is the most popular indicator for evaluating DeFi projects. The panel analysis study confirms the strongest association of this indicator with valuations themselves, which should not surprise anyone. After all, TVL is considered the lifeblood of DeFi protocols, and without deposited capital, DeFi protocols could not thrive. Moreover, the idea of liquidity pools and yield farming is to offer often unimaginably high returns (over certain, usually short periods of time) in order to attract investors' attention (which can be interpreted as the cost of promoting the projects). On the other hand, the bicausal relationship between TVL and DeFi protocol valuations could not be confirmed. Second, the study highlights the need to consider metrics other than TVL, investor attention or associations with the classic cryptocurrency market (such as Bitcoin or Ethereum) when evaluating DeFi protocols (or selecting appropriate protocols in an investment context).

Third, the paper clarifies some DeFi-related definitions (for the metrics on which the study is based) that are also not found in the literature. While one can read about the GMV indicator in the context of some internet projects (mainly e-commerce) (Yan et al. 2017; Prokhorova 2020; Sharma 2021), few know that it can also be effectively used to evaluate DeFi protocols as an indicator (as confirmed by the results of our study and both Granger causality and panel data analysis). We also clarify the differences between protocol revenues and total revenues by justifying their relevance (importance) from the perspective of investors/market participants and DeFi protocol design teams. In particular, in the context of the latter (i.e., the design teams), we highlight that these issues form an important part of the design strategies they develop, which are later implemented in smart contracts.

Fourth, the study highlights the importance of controlling the supply of tokens in the investment policy of project development teams, while also pointing out that this is an important issue for participants in this market—and is not always perceived negatively. Very often, the additional supply of tokens is linked to the participation of users and market participants in the development of the protocols themselves (through governance tokens). Again, much depends on the strategy of a protocol and it is impossible to determine conclusively whether this will have a positive or negative impact on the future of the projects themselves. Often the performance of two projects with similar initial conditions will be different.

Fifth, the diversity of the DeFi market (which is not homogeneous) is explained in the paper. Within this market, there are different categories of business models, including decentralized exchanges, lending protocols and asset management protocols. In a simple experiment, shown in Figure 3, we can see that the sensitivity of valuations to inflows and outflows of funds is different for the different categories of DeFi protocols. This is reflected in the different elasticities of the regression lines (reflecting valuations regressed on the TVL values). As it turns out, the steepest regression line is for the Asset Management class and the flattest for the Decentralized Exchanges class. It is clear, then, that the TVL is relatively more important for the "Asset Management" protocols.

Finally, the practical application of the findings presented in this paper is that they contribute to a better understanding of what drives DeFi protocol valuations and what

indicative performance metrics to look for. In other words, the paper contributes to systematizing knowledge about the determinants of DeFi protocol assessments. A fairly extensive literature review presented in the paper provides a better understanding of the importance of DeFi protocols as an alternative to traditional finance. Drawing on the literature on the subject, we identify a number of potential determinants of DeFi protocol assessments and investigate their relevance and robustness using two different scientific methods. The article can therefore be seen as a contribution to the broader debate on the valuation of DeFi protocols in the context of financial markets and the value of the assets these protocols represent. The empirical evidence and some conclusions presented in the article can be useful for both theorists and practitioners of the DeFi market.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.S.; methodology, D.M.; validation, J.S. and D.M.; investigation, J.S. and D.M.; resources, D.M.; data curation, D.M.; writing—original draft preparation, J.S. and D.M.; writing—review and editing, J.S. and D.M.; visualization, D.M.; supervision, J.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study was extracted from defillama, tokenterminal and dappradar databases (tokenterminal.com, defillama.com and dappradar.com websites accessed on 15 July 2022).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Below, in the form of Table A1, we give an overview of the most relevant studies dealing with DeFi protocols.

Authors	Subject
Abdulhakeem and Hu (2021)	Analysis of the DeFi market potential.
Werner et al. (2021)	Analysis of the DeFi ecosystem-primitives, types of protocols and security.
Chohan (2021)	Identification of key themes accompanying the emergence of the DeFi sector.
Qin et al. (2021b)	Comparison of DeFi and CeFi markets in terms of legal, economic and security aspects.
Meyer et al. (2021)	A systematic review of the literature on the fragmented field of DeFi studies.
Momtaz (2022)	Study on the effectiveness and role of intermediation in the large DeFi segment.
Jensen et al. (2021)	Taxonomic overview of agents, drivers and risks. Analysis of key market categories and applications of DeFi applications. Identification of key risk groups for potential DeFi market players (stakeholders).
Schueffel (2021)	An overview of the specificities (special features) of the DeFi market compared to traditional finance.
Caldarelli and Ellul (2021)	Analysis of the security of the DeFi ecosystem and in particular the oracle problem in DeFi.
Grassi et al. (2022)	An assessment of the role of financial intermediation in light of DeFi.
Wronka (2021)	An analysis and assessment of the new challenges posed by the emergence of DeFi (particularly in in relation to combating financial fraud in the DeFi ecosystem).
Schär (2021)	Analysis of the opportunities and potential risks associated with the DeFi ecosystem.
Calcaterra and Kaal (2021)	The role of finance in the development of decentralized systems.

Table A1. Important works/studies dealing with DeFi protocols/project subject.

Table A1. Cont.

Authors	Subject
Kitzler et al. (2021)	A study of the composition of protocols of decentralized finance. It shows the interplay (interaction) between DeFi protocols and associated smart contracts from a macroscopic perspective. The study provides a better understanding of financial products and assesses the systemic risk of the DeFi market.
Momtaz (2022)	Analysis of the role of intermediation in the efficiency of decentralized finance (DeFi) markets.
Xu and Xu (2022)	A study of business models of various DeFi protocols—in particular decentralized exchanges (DEXs), loanable funds protocols (LFPs) and yield aggregators.
Mohan (2022)	A study of the organisation of the DeFi market, including how automated market makers (AMMs) operate.
Bartoletti et al. (2021)	An overview of open challenges and opportunities for formal methods in DeFi. DeFi Theory.
Bekemeier (2021)	An analysis of the systemic risk of the DeFi ecosystem.
Saengchote (2021)	Analysis of stablecoin flows between DeFi protocols and evidence of DeFi's profit-chasing behaviour.
Makarov and Schoar (2022)	The modus operandi and mechanics of the new DeFi architecture. Potential benefits and challenges in the development of the DeFi market.
Sun et al. (2022)	Analysis of decentralized governance solutions (using MKR, DAI and Etherem as examples). The impact of centralized governance on a range of factors including finance, trading, exchange, network metrics and market sentiment.
Sun et al. (2021)	Security risks. A systematic way to find vulnerabilities in DeFi projects. Verification of financial models from smart contracts.
Şoiman et al. (2022)	Analysis of the DeFi market returns and valuations.
Piñeiro-Chousa et al. (2022)	Analysis of the relationship between returns on DeFi tokens, other traditional investments and user-generated content.
Wang et al. (2022)	Testing the existence and dates of price bubbles in the DeFi and NFT markets with the use of the SADF and GSADF tests.
Zmaznev (2021)	The impact of regulatory uncertainty shocks on total value locked in DeFi smart contracts.
Corbet et al. 2022	A comparative assessment of the factors influencing DeFi token prices.
Green et al. (2022)	An insight into user behaviour patterns and risk within the AAVE lending protocol. Survival analysis of DeFi lending protocols to discover and characterise user behaviour.
Maouchi et al. (2022)	A study of digital asset bubbles amid the COVID -19 pandemic (using a sample of 9 DeFi tokens). Signs of DeFi and NFT-specific bubbles in 2020 and 2021.
Sc	urce: own elabrotation.

References

Abdulhakeem, Saif Ahmed, and Qiuling Hu. 2021. Powered by Blockchain technology, DeFi (Decentralized Finance) strives to increase financial inclusion of the unbanked by reshaping the world financial system. *Modern Economy* 12: 1. [CrossRef]

Alabi, Ken. 2017. Digital blockchain networks appear to be following Metcalfe's Law. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications 24: 23–29. [CrossRef]

Almeida, José, and Tiago Cruz Gonçalves. 2022. A Systematic Literature Review of Volatility and Risk Management on Cryptocurrency Investment: A Methodological Point of View. Risks 10: 107. [CrossRef]

Ante, Lennart. 2020. Bitcoin transactions, information asymmetry and trading volumen. *Quantitative Finance and Economics* 4: 365–81. [CrossRef]

Aramonte, Sirio, Wenqian Huang, and Andreas Schrimpf. 2021. DeFi Risks and the Decentralisation Illusion. Basel: Bank for International Settlements (BIS), pp. 1–36.

Azar, Pablo, Garth Baughman, Francesca Carapella, Jacob Gerszten, Arazi Lubis, Juan Pablo Perez-Sangimino, Chiara Scotti, Nathan Swem, Alexandros Vardoulakis, and David Rappoport. 2022. *The Financial Stability Implications of Digital Assets*. Washington, DC: Federal Reserve Board, pp. 1–31.

Bartoletti, Massimo, James Hsin-yu Chiang, and Alberto Lluch Lafuente. 2021. Towards a Theory of Decentralized Finance. Paper persented at International Conference on Financial Cryptography and Data Security, Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, March 1–5. Bekemeier, Felix. 2021. Deceptive Assurance? A Conceptual View on Systemic Risk in Decentralized Finance (DeFi). Paper persented at 2021 4th International Conference on Blockchain Technology and Applications, Xi'an, China, December 17–19.

Borisov, Svetoslav. 2022. DEFI-Potential, Advantages and Challenges. Economic Studies 31: 33-54.

- Boudoukh, Jacob, Matthew Richardson, Richard Stanton, and Robert F. Whitelaw. 2004. Valuing Mutual Fund Companies. Berkeley: UC Berkeley.
- Brucker, Anders C. 2022. De-Fi Protocol Token Valuation by Projecting Token Flows and Estimating an Appropriate Risk Premium. Durham: University of New Hampshire.
- Calcaterra, Craig, and Wulf A. Kaal. 2021. Decentralized Finance (DeFi). Decentralization-Technology's Impact On Organizational and Societal Structure. Berlin: Degruyter Publishers.
- Caldarelli, Giulio, and Joshua Ellul. 2021. The blockchain oracle problem in decentralized finance—A multivocal approach. Applied Sciences 11: 7572. [CrossRef]
- Chohan, Usman W. 2021. Decentralized Finance (DeFi): An Emergent Alternative Financial Architecture. Islamabad: Critical Blockchain Research Initiative (CBRI).
- Coinbase. 2022. What Is DeFi? Available online: https://www.coinbase.com/learn/crypto-basics/what-is-defi (accessed on 10 July 2022).
- Cong, Lin William, Ye Li, and Neng Wang. 2021. Tokenomics: Dynamic Adoption and Valuation. *The Review of Financial Studies* 34: 1105–55. [CrossRef]
- Corbet, Shaen, John W. Goodell, and Samet Günay. 2022. What drives DeFi prices? Investigating the effects of investor attention. *Finance Research Letters* 48: 102883. [CrossRef]
- Corbet, Shaen, John W. Goodell, Samet Gunay, and Kerem Kaskaloglu. 2021. Are DeFi Tokens a Separate Asset Class from Conventional Cryptocurrencies? SSRN Electronic Journal 2021: 3810599. [CrossRef]
- Dahlberg, Tobias, and Fadel Dabaja. 2021. Decentralized Finance and the Crypto Market: Indicators and Correlations. Linköpings: Linköpings Universitet.
- Grassi, Laura, Davide Lanfranchi, Alessandro Faes, and Filippo Maria Renga. 2022. Do we still need financial intermediation? The case of decentralized finance–DeFi. Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management 19: 323–47.
- Green, Aaron, Christopher Cammilleri, John S. Erickson, Oshani Seneviratne, and Kristin P. Bennett. 2022. DeFi Survival Analysis: Insights into Risks and User Behaviors. Troy: The Rensselaer Institute for Data Exploration and Applications, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, pp. 1–15.
- Gudgeon, Lewis, Sam Werner, Daniel Perez, and William J. Knottenbelt. 2020. DeFi Protocols for Loanable Funds: Interest Rates, Liquidity and Market Efficiency. Paper presented at 2020 Crypto Valley Conference on Blockchain Technology, Virtual Event, June 11–12.
- Harwick, Cameron, and James Caton. 2020. What's holding back blockchain finance? On the possibility of decentralized autonomous finance. The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance 84: 420–29. [CrossRef]
- Jensen, Johannes Rude, Victor von Wachter, and Omri Ross. 2021. An introduction to decentralized finance (defi). Complex Systems Informatics and Modeling Quarterly 26: 46–54. [CrossRef]
- Kaal, Wulf A., Samuel Evans, and Hayley Howe. 2022. Digital Asset Valuation. SSRN Electronic Journal 2022: 4033886. [CrossRef]
- Katona, Tamás. 2021. Decentralized Finance-The Possibilities of a Blockchain "Money Lego" System. Financial and Economic Review 20: 74–102. [CrossRef]
- Kitzler, Stefan, Friedhelm Victor, Pietro Saggese, and Bernhard Haslhofer. 2021. Disentangling Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Compositions. *arXiv* arXiv:2111.11933. [CrossRef]
- Liu, Yukun, and Aleh Tsyvinski. 2021. Risks and returns of cryptocurrency. The Review of Financial Studies 34: 2689–727. [CrossRef]
- Makarov, Igor, and Antoinette Schoar. 2022. Cryptocurrencies and Decentralized Finance (DeFi). Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Maouchi, Youcef, Lanouar Charfeddine, and Ghassen El Montasser. 2022. Understanding digital bubbles amidst the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from DeFi and NFTs. *Finance Research Letters* 47: 102584. [CrossRef]
- Metelski, Dominik, and Antonio Mihi-Ramirez. 2015. The economic impact of remittances and foreign trade on migration. Granger-Causality approach. *Engineering Economics* 26: 364–72. [CrossRef]
- Meyer, Eva, Isabell Welpe, and Philipp Sandner. 2021. Decentralized finance—A systematic literature review and research directions. SSRN Electronic Journal 2021: 4016497. [CrossRef]
- Mohan, Vijay. 2022. Automated market makers and decentralized exchanges: A DeFi primer. *Financial Innovation* 8: 1–48. [CrossRef] Momtaz, Paul P. 2022. How efficient is Decentralized Finance (DeFi)? *SSRN Electronic Journal* 2022: 4063670. [CrossRef]
- Piñeiro-Chousa, Juan, María de los Ángeles López-Cabarcos, Aleksandar Sevic, and Isaac González-López. 2022. A preliminary assessment of the performance of DeFi cryptocurrencies in relation to other financial assets, volatility, and user-generated content. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 181: 121740. [CrossRef]

Popescu, Andrei-Dragoş. 2020. Decentralized Finance (DeFi)-The lego of finance. Social Sciences and Education Research Review 1: 321–49. Prokhorova, Tatiana. 2020. Forecasting Long-Term Effect of Marketing Actions on the Basis of the Analysis of Incremental Retention of

Gross Merchandise Volume. Proceedings of the European Marketing Academy 49: 64385.

- Qin, Kaihua, Liyi Zhou, Benjamin Livshits, and Arthur Gervais. 2021a. Attacking the defi ecosystem with flash loans for fun and profit. Paper presented at International Conference on Financial Cryptography and Data Security, Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, March 1–5.
- Qin, Kaihua, Liyi Zhou, Yaroslav Afonin, Ludovico Lazzaretti, and Arthur Gervais. 2021b. CeFi vs. DeFi—Comparing Centralized to Decentralized Finance. arXiv arXiv:2106.08157.

Reiter, Jonathan. 2022. Atomic Swaps As Options: A Derivative Finance Approach. SSRN Electronic Journal 2022: 4127846. [CrossRef]

- Saengchote, Kanis. 2021. Where do DeFi stablecoins go? A closer look at what DeFi composability really means. SSRN Electronic Journal 2021: 3893487. [CrossRef]
- Schär, Fabian. 2021. Decentralized finance: On blockchain-and smart contract-based financial markets. FRB of St. Louis Review 103: 153–74. [CrossRef]
- Schueffel, Patrick. 2021. DeFi: Decentralized Finance-An Introduction and Overview. Journal of Innovation Management 9: 1–9. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, Jeevesh. 2021. Venture Capital Funding In E-Commerce Firms in India. *Journal of Commerce & Accounting Research* 10: 84–94. Sobieraj, Janusz. 2019. *The Fourth Industrial Revolution*. Madrid: Aurum Universitas Hespéride.
- Sobieraj, Janusz, and Dominik Metelski. 2021. Testing Housing Markets for Episodes of Exuberance: Evidence from Different Polish Cities. Journal of Risk and Financial Management 14: 412. [CrossRef]
- Soiman, Florentina, Guillaume Dumas, and Sonia Jimenez-Garces. 2022. The return of (I) DeFiX. arXiv arXiv:2204.00251.
- Stepanova, Viktorija, and Ingars Eriņš. 2021. Review of decentralized finance applications and their total value locked. *TEM Journal* 10: 327–33. [CrossRef]
- Sun, Xiaotong, Charalampos Stasinakis, and Georigios Sermpinis. 2022. Decentralization illusion in DeFi: Evidence from MakerDAO. *arXiv* arXiv:2203.16612.
- Sun, Xinyuan, Shaokai Lin, Vilhelm Sjöberg, and Jay Jie. 2021. *How to Exploit a DeFi Project*. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 162–67. Swan, Melanie. 2015. *Blockchain: Blueprint for a New Economy*. Sebastopol: O'Reilly Media.
- Tefagh, Mojtaba, Fatemeh Bagheri, Amirhossein Khajehpour, and Melika Abdi. 2020. Atomic bonded cross-chain debt. Paper presented at the 3rd International Conference on Blockchain Technology and Applications, Xi'an, China, December 14–16.
- Thurman, Walter N., and Mark E. Fisher. 1988. Chickens, eggs, and causality, or which came first. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 70: 237–38. [CrossRef]
- Umami Documentation. 2022. Umami—Protocol-Owned Liquidity (POL). Available online: https://docs.umami.finance/umamifinance/protocol-mechanics/protocol-owned-liquidity-pol (accessed on 16 September 2022).
- Wang, Yizhi, Brian M. Lucey, and Samuel Vigne. 2022. Bubbles all the way down? Detecting and date-stamping bubble behaviour in DeFi and NFT markets. SSRN Electronic Journal 2022: 4038320.
- Werner, Sam M., Daniel Perez, Lewis Gudgeon, Ariah Klages-Mundt, Dominik Harz, and William J. Knottenbelt. 2021. Sok: Decentralized finance (defi). arXiv arXiv:2101.08778.
- Wheatley, Spencer, Didier Sornette, Tobias Huber, Max Reppen, and Robert N. Gantner. 2019. Are Bitcoin bubbles predictable? Combining a generalized Metcalfe's law and the log-periodic power law singularity model. *Royal Society Open Science* 6: 180538. [CrossRef]
- Wronka, Christoph. 2021. Financial crime in the decentralized finance ecosystem: New challenges for compliance. Journal of Financial Crime. ahead-of-print. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-09-2021-0218 (accessed on 20 September 2022). [CrossRef]
- Xu, Teng Andrea, and Jiahua Xu. 2022. A Short Survey on Business Models of Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Protocols. *arXiv* arXiv:2202.07742.
- Yan, Yan, Wentao Guo, Meng Zhao, Jinghe Hu, and Weipeng P. Yan. 2017. Optimizing Gross Merchandise Volume via DNN-MAB Dynamic Ranking Paradigm. arXiv arXiv:1708.03993.
- Yousaf, Imran, and Larisa Yarovaya. 2022. Static and Dynamic Connectedness Between NFTs, Defi and Other Assets: Portfolio Implication. Global Finance Journal 53: 100719. [CrossRef]
- Yousaf, Imran, Ramzi Nekhili, and Mariya Gubareva. 2022. Linkages between DeFi assets and conventional currencies: Evidence from the COVID-19 pandemic. International Review of Financial Analysis 81: 102082. [CrossRef]
- Zakieh, Abdul Razak, Semih Utku, and Fady Amroush. 2022. Evaluation of Cryptocurrencies Dynamically Based on Users' Preferences Using AHP. Paper presented at International Conference on Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems, Izmir, Turkey, July 19–21.
- Zetzsche, Dirk A., Douglas W. Arner, and Ross P. Buckley. 2020. Decentralized Finance. *Journal of Financial Regulation* 6: 172–203. [CrossRef]
- Zetzsche, Dirk Andreas, and Linn Anker-Sorensen. 2021. From Centralized to Decentralized Finance: The Issue of Fake-DeFi. SSRN Electronic Journal 2021: 3978815.

Zmaznev, Egor. 2021. Measuring Decentralized Finance Regulatory Uncertainty. Bergen: Norwegian School of Economics, pp. 1–43.




FinTech Entrepreneurial Ecosystems: Exploring the Interplay between Input and Output

Ekaterina Koroleva

Article

Graduate School of Industrial Economics, Peter the Great St. Petersburg Polytechnic University, 195251 St. Petersburg, Russia; koroleva_ev@spbstu.ru

Abstract: This paper aims to examine the interplay between the attributes of the FinTech ecosystem (input) and productive entrepreneurship (output) in Russian regions. A survey was used to gather data from FinTech representatives in ten selected regions located in Russia. The acquired responses allowed measuring the FinTech ecosystem attributes by calculating the FinTech ecosystem index. Correlation analysis was used to analyse the association between the FinTech ecosystem index and productive entrepreneurship, as measured by the number of FinTechs. Data envelopment analysis was used to determine regions with more productive entrepreneurship given the ecosystem attributes. The FinTech ecosystem index defines a similar environment in the analysed regions for financial sector entrepreneurship. The regions have high values of physical infrastructure, demand, and talent, while new knowledge and networks appear as weaknesses. Still, Moscow has the highest and Chelyabinsk the lowest FinTech ecosystem index. There appears a positive link between FinTech ecosystem attributes and productive entrepreneurship. The Moscow and Chelyabinsk regions are also revealed as the regions that effectively create an environment for productive entrepreneurship from the position of the Fintech ecosystem index. This study contributed to the existing literature by measuring FinTech ecosystem attributes and productive entrepreneurship, investigating the relationship between them and determining the territories with productive entrepreneurship. It also contributed to Russian FinTech literature by being the first to measure the environment for financial sector entrepreneurship.

Keywords: FinTech; entrepreneurial ecosystem; input and output layers; attributes; productive entrepreneurship

1. Introduction

An entrepreneurial ecosystem is a dynamically balanced system consisting of interdependent subjects and an entrepreneurial environment (Lu et al. 2021). Its input layer is based on attributes—conditions that allow or restrict entrepreneurship (Stam 2018). Productive entrepreneurship forms the output of an entrepreneurial ecosystem (Stam 2015). It refers to the innovation activity of entrepreneurs that contributes to the commercialisation of new ideas and knowledge and leads to economic growth in a certain territory (Aidis 2005; Acs and Szerb 2007).

The entrepreneurial ecosystem approach has gained prominence among scholars and practitioners in understanding an environment for productive entrepreneurship (Feld 2020; Szerb et al. 2019). However, the link between ecosystem attributes and productive entrepreneurship remains relatively unclear (Nicotra et al. 2018). Understanding this link is important to ensure the most favourable conditions for developing productive entrepreneurship, which can lead to economic growth in a particular territory.

This paper focuses on FinTech ecosystems (FEs); they are considered a type of entrepreneurial ecosystem that supports the development of FinTech companies (FinTechs), which are high-growth companies that disrupt or contribute to the provision of traditional financial services (Laidroo et al. 2021). FEs are characterised by the proliferation of FinTechs

Citation: Koroleva, Ekaterina. 2022. FinTech Entrepreneurial Ecosystems: Exploring the Interplay between Input and Output. *International Journal of Financial Studies* 10: 92. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs10040092

Academic Editors: Thanh Ngo, Aviral Kumar Tiwari and Tu Le

Received: 25 July 2022 Accepted: 27 September 2022 Published: 2 October 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). (Alaassar et al. 2021), which are often presented by start-ups and apply innovation in the financial sector. In the first half of 2019, 48 FinTech unicorns, start-ups valued at over USD 1 billion, accounted for 1% of the global financial industry (CBInsights 2019). This emphasises the high entrepreneurial activity in a FinTech ecosystem (FE) and allows one to perceive it as an entrepreneurial ecosystem.

Previous studies on FEs have either analysed the interplay between its actors (Hendrikse et al. 2020; Lee and Shin 2018; Yazici 2019) or focused on measuring their attributes (Ernst and Young 2014; Findexable 2021; Gagliardi 2018; Laidroo et al. 2021; Sinai Lab 2020). The disadvantage of most suggested measurement tools is that they focus on official statistics or the views of experts. The early stages of an FE's development and a lack of accumulated statistics (Diemers et al. 2015) have led to not including significant attributes or relying on a mix of information covering different territory levels. In addition, the number of studies is focused on the risks related to FinTechs (Vasenska et al. 2021; Morales et al. 2022) or the efficient use of digital technologies (Popova 2021; Lewandowska et al. 2021).

Nevertheless, to our knowledge, there is no measurement tool for FE attributes based on a survey that would allow us to aggregate the opinions of the FinTech community about the entrepreneurship environment in the financial sector. This study attempts to fill these gaps in the context of Russian regions.

Therefore, the goal of the study is measuring FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship, investigating the relationship between them and determining territories with more productive entrepreneurship.

The context of Russia is an interesting case for investigation for the following reasons. In 2021, Russia emerged as a TOP-20 country in the Global FinTech Index, rising 13 positions from the previous year (Findexable 2021). Russia has also been ranked in the TOP-3 countries for applying innovative solutions in the financial sector (Kuhn 2021). According to Ernst and Young (2019), the FinTech Adoption Index in Russia amounted to 82% in 2019, exceeding the global average rate. The above-mentioned achievements indicate that Russia has cultivated a favourable climate for FinTech development.

In this study, we developed a survey tool for measuring FE attributes: the FE index. This index extends previous conceptual and empirical work on entrepreneurial and FE ecosystems (Feld 2020; Isenberg 2011; Neck et al. 2004; Spigel 2017; Stam and van de Ven 2019; Szerb et al. 2019; Findexable 2021; Sinai Lab 2020; Laidroo et al. 2021). Two approaches—additive and multiplicative—were used to calculate the FE index.

There is no consensus in the ecosystem literature on the level of analysis—city, region, country, or other levels. This study is based on the regional level, like other empirical research on ecosystems (DeFries and Nagendra 2017; Leendertse et al. 2021; Stam 2018). The suggested tool for measuring FE attributes was tested for 10 Russian regions where most FinTechs are located.

The FE index recognises a similar environment in the analysed regions for financial sector entrepreneurship. These regions have high estimates of physical infrastructure, demand, and talent. New knowledge and networks appear to be this environment's weak sides in terms of financial sector entrepreneurship. Among these regions, Moscow has the most favourable environment for entrepreneurship in the financial sector. Such attributes as finance and leadership mostly determine Moscow's superiority over other regions. At the same time, the Chelyabinsk region has the lowest FE index value.

The correlation analysis showed a positive link between FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship, as measured by the number of FinTechs. Data envelopment analysis (DEA) indicated territories with productive entrepreneurship. With the additive FE index, Moscow was recognised as a region that has effectively created an environment for productive entrepreneurship. Regarding the multiplicative FE index, the Chelyabinsk region achieved the best results. The contrary results can be explained by the features of the FE index calculation and highlight the importance of choosing an adequate measure of FE attributes. The results of the DEA analysis also indicate that the physical infrastructure and demand in Russian regions are underutilised by entrepreneurs. In addition, the results high-

light finance, intermediate services, and formal institutions as attributes maximally used by entrepreneurs and require additional attention from policymakers for entrepreneurship development. Improving the understanding of FE attributes and their links to productive entrepreneurship would benefit both policymakers and entrepreneurs.

This paper contributes to the literature on entrepreneurial ecosystems (Stam 2018; Stam and van de Ven 2019; Mateos and Amorós 2019; Villegas-Mateos 2020; Leendertse et al. 2021) by supporting a positive link between an ecosystem's attributes and productive entrepreneurship. Based on this link, this current research provides a tool for identifying territories with productive entrepreneurship.

This paper contributes to the FinTech literature in several respects. It extends the literature on measuring FE attributes (Ernst and Young 2014; Gagliardi 2018; Findexable 2021; Sinai Lab 2020; Alaassar et al. 2021; Laidroo et al. 2021) by developing a surveybased approach. It also contributes to the FinTech literature in Russia (Kleiner et al. 2020; Koroleva et al. 2021; Vaganova et al. 2020) by being the first to measure FE attributes.

This article is structured as follows. The theoretical and empirical backgrounds are summarised in Section 2. The methodology and data are presented in Section 3. Section 4 concentrates on the results of this study. Finally, Section 5 provides a discussion and conclusion.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Entrepreneurial and FinTech Ecosystems

Several studies (Spigel 2017; Stam 2015) indicate that an entrepreneurial ecosystem approach can be used for synthesising academic research on entrepreneurship and its regional developments. This approach supposes the analysis of two main layers: the attributes of an ecosystem (input) and productive entrepreneurship (output). The connection between attributes and productive entrepreneurship is difficult to explain due to their interdependence. Attributes influence productive entrepreneurship, but over time, output also feedbacks into input (Stam 2015).

The main challenge in identifying attributes arises from entrepreneurial ecosystems' diverse origins and complexity (Spigel 2017). Although there is no universal approach to classifying the attributes of entrepreneurial ecosystems, different scholars and practitioners have attempted to create classifications and tools for measuring them. Table 1 summarises the classifications of entrepreneurial ecosystem attributes found in the literature. The relevant articles were collected from the 2004–2020 Scopus database using the keywords 'attributes of entrepreneurial ecosystem' and 'elements of entrepreneurial ecosystem'.

 Table 1. Overview of entrepreneurial ecosystem attributes.

Research	Formal Institutions	Entrepreneurship Culture	Physical Infrastructure	Demand	Networks	Finance	Leadership	Talent	New Knowledge	Intermediate Services
Stam (2015); Stam and van de Ven (2019); Leendertse et al. (2021)	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Szerb et al. (2019)	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-
Nicotra et al. (2018)	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+
Spigel (2017)	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
Liguori et al. (2018); Isenberg (2011)	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+
Cohen (2006); Neck et al. (2004)	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+

Note: + means the research includes the attribute and - means that it does not include it.

The comparison of entrepreneurial ecosystem attributes was based on Stam's (2015) model because it provides the most comprehensive view of an entrepreneurial ecosystem, including institutional arrangements and resource endowment elements. This model consists of 10 attributes: formal institutions, entrepreneurship culture, networks, physical infrastructure, finance, leadership, talent, new knowledge, demand, and intermediate services.

Formal institutions reflect the regulation and role of the government in ecosystem formation. Entrepreneurship culture characterises the value of entrepreneurship. It consists of an entrepreneur's innovativeness, willingness to take risks, self-organisation, and motivation. Physical infrastructure includes transport and digital infrastructure, which support the development of entrepreneurship. Demand reflects the readiness of customers to buy products or use services. Networks reflect collaboration between actors and their readiness for equal dialogue. Finance reflects access to different financial resources. Leadership characterises actors taking a leadership role in an entrepreneurial ecosystem. Talent covers the labour market and higher education. This represents the availability of highly qualified training of entrepreneurs or specialists in the market who support entrepreneurs in the process of starting a business. R&D investments are included in the attributes of the entrepreneurial ecosystem as new knowledge. Intermediate services characterise support by informal institutions, such as incubators or accelerators. In this paper, we also relied on Liguori et al. (2018) while developing a survey covering FE attributes.

Most attempts to measure FE attributes have been made by analytical companies. Sinai Lab (2020) created the Global FinTech Hub Index as an expansion of applying another index—the China FinTech Hub Index. This index is based on three perspectives, enterprise, consumer, and government, and ensures the cross-comparability of data from different countries. The Global FinTech Index (Findexable 2021) consists of three metrics, the number of FinTechs, the number of unicorns, and the environment, and ignores quality information about FE attributes. The developers of this index explained the choice of metrics using their own and their partners' experiences. According to Ernst and Young (2014), it is adequate to highlight four main FE attributes—talent, capital, policy, and demand—and estimate them from the opinions of experts. The report by Gagliardi (2018), based on 15 interviews with renowned experts, followed FE attributes: demand drive, systemic linkages, and regulatory oversight.

Practitioners' indices determine an FE's key attributes. First, it is an activity of formal institutions. Developing FinTech-friendly regulations and special state programmes contributes to developing entrepreneurship in the financial sector. Then, demand reflects the popularity of FinTech services among customers. Finance, talent, and networks are used at least once in calculating corresponding indices. Nevertheless, the indices suffer from a lack of theoretical background and are based on developers' experience. This means that indices may ignore the significant attributes and complexity of a FinTech ecosystem. A lack of accumulated statistical resources leads to basing these indices on a mixture of information covering different territories (country versus region).

Academics have suggested alternative approaches to measuring FE attributes. Based on the ecosystem index by Stam and van de Ven (2019), Laidroo et al. (2021) developed the additive FE index at the country level. We highlight the importance of IT infrastructure and FinTech regulation and reveal these elements as separate attributes of an FE. The disadvantage of this index is the unequal weight of the attributes. To our knowledge, no further attempts have been made to measure FE attributes.

A healthy entrepreneurial ecosystem generates productive entrepreneurship as an output. The term productive entrepreneurship lacks a single agreed-upon definition. Productive entrepreneurship reflects any activity that contributes to the net output of an economy. For Aidis (2005), this refers to innovative actions that result in an economically productive business. Acs and Szerb (2007) emphasise that productive entrepreneurship enables the creation and commercialisation of valuable knowledge.

Considering these definitions, it is possible to determine the main characteristics of productive entrepreneurship. First, productive entrepreneurship contributes to economic

growth, including job creation. Then, it generates innovation. Finally, it is a way of commercialising new ideas and knowledge. In the framework of this current research, productive entrepreneurship is understood as an innovation activity that contributes to the commercialisation of new ideas and knowledge and leads to economic growth in a certain territory. In Section 3.2 of this paper, a measure of productive entrepreneurship is suggested based on the proposed definition.

2.2. Developing the Conceptual Framework

In line with previous research, applying the ten attributes of an entrepreneurial ecosystem may require adjustments when considering an FE (see Table 2).

Attribute	Description
Formal institutions	The extent to which a government supports the FinTech activity
Entrepreneurship culture	The extent to which entrepreneurship is valued
Physical infrastructure	The extent to which potential customers of FinTech services have access to the internet
Demand	The extent to which potential customers adopt FinTech services
Networks	The extent of communication between actors within the FE framework
Leadership	Leadership that guides and directs collective action
Talent	The extent of individuals with skills adequate for FinTech development
Finance	The amount of capital invested in FinTechs
New knowledge	Investments in new knowledge
Intermediate services	The supply and accessibility of intermediate business services

Table 2. Attributes of an FE.

The classification of FE attributes includes the attributes mentioned in previous research and ensures a comprehensive FE view.

Formal institutions identify the rules of organising a business and of government supporting FinTech entrepreneurship. The FinTech sector is connected to applying innovations, which are often restricted by compliance with certain regulations (Bromberg et al. 2017). Entrepreneurship culture covers the propensity for entrepreneurship, including its popularity and the attitudes of the society. It is also based on the history of successful FinTechs, among other aspects. It can provide benefits and resources for potential entrepreneurs regarding how to best organise a business in the FinTech sector. Physical infrastructure reflects the possibility of customers receiving FinTech services, which require the use of web resources. This would be impossible without the creation of certain physical infrastructure. Demand is critical to the health of any sector, especially the nascent FinTech sector (Ernst and Young 2014), and is identified by customers' readiness to use FinTech services.

Spigel (2017) insisted on the different emphases of actors and their roles in an ecosystem framework. However, it is necessary to ensure equal access to actors and terms for a network to develop entrepreneurship in the financial sector (Brush et al. 2019). Leadership guides collective action (Stam and van de Ven 2019) and identifies trends in the financial sector. This leadership is critical in building and maintaining a healthy ecosystem (Feldman 2014). The ease of creating a team to start a FinTech project or to find a suitable candidate for an employment vacancy also contributes to developing entrepreneurship in the financial sector. Talent emphasises the relevance of the availability of potential employees with suitable IT and business skills and adequate experience in the financial sector.

Within an FE, access to financing is a critical attribute that ensures the growth of individual companies and the entire industry. That is why it is relevant to develop bank credits and alternative financing (e.g., venture capital, business angels, etc.). To apply innovative solutions, it is necessary to invest in and develop them. Therefore, new technological knowledge is highlighted as one FE attribute. Intermediate services include support from informal institutions, such as incubators and accelerators. Organisations create accelerator programmes and coworking spaces (Block et al. 2018). They also connect investors to promising FinTechs, which broadens their financing possibilities (Alaassar et al. 2021).

2.3. Level of Analysis

There is no consensus in the entrepreneurial ecosystem literature regarding the level of analysis of entrepreneurial ecosystems—city, region, country, or other levels. Relevant boundaries of an entrepreneurial ecosystem are difficult to identify due to their openness. Each attribute of an ecosystem can have its own boundaries (Leendertse et al. 2021). Government support is limited by the governmental level (i.e., municipal, regional, or national). The development of physical infrastructure is identified by localities. The training of qualified personnel for entrepreneurship depends on an educational institution's location. New knowledge can be identified by the location of the innovation centres.

Kuckertz (2019) distinguished between the administrative, spatial, and conceptual boundaries of an entrepreneurial ecosystem. DeFries and Nagendra (2017) insisted on the necessity of going beyond administrative boundaries to involve stakeholders in an entrepreneurial ecosystem. Leendertse et al. (2021) focused on the analysis of entrepreneurial ecosystems at the regional level (i.e., between the municipal and national levels). However, entrepreneurs' activities are not restricted by cities or regions and can go beyond a specific country. Entrepreneurs can also be actors in several entrepreneurial ecosystems or connectors of ecosystems on a global scale (Malecki 2011). Nevertheless, ecosystem management is place-based (Roundy et al. 2018), which is why, in the framework of this current research, the defining of entrepreneurial ecosystem boundaries is possible.

Experience in measuring FE attributes also shows different levels of analysis. Laidroo et al. (2021) concentrated on the country level. Ernst and Young (2014) and Sinai Lab (2020) focused on the city level. Findexable (2021) published the Global FinTech Index on two levels simultaneously: country and cities.

In this current study, the theoretical background is the entrepreneurial ecosystem approach. Based on the results of highly cited research on entrepreneurial ecosystems (DeFries and Nagendra 2017; Leendertse et al. 2021; Stam 2018), we focused on a regional-level analysis of FEs.

3. Data and Methodology

3.1. Initial Data

In the framework of this research, a FinTech is defined as a company that contributes to the provision of financial services and has generally innovative information technology elements in its activities. It can be an independent or bank-owned company. To measure FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship and investigate the relationship between them, it was necessary to collect data on FinTechs in Russian regions. To collect data on companies, different official data sources were analysed (e.g., banks' and accelerators' websites, media)¹. As a result, a list of 332 companies was compiled and registered in 2020 in a certain region of Russia. The distribution of FinTechs across the Russian regions is presented in Table 3.

FinTechs' uneven regional distributions may indicate different stages of development and distribution of FinTech services. To achieve the goal of this research, 10 identified regions were selected for further analysis. Based on Stam's (2015) model, the data on FE attributes were collected mostly via an online survey and covered the conceptual framework developed earlier. The focus group for the survey comprised FinTech owners, board members, or executives. Table 4 presents empirical indicators of each attribute, source, and scale.

Design	Fin	Fechs
Kegion	Number	Share (%)
Moscow	272	81.93
St. Petersburg	16	4.82
Republic of Tatarstan	6	1.81
Sverdlovsk region	5	1.51
Novosibirsk region	4	1.20
Nizhny Novgorod region	3	0.90
Perm region	3	0.90
Voronezh region	3	0.90
Chelyabinsk region	3	0.90
Rostov region	3	0.90
Other regions	14	4.22
Total:	332	100.00

Table 3. The distribution of FinTechs across Russian regions.

Table 4. Indicators for measuring the FE Index.

Attribute	Empirical Indicator	Source	Scale
Earne al Institution a	Presence of special FinTech programs	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Formal institutions	FinTech-friendly regulatory legislation	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
	Risk-taking	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Entrepreneurship culture	Doing business	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Physical infractory stars	Companies using the internet (as % companies)	Official statistics of regions	0 to 100 (best)
Physical infrastructure	Internet users (as % population)	Official statistics of regions	0 to 100 (best)
Domand	Using the Internet for financial transactions (companies)	Official statistics of regions	0 to 100 (best)
Demana	Using the Internet for financial transactions (population)	Official statistics of regions	0 to 100 (best)
Naturarka	Dialogue between actors	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
INELWOIKS	Equal terms of competition	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Leadership	Initiative of entrepreneurs	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Leadership	Presence of leadership	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Talont	Ease of creating a team	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Talent	Ease of finding an employee	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Financo	Access to information about financing possibilities	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
rinance	Ease of access to financing	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
NT 1 1 1	R&D cooperation	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
New knowledge		Survey	1 to 5 (best)
Intermediate convices	Availability of incubators and accelerators	Survey	1 to 5 (best)
intermediate services	Availability of advisers	Survey	1 to 5 (best)

The initial idea was to develop the FE index based only on the survey results. After designing the draft survey, a pre-test was performed on five respondents to define any inadequate and potentially ambiguous expressions. Most respondents reflected that they were not competent in assessing demand and physical infrastructure. Therefore, information on these attributes was added from official statistics. Data collected from official statistics reflected the situation in specific regions at the end of 2021. The final survey questionnaire and its correspondence to empirical indicators and sources are presented in Appendix A.

Google Forms was used as the main survey platform. The survey was carried out from May to August 2021 by representatives of Russian FinTechs. Links to the online questionnaire were sent to FinTechs via email or by mobile application in the framework of the conference TechWeek (31 May–2 June 2021). Suitable emails were determined based on

the data presented on the companies' web pages or were found via personal contacts. The first email was followed by two to three reminders.

As a result, the dataset includes 137 responses: 100 from Moscow, 10 from Saint Petersburg, 5 from the Sverdlovsk region, 4 from the Novosibirsk region, 3 from each the Republic of Tatarstan, Nizhny Novgorod, Perm, Voronezh, Chelyabinsk, and Rostov regions. For Moscow, St. Petersburg, and the Republic of Tatarstan, the survey covered part of FinTechs' population. This is explained by the large number of FinTechs in the regions, which led to the necessity of assessing the severity of the sampling bias. For other regions, the survey covered all representatives of FinTechs.

To assess the severity of sampling bias, the representativeness of the sample was tested using a chi-square test statistic and two indicators: the type of FinTech owner and Skolkovo membership. Skolkovo is an innovation centre that aims to develop technology entrepreneurship and research in Russia. To benefit from Skolkovo, FinTechs aim to be a member of the innovation centre. The choice of indicators is explained by the availability of relevant information. In the case of the presence of several types of owners in one company, all were included in a further analysis. Therefore, the number of owners can be greater than the number of FinTechs.

It was necessary to test whether the distribution of FinTechs in the sample was the same as in the original sample. These and further calculations were carried out in the STATA. The results of the chi-square test are presented in Table 5.

Moscow										
The owner of FinTechs	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Bank Individual Company (not bank) VC fund	38 53 17 7	29 46 20 6	$1.671 \\ 1.032 \\ -0.671 \\ 0.408$							
Pearson chi2 test (3) = 4.4750 Pr = 0.215										
FinTech is a member of Skolkovo	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Yes No	15 85	17 83	$-0.485 \\ 0.220$							
	Pearson chi2 test (1) = 0.2835 Pr = 0.594								
	St. Pet	ersburg								
The owner of a FinTech	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Bank Individual Company (not a bank) VC fund	0 7 4 2	0 10 2 3	- -0.949 1.414 -0.577							
	Pearson chi2 test (3) = 3.233 Pr = 0.199								
FinTech is a member of Skolkovo	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Yes No	4 6	3 7	$0.577 \\ -0.378$							
	Pearson chi2 test (1) = 0.4762 Pr = 0.490								
	Republic of	of Tatarstan								
The owner of FinTech	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Bank Individual Company (not bank) VC fund	0 3 1 1	0 3 1 1								
	Pearson chi2 test (3	F = 0.0000 Pr = 1.000								
FinTech is a member of Skolkovo	Observed	Expected	Pearson							
Yes No	1 2	1 2	-							
	Pearson chi2 test (1	= 0.0000 Pr = 1.000								

Table 5. Comparison of sample and original distributions.

Insignificant *p*-values (Pr) in all cases imply that the distribution of the sample accords with the analysed regions' population statistics.

3.2. Methodology

This section is structured according to the goal of the study. First, the author suggests the approaches of measuring the FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship. Then, the tool of evaluating the association between the identified indicators is discussed.

3.2.1. Calculating the FE Index

To map FE attributes, the FE index was constructed. This index compares different regions and ranks them in terms of a set of indicators. The algorithm for constructing the FE index was developed based on existing studies (Stam 2018; Stam and van de Ven 2019; Leendertse et al. 2021; Laidroo et al. 2021) and by considering the limitations of the developed measures of ecosystem attributes.

Constructing the FE index included five main stages. The first step was to calculate the average value of the empirical indicators measured by the survey. According to the information presented in Table 4, the scales of the indicators differed. The second step was to normalise the scales of the indicators. To index formalisation, it was necessary to ensure equal weight (Leendertse et al. 2021). Therefore, indicators from official statistics were adapted to a Likert scale (from 1 to 5 (best)).

The third step was the reduction of FE indicators to a comparable value. This was achieved by normalising the average value of each indicator to 1 (Stam 2018). This means that indicators in the regions performing below average have a value below 1, while indicators performing better than average have a value above 1. The fourth step consisted of ensuring the same weight of attributes in the FE index. Each ecosystem attribute was represented by two indicators. The same number of indicators for each attribute ensures the same weight in the FE index. In future research, the weighing methodology may change based on the opinions of experts or the professional community.

Finally, the value of the attributes was summed into one index. The index value remained close to 10. This means that the regions performing on average for all scoring attributes had an index value of 10. Regions performing higher than average for all scoring attributes had an index value greater than 10, while regions performing lower than average for all scoring for all scoring attributes had an index value lower than 10.

Stam (2018) also analysed complex interactions among entrepreneurial ecosystem attributes and suggested calculating a multiplicative ecosystem index. This leads to index values with a much larger variation. In this research, two approaches to calculating the FE index were also used. The suggested approach overcame the limitations of previous measures of ecosystem attributes via these aspects.

First, the survey-based approach provided the opportunity to represent the opinions of many representatives of FinTechs. As a result, the data gathered better describe an ecosystem's attributes (Mathers et al. 1998). To assess the severity of sampling bias, the representativeness of the sample was tested using the chi-square test statistic with different criteria. The survey-based approach ensured the comparability of the collected data using the same questions in the same way. Second, the survey-based approach allowed for the collection of data within a particular territory and avoided the use of information from different territory levels to assess the attributes of ecosystems at a certain level. The normalisation of the scales of the indicators ensures their equal weight-to-index formalisation.

3.2.2. Indicating the Productive Entrepreneurship

There is no universal measure of productive entrepreneurship. The literature review by Nicotra et al. (2018) revealed three approaches to measuring entrepreneurship: grossbased, assumption-based, and performance-based. Gross entrepreneurship focuses on the net entry of regional indicators. For example, Piergiovanni et al. (2012) analysed the growth of companies in specialised industries. Carree and Thurik (2008) focused on changes in labour productivity at the regional level. The assumption-based approach to productive entrepreneurship focuses on the survival of start-ups. Coad and Rao (2008) indicated that innovation-based start-ups are more survival-oriented than not. Thus, innovation-based start-ups can be a possible indicator of productive entrepreneurship.

Performance-based productive entrepreneurship focuses on the number of highgrowth start-ups as an indicator. According to Acs and Szerb (2007), high-growth start-ups play a special role in contributing to the economic growth of territories. Leendertse et al. (2021) suggested focusing on the number of gazelles—companies that increase their revenue by at least 20%, starting from a revenue base of USD 1 million. Acs et al. (2017) insisted on using a stronger term: the number of unicorns.

Measuring productive entrepreneurship in Russian regions is not an easy task. The official statistics of Russian regions do not allow diversification of indicators—labour productivity or gross regional product—depending on a specific industry (including FinTech). There are also no unicorns in Russia (Stas 2021). We also found no gazelles in the Russian regions. Based on an assumption-based approach to productive entrepreneurship, the number of FinTechs is identified as a possible measure. Thus, FE attributes were measured by the FE index, and productive entrepreneurship by the number of FinTechs.

3.2.3. Testing the Association between the FE Index and Productive Entrepreneurship

To analyse the links between the indicators, a correlation analysis was conducted on a dataset of 10 Russian regions. This was selected partly because correlation analysis was the most common tool used in previous studies (Stam 2018; Stam and van de Ven 2019). However, the small sample size reduced the relevance of the regression analysis.

DEA was used to estimate the efficiency of Russian regions using FE attributes in productive entrepreneurship. This method was originally developed for the efficiency measurement of different units and is widely used in the context of entrepreneurship (Lafuente et al. 2018; Pandey 2018). DEA is a nonparametric approach based on linear programming that determines the efficiency level for each unit in a sample. The efficiency level of the decision-making units (DMUs) was identified in comparison with the best unit in the sample by deriving the compared efficiency. DEA calculates a single relative ratio for each DMU in a sample by comparing input and output information.

In the context of this current research, the DMU was a particular region in Russia, the input was the value of the FE index, and the output was the number of FinTechs. The main advantage of DEA is its ability to compare diverse and heterogeneous inputs–outputs simultaneously, with no assumption about the data distribution (Lee and Ji 2009). The number of DMUs should be not less than the multiplication of the numbers of outputs and inputs and not less than three times the sum of the numbers of outputs and inputs (Cooper et al. 2007). Therefore, the DEA analysis based on 10 regions in Russia was considered fair. The DEA efficiency value ranged from 0.0 to 1.0. Regions with a DEA efficiency value equal to 1.0 were considered effective. Regions with an efficiency value lower than 1.0 were considered ineffective.

Two types of DEA are widely used by researchers. They are input-oriented (focused on the minimisation of input information) and output-oriented (focused on the maximisation of output information) analyses. In the framework of this research, the DEA model was oriented towards the output. Policymakers and entrepreneurs aim to engage in a created environment by maximally developing entrepreneurship in a region.

DEA allows for determining slacks (Sharma et al. 2009), represented by the magnitude of inefficiency in particular inputs. Due to slacks, we additionally analysed the separate attributes of FEs and indicated ones that used inefficiency in a certain Russian region.

4. Results

4.1. The FE Index

Based on the algorithm discussed in Section 3.2, the distribution of the average values of FE attributes (normalised to one scale) in Russian regions is presented in Appendix B.

In the analysed regions, the attributes' values are distributed similarly. This indicates a similar approach to creating an environment to develop entrepreneurship in the financial sector. The regions have high-quality physical infrastructures. Ninety percent of the population (or companies) in the Russian regions has access to the internet. This means that around 90% of the population or companies are potential customers of FinTech services. This number is comparable to the value of the 2019 FinTech Adoption Index in Russia. According to Ernst and Young (2019), 82% of people have used FinTech services.

Physical infrastructure influences customers' adoption of FinTech services and customers' related demands. In the case of Russian regions, demand achieves sufficiently high evaluations. It reflects a significant portion of customers, including companies, who use the internet for financial transactions. The attribute talent evaluated highly. If the founders of FinTechs do not have adequate knowledge, they will need a team of experts with such knowledge to support the launch of a FinTech (Koroleva et al. 2021). A high score for this attribute means that the representatives of FinTechs do not encounter the problem of finding experts with knowledge supporting a FinTech's launch in Russian regions.

New knowledge and networks are recognised as the weak sides of the environment for entrepreneurship in the financial sector. According to the opinions of FinTech representatives, organisations are not investing enough in R&D. The application of innovative solutions is associated with difficulties in legislation and the risk of customers' negative attitudes towards a service (Arner et al. 2017; Chuang et al. 2016). Therefore, companies are not very interested in scientific developments and prefer to suggest services based on proven solutions.

In addition, an ecosystem's actors have unequal access to the financial sector. The feature of FinTech development in Russia is the superiority of banks and the state (Stas 2021). Currently, the focus of the Central Bank of Russia is to create an infrastructure environment (e.g., remote identification, a fast payment system, etc.) that would provide equal access and ensure competition for each FE actor. However, despite the Central Bank's efforts, evaluations of networks remain low.

Intermediate services (support of incubators, accelerators, or other advisers) receive high evaluations in Moscow, St. Petersburg, and the Republic of Tatarstan. Most intermediate services in Russia are in innovation centres. A significant share of FinTechs that participated in the survey were Skolkovo members. Perhaps such high values are due to this aspect.

In comparison with other regions, Moscow has high values in leadership. This can be explained by the location of the Central Bank of Russia and most cluster organisations in the financial sector. Moscow also has a sufficiently high evaluation of access to finance. Generally, alternative financing has not developed in Russia compared to other countries (Lyasnikov et al. 2017). Nonetheless, Moscow is more attractive for FinTech entrepreneurship than other regions. Most exhibitions and competitions for obtaining additional financial resources are held in Moscow. Therefore, for FinTechs, it is easier to acquire information about possible financing and to participate in competitions there. Finance and leadership mostly determine Moscow's superiority over other regions.

With the implementation of the proposed algorithm, the following results were obtained with the additive FE index (see Figure 1).

Moscow, St. Petersburg, and the Republic of Tatarstan perform better than the average for most attributes and had an index value higher than 10. The Novosibirsk and Nizhny Novgorod regions have FE index values of around 10 (9.73 and 9.6, respectively). Other regions performed lower than average for most attributes and had an index value below 10.



Figure 1. Additive FE index for Russian regions.

The maximum ranges of attribute evaluations are in intermediate services, finance, and formal institutions. This highlights the differences in access to finance, local and state programmes, and support from intermediate business services in the regions. Demand and physical infrastructures varied the least and achieved high evaluations. This shows the relevance of internet access and customers' readiness to use FinTech services in all Russian regions.

The disadvantage of the additive FE index is that attributes with above-average evaluations have a stronger effect on the index than do attributes with below-average values. Supporting Stam (2018), the results of the calculation of the multiplicative FE index are presented in Figure 2. The multiplicative FE index has a variation much larger than the additive index.



Figure 2. Multiplicative FE index for Russian regions.

As expected, the multiplicative FE index highlights a significant gap in all attributes of Moscow from other regions but does not contradict the conclusions drawn from the additive FE index. Considering the complex and nonlinear relationship between an entrepreneurial ecosystem's attributes (Stam 2018), we support that the multiplicative index is superior to the additive index.

4.2. Relationship between FE Attributes and Productive Entrepreneurship

To test the link between FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship, a correlation analysis was conducted (see Table 6).

Correlation Coefficient	Additive FE Index	Multiplicative FE Index
Number of FinTechs	0.85 ***	0.99 ***
7		

Table 6. Relation between FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship.

Note: *** *p* < 0.001.

Both FE indices were positively and statistically correlated significantly with the number of FinTechs. This result supports the positive association between FE attributes (input) and productive entrepreneurship (output).

Applying DEA allows for defining Russian regions with productive entrepreneurship, considering the value of the FE index. The results are presented in Table 7.

 Table 7. Identification of efficient Russian regions, comparing values of the FE index with productive entrepreneurship.

	Additiv	ve FE Index	Multiplica	tive FE Index
Region	Rank Efficiency Value		Rank	Efficiency Value
Moscow	1	1.000	8	0.049
St. Petersburg	2	0.079	9	0.046
Republic of Tatarstan	3	0.032	10	0.040
Sverdlovsk region	4	0.031	6	0.125
Novosibirsk region	5	0.025	7	0.121
Nizhny Novgorod region	10	0.019	5	0.126
Perm region	9	0.022	4	0.445
Voronezh region	8	0.022	3	0.543
Chelyabinsk region	6	0.024	1	1.000
Rostov region	7	0.023	2	0.785

Using different approaches to calculate the FE index led to opposite results. This can be explained by differences in the initial data. Moscow has a 1633.16 times higher multiplicative FE index value than the Chelyabinsk region and a 2.12 times higher value with the additive FE index. Such a huge difference in measuring the environment for entrepreneurship in the financial sector led to contrary results and highlights the importance of choosing adequate measures for FE attributes.

The results based on the additive index indicate that Moscow is the region that effectively creates an environment for productive entrepreneurship. The results of the multiplicative index rank the Chelyabinsk region as the most efficient. Recall that this region received the lowest FE index value. The recognition of a region as effective means that it makes the most of the environment created in the region for productive entrepreneurship in the financial sector.

The DEA analysis, by additionally calculating slacks, revealed attributes with enough high value and that are underutilised by entrepreneurs in their activities within the framework of the financial sector. The results are presented in Table 8.

	Formal Institutions	Entrepreneurship Culture	Physical Infrastructure	Demand	Networks	Leadership	Talent	Finance	New Knowledge	Intermediate Services
Moscow	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
St. Petersburg	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.01	0.04	-	0.03	0.03
Republic of Tatarstan	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	-	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.03
Sverdlovsk region	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.04	-
Novosibirsk region	0.01	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.02	-
Nizhny Novgorod region	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	-
Perm region	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	-
Voronezh region	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	-
Chelyabinsk region	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	-
Rostov region	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.03	-

Table 8. The slack of inefficient Russian regions.

In the context of Russian regions, physical infrastructure and demand are attributes underutilised by entrepreneurs in their financial sector activities. The insufficient use of attributes is explained by the insufficient development of other attributes. This was also visible in Spigel (2017), who showed a significant dependence between attributes in an ecosystem.

Finance, intermediate services, and formal institutions are identified as attributes maximally used by entrepreneurs and require additional attention from policymakers for developing entrepreneurship. This partly supports the conclusions made earlier in the results of analysing the FE index. In Russian regions, alternative finance (e.g., venture capital, business angels, etc.) is poorly developed. Most FinTechs are financed by their owners (Koroleva et al. 2021). Intermediate services are located mostly near innovation centres. Therefore, support from incubators or accelerators is accessible only to members of these centres. Formal institutions highlight the necessity of developing FinTech-friendly legislation and special state programmes. Thus, improving the understanding of FE attributes and their links to productive entrepreneurship could benefit policymakers and entrepreneurs.

5. Conclusions and Discussion

This paper provides evidence of the relationship between FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship in regions of Russia. We propose a survey-based tool for measuring the attributes of FEs that seems to properly capture underlying phenomena. This approach expands the application of Stam's (2015) model and Liguori et al.'s (2018) perceptual measure to FEs in terms of measuring attributes. The suggested approach provides the opportunity to represent the opinions of many FinTech representatives. A survey-based approach allows for the consideration of FEs' uniqueness and remains flexible in terms of covered territory.

The creation of a favourable environment for entrepreneurship had a positive association with productive entrepreneurship in the financial sector of Russian regions. In addition, the DEA analysed the regions with productive entrepreneurship, based on the results of measuring FE attributes. These results can help policymakers and entrepreneurs understand the strengths and weaknesses of a certain region's environment and use them to accelerate business activity in the financial sector. The results of the DEA analysis support Spigel (2017) in matters of the interdependence of an FE's attributes and highlight the need for more balanced development of an entrepreneurial environment in the financial sector.

This paper extends the literature on measuring FE attributes (Ernst and Young 2014; Gagliardi 2018; Findexable 2021; Sinai Lab 2020; Alaassar et al. 2021; Laidroo et al. 2021) by developing a survey-based approach. It also contributes to FinTech research in Russia (Kleiner et al. 2020; Koroleva et al. 2021; Vaganova et al. 2020) by being the first to measure FE attributes in regions of Russia. The approbation of the algorithm determines a similar approach for creating an environment to develop entrepreneurship in the financial sectors of different regions. The regions have sufficiently developed physical infrastructures and high demand for FinTech services. New knowledge and networks were defined as weak aspects of the entrepreneurial environment in Russia's financial sector. It is also possible to highlight the unbalanced development of FE attributes throughout the regions.

This paper contributes to the literature on entrepreneurial ecosystems (Stam and van de Ven 2019; Mateos and Amorós 2019; Villegas-Mateos 2020; Leendertse et al. 2021) by analysing the link between ecosystem attributes and productive entrepreneurship and by suggesting a tool for revealing effective regions in the context of FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship. This allows us to determine the attributes that are underutilised or not sufficiently developed to contribute to entrepreneurs' activities.

Our results have limitations. The analysis was based on a relatively small number of regions in one period. To arrive at more robust findings, this analysis should be repeated in multiple periods. This would deliver more data points of FE index values and productive entrepreneurship and allow for feedback effects of productive entrepreneurship on FE attributes. The analyses should also be repeated in other contexts, potentially estimating different relationships between FE attributes and productive entrepreneurship. The approbation of a developed survey-based approach was realised at the regional level. However, it can be debated whether regional borders provide the most adequate boundaries for FEs. Boundaries are almost always arbitrary, likely somewhere between the municipal and national levels (Stam 2018; Stam and van de Ven 2019; Leendertse et al. 2021).

Despite these limitations, and due to the increasing role of FinTechs, this paper provided a unique example of measuring FE attributes based on the survey approach, understanding the link between attributes and productive entrepreneurship, and indicating territories that effectively use a created environment to develop entrepreneurship in the financial sector.

Funding: The research is partially funded by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation under the strategic academic leadership program 'Priority 2030' (Agreement 075-15-2021-1333 dated 30 September 2021).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The author declares no conflict of interest.

Empirical Indicator	Claim	Scale	Source
Presence of special FinTech programs	The local government has programmes in place to help new FinTechs, such as with training programmes or special grants.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)
FinTech-friendly regulatory legislation	There is clear progressive regulatory legislation that supports FinTech activity in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Pollari (2017)
Risk-taking	The social values and culture of the region encourage entrepreneurial risk-taking.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Doğan (2016)
Doing business	It is relatively easy to start a business, including in the region's financial sector.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Feld (2020)
Dialogue between actors	The actors of an FE aim to communicate with each other on controversial issues in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Hendrikse et al. (2018)
Equal terms of competition	The actors of an FE compete on equal terms in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Brush et al. (2019)
Initiative of entrepreneurs	The social values in the region encourage FinTech founders' self-sufficiency and personal initiatives.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)
Presence of leadership	There is a certain leader who guides and directs collective action in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Lobo et al. (2016)
Ease of creating a team	It is easy for FinTechs to create a team of individuals with knowledge supporting its launch in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Koroleva et al. (2021)
Ease of finding an employee	It is easy for FinTechs in the region to find an employee to fill an open position.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Kuzmina-Merlino and Saksonova (2018)
Access to information about financing possibilities	Information on what funding programmes are available for FinTechs is easily accessible.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)
Ease of access to financing	Local individual investors in the region are willing to financially support FinTechs.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)
P&D conception	Financial organisations have cooperative agreements in R&D with other actors in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Cassiman and Veugelers (2002)
K&D cooperation	Financial organisations invest in R&D in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Cassiman and Veugelers (2002)
Availability of incubators and accelerators	Local organisations (e.g., incubators and accelerators) are active in supporting FinTechs.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)
Availability of advisers	Professional services (e.g., lawyers and accountants) for FinTechs are readily available in the region.	1—completely wrong; 2—wrong; 3—rather yes than no; 4—true; 5—absolutely true	Liguori et al. (2018)

Appendix A. Indicators and Questions in the Questionnaire

Attribute	Empirical Indicator	Moscow	St. Petersburg	epublic of Tatarstan	Sverdlovsk Region	Vovosibirsk Region	hny Novgorod Region	Perm Region	Voronezh Region	Chelyabinsk Region	Rostov Region	Mean
				H			Niz					
Formal institutions	Presence of special FinTech programs	3.78	2.30	2.00	1.40	1.33	1.66	1.33	1.33	1.00	1.00	1.71
Formal institutions	FinTech-friendly regulatory legislation	2.36	1.90	1.00	1.33	1.25	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.33	1.32
Entrepreneurship	Risk-taking	3.72	2.60	2.67	2.20	2.75	2.66	2.33	1.66	1.33	2.00	2.39
culture	Doing business	3.11	2.50	2.00	2.20	2.50	2.00	1.33	1.00	1.00	1.33	1.90
Physical	Internet users (companies)	4.92	4.66	4.91	4.74	4.50	4.73	4.52	4.74	4.62	4.68	4.70
infrastructure	Internet users (population)	4.60	4.48	4.38	4.30	4.20	3.89	4.07	3.77	4.24	4.35	4.23
Demand	Using the Internet for financial transactions (companies)	4.36	3.96	3.35	3.52	3.40	3.58	3.48	3.55	3.55	3.74	3.65
Demand	Using the Internet for financial transactions (population)	4.51	4.46	4.28	4.12	4.21	3.99	3.87	3.97	4.09	4.17	4.16
Natara	Dialogue between actors	3.01	2.70	3.00	1.60	1.75	1.00	1.33	1.66	1.66	1.33	1.90
Networks	Equal terms of competition	2.06	1.90	1.67	1.80	1.50	1.66	1.00	1.66	1.33	1.00	1.56
Londonshin	Initiative of entrepreneurs	3.88	2.80	2.67	2.40	2.25	2.66	1.66	1.33	2.00	2.33	2.40
Leadership	Presence of leader	4.78	2.40	1.33	3.00	2.50	2.33	2.00	1.66	1.66	1.66	2.33
T 1 /	Ease of creating the team	4.73	3.10	3.00	3.20	3.25	3.00	2.33	2.00	2.33	2.00	2.89
lalent	Ease of finding employee	3.13	3.20	2.33	2.60	2.25	2.66	1.66	2.00	1.33	1.66	2.28
	Access of information about financing possibilities	3.12	1.70	1.67	1.60	1.25	1.33	1.00	1.33	1.00	1.00	1.50
Finance	Ease of access to financing	2.92	1.70	1.33	1.40	1.50	1.50	1.60	1.33	1.33	1.00	1.56
New la code de c	R&D accompation	3.10	1.80	2.33	1.40	1.50	1.50	1.66	1.33	1.33	1.33	1.73
new knowledge	Red cooperation	2.03	1.90	2.00	1.80	1.50	1.00	1.33	1.33	1.00	1.66	1.56
Internet distances i	Availability of incubators and accelerators	4.81	2.80	3.67	1.25	1.75	1.66	1.66	1.66	1.33	1.00	2.16
intermediate services	Availability of advisers	4.70	3.80	3.33	1.40	1.25	1.66	1.33	1.33	1.33	1.00	2.11

Appendix B. The Distribution of the Value of FE Attributes in Russian Regions

Note

¹ Main data sources are Rusbase (https://rb.ru/fintech/ (accessed on 31 July 2021)), FintechLab (http://list.FinTech-lab.ru/ (accessed on 1 August 2021)), and FinTech Association (https://www.fintechru.org/ (accessed on 1 August 2021)).

References

- Acs, Zoltan J., and Laszlo Szerb. 2007. Entrepreneurship, economic growth and public policy. Small Business Economics 28: 109–22. [CrossRef]
- Acs, Zoltan J., Erik Stam, David B. Audretsch, and Allan O'Connor. 2017. The Lineages of the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Approach. Small Business Economics 49: 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Aidis, Ruta. 2005. Entrepreneurship and Economic Transition. London: Centre for the Study of Economic and Social Change in Europe, pp. 1–31.
- Alaassar, Ahmad, Anne-Laure Mention, and Tor Helge Aas. 2021. Ecosystem Dynamics: Exploring the Interplay within Fintech Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. Small Business Economics 58: 2157–82. [CrossRef]
- Arner, Douglas W., Janos Nathan Barberis, and Ross P. Buckley. 2017. FinTech and RegTech in a Nutshell, and the Future in a Sandbox. SSRN Electronic Journal 3: 1–20. [CrossRef]
- Block, Joern H., Massimo G. Colombo, Douglas J. Cumming, and Silvio Vismara. 2018. New players in entrepreneurial finance and why they are there. Small Business Economics 50: 239–250. [CrossRef]
- Bromberg, Lev, Andrew Godwin, and Ian Ramsay. 2017. Fintech sandboxes: Achieving a balance between regulation and innovation. Journal of Banking and Finance Law and Practice 28: 314–36.
- Brush, Candida, Linda F. Edelman, Tatiana Manolova, and Friederike Welter. 2019. A gendered look at entrepreneurship ecosystems. Small Business Economics 53: 393–408. [CrossRef]
- Carree, Martin, and Roy Thurik. 2008. The lag structure of the impact of business ownership on economic performance in OECD countries. *Small Business Economics* 30: 101–10. [CrossRef]
- Cassiman, Bruno, and Reinhilde Veugelers. 2002. R&D cooperation and spillovers: Some empirical evidence from Belgium. American Economic Review 92: 1169–84.

- CBInsights. 2019. Global Fintech Report Q2 2019. Available online: https://www.cbinsights.com/research/report/fintech-trends-q2-2 019/ (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Chuang, Li-Min, Chun-Chu Liu, and Hsiao-Kuang Kao. 2016. The adoption of fintech service: TAM perspective. International Journal of Management and Administrative Sciences 3: 1–15.
- Coad, Alex, and Rekha Rao. 2008. Innovation and firm growth in high-tech sectors: A quantile regression approach. *Research Policy* 37: 633–48. [CrossRef]
- Cohen, Boyd. 2006. Sustainable valley entrepreneurial ecosystems. Business Strategy and the Environment 15: 1–14. [CrossRef]
- Cooper, William W., Lawrence M. Seiford, and Kaoru Tone. 2007. The basic CCR model. In Data envelopment Analysis: A Comprehensive Text with Models, Applications, References and DEA-Solver Software. Berlin: Springer, pp. 21–39.
- DeFries, Ruth, and Harini Nagendra. 2017. Ecosystem management as a wicked problem. *Science* 356: 265–70. [CrossRef] Diemers, Daniel, Abdulkader Lamaa, Jean Salamat, and Tom Steffens. 2015. *Developing a FE in the GCC*. Dubai: Strategy.
- Doğan, Ebru. 2016. The Role of National Culture on Entrepreneurship: An Assessment on the Entrepreneurial Culture of Turkey. Social Sciences Research Journal 5: 98–110.
- Ernst and Young. 2014. UK FinTech: On the Cutting Edge. Available online: https://euagenda.eu/upload/publications/untitled-1075 89-ea.pdf (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Ernst and Young. 2019. Global FinTech Adoption Index. Available online: https://assets.ey.com/content/dam/ey-sites/ey-com/en_gl/topics/financial-services/ey-global-fintech-adoption-index-2019.pdf (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Feld, Brad. 2020. Startup Communities: Building an Entrepreneurial Ecosystem in Your City. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.
- Feldman, Maryann P. 2014. The character of innovative places: Entrepreneurial strategy, economic development, and prosperity. *Small Business Economics* 43: 9–20. [CrossRef]
- Findexable. 2021. Global Fintech Rankings Report. Bridging the Gap. London: Findexable Limited, p. 100. [CrossRef]
- Gagliardi, Davis. 2018. The FE Report. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/342840738_VISION_OUTLOOK_ ON_THE_FINTECH_ECOSYSTEM_The_FinTech_Ecosystem (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Hendrikse, Reijer, David Bassens, and Michiel Van Meeteren. 2018. The Application of finance: Charting incumbent finance's embrace of FinTech. *Finance and Society* 4: 159–80. [CrossRef]
- Hendrikse, Reijer, David Bassens, and Michiel van Meeteren. 2020. Strategic coupling between finance, technology and the state: Cultivating a FE for incumbent finance. *Environment and Planning A* 52: 1516–38. [CrossRef]
- Isenberg, Daniel. 2011. The Entrepreneurship Ecosystem Strategy as a New Paradigm for Economic Policy: Principles for Cultivating Entrepreneurships. The Babsos Entrepreneurship Ecosystem Project 1. Presented at the Institute of International and European Affairs, Dublin, Ireland, May 12; pp. 1–13.
- Kleiner, Georgy. B., Maksim A. Rybachuk, and Venera A. Karpinskaya. 2020. Development of ecosystems in the financial sector of Russia. Upravlenets 11: 2–15. [CrossRef]
- Koroleva, Ekaterina, Laivi Laidroo, and Mari Avarmaa. 2021. Performance of FinTechs: Are founder characteristics important? *Journal* of East European Management Studies 26: 303–35. [CrossRef]
- Kuckertz, Andreas. 2019. Let's take the entrepreneurial ecosystem metaphor seriously! Journal of Business Venturing Insights 11: e00124. [CrossRef]
- Kuhn, Marie. 2021. Russian FinTech Industry: Opportunities for Swiss Companies. Zürich: Switzerland Global Enterprise, pp. 1–6.
- Kuzmina-Merlino, Irina, and Svetlana Saksonova. 2018. The knowledge and competencies require for FinTech sector. In New Challenges of Economic and Business Development—2018: Productivity and Economic Growth. Riga: University of Latvia, p. 387.
- Lafuente, Esteban, László Szerb, and Zoltán J. Ács. 2018. The Entrepreneurship Paradox: More Entrepreneurs Are Not Always Good for the Economy—The Role of the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem on Economic Performance in Africa. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3307617 (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Laidroo, Laivi, Ekaterina Koroleva, Agata Kliber, Ramona Rupeika-Apoga, and Zana Grigaliuniene. 2021. Business models of FinTechs—Difference in similarity? *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* 46: 101034. [CrossRef]
- Lee, Choonjoo, and Yong-bae Ji. 2009. Data envelopment analysis in Stata. In Stata Conference DC. Nonsan-si: Korea National Defense University, pp. 267–80.
- Lee, In, and Yong Jae Shin. 2018. Fintech: Ecosystem, business models, investment decisions, and challenges. *Business Horizons* 61: 35–46. [CrossRef]
- Leendertse, Jip, Mirella Schrijvers, and Erik Stam. 2021. Measure Twice, Cut Once: Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Metrics. Research Policy, in press. [CrossRef]
- Lewandowska, Anna, Yuriy Bilan, and Grzegorz Mentel. 2021. The Impact of Financial Innovation Investment Support on SME Competitiveness. Journal of Competitiveness 13: 92–110. [CrossRef]
- Liguori, Eric, Josh Bendickson, Shelby Solomon, and William C. McDowell. 2018. Development of a multi-dimensional measure for assessing entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development* 31: 7–21.
- Lobo, Ivan D., Maria Vélez, and Sergio Puerto. 2016. Leadership, entrepreneurship and collective action: A case study from the Colombian Pacific region. International Journal of the Commons 10: 982–1012. [CrossRef]
- Lu, Xifeng, Biaoan Shan, and Yi Pu. 2021. Sustainability in the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem: Operating Mechanisms and Enterprise Growth. Hershey: IGI Global.

- Lyasnikov, Nilolai V., Evgeniay E. Frolova, Andrei A. Mamedov, Sergei B. Zinkovskii, and Natalya A. Voikova. 2017. Venture capital financing as a mechanism for impelling innovation activity. *European Research Studies Journal* 20: 111–22.
- Malecki, Edward J. 2011. Connecting local entrepreneurial ecosystems to global innovation networks: Open innovation, double networks and knowledge integration. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation Management* 14: 36–59. [CrossRef]
- Mateos, Allan Oswaldo Villegas, and José Ernesto Amorós. 2019. Regional entrepreneurial ecosystems in Mexico: A comparative analysis. Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies 11: 576–97. [CrossRef]
- Mathers, Nigel Joseph, Nicholas Jeremy Fox, and Amanda Hunn. 1998. Surveys and Questionnaires. Trent: NHS Executive.
- Morales, Lucía, Geraldine Gray, and Daniel Rajmil. 2022. Emerging Risks in the FinTech Industry–Insights from Data Science and Financial Econometrics Analysis. *Economics, Management & Financial Markets* 17: 9–36.
- Neck, Heidi M., G. Dale Meyer, Boyd Cohen, and Andrew C. Corbett. 2004. An Entrepreneurial System View of New Venture Creation. Journal of Small Business Management 42: 190–208. [CrossRef]
- Nicotra, Melita, Marco Romano, Manlio Del Giudice, and Carmela Elita Schillaci. 2018. The causal relation between entrepreneurial ecosystem and productive entrepreneurship: A measurement framework. *The Journal of Technology Transfer* 43: 640–73. [CrossRef]
- Pandey, Neeraj K. 2018. An analysis of startup ecosystem in metropolitan city in India. International Journal of Engineering and Management Research 8: 237–44. [CrossRef]
- Piergiovanni, Roberta, Martin A. Carree, and Enrico Santarelli. 2012. Creative industries, new business formation, and regional economic growth. Small Business Economics 39: 539–60. [CrossRef]
- Pollari, Ian. 2017. Government's Role in the Evolution of Fintech. Available online: https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2017/06/governments-role-in-evolution-of-fintech.pdf (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Popova, Yelena. 2021. Economic Basis of Digital Banking Services Produced by FinTech Company in Smart City. Journal of Tourism and Services 23: 86–104. [CrossRef]
- Roundy, Philip, Mike Bradshaw, and Beverly K. Brockman. 2018. The emergence of entrepreneurial ecosystems: A complex adaptive systems approach. *Journal of Business Research* 86: 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, Amit, Mary B. Gregoire, and Catherine Strohbehn. 2009. Assessing Costs of Using Local Foods in Independent Restaurants. Journal of Foodservice Business Research 12: 55–71. [CrossRef]
- Sinai Lab. 2020. Global Fintech Hub Report 2020. Available online: http://upload.xinhua08.com/2020/0911/1599789407455.pdf (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Spigel, Ben. 2017. The Relational Organization of Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice 41: 49–72. [CrossRef]
- Stam, Erik. 2015. Entrepreneurial Ecosystems and Regional Policy: A Sympathetic Critique. European Planning Studies 23: 1759–69. [CrossRef]
- Stam, Erik. 2018. Measuring Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. In Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. Cham: Springer, pp. 173-96.
- Stam, Erik, and Andrew van de Ven. 2019. Entrepreneurial ecosystem elements. Small Business Economics 56: 809–32. [CrossRef]
- Stas, Andrei. 2021. Why There Are No Unicorns in Russia. Available online: https://www.vedomosti.ru/opinion/articles/2021/03/ 22/862652-rossii-edinorogov (accessed on 1 October 2021).
- Szerb, László, Esteban Lafuente, Krisztina Horváth, and Balázs Páger. 2019. The relevance of quantity and quality entrepreneurship for regional performance: The moderating role of the entrepreneurial ecosystem. *Regional Studies* 53: 1308–20. [CrossRef]
- Vaganova, Oksana, Lilia Konshina, and Egor D. Belotserkovsky. 2020. Prospects for the Development of Key Fintech Segments in Russia. Available online: http://dspace.bsu.edu.ru/handle/123456789/41023 (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- Vasenska, Ivanka, Preslav Dimitrov, Blagovesta Koyundzhiyska-Davidkova, Vladislav Krastev, Pavol Durana, and Ioulia Poulaki. 2021. Financial transactions using fintech during the COVID-19 crisis in Bulgaria. *Risks* 9: 48. [CrossRef]
- Villegas-Mateos, Alan. 2020. Regional entrepreneurial ecosystems in Chile: Comparative lessons. Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies 13: 39–63. [CrossRef]
- Yazici, Selim. 2019. The Analysis of FE in Turkey. Journal of Business Economics and Finance 8: 188–97.





Article FinTech Companies: A Bibliometric Analysis ⁺

Gencay Tepe ^{1,*}, Umut Burak Geyikci ¹ and Fatih Mehmet Sancak ²

- ¹ Faculty of Business, Manisa Celal Bayar University, 45140 Manisa, Turkey; umutburak.geyikci@cbu.edu.tr
- ² Dikkan Group, 35730 Izmir, Turkey; fatih.sancak@dikkan.com
- * Correspondence: gencay.tepe@cbu.edu.tr; Tel.: +90-236-201-39-25
- † This paper was presented as an oral presentation at the 9th World Conference of Business Economics Management, Porto, Portugal, 1–3 October 2020.

Abstract: The financial-technology industry has recently attracted the attention of many sectors. The financial-technology industry designs new and unusual technological financial services in many areas. It combines technology with finance and provides an alternative to the traditional financial system. In the scope of this study, 636 publications were obtained from Scopus. Various tools, such as Microsoft Excel for frequency analysis, and VOSviewer for data visualization, were used. The open-source codes used for bibliometric analysis through the R Studio program were developed by the authors and used for citation-metrics analysis. The main aim of this study was to find out the most influential studies and authors and to reveal the distributions and impacts of publications in the FinTech area between 2015 and 2021 from the Scopus database. The results indicate that the most influential journal is Sustainability Switzerland, and the most cited author is Gomber et al. Additionally, Rabbani has the most publications, while China has emerged as the most productive country. On the other hand, this study found that FinTech research clustered in four areas. These areas are computer science, business management, economics, and social sciences. This FinTech study examines financial services, financial access, and financial technology, where FinTech is at the center. It also focuses on cryptocurrency, bitcoin, and smart contracts where the blockchain is at the center. The results reveal a systematic map of existing studies. Further, the study plays a guiding role in future research.

Keywords: FinTech; financial technology; blockchain; financial information systems

1. Introduction

Although it only entered the literature five years ago, FinTech has been studied a lot. It refers to companies and Finance 4.0 that create financial technologies at the highest level. Globally, FinTech is being implemented rapidly in human life in recent years.

Of recent FinTech studies, some focus on all aspects of the issue in general (e.g., Arner et al. 2016; Zalan and Toufaily 2017; Dospinescu et al. 2021), while others examine morespecific aspects. These include studies related to banks and traditional financial institutions (Kotarba 2016; Buchak et al. 2018; Hu et al. 2019), venture capital, cryptocurrencies, and blockchain (Kaplan and Lerner 2016; Ante et al. 2018; Gozman and Willcocks 2019; Kim et al. 2018; Ji and Tia 2021; Mora et al. 2021), insurance (Yan et al. 2018b; Stoeckli et al. 2018), and asset management (Rogowski 2017; Dugast and Foucault 2018). While each study adds an important perspective on the subject, a bibliometric analysis can provide a broader perspective and assessment than has been the case for studies thus far.

A network analysis carried out through bibliometric analysis defines new areas and information on the subject more strongly. It can also identify research groups and researchers to show how various areas of thought have emerged. Finally, it can identify leading and influential researchers in these research groups, identify different and new issues addressed by these influential researchers, and identify areas of study related to these new issues.

Citation: Tepe, Gencay, Umut Burak Geyikci, and Fatih Mehmet Sancak. 2022. FinTech Companies: A Bibliometric Analysis. International Journal of Financial Studies 10: 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs 10010002

Academic Editor: Sabri Boubaker

Received: 18 October 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 28 December 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). This study provides a detailed and comprehensive analysis by identifying researchers and publications with high influence in this pool, starting with 401 studies focusing on future-oriented FinTech applications. Various performance indicators were calculated for the bibliometric analysis. The formulization of the methods used was encoded by the authors on an R-based basis using the R Studio 1.2 program. The data processed through the program were then handled with Gephi 0.8.2 and VOSviewer 1.6.11 programs for visualization and mapping purposes to obtain the final outputs.

FinTech, which is short for financial technology, has spread rapidly worldwide, although its importance varies from country to country depending on the level of economic development and market structure (Berkmen et al. 2019). The concept, which originated in the early 1990s, currently refers to a rapidly evolving process in financial services (Arner et al. 2017; Hochstein 2015). FinTech describes companies offering financial services using modern creative technologies that *"attract customers with products and services that are more user-friendly, efficient, transparent and automated than those currently available"* (Dorfleitner et al. 2017, p. 5). FinTech firms cannot be defined within legal parameters because they operate in different business lines and models, and a wide range of industries, from crowdfunding to credit providers, cryptocurrencies to angel-investment networks.

FinTech has developed through three basic stages (Arner et al. 2017). The first phase resulted from surplus production and technological innovations brought about by the industrial revolution with the use of the first simple abacuses. After the mid-1800s, the invention of the telegraph (Nicoletti 2017), and telegraph communication and intensive trade between countries, enabled financial transactions to be made on a global scale using technology (Standage 2013). From 1866 to 1967, the financial services industry was heavily connected with technology but remained largely analog. This period is called FinTech 1.0.

Developments in digital technology between 1967 and 2008, known as FinTech 2.0, enabled financial-services technologies to switch from analog to digital and become globalized. For example, Barclay's Bank was the first to introduce automatic teller machines (ATMs) in 1967 (Nicoletti 2017), while electronic payment systems significantly changed the financial structure, making money transfers between banks and countries quite easy. In 1975, the Basel Committee was established to reduce the risks of interbank money transfers, with new rules to regulate relations between international banks (History of the Basel Committee 2019).

In terms of what consumers expect from a bank, e-banking/m-banking, the possibility of performing ATM cash transactions, customer service, ease of use, and the volume of information on the card have become very important (Dospinescu et al. 2019). On the other hand, rapidly developing financial integration that connected global markets marked a new era, FinTech 3.0, after 2008, especially with the introduction of the Internet, when Wells Fargo presented the first internet-banking experience, and startups and technology companies began offering financial products and services directly to businesses and consumers (Arner et al. 2016). These FinTechs considerably damaged the profitability of the banking sector (Zalan and Toufaily 2017).

While we currently still live in FinTech 3.0, a future upgrade to FinTech 4.0 will happen. Arner et al. (2017) even claim that FinTech 4.0 arrived in 2018, thanks to applications such as the Internet of things, big data, artificial intelligence, and cloud computing.

Figure 1 shows how FinTech is segmented into four fundamental sectors (Dorfleitner et al. 2017). Financing is the segment that provides funding for individuals or organizations through crowdfunding and credit and factoring. Crowdfunding usually involves raising small amounts of money from large numbers of people via the Internet or social media. The most important feature is the setting of the deadline. If the target amount cannot be reached within the specified period, the operation is canceled (Lee and Kim 2015). Credit and factoring are the processes by which FinTech firms provide financing to individuals or companies cheaply and quickly by automating transactions in collaboration with banks. The second main sector, asset management, includes services such as social trading, Roboadvice, personal financial management (PFM), and investing and banking. The third sector,

payment, refers to national and international payment transactions. These include virtual payment methods, such as cryptocurrencies and blockchains, which are used as alternatives to conventional monetary transactions. Finally, other FinTechs cannot be classified within the first three traditional banking functions. These include insurance, search engines, comparison sites, technology, IT, and infrastructure.



Figure 1. FinTech Segmentations. Source: Dorfleitner et al. (2017), cited by Al-Ajlouni and Al-Hakim (2018).

The term bibliometric was first used in the Journal of Documentation (Fairthorne 1969). Bibliometrics (sometimes called scientometrics) involves quantitative analysis, which is the main tool of science. It provides a statistical analysis of data, such as how frequently journal articles are cited. Comparisons can be made across countries and research branches. While bibliometric analyses are becoming increasingly popular, their novelty means that there are no studies yet that directly investigate FinTech. Only two (Milian et al. 2019; Wu 2017) have used the word FinTech in their titles. However, they did not exclusively focus on it. Instead, their analyses drew on the following segments: payments, deposit, and landing, insurance, capital raising, investment management, and market provisioning. A few bibliometric studies have focused on individual segments within FinTech, such as crowdfunding (Martínez-Climent et al. 2018; Blasco-Carreras et al. 2015; Blažun Vošner et al. 2017), payments (Karafiloski and Mishev 2017; Cao et al. 2017; Dabbagh et al. 2019; Zheng et al. 2018; Merediz-Solà and Bariviera 2019; Liu 2016), asset management (Yan et al. 2018a), and other financing functions (Kumari and Sharma 2017; Cancino et al. 2017).

2. Research Method

The basic aim of a bibliometric analysis is to collect previous literature and related topics on the research subject to form objective findings that can be tested and replicated. It aims to both categorize previous studies and offer a rigorous methodological examination of the research results. To show that the study adds new information to the literature, the results should be defined in accordance with the research questions.

Research Questions

In the present study, FinTech-related publications and researchers were subjected to structural categorical analysis. Following Milian et al. (2019), the following two ba-

sic research questions with three sub-questions and two others, a total of seven, were addressed.

RQ1. How has the literature developed between 2015 and 2021?

RQ1.1. What are the most influential studies and authors?

RQ1.2. What are the main studies in FinTech?

RQ1.3. What are the distributions and impacts of publications over time?

To respond to RQ1, it is necessary to group the important studies, identify the relationships between them, and categorize them within the framework of current studies. This leads to the second question:

RQ2. What are the important topics in the FinTech literature?

In responding to this question, Lotka's Law and Bradford's Law, which are classics in bibliometric analysis, were assessed for their compatibility with the data.

RQ3. Are the results compatible with Lotka's Law?

RQ4. Are the results compatible with Bradford's Law?

3. Sampling and Methodology

Bibliometric analysis was used to determine the scope of the scientific FinTech literature. The bibliometric analysis used in this research is a very detailed and comprehensive analysis technique in this field.

Bibliometric Analysis

The bibliometric analysis identifies the most prolific countries and universities, and the most influential authors, studies, and journals. The FinTech and bibliometric analysis dataset for the study was taken from Scopus. While Web of Science was also scanned, it was excluded from the evaluation because it provided considerably fewer studies than Scopus. The bibliometric analysis technique aimed to reveal the evolution of the FinTech research literature in terms of RQ1.1, RQ1.2, and RQ1.3, specifically the most influential articles, authors, and topics.

Many factors can be examined in bibliometric analysis. However, the analysis to be performed must be suitable for the purpose. The present study followed the method proposed by Cadavid Higuita et al. (2012), Albort-Morant and Ribeiro-Soriano (2016), and Martínez-Climent et al. (2018). In this method, the indicators are divided into three types: quantity, quality, and structural indicators (Martínez-Climent et al. 2018). (1) Quantity indicators contain numerical data for the area to be analyzed. (2) Quality indicators show the academic impact of publications. (3) Structural indicators reveal the relationships between publications.

Social network analysis is used for measuring both quality and structural indicators. In social network analysis, the network consists of nodes connected through networks (Wasserman and Faust 1994). This determines the centrality of each author by the number of connections they make with other members of the network. Centrality has three main principles: degree, closeness, and betweenness (Freeman 1979, cited by Milian et al. 2019). Centrality degree indicates how many co-publications an author has. Betweenness measures the number of times a node captures the shortest route between two other nodes, and thus shows the binding role that the author plays among other authors. Farness is the sum of the shortest distance of one node from other nodes while proximity is the opposite of farness. The greater the degree, the less the total distance from one node to all other nodes (Milian et al. 2019). Authors with high proximity reach new information faster and spread their ideas more quickly.

RQ2 addresses the issue of which topics FinTech researchers focus on while Lotka's Law (Lotka 1926), which measures authors' scientific productivity, was addressed through RQ3. According to Lotka's Law, the number of authors contributing to the literature with n number of studies is $1/n^2$ of the number of authors contributing to the literature with a single study.

RQ4 assesses Bradford's Law (Bradford [1929] 1985), which determines the distribution of references to journals. According to this law, a bibliographic study on any subject will show that there is a small core group of journals that publishes a third of all articles in this field. A second, larger group of journals publishes the next third while the biggest group of journals publishes the remainder.

4. Findings

This section presents the results, periods, publications, authors, and other information of the analyses.

A total of 636 publications were scanned in Scopus for academic papers on FinTech (including journal articles, conference papers, books, and book chapters). Figure 2 specifies the number of publications found by years.



Figure 2. Publishing trend in FinTech. Note(s): This figure represents the publication trend of academic papers on FinTech between 2015 and 2021. The data were retrieved from the Scopus database using the keyword "FinTech".

Figure 2 shows that FinTech has grown geometrically since 2015 when it first emerged as a concept. The papers were written by 1445 different authors from 387 different journals and books. In the scanned sources, the average citations per document were 7.52, the number of documents per author was 0.44 while the collaboration index was 2.75.

Table 1 shows which ten universities had the most affiliations of FinTech authors. Universities in Asian countries have contributed the most (6 of the top 10). Table 1 also shows total production (TP), total citations (TC), and citations per publication (CPP).

No	University	ТР	TC	СРР	h-Index
1	Bina Nusantara University	16	30	1.88	3
2	Amity University	11	8	0.72	2
3	The University of Sydney	10	181	18.1	3
4	UNSW Sydney	9	191	21.2	4
5	Ahlia University	9	18	2	3
6	Soongsil University	8	110	13.75	3
7	Universitas Indonesia	8	12	1.5	2
8	Singapore Management University	7	244	34.85	4
9	Universidad Anáhuac México	7	0	0	0
10	Kingdom University	6	55	9.17	4

Table 1. Top 10 university affiliations by documents.

Note(s): This table was created with a dataset from Scopus via Excel.

Figure 3 shows which 10 institutions sponsored the most FinTech papers.



Figure 3. Top 10 funding sponsors of documents. Note(s): This figure represents the 10 institutes that sponsored the most academic articles on FinTech between 2015 and 2021. The data were taken from the Scopus database using the keyword "FinTech".

Figure 4 shows the geographical locations of all contributing countries, with the number of publications decreasing from dark to light blue, while grey indicates no contribution. China, the USA, and the UK have the highest contributions.



Figure 4. Geographical locations of contributing countries. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via R Studio.

Figure 5 shows the country collaboration map. UK authors have 59 joint publications with authors in other countries, including 7 with Chinese authors, 6 with Australian authors, and the remaining 46 collaborations with authors in 25 different countries. The UK is followed by the US with 54 collaborations, China with 52, Australia with 43, and Singapore with 18.

Table 2 lists the 10 most productive journals. The journals that are not in the field of Finance and Entrepreneurship were excluded from the analysis results. At the top, Sustainability Switzerland has the most publications on FinTech, and a TC value of 96, whereas the second-ranked, Lecture Notes in Computer Science including subseries, has a TC value of 40. Despite only ranking tenth, Industrial Management and Data Systems has the highest CPP value at 33.2, and Financial Innovation has the second-highest CPP value at 15.28.



Figure 5. Country collaboration map. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via R Studio.

Table 2. Most-productive journals.

No	Journals	ТР	TC	СРР	h-İndex
1	Sustainability Switzerland	15	96	6.4	5
2	Lecture Notes in Computer Science including subseries	8	40	5	1
3	Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity	8	33	4.12	3
4	Finance Research Letters	8	32	4	2
5	Perspectives In Law, Business and Innovation	8	0	0	0
6	Financial Innovation	7	107	15.28	4
7	Impact Of Financial Technology (Fintech) on Islamic Finance and Financial Stability	7	6	0.86	2
8	Palgrave Studies in Democracy, Innovation, and Entrepreneurship for Growth	7	0	0	0
9	ACM International Conference Proceeding Series	6	20	3.3	3
10	Industrial Management and Data Systems	5	166	33.2	4

Note(s): This table was created with a dataset from Scopus via Excel.

As the most productive country, China has 87 publications, 745 citations, and 8.56 citations per publication. Six of the top ten are Asian countries, two are European, while Australia represents Oceania. The most productive countries all have h-index values of 4 or above (Table 3).

Table 3.	Most-productive	countries.
----------	-----------------	------------

No	Countries	ТР	TC	СРР	h-Index
1	China	87	745	8.56	13
2	United States	84	1415	16.84	18
3	United Kingdom	67	615	9.18	12
4	Indonesia	49	137	2.79	7
5	South Korea	41	673	16.41	12
6	Australia	41	416	10.14	8
7	India	36	57	1.58	4
8	Germany	31	762	24.58	10
9	Malaysia	25	87	3.48	6
10	Singapore	21	287	13.6	7

Note(s): This table was created with a dataset from Scopus via Excel.

4.1. Author Influence

Table 4 shows which authors have been most prolific. Authors with four or more publications between 2015 and 2021 are listed in Table 4. Rabbani, with the most publications, has a TC score of 55. Tan, who is in second place, has a TC score of 105. More than half of Rabbani and Khan's citations are self-citations. Muthukannan has the lowest CPP score, which indicates a weak correlation between that author's large number of publications and their impact factor.

Table 4. The top 10 contributing authors' number of published articles and self-citations.

No Authors		TC	СРР	h-Index	Self-Citations
Rabbani, M.R.	6	55	9.16	4	26
Tan, B.	5	105	21	2	9
Wójcik, D.	5	19	3.8	3	5
Muthukannan, P.	5	8	1.6	2	1
Hornuf, L.	4	156	39	3	9
Jagtiani, J.	4	89	22.25	3	3
Gozman, D.	4	65	16.25	2	6
Wonglimpiyarat, J.	4	52	13	3	0
Khan, S.	4	42	10.5	3	22
Ashta, A.	4	39	9.75	3	9
-	Authors Rabbani, M.R. Tan, B. Wójcik, D. Muthukannan, P. Hornuf, L. Jagtiani, J. Gozman, D. Wonglimpiyarat, J. Khan, S. Ashta, A.	AuthorsTPRabbani, M.R.6Tan, B.5Wójcik, D.5Muthukannan, P.5Hornuf, L.4Jagtiani, J.4Gozman, D.4Wonglimpiyarat, J.4Khan, S.4Ashta, A.4	Authors TP TC Rabbani, M.R. 6 55 Tan, B. 5 105 Wójcik, D. 5 19 Muthukannan, P. 5 8 Hornuf, L. 4 156 Jagtiani, J. 4 89 Gozman, D. 4 65 Wonglimpiyarat, J. 4 52 Khan, S. 4 42 Ashta, A. 4 39	Authors TP TC CPP Rabbani, M.R. 6 55 9.16 Tan, B. 5 105 21 Wójcik, D. 5 19 3.8 Muthukannan, P. 5 8 1.6 Hornuf, L. 4 156 39 Jagtiani, J. 4 89 22.25 Gozman, D. 4 65 16.25 Wonglimpiyarat, J. 4 52 13 Khan, S. 4 42 10.5 Ashta, A. 4 39 9.75	AuthorsTPTCCPPh-IndexRabbani, M.R.6559.164Tan, B.5105212Wójcik, D.5193.83Muthukannan, P.581.62Hornuf, L.4156393Jagtiani, J.48922.253Gozman, D.46516.252Wonglimpiyarat, J.452133Khan, S.44210.53Ashta, A.4399.753

Note(s): This table was created with a dataset from Scopus via Excel.

Table 5 shows which authors received the most citations by year. Table 4 above shows citations based on total publications, whereas Table 5 shows the most citations received by one study. The 10 authors with the most citations had 1342 citations in total, with an average of 134.2 citations each.

Table 5.	Most-cited	authors.
----------	------------	----------

	Publications/Year	<2017	%	2017	%	2018	%	2019	%	2020	%	2021	%	Total
1	Gomber et al. (2018)	0	0%	0	0%	8	3%	43	20%	62	29%	101	47%	214
2	Lee and Shin (2018)	0	0%	0	0%	7	3%	30	14%	82	40%	85	41%	204
3	Gomber et al. (2017)	0	0%	1	5%	19	11%	31	17%	58	33%	65	37%	174
4	Gabor and Brooks (2017)	0	0%	7	4%	19	13%	28	19%	33	22%	59	40%	146
5	Buchak et al. (2018)	0	0%	0	0%	1	1%	15	13%	30	25%	71	60%	117
6	Gai et al. (2018)	0	0%	0	0%	9	8%	32	28%	32	28%	40	35%	113
7	Schueffel (2016)	0	0%	3	3%	16	15%	16	15%	34	33%	34	33%	103
8	Leong et al. (2017)	0	0%	2	2%	9	9%	21	21%	34	35%	32	33%	98
9	Haddad and Hornuf (2019)	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	6	6%	34	36%	54	57%	94
10	Shim and Shin (2016)	1	1%	5	6%	10	12%	18	22%	22	28%	24	30%	79

Note(s): This table was created with a dataset from Scopus via Excel.

Figure 6 shows the frequency of citations of individual articles. The size of each node indicates the number of citations. The most-cited authors were Gomber et al. (2018), Lee and Shin (2018), Gomber et al. (2017), Gabor and Brooks (2017), Buchak et al. (2018), Gai et al. (2018), Schueffel (2016), Leong et al. (2017), Haddad and Hornuf (2019), and Shim and Shin (2016).



Figure 6. Frequency of citations of publications (Fractionalization). Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via VOSviewer.

4.2. Centrality of Publications

Bibliometric analysis can also determine the relationship between publications. Node sizes are determined by the number of citations and a network is created by attributing the degree of the node to each citation. The size of the node indicates the degree of centrality. The links show the direction of information flow of direct citations between nodes from the former to the new. Node tags include the degree of total centrality as well as definitions of publications. Figure 7 presents the network structure for nodes with a degree of centrality of more than 10.



Figure 7. Network visualization of the centrality of countries' citations. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via VOSviewer.

4.3. Centrality of Keywords

Figure 8 shows the network of keywords. The lines connecting the nodes represent the relationship between the most commonly used keywords in the articles in the study. These

can be grouped into four sets: financial technology, China, financial services, and blockchain. On the left, crowdfunding, blockchain, and machine learning appear to be grouped around FinTech. The high frequency of these terms shows the interest and up-to-datedness of the researchers.



Figure 8. Network visualization of the centrality of keywords. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via VOSviewer.

Regarding the distribution of the scientific fields that the sampled studies come from, business management comes first with 22.7%, followed by computer science with 18.2%, economics (16.7%), and social sciences (13.3%). Thus, a variety of disciplines are conducting research into FinTech (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Distribution of disciplines for studies of FinTech. Note(s): This figure represents the distribution of disciplines in FinTech studies between 2015 and 2021. The data were taken from the Scopus database using the keyword "FinTech".

Figure 10 shows the betweenness centrality, which measures the number of times a node intersects the shortest path between two other nodes. This indicates an author's importance in connecting with other authors (Milian et al. 2019). The minimum number of citations in the figure is 10. Of the 60 sampled publications, 21 with links to each other were mapped, with a centrality between 0 and 10. Gomber et al. (2018), Shim and Shin (2016), and Schueffel (2016) have the highest centrality.



Figure 10. Intermediation as betweenness centrality. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via VOSviewer.

4.4. Lotka's Law

Lotka's Law (Lotka 1926) predicts the number of publications published by each author in a particular field. That is, 60% of the authors will write one article, 15% will write two, 7% will write three, 4% will write four, etc. Figure 11 presents the results for papers on FinTech alongside the predicted distribution according to Lotka. It shows that 88.6% of authors have just one publication, 7.6% have two, and 2.5% have three. This indicates that FinTech authorship does not currently comply with Lotka's Law. The dashed line in the graph represents the graph that should be according to Lotka's Law.



Figure 11. Lotka's Law of productivity, and actual authorship distribution. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via R Studio.

4.5. Bradford's Law

Bradford's Law (Bradford [1929] 1985) measures whether journals have a core effect by dividing the journals in a specific field into three groups as outlined earlier. In the present study, 636 studies were published by 387 different journals and books. As Figure 12 shows, 40 journals and books accounted for 212 papers, 148 journals and books published 215 papers, and 199 journals and books published 209 articles. This suggests that FinTech research publishing is in line with Bradford's Law.



Figure 12. Bradford's Law of core publications and actual distribution by publications. Note(s): This figure was created with a dataset from Scopus via R Studio.

5. Results and Discussion

RQ1. How has the literature developed over time?

This question was answered by sub-questions RQ1.1, RQ1.2, and RQ1.3.

RQ1.1. What are the most influential studies and authors?

When the publications in 2018 are examined in Table 5, Gomber et al. (2018) with 47%, Lee and Shin (2018) with 41%, Buchak et al. (2018) with 60%, and Gai et al. (2018) with 35% received the most citations for 2021, while Gomber et al. (2017) with 37%, Gabor and Brooks (2017) with 40%, Haddad and Hornuf (2019) with 57%, and Shim and Shin (2016) with 30% received the most citations again in 2021. As the subject is still very new, researchers' interest is increasing continuously as indicated by the growing number of citations.

Gomber et al. (2018), Lee and Shin (2018), Gomber et al. (2017), and Gabor and Brooks (2017) all received at least 140 citations during the review period. Gomber et al. (2018) reported that the long-standing dominance of leading companies is at risk because they cannot effectively connect with the FinTech revolution. They presented a new FinTech-innovation-mapping approach that enables the assessment of the degree of changes and transformations in four financial services areas: operations management in financial services, technological innovations, multiple innovations, and issues related to investments. Lee and Shin (2018) examined FinTechs from a historical perspective and focused on various FinTech business models and investment types with their game-changing features. Gomber et al. (2017) introduced the institutions related to the digital finance cube, which includes three basic dimensions of digital finance and FinTech, related business functions,

applied technologies, and technological concepts. Gabor and Brooks (2017) examined the increasing importance of digital-based financial inclusion in the form of development interventions through FinTechs, government agencies, and other organizations. They concluded that FinTech-philanthropy development (FPD) creates ecosystems that map, expand, and monetize digital footprints. They also noted that the vision of the irrational client combines behavioral economics with predictive algorithms to accelerate access to finance and monitor adherence to them, while the digital revolution proposes new forms of profiling with financial(ized) inclusion that makes poor households new generators of financial assets.

RQ1.2. What are the main studies in FinTech?

As shown in Figure 6, Buchak et al. (2018) was one of the most influential works, followed by Gomber et al. (2018), Lee and Shin (2018), and Gomber et al. (2017). Buchak et al. (2018) studied how two forces, regulatory differences and technological advantages, contributed to this growth, due to the fact that shadow-bank market share in residentialmortgage origination nearly doubled from 2007 to 2015, with particularly dramatic growth among online "FinTech" lenders. Gai et al. (2018) surveyed FinTech by collecting and reviewing contemporary achievements that theoretically proposed a data-driven FinTech framework. The survey included five technical topics: security and privacy, data techniques, hardware and infrastructure, applications, and management and service models. They demonstrated the basics of creating active FinTech solutions. Schueffel (2016) offered a definition that is distinct as well as succinct in its communication, yet sufficiently broad in its range of application. Leong et al. (2017) examined the development of a FinTech company that gives micro-lending to university students in China. They showed how digital technology offers a firm strategic capability, how an alternative credit score can be calculated with unconventional data, and how financial coverage of market segments that are not previously covered can be realized. Haddad and Hornuf (2019) investigated the economic and technological determinants inducing entrepreneurs to establish ventures with the purpose of reinventing FinTech and found that the more difficult it is for companies to access loans, the higher is the number of FinTech startups in a country. Shim and Shin (2016) used Actor-Network Theory (ANT) to conduct a multi-level analysis of the historical development of China's FinTech industry as a stepping stone for investigating the interaction between it and the emerging social and political context. They also discussed policy implications of China's FinTech industry, focusing on the state's changing role in driving the growth of the national sector inside and outside.

RQ1.3. What are the distributions and effects of publications over time?

The sample included 636 studies focusing on FinTech applications, by 1445 different authors, from 387 different journals and books. The journals and books with the most publications (see Table 2) were as follows: Sustainability Switzerland with 15 publications, Perspectives in Law, Business and Innovation with 8 publications, and Impact of Financial Technology (Fintech) on Islamic Finance and Financial Stability with 7 publications. The top 10 journals and books include Industrial Management and Data Systems with 33.2 CPP, Financial Innovation with 15.28 CPP, Lecture Notes in Computer Science including subseries with 5 CPP, Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity with 4.12 CPP, and Finance Research Letters with 4 CPP. Thus, despite the novelty of this field, there are already many periodicals regularly publishing research on FinTech.

RQ2. What are the important topics in the FinTech literature?

Figure 9, which was developed according to Figure 8, showed the research disciplines of the sampled articles and the relationships between the most-frequently used words. The most common keywords in the papers were financial technology, blockchain, financial services, and financial inclusion. These keywords most often appeared in business-management sources (22.7%), followed by computer science (18.2%), economics (16.7%), and social science (13.3%). Thus, these four disciplines account for approximately 71% of

all publications on FinTech, which indicates that this field is currently confined to a few disciplines rather than being evenly dispersed across many.

From the analysis of the relationships between groups in the coding scheme, a framework has emerged for the literature summary, whose main axis is the FinTech activity sector, as shown in Figure 8. FinTech is most strongly connected to financial inclusion, China, and financial services, whereas blockchain has more connections with bitcoin, cryptocurrency, and smart contracts. Figures 8 and 9 formed the main backbone of the analysis for addressing RQ2.

RQ3. Are the results compatible with Lotka's Law?

Unsurprisingly, the vast majority of authors (88.6% of 1445) have just one publication, since FinTech has only recently entered the literature. Lotka's Law, however, predicts that only 60% of authors should have a single publication. Similarly, while 7.6% of authors examined had two publications, Lotka's Law predicts this should be around 15%. While just 2.5% of authors had three publications, Lotka's Law predicts 7%. Consequently, the distribution of authorship in FinTech does not conform to Lotka's Law.

RQ4. Are the results compatible with Bradford's Law?

Bradford's Law predicts that publications can be divided into three groups according to diminishing impact. The 40 journals that constitute the first group of publications in the study published 212 publications, 148 journals in the second group published 215, and 199 journals published 209 articles. The results of the study show that the first few journals published a third of the studies, followed by a large group that published the second third, and the largest number of journals published the remaining third. Thus, the distribution of publications by journals on FinTech is in line with Bradford's Law.

6. Conclusions

This study contributes to the understanding of the FinTech research phenomenon in five different ways in the scope of 636 publications obtained from Scopus between 2015 and 2021. First, FinTechs, which are increasingly influential globally, are also increasingly attracting attention in the scientific literature. Despite this growing interest, the research areas of publications on FinTechs are still not fully determined. The scarcity of mapping studies on FinTechs, as well as the lack of systematic reviews, suggests the need for a comprehensive analysis. The present study reveals the rapidly increasing interest in FinTech over the past six years as reflected in 636 publications from 387 journals and books predominantly representing four academic disciplines: business management, computer science, economics, and social science.

Second, this study identified the sub-topics and trends in publications on FinTechs along two axes. The first is financial services, financial inclusion, and financial technologies, where FinTech is centered. The access of investors and researchers to financial services, their involvement in financial business and transactions, and the use of financial technology are issues that have a significant impact on society. Research on the subject also shows that people of all levels are influenced by FinTech applications represented by these concepts and that traditional applications are quickly losing ground to FinTech applications. The second axis concerns the links to FinTech of cryptocurrency, bitcoin, and smart contracts, with blockchain as the hub. These new technological tools, in which information security is crucial, play an important role in making the individual and society freer. These technologies also demonstrate important security and privacy requirements that are needed in commercial life by opening the way for unmediated secure trade.

Thirdly, in order to make a complete definition of FinTech, this study investigated whether there is a consensus regarding the framework needed to describe FinTech. Research indicates the existence of a structure in which internet-based financial work and transactions can be conducted securely and privately, that facilitates access to information and finance, and that replaces the traditional financial structure with innovative companies.

Fourth, the study assessed the contributions and support of universities to academic research on FinTech. Universities in Asian countries receive more sponsorship and produce more articles, although their impact scores are lower. While the US and Europe have higher impact scores due to their current superiority in science and technology, Asian countries, especially China, are now focusing heavily on the issue and want to capture the trend of development in this area. The US leads in international cooperation between academics researching FinTech, followed by China, the United Kingdom, and Australia.

Fifth, while the distribution of authorship in this field conflicts with Lotka's Law, Bradford's Law was supported. The results of the study show that the first few journals published a third of the studies, followed by a large group that published the second third, and the largest number of journals published the remaining third. Given that FinTech is a very new field, it is possible that patterns of research publications will converge more with these laws in the future.

This study reflected the opinions and practices of all segments of FinTech research, as it included a wide range of articles, from traditional financial institutions to the FinTech ecosystem. As with similar studies adopting such a broad framework, however, the present study has limitations due to databases and search directories. The fact that databases such as Web of Science and ScienceDirect are not included in the study is a research limitation. In future studies, it is recommended to conduct comparative studies between Scopus, Web of Science, and ScienceDirect databases to expand the literature. The studies sampled here were also unique as they are some of the first in the field. This study examined research publications on FinTech based on four main research questions, which made it possible to deepen the study. FinTech research is predominantly conducted within business management, computer science, economics, and social science, thus paving the way for more in-depth research in these areas. In addition, several issues emerged that need to be examined more deeply, particularly FinTech's relationship with financial inclusion and financial services, and Blockchain's relationship with cryptocurrency and smart contracts. Examining these relationships to reveal their strength, causes, and effects would fill an important gap in the literature.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, G.T. and U.B.G.; methodology, G.T.; software, G.T.; validation, G.T., U.B.G. and F.M.S.; formal analysis, G.T.; investigation, G.T., U.B.G. and F.M.S.; resources, G.T., U.B.G. and F.M.S.; data curation, G.T.; writing—original draft preparation, U.B.G.; writing—review and editing, G.T., U.B.G. and F.M.S.; visualization, G.T.; supervision, U.B.G.; project administration, G.T.; funding acquisition, F.M.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data are contained within the article or available from referenced sources.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Al-Ajlouni, Ahmed Taha, and Monir Suliaman Al-Hakim. 2018. Financial Technology in Banking Industry: Challenges and Opportunities. International Conference on Economics and Administrative Sciences ICEAS2018. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/331303690_Financial_Technology_in_Banking_Industry_Challenges_and_Opportunities (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Albort-Morant, Gema, and Domingo Ribeiro-Soriano. 2016. A bibliometric analysis of international impact of business incubators. Journal of Business Research 69: 1775–79. [CrossRef]
- Ante, Lennart, Philipp Sandner, and Ingo Fiedler. 2018. Blockchain-Based ICOs: Pure Hype or the Dawn of a New Era of Startup Financing? Journal of Financial Risk and Management 11: 80. [CrossRef]
- Arner, Douglas W., Janos Barberis, and Ross P. Buckley. 2016. The Evolution of Fintech: A New Post-Crisis Paradigm? Available online: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2676553 (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Arner, Douglas W., Jànos Barberis, and Ross P. Buckley. 2017. FinTech and RegTech in a Nutshell, and the Future in a Sandbox. Available online: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3088303 (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Berkmen, Pelin, Kimberly Beaton, Dmitry Gershenson, Javier Arze del Granado, Kotaro Ishi, Marie Kim, Emanuel Kopp, and V. Marina. 2019. Fintech in Latin America and the Caribbean: Stocktaking. IMF Working Paper(WP/19/71). Available online: https://www.elibrary.imf.org/downloadpdf/journals/001/2019/071/article-A000-en.xml (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Blasco-Carreras, Cristina, Gema Albort-Morant, and Belén Ribeiro-Navarrete. 2015. Impacto internacional del crowdsourcing como nuevo topic de interés en el campo científico del emprendimiento: Análisis bibliométrico del periodo 2008–2015. Universitas: Gestão e TI 5. [CrossRef]
- Blažun Vošner, Helena, Samo Bobek, Simona Sternad Zabukovšek, and Peter Kokol. 2017. Openness and information technology: A bibliometric analysis of literature production. *Kybernetes* 46: 750–66. [CrossRef]
- Bradford, Samuel C. 1985. Sources of information on specific subjects. Journal of Information Science—Lecture Notes in Computer Science 10: 17–180. First published 1929. [CrossRef]
- Buchak, Greg, Gregor Matvos, Tomasz Piskorski, and Amit Seru. 2018. Fintech, regulatory arbitrage, and the rise of shadow banks. Journal of Financial Economics 130: 453–83. [CrossRef]
- Cadavid Higuita, Lorena, Gabriel Awad, and Carlos Jaime Franco Cardona. 2012. A Bibliometric Analysis of a Modeled Field for Disseminating Innovation. *Estudios Gerenciales*, 213–36. Available online: http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?pid=S0123-5923 2012000500012&script=sci_arttext&tlng=pt (accessed on 18 December 2021). [CrossRef]
- Cancino, Christian A., Ariel I. La Paz, Juan C. Salazar-Elena, and José Guimón. 2017. Most Influential Journals and Authors in Digital Business Research: A Bibliometric Analysis. CONF-IRM 2017 Proceedings. Available online: https://aisel.aisnet.org/confirm201 7/20/ (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Cao, Shuyan, Yanan Cao, Xiaoyu Wang, and Yanqiao Lu. 2017. A Review of Researches on Blockchain. WHICEB 2017 Proceedings. Available online: https://aisel.aisnet.org/whiceb2017/57/ (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Dabbagh, Mohammad, Mehdi Sookhak, and Nader Sohrabi Safa. 2019. The Evolution of Blockchain: A Bibliometric Study. *IEEE Access* 7: 19212–21. [CrossRef]
- Dorfleitner, Gregor, Lars Hornuf, Matthias Schmitt, and Martina Weber. 2017. Definition of FinTech and Description of the FinTech Industry. In *FinTech in Germany*. Berlin: Springer, pp. 5–10. [CrossRef]
- Dospinescu, Octavian, Bogdan Anastasiei, and Nicoleta Dospinescu. 2019. Key Factors Determining the Expected Benefit of Customers When Using Bank Cards: An Analysis on Millennials and Generation Z in Romania. Symmetry 11: 1449. [CrossRef]
- Dospinescu, Octavian, Nicoleta Dospinescu, and Daniela-Tatiana Agheorghiesei. 2021. FinTech Services and Factors Determining the Expected Benefits of Users: Evidence in Romania for Millennials and Generation Z. E&M Economics and Management 24: 101–18. [CrossRef]
- Dugast, Jérôme, and Thierry Foucault. 2018. Data abundance and asset price informativeness. Journal of Financial Economics 130: 367–91. [CrossRef]
- Fairthorne, Robert A. 1969. Empirical Hyperbolic Distributions (Bradford-Zipf-Mandelbrot) for Bibliometric Description and Prediction. Journal of Documentation 25: 319–43. [CrossRef]
- Freeman, Linton C. 1979. Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Social Networks 1: 215239. [CrossRef]
- Gabor, Daniela, and Sally Brooks. 2017. The Digital Revolution in Financial Inclusion: International Development in the FinTech Era. New Political Economy 22: 423–36. [CrossRef]
- Gai, Keke, Meikang Qiu, and Xiaotong Sun. 2018. A Survey on FinTech. A Journal of Network and Computer Applications 83: 262–73. [CrossRef]
- Gomber, Peter, Jascha-Alexander Koch, and Michael Siering. 2017. Digital Finance and FinTech: Current research and future research directions. *Journal of Business Economics* 87: 537–80. [CrossRef]
- Gomber, Peter, Robert J. Kauffman, Chris Parker, and Bruce W. Weber. 2018. On the Fintech Revolution: Interpreting the Forces of Innovation, Disruption, and Transformation in Financial Services. Journal of Management Information Systems 35: 220–65. [CrossRef]
- Gozman, Daniel, and Leslie Willcocks. 2019. The emerging Cloud Dilemma: Balancing innovation with cross-border privacy and outsourcing regulations. *Journal of Business Research* 97: 235–56. [CrossRef]
- Haddad, Christian, and Lars Hornuf. 2019. The emergence of the global fintech market: Economic and technological determinants. Small Business Economics 53: 81–105. [CrossRef]
- History of the Basel Committee. 2019. History of the Basel Committee. Retrieved from Bank of International Settlements. Available online: https://www.bis.org/bcbs/history.htm (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Hochstein, Marc. 2015. Fintech (the Word, That Is) Evolves. American Banker. Available online: https://www.americanbanker.com/ opinion/fintech-the-word-that-is-evolves (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Hu, Zhongqing, Shuai Ding, Shizheng Li, Luting Chen, and Shanlin Yang. 2019. Adoption Intention of Fintech Services for Bank Users: An Empirical Examination with an Extended Technology Acceptance Model. *Symmetry* 11: 340. [CrossRef]
- Ji, Fen, and Ai Tia. 2021. The effect of blockchain on business intelligence efficiency of banks. Kybernetes. [CrossRef]
- Kaplan, Steven N., and Josh Lerner. 2016. Venture Capital Data: Opportunities and Challenges. NBER Working Paper Series; Chicago: University of Chicago Press. [CrossRef]
- Karafiloski, Elena, and Anastas Mishev. 2017. Blockchain Solutions for Big Data Challenges: A Literature Review. Paper presented at the IEEE Eurocon 2017—17th International Conference, Ohrid, Macedonia, July 6–8; pp. 763–68. [CrossRef]

- Kim, Seoyoung, Atulya Sarin, and Daljeet Virdi. 2018. Crypto-Assets Unencrypted. Journal of Investment Management 16: 99–129. [CrossRef]
- Kotarba, Marcin. 2016. New factors inducing changes in the retail banking customer relationship management (CRM) and their exploration by the fintech. *Foundations of Management* 8: 69–78. [CrossRef]
- Kumari, Anita, and Anil Kumar Sharma. 2017. Infrastructure financing and development: A bibliometric review. International Journal of Critical Infrastructure Protection, 49–65. [CrossRef]
- Lee, In, and Yong Jae Shin. 2018. Fintech: Ecosystem, business models, investment decisions, and challenges. Business Horizons 61: 35–46. [CrossRef]
- Lee, Tae-heon, and Hee-Woong Kim. 2015. An Exploratory Study on Fintech Industry in Korea. Paper presented at the 2nd International Conference on Innovative Engineering Technologies (ICIET'2015), Bangkok, Thailand, August 7–8.
- Leong, Carmen, Barney Tan, Xiao Xiao, Felix Ter Chian Tan, and Yuan Sun. 2017. Nurturing a FinTech ecosystem: The case of a youth microloan startup. International Journal of Information Management, 92–97. [CrossRef]
- Liu, John. 2016. Bitcoin literature: A co-word analysis. Paper presented at the 6th Economics & Finance Conference, OECD, Paris, France, September 6; Paris: International Institute of Social and Economic Sciences, pp. 262–72.
- Lotka, Alfred J. 1926. The frequency distribution of scientific productivity. *Journal of the Washington Academy of Sciences* 16: 317–23. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/24529203.pdf (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Martínez-Climent, Carla, Ana Zorio-Grima, and Domingo Ribeiro-Soriano. 2018. Financial return crowdfunding: Literature review and bibliometric analysis. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal 14: 527–53. [CrossRef]
- Merediz-Solà, Ignasi, and Aurelio F. Bariviera. 2019. A bibliometric analysis of bitcoin scientific production. Research in International Business and Finance 50: 294–305. [CrossRef]
- Milian, Eduardo Z., Mauro de M. Spinola, and Marly M. de Carvalho. 2019. Fintechs: A literature review and research agenda. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications 34: 100833. [CrossRef]
- Mora, Higinio, Mario R. Morales-Morales, Francisco A. Pujol-López, and Rafael Mollá-Sirvent. 2021. Social cryptocurrencies as model for enhancing sustainable development. *Kybernetes* 50: 2883–916. [CrossRef]
- Nicoletti, B. 2017. The Future of FinTech, Integrating Finance, and Technology in Financial Services. New York: Palgrave Macmillian. [CrossRef]
- Rogowski, Wojciech. 2017. The Dawn of Robo-Advisors. E-MENTOR, 53–63. Available online: http://www.e-mentor.edu.pl/eng/ article/index/number/71/id/1315/ (accessed on 18 December 2021). [CrossRef]
- Schueffel, Patrick. 2016. Taming the beast: A scientific definition of fintech. Journal of Innovation Management 4: 32-54. [CrossRef]
- Shim, Yongwoon, and Dong-Hee Shin. 2016. Analyzing China's Fintech Industry from the Perspective of Actor-Network Theory. *Telecommunications Policy* 40: 168–81. [CrossRef]
- Standage, Tom. 2013. The Victorian Internet: The Remarkable Story of the Telegraph and the Nineteenth Century's On-line Pioneers, 2nd ed. Revised edition 25 February 2014. New York: Bloomsbury USA.
- Stoeckli, Emanuel, Christian Dremel, and Falk Uebernickel. 2018. Exploring characteristics and transformational capabilities of InsurTech innovations to understand insurance value creation in a digital world. *Electronic Markets* 28: 287–305. [CrossRef]
- Wasserman, Stanley, and Katherine Faust. 1994. Social Network Analysis: Methods and Applications. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 116. [CrossRef]
- Wu, P. 2017. Fintech Trends Relationships Research: A Bibliometric Citation Meta-Analysis. Paper presented at the 17th International Conference on Electronic Business ICEB, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, December 4–8; pp. 99–105.
- Yan, Tan Choon, Paul Schulte, and David Lee Kuo Chuen. 2018a. InsurTec15h and FinTech: Banking and Insurance Enablement. In Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion, vol 1: Cryptocurrency, Fintech, Insurtech, and Regulation.. Cambridge: Academic Press, pp. 249–81. [CrossRef]
- Yan, Yan, Zhewen Liao, and Xiaosong Chen. 2018b. Fixed-income securities: Bibliometric review with network analysis. In Scientometrics. Berlin: Springer, pp. 1615–40. [CrossRef]
- Zalan, Tatiana, and Elissar Toufaily. 2017. The Promise of Fintech in Emerging Markets: Not as Disruptive. *Contemporary Economics* 11. Available online: https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/195501/1/1029213224.pdf (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- Zheng, Zibin, Shaoan Xie, Hong-Ning Dai, Xiangping Chen, and Huaimin Wang. 2018. Blockchain challenges and opportunities: A survey. International Journal of Web and Grid Services (IJWGS) 14: 352–75. [CrossRef]





Article Adverse Selection in P2P Lending: Does Peer Screening Work Efficiently?—Empirical Evidence from a P2P Platform

Yao Wang * and Zdenek Drabek

Institute of Economic Studies, Faculty of Social Sciences, Charles University, Opletalova 1606/26, 110 00 Prague, Czech Republic; zdenek.drabek1@gmail.com

* Correspondence: 73645327@fsv.cuni.cz; Tel.: +420-776502469

Abstract: The rapid development of online lending in the past decade, while providing convenience and efficiency, also generates large hidden credit risk for the financial system. Will removing financial intermediaries really provide more efficiency to the lending market? This paper used a large dataset with 251,887 loan listings from a pioneer P2P lending platform to investigate the efficiency of the credit-screening mechanism on the P2P lending platform. Our results showed the existence of a TYPE II error in the investors' decision-making process, which indicated that the investors were predisposed to making inaccurate diagnoses of signals, and gravitated to borrowers with low creditworthiness while inadvertently screening out their counterparts with high creditworthiness. Due to the growing size of the fintech industry, this may pose a systematic risk to the financial system, necessitating regulators' close attention. Since, investors can better diagnose soft signals, an effective and transparent enlargement of socially related soft information together with a comprehensive and independent credit bureau could mitigate adverse selection in a disintermediation environment.

Keywords: credit analysis; microfinance; fintech; decentralized finance; P2P; soft information

1. Introduction

Peer-to-peer (P2P) lending has passed the shakeout period and entered a steady growth period. Its development experience can provide valuable inspiration for current market players. The fast development of disintermediated online lending in the past decade, while providing convenience and efficiency, also generates significant concealed credit risk for the financial system (Huang 2018). For example, due to the fragile auditing process and high default rate, in August 2018, the Chinese P2P market ushered in its consolidation period and experienced a reduction of 42% in P2P platforms when 168 platforms ended operation. Even after the Interim Administrative Measures for the Business Activities of P2P Lending Information Intermediaries was established, the default rate in the P2P industry was still at a high level (You 2018). According to (Gao et al. 2021), Chinese P2P lending platforms have an astonishing default rate of 87.2%, based on data available in 2019. Thus, questions are generated. Does disintermediation really provide more efficiency to the lending market, or does it actually add unforeseen credit risk to the system? Does peer screening work efficiently? This paper used a large dataset with 251,887 loan listings from the pioneer P2P lending platform RenrenDai to investigate the efficiency of the credit-screening mechanism under a disintermediated environment by comparing the performance of loan funding signals and repayment determinants.

A group of scholars (Dorfleitner et al. 2016; Santoso et al. 2020; Liao et al. 2015; Lin et al. 2013; Pötzsch and Böhme 2010; Khan and Xuan 2021) attempted to investigate the determinants of credit rationing in the field. However, the findings in the literature regarding the determinants of loan application success and repayment behavior were inconsistent. Moreover, due to data limitation, the analyses of the default determinants were insufficient. The purpose of our paper was, therefore, to contribute to the literature that explores the determinants of the loan application's performance and the default

Citation: Wang, Yao, and Zdenek Drabek. 2021. Adverse Selection in P2P Lending: Does Peer Screening Work Efficiently?—Empirical Evidence from a P2P Platform. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 73. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijfs9040073

Academic Editors: Sabri Boubaker and Thanh Ngo

Received: 19 October 2021 Accepted: 6 December 2021 Published: 20 December 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). behavior of the online P2P lending platform. More importantly, the comparison of the results can provide evidence for our research question: Does the peer screening mechanism in the P2P platform efficiently diagnose the signals provided by the borrowers in their loan applications? Due to limitations in the repayment history data, no similar study has been performed using an emerging-market dataset. The only reference is (Iyer et al. 2016), who explored the question by using a Prosper dataset and US credit bureau data. However, this paper did not go deeper and explore the specific determinants which resulted in the misspecification. Our paper will fill this gap and also enrich the literature for emerging markets. We used the dataset from P2P pioneer RenrenDai to test our hypothesis. We divided the information provided by the borrowers into two categories: hard (financial) information and soft (social) information. Our findings showed that the hard (financial) indicators were given great importance when lenders were deciding whether to lend money. However, hard information was either unimportant or even acted in the opposite direction when it came to predicting the repayment behavior of a borrower. Meanwhile, soft information had much less inconsistency in the two models. This proved the existence of a TYPE II error in the investors' decision-making process, which indicated that the investors were predisposed to making inaccurate diagnoses of signals, and gravitated to borrowers with low creditworthiness while inadvertently screening out their counterparts with high creditworthiness. Due to the growing size of the fintech industry, this may pose a systematic risk to the financial system, necessitating regulators' close attention. Since, in contrast to hard financial-based signals, investors can better diagnose the soft signals, this implies enlarging socially related soft signals, and the building up of a comprehensive credit bureau could mitigate the adverse selection in a disintermediation environment.

The paper is divided into five sections. In the literature review, we provide an overview of the existing literature concerning the determinants of loan application success and loan defaults in the P2P market. We compare inconsistencies to find the gaps, then we define our scope. In Section 3, general information about the dataset will be introduced, and our model and the descriptive summary of the chosen variables will be presented. In Section 4, the results of the model are analyzed in detail. Finally, we conclude and discuss the policy implications in the discussion and conclusions section.

2. Literature Review

In the 1950s and 1960s, (Arrow 1964; Debreu 1959) were the first to explore optimal contracts under uncertainty, and laid the foundation for contract theory. In the late 1960s and 1970s, Gorge Akerlof, Josef Stiglitz, and Michal Spence formed the incentive theory as a branch of contract theory, and introduced the concepts of "hidden information" and "hidden actions". The asymmetric information problem under the incentive theory has been prolongedly discussed in modern contract economies. Credit rationing (Stiglitz and Weiss 1981) and information signaling (Spence 1973) were the two major branches of the discussion.

One major class of the contracting problem lies in hidden information, which is also regarded as adverse selection. It describes a situation in which one party to the contract has private information that the other does not. When the contract is made by the party that lacks private information, the uninformed party needs to screen the information possessed by the informed party. This is the so-called screening problem. If the contract is offered by the informed party, it is a signaling problem, since the informed party can signal the information they have through the type of contract offered. (Akerlof 1970) used the automobile market as an example to explain the situation in which one party has private information, and regards the second-hand automobile market as a market for "lemons", since the seller has private information about the condition of the car, and thus they have the incentive to sell cars of below-average-quality. Therefore, the entire market quality has been dragged down, but due to the asymmetric information, the buyer can only bargain according to the average price, so would only like to buy lower-quality cars, which results in above-average-quality cars exiting the market. This situation, when low-quality

products replace high-quality products, resulting in the entire market quality declining, is so-called adverse selection. In the loan market, this refers to a situation in which high-risk borrowers are usually those who are most eagerly looking for money, and most likely to obtain the loan. Thus, how to mitigate adverse selection and how to efficiently use signals to screen the borrower becomes a crucial and heated discussion topic. Credit appraisal is the application of screening in the financial market; the borrower has private information about the quality of the project and the incentives of paying back. Our research investigated the efficiency of the screening mechanism in online lending and a possible approach for improvement.

Empirical research concerning credit analysis in peer-to-peer lending can be divided into two groups. One is targeted at analyzing the trust of the lenders. This research area studies how lenders screen borrowers, or what the determinants are for the success of loan funding. The other trend investigates the borrower's repayment behavior, which indicates their creditworthiness; in other words, the potential factors that may signal the possibility of default.

From the perspective of lenders, according to (Debreu 1959), "The role of soft information in trust building: Evidence from online social lending" is representative of the literature analyzing lenders' trust. Data was used from Germany's largest P2P platform, Smava, to analyze trust-building between borrowers and lenders. The interest rate was used as a proxy for trust level. They introduced the concept of soft information as the personal information the borrower was willing to disclose. The results showed that communicating personal information increased lenders' trust, but the impact was small and limited to educational and professional information. In addition, if the borrower used statements aimed at arousing pity, they were given a higher interest rate, indicating a loss of trust. (Herzenstein et al. 2008), on the other hand, more comprehensively summarized the determinants of success in P2P lending into several groups: demographic characteristics, including gender, race, and marital status; financial strength, including credit ratings from credit bureaus, debt ratio, and house ownership; effort indicators, i.e., the effort to increase reputation, mainly through group activity and loan description; and loan decision variables, i.e., the loan features, such as amount, interest rate, and duration. Their results showed that all variables representing financial strength had a significant influence on funding success except house ownership, which was insignificant. Credit ratings from A to E were all positively related to success, except high-risk grading, but debt-to-income ratio was negatively related to success. Results for demographic characteristics showed that women were more likely to receive funding, which was opposite to expectations; marital status was not significant in the decision to grant a loan. African Americans; racial identity had a negative effect on loan funding success. The effort to include a picture had no significant influence on success, but the effort to join in group activity and give a loan description had a positive effect.

Besides these two representative works which summarized the determinants of success in funding applications, a large group of researchers examined the impact of a specific screening variable on the success of the loan application. (Barasinska and Schäfer 2014) analyzed the impact of gender on the possibility of successful funding on German P2P platform Smava; (Gonzalez and Loureiro 2014) and (Pope and Sydnor 2011) analyzed whether a profile picture would influence funding success; similarly, (Duarte et al. 2012) analyzed appearance and funding success; (Greiner and Wang 2009), (Herrero-Lopez 2009), and (Lin et al. 2013) focused on the impact of social capital on loan success; (Wang et al. 2019) led the analysis of the impact of video information on loan success. Researches in this field provided evidence of the screening determinants from the lender's perspective, but lack the comparison with the borrower's repayment behavior. This may be due to data limitation, but without this comparison we cannot diagnose the efficiency of these determinants. Looking from the lender's perspective can only provide information about the lenders' preference but cannot show whether these preferences correctly recognized the borrower's creditworthiness. Our research is based on the determinants previous studies

provided, but in addition we compared the results with the borrowers' repayment behavior to explore the real efficiency of the screening mechanism of the lenders.

From the perspective of borrowers, (Santoso et al. 2020) used data from three Indonesian P2P platforms to analyze the determinants of loan interest rates and default status. As an inconsistency in the existing literature, they also observed that factors such as age and gender have different results on three different platforms. The paper investigated the relationship of the chosen determinants with default probability and the loan interest rate. However, they did not link these two results together and further investigate the phenomenon behind and the origin of the problem. Our paper's target is to fill this gap and analyze whether borrower signals are correctly diagnosed by lenders. (Dorfleitner et al. 2016) studied the effect of soft factors derived from descriptive text on the probability of successful funding and probability of default on two European P2P lending platforms. Their results showed that typos, text length, and keywords evoking positive emotions are significantly related to funding success but have no impact on default probability. Their research provided the first evidence of linguistic factors in credit analysis; however, they only focused on linguistic factors and did not further investigate the misdiagnosis of other soft factors when comparing lenders' judgment and borrowers' real behavior.

The first paper that touched on the efficiency of the lenders' diagnosis is that of (Iver et al. 2016) in the 2016 paper, "Screening peers softly: Inferring the quality of small borrowers", they used the advantage that they had acquired the true credit scores of the borrowers from the credit bureau while the lenders on the prosper platform only had information about the credit grading. As a predictor, they used the final interest rate collected by the borrower to assess whether the lenders on the platform would use the details available to assess the borrower's true credibility. The results showed that, within one credit category, the lenders were able to infer one-third of the variation in creditworthiness that was captured by credit scores. Their results also suggested that, on top of the traditional financial factors, non-standard "softer" information was also used in analyzing the borrower's credit risk, especially for lower credit rating borrowers. Although the paper diagnosed the fact that lenders on the platform had one-third of the ability to infer the real creditworthiness of the borrower, it also indicated that misspecification existed since only one-third had been captured which implied that two-thirds hadn't. This paper opened the first debate on whether the usage of soft information would compensate for the traditional credit analysis model and add more choice for credit model development after the 2008 financial crisis. However, this paper did not delve into the specific determinants which resulted in the misspecification. Our paper is an extension of that of (Iver et al. 2016), whereby we provide empirical evidence for the misspecification of the lenders' screening mechanism in P2P lending.

We further compared the literature on these two trends, and found inconsistent results for the same variable in different models; for example, gender was insignificantly correlated with success in (Pötzsch and Böhme 2010) but significantly correlated with success in (Zhang et al. 2017), (Herzenstein et al. 2008) and (Pope and Sydnor 2011). At the same time, female gender was shown to be positively related to default in (Santoso et al. 2020) but negatively related to default in (Ge et al. 2017) and insignificantly related in (Pope and Sydnor 2011). Moreover, the results of (Dorfleitner et al. 2016) showed that typos, text length, and keywords evoking positive emotions were significantly related to funding success but had no impact on default probability. People who mentioned education in their loan descriptions were more likely to obtain loans (results significant), but mentioning education was shown to be insignificant in predicting default. However, in (Liao et al. 2015), people with higher degrees of education had a lower probability of default (significant) but were not more likely to get funding (insignificant). In (Freedman and Jin 2008), mentioning education in loan descriptions had an insignificant influence on funding success but people who did so were significantly less likely to default. Mentioning car ownership was not significantly related to success but was significantly and positively related to default. In addition, mentioning family was significantly and positively related to

success but also significantly and positively related to default. Due to these inconsistencies, we doubt whether investors can truly diagnose the credit signals given by borrowers. If there are misdiagnoses, which factors resulted in these mismatches?

Thus, we come up with our hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1: Investors on the P2P platform can correctly diagnose the credit signals the borrower provide and efficiently screen out low credit borrowers;

Hypothesis 2: Investors can more efficiently diagnose hard financially related signals than soft socially related signals.

3. Data, Model and Variables

The data we used is from one of the world's pioneer P2P platforms, RenrenDai, which was established in 2010. By October 2016, the total amount of its transactions exceeded 21.2 billion yuan. The platform targets microloans, 71,000 yuan being the average loan amount. The platform consisted of 251,887 listings from 2010 to 2014. Borrowers fill out a loan application online to be published on the website. Peer investors conduct their own credit analyses and choose which loans to invest in. The funding process is completed when the entire loan amount has been filled by investors. Like crowdfunding, a single loan may have multiple investors. Thus, among the total listings, only 65,394 loans were funded. The borrowers can repay the loan in full or in monthly installments until it matures. Among the funded loans, 50,819 loans are still in the repayment process and 14,575 loans have reached maturity. In the finished loans, 13,901 loans completed the repayment process while the other 674 defaulted, representing a relatively modest default rate of about 4.2%. Detailed variable descriptions are presented below.

Since the dependent variable is binary, we use the logit model to test the determinants of loan funding and default in P2P lending. Our models are presented below: *Model I:*

 $Logit (Funded_i) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Hard \ Information_i + \beta_2 \ Soft \ Information_i + \propto Control \ Variables_i + \varepsilon$ (1)

Model II:

 $Logit (Default_i) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Hard Information_i + \beta_2 Soft Information_j + \propto Control Variables_i + \varepsilon,$ (2)

The dependent variable for Model I, the funding probability model, is a dummy variable which equals 1 when the loans have been successfully funded, otherwise 0.

Model II is the default predicting model; the dependent variable default represents whether the loan has been repaid completely without delay. 1 represents 'defaulted'; 0 represents 'repaid'.

All the chosen hard and soft information variables are listed in Appendix A, Table A1. All the chosen variables are based on the references from the literature review. We used financially related information, income level and collaterals as the hard information. Socially and psychologically related information such as age, gender, loan description, marital status, educational level and social media information are used as the soft information. Loan features are used as the control variables.

The hard information is represented by key financial determinants that indicate the wealth and solvency of the borrower. They are the four key fundamental financial indicators that are available in our dataset: monthly income, home ownership, car ownership and existing mortgage loans. Car and home ownership are dummy variables, with 1 indicating 'ownership' and 0 indicating 'none'. We include verification of income in the model to certify accuracy.

As soft information is difficult to measure, proxies must be employed. Table 1 summarizes the proxies used in our model. Our approach to soft data is similar to that in the literature: we employ education duration (e.g., (Liao et al. 2015)), age (e.g., (Gonzalez and Loureiro 2014)), and gender (e.g., (Gonzalez and Loureiro 2014; Barasinska and Schäfer 2014; Ravina 2019; Pope and Sydnor 2011)). We also employed the length of the loan purpose statement as a linguistic indicator, as suggested by (Lin et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2020).

Since social impact has been proved to be a significant factor on loan success by (Greiner and Wang 2009; Herrero-Lopez 2009; Lin et al. 2013), we used the verification data from Weibo (the largest Chinese social network) as our indicator of social impact. If an applicant's social network was verified, it is represented as "1", otherwise "0".

Profile photos were shown to influence the funding success in (Pope and Sydnor 2011) study. Since the profile photos on Renrendai.com were not always real pictures of the applicants, we chose video verification as the picture indicator's proxy. During the verification process, borrowers must video themselves holding their ID cards and reading a statement accepting general rules and conditions from Renrendai.com as part of the verification procedure, and then upload the video with their loan application. If the applicant accepted video verification, this is recorded as a "1," otherwise it is reported as a "0".

The expansion of mobile services is a fundamental component of Fintech 2.0, and mobile usage data is the preferred verification tool for Fintech firms, particularly big data firms. Since mobile numbers were introduced to China's real-name system, allowing tracking and verifying of real cellphone users, it has become a critical source for anti-fraud efforts. Furthermore, one of the most powerful indicators of default in the consumer finance market is mobile usage behavior. As a result, we included a variable for mobile verification in our model. This is also a dummy variable: "1" means verified, "0" means not verified.

Based on (Nigmonov et al. 2022) and (Khan and Xuan 2021), we included the interest rate, the length of the loan, and the amount of the loan. The average interest rate is 14.9%, and the highest interest rate is 24.4%. The average amount is 60,637.93 yuan. Since the amount is quite large, we used the log of amount as the proxy to normalize the distribution. The loan term is from 1 month to 36 months. The average term is 16 months.

We summarize the descriptive statistics of all the independent variables in Table 1 below.

Variable	Observation	Mean	Std.Dev.	Min	Max	Median	First Quartile	Third Quartile
Income	222,757	4.064	1.281	1	7	4	3	5
Car verified	251,842	0.042	0.200	0	1	0	0	0
House verified	251,842	0.044	0.206	0	1	0	0	0
Mortgage loan	251,842	0.134	0.341	0	1	0	0	0
Description	251,842	184.488	101.908	0	367	165	88	276
Age	251,842	31.334	7.688	1	86	29	26	35
Gender	251,842	0.163	0.370	0	1	0	0	0
Marriage	251,842	0.492	0.500	0	1	0	0	1
Education	236,656	14.081	1.755	12	19	15	12	15
Mobile verified	251,842	0.048	0.213	0	1	0	0	0
Weibo verified	251,842	0.031	0.174	0	1	0	0	0
Video verified	251,842	0.042	0.199	0	1	0	0	0
Interest	251,842	14.936	3.550	3	24.4	15	13	16
Amount	251,830	10.186	1.350	6.908	14.914	30,000	10,000	62,200
Term	251,842	16.333	10.676	1	36	12	6	24

Table 1. Descriptive Summary of Independent Variables.

4. Results

Table 2 shows the logit regression results for Model I and Model II. The results show that income has a positive relationship with success since we take the mean group 4 as the reference group. Income groups lower than 4 are less likely to receive loans, while groups higher than 4 are more likely than the average group to have loans funded. This reflects the common sense of peer investors, who believe higher income means better solvency and more trustworthiness. This is consistent with most of the research in the field such as (Pötzsch and Böhme 2010). However, the default results suggest that this is not the case: the lower income group is negatively correlated to default, thus they actually have lower default possibility (e.g., income groups 2 and 3), while the high income group can default more (e.g., income groups 6 and 7 are more likely to default than income group 4). This may be because borrowers have the intention to lie about their income to create a more trustworthy image to the lenders. However, the lenders did not recognize the risk of the fake information. Moreover, the value of the income verification has not been recognized: the high verified income group has a lower default probability. Nevertheless, compared to income group 4, investors give more loans to income group 3 than groups 5,6,7, which is evidently a TYPE II error that provides loans to those with lower creditworthiness. This results from the misdiagnosis signals from income. This also implies the necessity of key information verification on the P2P platform. Since there is no credit rationing process on the platform, the judgment is purely based on unprofessional lenders. The validity of the information provided on the platform becomes critical.

Table 2 presents the logit regression results for the funding probability model and default prediction model with coefficient and robust standard errors in brackets.

	(1)	(1)
VARIABLES	Funded	Default
Hard Information Variables		
1. Income verified	2.832 ***	0.596 **
	(0.0629)	(0.232)
1. Income group 1	-0.668 ***	-0.874
	(0.105)	(1.086)
2. Income group 2	-1.660 ***	-0.604 *
	(0.0821)	(0.344)
3. Income group 3	-0.394 ***	-0.168
	(0.0191)	(0.134)
5. Income group 5	0.155 ***	-0.360 **
	(0.0232)	(0.168)
6. Income group 6	0.382 ***	0.233
	(0.0282)	(0.148)
7. Income group 7	0.475 ***	0.261 *
	(0.0323)	(0.156)
Income verified#1.Income group 1	0	0
	(0)	(0)
Income verified#2.Income group 2	1.136	2.803 ***
	(0.738)	(0.882)
Income verified#3.Income group 3	0.434 ***	0.471
	(0.0903)	(0.329)
Income verified#5.Income group 5	-0.308***	-1.156 **
	(0.106)	(0.580)

 Table 2. Comparison of Logit Regression Results for Funding Probability and Default Predicting Model.

Table 2. Cont.

	(1)	(1)
VARIABLES	Funded	Default
Income verified#6.Income gorup 6	-0.606 ***	-1.744 ***
	(0.116)	(0.584)
Income verified#7.Income gorup 7	-1.172 ***	-2.233 ***
	(0.117)	(0.577)
Car verified	0.448 ***	-0.394 ***
	(0.0440)	(0.110)
Home verified	0.0795	0.348 ***
	(0.0529)	(0.122)
Mortgage Loan	-0.311 ***	-0.409 *
	(0.0231)	(0.216)
Homeverified#1Mortgage loan Soft Information Variables	0.240 ***(0.0779)	-0.179(0.276)
Loan description	0.0130 ***	-0.00603 ***
	(9.02×10^{-5})	(0.000549)
Age	0.0653 ***	-0.00531
	(0.00103)	(0.00625)
Gender	0.274 ***	-0.274 **
	(0.0183)	(0.129)
Marriage	0.345 ***	-0.203 *
	(0.0167)	(0.104)
Educational	0.0763 ***	-0.120 ***
	(0.00441)	(0.0167)
Mobile verified	-0.515 ***	-0.486 ***
	(0.0432)	(0.131)
Weibo verified	0.605 ***	-0.627 ***
	(0.0492)	(0.151)
Video verified	2.522 ***	1.007 ***
Control Variables	(0.0423)	(0.120)
Interest	-0.304 ***	0.195 ***
	(0.00352)	(0.0138)
Amount	-0.304 ***	0.0349
	(0.00817)	(0.0452)
Term	0.113 ***	0.0117 **
	(0.000935)	(0.00579)
Constant	-2.150 ***	-3.159 ***
	(0.110)	(0.603)
Pseudo R2	0.5883	0.1674
Observations	222,437	14,566
Time & Regional Fixed Effect Control	No	No

Heteroscedasticity-Robust, standard errors in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The numbers associated with the variable 'income' refer to income groups. The sample includes 7 income groups.

After comparing the logit regression results from both models, we can see that, except car ownership, all other hard information variables have either opposite results when compared to each other or different significance levels.

The median income group 4 is used as the reference variable, revealing that lowerincome groups (1,2,3) are less likely to receive loan funding compared to the median income group (4), whereas higher-income groups (5,6,7) were more likely to be funded. The funding probability model shows interesting results, in which the interaction effect of verified income and declared income elicit opposite results. Surprisingly, higher-income groups are less preferred by the investor. Combined with the results of the default predicting model, we find that verified higher-income groups show lower default probability. However, higher-income groups without income verification demonstrate a higher probability of default. The implication may be that people in higher-income groups are more inclined to be dishonest regarding their incomes. In Table 3, we further analyzed the distribution of the income verification, the results showing that the income verification percentage increases along with the increase of income levels. Applicants in income groups 1 and 2 are very unlikely to verify their income, the verification percentage being only around 0.3%. On the other hand, the high-income groups all have a verification percentage above 14%. However, as we can see from the regression results, investors are less willing to lend to verified high-income groups than the average income group, although verified high-income groups have a lower probability of default. But investors are more willing to lend to unverified high-income groups, who actually have a higher probability of default. This induces TYPE II errors among the investors, since they cannot diagnose the income verification in high-income groups as a positive signal of creditworthiness and lend more funds to those who have a higher probability of default.

Table 3 shows the distribution of the verified income group and the percentage it occupies of the total application according to income group.

Income Group	Verified	Total	Percentage
1	4	1231	0.32%
2	20	7190	0.28%
3	5641	82,862	6.81%
4	8057	65,763	12.25%
5	4597	31,046	14.81%
6	3178	19,863	16.00%
7	2133	14,802	14.41%
Total	23,630	222,757	10.61%

Table 3. Verified Income Distributions.

Lenders tend to prefer borrowers with fixed assets such as houses or cars. However, only car ownership is seen to be a significant indicator of reduced probability of default. House ownership is unable to secure loan payment, a finding that is in consonance with that of (Jiménez and Saurina 2004) research, in which loans with collateral are often linked to higher default rates. Additionally, since loans in the P2P market are usually small-sized, this makes a car easier to monetize, whereas the process of realizing a house for loan repayment is more time-consuming and complicated, compared to smaller assets. As far as the mortgage loan is concerned, investors prefer borrowers without any debt. However, the default model is suggestive of the fact that the probability of default is lower for people with mortgage loans. This could be attributed to the fact that people with mortgage loans are more concerned about their creditworthiness.

For soft information, mobile verification exhibits the opposite result in the logit regression. It is negatively correlated to funding probability, but also negatively correlated to default. This means that borrowers who have mobile verification are less likely to default but are also less likely to get the loan funded. From Table 4, we can see that the percentage of mobile verified in successful loans (4.77%) is much less than in defaulted loans (17.87%).

Additionally, the percentages of successful and non-default mobile and video verified loans differentiated substantially. Successful mobile verified loans represent 26.6% of all verified loans, among which only 3.9% defaulted. This is lower than the total default rate of 4.6%. This substantiates a positive relationship of the verified mobile with the high creditworthiness of the borrowers. However, lenders cannot effectively diagnose the signal and categorize the borrowers by this feature.

The phenomenon of non-financial information can improve the prediction model and can sometimes even outperform financial information in predicting default, which has been proved by (Fernando et al. 2020) and (Bhimani et al. 2013) using business loans. Now we add further evidence from the microfinance dataset.

Table 4 shows the distribution of the mobile verification in funded and not funded loans, and in default and defaulted loans.

Mobile Verification		Funded		
	0	1	Total	
0	172,187	67,650	239,837(95.23%)	
1	8815	3190	12,005(4.77%)	
Total	181,002	70,840	251,842(100%)	
Mobile Verification		Default		
	0	1	Total	
0	11,398	573	11,971(82.13%)	
1	2503	101	2604(17.87%)	
Total	13,901	674	14,575(100%)	

Table 4. Mobile Verification Distribution List.

The video verification also showed opposite results in the Logit regression comparison, which is consistent with (Duarte et al. 2012), where borrowers' willingness to show their appearance does not indicate that they have higher creditworthiness. However, most of the lenders attach great trust to video verification since the indicator is significantly correlated to loan success. As shown in Table 5, in contrast to mobile verified, 61.29% of video verified loans succeed in funding, while 8.2% defaulted, which is 3.6% higher than the total default rate of 4.6%. This may be due to the fact that borrowers that bear higher risk are willing to offer more information, indicating a classic adverse selection case and a TYPE II error existence.

Table 5 shows the distribution of video verification in funded and not funded loans, and in default and defaulted loans.

Table 5. Video Verification Distribution List.
--

Video Verification	Success		
	0	1	Total
0	176,955	64,433	241,388(85.85%)
1	4047	6407	10,454(4.15%)
Total	181,002	70,840	251,842(100%)
Video Verification	Default		
	0	1	Total
0	8878	223	9101(62.44%)
1	5023	451	5474(37.56%)
Total	13901	674	14,575(100%)

We can also see from the significance level of the variables that all the hard information is significant in the funding probability model except house ownership, but becomes less significant when it comes to the default predicting model. However, this phenomenon does not exist in soft information variables, as the results of soft information are more consistent in both models. This suggests that lenders were less capable if diagnosing the signals from hard information compared to soft information.

From our regression results, we can see that investors were not able to effectively diagnose most of the useful information from the signals provided by borrowers provide, especially from hard financially related signals. This indicates that investors on the P2P platform may have lacked the financial literacy regarding credit appraisal. Their biased investment decisions may have created credit risk to the disintermediated financial system. On the other hand, the P2P investors react surprisingly well to soft signals. They correctly diagnosed the effect of age, gender, educational level, marital status, and social media on creditworthiness. This has important policy implication - in a financial environment with a weak credit bureau and limited financial literacy, soft information may even performs better on credit screening. Adding more socially related soft information into the credit rationing model could mitigate adverse selection in disintermediated financial institutions.

5. Discussion and Conclusions

This paper examines whether online P2P investors can accurately and effectively diagnose signals of creditworthiness during their decision-making process. According to our findings, the TYPE II errors exist in the investors' decision-making process. Comparisons of the signs used in determining both loan defaults and loan funding show that the investors were predisposed to making inaccurate diagnoses of signals and gravitate to borrowers with low creditworthiness, while inadvertently screening out their counterparts with high creditworthiness.

This particularly happens with hard financially based signals. Specifically, signals such as income and property ownership were insignificant or typically provided contradictory guidance in terms of default. However, investors have allocated disproportionate weights to this in the decision-making process of loan funding. Surprisingly, rather than hard financial signals, investors were more adept at diagnosing soft social signals. That is, all directions of soft signals in the loan funding process were found to be accurate reflections in the default prediction model with the exception of softer signals such as video and mobile verification. These results suggest that soft social information can be a compensatory solution when hard information is not solid enough. The absence of solid credit bureau is typically the main problem for developing countries in credit appraisal, and as our results show, soft information can provide an alternative solution in credit analysis to this problem. Due to data limitations, our soft information is restricted to social identity information. However, with artificial intelligence and machine learning development, softer information relevant to social behavior such as social networks and mobile usage behavior can provide more comprehensive angles of credit analysis in microfinance and deserve further research.

Our paper clearly demonstrated the existence of the TYPE II errors in the disintermediated lending market, indicating a high potential credit risk in financial markets. Due to the growing size of the Fintech industry, this may pose systematic risk to financial systems, requiring regulators' close attention. In addition, we believe the problem of misidentification of credit worthiness signals can be alleviated by a sophisticated and independent credit bureau and increasing public financial literacy. Meanwhile, expanding the use of social soft information could also mitigate adverse selection in the disintermediated financial institutions. And this process must be accompanied by establishing a transparent and effective oversight over the use of soft information in order to avoid abuse.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Y.W. and Z.D.; methodology, Y.W.; software, Y.W.; validation, Y.W.; formal analysis, Y.W.; investigation, Y.W.; resources, Y.W.; data curation, Y.W.; writing original draft preparation, Y.W.; writing—review and editing, Y.W.; visualization, Y.W.; supervision, Z.D.; project administration, Y.W.; funding Y.W. and Z.D. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript. Funding: This research was funded by Charles University, grant number "SVV 260 597" and GACR funding under project number 18-04630S.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Restrictions apply to the availability of these data. Data was obtained from Tsinghua University and are available from the author with the permission of Tsinghua University and RenrenDai.com.

Acknowledgments: I would like to sincerely gratitude to Tsinghua University for providing the research dataset. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Zdenek Drabek, for his professional guidance. Finally, I need to thank all my colleagues from PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University for their insightful suggestions.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A. List of Variables

Table A1. Description of independent variables.

Variables	Description
Hard Information	
Income level	Category variable: Monthly income of the borrower (1~7) Group 1: <1000 yuan Group 2: 1001–2000 yuan Group 3: 2000~5000 yuan Group 4: 5000~10000 yuan Group 5: 10,000~20,000 yuan Group 6: 20,000–50,000 yuan Group 7: >50,000 yuan
Income verification	Dummy variable: income is verified-1; is not verified-0
Home ownership verification	Dummy variable: ownership is verified-1; is not verified-0
Car ownership verification	Dummy variable: ownership is verified-1; is not verified-0
Mortgage loans	Dummy variable: the borrower has a mortgage loan-1; doesn't have a mortgage loan-0
Soft Information	
Loan description Age Gender Marital status Educational level Weibo verification Mobile verification Video verification	Length of the loan description Age of the borrower Dummy variable: female-1; male-0 Dummy variable: married-1; otherwise-0 Years of education Dummy variable: the social network is verified-1; is not verified-0 Dummy variable: the mobile number is verified-1; is not verified-0 Dummy variable: finished the video verification-1; otherwise-0
Loan features Interest Term Amount	Interest rate of the loan in percentage Length of the loan in months Amount of the loan, used log of amount as the proxy

Appendix B. Robustness Check

Since the dataset is from 2010 to 2014, the change in macroeconomic environment in these years may influence the decisions of the investors and the behavior of the borrowers. As China has 36 different regions, regional differences may be found in financial behavior. Thus, we added region and year dummy variables into the model to control the fixed effect of time and region.

The loan application distribution by region and year are listed in Tables A2 and A3 accordingly.

	Freq.	Percent	Cum.
Unwritten	35,686	14.17	14.17
Beijing	7421	2.95	17.12
Shanghai	9794	3.89	21.01
Shenzhen	232	0.09	21.10
Guangzhou	3030	1.20	22.30
Tianjin	11	0.00	22.31
Hongkong	16	0.01	22.31
Guangdong	26,806	10.64	32.96
Jiangsu	14,645	5.82	38.77
Shandong	19,649	7.80	46.57
Zhejiang	13,424	5.33	51.90
Henan	9821	3.90	55.80
Sichuan	9295	3.69	59.49
Hubei	9430	3.74	63.24
Hunan	8482	3.37	66.61
Hebei	8005	3.18	69.78
Fujian	13,535	5.37	75.16
Anhui	6520	2.59	77.75
Liaoning	8794	3.49	81.24
Shanxi (NW)	5150	2.04	83.28
Jiangxi	3845	1.53	84.81
Chongqing	7636	3.03	87.84
Guangxi	4834	1.92	89.76
Yunan	3450	1.37	91.13
Neimenggu	2344	0.93	92.06
Heilongjiang	3347	1.33	93.39
Shanxi (N)	3684	1.46	94.86
Jilin	3707	1.47	96.33
Guizhou	3204	1.27	97.60
Xinjiang	1370	0.54	98.14
Gansu	2231	0.89	99.03
Hainan	1066	0.42	99.45
Ningxia	764	0.30	99.76
Qinghai	331	0.13	99.89
Xizang	266	0.11	99.99
Taiwan	17	0.01	100.00
Total	25,1842	100	

Table A2. Loan Application Distribution by Region.

Table A3. Loan Application Distribution by Year.

	Freq.	Percent	Cum.
2010	1009	0.79	0.79
2011	14,509	11.33	12.12
2012	12,771	9.97	22.09
2013	48,751	38.07	60.17
2014	51,006	39.83	100.00
Total	128,046	100.00	

The regression result with region and year dummy is presented in Table A4. The results are in line with original regression, in that most of the hard information variables have opposite results in the two models while most of the soft variables have consistent results. This proves the existence of TYPE II errors in the investors' decision-making process.

VARIABLES Funded Default Hard Information Variables 3.064 *** -0.0189 1. Income verified 0.0811) 0.0303 1. Income group 1 -0.355 *** -0.793 .0.0136) (1.029) .0.0897) (0.366) 2. Income group 2 -0.878 *** -0.522 .0.0987) (0.366) .0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 -0.291 *** -0.241 * .0.0260) (0.140) .0.175) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 .0.0318) (0.175) .0.1609 6. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 .0.00387) (0.157) .0.1650 Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 .0.00141) (0.165) .0.100 Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 .0.118) (0.439) .0.118) .0.439 Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * .0.112) Income verified#6.Income group 7 -1.137 ***		(1)	(1)
Hard Information Variables 3.064 *** -0.0189 1. Income verified (0.0811) (0.303) 1. Income group 1 -0.355 *** -0.793 (0.136) (1.029) 2. 2. Income group 2 -0.878 *** -0.522 (0.0987) (0.366) 3. 3. Income group 3 -0.291 *** -0.241 * (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.2260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.228 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 0 Income verified#3.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * 0 Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * 0 Income verified#5.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** -3.127 *** Income verified#6.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** -0.258 0 Income verifi	VARIABLES	Funded	Default
1. Income verified 3.064 *** −0.0189 (0.0811) (0.303) 1. Income group 1 −0.355 *** −0.793 (0.136) (1.029) 2. Income group 2 −0.878 *** −0.522 (0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 −0.291 *** −0.241 * 0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** −0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 1ncome verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1ncome verified#2.Income group 2 −0.728 0 1ncome verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 1ncome verified#5.Income group 5 −0.312 ** −1.412 * 0 0 0 0 1ncome verified#5.Income group 7 −1.137 *** −3.127 *** 1ncome verified#5.Income group 7 −1.137 *** −3.127 *** 1ncome verified#6.Income group 7 −1.137 *** <t< td=""><td>Hard Information Variables</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Hard Information Variables		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1. Income verified	3.064 ***	-0.0189
1. Income group 1 -0.355 *** -0.793 (0.136) (1.029) 2. Income group 2 -0.878 *** -0.522 (0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 -0.291 *** -0.241 * (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260^* (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (ncome verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#6.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified#7.Income group 7 -1.133 *** -0.224 *		(0.0811)	(0.303)
(0.136) (1.029) 2. Income group 2 -0.878^{***} -0.522 (0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 -0.291^{***} -0.241^* (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200^{***} -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436^{***} 0.260^* (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654^{***} 0.258 (0.0411) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 0 0 (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340^{***} 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#6.Income group 5 -0.312^{**} -1.412^{*} (0.142) (1.077) (0.150) (1.661) Car verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137^{***} -3.127^{***}	1. Income group 1	-0.355 ***	-0.793
2. Income group 2 -0.878 *** -0.522 (0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 -0.291 *** -0.241 * (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 0 (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#5.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.04		(0.136)	(1.029)
(0.0987) (0.366) 3. Income group 3 -0.291^{***} -0.241^* (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200^{***} -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436^{***} 0.260^* (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654^{***} 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340^{***} 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312^{**} -1.412^* (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137^{***} -3.127^{***} (0.150) (1.61) Car verified 0.485^{***} -0.394^{***} (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified#1.Mortgage loan -0.0247^* -0.360^* (0.0328) (0.224) Home	2. Income group 2	-0.878 ***	-0.522
3. Income group 3 -0.291 *** -0.241 * (0.0260) (0.140) 5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360		(0.0987)	(0.366)
	3. Income group 3	-0.291 ***	-0.241 *
5. Income group 5 0.200 *** -0.265 (0.0318) (0.175) 6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.455 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -		(0.0260)	(0.140)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	5. Income group 5	0.200 ***	-0.265
6. Income group 6 0.436 *** 0.260 * (0.0387) (0.157) 7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) (0.439) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) (2.48) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.188 *** -0.		(0.0318)	(0.175)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	6. Income group 6	0.436 ***	0.260 *
7. Income group 7 0.654 *** 0.258 (0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.0150) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.228) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.0071) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** <td></td> <td>(0.0387)</td> <td>(0.157)</td>		(0.0387)	(0.157)
(0.0441) (0.165) Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) (0.018) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.312 *** (0.0478) (0.121) (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0328) (0.224) (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 50f Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** -0.00571 *** -0.00799 Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 <td>7. Income group 7</td> <td>0.654 ***</td> <td>0.258</td>	7. Income group 7	0.654 ***	0.258
Income verified#1.Income group 1 0 0 (0) (0) (0) Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** -0.033 **		(0.0441)	(0.165)
(0)(0)Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0(1.214)(0)Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340^{***} 0.582 (0.118)(0.439)Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312^{**} -1.412^{*} (0.132)(0.848)Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657^{***} -2.729^{**} (0.142)(1.077)Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137^{***} -3.127^{***} (0.150)(1.061)Car verified 0.485^{***} -0.394^{***} (0.0478)(0.121)Home verified 0.250^{***} 0.341^{***} (0.0559)(0.130)Mortgage Loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables(0.0850)(0.289)Loan description 0.0124^{***} -0.00571^{***} (0.00120)(0.000592)Age 0.0596^{***} (0.00142)(0.0071)Gender 0.247^{***} (0.0249)(0.135)	Income verified#1.Income group 1	0	0
Income verified#2.Income group 2 -0.728 0 (1.214) (0) Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 (0.118) (0.439) Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 * (0.132) (0.848) Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 ** (0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) (2a verified Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) (0.0850) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.00596 *** -0.0		(0)	(0)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Income verified#2.Income group 2	-0.728	0
Income verified#3.Income group 3 0.340 *** 0.582 Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312 ** -1.412 *(0.132)(0.848)Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657 *** -2.729 **(0.142)(1.077)Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 ***(0.150)(1.061)Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 ***(0.0478)(0.121)Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 ***(0.0559)(0.130)Mortgage Loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables(0.0050)(0.289)Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 ***Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 Age 0.0247 *** -0.303 **(0.00142)(0.00671)(0.00671)Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 **(0.0249)(0.135)		(1.214)	(0)
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Income verified#3.Income group 3	0.340 ***	0.582
Income verified#5.Income group 5 -0.312^{**} -1.412^{*} (0.132)(0.848)Income verified#6.Income group 6 -0.657^{***} -2.729^{**} (0.142)(1.077)Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137^{***} -3.127^{***} (0.150)(1.061)Car verified 0.485^{***} -0.394^{***} (0.0478)(0.121)Home verified 0.250^{***} 0.341^{***} (0.0559)(0.130)Mortgage Loan -0.188^{***} -0.258 (0.0328)(0.224)Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables(0.0850)(0.289)Loan description 0.0124^{***} -0.00571^{***} (0.00120)(0.000592)Age 0.0596^{***} (0.00142)(0.00671)(0.00471)Gender 0.247^{***} -0.303^{**} (0.0249)(0.135) 0.135		(0.118)	(0.439)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Income verified#5.Income group 5	-0.312 **	-1.412 *
Income verified#6.Income group 6 $-0.657 ***$ $-2.729 **$ Income verified#7.Income group 7 $-1.137 ***$ $-3.127 ***$ Income verified#7.Income group 7 $-1.137 ***$ $-3.127 ***$ Income verified $0.485 ***$ $-0.394 ***$ Income verified $0.485 ***$ $-0.394 ***$ Income verified $0.250 ***$ $0.341 ***$ Income verified $0.0250 ***$ $0.341 ***$ Income verified $0.0250 ***$ $0.341 ***$ Income verified $0.0250 ***$ -0.258 Income verified#1Mortgage loan $-0.0247 -0.360$ $0.224)$ Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Income verified $0.0124 *** -0.00571 ***$ $-0.00571 ***$ Information Variables (0.00120) (0.000592) Age $0.0596 *** -0.00799$ (0.00671) Income verified $0.247 *** -0.303 **$ $-0.303 **$ Information Variables 0.0249 (0.135)		(0.132)	(0.848)
(0.142) (1.077) Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.007799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 **	Income verified#6.Income group 6	-0.657 ***	-2.729 **
Income verified#7.Income group 7 -1.137 *** -3.127 *** (0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.00850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** -0.303 **		(0.142)	(1.077)
(0.150) (1.061) Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender (0.247 *** -0.303 ** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135) -0.303 **	Income verified#7.Income group 7	-1.137 ***	-3.127 ***
Car verified 0.485 *** -0.394 *** (0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender (0.247 *** -0.303 ** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135) -0.303 **		(0.150)	(1.061)
(0.0478) (0.121) Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Car verified	0.485 ***	-0.394 ***
Home verified 0.250 *** 0.341 *** (0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)		(0.0478)	(0.121)
(0.0559) (0.130) Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Home verified	0.250 ***	0.341 ***
Mortgage Loan -0.188 *** -0.258 (0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)		(0.0559)	(0.130)
(0.0328) (0.224) Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Mortgage Loan	-0.188 ***	-0.258
Homeverified#1Mortgage loan -0.0247 -0.360 Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)		(0.0328)	(0.224)
Soft Information Variables (0.0850) (0.289) Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Homeverified#1Mortgage loan	-0.0247	-0.360
Loan description 0.0124 *** -0.00571 *** (0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Soft Information Variables	(0.0850)	(0.289)
(0.000120) (0.000592) Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Loan description	0.0124 ***	-0.00571 ***
Age 0.0596 *** -0.00799 (0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)		(0.000120)	(0.000592)
(0.00142) (0.00671) Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)	Age	0.0596 ***	-0.00799
Gender 0.247 *** -0.303 ** (0.0249) (0.135)		(0.00142)	(0.00671)
(0.0249) (0.135)	Gender	0.247 ***	-0.303 **
		(0.0249)	(0.135)

Table A4. Robustness Test with Region and Year Dummy.

	(1)	(1)
VARIABLES	Funded	Default
Marriage	0.325 ***	-0.243 **
	(0.0225)	(0.112)
Educational	0.0484 ***	-0.170 ***
	(0.00621)	(0.0269)
Mobile verified	-0.553 ***	-0.537 ***
	(0.0470)	(0.144)
Weibo verified	0.506 ***	-0.402 **
	(0.0536)	(0.163)
Video verified	2.206 ***	1.106 ***
Control Variables	(0.0460)	(0.133)
Interest	-0.306 ***	0.223 ***
	(0.00480)	(0.0156)
Amount	-0.448 ***	0.0772
	(0.0124)	(0.0519)
Term	0.102***	0.00808
	(0.00134)	(0.00708)
Constant	2.138 ***	-2.628 ***
	(0.224)	(0.849)
Pseudo R2	0.6102	0.2029
Observations	118,203	13,987
Time & Regional Fixed Effect Control	Yes	Yes

Table A4. Cont.

Heteroscedasticity-Robust, standard errors in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1.

To control for multicollinearity, we analyzed the variance inflation factors (VIF) of our chosen variables. The results¹ show that all the independent variables' VIFs are within 2 and with an average of 1.27. In other words, the variance of the estimated coefficients is inflated with very low factors and within a reasonable rule-of-thumb of 10. For verification, we also calculated the square root of VIF, the R square for the correlation between the given independent variable and the rest of the independent variables, and the tolerance indicators, which are computed as 1- R square. The results prove the non-existence of multicollinearity.

Note

¹ We checked the variance inflation factor, the R square for the correlation between the given independent variable and the rest of the independent variables, and the tolerance indicators for each independent variable. The results show that all variables have VIFs lower than 2, R square less than 0.2, and tolerance less than 1.

References

Akerlof, George A. 1970. The market for "lemons": Quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 84: 488–500. [CrossRef]

Arrow, Kenneth J. 1964. The role of securities in the optimal allocation of risk-bearing. *The Review of Economic Studies* 31: 91–96. [CrossRef]

Barasinska, Nataliya, and Dorothea Schäfer. 2014. Is crowdfunding different? Evidence on the relation between gender and funding success from a German peer-to-peer lending platform. *German Economic Review* 15: 436–52. [CrossRef]

- Bhimani, Alnoor, Mohamed Azzim Gulamhussen, and Samuel da Rocha Lopes. 2013. The role of financial, macroeconomic, and non-financial information in bank loan default timing prediction. *European Accounting Review* 22: 739–63. [CrossRef]
- Debreu, Gerard. 1959. Theory of Value: An Axiomatic Analysis of Economic Equilibrium (No. 17). New Haven and London: Yale University Press. [CrossRef]
- Dorfleitner, Gregor, Christopher Priberny, Stephanie Schuster, Johannes Stoiber, Martina Weber, Ivan de Castro, and Julia Kammler. 2016. Description-text related soft information in peer-to-peer lending–Evidence from two leading European platforms. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 6: 169–87. [CrossRef]
- Duarte, Jefferson, Stephan Siegel, and Lance Young. 2012. Trust and credit: The role of appearance in peer-to-peer lending. *Review of Financial Studies* 25: 2455–84. [CrossRef]
- Fernando, Jayasuriya Mahapatabendige Ruwani, Leon Li, and Greg Hou. 2020. Financial versus non-financial information for default prediction: Evidence from Sri Lanka and the USA. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade* 56: 673–92. [CrossRef]
- Freedman, Seth, and Ginger Zhe Jin. 2008. Do Social Networks Solve Information Problems for Peer-to-Peer Lending? Evidence from Prosper.Com. NET Institute Working Paper No. 08-43. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1304138 (accessed on 14 December 2021). [CrossRef]
- Gao, Ming, Jerome Yen, and Matthew Tingchi Liu. 2021. Determinants of defaults on P2P lending platforms in China. International Review of Economics & Finance 72: 334–48. [CrossRef]
- Ge, Ruyi, Juan Feng, Bin Gu, and Pengzhu Zhang. 2017. Predicting and deterring default with social media information in peer-to-peer lending. Journal of Management Information Systems 34: 401–24. [CrossRef]
- Gonzalez, Laura, and Yuliya Komarova Loureiro. 2014. When can a photo increase credit? The impact of lender and borrower profiles on online peer-to-peer loans. Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance 2: 44–58. [CrossRef]
- Greiner, Martina E., and Hui Wang. 2009. The Role of Social Capital in People-to-People Lending Marketplaces. ICIS 2009 Proceedings, 29. Available online: https://aisel.aisnet.org/icis2009/29 (accessed on 14 December 2021).
- Herrero-Lopez, Sergio. 2009. Social interactions in P2P lending. Paper presented at the 3rd Workshop on Social Network Mining and Analysis, Paris, France, June 28; pp. 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Herzenstein, Michal, Rick L. Andrews, Utpal M. Dholakia, and Evgeny Lyandres. 2008. The democratization of personal consumer loans? Determinants of success in online peer-to-peer loan auctions. *Bulletin of the University of Delaware* 15: 274–77. Available online: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.331.9547&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed on 14 December 2021).
- Huang, Robin Hui. 2018. Online P2P lending and regulatory responses in China: Opportunities and challenges. European Business Organization Law Review 19: 63–92. [CrossRef]
- Iyer, Rajkamal, Asim Ijaz Khwaja, Erzo FP Luttmer, and Kelly Shue. 2016. Screening peers softly: Inferring the quality of small borrowers. *Management Science* 62: 1554–77. [CrossRef]
- Jiménez, Gabriel, and Jesús Saurina. 2004. Collateral, type of lender and relationship banking as determinants of credit risk. Journal of Banking & Finance 28: 2191–212. [CrossRef]
- Khan, Mohammad Tariqul Islam, and Yong Yee Xuan. 2021. Drivers of lending decision in peer-to-peer lending in Malaysia. Review of Behavioral Finance. ahead-of-print. [CrossRef]
- Kim, Dongwoo, Kyuho Maeng, and Youngsang Cho. 2020. Study on the determinants of decision-making in peer-to-peer lending in South Korea. Asia-Pacific Journal of Accounting & Economics 27: 558–76. [CrossRef]
- Liao, Li, Lin Ji, and Weiqiang Zhang. 2015. Education and Credit: Evidence from P2P lending platforms. *Journal of Financial Research* 3: 146–59.
- Lin, Mingfeng, Nagpurnanand R. Prabhala, and Siva Viswanathan. 2013. Judging borrowers by the company they keep: Friendship networks and information asymmetry in online peer-to-peer lending. *Management Science* 59: 17–35. [CrossRef]
- Nigmonov, Asror, Syed Shams, and Khorshed Alam. 2022. Macroeconomic determinants of loan defaults: Evidence from the US peer-to-peer lending market. Research in International Business and Finance 59: 101516. [CrossRef]
- Pope, Devin G., and Justin R. Sydnor. 2011. What's in a picture? Evidence of discrimination from Prosper.com. Journal of Human Resources 46: 53–92. [CrossRef]
- Pötzsch, Stefanie, and Rainer Böhme. 2010. The role of soft information in trust building: Evidence from online social lending. In International Conference on Trust and Trustworthy Computing. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 381–95. [CrossRef]
- Ravina, Enrichetta. 2019. Love & Loans: The Effect of Beauty and Personal Characteristics in Credit Markets. SSRN Electronic Journal. [CrossRef]
- Santoso, Wimboh, Irwan Trinugroho, and Tastaftiyan Risfandy. 2020. What determine loan rate and default status in financial technology online direct lending? Evidence from Indonesia. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade* 56: 351–69. [CrossRef]
- Spence, Michael. 1973. Job market signaling. Quarterly Journal of Economics 87: 355–74. [CrossRef]
- Stiglitz, Joseph E., and Andrew Weiss. 1981. Credit rationing in markets with imperfect information. *American Economic Review* 71: 393–410. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1802787 (accessed on 19 October 2021).
- Wang, Huijuan, Mengxia Yu, and Lu Zhang. 2019. Seeing is important: The usefulness of video information in p2p. Accounting & Finance 59: 2073–103. [CrossRef]

You, Chuanman. 2018. Recent development of FinTech regulation in China: A focus on the new regulatory regime for the P2P lending (loan-based Crowdfunding) market. *Capital Markets Law Journal* 13: 85–115. [CrossRef]

Zhang, Yuejin, Haifeng Li, Mo Hai, Jiaxuan Li, and Aihua Li. 2017. Determinants of loan funded successful in online P2P Lending. Procedia Computer Science 122: 896–901. [CrossRef]





Article Information Disclosure in China's Rising Securitization Market

Xueer Chen and Chao Wang *

Faculty of Law, University of Macau, Macau, China; yb67214@connect.um.edu.mo * Correspondence: chaowang@um.edu.mo

Abstract: E-commerce and FinTech are currently booming in China. The growing consumer market is accompanied by internet finance, by which consumers can easily borrow money from financial institutions online. As a result, the growing risks of financial institutions are of concern to the government and regulatory bodies. Consequently, the securitization market in China is seeing rapid growth that could affect financial stability. Applying FinTech and emerging technologies in securitization might be an effective way to protect against these risks. This paper studies the question of whether China needs a higher standard of information transparency in order to protect against its risks against the background of digital transformation. We analyzed the determinants of securitization in the Chinese banking sector, relying on data on banks for two periods: pre-2017Q4 and post-2017Q4. The main findings of the paper demonstrate that the application of FinTech in China's banking industry resulted in less information asymmetry. The risk exposure was the most significant determinant in general. Higher risk exposures increased securitization transaction volumes, which reflects securitization with adverse selection problems between the originator and investors. Liquidity and profitability, as important determinants indicating the moral hazard problem, also affected securitization pre-2017Q4, but liquidity and profitability were found to be unimportant determinants after the application of FinTech (the post-2017Q4 period). Moreover, this study finds that the effects of the adverse selection and moral hazard problems varied in different types of banks. Overall, our findings suggest that the Chinese securitization market needs a higher standard of information transparency.

Keywords: FinTech; information asymmetry; adverse selection; moral hazard

1. Introduction

E-commerce and FinTech are currently booming in China. The growing consumer market is accompanied by internet finance, by which consumers can easily borrow money from financial institutions through online platforms. As a result, the growing risks of the financial institutions are of concern to the government and regulatory bodies. Consequently, the securitization market in China has grown rapidly in recent years. Securitization in China has experienced a great increase since 2014, and it is now the second-largest securitization market in the world (Hogan Lovells 2019). The main reason for this rapid growth is the simultaneous release by the China Banking Regulatory Commission (CBRC) and the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) of documents to implement a reform that replaced the approval system for asset securitization with a filing system (Tang et al. 2017). Due to financial disintermediation and the need for central banks to establish interest rate corridors, commercial banks are increasingly enriching their asset allocation choices, which also influence the investment in securities (Huang et al. 2019). In 2019, the total volume of ABS issued in China reached USD340 billion, marking a 16.69% increase compared with 2018. The total outstanding volume of ABS by the end of 2019 stood at USD566 billion, a 27% increase compared with 2018 (Phua 2020). The remarkable growth of securitization in China is similar to that in the United States before the global financial crisis of 2007–2009. The securitization market in the United States also experienced rapid growth before the global financial crisis from 2007 to 2009. Many commentators cite the remarkable growth

Citation: Chen, Xueer, and Chao Wang. 2021. Information Disclosure in China's Rising Securitization Market. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 66. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijfs9040066

Academic Editor: Thanh Ngo

Received: 16 September 2021 Accepted: 19 November 2021 Published: 1 December 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). of securitization in the United States as a major contributor to the ensuing crisis. Part of the argument is that securitization creates an additional layer of information asymmetry in the origination of a loan, which results in adverse selection, moral hazard problems, and thus higher default rates. China's securitization market, as mentioned, has also experienced remarkable development. The question of whether securitization affects the financial stability in China has yet to be answered and is a growing concern for authorities. The answer might depend on the standard of information transparency, and a high degree of information transparency will always benefit an authority's monitoring activities and help to protect investors.

One of the effective ways to improve the standard of information transparency is to apply FinTech and emerging technologies in the securitization market against the background of the digital transformation of banking. Due to the new digital giants in China-Alibaba and Tencent—and the COVID-19 pandemic, traditional Chinese banks have tended to increase their focus and efforts on digital transformation. For example, some of these traditional banks have leveraged FinTech and emerging technologies, such as machine learning, artificial intelligence, big data, cloud computing, and blockchain, to shape their operating model enterprise-wide. Machine learning and artificial intelligence have had a strong impact on credit risk management, which can be used to deal with the problems of information asymmetry (Mhlanga 2021). According to Deloitte's (2018b) report, cloud computing, big data, artificial intelligence, and blockchain technology entered the stage of comprehensive application in the banking industry in 2018, and "FinTech", "Inclusive Finance", and "Asset Management" have become key words in many banks' annual reports. FinTech and emerging technologies have also been applied in the securitization market to enhance its standard of information transparency. More specifically, all loan data can be placed on a blockchain. Those loan data thus become immutable and are time-stamped on a verifiable audit trail (Structured Finance Industry Group & Chamber of Digital Commerce 2017). Blockchain technology could be used to automatically share and analyze data in line with regulatory requirements; underlying loans, for example, could be easily and automatically matched against the securitization's proposed structure, thus making compliance easier (Sindle et al. 2017).

It is currently unclear whether the digital transformation of banking can reduce the impact of information asymmetry and whether information transparency regulations are sufficient for the supervision of securitization or the need to leverage FinTech and emerging technologies. Thus, this study aims to answer the following question: Does China need a higher standard of information disclosure to protect against its risks? To answer this research question, we examined the potential moral hazard and adverse selection problems in securitization and compared those problems in two periods. The first period is pre-2017Q4 and the second period is post-2017Q4. Post-2017Q4 represents the stage of FinTech's comprehensive application in the banking industry.

The moral hazard and adverse selection problems can be tested by the motivations for the securitization of loans. More details and reasons can be found in Section 2. The original research on the determinants of the securitization of loans emerged during the 1980s, when a strand of U.S. research studied loan sales, an instrument that is similar to loan securitization (Giddy 1985; Pavel 1986; Pavel and Phillis 1987). Giddy found that capital requirement is an important determinant for loan sales. Pavel and Phillis (1987) proved that securitization provides a means of reducing a bank's credit risks. After the global financial crisis of 2007–2009, research in this area resurfaced. The starting research was on the determinants of European banks' engagement in loan securitization (Bannier and Hänsel 2008). They examined firm-specific and macroeconomic factors that drive financial institutions' decisions to engage in loan securitization transactions. Bank size, credit risk, liquidity, and performance are the four main factors of load securitization transactions in European banks. Two similar papers then reported an empirical study on Italy and Spanish loan securitization markets, respectively (Affinito and Tagliaferri 2010; Cardone-Riportella et al. 2010). The result of the study from Affinito and Tagliaferri (2010) is

similar to that of Bannier and Hänsel. However, Cardone-Riportella et al. (2010) claimed that liquidity and performance are the only two decisive factors in securitization. Credit risk is not the main determinant. Acharya et al. (2013) also found that risk exposure failed to promote increased securitization growth, which means that banks were securiting without transferring the risk to investors. Recently, the topic on the determinants of loan securitization in European banks was studied again (Farruggio and Uhde 2015), and the determinants of loan securitization in the pre-financial crisis and the post-financial crisis were compared. The determinants of loan securitization changed remarkably over the pre-crisis and crisis periods.

In accordance with these recent journals, (1) the first contribution of this paper is to study the determinants that drive securitization in the Chinese banking section. Markets in different regions and countries reflect the varying outcomes of securitization determinants. The determinants of securitization in China might be quite distinct from previous research. This paper compares the determinants in different types of bank, and how securitization in these various types of banks are affected by the determinants. (2) Additionally, this study proposes and explains why the four determinants mentioned above can be used to examine the problems of information asymmetry in securitization. Specifically, a securitization determinant study reflects not only the motivation of securitization in the banking section, but also the financial stability. Financial stability is influenced by information asymmetry. Information asymmetry is reflected by moral hazards and adverse selection. Moral hazards and adverse selection are tested by the four determinants. After examining how these four determinants are related to the moral hazard and adverse selection problems in securitization, we can then assess whether current information transparent standards are sufficient for securitization development in China. (3) Finally, this study investigates the effect of FinTech in China's banking sector by comparing the change in securitization determinants in the two periods.

Summarizing our results, we find that the risk exposure is the most significant determinant, followed by liquidity and profitability before the comprehensive FinTech application in China. After that, risk exposure is still the motivation of securities issuance, but there is no evidence that liquidity and performance can promote loan securitization transactions. Capital requirement could be the motivation for securities issuance in commercial banks. Additionally, by comparing the outcomes of the determinants at two stages, this study finds that the application of FinTech can reduce information asymmetry in the securitization market dramatically, especially for moral hazards. However, we still cannot fully reject the influence of banks' incentives on risk transfers to outside investors after a comprehensive FinTech application. Therefore, the answer to the research question is that China still requires a higher standard of information disclosure to protect against its risks. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 provides the theoretical background and summarizes earlier empirical evidence on securitization determinants, followed by the theories of adverse selection and moral hazards. In Section 2.3, we will explain how those securitization's determinants are linked to adverse selection and moral hazards. Subsequently, Section 3 presents the empirical methodology, a data description, and variable definitions and empirical models. Empirical results are presented in Section 4, where both univariate analysis and multivariate analysis are given. According to the empirical results, Section 5 will discuss the findings and link them to the adverse selection and moral hazard problems. Section 6 will provide corresponding recommendations. Section 7 concludes.

2. Theoretical Foundation

2.1. Determinants of Loan Securitizations

The research addressing the reasons for securitizations includes the need for new sources of funding (liquidity), credit risk management (risk exposure), the search for new profit opportunities (regulatory capital arbitrage), and performance.

2.1.1. Liquidity

The first reason to securitize an asset is an alternative source of funding. Banks can transform loans into cash by the securitization mechanism (Kothari 2002). This mechanism is typically related to 'true sale' transactions when a bank transfers parts of loan portfolios to SPV (Special Purpose Vehicle) and in turn receives liquidity from the issuance of loanbacked securities by the vehicle (Farruggio and Uhde 2015). In this way, banks can acquire alternative funding resources in a new way beyond traditional equity, as well as debt financing. Thus, securitization makes banks less vulnerable to liquidity shocks.

The empirical evidence clearly shows that the liquidity effect is a significant determinant for loan securitization in European markets. Cardone-Riportella et al. (2010) found that liquidity is one of the main factors that drives securitization in Spain according to a sample of 408 observations in the pre- and post-financial crisis. The same conclusion can be found in Italy during the period from 2000 to 2006 (Affinito and Tagliaferri 2010). Similarly, Bannier and Hänsel (2008) found that low liquidity triggered securitization issuances from 17 European countries between 1997 and 2004.

2.1.2. Risk Exposure

Securitization enables banks to lower risk exposure through credit risk transfers. It is related to 'true sale' transactions and the 'bankruptcy-remoteness' principle. When a bank transfers parts of loan portfolios to SPV, the corresponding loans are also removed from the bank's balance sheet, and the underlying assets from the bank are isolated. After that, investors do not have any claims against the bank's assets once a default or bankruptcy occurs. The 'true sale' transaction and the 'bankruptcy-remoteness' mechanism allow credit risk sharing with investors, and banks do not have obligations to maintain value and reap the excess returns. The risk exposure is distributed by securitization rather than held by one bank, which minimizes the financial distress cost. Early theoretical journals proved that securitization provides a means of reducing a bank's credit risks by this mechanism (Greenbaum and Thakor 1987; Pavel and Phillis 1987). However, in some cases, credit risks are difficult to transfer out of banks, because the originator generally retains the first-loss tranche (low- or zero-rated securities). This means that risks inherent to the securitized assets are considered in the banks but off-balance sheet (Calomiris and Mason 2004; Higgins and Mason 2004). The other problem is that the transfer of low-quality loans to SPV could lower a bank's reputation, and only those banks with reputational advantages can repeatedly enter the securitization market and place multiple transactions (Ambrose et al. 2005).

Corresponding to the theoretical predictions, the empirical evidence is ambiguous. Some empirical studies, including those of Minton et al. (2004) and Bannier and Hänsel (2008), show that credit risk exposure is important for banks' securitization decisions, while other empirical evidence indicates that, compared with risk transfers, issuing banks prefer to retain low-risk loans in their portfolio and remove high-risk loans from the balance sheet to build their reputation (Altunbas et al. 2010; Ambrose et al. 2005; Albertazzi et al. 2015).

2.1.3. Regulatory Capital Arbitrage

Banks can reduce regulatory capital via securitization because of the different capital requirements between the bank's assets on the balance sheet and those within the first-loss piece. Under the First Basel Capital Accord (Basel I), because the amount of required regulatory equity capital was comparably low when securitizing banks' assets, banks were able to provoke arbitrage profit by keeping the largest part of default risks (e.g., corporate and retail loans) within the first-loss piece rather than keeping them on banks' balance sheets (Ambrose et al. 2005; Calomiris and Mason 2004). However, before the financial crisis of 2007–2009, the Basel commitment required a higher standard regarding regulatory capital to improve financial stability (Basel II), and this resulted in fewer opportunities of regulatory capital arbitrage. Basel II follows a 'substance over form principle', which more precisely determines the required regulatory capital for all retained tranches of a

securitization (Blum 2008) and strongly stimulates incentives to transfer subordinated tranches and the first-loss piece to external investors (Farruggio and Uhde 2015).

The empirical evidence on the regulatory effect is also ambiguous. There is no strong evidence indicating an opportunity to realize regulatory capital arbitrage spur securitizations in U.S. banks from 1993 to 2002 (Minton et al. 2004). By contrast, other U.S. securitization market research yielded different outcomes by employing 112 financial institutions from 2001 to 2005 (Uzun and Webb 2007). Ambrose et al. (2005) provide a similar conclusion and noted that securitization is driven by regulatory capital arbitrage.

2.1.4. Performance

Apart from the factors discussed above, performance is another determinant of securitization because of the accounting benefits, intermediation profit, and higher liquidity. First, securitization allows banks to acquire accounting benefits when the book value is less than the market value of the loans, and an overvaluation of the retained interest is carried at a fair market value in the case of securitizations (Niinimaki 2012). Moreover, banks can acquire an intermediation profit via the specific design in terms of securitization loans rather than long-term warehousing (Duffie 2008). Additionally, Lockwood et al. (1996) suggest that cash inflows from securitization can be used to retire existing debt, which in turn reduces interest expenses and increases reported earnings. In spite of those potential benefits, the downsides of securitization should not be forgotten, including the fixed costs of setting up an SPV and a potential reduction in the flow of tax benefits when the assets are kept on the balance sheet and financed with debt (Calmès and Théoret 2010).

Empirical studies show the ambiguous outcomes of bank performance. Cardone-Riportella et al. (2010) presented supporting theoretical arguments indicating that more efficient and larger banks securitize their loans more frequently and may issue greater transaction volumes. On the other hand, Affinito and Tagliaferri (2010), based on a study of Italy, concluded that less capitalized and riskier banks with less liquidity are more likely to securitize their loans. Bannier and Hänsel (2008) showed that bank efficiency and size might be important determinants of securitization, while their results reveal that less profitable banks have much greater incentives to securitize their loans.

2.2. Securitization and Information Asymmetries

2.2.1. Asymmetric Information in Securitization

Information asymmetry is a condition wherein one party in a relationship has more or better information than another (Bergh et al. 2018). Information about securities' intrinsic values is asymmetric, due to the long chain of structures inherent in the securitization process, resulting in a loss of information about the quality of the underlying loans (Gorton 2009). In addition, 'marketing-to-market' is not feasible in the securitization market; in such cases, valuations often involve 'marketing-to-model', which does not reflect a true market price and is associated with information asymmetry (Dowd 2009). Generally, sellers have better information about the deteriorating quality of loans than potential buyers, because most sellers (dealers) are either fully integrated or partially integrated by engaging in some process of the securitization chain; in addition, by owning an originator, sellers also have information on the quality of the originations, since the gains to acquiring better information on the quality of securities are perceived to be small, and consideration to potential buyers is not needed to value the underlying collateral in the securities. Frequently, buyers take the simpler approach of using credit agency ratings or standard copula models, which do not value the underlying securities directly (Beltran et al. 2017).

2.2.2. Adverse Selection in Securitization

Information asymmetries are hard to avoid in the securitization market and will contribute to adverse selection and moral hazard problems. The adverse selection problem appears when two (or more) individuals are about to contract on a trade and one of them happens to have more information than the other(s). Seminal contributions were made by Akerlof (1970), Spence (1978), and Rothschild and Stiglitz (1976), applying adverse selection to the product, labour, and insurance market, respectively. They stated that the information-advantaged individuals always hide key information and mislead other individuals' decisions, which could result in a threat to information-disadvantaged individuals' benefits and even drive market prices down. For example, buyers might not be able to distinguish between a high-quality car (a 'peach') and a low-quality car (a 'lemon'), while the seller knows what he/she holds. If the buyer is only willing to pay a fixed price for a car at the fair value (p_{avg}), the seller will sell 'lemons' out (since $p_{lemon} < p_{avg}$) and hold 'peaches' (since $p_{peach} > p_{avg}$). Eventually, the number of 'lemon' sellers increases, and 'peach' sellers tend to leave the market, which would drive high-quality cars from the market and contribute to a market collapse (Akerlof 1970).

Banking and financial institutions are associated with adverse selection in the securitization market because of information asymmetries. According to the 'market for lemons' theory, the sellers (originators) with an information advantage will sell inferiorquality or low-quality loans to their potential buyers (investors) but retain the high-quality loans on their balance sheet via securitization. In the empirical research, the commercial mortgage-backed security (CMBS) market in the U.S. was shown to be consistent with theoretical predictions of a lemon discount; after controlling for observable determinants of loan pricing, conduit loans enjoyed a 34-basis-point pricing advantage over portfolio loans (An et al. 2011). On the contrary, some empirical evidence reflects that some financial institutions aim to build their reputation for not selling lemons to the securitization market. Lenders typically obtain soft and hard information to evaluate the credit quality of a borrower (Petersen 2004; Agarwal and Hauswald 2010). Soft information compared with hard information cannot be credibly transmitted to the market when loans are securitized. Banks securitize loans that have a relatively low amount of soft information (Drucker and Puri 2009), meaning banks retain low-default-risk loans in their portfolios. Likewise, collateralized loan obligations, as a kind of securitization, also prove that adverse selection problems in corporate loan securitizations are less severe than commonly believed (Benmelech et al. 2012). Unlike the aforementioned studies, Agarwal et al. (2012) found that the securitization strategy (adverse selection or not) of lenders changes with the financial environment; specifically, banks generally sold low-default-risk loans into the market but retained high-default-risk loans in their portfolios before the financial crisis, while most banks in financial crisis showed a pattern of adverse selection.

2.2.3. Moral Hazard in Securitization

On the other hand, a situation in which information asymmetry occurs after an agreement is obtained between individuals is called a moral hazard. The term "moral hazard problem", by extension, has been applied to the principal agent problem (Stiglitz 1989). Mirrlees (1999), Holmström (1979), and Grossman and Hart (1983) have made key contributions to this area. They found that, once the contract has been signed, the agent takes advantage of hidden action and hidden information and can take more risks, because the principal bears the cost of the risks. For example, once a car insurance contract is signed, the insurance company (the principal) observes whether or not the driver is careful enough, and the driver (the agent) might not drive carefully because the insurance company bears the cost of the accident (Mirrlees 1999). A moral hazard also affects securitization market risks once the information asymmetry between lenders and securitization issuers (SPV) increases. When the lending bank sells loans, the bank no longer bears the full cost of default and thus will choose to screen the borrower less than the efficient amount; the moral hazard problem can arise if securitization issuers are naive about lender screening (Dell'Ariccia et al. 2008; Mian and Sufi 2009).

According to the empirical studies, Keys et al. (2008) found that securitization under a moral hazard leads to lax screening, which is consistent with the theoretical result. Specifically, they stated that mortgage purchasers follow a 'rule of thumb' in deciding which loans to purchase: for exogenous reasons, they are willing to buy mortgage loans given to the borrowers with Fair Isaac Corporation scores (FICO scores) above 620. However, the default ratio of borrowers with scores higher than 620 is higher than that of borrowers with scores below 620. This is strong evidence that securitization does result in lax screening by lenders. However, Bubb and Kaufman (2014) re-examined the credit score cut-off evidence with a new dataset and through a theoretical lens that assumes rational equilibrium behaviors in comparison with moral hazards in the securitization market.

2.2.4. Adverse Selection and Moral Hazard and Financial Stability

Both adverse selection and moral hazards in securitization affects financial stability and even leads to significant consequences. Adverse selection does not affect the financial market under normal economic conditions; however, as the price falls with an economic downturn, the impacts of adverse selection—an increase in uncertainty of asset value, a flight to liquidity, and a miss assessment of systemic risks (Kirabaeva 2010)—are identified by investors. Buyers (buyer panic) are afraid to invest in overpriced assets ('lemons'), which results in trading in those assets that may diminish or halt altogether. Moreover, overpriced assets lose their ability to serve as collateral for other transactions, which contributes to a credit crunch (Kirabaeva 2011). The moral hazard is the other important factor that affects financial stability. Under the 'Originate-to-Distribute' model, investors bear bank risks via buying banks' securitization, which often leads to socially excessive risk-taking (e.g., lax screening) (Dowd 2009).

2.3. The Relationship between Determinants and Adverse Selection and Moral Hazard

Based on Section 2.1, loan securitization determinants are liquidity, credit risks, regulatory capital arbitrage, and performance. Each factor reflects the different potential benefits and risks for both securitization sellers and buyers. Summarizing Section 2.2, sellers have more information about the quality of underlying loans than the potential buyers, which could result in adverse selection and moral hazards. This paper considers the adverse selection in securitization that is reflected in credit risk transfers. The bank, as the originator, knows more about the quality of underlying loans than investors. When a securitization transaction involves information asymmetry, banks transfer low-quality loans to SPV and sell them to investors with overvalued prices. With regard to moral hazards, banks that securitize their loan will generate higher profitability because investors bare those risks.

This paper aims to determine whether securitization leads to adverse selection and moral hazards through studying the determinants of securitization in the banking sector. The securitization mechanism is divided into two sections in Figure 1. Adverse selection is reflected on the right side of the figure. It mainly occurs between the originator and investors. If securitization is used as a way to transfer credit risks, a large amount of low-quality loans move into SPV and are then sold to investors. Thus, the risk exposure determinant reflects the motivation of risk transfers and is used to examine adverse selection in securitization transactions. The moral hazard is shown by whether or not banks change their behaviors and their willingness to take risks, which occurs between borrowers and banks. Liquidity, regulatory capital arbitrage, and performance can be used to examine moral hazards. These different determinants show a bank's behavioral change and change in potential risks. When securitization is used to increase bank liquidity, it might result in lax screening. If regulatory capital arbitrage drives bank securitization, banks tend to hold less capital as a cushion against asset malfunction. Improving profitability via securitization will suffer from the fixed costs of setting up an SPV and a potential reduction in the flow of tax benefits.



Figure 1. Framework of the study.

3. Material and Methods

3.1. Data Repository

There are 67 banks that have issued securitized securities in China since 2005 to 2017Q4, and only 35 banks that have issued these securities more than twice before 2017Q4. The remaining 32 banks have only issued once, and their securitization transaction volume is lower, so they were not included in this study. After 2017Q4, seven more commercial banks issued securities. The final dataset refers to the above 35 banks from 2007Q4 to 2017Q4 (quarterly) and 42 banks from 2007Q4 to 2021Q2 (quarterly). Data on securitization were drawn from the China Securitization Analytics website and Wind. Other data related to financial statements were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, and annual reports.

3.2. Definition of Variables

3.2.1. Explanatory Variables

The bank-specific variables used in our models are based on the literature review. The main regressors in this study include liquidity, risk exposure, capital requirement, and performance. We describe each variable and its expected effect in the following. Variable definitions and a summary of expected relationships are given in Tables 1 and 2.

Liquidity

Following discussions in earlier research, this study considers two variables as proxies of the liquidity factor.

- Net Loans/Deposits and Short-Term Funding (ND ratio): this ratio analyses the liquidity assets of a bank. Net loans are the total loans without the loan loss reserve. The higher the net loans, the lower the liquid assets.
- (2) Liquid Assets/Deposits and Short-Term Funding (LD ratio): this is the ratio of the value of the liquid assets (easily converted to cash) to the short-term funding plus deposits. Liquid assets include cash, cash collaterals, and due from banks. Deposits and short-term funding here include total customer deposits (current, saving) and short-term borrowings and repos.

According to the previous studies, because securitization involves a bank transforming its illiquid assets into liquid ones, one will expect a bank to be more predisposed to securitize part of its loan portfolio when its liquid assets are restricted. Therefore, liquid assets/deposits and short-term funding are expected to be positively related to the liquidity of a bank, while net loans/deposits and short-term funding are negatively related to it. Overall, the liquidity effect should be negative, since this paper expects weak banks to have greater incentive to be active in the securitization market.

Risk Exposure

This paper includes two proxies for the credit risk exposure—the loan loss reserves/total loans ratio and the impaired loans/total loans ratio.

- (3) Loan Loss Reserves/Total Loans (LL Reserves): This ratio estimates the quality of loans. Loan loss reserves cover a number of factors related to potential losses containing bad loans, customers defaults, and the renegotiated terms of loans that incur less often than previously estimated. Thus, the larger amount of loan loss reserves means a lower loan quality.
- (4) Impaired Loans/Total Loans (IT ratio): This measures the amount of total impaired loans (as a percentage). The lower impaired loans/total loans ratio corresponds to a better loan quality.

This study assumes that a bank with high credit risks suffers higher financial stress costs and therefore tries to address non-performing loans by securitization rather than by holding them on the balance sheet. Thus, banks with a higher credit risk exposure will securitize a large part of their assets.

Symbol	Description	Measurement	Expected Relationship
Dependent Variable			
Transaction volumes_total assets	Securitization transaction volumes	Securitization transaction volumes divided by bank total assets *	
Independent Variable			
Liquidity	Liquidity of a bank	Liquid Assets/deposits and short-term funding ratio plus net loans/deposits and short-term funding ratio *	+
Risk exposure	Bank's credit risk exposure	LL reserves ratio plus impaired loans/total loans ratio *	+
Capital requirement	Bank regulatory capital	Tier one ratio plus equities/assets ratio *	-
Performance	Performance of bank	Cost-to-income ratio plus return on assets ratio *	?

Table 1. Variable definitions and expected relationships.

* Data source: independent variable data are from Bloomberg, banks' financial reports, and Wind; the transaction volume data is from the China Securitization Analytics website and Wind.

Capital Requirement

With respect to the regulatory capital arbitrage hypothesis, this paper uses two proxies for measuring the capital cushion against asset malfunction.

- (5) Total Equities/Total Assets (TETA ratio): this ratio measures the amount of protection afforded to a bank by the amount of equity invested in the bank. Since equity is a basic cushion against asset malfunction, a higher equity-to-asset ratio means that the entity acquires the greater protection.
- (6) Capital Adequacy Ratio (Tier One Capital Ratio): this ratio measures a bank's capital adequacy. It is the total capital adequacy ratio under the Basel standards. Under

the requirement of Basel III, the minimum tier one was increased to 6%: 4.5% of the common equity tier one (CET1) plus 1.5% of an additional tier one (AT1). According to regulations in China, the minimum tier one capital requirement for systemically important financial institutions is 9.5%, and that for non-systemically important financial institutions is 8.5%.

In line with theoretical arguments, we expect that banks in general holding less regulatory capital will suffer from the pressure of regulatory compliance. Poorly capitalized banks may be generally more prone to realize regulatory capital arbitrage through securitization.

Symbol	Description	Measurement	Expected Relationship
Dependent Variable			
Transaction volume_total assets	Securitization transaction volumes	Securitization transaction volumes divided by bank total assets *	
Independent Variable			
Net_loans_D&ST_funding	Bank's net loans to deposits and short-term funding ratio	Book value of bank's net loans divided by total deposits and short-term funding quarterly *	+
Liquidity_assets_D&ST_funding	Liquidity assets to deposits and short-term funding ratio	Cash and cash equivalents of banks divided by total deposits and short-term funding quarterly *	-
Loan_loss_reserves_total_loans	Creditors budget as an allowance for bad loans to total loans ratio	Book value of a bank's loan reserves divided by total loans *	+
Impaired_loans_total_loans	Impaired loans to total loans ratio	Book value of a bank's impaired loans divided by total loans *	+
Total_equities_total_assets	Total equities to total assets ratio	Ratio of total equity divided by total assets *	-
Tier_one	Tier one ratio	Core capital divided by total assets *	-
Cost_to_Income	Cost-to-income ratio	Bank total cost divided by total income *	?
Return_on_assets	Total return on total assets ratio	Bank's return on assets ratio *	?

Table 2. Variable definitions and expected relationships.

* Data source: independent variable data are from Bloomberg, banks' financial reports, and Wind; the transaction volume data is from the China Securitization Analytics website and Wind.

Performance

The cost-to-income ratio and the return on assets ratio are used to monitor the effect of performance.

- (7) Cost to Income Ratio (CIR ratio): this ratio is also called the efficiency ratio and indicates the amount of operating expenses as a percentage of the operating revenue. This ratio reviews how efficiently a bank is being run; a high CIR ratio reflects low efficiency and poor performance.
- (8) *Return on Assets* (ROA ratio): this ratio shows how profitable a bank is relative to its total assets.

It is difficult to expect how performance affects securitization. Previously published studies have not yielded conclusive results in terms of performance.

Dependent Variable

To control for the bank size effect of the dependent variables, the securitization transaction volume is scaled by the entity's total assets. The sample was collected from 35 securitizing banks, and their total transaction volume is around CNY 1.2 trillion.

3.3. Empirical Model

This paper employs fixed effects and random effects estimation methods on panel data in order to compare the determinants of banks' engagement in loan securitizations pre- and post-2017 in China. Panel data (also called longitudinal data) embodying information across both time series and cross sections (entities) are multi-dimensional (Diggle et al. 2002). The sample of this study comprises panel data on 35 banks across 7 years and 42 banks across about 11 years for analysis. There are broadly two classes of panel estimator approaches, fixed effects and random effects models, that can be employed in this research. These two models are normally employed to obtain a function that predicts whether an observation belongs to a particular group or when trying to analyze the influence of a series of independent variables on the dependent variable (in our case, the three bank-specific determinants that may influence the amount of securitization). The unobserved variables can have any associations with the observed variables in the fixed effects model, while the unobserved variables are assumed to be uncorrelated or more strongly statistically independent than all of the observed variables in a random effects model. It is difficult to determine whether or not the unobserved variables in this case are statistically independent of the four bank characteristics. To determine the appropriate model, we used the Hausman test. If the probability in the Hausman test is larger than or equal to 0.95 and less than or equal to 1 (0.95 \leq Prob. \leq 1), it is suggested that the error term is not correlated with the independent variables, the hypothesis is not rejected, and the random effects model should be applied for an analysis. By contrast, if the probability is too low, the unobserved variables are related to the observed variables, and a fixed effects model will be acceptable.

The empirical models are as follows:

(Transaction v

volumes/totalassets)_{i.t}

 $= \beta_0 + \beta_1 (\text{liquidity ratio})_{i,t-1} + \beta_2 (\text{credit risk ratio})_{i,t-1} + \beta_3 (\text{capital adequacy ratio})_{i,t-1} + \beta_4 (\text{performance ratio})_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t-1}$ (1)

(2)

(Transaction volumes/totalassets)_{*i*,*t*}

 $= \beta_0 + \beta_1 (\text{netdeposit/depositand S.T funding})_{i,t-1}$

+ β_2 (liquidityassets/depositand S.T funding)_{*i*,*t*-1}

+ $\beta_3(\text{loan lossreserves/totalloan})_{i,t-1} + \beta_4(\text{impaired loans/totalloan})_{i,t-1}$

+ β_5 (capital adequacy ratio)_{*i*,*t*-1} + β_6 (equities/assets)_{*i*,*t*-1} + β_7 (CIR)_{*i*,*t*-1}

$$+ \beta_8(\text{ROA})_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t-1}$$

Here, (Transaction Volumes/Total Assets) $_{i,t}$ is the dependent variable. β_0 is a common intercept that is the same for all cross-section units and over time. $\varepsilon_{i,t-1}$ is the cross-sectional error term. Decisions of securitization issuances are according to published financial statements. Since the securitization transaction volume is not synchronous with the current financial statement data, this paper expects that the securitization transaction volume/total assets is related to the explanatory variables at t - 1 (a quarterly ago). The variables in Equation (1) are calculated according to the above settings. The independent variable liquidity ratio is made up of a liquid assets/deposits and short-term funding ratio and a net loans/deposits and short-term funding ratio (see Table 1). The other three independent variables' calculations are the same as those for the liquidity ratio, which are the sum of two corresponding proxies. Equation (2) can provide a more intuitive analysis of these variable formations.

4. Results

4.1. Univariate Analysis

4.1.1. By Bank Type

For the study of how bank-specific determinants drive loan securitization in the whole banking industry and in different types of banks, the sample is divided into four types of bank. First, the whole sample is divided into policy banks and commercial banks (see Table 3). Policy banks in China are responsible for financing economic and trade development and state-invested projects according to policy (Turner et al. 2012), namely the China Development Bank, the Import and Export Bank of China, and the Agricultural Development Bank of China. However, China has approved further reforms to those banks (State Council 2015). The remaining banks are commercial banks. The main difference between these two types of banks is that policy banks provide services for policy-related lending, while commercial banks aim to pursue higher profits.

Table 3. Specific kinds of banks.

Bank Type	Description
(A) Whole bank	Whole banks are composed of policy banks and commercial banks.
(1) Policy banks	These banks, according to the policy, are responsible for financing economic and trade development and state-invested projects.
(2) Commercial banks	These banks, according to the market, provide services such as accepting deposits, providing business loans, and offering basic investment products.
(B) Commercial banks	Commercial banks are composed of city/rural commercial banks, national joint-equity commercial banks, and global systemically important banks.
(3) City/rural commercial banks	These banks only focus on specific rural regions and cities (small and medium-sized banks).
(4) National joint-equity commercial banks	These banks are able to operate in the whole country (medium-sized and large banks).
(5) Global systemically important banks	These banks are financial institutions whose distress or disorderly failure would cause significant disruption to the wider financial system and economic activity (super large banks).

Source: (A) Whole banks = policy banks + commercial banks. (B) Commercial banks = city/rural commercial banks + national joint-equity commercial banks + global systemically important banks.

Commercial banks are further divided into two kinds of bank according to asset scale, namely, city/rural commercial banks and national commercial banks. City/rural commercial banks' assets are much smaller than the other two types of bank and are only found on the basis of urban credit cooperatives (KPMG 2017a), while national commercial banks are able to operate across the country and have assets that are larger than those of city/rural commercial banks.

4.1.2. Independent Variable Comparison

Comparing independent variables of different types of banks can give us their specific characteristics. This paper finds that policy banks have less liquidity and profitability; correspondingly, commercial banks have a greater advantage in these two areas. Studying commercial banks further shows that large-scale banks present less liquidity, lower credit risks, and more adequate regulatory capital for whole periods.

Policy banks versus commercial banks

The most significant differences between policy banks and commercial banks are in liquidity and performance, especially liquidity (see Tables 4 and 5). The average liquidity ratio of policy banks can be around five times higher than that of commercial banks (364.4% versus 77.1%). The gap of the liquidity ratio became even wider after 2017, and the average performance between policy banks and commercial banks changed significantly. Variable risk exposure and regulatory capital were similar.

	*			
Symbol	Policy Banks	Commercial Banks	City/Rural Commercial Banks	National Commercial Banks
Dependent Variable (Mean)				
Transaction volumes_total assets	0.0016	0.0035	0.0078	0.0015
Independent Variable (Mean)				
(1) Liquidity	3.644	0.771	0.698	0.807
(2) Risk exposure	0.036	0.036	0.047	0.031
(3) Regulatory capital	0.154	0.166	0.157	0.169
(4) Performance	1.197	1.407	1.325	1.477

Table 4. Bank-specific determinant variable comparison (pre-2017Q4).

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website.

 Table 5. Bank-specific determinant variable comparison (post-2017Q4).

Symbol	Policy Banks	Commercial Banks City/Rural Commercial Banks		National Commercial Banks	
Dependent Variable (Mean)					
Transaction volumes_total assets	0.0014	0.0028	0.0064	0.0015	
Independent Variable (Mean)					
(1) Liquidity	9.911	0.924	0.843	0.954	
(2) Risk exposure	0.047	0.043	0.043	0.044	
(3) Regulatory capital	0.142	0.175	0.167	0.178	
(4) Performance	1.648	0.812	0.812	0.812	

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website.

In order to investigate liquidity further (see Tables 6 and 7), the liquidity variables were divided by (1) net loans/deposits and short-term funding (the ND ratio) and (2) liquid assets/deposits and short-term funding (the LD ratio). The ND ratio of policy banks is much higher than that of commercial banks (315.6% versus 51.7%), which indicates paradoxically that the loans provided by policy banks are around three times greater than their own deposits and short-term funding, which could result in poor liquidity. Even though policy banks on average acquire more liquidity assets compared to commercial banks (48.8% versus 25.2%), they still struggle with poor liquidity because of the massive amount of loans. After 2017Q4, the liquidity issue of policy banks was more serious. The ND ratio of policy banks was about 12 times higher than that of commercial banks.

Symbol	Policy Bank	Commercial Banks	City/Rural Commercial Bank	National Commercial Banks
Dependent Variable (Mean)				
Transaction volumes_total assets	0.0016	0.0035	0.0078	0.0015
Independent Variable (Mean)				
(1) Net_loans_D&ST_funding	3.156	0.517	0.442	0.548
(2) Liquidity_assets_D&ST_funding	0.488	0.252	0.256	0.259
(3) Loan_loss_reserves_total_loans	0.027	0.029	0.036	0.026
(4) Impaired_loans_total_loans	0.009	0.007	0.012	0.005
(5) Total_equities_total_assets	0.063	0.064	0.061	0.065
(6) Tier_one	0.081	0.101	0.096	0.104
(7) Cost_to_Income	0.441	0.411	0.423	0.394
(8) Return_on_assets	0.757	1.012	0.930	1.083

Table 6. Bank-specific determinant variable comparison (pre-2017Q4).

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and China Securitization Analytics website.

Both (7) the cost-to-income ratio and (8) the return on assets (ROA) ratio were used to measure bank performance. The difference in the performance ratios between the policy banks and commercial banks is mainly caused by the ROA rather than the cost-to-income ratio. The cost-to-income ratio of the two types of bank are similar (44.1% in policy banks versus 41.1% in commercial banks). However, the cost-to-income ratio of policy banks became much higher than that of commercial banks after 2017Q4, which means that policy banks have higher operating costs. However, the mean of the ROA of commercial banks is much higher than that of policy banks. The ROA of commercial banks is 1.012, which is about 25% higher than that of policy banks. The high ROA of commercial banks reflects that commercial banks have a greater advantage in profitability than policy banks. This

also indicates the different operating visions of these two types of bank; policy banks are for policy-related lending, while commercial banks pursue higher profitability.

Symbol	Policy Bank	Commercial Banks	City/Rural Commercial Bank	National Commercial Banks
Dependent Variable (Mean)				
Transaction volumes_total assets	0.0014	0.0028	0.0064	0.0015
Independent Variable (Mean)				
(1) Net_loans_D&ST_funding	9.5876	0.7674	0.6825	0.7980
(2) Liquidity_assets_D&ST_funding	0.3239	0.1571	0.1600	0.1560
(3) Loan_loss_reserves_total_loans	0.0138	0.0139	0.0120	0.0146
(4) Impaired_loans_total_loans	0.0327	0.0295	0.0308	0.0290
(5) Total_equities_total_assets	0.0700	0.0688	0.0656	0.0699
(6) Tier_one	0.0720	0.1066	0.1009	0.1086
(7) Cost_to_Income	1.6408	0.8058	0.8052	0.8060
(8) Return_on_assets	0.0071	0.0064	0.0068	0.0062

Table 7. Bank-specific determinant variable comparison (post-2017Q4).

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website.

(2) (City/rural commercial banks versus national commercial banks

Commercial banks are a large part of our sample, which were divided into two types and analyzed further. On average, commercial banks with larger-scale assets presented less liquidity, lower credit risks, more adequate regulatory capital, and better performance before 2017Q4 (see Tables 6 and 7). However, the city/rural commercial banks had an advantage in credit risks over national commercial banks after 2017, which improved their performance.

The ratios employed to measure the bank's credit risks are (3) loan loss reserves/total loans (the LL ratio) and (4) impaired loans/total loans (the IT ratio). National commercial banks had a greater advantage in credit risk management compared with city/rural commercial banks before 2017. The LL ratio and the IT ratio of the city/rural commercial banks were much higher than those of the national commercial bank, which was as high as 3.6%. This indicates that banks with a larger scale are better at risk management. However, the LL ratio of the national commercial banks increased significantly and became much higher than that of the city/rural commercial banks, which caused those banks to lose their advantage in risk management.

Both the CIR and ROA variables, as banking efficiency or performance measures, show that the city/rural commercial banks' performance was worse (43.4% and 101%) than that of the national commercial banks during the first period. Hence, banks with large-scale assets tend to have better performance. However, the profitability of both kinds of bank changed after 2017Q4, and their profitability tended to be similar.

4.1.3. Univariate Analysis

The previous analysis is based on part of an independent variable comparison. This section analyzes how those characteristics affect their securitization (dependent variables).

(1) Policy banks versus commercial banks

The securitization transaction volume of commercial banks is much higher than that of policy banks for the two periods. The mean percentages of the transaction volume to total assets are 0.35% and 0.28% for the commercial banks, as opposed to 0.16% and 0.14% for the policy banks (see Tables 6 and 7). The previous section shows that liquidity and performance are the two major different variables between policy banks and commercial banks for the whole period. Therefore, the liquidity and performance of banks might be two significant determinants that affect loan securitization. Entities resorting to securitization are net borrowers of funds in the interbank market and are seeking to improve its financial position.

Comparing (1) the ND ratio, (2) the LD ratio (liquidity measures), (7) the CIR, and (8) the ROA (performance measures), with higher liquidity and performance, banks acquire

securitization issuances. The other two determinants, risk exposure and regulatory capital, also reflect the relationship with bank loan securitization. Risk exposure and regulatory capital are positively related to securitization transaction volume, even though their effects are limited.

(2) City/rural commercial banks versus national commercial banks

The transaction volume to the total assets in commercial banks increased with their decreasing asset scale for the whole period, even though the amount of securitization issuance rose with a larger asset scale. The percentages of the transaction volume to the total assets regarding city/rural commercial banks was the largest (0.78% and 0.64%), much larger than those of national commercial banks (0.21% and 0.15%).

The previous section indicates that liquidity and performance are also significantly different variables for the two types of bank. Thus, this paper considers the difference in the securitization transaction volume to the total assets because of the important liquidity and performance before 2017Q4. After that, the liquidity and regulatory capital were the two significantly different variables, so the motivations for the securitization of commercial banks changed. Improving liquidity and regulatory capital arbitrage is expected to be the motivation of securitization after 2017Q4. The subsequent analysis will confirm whether this variable is statistically significant in the model.

4.2. Multivariate Analysis

4.2.1. Groups of Bank Samples

This paper focuses first on regression on all bank levels, followed by research on types of bank. The sample of banks is divided into three main groups, namely, (1) whole banks, (2) commercial banks, and (3) national commercial banks (see Table 8). Whole banks consist of all banks (policy banks and commercial banks); commercial banks are composed of city/rural commercial bank and national commercial banks. The national commercial banks are the last group studied.

Table 8. Types of bank group.

Types of Bank Group	Description		
(A) Whole bank	Whole banks = policy banks + City/Rural commercial bank + National commercial banks		
(B) Commercial bank	Commercial banks = City/Rural commercial bank + National commercial banks		
(C) National commercial bank	National commercial bank		

4.2.2. Results of Four-Variable Regression

This paper examines four variables using a fixed effects model and a random effects model. According to the Hausman test, the probability of all results are lower than 95%, which means that the composite error term is correlated with all of the explanatory variables. Thus, a fixed model is more appropriate. The following analysis is based on the results of the fixed effects model (see Tables 9–12).

Table 9. Regression results of four variables in t - 1 (pre-2017Q4).

	All Banks		All Commercial Banks		National Commercial Banks	
	Fixed Effects	Random	Fixed Effects	Random	Fixed Effects	Random
	Model	Effects Model	Model	Effects Model	Model	Effects Model
(1) Liquidity $(t-1)$	-0.001 ***	-0.001 ***	-0.010*	-0.009 *	-0.003	-0.002
	(-3.375)	(-3.375)	(-1.911)	(-1.810)	(-1.243)	(-0.927)
(2) Risk_Exposure $(t - 1)$	0.174 *** (-5.072)	0.174 *** (-5.072)	0.157 *** (-6.608)	0.162 *** (-6.826)	-0.001 (-0.019)	0.016 (-0.385)
	All Banks		All Commercial Banks		National Commercial Banks	
-----------------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------
	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model
(3) Capital_Requirement $(t - 1)$	-0.011	-0.011	0.004	-0.001	-0.027 ***	-0.020 ***
··· • • · · ·	(-0.659)	(-0.659)	-0.227	(-0.051)	(-2.802)	(-3.104)
(4) Profitability $(t - 1)$	-0.0002	-0.0002	0.001	0.002**	0.001 **	0.0005
	(-0.010)	(-0.010)	(-0.835)	(-2.03)	(-2.117)	(-0.657)
Constant	0	-0.0003	0.003	0.002	0.007 *	0.006
	(-0.094)	(-0.095)	(-0.703)	(-0.408)	(-1.75)	(-1.623)
Observation	129	129	118	118	87	87
Adjusted R-squared	0.441	0.432	0.46	0.449	0.219	0.173
Hausman Test Prob.		0		0		0.006

Table 9. Cont.

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website; *t*-statistics are in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.10.

Table 10. Regressior	n results of four	variables in $t -$	1 (r	oost-2017Q4	Ł)
----------------------	-------------------	--------------------	------	-------------	----

	All Banks		All Comme	ercial Banks	National Commercial Banks	
	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model
(1) Liquidity $(t-1)$	0	0	0.001	-0.001 ***	-0.001	-0.001 ***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)
(2) Risk_Exposure $(t - 1)$	-0.024 *	-0.026 *	-0.051 **	-0.051	-0.038 ***	-0.033
	(-0.024)	(-0.026)	(0.021)	(0.020)	(0.014)	(0.013)
(3) Capital_Requirement $(t - 1)$	-0.002	0.002	0.004	0.007	0.006	-0.001
	(-0.002)	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.007)	(0.005)	(0.005)
(4) Profitability $(t - 1)$	0	0	0.001	0.001 **	0	0
-	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Constant	0.004 ***	0.005 ***	0.003	0.006	0.003 **	0.004
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)
Observation	387	387	362	362	266	266
Adjusted R-squared	0.01	0.01	0.7649	0.029	0.001	0.043
Hausman Test Prob.		0.47		0.01		0.01

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website; *t*-statistics are in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.10.

Table 11. Regression results of eight variables in t - 1 (pre-2017).

	All Banks		All Commo	ercial Banks	National Commercial Banks	
	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model
(1) Net_loans_D&ST_funding $(t - 1)$	-0.001 **	-0.001 **	-0.015 **	-0.013 ***	-0.001	0.00006
	(-2.214)	(-2.553)	(-1.907)	(-2.125)	(-0.372)	-0.022
(2) Liquidity_assets_D&ST_funding $(t - 1)$	-0.003	-0.004	0.001	-0.0003	-0.001	-0.001
	(-1.123)	(-1.280)	-0.431	(-0.096)	(-0.184)	(-0.427)
(3) Loan_loss_reserves_total_loans (t − 1)	0.109 ***	0.116 ***	0.111 ***	0.115 ***	-0.039	-0.021
	-4.394	-4.64	-4.878	-5.334	(-0.960)	(-0.510)
(4) Impaired_loans_total_loans (t - 1)	0.366 ***	0.367 ***	0.302 ***	0.303 ***	0	0.011
	-6.418	-5.982	-5.425	-5.49	(-0.003)	-0.235
(5) Total_equities_total_assets (t - 1)	0.028	0.056	0.120 *	0.142 **	-0.122 **	-0.101 ***
	-0.642	-1.197	-1.851	-2.184	(-2.630)	(-2.708)
(6) Tier_one (t − 1)	-0.048	-0.062 **	-0.041	-0.046*	0.023	0.019 **
	(-1.656)	(-2.266)	(-1.559)	(-1.935)	-1.578	-2.189
(7) Cost_to_income (t − 1)	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
	-0.646	-0.831	-0.809	-0.725	-0.889	-1.56
(8) ROA $(t - 1)$	0.003 *	0.003 **	0.003 *	0.002	0	-0.001
	-1.789	-2.376	-1.872	-1.539	-0.298	(-0.575)
Constant	-0.001	-0.001	-0.002	-0.002	0.008 **	0.007 **
	(-0.391)	(-0.463)	-0.492	-1.539	-2.138	-2.192
Observation	129	129	118	118	87	87
Adjusted R-squared	0.499	0.49	0.519	0.518	0.39	0.247
Hausman Test Prob.		0.000		0.000		0.011

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website; *t*-statistics are in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.10.

	All Banks		All Comme	ercial Banks	National Commercial Banks	
	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model	Fixed Effects Model	Random Effects Model
(1) Net_loans_D&ST_funding $(t - 1)$	0.000	0.000	0.001	-0.003	-0.001	0.001
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)
(2) Liquidity_assets_D&ST_funding (t - 1)	0.002	0.002	0.008	0.011 **	-0.002	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(-0.001)
(3) Loan_loss_reserves_total_loans $(t - 1)$	-0.049 *	-0.043 *	-0.036	-0.011	-0.002	-0.001
	(-0.049)	(-0.043)	(0.030)	(0.028)	(0.021)	(-0.001)
(4) Impaired_loans_total_loans (t - 1)	-0.003	-0.007	-0.041	-0.065	-0.106 ***	-0.097 ***
	(-0.003)	(-0.007)	(0.045)	(0.042)	(0.031)	(-0.097)
(5) Total_equities_total_assets (t - 1)	-0.039 *	-0.027	-0.029	0.02	-0.043 ***	-0.048 ***
	(-0.039)	(-0.027)	(0.029)	(0.026)	(0.022)	(-0.048)
(6) Tier_one (t − 1)	0.028 *	0.022 *	0.031 **	0.017	0.024 **	0.017*
	(0.028)	(0.022)	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.010)	(0.017)
(7) Cost_to_income (t − 1)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.000)
(8) ROA $(t - 1)$	0.044	0.087	0.022	0.054	-0.068	-0.046
	(0.044)	(0.087)	(0.046)	(0.045)	(0.032)	(-0.046)
Constant	0.004 ***	0.005 ***	0.000	0.003	0.005 ***	0.004 ***
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observation	386	386	361	361	265	265
Adjusted R-squared	0.763	0.037	0.770	0.061	0.356	0.098
Hausman Test Prob.		0.000		0.000		0.005
		0.000		0.000		01000

Table 12.	Regression	results c	of eight	variables	in t –	1 (post-2017).

Data were collected from Bloomberg, Wind, the banks' financial reports, and the China Securitization Analytics website; t-statistics are in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.10.

(A) All banks

Liquidity and risk exposure were the two important determinants of securitization in China's banking sector before 2017Q4, showing a confidence level of more than 99%. Compared with liquidity, risk exposure presents more a significant effect on loan securitization transaction volume, because the probability of securitizing increases given more variation in the dependent variable. When a bank's risk exposure increased by one unit, the probability that a bank will opt for securities increased by 17.4% when the other variables were held constant. Risk exposure had a positive effect on securitization. The liquidity effect on loan securitization was limited. A one-unit liquidity change only resulted in a 0.1% securitization transaction volume adjustment. The higher risk exposure motivated banks to issue more loan securities. Additionally, banks with a lower liquidity could raise liquidity and funding via securitization.

Risk exposure was an important determinant for securitization only after 2017Q4, showing a confidence level of more than 90%. When a bank's risk exposure increased by one unit, the probability that a bank will opt for securities increased only by 2.4% when the other variables were held constant, which is much lower than that before 2017Q4. Additionally, improving liquidity was not a determinant of securitization for all banks.

(B) Commercial banks

Consistent with all banks, liquidity and risk exposure were still the two important determinants of the loan securitization transaction volume. The risk exposure ratio was significant at a 99% confidence interval and with an obvious effect on the securitization transaction volume (a one-unit risk exposure rise corresponds to a 15.7% change in securitization transaction volume). Liquidity was only in the 90% confidence interval, so it is not as important as risk exposure.

The motivation for commercial banks' securitization issuance was similar to the other banks. Risk exposure was the only determinant after 2017Q4.

(C) National commercial banks

The determinants of securitization in national commercial banks were completely different from the previous two groups before 2017Q4. Capital requirements and profitability were two important determinants in this group. Capital requirements, compared with performance, was more significant with respect to securitization. When a bank's regularity capital decreased by one unit, the probability that a bank would opt to securitize

increased by 2.7%. With a lower regularity capital, the banks acquired a higher securitization transaction volume, which could reflect securitization as a way to search for new profit opportunities. The profitability variable was statistically significant, indicating that banks are using securitization to raise their performance, but its effects on national commercial banks are limited (only a 0.1% regression coefficient).

However, capital requirements and profitability were not the determinants of securitization after 2017Q4. The table shows that risk exposure was still the determinant for national commercial banks, which was significant at a 99% confidence interval.

4.2.3. Results of Eight-Variable Regression

In Tables 11 and 12, as with the four-variable regression analysis, both the random effects approach and the fixed effects approach were applied in this regression. According to the Hausman test probability, the fixed effects model is valid.

To further confirm the findings, eight-variable multivariate analysis was conducted. Each determinant was evaluated by two proxies, introduced in the methodology section. If both of two variables were in a confidence interval greater than 90%, the determinant was considered to drive securitization issuances. Additionally, if only one variable was statistically significant in relation to the transaction volume, its influence on securitization was concluded.

(A) All banks

Liquidity and risk exposure were the main drivers of loan securitization in the Chinese banking sector, which is basically consistent with previous results, but performance was also a significant driver of securitization in the eight-variable regression before 2017Q4. Specifically, (3) the LT ratio and (4) the IT ratio as risk exposure measures were statistically significant. The coefficients of (3) the LT ratio and (4) the IT ratio were 10.9% and 36.6%, respectively, and appear to exert the most influence on the probability that a bank opts to securitize, compared to the other variables. (1) The ND ratio as a proxy of liquidity indicates statistical significance at the 5% level. While the liquidity effect was limited, the one-unit ND ratio rise only improved securitization truncation volume by 0.1% in all banks. Even though this regression result indicates that securitization can be used as a way to improve a bank's performance, the coefficient of this ratio is too small, so its effect is limited. (8) The ROA ratio variable as a profitability measure is the least statistically significant determinant among the four basic determinants proposed in the literature.

After 2017Q4, reducing capital requirement and risk exposure was the main determinate for the whole banks. Specifically, (4) the LT ratio was statistically significant, but the coefficients of that ratio were much lower than that before 2017Q4. Both (5) the TETA ratio and (6) the ROA ratio are related to loan securitization issuance. However, they are both significant at a 90% confidence interval.

(B) Commercial banks

In the group of commercial banks, all four determinants affected loan securitization before 2017Q4 but to varying extents. Risk exposure, compared with the other determinants, was the most significant for securitization. Two variables, (3) the LL ratio and (4) the LT ratio, presented statistical significance at the 99% confidence level. The coefficients of both ratios were also the highest compared to the other variables—11.1% and 30.2%, respectively. Liquidity was the second most significant determinant. (1) The LD ratio measuring liquidity was related to loan securitization. These two determinants are consistent with the four-variable regression. The capital requirement and performance were statistically significant as risk exposure and liquidity. (6) The tier one ratio (capital requirement measures) and (8) the ROA ratio (profitability measures) were statistically significant, but only in the 90% confidence interval, so they were the least statistically significant. This might explain why neither of them were significant in relation to loan securitization in the four-variable regression. The coefficient value of (8) ROA (performance proxy) was close to zero. Using

securitization as a mechanism for improving a commercial bank's performance does not seem to be very efficient.

The motivation for the securitization issuance of commercial banks was only regulatory capital arbitrage after 2017Q4. Reducing risk exposure and increasing liquidity and performance were no longer determinants of securitization issuances. (6) The tier one ratio (capital requirement measures) was statistically significant but only in the 95% confidence interval.

(C) National commercial banks

Regularity capital was the only driver of securitization activities in national commercial banks. (5) The TETA ratio measuring capital requirement was the only variable with statistical significance. Profitability was an important determinant for securitization in the four-variable regression, but (7) the CIR and (8) ROA variables measured as bank profitability did not reach statistical significance in the eight-variable regression. This leads to a new conclusion: Regulatory capital, rather than performance, is the only determinant that appears to exert the most influence on loan securitization. National commercial banks could lower their regularity capital (regulatory capital arbitrage) via securitization. Interestingly, risk exposure was no longer a significant determinant for a bank's securitization decisions in the national commercial banks. This is completely different from all other banks.

Risk exposure was the other determinant of securitization issuance after 2017Q4. The risk exposure and regularity capital were two main drivers of securitization activities in national commercial banks. Specifically, (4) the IT ratio, measured as a bank's risk exposure, reached statistical significance at the 99% confidence level. (7) The CIR and (8) ROA variables were also statistically significant.

In summary, the results of the eight-variable regression are basically consistent with the four-variable regression, but they also revealed some new important determinants for securitization. Specifically, securitization transaction was motivated by both risk exposure and liquidity, risk exposure especially in the first period, but was still motivated by risk exposure after 2017Q4. However, the eight-variable regression shows that performance was another significant determinant for securitization, even though its effects were limited before 2017Q4.

4.3. Results of Varying Types of Banks

4.3.1. Derivations from Regression Results

The above findings only reflect how these determinants affect securitization decisions in varying bank groups, but it is difficult to indicate how determinants influence varying types of banks, not including national commercial banks. This can be safely deduced by comparing different bank groups (see Table 13). Specifically, city/rural commercial banks can be deduced through a comparison of the *p*-value and coefficients of commercial banks and national commercial banks. For example, if the former regression probability of a hypothesis variable (*p*-value) (commercial banks) is higher than that of the national commercial banks, national commercial banks can be considered to have contributed to an increased *p*-value. If the variable regression probability is the same or similar, their coefficients will be compared and their influence inferred. Policy banks are also analyzed according to this methodology.

Kinds of Banks	Derivation from Regression Results
(1) National commercial banks	National commercial banks = (C) National commercial banks
(2) City/rural commercial banks	City/rural commercial banks = (B) Commercial banks – (C) National commercial banks
(3) Policy banks	Policy banks = (A) Whole banks $-$ (B) Commercial banks

Table 13. Types of bank.

- 4.3.2. Derivations from Four-Variable Regression
- (1) National commercial banks

National commercial banks and their change were analyzed in the four-variable regression section, so we do not need to compare and discuss their important determinants. Liquidity was the only determinant before 2017Q4, but risk exposure became the main motivation for securitization issuance after 2017Q4.

City/rural commercial banks

In city/rural commercial banks, liquidity and risk exposure were the main determinants for securitization before 2017Q4. As per the previous analysis, capital requirement was the only significant determinant in national commercial banks. In other words, liquidity and risk exposure were not related to national commercial banks' securitization. However, these two variables were statistically significant in all commercial banks. This implies that city/rural commercial bank liquidity and risk exposure are related to the dependent variable and result in the statistical significance of all commercial banks.

However, liquidity and risk exposure were not the drivers of loan securitization issuance after 2017Q4. The *p*-value of national commercial banks was in the 99% confidence interval, which was higher than that of commercial banks (in the 95% confidence interval). This implies that city/rural commercial banks have no motivations for securitization issuance.

(3) Policy banks

Liquidity and risk exposure were significant determinants motivating policy banks' securitization before 2017Q4. The risk exposure *p*-value in the all-bank regression was in the 99% confidence interval, and this was found for the national commercial banks as well. Thus, their coefficients were further compared. The coefficient of risk exposure variables in all banks was higher than that of all commercial banks (17.4% versus 15.7%). The risk exposure of the policy banks could influence their securitization decisions and raise the corresponding coefficient in the all-bank regression. The regression probability of liquidity in all banks is higher than that in all commercial banks. Thus, the liquidity of policy banks was also a significant determinant for their securitization transaction and improved the probability in the all-bank regression.

However, it is hard to infer specific drivers by comparing *p*-values of the commercial bank group and the all-bank group. Due to the lower *p*-value of the all-bank group, we inferred that there is no motivation for securitization issuance. This outcome is the same in the case of rural/city commercial banks.

- 4.3.3. Derivation from Eight-Variable Regression
- (1) National commercial banks

More detail about national commercial bank securitization determinants can be found in Section 4.2.3.

(2) City/rural commercial banks

Liquidity, risk exposure, and profitability are three important determinants for securitization transaction volume in city/rural commercial banks. This is because these three determinants are not statistically significant in the former group but present contrary outcomes in the commercial bank group. The statistical significance comes from the effect of city/rural commercial banks. The (5) TETA ratio is also statistically significant in the sample of commercial banks. However, its *p*-value is lower than that of the national commercial bank group, confirming that capital requirement is a significant determinant in city/rural commercial banks.

Only the regulatory capital arbitrage is inferred to have been an important determinant after 2017Q4. The (5) TETA ratio was also statistically significant in the sample of commercial banks and is the same as that of the national commercial banks in the 99% confidence interval. The coefficient was higher than that of the commercial bank group, which could imply that regulatory capital arbitrage was the main motivation for city/rural commercial banks to issue securities.

(3) Policy banks

Risk exposure was inferred to have been an important determinant in policy banks before 2017Q4. The (1) ND ratio (liquidity measures), the two variables (3) and (4) of risk exposure, and (8) the ROA ratio (profitability measures) were statistically significant in all banks, but the regression coefficients of (1) and (8) were smaller or equal to the former groups, which makes it difficult to prove that liquidity and profitability were two important determinants of policy bank securitization issuance. The *p*-values of variables (3) and (4) of all banks were the same as those of the commercial bank group. Although the coefficient of (3) was lower than that of the sample of commercial banks (10.9% versus 11.1%), the coefficient of (4) in the sample was much higher than that of the commercial bank sample (36.6% versus 30.2%). Therefore, the effect of risk exposure in all banks was greater than that of the commercial bank group. The risk exposure affected policy bank securitization and improved the corresponding coefficient.

Risk exposure and regulatory capital arbitrage were inferred to be two main determinants in policy banks after 2017Q4. Regarding risk exposure, (3) the LT ratio was statistically significant in the 90% confidence interval in the all-bank group, but there was no statistical significance in the commercial bank group. We conclude that national policy banks contributed to an increased *p*-value. In the same way, it can also be inferred, by comparing (5) TETA ratios, that the regulatory capital arbitrage was the other main determinant.

5. Discussion

5.1. Discussion of Results

This paper investigates what drives bank securitization in China and compares determinants before and after 2017Q4. Generally, the paper shows that, before 2017Q4, a bank was more likely to issue securities if the bank's credit risk exposure, its liquidity, and its performance were higher. A bank's credit risk was still a main driver of securitization issuance volume. The regulatory capital arbitrage also influenced securitization decisions. However, the liquidity and performance were not determinants of securitization issuance after 2017Q4. Specifically, credit risk exposure was the most significant determinant compared to the other two. The main motivation of bank securitization could have been credit risk transfers, followed by increased liquidity and improved profitability. Interestingly, capital requirement—or, more precisely, (5) the total equities to total assets and (6) the tier one ratio-did not seem to influence banks' securitization decisions very strongly before 2017Q4. However, these two variables were statistically significant with respect to securitization issuance after 2017Q4. Liquidity—or, more precisely, (1) net loans to deposits and short-term funding and (2) liquidity assets to deposits and short-term funding-did not seem to influence banks' securitization decisions very strongly. (5) The cost-to-income ratio and (6) the return on assets also did not seem to influence banks' securitization decisions strongly after 2017Q4.

The paper also shows that the four determinants in different types of banks display different propensities toward securitization activities in the two periods. To differentiate motivations of securitization between the varying types of banks, this paper looks particularly at the varying types of bank groups in more detail. Before 2017Q4, two types of bank group (the commercial bank group and the national commercial bank group) were used in the empirical models. The findings indicate that risk exposure was still the most important determinant, which is the case in all banks. The (3) loan loss reserves to total loans and (4) the impaired loans to total loans, measuring credit risk exposure, presented statistical significance in the group of commercial banks. Additionally, credit risk exposure affected bank securitization more obviously—the coefficients of (3) and (4) were much higher than those of the other determinants. The second important determinant that drives

banks' securitization was liquidity. (1) The net loans to deposits and short-term funding were statistically significant with respect to securitization transaction volumes, except in the group of national commercial banks. However, because the *p*-values and coefficients of the liquidity variables were lower than those of risk exposure, the liquidity determinant was not as important. The profitability determinant also drove securitization transactions in all commercial banks but was less important than the above two determinants, which is shown by the lower *p*-values of profitability. Consistent with the results of all banks, the capital requirement determinant was considered the least important determinant. It is only related to securitization issuance in the group of national commercial banks. After 2017Q4, the all-bank group and the national commercial bank group were the only two groups that issued their securities because of the risk exposure. However, the capital requirement determinant was found to be related to securitization issuance in the group of all banks.

Risk exposure is the most important determinant for bank securitization, by bank group analysis and by different types of bank analysis, for the whole period. Higher credit risks in a bank has motivates a larger part of an asset-securitized portfolio, and these securitized assets are more likely to be low-quality or impaired loans. This is because the bank is able to decrease stress costs and improve risk management when it removes these low-quality or impaired loans from the balance sheet via securitization transactions and shares those credit risks with investors. Thus, these findings are indicative that securitization is mainly used as a risk transfer. Liquidity was the second most important determinant before 2017Q4, but it was not the determinant after 2017Q4. The use of securitization is regarded as a mechanism in the search for liquidity and, therefore, as a source of additional financing. In this way, banks can newly acquire alternative funding resources and be less vulnerable to liquidity shock. The other important determinant is profitability. The first period indicates that securitization was used as a way to improve performance. Generally, that performance mainly came from intermediation profits via a specific design of securitization loans or by raising cash inflows to retire existing debts that could reduce interest expense. However, improving a bank's performance via securitization issuance could be more difficult after 2017Q4. The capital requirement did not seem to influence banks' securitization (except national commercial banks in the first period), but this changed after 2017Q4. It can be stated that regulatory capital arbitrage hampered by the regulatory scheme was difficult to apply in the securitization market, but that has changed in the last three years.

5.2. Determinants, Adverse Selection, and Moral Hazards in Chinese Banking 5.2.1. Adverse Selection

The risk exposure determinant, measuring the quality of loans, can be used to test adverse selection problems. These problems are mainly concerned with securitization transactions between the originator and investors. Generally, the originator has more and superior information about the underlying assets than investors. If a securitization transaction involves serious information asymmetry, where the investor is not clear about the underlying quality of an asset, the securitization originator can move low-quality loans into SPV and sell them to investors. Thus, the quality of underlying assets is key in studying adverse selection problems. If large amounts of low-quality underlying assets are moved from banks and sold to investors, investors are more likely to buy 'lemons' from an originator, resulting in adverse selection problems. Based on the background of banking in China as well as our regression results, this paper shows that the securitization transactions made in this setting are related to adverse selection problems for the following reasons.

(1) Writing off non-performing loans, asset management companies (AMCs), 'debt-toequity' swaps, and non-performing loan (NPL) securitization are four main ways to tackle non-performing loans in China. They are allowed and supported in banks in China; however, the effects of those approaches in practice are questioned. The traditional way to tackle non-performing loans is writing them off. This approach is widely used with lower non-performing loans, but it is at the expense of banks' net profits and decreases the bank's profitability.

AMCs are another way to tackle NPLs. They acquire distress debt from banks and then progressively restrict and repack those acquisitions in the flowing. The four major AMCs play a critical role in tackling NPLs (Deloitte 2018a). Building on this, recent reforms allow AMCs, with 35 currently in operation, to take on bad debt. They also permit AMCs to sell bad debt to third-party investors rather than simply acting as warehouses for NPLs (Foreign and Commonwealth Office 2017). However, there are signs that those corporations rely heavily on bank loans to finance their purchases in order to expand their scale; given the circular relationship with the banks, some local AMCs are simply perpetuating loans to zombie firms (Foreign and Commonwealth Office 2017). The effects of AMCs are doubtful; those credit risks might be moved from balance sheets but essentially are not eliminated and could even increase risk exposure.

'Debt-for-equity' swaps were initiated by the State Council in 2016 to replace bad loans with an equity stake in the relevant companies, becoming another solution to China's cooperation debts. In theory, debt-for-equity swaps could act as a relatively growthfriendly route to incorporate deleveraging that can decrease the problems of corporate debt problems (Martin 2016). In other words, 'debt-to-equity' swaps aim to decrease high corporate leverage and lower debt risks directly, which could indirectly lower banks' credit risks. However, in practice, 'debt-to-equity' swaps face implementation risks, because banks are compelled to swap bad loans for equity to keep failing 'zombie' companies alive (Fitch 2016). In addition, the 'debt-for-equity' swap scheme is unlikely to reach a scale at which it addresses corporate sector leverage in a meaningful way, given the lack of investor interest and the capital constraints of banks (Nolet and Wong 2017). If 'debt-to-equity' swaps cannot deal with high leverage and NPLs efficiently for corporations, then this approach indirectly fails to decrease NPLs in banks.

With the diversification of underlying assets in terms of securitization, non-performance loan securitization has become a new way to deal with NPLs. The mechanism is similar to loan securitization, but the underlying assets are replaced by non-performing assets. In this way, more investors participate in the market to help optimize non-performing assets and increase banks' non-performance asset disposal (KPMG 2017b). However, the high risks of these underlying assets could affect the confidence of investors. In order to overcome this issue (Daniel et al. 2016), banks tend to retain large amounts of high risk tranches. Thus, the high cost of NPL securitization could make tackling credit risks difficult.

(2) The official data from CBRC and other financial institution estimations jointly indicate that credit risks in the banking context in China have been boosted in the past few years, and the financial system is on a dangerous trajectory. If the approaches of tackling non-performing loans are less efficient as discussed above, banks will be encouraged to transfer their risks via loan securitization directly.

Even though exposure to credit risks slowed down after 2016 (KPMG 2017a), NPLs have increased extraordinarily in recent years with the slowdown of the Chinese economy. According to the information disclosed by the CBRC, the various loan balance of commercial banks' asset portfolios was RMB 98.029 trillion at the end of 2017, representing an increase of RMB 11.121 trillion compared to the end of 2016. The NPL ratio is as high as 1.74% and has risen extraordinarily since 2012 (DBS 2018). However, foreign institutions have estimated that the NPL ratio would be much higher than is indicated by the official data. Fitch (2017) estimated that the NPL ratio could be in a range from 15% to as much as 21%, equivalent to around 11–20% of China's economy. The IMF (2016) estimated a similar ratio, i.e., a total debt at risk, based on individual firm level data on interest coverage ratios and liability ratios, at 15%.

The high NPLs result in increased stress costs and a threatened stability. However, securitization with 'true sale' transactions and the 'bankruptcy-remoteness' mechanism provide banks with credit risk transfer opportunities. Generally, because of the market

mechanisms in securitization, such as lender reputation concerns, the lenders retain highdefault-risk loans in their portfolio; while financial risks grow, lenders change dramatically and retain low-default-risk loans in their portfolios (Agarwal et al. 2012). Thus, when banks are under pressure of high credit risks, they are more likely to share large amounts of low-quality loans via securitization.

It can be summarized that NPLs have increased dramatically in the past few years, but approaches tackling NPLs in practice are doubtful. With a rising risk exposure without efficient methods to tackle risk, high-risk exposure could motivate banks to transfer credit risks from balance sheets via loan securitization directly. In addition, our study indicates that risk exposure presents statistical significance in relation to securitization transaction volume. Higher credit risks in banks drive larger amounts of loan securitization. As mentioned previously, the quality of underlying assets is key to studying adverse selection problems. We conclude that banks tend to pack those low-quality assets from their portfolios and move to SPV to protect themselves against high credit risks. Once a large amount of low-quality or low-performance loans are packaged without efficient information disclosure, investors are more likely to buy low-quality securitizations. This will hurt investor protections and even drive the securitization market down. There are consequences of adverse selection in securitization.

5.2.2. Moral Hazards

In this paper, liquidity, profitability, and capital requirement determinants are used to study moral hazards in bank securitization. Moral hazards are mainly concerned with the relationship between borrowers and banks (originators) or the bank itself. They mainly show that banks use securitization to take on more risks. Specifically, once a bank's risks are incurred by investors without enough information to supervise the bank's operations, the bank will take more risks, which results in financial instability. We found, by comparing two periods' securitization determinants, that moral hazards tended to decrease because these three determinants had a lower influence on securitization issuance. Before 2017Q4, liquidity contributed to serious moral hazard problems in securitization, while the profitability and capital requirement determinants presented a lower association to such problems. However, the capital requirement presented a greater association to moral hazard problems after 2017Q4.

Liquidity

Liquidity is considered an important determinant contributing to moral hazard. Moral hazards in securitization with regard to liquidity are mainly present in lax screening by lenders. Securitization is used to increase bank liquidity according to multiple variable analysis. Banks can acquire additional and sufficient liquidity through securitization. Sufficient liquidity generally encourages banks to offer a larger amount of loans to borrowers and pursue higher profitability. The supply of loans is increased, while the demand is unchanged, and lax screening by lenders can stimulate a higher demand for loans. Lax screening also increases a bank's financial risks and results in the instability of the financial system, especially for so-called 'too-big-to-fail' financial institutions. Additionally, the regulatory scheme also encourages banks to provide more loans to support economic development. The regulatory authorities (China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission) released a regulatory scheme aiming to ease the higher amount of liquidity. The specific operation is the relaxation of their bad loans to a range of 120-150% from the current minimum of 150% (WSY 2018). This move can help commercial banks improve their capability in guarding against liquidity risks, serve the real economy, and maintain the safe, stable operation of the banking system (Xinghua 2018). Clearly, banks with the encouragement of a liquidity regulatory scheme lead to large amounts of liquidity from banks to support economic devolvement. This could result in lax screening to a certain degree. We conclude that, before 2017Q4, banks were able to acquire sufficient liquidity and encourage borrowers to take larger loans and that they were more likely to lax-screen

borrowers and even offer loans to ineligible borrowers. Therefore, if authorities are not able to acquire enough information to supervise efficiently, lax screening would lose control.

However, Chinese authorities, over the three years prior to the study period, asked banks to restrict the loan supply, especially property loans, to ward off an economic bubble. Banking regulators paid attention to the rebound of the proportion of property loans among their new loans (Nasdaq 2021). Lax screening by lenders decreased under prudential supervision. We inferred that such regulators reduce moral hazards in securitization.

Profitability

Profitability is not associated with moral hazards in securitization, because profitability fails to drive securitization under our analysis. Even though profitability presents statistical significance in relation to securitization transaction volumes in the majority of banks, the correlation coefficient values are almost zero, which reveals that their effects are limited. This could be explained by that fact that securitization can increase liquidity, lower credit risks, and improve risk management, which can improve performance jointly but not directly. In addition, the tax standard of securitization in China is not mature enough, which is reflected by the lower tax incentives and limits the ways in which performance can be improved via securitization. Before the tax reform, securitization generated taxation problems that did not fully reflect the tax neutrality principle (Liang 2015). The pilot program for replacing the business tax with a value-added tax (VAT) abolished the business tax in 2016. However, how the application of a VAT affects the securitization is still ambiguous, because it is not relevant to purely domestic securitization transactions (Phua 2020). Therefore, we conclude that it is difficult for banks to improve their profitability via securitization transactions due to the tax issue and to take more risks. The profitability determinant cannot result in moral hazards in securitization transactions.

Capital Requirement

The capital requirement is not related to moral hazards either. The capital requirement presents no statistical significance in relation to securitizations, which means that most banks do not use loan securitization to save on regulatory capital. This is because the Basel II framework under the 'standardized approach' no longer allows for regulatory capital arbitrage. Basel III, which could further enhance the capital regulation, was scheduled to be introduced from 2013 to 2019 (Financial Stability Board 2018). We consider regulatory capital arbitrage to be the main relation between regulatory authorities and banks. Those financial institutions seeking new opportunities of regulatory capital arbitrage might never come to an end, but it has become harder to continue with the maturity of regulations. Regulatory capital arbitrage is difficult to apply in loan securitization. Less regulatory capital could not result in moral hazard problems in securitization transactions before 2017Q4. However, banking regulators in China intensified capital rules in the three years prior to that; for example, banks that failed to comply with capital adequacy requirements by the end of 2010 in terms of the amount of capital they had to hold against their loans were punished, with limits on market access and so on (McMahon 2009). Chinese regulators also drafted tougher capital rules for China's too-big-to-fail banks, seeking to curb risks (Bloomberg 2021). Regulatory capital arbitrage might have been applied in securitization transactions under the pressure of stricter capital requirements after 2017Q4.

6. Recommendations

This paper aims to examine adverse selection and moral hazards by examining the determinants of securitization in China and then to answer the main research question: Does China need a higher standard of information transparency to protect against its risks? The findings show that securitization involved both adverse selection and moral hazard problems before 2017Q4, but the digital transformation of banking reduced those issues after 2017Q4. Generally, adverse selection, compared with moral hazards, is more serious. Even though digital transformation reduced information asymmetry significantly, adverse

selection and moral hazards still affected the loan securitization market and its stability. Thus, China still needs a higher standard of information transparency to protect against these risks. The recommendations according to this paper's findings are as follows:

- (1) The first recommendation regards the adverse selection problem. The standard of information transparency in terms of the underlying assets should be further improved, particularly for the quality of underlying assets. According to our empirical study, risk exposure is the most significant determinant for securitization, which shows that securitization is mainly used as a way to transfer credit risks to investors. As the operating model of banks tends to change from an 'originate-to-hold' to an 'originate-to-distribute' model, risk exposure can be shared with securitization investors to lower bank risks, but investors' benefits should also be protected. It is essential to guarantee that investors are informed about the corresponding price and risks of their investments. A regulatory scheme should require originators to disclose more information in terms of the underlying assets for investors to reduce information asymmetry.
- (2) Securitization also involves moral hazards, which is reflected in the regulatory capital arbitrage. The second recommendation is a regulatory scheme that requires banks to disclose more information about regulatory capital arbitrage and the relative shadow banks.
- (3) We also found that, even though securitization involves both adverse selection and moral hazards, their effects are different in different types of bank. Thus, our third recommendation is that a regulatory scheme should require varying standards of information disclosure according to the type of banks. National commercial banks should disclose more information because national commercial banks evidenced serious moral hazard and adverse selection problems after 2017Q4. Credit risks were highest in the commercial bank group, but they did not excel in terms of performance, which also indicates that protecting these risks is more difficult. Relatively speaking, policy banks and city/rural commercial banks are not expected to need as high a standard as the other two types of banks.
- (4) This paper also indicates, via a comparison of two periods, that digital transformation resulted in lower information asymmetry and higher financial stability. Even though digital transformation reduces adverse selection and moral hazards in banking, it still affects securitization. The last recommendation is to apply blockchain in securitization to further enhance their information transparency.

7. Conclusions

In summary, by comparing two periods, FinTech applications in the banking industry could result in lower information asymmetry. However, moral hazard and adverse selection problems still affect the securitization market, which could affect financial stability. Thus, China needs a higher standard of information transparency.

The moral hazard and adverse selection problems were tested by studying the determinants of loan securitization in China's banking sector. Specifically, risk exposure was the main determinant of securitization issues over the whole period, which means that the adverse selection problem might affect the securitization market. This result is similar to that of studies by Minton et al. (2004) and Bannier and Hänsel (2008). Liquidity and performance were considered to test moral hazards, and they were less statistically significant with respect to securitization issuance after 2017Q4. However, the capital requirement could be a main determinant of securitization. This conclusion is similar to that of studies by Uzun and Webb (2007) and Ambrose et al. (2005).

In order to protect against adverse selection and moral hazards, China needs a higher standard of information transparency. First, since adverse selection in securitization mainly affects risk transfer, information disclosure should focus more on the underlying assets to ensure that investors know what they are investing in and that they are willing to pay corresponding prices and bear the corresponding risks. The second recommendation regards moral hazards, which are mainly reflected in the capital requirement. Information disclosure should correspond more to regulatory capital arbitrage. The third is that a regulatory scheme of information disclosure should be diversified according to the varying types of bank. The last recommendation is to apply blockchain in securitization to further enhance their information transparency.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, C.W.; methodology, X.C.; software, X.C.; validation, C.W.; formal analysis, C.W. and X.C.; investigation, C.W. and X.C.; resources, X.C.; data curation, X.C.; writing—original draft preparation, C.W. and X.C.; writing—review and editing, C.W. and X.C.; visualization, C.W. and X.C.; project administration, C.W. and X.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data was obtained from Bloomberg, banks' financial reports, Wind and China Securitization Analytics website.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Acharya, Viral V., Philipp Schnabl, and Gustavo Suarez. 2013. Securitization without risk transfer. Journal of Financial economics 107: 515–36. [CrossRef]
- Affinito, Massimiliano, and Edoardo Tagliaferri. 2010. Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy. Journal of Financial Stability 6: 189–202. [CrossRef]
- Agarwal, Sumit, and Robert Hauswald. 2010. Distance and private information in lending. *The Review of Financial Studies* 23: 2757–88. [CrossRef]
- Agarwal, Sumit, Yan Chang, and Abdullah Yavas. 2012. Adverse selection in mortgage securitization. *Journal of Financial Economics* 105: 640–60. [CrossRef]
- Akerlof, George A. 1970. The market for lemons: Quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 84: 488–500. [CrossRef]
- Albertazzi, Ugo, Ginette Eramo, Leonardo Gambacorta, and Carmelo Salleo. 2015. Asymmetric information in securitization: An empirical assessment. Journal of Monetary Economics 71: 33–49. [CrossRef]
- Altunbas, Yener, Leonardo Gambacorta, and David Marques-Ibanez. 2010. Does Monetary Policy Affect Bank Risk-Taking? ECB Working Paper, No. 1166. Available online: https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpwps/ecbwp1166.pdf (accessed on 11 March 2018).
- Ambrose, Brent W., Michael LaCour-Little, and Anthony B. Sanders. 2005. Does regulatory capital arbitrage, reputation, or asymmetric information drive securitization? *Journal of Financial Services Research* 28: 113–33. [CrossRef]
- An, Xudong, Yongheng Deng, and Stuart A. Gabriel. 2011. Asymmetric information, adverse selection, and the pricing of CMBS. Journal of Financial Economics 100: 304–25. [CrossRef]
- Bannier, Christina E., and Dennis N. Hänsel. 2008. Determinants of European Banks' Engagement in Loan Securitization. Deutsche Bundesbank Working Paper No. 10. Available online: https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/19787/1/200810dkp_b_.pdf (accessed on 11 March 2018).
- Beltran, Daniel O., Larry Cordell, and Charles P. Thomas. 2017. Asymmetric information and the death of ABS CDOs. Journal of Banking & Finance 76: 1–14.
- Benmelech, Efraim, Jennifer Dlugosz, and Victoria Ivashina. 2012. Securitization without adverse selection: The case of CLOs. Journal of Financial Economics 106: 91–113. [CrossRef]
- Bergh, Donald, David J. Ketchen, Ilaria Orlandi, Pursey P. M. A. R. Heugens, and Brian K. Boyd. 2018. Information Asymmetry in Management Research: Past Accomplishments and Future Opportunities. *Journal of Management* 45: 014920631879802. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327804777_Information_Asymmetry_in_Management_Research_ Past_Accomplishments_and_Future_Opportunities (accessed on 14 November 2021). [CrossRef]
- Bloomberg. 2021. China Drafts Tougher Capital Rules for Too-Big-to-Fail Banks. Available online: https://www.bloomberg.com/ news/articles/2021-04-02/china-drafts-tougher-capital-rules-for-too-big-to-fail-banks (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Blum, Jürg M. 2008. Why 'Basel II'may need a leverage ratio restriction. Journal of Banking & Finance 32: 1699–707.
- Bubb, Ryan, and Alex Kaufman. 2014. Securitization and moral hazard: Evidence from credit score cutoff rules. Journal of Monetary Economics 63: 1–18. [CrossRef]
- Calmès, Christian, and Raymond Théoret. 2010. The impact of off-balance-sheet activities on banks returns: An application of the ARCH-M to Canadian data. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 34: 1719–28.

- Calomiris, Charles W., and Joseph R. Mason. 2004. Credit card securitization and regulatory arbitrage. *Journal of Financial Services Research* 26: 5–27. [CrossRef]
- Cardone-Riportella, Clara, Reyes Samaniego-Medina, and Antonio Trujillo-Ponce. 2010. What drives bank securitisation? The Spanish experience. Journal of Banking & Finance 34: 2639–51.
- Daniel, James, Jose M. Garrido, and Marina Moretti. 2016. Debt Equity Conversions and NPL Securitization in China: Some Initial Considerations. International Monetary Fund. Available online: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/TNM/Issues/2016/12/ 31/Debt-Equity-Conversions-and-NPL-Securitization-in-China-Some-Initial-Considerations-43876 (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- DBS. 2018. China Banking Sector. Available online: https://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:_ln1Y9lfUrAJ:https: //www.dbs.com.sg/sme/aics/pdfController.page%3Fpdfpath%3D/content/article/pdf/AIO/062018/180613_insights_ pumping_the_liquidity.pdf+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=uk (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Dell'Ariccia, Giovanni, Deniz Igan, and Luc U. C. Laeven. 2008. Credit Booms and Lending Standards: Evidence from the Subprime Mortgage Market. Available online: https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/001/2008/106/article-A001-en.xml (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Deloitte. 2018a. On Your Marks, Deloitte Deleveraging Asia 2018. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/ Deloitte/sg/Documents/financial-services/sea-fsi-deleveraging-asia-2018.pdf (accessed on 8 July 2018).
- Deloitte. 2018b. Review and Outlook of China Banking Industry 2018. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/cn/en/pages/ financial-services/articles/listed-chinese-banks-results-analysis-for-2018.html (accessed on 31 October 2021).

Diggle, Peter, Patrick Heagerty, Kung-Yee Liang, and Scott Zeger. 2002. Analysis of Longitudinal Data. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Dowd, Kevin. 2009. Moral hazard and the financial crisis. Cato Journal 29: 141.

- Drucker, Steven, and Manju Puri. 2009. On Loan Sales, Loan Contracting, and Lending Relationships. Available online: https: //www.researchgate.net/publication/227465267_On_Loan_Sales_Loan_Contracting_and_Lending_Relationships (accessed on 19 November 2021).
- Duffie, Darrell. 2008. Innovations in Credit Risk Transfer: Implications for Financial Stability. BIS Working Paper No. 255. Available online: https://www.bis.org/publ/work255.pdf (accessed on 1 July 2008).
- Farruggio, Christian, and André Uhde. 2015. Determinants of loan securitization in European banking. Journal of Banking & Finance 56: 12–27.
- Financial Stability Board. 2018. Basel III—Implementation. Available online: http://www.fsb.org/what-we-do/implementationmonitoring/monitoring-of-priority-areas/basel-iii/ (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Fitch. 2016. China's Debt-for-Equity Swap Face Implementation Risks. Available online: https://www.fitchratings.com/site/pr/1013 123 (accessed on 8 July 2018).
- Fitch. 2017. Data Reference from 'China's Toxic Debt Pile May be 10 Times Official Estimates': Fitch. Available online: https://www.cnbc.com/2016/09/23/chinas-toxic-debt-pile-may-be-10x-official-estimates-fitch.html (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Foreign and Commonwealth Office. 2017. Financial Services Special Report: Risks in China's Financial System. Available online: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/612595/Risks_ in_China_s_Financial_System.pdf (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Giddy, Ian. 1985. Regulation of off-balance sheet banking. Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco Proceedings 165–90. Available online: https://ideas.repec.org/a/fip/fedfpr/y1985p165-190.html (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Gorton, Gary. 2009. The subprime panic. European Financial Management 15: 10-46. [CrossRef]
- Greenbaum, Stuart I., and Anjan V. Thakor. 1987. Bank funding modes: Securitization versus deposits. Journal of Banking & Finance 11: 379–401.
- Grossman, Sanford J., and Oliver D. Hart. 1983. Implicit contracts under asymmetric information. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 123–56. [CrossRef]
- Higgins, Eric J., and Joseph R. Mason. 2004. What is the value of recourse to asset-backed securities? A clinical study of credit card banks. Journal of Banking & Finance 28: 875–99.
- Hogan Lovells. 2019. The Rising and Booming Chinese Securitization Market—A Comparison with the European Securitization Market. Available online: https://www.hoganlovells.com/~{}/media/hogan-lovells/pdf/debt-capital-markets-global-insights/2019-debt-capital-markets/2the-rising-and-booming-chinese-securitization-market-a-comparison-with-theeuropean-securitization-market.pdf?la=en (accessed on 21 July 2021).
- Holmström, Bengt. 1979. Moral hazard and observability. The Bell Journal of Economics, 74-91. [CrossRef]
- Huang, Kun, Qiuge Yao, and Chong Li. 2019. Impacts of Financial Market Shock on Bank Asset Allocation from the Perspective of Financial Characteristics of Banks. International Journal of Financial Studies 7: 29. [CrossRef]
- IMF. 2016. Resolving China's Corporate Debt Problem. Available online: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2016/wp16203 .pdf (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Keys, Benjamin J., Tanmoy Mukherjee, Amit Seru, and Vikrant Vig. 2008. Securitization and screening: Evidence from subprime mortgage backed securities. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 125: 307–62. [CrossRef]
- Kirabaeva, Koralai. 2010. Adverse Selection, Liquidity, and Market Breakdown. Working Paper/Document de travail 2010-32. Vancouver: Bank of Canada.
- Kirabaeva, Koralai. 2011. Adverse Selection and Financial Crises. Vancouver: Bank of Canada, pp. 11-19.

- Kothari, Vinod. 2002. Whole Business Securitization: Secured Lending Repackaged—A Comment on Hill. Duke Journal Comparative & International Law 12: 537.
- KPMG. 2017a. China's City Commercial Banks: Opportunity Knocks? Available online: http://www.kpmg.com.cn/en/virtual_ library/Financial_advisory_services/Chin_comm_bank/Opportunity_knocks.pdf (accessed on 1 June 2018).
- KPMG. 2017b. Mainland China Banking Survey. Available online: https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/cn/pdf/en/2017/0 8/2017-mainland-china-banking-survey.pdf (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Liang, Shaoze. 2015. Chinese Credit Asset Securitization: Development Status, Problems and Suggestions. International Business and Management 11: 75–80. Available online: http://www.cscanada.net/index.php/ibm/article/viewFile/8021/pdf (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Lockwood, Larry J., Ronald C. Rutherford, and Martin J. Herrera. 1996. Wealth effects of asset securitization. Journal of Banking & Finance 20: 151–64.
- Martin, Dan. 2016. Debt-For-Equity Swaps Lead to More Questions than Answers. Finch Rating. Available online: https://fitchratings. COM/understandingcreditratings (accessed on 8 July 2018).
- McMahon. 2009. China Banking Regulator Gets Tough on Capital Rules. The Wall Streethournal. Available online: https://www.wsj. com/articles/SB10001424052748703819904574553571535733270 (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Mhlanga, David. 2021. Financial inclusion in emerging economies: The application of machine learning and artificial intelligence in credit risk assessment. *International Journal of Financial Studies* 9: 39. [CrossRef]
- Mian, Atif, and Amir Sufi. 2009. The consequences of mortgage credit expansion: Evidence from the US mortgage default crisis. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 124: 1449–96. [CrossRef]
- Minton, Bernadette, Anthony Sanders, and Philip E. Strahan. 2004. Securitization by Banks and Finance Companies: Efficient Financial Contracting or Regulatory Arbitrage? No. 2004-25. Available online: https://ideas.repec.org/p/ecl/ohidic/2004-25.html (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Mirrlees, James A. 1999. The theory of moral hazard and unobservable behaviour: Part I. *The Review of Economic Studies* 66: 3–21. [CrossRef]
- Nasdaq. 2021. China's Regulator Asks Smaller Banks to Restrict Property Loan Growth. Available online: https://www.nasdaq.com/ articles/chinas-regulator-asks-smaller-banks-to-restrict-property-loan-growth-2021-06-01 (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Niinimaki, J.-P. 2012. Hidden loan losses, moral hazard and financial crises. Journal of Financial Stability 8: 1–14. [CrossRef]
- Nolet, Alessandro, and Camilla Wong. 2017. Debt for Equity Swaps, a solution to China's NPL Problems? Available online: https://www.clearygottlieb.com/-/media/organize-archive/cgsh/files/2017/publications/emrj-summer-2017-issue-4/ debt-for-equity-swaps--a-solution-to-chinas-npl-problems.pdf (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Pavel, Christine A. 1986. Securitization. Economic Perspectives 10: 16-31.
- Pavel, Christine A., and David Phillis. 1987. Why commercial banks sell loans: An empirical analysis. Economic Perspectives 11: 3–14.
- Petersen, Mitchell A. 2004. Information: Hard and Soft. Available online: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1 .196.5380&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed on 7 July 2020).
- Phua, Patrick. 2020. Structured Finance and Securitisation in China: Overview. Thomson Reuters. Available online: https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/1-501-1427?transitionType=Default&contextData=%28sc.Default%29 (accessed on 31 October 2021).
- Rothschild, Michael, and Joseph E. Stiglitz. 1976. Equilibrium in Competitive Insurance Markets: An Essay on the Economics of Imperfect Information. *The Quanerly Journal of Economics* 90: 629–49.
- Sindle, Guy, Lisa Hernandez, Prakash Santhana, Dzmitry Maroz, Val Srinivas, and Urval Goradia. 2017. Applying Blockchain in Securitization: Opportunities for Reinvention. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/ Documents/regulatory/us-sfig-report-applying-blockchain-in-securitization-opportunities-for-reinvention.pdf (accessed on 22 July 2021).
- Spence, M. 1978. Job market signaling. In Uncertainty in Economics. New York: Academic Press, pp. 281–306.
- State Council. 2015. China Approves Reforms to Three Policy Banks. Available online: http://english.gov.cn/policies/latest_releases/ 2015/04/12/content_281475087560462.htm (accessed on 1 June 2018).
- Stiglitz, J. E. 1989. Principal and agent. In Allocation, Information and Markets. London: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 241-53.
- Structured Finance Industry Group & Chamber of Digital Commerce. 2017. Can an Blockchain Reinvent the Securitization Industry? Available online: https://digitalchamber.org/assets/applying-blockchain-in-securitization-executive-summary.pdf (accessed on 22 July 2021).
- Tang, Ya, Daixi Chen, Jing Chen, and Jianguo Xu. 2017. The rise of China's securitization market. Financial Markets, Institutions & Instruments 26: 279–94.
- Turner, Grant, Nicholas Tan, and Dena Sadeghian. 2012. The Chinese Banking System. Sydney: Reserve Bank of Australia, September.
- Uzun, Hatice, and Elizabeth Webb. 2007. Securitization and risk: Empirical evidence on US banks. The Journal of Risk Finance 8: 11–23. [CrossRef]
- WSY. 2018. China Lowers Banks' Liquidity Requirement. Available online: https://www.wsj.com/articles/china-lowers-bankscapital-requirement-1520340796 (accessed on 7 July 2018).
- Xinghua. 2018. China Curbs Banks' Liquidity Risks with New Rule. Available online: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2018-05/ 25/c_137206243.htm (accessed on 7 July 2018).





Article Did Financial Consumers Benefit from the Digital Transformation? An Empirical Investigation

Soojin Park¹, Prida Erni Kesuma¹ and Man Cho^{2,*}

- ¹ KEPCO International Nuclear Graduate School (KINGS), 658-91 Haemaji-ro, Seosaeng-Myeon, Ulju-gun, Ulsan 45014, Korea; sugini1144@gmail.com (S.P.); prida.erni@gmail.com (P.E.K.)
- ² KDI School of Public Policy and Management, 263 Namsejong-ro, Sejong-si 30149, Korea
- * Correspondence: mancho@kdischool.ac.kr; Tel.: +82-10-5312-2990

Abstract: This study aimed to test, through empirical investigation, how the rapid advancement of digital transformation (DT) has impacted the price of financial services. To this end, we compiled a set of macro-level indicators on the aggregate outcomes of the financial services sector in Korea over the last three decades and conducted an analysis to gauge the effects of DT on the country using those indicators. Using the ARDL-ECM (autoregressive distributed lag error-correction model), we show that, over time, the unit cost of financial intermediation in Korea has tended to move in tandem with the growth in economic output, although the profit portion of the unit cost has not exhibited a long-term relationship with the GDP trend. The long-term effect of the DT trend is negative (i.e., cost-saving) for labor input, capital expenditure, and the total unit cost of financial intermediation, which are all shown to be statistically significant. Consequently, we conclude that DT contributed to enhancing consumer benefit, mainly by achieving the operational efficiency of labor and capital, from 1990 to 2019 in Korea. From a policy perspective, our finding implies that DT-driven innovation in the sector can benefit financial customers if excessive levels of profit are restrained through market competition.

Keywords: digital transformation; financial consumer protection; financial operational efficiency; error-correction model (ECM); financial consumer policies

1. Introduction

It is well established that there is generally an endogenous, or mutually reinforcing, relationship between financial development and economic growth (King and Levine 1993; Rajan and Zingales 1998; Manning 2003; Pagano and Pica 2012). Additionally, as in the case of many emerging-market countries, the financial sector in Korea has played a direct role in promoting socio-economic growth, as is evidenced by the various credit programs during the high-growth period of the 1970s to the 1990s. Meanwhile, starting in the 1980s, various financial liberalization measures were implemented, which were accelerated after the Asian financial crisis (AFC) in 1997–1999. As a consequence, the sector has grown substantially since the AFC in terms of both size and diversity.

However, whether growth in the financial sector in Korea has contributed to key macroeconomic outcomes in any meaningful fashion, such as in industrial productivity or income inequality, has rarely been examined.

Philippon (2015, 2016) reported that the financial services sector in the US has been overpriced since the early 1980s, as evidenced by its realized per-unit cost of providing the service continuously exceeding the projected optimal level. In addition, studies argue that the disruptive innovations in the sector introduced by digital transformation, often labeled as FinTech, can contribute to enhancing the operational efficiency of existing financial institutions.

At a global level, there have been two interrelated mega-trends during the last two decades that are making a profound impact on the financial services sector in most coun-

Citation: Park, Soojin, Prida Erni Kesuma, and Man Cho. 2021. Did Financial Consumers Benefit from the Digital Transformation? An Empirical Investigation. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 57. https:// doi.org/10.3390/iifs9040057

Academic Editors: Sabri Boubaker and Thanh Ngo

Received: 11 September 2021 Accepted: 6 October 2021 Published: 18 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). tries. First, there has been a rapid advancement of digital transformation (DT) in delivering various types of financial services, often referred to as FinTech (or financial technology), which encompasses areas such as P2P lending and crowdfunding, online payments, cryptocurrencies, robo-advisors, InsurTech, and RegTech¹. Second, there have been growing legal and regulatory efforts to protect consumers in the financial markets, as evidenced by such legislations as the *Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act* of 2010, as well as those "good" practices suggested by (G20/OECD/INFE 2017; Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 2019; The World Bank 2012; and Cho and Park 2021).

Given these ongoing trends, this study aims to tackle two particular research questions. First, what impact does this trend of digital transformation (DT) have on aggregate (or macro-level) outcomes of the financial services sector in Korea as a whole? Second, what implications can we draw from the findings of the macro-level analysis? More specifically, we would like to look at how the per-unit price of financial services has been changed, in a similar vein to the analysis performed by Philippon (2015), and to further investigate whether the DT trend has made any significant impact on price changes. This study focuses on the financial market of Korea during a period when both rapid DT and financial market deepening occurred. This study on Korea, where rapid DT and financial market deepening occurred during the observation period, may provide a different view of the labor efficiency of the financial industry from that of the US, which was investigated by Philippon (2015). More importantly, Korea's case may shed light on the impact of DT on the efficiency gains in the financial industry, which may provide policy implications for other emerging markets.

To this end, we compiled a set of indicators of the aggregate outcomes of the financial services sector in Korea during the last three decades and used the correlation estimate as a proxy for the country's DT trend. In so doing, the method put forth by Philippon (2015, 2016) was employed, which involved computing the unit cost of financial intermediation, i.e., an aggregate cost of providing the service during a given time period divided by the total monetary value of the financial service at the end of the period. We also attempted to contribute to the literature by breaking down the unit cost into its sub-components—labor cost, capital expenditure, and profit elements—and used those sub-categories in our empirical analysis. For the empirical analysis, we used the ARDL-ECM (autoregressive distributed lag error-correction model) to investigate the short- and long-term effects of digital transformation on three specific variables related to providing financial services: labor cost, capital expenditure, and total cost.

Our empirical results show that, over time, the unit cost of financial intermediation in Korea has tended to move in tandem with the growth in economic output, although the profit portion of the unit cost did not exhibit a long-term relationship with the GDP trend. Furthermore, the long-term effect of the DT trend is negative (i.e., cost-saving) for labor input, capital expenditure, and the total unit cost of financial intermediation, which is shown to be statistically significant. Consequently, we show that DT has contributed to an enhancement in consumer benefit, mainly by achieving the operational efficiency of labor and capital in Korea.

Through these findings, we aim to contribute to measuring the social cost of financial services and analyzing the impact of DT on the financial industry, which relates to financial consumer protection from an economic perspective. It could also provide a sound basis for establishing financial consumer policy and international comparisons.

The rest of the paper consists of the following sections: Financial Sector Development and Digitalization (Section 2), Valuing the Financial Services Sector in Korea (Section 3), Empirical Test and Results (Section 4), and Conclusions (Section 5).

2. Financial Sector Development and Digitalization

A well-functioning financial services sector is crucial, both in the micro sense of consumer welfare and in the macro sense of economic and social development (Odedokun

1996). There is generally an endogenous, or mutually reinforcing, relationship between financial market development and economic growth; that is, a positive association between the size of private credit and the GDP growth rate is fairly well established and is more pronounced in developing countries than in developed ones (King and Levine 1993; Rajan and Zingales 1998; Manning 2003; Pagano and Pica 2012). In addition, an inverse U-shaped relationship between economic growth and the ratio of private credit to GDP has also been documented, implying that the strengthening of the financial market can have a detrimental effect on growth after a certain threshold (e.g., 100% of the ratio of private credit to GDP as reported), possibly due to an overinvestment in a sector that is generally viewed as a less productive segment of the economy (Cecchetti and Kharroubi 2012; Arcand et al. 2012; Cournède and Denk 2015).

Since the recent financial crisis, there has been debate in the literature that the price of financial services has been too high vis à vis its direct input costs, and that the operational efficiency thereof should be substantially enhanced. In particular, Philippon (2015, 2016) estimated the unit cost of providing financial intermediation in the US and documented that the sector has been too expensive since the early 1980s, and that, as a remedy for the efficiency gain, the disruptive innovations introduced by the FinTech industry can contribute to restoring the efficiency of the sector by posing heightened competition and contestability to existing financial institutions. As a related point, there has also been argument for more innovative and specialized business models in the financial services sector, including a "narrow banking" model, for which FinTech is viewed as a potential driver (Pennachi 2012; Chamley et al. 2012; Cochrane 2014). In this study, we examine the price dimension of financial intermediation, i.e., whether or not service providers (financial consumers) have increased service charges (pay) too much (following the same inquiry posed by Philippon 2015), which is a macro-level financial consumer issue.

From an emerging-market perspective, the financial services sector in Korea has strengthened as aggregate economic output has grown since the 1960s. To illustrate this, the three key service sectors for financial consumers—banking, insurance, and investment—have all exhibited steady growth along with the growth² in GDP. However, the growth in the financial services sector after the AFC, in terms of both size and diversity, has not contributed to macroeconomic outcomes, such as increasing industrial productivity or narrowing societal income and wealth inequality (Cho et al. 2017).

Another relevant trend in Korea to note is digital transformation (DT). Unlike in the US and several other advanced economies, where information and communications technology (ICT)-driven innovations in the financial sector started in the 1990s and have been showing a continuous pattern ever since, FinTech and other innovative financial services in Korea are more recent and discrete with an abrupt and rapidly increasing pattern. However, this DT-driven financial innovation appears to be similar between Korea and other countries.

In particular, Cho (2021) summarizes four main social outcomes from tech-based financial intermediation. First, thanks to much cheaper, faster, and more convenient intermediation based on the internet or mobile platforms, FinTech service providers have greatly enhanced the efficiency of financial intermediation (International Monetary Fund (IMF) 2017; Buchak et al. 2017; Fuster et al. 2018; Frost et al. 2019; Jagtiani and Lemieux 2019; Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 2019). Second, FinTech can also lead to over-leverage for some consumer segments (Chava and Paradkar 2018; DiMaggio and Yao 2018). Third, regarding financial inclusion, FinTech service providers tend to serve those borrowers with low credit scores or thin filers (i.e., those consumers with no or low records of financial transactions) more often, and their lending activities penetrate those areas with fewer bank branches per capita, as well as those where the local economy is not performing well (Jagtiani and Lemieux 2019; De Roure et al. 2021). Fourth, FinTech service providers are shown to be reducing the effect of information asymmetry between borrower and lender by collecting and utilizing various types of soft data for ex ante credit evaluation for financial consumers (Lin et al. 2013; Iyer et al. 2016; Puri

et al. 2017; Hildebrand et al. 2017; Freedman and Jin 2017; Berg et al. 2018). Lastly, those BigTech-affiliated financial service providers can contribute to the macroeconomy in two main ways: by imposing competition and contestability on existing financial institutions and by increasing the factor productivity of the firms within a BigTech-driven innovation ecosystem (Citi Global Perspectives and Solutions 2018; Frost et al. 2019). In addition, a number of recent studies have documented the effects of the FinTech services sector on various micro-aspects of the financial services sectors, e.g., on the financial behavior of individual investors in the COVID-19 era (Priem 2021), on collaborative consumption behavior in the technology-driven sharing economy (Graessley et al. 2019), on green financial behavior and the transition to a low-carbon economy (Ionescu 2020b, 2021a, 2021b), and on data aggregation and the provision of FinTech infrastructure (Ionescu 2020a).

In an aggregate sense, digital technologies can have both positive and negative effects on efficiency in the finance sector through various channels. For example, Le et al. (2021) showed that the expansion of FinTech credit may serve as a wake-up call to the banking system and thus make a positive impact, even though FinTech credit tends to be more developed in countries with less efficient banking systems.

As an initial observation, the DT-driven financial innovations in Korea appear to be making an impact on the existing financial institutions already. As shown in Figures 1 and 2, the extent of digital transformation in the banking sector is increasing in Korea: bank branches and ATM per capita are declining, while mobile and internet accounts are increasing.

Figure 1 shows that the number of physical bank branches declined from 1.82 per million adults in 2011 to 1.55 per million adults in 2017. It also shows that the number of ATM machines decreased from 28.8 per million adults in 2012 to 27.2 per million adults in 2016. Conversely, mobile and internet banking accounts soared from 20,463 per million adults to 28,251 per million adults in 2015. The two figures demonstrate a clear trend of digital transformation in the finance sector.



Figure 1. Number of bank branches and ATMs, Korea (2011–2017). Source: (The World Bank 2019).



Figure 2. Number of online banking accounts (per 100,000 adults), Korea (2001–2015). Note: The number is counted based on registered accounts. One person may have multiple accounts that are each counted separately. Source: (Bank of Korea 2021).

3. Valuing the Financial Services Sector in Korea

3.1. Cost of Financial Intermediation

Financial consumers pay the user cost of finance for financial services. The total user cost comprises the return to saver and the cost of financial intermediation (Philippon 2015). The return to saver is the capital cost of the financial services industry and the cost of financial intermediation, which is a net value add of the financial industry. Conceptually, the cost of financial intermediation is a net cost that a society pays for consuming financial services. The cost of financial intermediation is distributed as a wage, capital expenditures ("Capex" hereafter), and profit. Thus, from the input perspective, the net value add of the financial industry ("*VAF*" hereafter) is composed of the four components below:

$$VAF = L + K + Y + T,$$
(1)

where L = labor cost, K = operating Capex, Y = profit, and T = tax, and the "operating capital expenditures (K)" does not include a return to saver (capital cost for intermediation).

We established *VAF* data from 1990 to 2019 based on the National Accounts produced by the Bank of Korea (BOK). All monetary values were converted into 2015 prices by the producer price index.

3.2. Intermediated Asset and Unit Cost of Intermediation

The quantity of financial services was measured by the year-end stock of intermediated assets in the financial industry. We included the total credit created by the financial industry and the stock market cap. The total amount of created credit was measured by total liquidity (L) minus M1 monetary supply, as below:

$$Intermediated \ Asset = (L - M_1) + S, \tag{2}$$

where *L* = total liquidity, $M_1 = M_1$ money supply, and *S* = stock market cap.

Intermediated assets have increased faster than GDP growth, reaching 3.52 times the GDP in 2019 from 1.31 times in 1990. As a trend to illustrate this, Figure 3 shows the total value of financial intermediation, which is the size of total intermediated assets as a multiple of GDP.



Figure 3. Intermediated asset over GDP. Source: (Bank of Korea 2020; The World Bank 2021).

Finally, we established the unit cost of intermediated asset data from 1990 to 2019 by dividing the *VAF* by the intermediated asset. The unit cost of intermediated asset (*UCIA*) is the consumer cost of using one unit of intermediated asset:

$$Unit \ Cost \ of \ Intermediated \ Asset \ (UCIA) = \frac{VAF}{Intermediated \ Asset}$$
(3)

The UCIA decreased from 3.38% in 1990 to 1.76% in 2019. We broke down the portion of UCIA into labor cost (L), Capex (K), and profit (Y) as illustrated in Figure 4. The labor cost per intermediated asset continuously decreased, whereas the profit per intermediated asset stayed around 0.976% on average. It was found that the decrease in financial services cost, measured by UCIA, was mainly due to a decrease in the unit cost of labor per intermediated asset from 1990 to 2019. In contrast, the profit per intermediated asset was comparatively stable, even with a downward shift after 2011. From the analysis of Philippon (2015), the ratio of intermediated asset over GDP in the US was around 2.9–4.1 after 1990, which is higher than that of Korea (1.31–3.52 times). Yet, the UCIA in the US was around 1.8–2.2% after 1990, which is slightly lower than that of Korea (1.76–3.38%). Furthermore, it tends to decline from 1990 onwards, a trend which is similar in both economies.

We further checked the number of employees in the financial industry from 1990 to 2018. No trend exists, but there is a shape of periodical fluctuation. We observed that the wage, *VAF*, and profit per employee continuously increased. In particular, the intermediated asset per employee significantly increased from 1.07 billion in 1990 to 8.63 billion in 2018. These results are consistent with the continuous decrease in labor cost per intermediated asset as discussed above. Thus, we found that the savings in the *UCIA* were mainly caused by the operational efficiency of labor. Additionally, the unit cost of operating Capex per *UCIA* decreased, even though the portion is small. We will test whether the operational efficiency gains of these two factors are caused by digital transformation in the finance sector in Korea.



Figure 4. Unit cost per intermediated asset by components. Source: Author compilation quoted in (Bank of Korea 2020; Korea Statistics Information System (KSIS) 2021).

3.3. Digital Transformation in Finance Sector

We collected the data related to digital transformation in the finance sector from internet and mobile bank accounts, the number of which have increased rapidly since the early 2000s. During this process, we were confronted with the problem that the data have not existed for a long enough period to study. Therefore, we selected a percentage of internet users as a variable proxy for internet and mobile bank accounts to explain the degree of digital transformation in the finance industry, as there is a high degree of correlation: the correlation between internet users and the number of internet bank accounts is 0.8837, and the correlation between internet users and the number of mobile bank accounts is 0.8911.

3.4. Digital Transformation and Unit Cost of Intermediation

Before the empirical investigation, we visualized the trends in digital transformation, measured by the percentage of internet users, and compared them with the *UCIA*. The *UCIA* decreased rapidly from 2000 to 2005, during which period the percentage of internet users increased greatly, as can be observed from the graphs in Figure 5.

Figure 5 illustrates that the percentage of internet users rose sharply from 1999 and then stabilized from 2005. This trend is highly correlated with Figure 2, except for the difference in timing. It makes sense that the supply of the internet in Figure 5 precedes the distribution of internet and mobile banking in Figure 2. The *UCIA* rose once in 2000 and continued to decrease from 3.64% to 1.76% until 2018.

In the next section, we will test whether digital transformation caused the operational efficiency of the financial industry, either in labor or capital. If it is proved that an efficiency gain was achieved through digital transformation, we will further investigate whether the operational efficiency gain was delivered to financial customers. This will mean that the efficiency gain was not exclusively enjoyed by stakeholders as a form of profit.



Figure 5. Impact of digital transformation and unit cost for intermediation. Source: Author compilation quoted in (Bank of Korea 2020; Korea Statistics Information System (KSIS) 2021).

4. Empirical Test and Result

4.1. Testing Methodology

We found a non-stationary distribution issue, which may cause spurious regression, when we performed the augmented Dickey–Fuller test. Therefore, we decided to use an ARDL (autoregressive distributed lag)-based error-correction model (ECM). The ECM is useful, as it includes an error-correction term, thus allowing non-stationary variables (Engle and Granger 1987; Hassler and Wolters 2006).

For the purpose of applying the ARDL-ECM, we tested the existence of a long-run cointegration relationship based on the "bounds test" (Pesaran et al. 2001): the OLS (Ordinary Least Squares) estimators of short-run parameters are asymptotically normal, and the corresponding estimators are consistent if the regressors are I (1) processes and asymptotically normally distributed, regardless of the order of integrations. Pesaran et al. (2001) suggested asymptotic critical values of band from all regressors being purely I (0) to all regressors being purely I (1). Later, Narayan (2005) studied the corresponding critical values for various sample sizes, including small samples. We selected three variables (*UCIA*, labor cost per intermediated asset, and Capex per intermediated asset) that showed long-term cointegration with digital transformation in the financial industry, which was measured by a proxy variable of the percentage of internet users. In addition, the optimal lags of the variables were determined based on the AIC (Akaike information criterion).

We used the ARDL-ECM (autoregressive distributed lag error-correction model) to investigate the short- and long-term impact of digital transformation on (Model 1) labor costs for financial services, (Model 2) capital expenditure for financial services, and (Model 3) costs for financial services (Pesaran and Shin 1999).

$$\Delta y_t = C - (1 - \theta)(y_{t-1} - \alpha - \beta x_{t-1}) + \sum_{m=1}^p \gamma_m \Delta y_{t-m} + \sum_{n=0}^q \delta_{n+1} \Delta x_{t-n} + v_t, \quad (4)$$

where adjustment = $-(1 - \theta)$; long-term relationship = β ; short-term relationship = δ_{n+1} ; and $0 < \theta < 1$.

After the modeling, we performed the Durbin–Watson and Breusch–Godfrey tests to check the serial correlation. We also utilized the White test to check for heteroskedasticity issues. The above three models were selected from a number of trials to meet the assessment criteria. Finally, we checked the stability of our models based on the cumulative sum of squares (CUSUMQ) in residuals (Brown et al. 1975; Stamatiou and Dritsakis 2014).

4.2. Data and Statistics

The Table 1 represents a summary of the variables used for the empirical test.

Name of Variables	Mean	Description	Unit
VAF	Value add in finance industry	Value add of financial industry * selected from national accounts of Korea	billion Korea Won
Labor	Labor cost	Labor cost among VAF, selected from national accounts of Korea	billion Korea Won
Profit	Profit	Profit among VAF, selected from national accounts of Korea	billion Korea Won
Capex	Capital expenditure	Capital expenditure among VAF, selected from national accounts of Korea	billion Korea Won
Tax	Tax	Tax among VAF, selected from national accounts of Korea	billion Korea Won
GDP_growth	GDP growth rate	GDP growth rate in Korea (year to year)	percent
Empl	Number of employees	Thousand number of employees in financial industry of Korea	thousand people
Wage	Total wage of financial industry	Total sum of wages in financial industry of Korea	billion Korea Won
Intermedi	Intermediated asset of financial industry	Scale of financial services, measured by the liquidity aggregate (L) minus monetary base (M0) plus market cap of stock in Korea	billion Korea Won
Internet	Number of internet banking users	Thousand people of internet banking users in Korea	thousand people
Mobile	Number of mobile banking users	Thousand people of mobile phone banking users in Korea	thousand people
user_internet	Percentage of internet users	Percentage of internet users in Korea	percent

Table 1. Variable descriptions.

(*) Financial industry includes banks, stocks, insurance, and other financial services companies. Note: all monetary values are converted into 2015 value, based on the producer's price index of Korea.

The Table 2 shows the basic statistics of our data. We used interpolation for the missing years.

Table 2. Basic statistics.

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
cost_intermedi	29	2.6810	0.7122	1.61	3.64
labor_intermedi	29	1.4041	0.6773	0.64	2.34
capex_intermedi	29	0.1596	0.0470	0.08	0.24
user_internet	30	54.0933	38.1594	0.00	96.20
gdp_grow	30	5.1833	3.4747	-5.10	11.50
internetb	15	52,792.93	31,511.59	10,918	109,760
wage_empl	29	42.3806	10.6291	23.53	59.53

Note: cost_intermedi = consumer cost per unit of intermediated asset (*VAF*/Intermedi); labor_intermedi = labor cost per unit of intermediated asset (Labor/Intermedi); capex_intermedi = capital expenditure per unit of intermediated asset (capex/Intermedi); user_internet = percentage of internet users; gdp_grow = growth rate of GDP; intermetb = number of internet banking users; wage_empl = average wage per employee in financial industry.

4.3. Test Result

First, we performed the DF-GLS (Dickey-Fuller with Generalized Least Squares method) unit root test with the four main variables: percentage of internet users (user_internet),

labor cost per intermediated asset (labor_intermedi), capital expenditure per intermediated asset (capex_intermedi), and UCIA (cost_intermedi). As expected, we confirmed that all four variables are not stationary, as they are time-series data.

Second, we selected candidate variables and formulated ARDL (p, q) models by OLS to obtain the optimal lag orders p and q of Equation (4) based on the AIC model selection criteria. In addition, we performed a bounds test, where it was assumed that the model comprised both I (0) and I (1) variables, and two levels of critical values were obtained. The procedure was to test the joint significance of the lagged levels of the variables. The null hypothesis of no cointegration was rejected if the F-statistic was higher than the critical value of I (0) and I (1) regressors and the t-statistic was smaller than the critical value of I (0) and I (1) regressors. We selected three dependent variables that showed a long-term correlation with the degree of digital transformation³ (measured by "user_internet").

The selected variables, optimal lag orders, and bound test results for three models are summarized in Table 3.

Table 3. Lag order	s and result of bou	nds test for the selected	d dependent variables.

Ma 4-14	Dependent	Independent	Selected	Bounds Test		
widdel #	Variable	Variable	Lag Orders (p, q)	F-Test Result	t-Test Result	
1	labor_intermedi	user_internet	(2, 3)	6.507 **	-3.314 **	
2	capex_intermedi	user_internet	(2, 3)	6.233 **	-3.522 **	
3	cost_intermedi	user_internet	(1, 3)	10.050 ***	-4.444 ***	

Note: **, *** represent significance levels at 5%, and 1%, respectively.

Once the existence of long-term autocorrelation was checked, we estimated three ARDL-ECMs. The first model tested the effect of digital transformation (user_internet) on the labor efficiency gains (labor_intermedi). The test result is summarized in Table 4.

D.labor_Intermedi	Adjustment	Long Rup	Chart Bron
VARIABLES	Aujustillent	Long Kun	Short Kun
LD.labor_intermedi			0.614 ***
D.user_internet			(0.141) 0.0153 ***
LD.user_internet			(0.00354) -0.00787
L2D.user_internet			(0.00551) 0.0102 *
L.labor intermedi	-0.433 ***		(0.00507)

Table 4. Model 1-impact of digital transformation on labor cost efficiency gains.

(0.131)

26

0.747

Note 1. Standard errors in parentheses: *** p < 0.01, * p < 0.1. Note 2. D = first difference operator, L = lagged variable.

-0.0168 *** (0.000920)

26

0.747

0.933 ***

(0.296)

26

0.747

The error term $(-(1 - \theta))$ from Equation (4) determines how quickly the long-term equilibrium is restored, and the estimated result should exist between -1 and 0. As expected, the coefficient of error (adjustment) term was estimated at -0.433 and was statistically significant under the 99% confidence level. The coefficient of the long-term

user_internet

Constant

Observations

R-squared

relationship (β) from Equation (4) was estimated at –0.0168 under the 99% confidence level. We found that, if the percentage of internet users increases by 1%p, the labor cost per intermediated asset decreases by 0.0168%p, ceteris paribus. We conclude that digital transformation in the finance sector caused the operational efficiency of labor, resulting in savings of labor cost per intermediated asset from a long-term perspective in Korea.

The second model tested the effect of digital transformation (user_internet) on the operational capital cost efficiency gains (capex_intermedi). The test result is summarized in Table 5.

D.capex_Intermedi	Adjustment	Long Run	Short Run	
VARIABLES	Aujustinent	Long Kun		
LD.capex_intermedi			0.538 ***	
			(0.159)	
D.user_internet			0.00203 ***	
			(0.000702)	
LD.user_internet			-0.000755	
			(0.000826)	
L2D.user_internet			0.00163 *	
· · · ·	0.450 444		(0.000805)	
L.capex_intermedi	-0.450 ***			
	(0.128)	0 0000EE ***		
user_internet		-0.000955 ***		
Constant		(0.000132)	0.0852 ***	
Constant			(0.0242)	
			(0.0242)	
Observations	26	26	26	
R-squared	0.634	0.634	0.634	

Table 5. Model 2-impact of digital transformation on operational capital cost efficiency gains.

Note 1. Standard errors in parentheses: *** p < 0.01, * p < 0.1. Note 2. D = first difference operator, L = lagged variable.

The coefficient of adjustment (error) term was estimated at -0.450 and was statistically significant under the 99% confidence level. The coefficient of the long-term relationship (β) from Equation (4) was estimated at -0.000955 under the 99% confidence level. The test results showed that if the percentage of internet users increases by 1%p, the operational capital expense per intermediated asset decreases by 0.000955%p, ceteris paribus. We conclude that digital transformation in the finance sector also enhanced the operational efficiency of capital and resulted in savings in operational capital cost per intermediated asset from a long-term perspective in Korea.

The third model tested the effect of digital transformation (user_internet) on the UCIA (cost_intermedi). The test result is summarized in Table 6. The UCIA is the sum of unit cost of labor, operational capex, and profit per intermediated asset. Furthermore, it measures the consumer cost paid for financial services. We performed this test separately from the above two to check whether the operational efficiency gains achieved from digital transformation was ultimately delivered to consumers as a reduced service cost.

D.cost_Intermedi	Adjustment	Long Dun	Short Run	
VARIABLES	Aujustment	Long Kun		
D.user_internet			0.0246 ***	
			(0.00616)	
LD.user_internet			-0.00157	
			(0.00797)	
L2D.user_internet			0.0168 **	
			(0.00744)	
L.cost_intermedi	-0.498 ***			
	(0.112)			
user_internet		-0.0180 ***		
-		(0.00131)		
Constant			1.643 ***	
			(0.383)	
Observations	26	26	26	
R-squared	0.624	0.624	0.624	

Table 6. Model 3-impact of digital transformation on financial services cost.

Note 1. Standard errors in parentheses: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05. Note 2. D = first difference operator, L = lagged variable.

The coefficient of error adjustment term was estimated at -0.498 and was statistically significant under the 99% confidence level. The coefficient of the long-term relationship (β) from Equation (4) was estimated at -0.018 under the 99% confidence level. The test results showed that if the percentage of internet users increases by 1%p, the unit cost of intermediated asset decreases by 0.018%p, ceteris paribus. We conclude that digital transformation in the finance sector ultimately resulted in a decrease in the unit cost of financial services per intermediated asset from a long-term perspective in Korea. From Equations (1) and (3), the *UCIA* can be rephrased as below:

$$UCIA = \frac{L}{Intermediated\ Asset} + \frac{K}{Intermediated\ Asset} + \frac{P+T}{Intermediated\ Asset}$$
(5)

From the above two test results, the long-term cost efficiency gains of labor $(\frac{L}{Intermediated Asset})$ was measured as 0.0168%p, and that of capital expenditure $(\frac{L}{Intermediated Asset})$ was measured as 0.000955%p. The sum of these two estimations equals 0.01775%p, which is close to the third test result of 0.018%p. With Equation (5) and the three test results, we conclude that the operational efficiency gains in both labor and operational assets, achieved from digital transformation, are ultimately delivered to consumers as a reduced service cost in Korea. Another important consideration is the role of profit per intermediated asset. The above result was partly due to the comparatively stable level of profit per intermediated asset, which shared 0.000245%p of a comparatively small portion of efficiency gains.

The long-term impact on financial services is estimated at a 0.018%p decrease, which is similar to the sum of savings in labor cost and capital expenditure. The costs for financial services comprises labor cost, capital expenditure, profit, and tax. It is estimated that digital transformation saved 0.0169%p of labor costs and 0.000955%p of capital expenditure, measured as a ratio to unit cost for intermediation. The cost for financial services also follows the trend of GDP growth in Korea. However, we found that financial industry profits, measured as financial mediation, did not have a long-term relationship with digital transformation.

In summary, our empirical results show: over time, the unit cost for financial services moves in tandem with the trend in GDP growth in Korea, although the profit portion of the cost did not have a long-term relationship with the DT trend; the DT trend saves 0.0168%p of labor costs, and 0.000955%p of capital expenditure, measured as a ratio to unit cost for

intermediation; and the long-term impact of the DT trend on total service cost is estimated to be a 0.018%p decrease, which is similar to the sum of savings in labor cost and capital expenditures.

4.4. Robustness Check

We checked the existence of a serial correlation issue through the Durbin–Watson and Breusch–Godfrey tests with three models. We also performed the White test to check for heteroskedasticity issues. The results suggest that three models do not have serial autocorrelation or heteroskedasticity issues, as summarized in Table 7.

Tests _	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
	Test Value	Decision	Test Value	Decision	Test Value	Decision
Durbin–Watson (d-statistic)	1.9073	No autocorrelation	1.997	No autocorrelation	1.8520	No autocorrelation
Breusch–Godfrey LM test (Prob > chi2)	0.9072	No serial correlation	0.7529	No serial correlation	0.3095	No serial correlation
White test (Prob > chi2)	0.4076	No heteroskedasticity	0.4070	No heteroskedasticity	0.6799	No heteroskedasticity

Table 7. Diagnostic test results.

Lastly, once the three ARDL-ECMs were determined, the cumulative sum of squares (CUSUMQ) in recursive residuals was plotted to assess the parameter stability (Brown et al. 1975; Stamatiou and Dritsakis 2014). As can be seen from the Figures 6–8, the graphs of statistical CUSUMQ are within the critical values at the 5% significance level, which means that all the coefficients in the three models are stable. All three models proved to be stable within 5% of the upper and lower bounds. The results are illustrated as follows.



Figure 6. CUSUMQ for Model 1.



Figure 7. CUSUMQ for Model 2.



Figure 8. CUSUMQ for Model 3.

4.5. Discussion and Policy Implication

It was observed that in Korea, from the late 1990s to 2000s, the saved operating cost per unit of financial intermediation, achieved through digital transformation (DT), was used for a reduction in consumer fees rather than increasing the industry's profit or wage per intermediated asset. We conclude that digital transformation (DT) in the nation has contributed to a decreased financial services cost and has resulted in improved consumer benefit.

In fact, the total number of employees in the Korean financial industry fluctuated during our analysis window, and the wage per employee constantly increased. On the other hand, the amount of intermediated asset served by one employee increased far more quickly than the increase in salary per person, resulting in a decrease in labor cost per intermediated asset, which is measured by *UCIA*.

This result is surprising, as Philippon (2015, 2016) maintained that the wage level in this industry in the US is much higher than in other industries and the gap is widening. The *UCIA* in Korea (3.38%) was higher than in the US (2.2%) in 1990, but it decreased dramatically to 1.75%, which is close to that of US in 2015 (approximately 1.8%). Our study shows that, while the recent literature documents a high and rising cost of financial intermediation in the US and in other countries, the consumer cost per financial intermediation has constantly improved over time in Korea.

From a financial policy perspective, our study may provide a possible direction for where the efficiency gains from innovative DT could be used to reduce the customer cost while constantly increasing the labor wage per person in the finance sector. However, it can only be achieved when the excessive level of profit is constrained, either by market competition or through intervention from the authorities. In addition, financial authorities may leverage the ongoing trend of digital transformation (DT) as a driver of efficiency gain in the financial services sector as a whole, which could be promoted via various means of incentives to the service providers.

5. Conclusions

This study aimed to empirically investigate the interrelationship between digital transformation in the financial services sector and financial consumer benefit by utilizing a set of aggregate outcomes indicators of the financial services sector in Korea. The main findings are that, over time, the unit cost for financial intermediation in Korea has tended to move in tandem with the growth in economic output, although the profit portion of the cost has not exhibited a long-term relationship with the GDP trend. Furthermore, the long-term effect of the DT trend is negative (i.e., cost-saving) for labor input and capital expenditure, which are shown to be statistically significant, and, as a consequence, its impact on the total intermediation cost is also positive and statistically significant.

The main implication of our empirical findings is that, while the recent literature documents a high and rising cost of financial intermediation in the US and in other countries, the financial services sector in Korea is seemingly different from those countries, in that we did not find evidence that the cost of intermediation in the country is excessive in comparison with those countries, as well as over time within the country.

In addition, the ongoing trend of digital transformation appears to be working as a driver of efficiency gain in the financial services sector as a whole. From a financial consumer perspective, these outcomes should be viewed as positive as the price of the service is not overly expensive, and the data and ICT-driven innovations in the sector are also working in their favor. From a policy perspective, our findings imply that DT-driven innovation in the sector can work in the customer's favor if the excessive level of profit is restrained through market competition.

As to future research topics, we note several issues to be tackled going forward. First, the more specific welfare implications of DT, as discussed in Section 2, could be theoretically and empirically examined, e.g., intermediation efficiency via internet- or mobile platformbased services, the financial inclusion effects across consumer segments or geographical areas, and the BigTech-driven innovation effects along with the appropriate regulatory regimes for them. Second, the interplay between digital technologies and specific financial products, and their welfare implications, could be further analyzed. For example, a change in the shares of certain financial products may have affected the change in UCIA in Korea during our test period, along with the efficiency gains through digital transformation. In particular, the rapid growth in the residential mortgage lending sector, which is based on standardized lending products, may have enhanced operational efficiency, and could be specifically examined in future research. Third, the length of the time series data in our research was short, and a similar empirical investigation with more extended time series data could also be performed, for Korea as well as for other countries. International comparative studies in that vein would also contribute to the compilation of a set of meaningful KPIs (Key Performance Indicators) for assessing the progress of DT in those countries.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, S.P. and M.C.; data curation, S.P.; formal analysis, S.P. and P.E.K.; funding acquisition, P.E.K.; investigation, M.C.; methodology, M.C.; resources, M.C.; software, S.P.; supervision, S.P.; validation, M.C.; writing—original draft, P.E.K.; writing—review and editing, S.P. and M.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the 2021 Research Fund of the KEPCO International Nuclear Graduate School (KINGS), Republic of Korea.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Notes

- ¹ See Cho (2021) for a survey on the social effects of the FinTech sector.
- ² The size of household lending as a % of GDP has grown from 3.6% in 1975 to 99.1% in 2018; the size of insurance and pensions together has increased from 1.3% to 78.2% during the same period; and the total capitalization in the stock market has risen from 100% in 1997 to 1400% in 2018.
- ³ We selected the percentage of internet users as a proxy measure for the number of internet banking users and the number of mobile phone banking users as the latter two variables provide too short a period for analysis. The correlation measured between the percentage of internet users and the number of internet banking users is 0.883, and that between the percentage of internet users and the number of solution internet banking users is 0.891.

References

Arcand, Jean Louis, Enrico Berkes, and Ugo Panizza. 2012. Too Much Finance? IMF Working Paper 12/161. Washington, DC: IMF.

- Bank of Korea. 2020. National Account. Available online: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=301&tblId=DT_111Y003 &conn_path=13 (accessed on 27 December 2020).
- Bank of Korea. 2021. Economic Statistics System. Available online: https://ecos.bok.or.kr/flex/EasySearch.jsp (accessed on 1 February 2021).
- Berg, Tobias, Valentin Burg, Ana Gombović, and Manju Puri. 2018. On the Rise of FinTechs—Credit Scoring using Digital Footprints. The Review of Financial Studies 33: 2845–97. [CrossRef]
- Brown, Robert L., James Durbin, and James M. Evans. 1975. Techniques for testing the constancy of regression relationships over time (with discussion). Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B 37: 149–92.
- Buchak, Greg, Gregor Matvos, Tomasz Piskorski, and Amit Seru. 2017. Fintech, Regulatory Arbitrage, and the Rise of Shadow Banks (NBER Working Paper 23288). Journal of Financial Economics 130: 453–83. [CrossRef]
- Cecchetti, Stephen, and Enisse Kharroubi. 2012. Reassessing the Impact of Finance on Growth. BIS WP 381. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.
- Chamley, Christophe, Laurence J. Kotlikoff, and Herakles Polemarchakis. 2012. Limited-purpose banking-moving from "trust me" to "show me" banking. American Economic Review 102: 113–19. [CrossRef]
- Chava, Sudheer, and Nikhil Paradkar. 2018. Winners and Losers of Marketplace Lending: Evidence from Borrower Credit Dynamics. Georgia Tech Working Paper 18-16. Atlanta: Georgia Institute of Technology.
- Cho, Man. 2021. FinTech Megatrends: An Assessment of Their Industrial and Welfare Implications. International Review of Financial Consumers 6: 1.
- Cho, Man, and Soojin Park. 2021. Financial Consumer Protection in the Era of Digital Transformation: A Critical Survey of Literature and Policy Practices. KDI School of Pub Policy & Management Paper No. DP21-04. March 20. Available online: https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3914573 (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Cho, Man, Seung Dong You, and Young Man Lee. 2017. Financial Consumer Protection in the Household Lending Sector: An Assessment of the Korean Experience. The International Review of Financial Consumers 2: 15–23. [CrossRef]
- Citi Global Perspectives and Solutions. 2018. BANK OF THE FUTURE: The ABCs of Digital Disruption in Finance. March. Available online: http://www.smallake.kr/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/AHDX6.pdf (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Cochrane, John H. 2014. Toward a run-free financial system. In Across the Great Divide: New Perspectives on the Financial Crisis. Edited by Martin Neil Baily and John B. Taylor. Stanford: Hoover Press.
- Cournède, Boris, and Oliver Denk. 2015. Finance and Economic Growth in OECD and G20 Countries. OECD Economics Department Working Papers No. 1223. ECO/WKP(2015)41. Paris: OECD.
- De Roure, Calebe, Loriana Pelizzon, and Anjan V. Thakor. 2021. P2P Lenders versus Banks: Cream Skimming or Bottom Fishing? SAFE Working Paper No. 206, Michael J. Brennan Irish Finance Working Paper Series. Research Paper No. 18-13. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3174632 (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- DiMaggio, Marco, and Vincent Yao. 2018. Fintech Borrowers: Lax-Screening or Cream Skimming? Available online: https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3224957 (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Engle, Robert F., and Clive W. J. Granger. 1987. Co-integration and error correction: Representation, estimation, and testing. *Econometrica* 55: 251–76. [CrossRef]

- Freedman, Seth, and Ginger Zhe Jin. 2017. The Information Value of Online Social Networks: Lessons from Peer-to-Peer Lending. International Journal of Industrial Organization 51: 185–222. [CrossRef]
- Frost, Jon, Leonardo Gambacorta, Yi Huang, Hyun Song Shin, and Pablo Zbindenn. 2019. BigTech and the Changing Structure of Financial Intermediation. BIS Working Papers No 779. Available online: https://www.bis.org/publ/work779.htm (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Fuster, Andreas, Matthew Plosser, Philipp Schnabl, and James Vickery. 2018. The Role of Technology in Mortgage Lending. NBER Working Paper 24500. Cambridge: NBER.

G20/OECD/INFE. 2017. G20/OECD INFE Report on Adult Financial Literacy in G20 Countries. Paris: OECD.

- Graessley, Scott, Jakub Horak, Maria Kovacova, Katarina Valaskova, and Milos Poliak. 2019. Consumer Attitudes and Behaviors in the Technology-Driven Sharing Economy: Motivations for Participating in Collaborative Consumption. *Journal of Self-Governance and Management Economics* 7: 25–30. [CrossRef]
- Hassler, Uwe, and Jürgen Wolters. 2006. Autoregressive distributed lag models and cointegration. *Allgemeines Statistisches Archiv* 90: 59–74. [CrossRef]
- Hildebrand, Thomas, Manju Puri, and Jörg Rocholl. 2017. Adverse Incentives in Crowdfunding. Management Science 63: 587–608. [CrossRef]
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2017. Fintech and Financial Services: Initial Considerations. Staff Discussion Notes No. SDNEA2017005. Washington, DC: IMF.
- Ionescu, Luminița. 2020a. Digital Data Aggregation, Analysis, and Infrastructures in FinTech Operations. Review of Contemporary Philosophy 19: 92–98. [CrossRef]
- Ionescu, Luminița. 2020b. The Economics of the Carbon Tax: Environmental Performance, Sustainable Energy, and Green Financial Behavior. Geopolitics, History, and International Relations 12: 101–7. [CrossRef]
- Ionescu, Luminiţa. 2021a. Transitioning to a Low-Carbon Economy: Green Financial Behavior, Climate Change Mitigation, and Environmental Energy Sustainability. Geopolitics, History, and International Relations 13: 86–96. [CrossRef]
- Ionescu, Luminița. 2021b. Leveraging Green Finance for Low-Carbon Energy, Sustainable Economic Development, and Climate Change Mitigation during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Review of Contemporary Philosophy* 20: 175–86. [CrossRef]
- Iyer, Rajkamal, Asim Ijaz Khwaja, Erzo F. P. Luttmer, and Kelly Shue. 2016. Screening Peers Softly: Inferring the Quality of Small Borrowers. Management Science 62: 1554–77. [CrossRef]
- Jagtiani, Julapa, and Catharine Lemieux. 2019. The Roles of Alternative Data and Machine Learning in Fintech Lending: Evidence from the LendingClub Consumer Platform (Philadelphia Fed Working Paper). Financial Management 48: 1009–29. [CrossRef]
- King, Robert G., and Ross Levine. 1993. Finance and Qrowth: Schumpeter Might be Right. Quarterly Journal of Economics 108: 713–37. [CrossRef]
- Korea Statistics Information System (KSIS). 2021. Available online: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=101&tblId=DT_ 2KAAA13&conn_path=I3 (accessed on 20 January 2021).
- Le, Tu D. Q., Tin H. Ho, Dat T. Nguyen, and Thanh Ngo. 2021. Fintech Credit and Bank Efficiency: International Evidence. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 44. [CrossRef]
- Lin, Mingfeng, Nagpurnanand R. Prabhala, and Siva Viswanathan. 2013. Judging Borrowers by the Company They Keep: Friendship Networks and Information Asymmetry in Online Peer-to-Peer Lending. *Management Science* 59: 17–35. [CrossRef]
- Manning, Mark J. 2003. Finance Causes Growth: Can We Be So Sure? The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics 3: 1-24. [CrossRef]
- Narayan, Paresh Kumar. 2005. The saving and investment nexus for China: Evidence from cointegration tests. *Applied Economics* 37: 1979–90. [CrossRef]
- Odedokun, Matthew O. 1996. Alternative econometric approaches for analysing the role of the financial sector in economic growth: Time-series evidence from LDCs. *Journal of Development Economics* 50: 119–46. [CrossRef]
- Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). 2019. The Digital Innovation Policy Landscape in 2019. OECD Science, Technology and Innovation Policy Papers, May 2019 No. 71. Available online: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/scienceand-technology/the-digital-innovation-policy-landscape-in-2019_6171f649-en (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Pagano, Marco, and Giovanni Pica. 2012. Finance and Employment. Economic Policy 27: 5-55. [CrossRef]
- Pennachi, George. 2012. Narrow banking. Annual Review of Financial Economics 4: 141–159. [CrossRef]
- Pesaran, M. Hashem, and Yongcheol Shin. 1999. An Autoregressive Distributed Lag Modelling Approach to Cointegration Analysis. In Econometrics and Economic Theory in the 20th Century: The Ragnar Frisch Centennial Symposium. Edited by Steinar Strøm. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem, Yongcheol Shin, and Richard J. Smith. 2001. Bounds testing approaches to the analysis of level relationships. Journal of Applied Econometrics 16: 289–326. [CrossRef]
- Philippon, Thomas. 2015. Has the us finance industry become less efficient? on the theory and measurement of financial intermediation. *The American Economic Review* 105: 1408–38. [CrossRef]
- Philippon, Thomas. 2016. The Fintech Opportunity. NBER Working Paper No. w22476. Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract= 2819862 (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Priem, Randy. 2021. An Exploratory Study on the Impact of the COVID-19 Confinement on the Financial Behavior of Individual Investors. *Economics, Management, and Financial Markets* 16: 9–40. [CrossRef]

Puri, Manju, Jörg Rocholl, and Sascha Steffen. 2017. What do a million observations have to say about loan defaults? Opening the black box of relationships. *Journal of Financial Intermediation* 31: 1–15. [CrossRef]

Rajan, Raghuram, and Luigi Zingales. 1998. Financial Dependence and Growth. American Economic Review 88: 559-86.

Stamatiou, Pavlos P., and Nikolaos Dritsakis. 2014. The impact of Foreign Direct Investment on the Unemployment Rate and Economic Growth in Greece: A Time Series Analysis. Paper presented at International Work-Conference on Time Series Analysis (ITISE), Granada, Spain, 25–27 September; vol. 1, pp. 97–108.

The World Bank. 2012. Good Practices for Financial Consumer Protection. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

- The World Bank. 2019. Last updated in 27 February 2019. The G20 Basic Set of Financial Inclusion Data Repository. Available online: https://databank.worldbank.org/reports.aspx?source=g20-basic-set-of-financial-inclusion-indicators (accessed on 1 March 2021).
- The World Bank. 2021. Global Partnership for Financial Inclusion. G20 Financial Inclusion Indicators | Home | The World Bank. Available online: https://datatopics.worldbank.org/g20fidata/ (accessed on 21 January 2021).



MDP

Article Fintech Credit and Bank Efficiency: International Evidence

Tu D. Q. Le^{1,2,*}, Tin H. Ho^{1,2}, Dat T. Nguyen^{2,3} and Thanh Ngo^{4,5}

- ¹ Institute for Development and Research in Banking Technology, University of Economics and Law, Ho Chi Minh City 700000, Vietnam; tinhh@uel.edu.vn
- ² Vietnam National University, Ho Chi Minh City 700000, Vietnam
- ³ School of Finance and Banking, University of Economics and Law, Ho Chi Minh City 700000, Vietnam; datnt20704@sdh.uel.edu.vn
- ⁴ School of Aviation, Massey University, Palmerston North 4442, New Zealand; t.ngo@massey.ac.nz
- ⁵ University of Economics and Business, Vietnam National University, Hanoi 10000, Vietnam
- * Correspondence: tuldq@uel.edu.vn

Abstract: The expansion of fintech credit around the world is challenging the global banking system. This study investigates the interrelationships between the development of fintech credit and the efficiency of banking systems in 80 countries from 2013 to 2017. The findings indicate a two-way relationship between them. More specifically, a negative relationship between bank efficiency and fintech credit implies that fintech credit is more developed in countries with less efficient banking systems. Meanwhile, a positive impact of fintech credit on the efficiency of banking systems suggests that fintech credit may serve as a wake-up call to the banking system. Therefore, fintech credit should be encouraged by the authorities around the world.

Keywords: fintech credit; banking efficiency; data envelopment analysis; structural equations model; GMM

JEL Classification: E51; G23; O31

1. Introduction

The literature documents that the financial sector is the backbone of any economy. Since the rapid development of financial technology, a new relationship between banks and capital markets has evolved. Capital markets and banks are viewed as competing sources of financing, since one sector develops at the expense of the other (Allen and Gale 1999), but these intermediaries can also be considered complementary to each other (Song and Thakor 2010). Recently, Ngo and Le (2019) demonstrated the existence of a two-way nexus between the capital market and the banking system. This study, therefore, revisits the causal relationship between the recent development of fintech credit platforms and the banking system.

The global credit markets have experienced an undergoing transformation in which new digital lending models (i.e., peer-to-peer (P2P)/marketplace lending and invoice trading) have grown in many countries. Following Claessens et al. (2018), fintech credit is defined as all types of credit facilitated for both consumers and businesses by online platforms rather than conventional banks or lending institutions. Fintech credit models were initially established based on decentralized platforms in which individual lenders or institutional investors select potential borrowers or projects to advance in a specific framework (Jagtiani and Lemieux 2019). The detailed description of big tech credit models is out of the scope of this study but was comprehensively discussed by Cornelli et al. (2020). Previous lessons emphasize that an excessive expansion of credit can trigger a financial crisis and severe recession in an economy (Aliber and Kindleberger 2015). Since the growth of fintech credit is very rapid and has become more economically relevant, there is an urgent need for an adequate assessment of this aspect.

Citation: Le, Tu D. Q., Tin H. Ho, Dat T. Nguyen, and Thanh Ngo. 2021. Fintech Credit and Bank Efficiency: International Evidence. *International Journal of Financial Studies* 9: 44. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs9030044

Academic Editor: Sabri Boubaker

Received: 22 July 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 17 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Several studies investigating the determinants of fintech credit have found that fintech credit is more developed in countries where banking intermediation and banking coverage are lower (Cornelli et al. 2020). A general conclusion is that fintech credit seems complementary rather than a substitute for the banking system (Claessens et al. 2018), and more especially promoting access to credit for underserved segments and financial inclusion (Oh and Rosenkranz 2020). However, Tang (2019) suggested that P2P lending platforms in the US serve as substitutes for bank lending regarding infra-marginal bank borrowers, while acting as complements in terms of small loans. This partly confirms the early findings of De Roure et al. (2016), who found that P2P lending substitutes the banking sector for high-risk consumer loans, and those of De Roure et al. (2018), who presented further evidence in favor of such bottom fishing. Furthermore, Yeo and Jun (2020) proved that bank stability is not affected by P2P lending, as these platforms operate in the low-credit segment.

Our study contributes to the literature in several ways. Empirical studies on fintech credit are scarce due to data unavailability. Prior studies commonly investigated the determinants of fintech credit development when controlling several aspects of banking regulation. Additionally, few theoretical and empirical works using proprietary P2P lending data have attempted to examine the impact of P2P lending on bank lending in several borrowers' segments. These studies, however, may provide an incomplete picture of the causal relationship between the development of fintech credit and banking systems. For instance, when the banking system is less efficient because of either implementing an inappropriate procedure to assess the credit quality of borrowers or underserving consumers in remote regions where there is limited bank access, this would encourage a shift towards online lending platforms. Meanwhile, fintech credit platforms could also reduce the issue of asymmetric information via their screening and evaluating practices, especially by offering investors more information about the risk of a potential loan and other characteristics of prospective borrowers. Consequently, this may reduce the necessity of the banking system. We also contend that the growth of fintech credit may serve as a wake-up call for the banking systems, as they may respond to the greater pressure caused by these platforms by enhancing their efficiency. The efficiency of the banking system is defined as its ability to produce the existing level of outputs with minimal inputs, i.e., input-oriented DEA efficiency (Coelli et al. 2005). This study is the first attempt to examine the interrelationships between fintech credit and bank efficiency using a two-stage framework in 80 countries from 2013 to 2017. In the first stage, banking efficiency scores are estimated by DEA with the use of financial ratios, as proposed by Ngo and Le (2019). Those efficiency scores are then linked with the growth of fintech credit, as measured by the natural logarithm of the volume of fintech credit per capita in the second stage using the Generalized Method of Moments estimator in a simultaneous equations model (SEM). This thus would help to shed light on the interrelationships between them so that some recommendations on fintech credit can be drawn.

In what follows, Section 2 provides a brief literature review regarding the interrelationships between fintech credit and bank efficiency. Section 3 presents the data and the methodology used in this study. Section 4 discusses the empirical findings while Section 5 concludes.

2. A Brief Literature Review

The literature can be divided into two strands. The first strand focuses on the relationship between the emergence of financial technology (fintech) firms and the banking system. Several studies argued that fintech competitors generating new business models with the use of big data may disrupt conventional banks, although banks are gradually adapting to digital finance (Vives 2017). One of the potential advantages of new competitors is to provide digital services that attract the younger generation, due to more convenience and better ease of use (Deloitte 2015). Therefore, the development of fintech credit was a potential threat to the banking system. However, in the case of high switching costs, a bank that faces difficulty in distinguishing old from new customers may act as a quiet fat cat, because it needs to secure the profitability derived from its huge client base. This thus may permit fintech firms to enter the market and serve unbanked people or/and technology-savvy customers. This may be true for the case of P2P lending platforms, where they utilize advanced technology based on a large amount of information from social media that may mitigate adverse selection and moral hazard issues. Therefore, the partnership between a new entrant and incumbent seems to be the most appropriate. Vives (2017) further emphasized that this strategy is more relevant to regulatory arbitrage, given that the regulation on fintech credit is less strict. On the other hand, banks may prefer barriers to new entrants. In the case of payment segments where fintech firms may rely on the payment infrastructure of the incumbents to provide complementary or differentiated services, these incumbents have more incentives to increase the costs of entrants.

Although empirical studies on the impact of fintech credit on the banking system are limited, they show mixed findings. Buchak et al. (2018) found that the most vulnerable are US rural commercial banks that gradually lost lending volumes to fintech credit, especially personal loans, and that tend to lend to riskier borrowers, while the lending volumes of urban commercial banks are not affected. In the same vein, P2P lending platforms may substitute bank lending volumes in terms of infra-marginal bank borrowers in the US (Tang 2019) or high-risk consumer loans in Germany (De Roure et al. 2016). However, others showed opposite findings. Tang (2019) also showed that P2P lending serves as a complementary for the banking system regarding small loans. The positive relationship between fintech and banking sector development may be because fintech firms focus on serving niche segments such as either low-cost services or unbanked people or high quality of services that could meet consumers' needs regarding accessibility, customization, and speed based on the analysis of a large amount of information on personal data (Navaretti et al. 2017). Therefore, the banking system may not be disrupted by the evolution of fintech credit (Siek and Sutanto 2019; Yeo and Jun 2020). A recent study by Sheng (2021) even demonstrated that fintech can enhance the overall supply of bank credit to small and medium enterprises but this impact varies between small and large banks.

In the second strand, the impact of the banking system on fintech credit is focused on. Given the presence of fintech credit in the marketplace, incumbent banks may respond to it in several ways, such as cooperating with new entrants, acquiring them partially or completely, or competing with them directly. These strategies depend on whether an investment would make a firm more competitive or more vulnerable in the competitive market. A conceptual framework of Bömer and Maxin (2018) proposes that the fintechbank partnership allows fintech firms to sell their products and services by using different label approaches. Thus, banks may improve fintech's profitability. Only a few studies on the factors affecting the development of fintech credit consistently show that fintech credit is more developed in markets where there is a low level of banking coverage (Claessens et al. 2018; Cornelli et al. 2020) and a less competitive banking system (Le 2021).

In sum, several studies investigate a one-way relationship between the banking system and the development of fintech credit or the impact of fintech credit on bank lending. A study by Ngo and Le (2019) indicated the existence of interrelationships between financial development and banking efficiency. Given the emergence of fintech credit in the financial market, our study is the first attempt to examine whether a two-way relationship between fintech credit and bank efficiency exists.

3. Data and Research Methodology

3.1. Data

Our data were gathered at an aggregate or national level. More specifically, data used in DEA analysis were extracted from the Financial Development and Structural Dataset (Beck et al. 2000), while those used in SEM analysis were mainly collected from the database provided by Cornelli et al. (2020), who provided an update on the Global Alternative Finance Database. The database is held at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance
(CCAF). Other macroeconomic variables were extracted from the World Development Indicators (World Bank 2017). Initially, a total of 203 banking systems in the Financial Development and Structural Dataset were considered in our initial sample. We then excluded those for which fintech credit data (either the volume of fintech credit or the volume of fintech credit per capita) were unavailable. After matching these datasets, we arrived at an unbalanced dataset of 80 countries from 2013 to 2017, as presented in Table A1 in Appendix A.¹

3.2. First Stage: Estimating the Efficiency of Banking Systems

The literature suggests that bank efficiency can be calculated by using either a nonparametric method (i.e., DEA) or a parametric approach (i.e., stochastic frontier analysis (SFA)) (Berger and Humphrey 1997; Boubaker et al. 2020). However, Liu et al. (2013) showed that DEA was used as the main methodology among 3134 non-theoretical research papers, among which banking studies accounted for the highest proportion. DEA was thus selected in our study, since it works well with a small sample size and is also less prone to specification errors than SFA—and therefore is more flexible (Reinhard et al. 2000).

Furthermore, the DEA method has also received much attention in studying the efficiency of firms in financial services such as stock markets, insurance, pension funds, mutual funds, risk tolerance, and corporate failure prediction (Boubaker et al. 2018, 2021; Paradi et al. 2017; Vidal-García et al. 2018).²

In DEA, the efficiency of a bank/banking system, or the so-called Decision-Making Unit (DMU), is estimated as its ability to transform inputs into outputs. A DMU is efficient if it either utilizes the fewer inputs to produce a given set of outputs (input-oriented) or if it can produce the most outputs from the given set of inputs (output-oriented). In our efficiency estimations, an input-oriented DEA model is used because a banking system may find it easier to manage its inputs rather than outputs in a more competitive market (Ngo and Le 2019).

For a set of *n* DMUs (j = 1, ..., n) each using *s* inputs x_i (i = 1, ..., s) to produce *m* outputs y_r (r = 1, ..., m), based on the constant-returns-to-scale model introduced by Charnes et al. (1978), Banker et al. (1984) proposed the variable-returns-to-scale (VRS) DEA model to estimate the efficiency score of the j_0 -th DMU as

$$EF_{j_0} = max_{u,v,u_0} \sum_{r=1}^m u_r y_{rj_0} - u_0$$

Subject to
$$\sum_i^s v_i x_{ij_0} = 1, \forall i, j$$
(1)
$$\sum_r^m u_r y_{rj_0} - u_0 - \sum_i^s v_i x_{ij_0} \le 0, \forall i, r, j$$
$$u_r, v_i \ge \varepsilon, \forall i, r$$
$$u_0 \text{ is unconstrained in sign}$$

where *u* and *v* are the weights of the outputs and inputs, respectively.

Following Ngo and Le (2019), the whole banking system of an economy is treated as a single DMU in the VRS DEA model with indices for the inputs and outputs as measured at the aggregate level. Note that the efficiency scores of DMUs derived from the DEA approach are affected by the selection of inputs and outputs. The literature suggests that the choice of inputs and outputs is determined based on three main approaches, including the intermediation approach and production approach and the revenue (or value-added) approach (Drake et al. 2006; Ho et al. 2021; Le and Ngo 2020). In our study, the intermediation approach was adopted, since it is more appropriate to examine the whole banking system. Accordingly, the entire banking system of a nation was considered an intermediary between depositors and borrowers. That means any banking system tends to utilize deposits and overhead costs to provide credits to the private sector and increase its earnings (Ngo and Le 2019). Hence, the input-oriented DEA model was used to estimate the technical efficiency of the banking systems regarding pursuing this objective.

Similar to Ngo and Le (2019), our inputs included the ratio of total bank deposits to GDP (*DEPOSIT*) and the ratio of total bank overhead costs to total assets (*LABOR*), whilst outputs consisted of the private credit to GDP as a share of GDP (*CREDIT*) and the ratio of net interest revenue to interest-bearing assets (*NIM*). Note that because of substantially missing data on other input and output variables (the ratio of non-performing loans to total loans, the ratio of bank capital to total assets, returns on assets, and returns on equity), a set of two inputs and two outputs was used. Given that our sample ranged from at least 50 countries in 2013 up to 80 countries in 2017, the use of a set of two inputs and two outputs was consistent with the DEA literature (Ngo and Le 2019). Because the DEA calculation is year-based, and we did not examine the productivity change over time, the unbalanced data did not affect our analysis.

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics of inputs and outputs used in DEA analysis. There appears to be little change in the costs (*LABOR*) and profitability (*NIM*) of banking systems over the examined period. When observing *DEPOSIT*, there was an increasing trend in the first three years and then a decrease in the latter period. However, the opposite phenomenon was observed in the case of *CREDIT*. This perhaps may reflect the growth of fintech credit platforms in providing financial solutions and services, which gradually increases the market share of lending. Additionally, a high standard deviation of these variables suggests that large volatilities and scale differences exist among our selected banking systems. This further demonstrates the appropriate use of VRS DEA to examine the scale effect.

Year	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017
No. Obs	50	59	66	75	80
		DEP	OSIT		
Mean	52.96	63.61	63.23	60.35	62.24
STD	44.02	57.41	54.95	42.27	51.05
		LAI	BOR		
Mean	3.75	3.18	3.56	3.4	3.56
STD	2.69	2.24	4.13	3.53	2.7
		CRE	EDIT		
Mean	67.47	60.12	61.25	59.58	61.34
STD	113.68	47.09	46.83	40.88	42.001
		N	IM		
Mean	4.86	4.12	3.86	4.09	4.92
STD	3.27	2.88	2.83	2.99	3.91

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of the inputs and outputs used in DEA analysis.

Sources: Authors' calculation based on Beck et al. (2000).

3.3. Second Stage: The Interrelationship between Banking Efficiency and Fintech Credit

Most empirical studies examine the determinants of either banking efficiency (Manlagnit 2015) or fintech credit (Claessens et al. 2018; Cornelli et al. 2020). Additionally, several studies used bank-level data to investigate the interrelationship between banking efficiency and other environmental factors (Le 2018), while others used cross-country data to investigate the two-way linkage between capital market development and banking efficiency (Ngo and Le 2019). As explained above, fintech credit is more likely to expand in economies where banks do not meet the demand for banking products/services, while fintech credit may serve as a wake-up call to banking systems. Taken together, we further investigate the interrelationship between fintech credit and bank efficiency, since the one-way investigation may suffer from simultaneous bias. Because a structural equations model

(SEM) can offer a set of interrelated questions in a single, systematic, and comprehensive analysis (Gefen et al. 2000), the following SEM is proposed:

$$LNFINCAP_{i,t} = \alpha_1 + \beta_1 EF_{i,t} + \beta_2 GDPCAP_{i,t} + \beta_3 GDPCAP_{2,i,t} + \beta_4 REGFIN_{i,t} + \beta_5 MOBILE_{i,t} + \beta_6 BRANCH_{i,t} + \beta_7 GDPGR_{i,t} + \varphi_{i,t}$$
(2)

$$EF_{i,t} = \alpha_2 + \gamma_1 LNFINCAP_{i,t} + \gamma_2 LERNER_{i,t} + \gamma_3 CONCEN_{i,t} + \gamma_4 RS_{i,t} + \gamma_5 GDPGR_{i,t} + \gamma_6 INF_{i,t} + \omega_{i,t}$$
(3)

where *LNFINCAP* and *EF* are the two endogenous variables. $EF_{i,t}$ represents the banking efficiency in economy *i* at time *t* and ranges from 0 to 1, deriving from the first stage, whilst *LNFINCAP*_{*i*,*t*} is measured by the natural logarithm of the volume of fintech credit per capita in economy *i* at time *t*.³

Following Claessens et al. (2018) and Cornelli et al. (2020), the development of fintech credit is associated with a country's level of economic and financial development (GDPCAP, the gross domestic product per capita), fintech regulation (REGFIN, a dummy variable that takes a value of 1 if an explicit regulation of fintech credit was in place in a country, and 0 otherwise), mobile phone subscriptions (MOBILE, mobile phone subscriptions per 100 persons), the density of the bank branch network (BRANCH, a number of bank branches per 100,000 adults), and a country's economic growth (GDPGR, the GDP growth rate). Because GDPCAP is likely to be a proxy for many factors relating to a country's stage of development, a positive impact of *GDPCAP* on *LNFINCAP* is expected. We further included GDPCAP2, a squared GDP per capita to capture possible non-linearity in this relationship. When a fintech regulation (*REGFIN*) is introduced, this may further foster the development of fintech credit because of more trust towards new intermediaries regarding the supply of funds from investors. Additionally, most fintech credit platforms have apps on mobile devices, intending to improve their convenience for users. Thus, an increase in mobile phone subscriptions (MOBILE) may promote the development of fintech credit. Furthermore, economic growth (GDPGR) may increase demand for financial products and services, and borrowers may seek credit from different sources of funds with better prices. This, therefore, increases the development of fintech credit. When traditional lending providers are limited to offering their financial products and services during economic downturns, this creates an opportunity for the expansion of fintech credit.

Following Phan et al. (2016) and others, banking efficiency is associated with banking competition (LERNER, the Lerner index of the banking sector mark-ups), market concentration (CONCEN, the ratio of three largest banks' assets to all commercial banks' assets), and banking regulation (RS, a regulatory stringency index for the banking sector), economic growth (GDPGR, the GDP growth rate), and inflation (INF, the inflation rate). The information generation hypothesis suggests a negative impact of competition on banking efficiency (Marquez 2002). Greater competition may reduce banks' capability of gathering information and increase the probability of adverse borrower selection. Consequently, this results in lower banking efficiency. The quiet life hypothesis proposes that market concentration (or market power) impacts banking efficiency negatively because it permits banks to enjoy a 'quiet life'—reducing the bank manager's efforts to minimize their bank's inefficiency (Berger and Hannan 1998). Empirical studies show mixed findings (Le and Ngo 2020; Phan et al. 2016). Moreover, Manlagnit (2015) documented conflicting findings regarding the relationship between banking regulation and banking efficiency in prior studies using bank-level data. We, however, used aggregate data to control for this relationship. Last, the effect of macroeconomic conditions such as economic growth and inflation was also considered. Table A2 in Appendix A provides a summary of variables used in SEM with their definitions and expected signs.

Moreover, Table A3 in Appendix A presents descriptive statistics of variables used in SEM analysis. There appears to be an increasing trend in *LNFINCAP* and *LNALTERCAP* from 2013 and 2017, which reflects the rapid penetration of fintech and big tech firms in lending markets. The growth of fintech credit platforms is further facilitated by the

increasing use of mobile phones (*MOBILE*) and a reduction in the number of bank branches (*BRANCH*).

We test for heteroscedasticity using a two-step Breusch–Pagan test when one or more regressors are endogenous. Firstly, each of the two equations with pooled OLS with robust standard errors is run. Thereafter, Breusch–Pagan tests are performed. The results show that *p*-values of Equations (2) and (3) are 0.00 and 0.02, respectively, suggesting high heteroscedasticity.

From Equations (2) and (3), the error terms $\varphi_{i,t}$ and $\omega_{i,t}$ may be related because the same data are used. If unaccounted for, the simultaneous equation bias from these equations can result in inconsistent and biased estimators. These errors are simultaneously correlated, as they include the impact of factors that may be omitted. Because the banking systems' operation is homogenous in many ways, the impact of the omitted factors on the relationship between fintech credit and banking efficiency for one country may be similar to that for another. If this is true, these errors account for similar effects and will be correlated. To address this issue and control for heteroskedasticity and arbitrary autocorrelations, the panel Generalized Method of Moment (GMM) (Baltagi 2008) was used. The GMM estimator is more efficient than other conventional estimators such as fixed or random effects when a serial correlation exists or when the assumption on the strict exogeneity of regressor is false (Wooldridge 2001). Since the SEM framework effectively controls for the endogeneity and the GMM estimator generates efficiency gains when endogenous explanatory regressors are present, all estimations in our results were run with the use of the GMM estimator, which utilizes the interactions among the innovations in Equations (2) and (3). We further used the Newey and West (1987) method to control for heteroskedasticity and arbitrary autocorrelations when estimating Equations (2) and (3). Because the Newey-West method involves an expression in the squares of the residuals which is analogous to White's formula, these estimates contain White's correction. When the context of time series is considered, Newey-West standard errors are robust to both arbitrary heteroskedasticity and arbitrary autocorrelation. Therefore, our study used the SEM with GMM estimator combined with the Newey-West method to examine the interrelationships between fintech credit and banking efficiency. This approach was also used by several other studies, such as Nguyen (2012), Le and Pham (2021), and Le (2020), among others.

4. Results

4.1. The Analysis of the Efficiency of Banking Systems around the World

The average efficiency scores (*EF*) of global banking systems ranged from 0.738 (i.e., 26.2% inefficient) to 0.808 (i.e., 19.2% inefficient), as indicated in Figure 1. A modest decrease in the technical efficiency of the banking systems around the world over the examined period may reflect the consequence of the global financial crisis of 2007–2008 and the European debt crisis. Additionally, there appears to be a slight reduction in scale efficiency (SE), from 0.91 in 2013 to 0.897 in 2017, implying a more competitive environment of the global banking system. In contrast to a slight reduction in banking efficiency, the volume of fintech credit significantly increased over the studied period.



Figure 1. The evolution of banking efficiency (left axis) and the volume of fintech credit (right axis).

4.2. The Interrelationships between Fintech Credit and Banking Efficiency

Table A4 in Appendix A describes the correlation matrix of the variables used in SEM. At first glance, *EF* is negatively related to *LNFINCAP* and positively associated with *LNALTERCAP*. Additionally, there appear no significant correlations between the explanatory variables used in each equation. Nonetheless, the intertemporal relationship between *EF* and *LNFINCAP* can only be examined by using the SEM analysis.

Table 2 shows that the *p*-value of the Hansen test is statistically not significant, and thus the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. This means no evidence of over-identifying restrictions in SEM analysis with the use of the GMM estimator. Alternatively, all conditions for the moments are met and the instruments are accepted.

For the determinants of fintech credit development (Part 1 of Table 2), *EF* is significantly and negatively associated with *LNFINCAP*, suggesting that the less efficient the banking system in a country is, the more developed its fintech credit is. This somewhat supports the early findings of Cornelli et al. (2020), who found that fintech credit is more developed where the level of bank intermediation of deposits to loans is lower. *LNFINCAP* is also significantly and positively related to *GDPCAP*, implying that fintech credit is more developed in nations where there is a greater level of economic and institutional development. However, the coefficient of *GDPCAP2* is negative and significant, suggesting that this positive link becomes less crucial at greater levels of development. Nonetheless, this confirms the findings of Cornelli et al. (2020) and Claessens et al. (2018). Furthermore, a positive coefficient estimate on *REGFIN* demonstrates that the growth of fintech credit is rapid in a country where there is an explicit fintech credit regulation. This is comparable with the findings of Rau (2020), who demonstrated that the introduction of an explicit legal framework significantly boosts crowdfunding volume.

Additionally, *BRANCH* impacts *LNFINCAP* negatively, supporting the view that fintech credit serves either in underbanked regions or in the low-credit market segment (Yeo and Jun 2020) as a complement to conventional bank credit (Cornelli et al. 2020). This finding is also comparable with the use of agency banking. Nonetheless, we do not find any significant evidence that fintech credit is affected by economic growth (*GDPGR*) or mobile phone subscriptions (*MOBILE*).

Part 1. Equation (2) of SEM			
Independent Variables	Coefficient	Standard Error	t-Statistic
Constant	-0.553	1.095	-0.505
EF	-2.944 **	1.285	-2.291
GDPCAP	0.152 ***	0.027	5.702
GDPCAP2	-0.001 ***	0.0003	-3.509
REGFIN	0.791 **	0.378	2.093
MOBILE	-0.005	0.005	-1.089
BRANCH	-0.021 *	0.012	-1.815
GDPGR	-0.01	0.046	-0.212
No. Obs		330	
J-Statistics (p-value)		0.158	
Part 2. Equation (3) of SEM			
Independent Variables	Coefficient	Standard Error	t-Statistic
Constant	0.585 ***	0.115	5.101
LNFINCAP	0.022 **	0.01	2.222
LERNER	0.295 ***	0.071	4.168
CONCEN	-0.0002	0.001	-0.335
RS	0.05	0.149	0.332
GDPGR	-0.001	0.004	-0.177
INF	0.021 ***	0.003	7.932
No. Obs		330	
I-Statistics (<i>v</i> -value)		0.158	

Table 2. Results of second-stage SEM analysis.

Notes: *LNFINCAP*, the natural logarithm of the volume of fintech credit per capita; *EF*, efficiency score of the individual banking system as derived from VRS DEA estimation; *GDPCAP*, the GDP per capita; *GDPCAP2*, the squared term of GDPCAP?, *REGFIN*, a dummy variable that takes a value of 1 for a country where an explicit fintech credit regulation is in place, and 0 otherwise; *MOBILE*, the mobile phone subscriptions per 100 persons given the mobile-based nature of most fintech credit platforms; *BRANCH*, the number of bank branches per 100,000 adult population; *LERNER*, the Lerner index of the banking sector mark-ups in an economy; *CONCEN*, the ratio of three largest banks' assets to all commercial banks' assets; *RS*, a regulatory stringency index for the banking sector of an economy; *GDPGR*, the economic growth rate; and *INF*, the inflation rate. The table contains results estimated using a simultaneous equations model (SEM) with the GMM estimator and the Newey–West method. *EF* and *LNFINCAP* represent the two endogenous variables in SEM. *, ** and *** denote the two-tail significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

For the determinants of banking efficiency (Part 2 of Table 2), a positive coefficient estimate on LNFINCAP suggests that fintech credit may serve as a wake-up call for the banking system. New credit activities provide financial services in which lenders and borrowers conduct transactions directly without the need for the intermediation of traditional financial institutions. The banking systems may respond to the increasingly competitive environment caused by the rapid expansion of fintech credit platforms by improving their efficiency. Learning from fintech credit platforms, the banking systems may utilize the application of emerging technologies in the banking industry (i.e., artificial intelligence technology, blockchain technology, cloud computing technology, big data technology) to their operating activities. In this sense, Cheng and Qu (2020) highlighted that the development of bank fintech is more likely to reduce credit risk for Chinese commercial banks. Additionally, LERNER is positively and significantly associated with EF, suggesting that the efficiency of the banking system is improved with a less competitive banking system. Therefore, this supports the view of the information generation hypothesis as proposed by Marquez (2002). Furthermore, a positive impact of *INF* on *EF* suggests that future movements in inflation are fully anticipated by the banking systems, and thus this increases their profits. This is consistent with prior studies such as Demirgüc-Kunt and Huizinga (1999). Finally, we do not find any significant evidence that bank efficiency is influenced by market concentration, economic growth, and regulatory stringency for the banking system. In sum, the findings suggest that there is a two-way relationship between fintech credit development and banking efficiency. Similar to the findings of Cornelli et al. (2020), the depth of fintech credit is more likely associated with a reduction in banking efficiency. Meanwhile, an expansion of fintech credit may serve as a wake-up call to the banking systems and perhaps place competitive pressure on them to improve their operations to remain a viable competitor.

4.3. Robustness Checks

For robustness, we first replace fintech credit with total alternative credit as measured by a sum of fintech credit and big tech credit (*LNALTERCAP*), as shown in Table 3. In contrast to prior studies such as Cornelli et al. (2020) and Claessens et al. (2018), we do not report the results of big tech credit as a dependent variable in SEM with the GMM estimator because of the smaller number of countries and years in which big tech credit is present. The number of observations for big tech credit only accounts for 14.84% of the total observations.

Table 3. Results of second-stage SEM analysis using an alternative measure of fintech credit.

Part 1. Equation (2) of SEM Dependent Variable: LNALTEI	RCAP				
Independent Variables	Coefficient	Standard Error	t-Statistic		
Constant	-0.149	0.662	-0.225		
EF	0.368	0.818	0.45		
GDPCAP	0.082 ***	0.013	6.178		
GDPCAP2	-0.001 ***	0.0002	-3.840		
REGFIN	0.352 *	0.209	1.687		
MOBILE	-0.003	0.002	-1.955		
BRANCH	-0.019 ***	0.006	-3.387		
GDPGR	0.009	0.023	0.377		
No. Obs		330			
J-Statistics (p-value)) 0.135				
Part 2. Equation (3) of SEM					
Dependent Variable: EF					
Independent Variables	Coefficient	Standard Error	t-Statistic		
Constant	0.551 ***	0.131	4.197		
LNALTERCAP	0.04 **	0.017	2.356		
LERNER	0.280 ***	0.067	4.166		
CONCEN	0.0001	0.001	0.246		
RS	-0.002	0.142	-0.017		
GDPGR	0.001	0.004	0.288		
INF	0.018 ***	0.002	8.351		
No. Obs		330			
J-Statistics (p-value)		0.135			

Notes: LNALTERCAP, the natural logarithm of the volume of total alternative credit per capita; EF, efficiency score of the individual banking system as derived from VRS DEA estimation; GDPCAP, the GDP per capita; GDPCAP2, the squared term of GDPCAP; REGFIN, a dummy variable that takes a value of 1 for a country where an explicit fintech credit regulation is in place, and O otherwise; MOBILE, the mobile phone subscriptions per 100 persons given the mobile-based nature of most fintech credit platforms; BRANCCH, the number of bank branches per 100,000 adult population; LERNER, the Lerner index of the banking sector mark-ups in an economy; CONCEN, the ratio of three largest banks' assets to all commercial banks' assets; RS, a regulatory stringency index for the banking sector of an economy; GDPGR, the economic growth rate; and INF, the inflation rate. The table contains results estimated using a simultaneous equations model (SEM) with the GMM estimator and the Newey–West method. EF and LNALTERCAP represent the two endogenous variables in SEM. *, ** and *** denote the two-tail significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

Part 2 of Table 3 confirms the positive impact of total alternative credit on banking efficiency, while the development of total alternative credit is not affected by the banking efficiency, as indicated in Part 1 of Table 3. This insignificant impact can be explained by the fact that big tech firms have operated in different countries, and thus may go beyond the capacity of domestic controls to capture the global nature of big tech business models.

Big tech firms often have a wide range of business lines, in which lending accounts for only one (often small) part. However, the volume of big tech credit is usually large (i.e., this was at least twice as large as fintech credit in 2019) (Cornelli et al. 2020). The advantage of using large volumes of information allows big tech firms to effectively measure the loan quality of potential borrowers based on a large existing and cross-border user base, given the application of advanced technology in lending segments. Additionally, big tech firms may focus on serving potential borrowers who have already been existing customers in their ecosystem.

Following the classification by Cornelli et al. (2020), we also divide our sample into two groups, including developed and non-developed economies. Although the results cannot be reported here but are available upon request, the findings show that a two-way relationship between fintech credit and banking efficiency still holds for the case of nonadvanced economies. Again, this confirms our above findings. When observing advanced economies, there appears only a one-way negative impact of fintech credit on banking efficiency, suggesting that fintech credit tends to substitute for the banking system. This is because more developed economies will have a higher demand for credit from firms and households, and thus, these potential borrowers tend to switch to new intermediaries. The advantages of fintech credit and big tech credit are comprehensively discussed by Cornelli et al. (2020) and Claessens et al. (2018). However, these findings need to be cautiously interpreted because of the small sample size used in SEM with the GMM estimator (i.e., there are only 92 observations in the case of developed economies).

Furthermore, we use the natural logarithm of the volume of fintech credit as an alternative measure of fintech credit. A positive impact of fintech credit on banking efficiency still holds, while the relationship in the other direction is insignificant. Additionally, we replace *REGFIN* with other variables that reflect countries' institutional characteristics (i.e., barriers to entry, as expressed by the ease of doing business variables, and investor disclosure and efficiency of the judicial system). For the ease of doing business, we used score starting a business (overall), score-time (days), score-paid-in minimum capital (% of income per capita), and score-cost (% of income per capita). For the investor protection and judicial system, we used the extent of disclosure index, trial, and judgment (days), enforcement of judgment (days), and enforcement fees (% of claim). All indicators were collected from the World Bank Ease of Doing Business database. We ran each indicator individually to avoid multicollinearity issues. The findings indicate a two-way relationship between fintech credit and banking efficiency, although the reports are not presented but are available upon request. Nonetheless, our above findings are confirmed.

5. Conclusions

This study investigates the causal relationship between fintech credit and banking efficiency in 80 countries from 2013 to 2017 using a two-stage framework. In the first stage, DEA with the use of financial ratios was employed to estimate the efficiency of the banking systems around the world. In the second stage, the GMM estimation in SEM was used to examine the above interrelationship. The findings of the first stage show that the average efficiency scores of these banking systems are relatively low, suggesting that there is still room for them to improve.

Importantly, the findings of the second stage indicate that there is a negative relationship between banking efficiency and fintech credit, while greater fintech credit can promote banking efficiency. Additionally, a negative relationship between the density of bank branch networks and fintech credit suggests that fintech credit serves underbanked regions. Our findings further emphasize that fintech credit is more developed in economies where explicit fintech regulation is present. Therefore, the implementation of a legal framework regarding fintech credit is very important for the development of fintech credit. Additionally, our findings reemphasize the significance of monitoring and anticipating the movement of the inflation rate is very important to enhancing the efficiency of the banking system. All in all, promoting fintech credit would bring about mutual benefits, including (1) addressing the unbanked or low-credit segments that banking systems do not serve, and (2) enhancing the efficiency of the banking systems.

This study has some limitations. We could not extend the choice of variables in our DEA model nor incorporating the country-fixed effect variables in our SEM analysis due to data limitations. Future research may extend the data so that a balanced panel could be obtained to examine the efficiency and productivity changes over time of the banking systems. Additionally, future studies are encouraged to use different DEA models under the different assumptions in the first stage. For the second stage SEM analysis, the impact of big tech credit on banking efficiency should be considered in future studies when the relevant data are more widely available.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.D.Q.L. and T.N.; methodology and software, D.T.N.; validation, T.D.Q.L.; formal analysis, T.H.H.; investigation, D.T.N.; resources, T.H.H.; data curation, T.H.H.; writing—original draft preparation, T.H.H. and D.T.N.; writing—review and editing, T.D.Q.L. and T.N.; visualization and supervision, T.D.Q.L.; project administration, T.D.Q.L.; funding acquisition, T.D.Q.L. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the University of Economics and Law, Vietnam National University, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to privacy.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

Appendix A

Table A1. The list of countries included in our sample.

United Arab Emirates	France	Malaysia	Senegal
Argentina	Ghana	Mozambique	El Salvador
Austria	Guatemala	Nigeria	Togo
Australia	Hong Kong	Netherlands	Thailand
Belgium	Indonesia	Norway	Turkey
Burkina Faso	Ireland	New Zealand	United Republic of Tanzania
Bulgaria	Israel	Panama	Uganda
Burundi	India	Peru	United States of America
Brazil	Italy	Philippines	Uruguay
Côte d'Ivoire	Jordan	Pakistan	Viet Nam
Chile	Japan	Poland	South Africa
China	Kenya	Portugal	Zambia
Colombia	Cambodia	Paraguay	Bolivia
Czech Republic	Korea	Russian Federation	Cameroon
Germany	Lebanon	Rwanda	Costa Rica
Denmark	Lithuani	Saudi Arabia	Georgia
Ecuador	Latvia	Sweden	Zimbabwe
Estonia	Madagascar	Singapore	
Egypt	Mali	Slovenia	
Spain	Myanmar	Slovakia	
Finland	Mexico	Sierra Leone	

Variables		Definitions	Expected Signs	Sources
LNFINCAP	The development of fintech credit	The natural logarithm of the volume of fintech credit per capita	±	Cornelli et al. (2020) and CCAF
EF	Bank efficiency	Efficiency score of the individual banking system as derived from Data Envelopment Analysis under variable returns to scale assumption	±	The Financial Development and Structural Dataset
GDPCAP	a country's level of economic and financial development	The gross domestic product per capita	+	World Bank
REGFIN	Fintech regulation	A dummy variable that takes a value of 1 for a country where an explicit fintech credit regulation is in place, and 0 otherwise	+	Rau (2020)
MOBILE	Mobile phone subscriptions	Mobile phone subscriptions per 100 persons	+	World Bank
BRANCH	The density of bank branch network	The number of bank branches per 100,000 adult population	±	World Bank
LERNER	Banking competition	The Lerner index of the banking sector mark-ups	±	World Bank and Igan et al. (forthcoming)
CONCEN	Market concentration	The ratio of three largest banks' assets to all commercial banks' assets	±	The Financial Development and Structural Dataset
RS	Banking regulation	A regulatory stringency index for the banking sector	±	World Bank
GDPGR	Economic growth	The GDP growth rate	±	World Bank
INF	Inflation	The inflation rate	±	World Bank

Table A2 A summar	ry of variables us	ad in SEM and i	their expected signs
Table A2. A Summa	i y oi variables us	eu montranu	men expected signs.

 Table A3. Descriptive statistics of variables used in the second-stage analysis.

	20	13	20	14	20)15	20)16	20)17
	Mean	STD	Mean	STD	Mean	STD	Mean	STD	Mean	STD
LNFINCAP	-2.31	2.14	-2.26	2.6	-1.36	2.56	-0.5	2.39	-0.18	2.55
LNALTERCAP	1.19	3.03	1.77	3.28	2.49	3.64	3.31	3.37	4.31	3.02
GDPCAP	19.17	16.68	23.15	19.91	23.71	19.78	22.31	18.79	22.5	19.06
GDPCAP2	639.16	775.57	925.07	1270.4	946.89	1283.16	845.54	1229.45	864.56	1274.52
REGFIN ¹	0.14	0.35	0.17	0.38	0.19	0.4	0.24	0.43	0.29	0.45
MOBILE	99.22	34.36	108.97	37.33	112.7	35.6	112.8	31.13	116.07	34.13
BRANCH	16.47	15.99	17.57	15.5	17.49	14.97	17.97	14.59	15.94	12.44
LERNER ²	0.28	0.09	0.3	0.14	0.29	0.13	0.31	0.15	0.31	0.15
CONCEN	63.14	18.32	63.28	18.93	62.48	17.22	60.5	15.55	60.21	17.26
RS ³	0.72	0.08	0.73	0.09	0.73	0.08	0.73	0.09	0.64	0.09
GDPGR	4.12	3.67	3.75	2.42	3.12	4.65	3.05	2.18	3.84	1.94
INF	4.19	4.69	3.46	4.35	2.94	4.6	3.43	5.05	3.92	4.84

Notes: The dependent variable was winsorized at the 1% and 99% levels. ¹ *REGFIN* is obtained from Rau (2020). ² *LERNER* was collected from the World Bank data. However, the data over the period 2015–2017 were obtained based on the estimates of Igan et al. (forthcoming). ³ *RS* is constructed by Navaretti et al. (2017) from the World Bank database.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. LNFINCAP	1										
2. LNALTERCAP	0.8 ***	1									
	(22.08)										
3. EF	-0.03	0.04	1								
	(-0.48)	(0.64)									
4. GDPCAP	0.52 ***	0.48 ***	-0.07	1							
	(10.34)	(9.21)	(-1.25)								
5. GDPCAP2	0.43 ***	0.39 ***	-0.02	0.93 ***	1						
	(8.09)	(7.12)	(-0.37)	(43.74)							
6. BRANCH	0.26 ***	0.22 ***	-0.18 ***	0.49 ***	0.29 ***	1					
	(4.6)	(3.87)	(-3.06)	(9.37)	(5.12)						
7. MOBILE	0.29 ***	0.25 ***	-0.07	0.59 ***	0.48 ***	0.32 ***	1				
	(5.04)	(4.43)	(-1.25)	(12.17)	(9.09)	(5.65)					
8. LERNER	0.08	0.07	0.22 ***	0.13 **	0.27 ***	-0.05	0.14 **	1			
	(1.3)	(1.26)	(3.81)	(2.14)	(4.68)	(-0.91)	(2.4)				
9. CONCEN	0.19 ***	0.06	-0.04	0.28 ***	0.28 ***	-0.01	0.12 **	-0.01	1		
	(3.24)	(1.08)	(-0.66)	(4.89)	(4.98)	(-0.19)	(2.03)	(-0.12)			
10. GDP	-0.12 **	-0.1 *	0.04	-0.22 ***	-0.11 *	-0.28 ***	-0.24 ***	0.08	-0.2 ***	1	
	(-2.05)	(-1.72)	(0.63)	(-3.78)	(-1.89)	(-4.99)	(-4.16)	(1.38)	(-3.49)		
11. INF	-0.43 ***	-0.32 ***	0.36 ***	-0.45 ***	-0.35 ***	-0.38 ***	-0.35 ***	0.02	-0.12 **	0.04	1
	(-8.07)	(-5.64)	(6.55)	(-8.38)	(-6.34)	(-6.86)	(-6.32)	(0.34)	(-1.99)	(0.67)	

Table A4. Correlation matrix between variables used in this study.

Notes: t-statistics are shown in parentheses, *, ** and *** denote the significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

Notes

- It is important to note that the data on fintech credit provided by Cornelli et al. (2020) and CCAF were available from 2013 to 2018, while the data used to estimate efficiency scores of banking systems were available until 2017. Therefore, our sample period of 2013–2017 was selected to maintain our observations as many as possible.
- ² DEA techniques have been extensively used in finance studies. For more details, please see Boubaker et al. (2015) and Kaffash and Marra (2017).
- ³ Since the number of countries is relatively high, compared to the number of observations, we did not use the country fixed-effect dummy variables in our models. In addition, the inclusion of several country-specific regressors prevents us from using a set of country dummies. To be specific, we controlled for differences in the examined countries in terms of their banking competition (*LERNER*), market concentration (*CONCEN*), banking regulation (*RS*), fintech regulation (*REGFIN*) as well as other institutional characteristics (for robustness checks). We believe that any country-level differences should be accounted for in the robustness testing.

References

- Aliber, Robert Z., and Charles P. Kindleberger. 2015. Manias Panics and Crashes: A History of Financial Crises. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Allen, Franklin, and Douglas Gale. 1999. Diversity of opinion and financing of new technologies. *Journal of Financial Intermediation* 8: 68–89. [CrossRef]
- Baltagi, Badi H. 2008. Econometric Analysis of Panel Data. New York: John Wiley.
- Banker, Rajiv D., Abraham Charnes, and William Wager Cooper. 1984. Some models for estimating technical and scale inefficiencies in data envelopment analysis. *Management Science* 30: 1078–92. [CrossRef]
- Beck, Thorsten, Asli Demirgüç-Kunt, and Ross Levine. 2000. A new database on financial development and structure. [Updated September 2019]. World Bank Economic Review 14: 597–605. [CrossRef]
- Berger, Allen N., and Timothy H. Hannan. 1998. The efficiency cost of market power in the banking industry: A test of the 'quiet life' and related hypotheses. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 80: 454–65. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/2646754 (accessed on 30 April 2021). [CrossRef]
- Berger, Allen N., and David B. Humphrey. 1997. Efficiency of financial institutions: International survey and directions for future research. European Journal of Operational Research 98: 175–212. [CrossRef]
- Bömer, Max, and Hannes Maxin. 2018. Why fintechs cooperate with banks—Evidence from germany. Zeitschrift f
 ür die Gesamte Versicherungswissenschaft 107: 359–86. [CrossRef]
- Boubaker, Sabri, Amal Hamrouni, and Qi-Bin Liang. 2015. Corporate governance, voluntary disclosure, and firm information environment. Journal of Applied Business Research (JABR) 31: 89–102. [CrossRef]
- Boubaker, Sabri, Asma Houcine, Zied Ftiti, and Hatem Masri. 2018. Does audit quality affect firms' investment efficiency? Journal of the Operational Research Society 69: 1688–99. [CrossRef]
- Boubaker, Sabri, Duc Trung Do, Helmi Hammami, and Kim Cuong Ly. 2020. The role of bank affiliation in bank efficiency: A fuzzy multi-objective data envelopment analysis approach. *Annals of Operations Research S.I (MOPGP19)*. [CrossRef]
- Boubaker, Sabri, Riadh Manita, and Wael Rouatbi. 2021. Large shareholders, control contestability and firm productive efficiency. Annals of Operations Research 296: 591–614. [CrossRef]

- Buchak, Greg, Gregor Matvos, Tomasz Piskorski, and Amit Seru. 2018. Fintech, regulatory arbitrage, and the rise of shadow banks. Journal of Financial Economics 130: 453–83. [CrossRef]
- Charnes, Abraham, William W. Cooper, and Edwardo Rhodes. 1978. Measuring the efficiency of decision making units. European Journal of Operational Research 2: 429–44. [CrossRef]
- Cheng, Maoyong, and Yang Qu. 2020. Does bank FinTech reduce credit risk? Evidence from China. Pacific-Basin Finance Journal 63: 101398. [CrossRef]
- Claessens, Stijn, Jon Frost, Grant Turner, and Feng Zhu. 2018. Fintech Credit Markets around the World: Size, Drivers and Policy Issues. BIS Quarterly Review. Available online: https://www.bis.org/publ/qtrpdf/r_qt1809e.htm (accessed on 14 August 2021).
- Coelli, Timothy J., Dodla Sai Prasada Rao, Christopher J. O'Donnell, and George Edward Battese. 2005. An Introduction to Efficiency and Productivity Analysis. New York: Springer.
- Cornelli, Giulio, Jon Frost, Leonardo Gambacorta, P. Raghavendra Rau, Robert Wardrop, and Tania Ziegler. 2020. Fintech and Big Tech Credit: A New Database. BIS Working Papers No. 887. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.
- De Roure, Calebe, Loriana Pelizzon, and Paolo Tasca. 2016. How Does P2P Lending Fit into the Consumer Credit Market? Discussion Paper No 30/2016. Frankfurt: Deutsche Bundesbank.
- De Roure, Calebe, Loriana Pelizzon, and Anjan V. Thakor. 2018. P2P Lenders versus Banks: Cream Skimming or Bottom Fishing? SAFE Working Paper No. 206. Frankfurt: Sustainable Architecture for Finance in Europe.
- Deloitte. 2015. Millennials and wealth management: Trends and challenges of the new clientele. In *Inside: Quaterly Insights, CFO Edition*. Luxembourg: Deloitte.
- Demirgüç-Kunt, Ash, and Harry Huizinga. 1999. Determinants of commercial bank interest margins and profitability: Some international evidence. *The World Bank Economic Review* 13: 379–408. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/3990103 (accessed on 30 April 2021).
- Drake, Leigh, J. B. Maximillan Hall, and Richard Simper. 2006. The impact of macroeconomic and regulatory factors on bank efficiency: A non-parametric analysis of Hong Kong's banking system. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 30: 1443–66. [CrossRef]
- Gefen, David, Detmar Straub, and Marie-Claude Boudreau. 2000. Structural equation modeling and regression: Guidelines for research practice. Communications of the Association for Information Systems 4: 1–78. [CrossRef]
- Ho, Tin H., Dat T. Nguyen, Thanh Ngo, and Tu D. Q. Le. 2021. Efficiency in Vietnamese banking: A meta-regression analysis approach. International Journal of Financial Studies 9: 41. [CrossRef]
- Igan, Deniz, Maria Soledad Martinez Peria, Nicola Pierri, and Andrea F. Presbitero. forthcoming. When They Go Low, We Go High? Bank Market Power and Interest Rates. Washington: IMF Working Papers.
- Jagtiani, Julapa, and Catharine Lemieux. 2019. The roles of alternative data and machine learning in fintech lending: Evidence from the LendingClub consumer platform. *Financial Management* 48: 1009–29. [CrossRef]
- Kaffash, Sepideh, and Marianna Marra. 2017. Data envelopment analysis in financial services: A citations network analysis of banks, insurance companies and money market funds. *Annals of Operations Research* 253: 307–44. [CrossRef]
- Le, Tu D. Q. 2018. Bank risk, capitalisation and technical efficiency in the Vietnamese banking system. Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal 12: 42–61. [CrossRef]
- Le, Tu D. Q. 2020. The interrelationship among bank profitability, bank stability, and loan growth: Evidence from Vietnam. Cogent Business & Management 7: 1–18. [CrossRef]
- Le, Tu D. Q. 2021. The Roles of Financial Inclusion and Financial Markets Development in Fintech Credit: Evidence from Developing Countries. Ho Chi Minh City: Institute for Development & Research in Banking Technology, University of Economics and Law.
- Le, Tu D. Q., and Thanh Ngo. 2020. The determinants of bank profitability: A cross-country analysis. *Central Bank Review* 20: 65–73. [CrossRef]
- Le, Tu D. Q., and Xuan T. T. Pham. 2021. The inter-relationships among liquidity creation, bank capital and credit risk: Evidence from emerging Asia–Pacific economies. *Managerial Finance* 47: 1149–67. [CrossRef]
- Liu, John S., Louis Y. Y. Lu, Wen-Min Lu, and Bruce J. Y. Lin. 2013. A survey of DEA applications. Omega 41: 893–902. [CrossRef]
- Manlagnit, Maria Chelo V. 2015. Basel regulations and banks' efficiency: The case of the Philippines. Journal of Asian Economics 39: 72–85. [CrossRef]
- Marquez, Robert. 2002. Competition, adverse selection, and information dispersion in the banking industry. The Review of Financial Studies 15: 901–26. [CrossRef]
- Navaretti, Giorgio Barba, Giacomo Calzolari, José Manuel Mansilla-Fernandez, and Alberto F. Pozzolo. 2017. Fintech and Banking. Friends or Foes. In *Fintech and Banking*. Edited by Giorgio Barba Navaretti, Giacomo Calzolari and Alberto Franco Pozzolo. Rome: Europeye srl.
- Newey, Whitney K., and Kenneth D. West. 1987. A simple, positive semi-definite, heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent covariance matrix. *Econometrica* 55: 703–8. [CrossRef]
- Ngo, Thanh, and Tu Le. 2019. Capital market development and bank efficiency: A cross-country analysis. International Journal of Managerial Finance 15: 478–91. [CrossRef]
- Nguyen, James. 2012. The relationship between net interest margin and noninterest income using a system estimation approach. Journal of Banking & Finance 36: 2429–37. [CrossRef]
- Oh, Eun Young, and Peter Rosenkranz. 2020. Determinants of Peer-to-Peer Lending Expansion: The Roles of Financial Development and Financial Literacy. Working Paper Series 613. Philippines: Asian Development Bank.

- Paradi, Joseph C., H. David Sherman, and Fai Keung Tam. 2017. Data Envelopment Analysis in the Financial Services Industry: A Guide for Practitioners and Analysts Working in Operations Research Using DEA. Cham: Springer, vol. 266.
- Phan, Hanh Thi My, Kevin Daly, and Selim Akhter. 2016. Bank efficiency in emerging Asian countries. Research in International Business and Finance 38: 517–30. [CrossRef]
- Rau, P. Raghavendra. 2020. Law, Trust, and the Development of Crowdfunding. Cambridge: Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance Working Paper.
- Reinhard, Stijn, C. A. Knox Lovell, and Geert J. Thijssen. 2000. Environmental efficiency with multiple environmentally detrimental variables; estimated with SFA and DEA. European Journal of Operational Research 121: 287–303. [CrossRef]
- Sheng, Tianxiang. 2021. The effect of fintech on banks' credit provision to SMEs: Evidence from China. Finance Research Letters 39: 101558. [CrossRef]
- Siek, Michael, and Andrew Sutanto. 2019. Impact analysis of fintech on banking industry. Paper presented at the 2019 International Conference on Information Management and Technology (ICIMTech), Jakarta, Indonesia, August 19–20; pp. 356–61. [CrossRef]
- Song, Fengshua, and Anjan Thakor. 2010. Banks and capital markets as a coevolving financial system. *VoxEU.org*, December 1.
- Tang, Huan. 2019. Peer-to-peer lenders versus banks: Substitutes or complements? The Review of Financial Studies 32: 1900–38. [CrossRef]
- Vidal-García, Javier, Marta Vidal, Sabri Boubaker, and Majdi Hassan. 2018. The efficiency of mutual funds. Annals of Operations Research 267: 555–84. [CrossRef]
- Vives, Xavier. 2017. The impact of Fintech on banking. In *Fintech and Banking. Friends or Foes*? Edited by Giorgio Barba Navaretti, Giacomo Calzolari and Alberto Franco Pozzolo. Roma: Europeye srl.

Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. 2001. Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data. Cambridge: The MIT Press.

World Bank. 2017. World Development Indicators (WDI). Washington: The World Bank.

Yeo, Eunjung, and Jooyong Jun. 2020. Peer-to-Peer Lending and Bank Risks: A Closer Look. Sustainability 12: 6107. [CrossRef]





Taxing the Digital Economy through Consumption Taxes (VAT) in African Countries: Possibilities, Constraints and Implications

Favourate Y. Mpofu

School of Accounting, Auckland Park, University of Johannesburg, P.O. Box 524, Johannesburg 2006, South Africa; fmpofu@uj.ac.za

Abstract: Owing to the Fourth Industrial revolution and digital transformation, the digital economy has grown substantially globally and in Africa. Despite the positive outcomes such as advancements in technology, improvements in business models and expansion in digital financial inclusion, negative implications include the erosion of tax bases due to the invisible nature of digital transactions. Although the digital economy is one of the biggest and quickest growing sectors in the African continent, its contribution to tax revenue is negligible. Developed and developing countries are grappling to find effective ways of mobilizing revenues from this hard to tax economy. African countries have turned to digital services taxes, value added taxes and withholding taxes in a bid to collect revenue from the digital economy to broaden their tax bases. There is intense debate among policymakers, governments, development bodies and tax bodies on the most effective way to tax the digital economy. Through a conceptual analysis based on a critical review of the literature, this article contributes to the ongoing debate by assessing the possibilities and constraints of taxing the digital economy in Africa using value added tax (VAT). The paper reviewed 55 articles, most of them current, published between 2014 and 2022, reflecting embryonic nature of the subject area. The findings on the opportunities include the existence of VAT regulation, increased revenue mobilization and efficiency gains, while challenges include ambiguities in legislation, capacity constraints and tax knowledge gaps. The implications of using VAT to collect tax from the digital economy encompass increased cost of digital services, decreased access, increased inequality and impediment on employment creation, poverty reduction, digital financial inclusion, and the realization of the sustainable development goals.

Keywords: VAT; digital economy; taxation; consumption tax; constraints

1. Introduction

The digital economy has grown dramatically worldwide, leading to the emergence of new business transactions and the growth in e-commerce and online transactions. Digitalization of the economy is viewed as a propeller for growth, innovation as well as societal change and connectivity (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020); Schiavone Panni 2019). Despite the advantages linked to the expansion of the digital economy, several challenges have also originated. Key areas of the economy such as industries, entrepreneurial development, innovation and technology, fiscal policy and taxation have faced problems emanating from the substantial growth of the digital economy (Ahmed and Gillwald 2020). Simbarashe (2020, p. 178) asseverates, "Among these, tax implications of the digitalized economy are perhaps the most urgent issue for policymakers, governments, civil societies and international organizations". Taxation is a not only a revenue generation problem but also a development issue, a regulation matter, a financial inclusion concern and a topic that touches on the fulfilment of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Citation: Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2022. Taxing the Digital Economy through Consumption Taxes (VAT) in African Countries: Possibilities, Constraints and Implications. International Journal of Financial Studies 10: 65. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijfs10030065

Academic Editor: Sabri Boubaker

Received: 22 April 2022 Accepted: 15 June 2022 Published: 9 August 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). The change in business models and the widening of global digitalization has enabled MNEs and other ordinary companies to penetrate global tax jurisdictions where they only have markets but no physical presence (Kelbesa 2020; Munoz et al. 2022). These companies have managed to generate profits in ways, which have challenged the existing international tax laws' adequacy in handling and tapping tax revenue from the digital economy (OECD 2019, 2020). The African continent is not immune to these challenges (Kirsten 2019; Latif 2019, 2020; African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF) (2019a), 2019b). The digital economy has led to a consequential digital presence and investments by digital MNEs such as Amazon, Google, Netflix, Facebook, and Uber. Most African revenue authorities and their governments have started to take a special interest in how to mobilize revenue from the seemingly intricate digital economy.

MNEs had been previously operating in these market jurisdictions such as Africa, but their activities have immensely increased in breadth, scope, and intensity. The widening of the activities is due to the expansion in digital transformation, together with the advancement in communication and information technology (Akpen 2021; Bunn et al. 2020; Deloitte 2020a; Simbarashe 2020). Digitalization has brought significant modification to the way businesses conduct their activities and transactions as well as to tax administration. The changes in the business world and the fact that they now lean more on digitalization was fueled by the COVID-19 pandemic. This accordingly calls for changes to be incorporated in regulation, infrastructural development, tax policy construction and tax administration.

The invisibility and borderless feature of digital transactions makes levying and collecting taxes on them a formidable task for all economies (both developed and developing) and more so in African countries where tax administration capacities are weak, coupled with underdeveloped technologies as well as resources constraints. Identifying digital businesses, determining the scope of their activities, tracing their revenues, gathering, and verifying information that leads to the determination of tax liability is difficult for countries in general (Lowry 2019) and more challenging for African countries (Santoro et al. 2022; Simbarashe 2020).

While revenue authorities continue to face the revenue collection predicaments emanating from the growing presence of the digital economy, digital transformation continues to heighten innovation and the emergence of complex business models. Tax administration in Africa remains unclear on the most effective and efficient way to tax the digital economy, yet the challenges arising from novel technologies and intricate business models continue to mount, increasing the likelihood of tax revenue leakages. Digital transformation has indeed raised questions on whether the current international tax legislation remain applicable and adequate for tax revenue mobilization in this globalized and digitally transformed business environment. The current legislation includes the OECD transfer pricing guidelines and UN guidelines on transfer pricing (TP) as well as various unilateral TP rules (arm's length principle). While considerable efforts have been made to regulate base erosion and profit shifting (BEPS) through BEPS projects (Simbarashe 2020), OECD TP guidelines (Kabala and Ndulo 2018) and ATAF guidelines on intangibles (ATAF 2020), the key challenges in taxing the digital economy have remained insufficiently addressed (Ahmed and Gillwald 2020; Kelbesa 2020; Rukundo 2020). The BEPS Inclusive Framework on BEPS and on Addressing the Challenges in the Taxation of the Digital Economy discussions have been ongoing, and the implementation of the negotiations have been delayed to the frustration of member countries, with some of these countries resorting to enacting their own individual tax rules on the digital economy. Divergent views have emerged among member nations. In relation to the OECD consensus-based rules, ATAF, on behalf of African countries, has posed questions on the effectiveness and inclusiveness of the proposed provisions and pillars guiding the envisaged implementation (Becker 2021). The thorny areas revolve around the applicability of OECD guidelines in the African contexts. Firstly, the issues of the effectiveness of international digital services tax rules in curbing tax avoidance and evasion by MNEs in Africa. Secondly, how the consensus-based rules take

into consideration the shortcomings of African tax administration authorities and other resource constraints. These issues raise concern on whether the playing field is level when viewed in the context of developed and developing country perspectives.

From the extant literature, African countries have moved towards finding their own ways to tax digital income. Some have introduced new direct digital taxes that are akin to corporate tax rates (Tunisia, Zimbabwe, Kenya, and Nigeria) (Becker 2021), others have used withholding taxes while others have expanded their consumption taxes or VAT regimes (Zimbabwe, South Africa) (Simbarashe 2020). These methods are not without their fair share of challenges and shortcomings. Firstly, with direct taxes, the difficulty lies in the establishment of the taxable nexus in accordance with the existing international tax laws. For example, the physical permanent establishment or the adequate physical presence. Secondly, digital MNEs such as Amazon, Facebook, Netflix, YouTube, and Twitter can engage in aggressive BEPS due to the mobility and intangibility of their assets. With the shift of the economy from the brick-and-mortar nature of businesses to the novel digital commercialization, BEPS is likely to broaden. Africa must find a suitable and efficient way to tax the digital economy.

Taxation of the digital economy remains explored to a limited extent due to its infancy. While some studies have focused on the need to tax the digital economy (de Lima Carvalho 2020; Ismail 2020; Schiavone Panni 2019) and some on the challenges of taxing the economy (Gulkova et al. 2019; Ndajiwo 2020; Saint-Amans 2017; Turina 2020), the methods of taxing the digital economy both direct and indirect remain comparatively unassessed. This paper focuses on the use of indirect or consumption taxes to tax the digital economy, the possibilities of effective revenue mobilization, constraints, and other associated ramifications. This study makes two vital contributions. Firstly, to the academic body of knowledge and literature on the taxation of the digital economy in general and specifically to using VAT to mobilize revenue from this economy. As highlighted previously, there is a paucity of literature that evaluates taxation of the digital of the economy using VAT in Africa. This study gives a comprehensive insight into the VAT legislation and administration that is still in its nascent stages of development and implementation in the digital economy in Africa. While Simbarashe (2020) gave an overview of the VAT legislation adopted by African countries in response to the growth of the digital economy, the authors did not conceptually analyze the practicability of administering the regulations, and the possible constraints and implications that can be encountered. Secondly, through a conceptual analysis of the VAT legislation and its applicability to the digital economy and by unpacking the likely pros and cons of VAT administration in this economy, the paper makes a practical contribution to policy formulation. Taxation is not only about collecting revenue but also about driving growth in the economy, encourage usage of goods and services as well stimulating international trade and investments. Therefore, by unpacking the key strengths of the VAT policy, the legislative shortcomings and possible areas of improvement, this paper helps inform future VAT policy amendments and new policy designs in African countries.

This paper found out that the VAT legislation with respect to taxing the digital economy was not fully developed in most African countries and that in some cases key terms and provisions of the VAT Acts were not clearly explained. The paper also found out that VAT is a cost that increases the prices of digital services and products, thus unfavorably affecting their usage. For example, if VAT is levied on services such as mobile money services, internet data, mobile phones and other digital products, this would affect usage, profitability of companies, corporate tax revenue, digital financial inclusion, and the fruition of the SDGs.

Having given the background of the conceptual analysis in this section, the next section explains the methodology employed to gather relevant literature upon which the evaluative review was conducted to generate insights on VAT administration in the digital economy, the possible opportunities, challenges, and implications associated with the VAT legislation enforcement. Section 3 covers the conceptual analysis conducted to unpack and analyze the VAT regulation in Africa's digital economy by focusing on selected

African counties. Section 4 articulates the implications and recommendations for future VAT policy construction and amendments in relation to the digital economy. Section 5 gives the conclusion, recommendations, limitations, and areas of further research.

2. Review Methodology

This article discusses the use of consumption taxes to mobilize revenue from the digital economy in Africa, mainly focusing on VAT. A critical qualitative literature review approach was adopted. The researcher conducted an evaluative analysis and interpretive critique of legislation documents, policy briefs and other previous literature to conceptualize the views of various researchers in relation VAT legislation in the digital economy. The researcher sought to give an analysis on the VAT regulation, the possible benefits, and challenges as well as implications of tax revenue mobilization in the digital economy using VAT in Africa. As proclaimed by Snyder (2019), a critical review of the literature enables researchers to gather relevant literature, discuss it, appraise, comment on it, and synthesize it. This equips researchers to give a comprehensive picture of the subject area. A critical literature review aids researchers in drawing out divergent and converging views on the subject area as well as identify research gaps, policy gaps and methodological gaps that could be explored further by future researchers (Mpofu 2021b; Paré et al. 2015; Snyder 2019). In evaluating the literature, the researcher in this case was able to draw out controversial areas such as the ambiguities in definitions such as place of supply and electronic services in the VAT legislation.

The researcher reviewed documentation on the VAT legislation towards taxing the digital economy in African countries. The documentation reviewed includes VAT Acts from the different African countries, especially those that have put the VAT legislation in place to tax the digital economy (Zimbabwe, South Africa, Angola, and Cameroon, among others). The article also assessed policy briefs released by accounting firms such as Deloitte, PWC and KPMG, among others, on VAT legislation on digital services. These were complemented by an examination of documents from tax bodies such as ATAF, developmental bodies such as the OECD and working papers from developmental research bodies such as the Institute of Development Studies (IDS) and the International Centre of Tax and the Development (ICTD) and other similar bodies. This was in addition to the review of previous studies on the taxation of the digital economy using indirect taxes, consumption taxes or VAT in Africa. The literature search was carried out through the Google scholar search engine. The search provided only a few papers, with most of them focusing on South Africa, which has been taxing the digital economy since 2014 using VAT legislation. To buttress the literature, the researcher used forward and backward snowballing to search for the more recent and previous works of the authors of the relevant articles, respectively. This yielded a few other articles. In total, 55 articles were reviewed. Therefore, to increase the diversity of the sources and make the review more meaningful, the researcher used a combination of the resources mentioned above (peer reviewed journal articles, policy briefs, working papers from development bodies and discussion papers from accounting firms). This was to overcome the limitation of the scarcity in literature linked the novel nature of the issue of taxing the digital economy in Africa. Data were reviewed until the saturation point was achieved, this being the point where further reviewing did not reveal any novel information other than what was already established (Sebele-Mpofu 2020b).

Thematic analysis was employed to present and discuss the findings of review. This was in line with the advantages of thematic analysis expounded by Braun and Clarke (2006, 2019). Data were presented in accordance with the key focal objects of the research, that is, the possibilities, constraints, and possible implications of the use of consumption taxes (VAT) to tax the digital economy. The main themes were further split into subthemes guided by the facts that emerged from the review. Accordingly, sources used were also referenced both in-text and in the reference list to enhance the traceability, confirmability, and trustworthiness of the research.

3. VAT Administration on the Digital Economy in Africa

This section presents a conceptual analysis based on an evaluative review of the literature on VAT administration and taxing the digital economy in Africa, focusing on opportunities, constraints, and implications. The sections guiding the analysis focus on VAT legislation, possibilities of mobilizing revenue from the digital economy using VAT and the challenges to effective VAT administration in the digital economy as well as the implications of levying VAT on digital transactions.

3.1. Consumption Taxes and Digital Economy Taxation

The broadening of the VAT legislation, especially the term 'electronic services', included anything ranging from software to advertising. As an output from the Global Forum on VAT set by the OECD in 2012, in September 2016 the OECD released guidelines to help countries to curb tax avoidance in the digital sector (Deloitte 2020b). These guidelines incorporated the destination principle to make non-residents service providers in market jurisdictions (country where consumers or users of the digital services are) liable for VAT in the market jurisdictions. Foreign digital service providers were obliged to register for VAT or appoint to registered domestic representative to do so on their behalf; this makes tax compliance and enforcement problematic (TaxWatch 2021).

VAT is normally referred to as a destination-based or consumption tax chargeable on a consumer. VAT is a broad-based tax levied on the consumption of goods and services (Beebeejaun 2020; Kruger and Moss-Holdstock 2014; Rooi 2015). The seller is the one who normally collects the tax. VAT is often applied on the price. VAT is a major fountain of tax revenue for most governments globally. In Africa, VAT is argued to contribute approximately 30% of national revenues (TaxWatch 2021).

The characteristics of VAT include: (1) Applicable to transactions on or the supply of goods and services; (2) calculated as a proportion of the price charged for the sale of goods; (3) chargeable at each stage of production or distribution; and (4) input tax (VAT) can be claimed. The mechanics of VAT computation are such that businesses can claim input tax that they have incurred in making taxable supplies (Lowry 2019; Russo 2019). For example, a company that sells clothing adds VAT/Goods and Services Tax (GST) to the prices of the clothes they manufacture and sell (output VAT). The company also buys a car for its sales and distribution. The purchase of the calculation is as follows: Output VAT-Input VAT = VAT payable or refundable.

Therefore, having explained the mechanics of VAT, the next sections look at the use of VAT in mobilizing revenue from the digital economy in international forum (briefly) (Section 3.1.1) and in Africa (Section 3.2).

3.1.1. The Application of VAT Regulation in the Digital Economy and the International Tax Platform

The unprecedented growth in digital activities globally motivated countries and international development bodies and tax bodies to explore possible ways to tap tax revenues from this novel economy. One such possible approach was the application of VAT legislation to the digital economy. Debates surround the adequacy and effectiveness of VAT regulation in fostering tax compliance and productive revenue mobilization at minimal administration and compliance costs. In most countries, VAT was never levied on digital transactions due to the absence of physical presence, hence significant revenues were being lost. This placed domestic companies supplying electronic services in an unfavorable position, since in incorporating the legal obligation to charge VAT to their consumers, their prices increased (Beebeejaun 2020; Lowry 2019; Munoz et al. 2022). Furthermore, the disadvantaged position was compounded by the registration and administration burdens, the VAT assessment, collection, and remittance costs as well as filling procedures. The OECD taskforce made recommendations to guide countries to build a fair and level taxation playing field and to protect the individual countries' ability to levy VAT. Four ways of

collecting VAT are recommended. Firstly, the traditional VAT collection approach, where the assessment for VAT is carried out at the border. Secondly, the vendor collection method, whereby non-resident foreign companies are responsible for the imposition, collection, and remittance of VAT to the market jurisdiction (destination principle). Thirdly, the intermediary collection method, that is, using intermediaries to collect VAT on behalf. Lastly, the reverse charge mechanism (Beebeejaun 2020). The destination principle which is adopted by most countries (South Africa, Mauritius, Indonesia, Kenya, Zimbabwe, and Cameroon) is argued to provide certainty and predictability in revenue mobilization through VAT.

3.2. Consumption or Indirect Taxes and Taxation of the Digital Economy in Africa

Resources mobilization from the digital economy is essential for post COVID-19 pandemic national reconstruction (Onuoha and Gillwald 2022), as economic activity was adversely affected. Revenue mobilization declined, and public expenditure immensely widened as countries committed substantial resources to fighting the pandemic. The situation is more precarious in Africa where revenue mobilization is generally weak, and countries are often faced with budget deficits (Mpofu 2021a; Sebele-Mpofu 2020a). Intangible assets have gained a significant role in the digital economy, with MNEs gaining a greater share of their value creation from intangible assets. These assets include intellectual property, trademarks and copyrights that are easily and invisibly shifted across borders and that are difficult to value for TP due to lack of comparables. TP abuse becomes easy in this case, siphoning Africa of millions needed to fund health, security, education, infrastructural development, and economic growth (Sebele-Mpofu et al. 2021b; United Nations Conference Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2020)). The debate in relation to VAT and the digital economy revolve around the opportunities, constraints, and implications. There is on-going discussion globally and in Africa specifically on whether or not to tax the digital economy and if so, using what method or tax head and at what rates. Table 1 provides an insight into the VAT provisions, collection mechanisms and tax rates used by some selected African countries. Table 1 foregrounds the overview of indirect taxes towards taxing the digital economy in Africa. The table gives a synopsis of selected countries' VAT provisions and the effective dates of legislation implementation.

Country	Legal/Statutory Provisions	Effective Date	Reference(s)
Algeria	On 12 December 2019, the country broadened its VAT legislation to incorporate sales of digital services, which are liable to a downward revised rate of 9%. The law remains silent on the registration provisions for non-resident providers No VAT liability threshold.	1 January 2020	(Bunn et al. 2020; Kelbesa 2020; Simbarashe 2020)
Kenya	From September 2013, Kenya levied VAT on digital services provided by foreign suppliers to the country 'residents. Kenya broadened its indirect tax policy in 2019 to include sales generated through digital sales markets, making VAT chargeable on these sales. Furthermore, the country widened the provisions for self-assessment under VAT.	1 January 2020	(Kapkai et al. 2021; Sigadah 2018; Simbarashe 2020; TaxWatch 2021)
Cameroon	The country introduced VAT on digital services. The provisions are such that the sale of goods and services to both businesses and individuals shall be VAT chargeable. All operators of e-platforms must register o VAT in relation to each transaction.	17 January 2020	(Simbarashe 2020; TaxWatch 2021)
Ghana	In 2013, Ghana put in place VAT regulations that if non-resident vendors selling/providing services to customers in Ghana should register for VAT. Threshold: GH 200,000 (estimated 25,000).	1 January 2014	(Simbarashe 2020; TaxWatch 2021).

Table 1. Summary of VAT regulations in selected African Countries.

Country	Legal/Statutory Provisions	Effective Date	Reference(s)
Zimbabwe	The company put in place legislative requirements for non-resident vendors of television, radio and other digital services to customers or users in Zimbabwe to register, collect and remit VAT.	January 2020	(Becker 2021; Deloitte 2020a; KPMG 2020; Simbarashe 2020)
Tanzania	The country's tax rules require non-resident provers of business to customers of telecoms services and e-commerce services to be registered for VAT.	1 July 2015	(Liganya 2020; Price Waterhouse Coopers 2020; Simbarashe 2020)
Uganda	The country's revenue authority (Uganda Revenue Authority) released a public notice requirement for non-resident vendors or providers of digital services to customers in Uganda to register for VAT and collect the Tax.	1 July 2018	(Simbarashe 2020)
South Africa	South Africa had initially enacted VAT legislation in 2013 and the regulations became effective in 2014. These regulations were broadened in 2019 with broader definition for electronic services. The country's VAT legislation requirement is that foreign providers of digital services must register as VAT vendors, collect VAT at a rate of 15% and remit it. The registration threshold was stipulated to be ZAR 1 million.	January 2019	(Kabwe and van Zyl 2021; Van Zyl 2014; Van Zyl 2013; Stephanus P. Van Zyl and Schulze 2014)
Angola	VAT rules were drafted in October 2019, which became effective in January 2020, providing that digital service suppliers must register with the country's revenue authority (Angolan Tax Authority) or appoint a local agent to collect and remit VAT in Angola.	January 2020	(Simbarashe 2020)
Morocco	The country's tax code provides that any service rendered or used using within the Moroccan territory is liable to the country's VAT at a rate of 20% that is applicable to digital services.	2019	(Simbarashe 2020)
Nigeria	Section 10 of (Nigeria's VAT Act 1993), No 102 provides that non-resident firms conducting business in Nigeria must register for tax, using the address of the person of whom the company has a standing contract. Accordingly, the non-resident company shall include tax charge on its invoice and the recipient of the service shall remit the tax to the Federal Inland Revenue Services (FIRS) in the currency of the whole transaction.	2020	(Ahmad et al. 2021)
Malawi	VAT on internet service was re-introduced in July 2013 at a threshold of MWK 10M (estimated at f 9.500).	2013	(TaxWatch 2021)

Table 1. Cont.

Author's Compilation from Various Sources.

From Table 1, it is evident that many African countries must formulate legislation to tax the digital economy through VAT/ GST. The VAT regulations presented in Table 1 require non–resident digital firms to register for VAT or to appoint a domestic representative to do so on their behalf. Despite the enactment of the new VAT on digital taxation laws or the widening of existing regulations to encompass the digital services, non-compliance by digital MNEs operating in Africa such as Facebook, Amazon, Netflix, and Google among others is still high and problematic (Simbarashe 2020; TaxWatch 2021).

African countries are losing a lot of revenue from the non-taxation of digital transactions. Initially, the South Africa VAT regulation on digital transactions was introduced in 2014 to cover a smaller section of electronic services; the definition was widened on 1 April 2019 to encompass electronic services provided by electronic communication or electronic agents or through the internet (Beebeejaun 2020; Bowmans 2020). Between 2014 and 2019, South African Revenue Authority Services (SARs) revenue authorities collected more than ZAR 600 million/year and an estimated ZAR 3 billion (USD 215 million) within the 5 years, (TaxWatch 2021). With the broadening of the VAT legislation in 2019 to include all electronic sectors, the SARs might improve revenue generation significantly. Discussions on the most effective way to mobilize tax from the digital economy have revolved around the superiority of VAT over Digital Services Taxes (DSTs) and the appropriateness of using VAT/GST to collect tax from the digital economy.

3.3. Benefits for Taxing the Digital Economy in Africa Using VAT

Ndajiwo (2020), while focusing on Ghana, Kenya, Rwanda, Senegal, and Uganda, expostulates that these African countries have an opportunity to mobilize taxes through VAT due to its comparative administrative ease. The researcher adds that the fact that VAT legal frameworks are already in existence, in contrast to the recently enacted DSTs, is an opportunity to exploit VAT in taxing the digital economy. Russo (2019) describes VAT as a low hanging fruit and that VAT ensures neutrality in taxation of foreign and local companies. For example, in South Africa, the VAT threshold of ZAR 1 million is applicable to both domestic and foreign companies, thus ensuring equity and neutrality in the treatment of companies. Ahmad et al. (2021) asserts that those who advocate in favor of consumption taxes submit that they promote investment and savings, thus promoting efficiency in the economy. On the other hand, critics claim that consumption taxes negatively affect the poor as they commit the greater portion of their income to financing necessities, therefore regressively affecting them, as VAT does not consider the ability to pay. VAT is also criticized for shifting the incidence of the tax burden to consumers (Ahmad et al. 2021; Kim 2020; Russo 2019). This section explores the possibilities and advantages of employing VAT in taxing the digital economy.

3.3.1. Superiority of VAT to Turnovers

Russo (2019) argues that VAT is more appropriate for taxing digital services than DSTs and posits that VAT is superior to corporate taxes on efficiency grounds. (Russo 2019) points to three important positive effects of VAT: (1) VAT does not lead to a distortion in business decision for example production, supply, and usage; (2) uniformity—VAT does not differ based on the total companies in the supply chain, not cascading; (3) effectiveness. Turina (2018) argues that modifying the VAT legislation to cover digital services is a more appropriate option and economically superior option to mobilize tax revenue from the digital economy compared to DSTs and withholding taxes. It is easy for businesses (digital services consumers) to account for VAT from the supplier through the reverse charge mechanism for Business-to-Business (B2B) interactions. It is quite challenging and not viable for Business to Customer (B2C) interactions. Difficulties in enforcing compliance are alluded to in some African countries (Nigeria, Kenya and Rwanda) (TaxWatch 2021). Despite acknowledging the possible superiority of consumption taxes, efficiency advantages and the fact that they circumvent tax cascading, it is important to note that there is ongoing argumentation regarding the conception of value creation in the digital taxes discussion (Kennedy 2019; Kim 2020; Lowry 2019). Stakeholders disagree on what constitutes value creation and how the value is created or added and by who (corporates or users).

3.3.2. Efficiency

Adhikari (2016) alludes to significant support for VAT-driven efficiency gains. While consumption taxes such as VAT are efficient and administrable, income taxes promote equity. Consumption taxes have the ability to avoid the dead weight loss of taxation, and to enable significant savings by individuals as well as investment and capital formation, and consequently higher economic productivity enhances efficiency (Kim 2020). In terms of administrability, those in favor of consumption taxes point to reduced complexity as a strength of these taxes. Researchers point out that despite the ease of administration, VAT passes the tax burden to consumers, thus making them regressive and violating the fairness and equity canons of taxation (Kim 2020; Lowry 2019). Researchers disagree on the regressive effects of VAT, with the OECD (2014) concluding from a study of 38 countries, that in 20 of these OECD countries, consumption taxes that encompassed excise and VAT, were nearly proportional or moderately progressive when evaluated for expenditure as opposed to income.

3.3.3. Creation of a Competitive E-Commerce Environment

Where African countries apply uniform registration thresholds for VAT registration for both domestic and foreign companies, equity, fairness, and neutrality are ensured, as discriminatory policies are avoided. The principles of an ideal tax policy emphasize the need for equity in tax policy and accordingly as outlined in tax morale literature (Luttmer and Singhal 2014; Sebele-Mpofu 2021), tax morale increases if taxpayers perceive that they are treated fairly, thus increasing voluntary tax compliance. Owing to the infant nature of the VAT legislation on the digital economy and the difficulties in enforcement due to lack of power by the revenue authorities and their commissioner generals to do so across territorial borders (Kabwe and van Zyl 2021), voluntary tax compliance is key. The fair digital taxation environment can indirectly encourage investment in the digital services sector, novel technological advancements, economic growth, digital financial inclusion, and fruition of the SDGs, such as gender equality (SDG5), decent work and economic growth (SDG8) and responsible consumption and production, (SDG12) among others.

3.3.4. Increased Tax Revenue Mobilization

Tax revenue mobilization is described as a stable, reliable, and predictable way of generating revenue for developing countries (Mpofu 2021c; Sebele-Mpofu 2021). African countries rely considerably on taxation for domestic revenue mobilization, the tax prominent heads being VAT and corporate tax. VAT is said to contribute around 30% or more towards African countries' overall tax revenue (TaxWatch 2021). Therefore, employing VAT to tax digital services could increase domestic revenue. Taxation is both a financing and development matter, therefore improved revenue prospects would lead to improved government funding as well as expenditure on education, health, security, infrastructure, and general economic development. Ultimately, increased government funding would lead to the realization of SDGs such as reduced poverty (SDG1), zero hunger (SDG2), good health and wellbeing (SDG3) and reduced inequalities (SDG10) among others.

3.4. Constraints to Effectively Taxing the Digital Economy in Africa Using Consumption Taxes

Non-tax compliance by digital or tech giants as they fail to collect VAT leading to large sums of revenue going uncollected negatively affects economic growth in African countries. Digital MNEs are failing to collect the VAT from their African customers and remit it to African companies (TaxWatch 2021). Therefore, they are contravening the African countries' VAT or GST in some jurisdictions. Different challenges are affecting the applicability and effectiveness of VAT legislation in taxing the digital economy globally and these might apply to the African countries, but they also vary considerably due the developed and developing country context differences. These variations could lie on administration and enforcement capacities, the state of development of VAT legislation, political power differences and clarity in legislation. Convergences on these challenges could be on the intangibility or borderless nature of digital services, as well as the ambiguities in key definitions. Janse van Vuuren (2019) and Rukundo (2020) allude to administrative challenges and increases in compliance and administrative burdens including costs. While assessing VAT legislation on the digital economy in Nigeria, Etim et al. (2020) point to the following challenges: outdated VAT legislation, poor legislation implementation, infrastructural gaps, technology, intricacies of digital transactions and the possibility of double taxation. Hadzhieva (2019) and Simbarashe (2020) posit that foreign companies raise concerns about the inconsistency in VAT legislation, the absence of double taxation agreements which compounds uncertainty and administrative responsibility, as well as advancing the probability of double taxation. This section discusses the challenges faced by African countries in the administration of VAT regulations on digital services despite the existence of legislation as set out in Table 1.

3.4.1. Invisible or Borderless Nature of Digital Transactions

VAT is exigent to apply to digital transactions. Contrary to the situation with the importation of tangible goods, where it is easy to levy tax, the intangibility and invisibility of digital services makes it challenging for tax authorities to enforce VAT on their importation, as they cannot be subjected to border checks (Kennedy 2019; Lowry 2019; Ngeno 2020; Kapkai et al. 2021). It might be challenging to collect VAT from companies with insignificant or minimal presence in market jurisdictions (Kennedy 2019).

3.4.2. Ambiguities in VAT Legislation Provisions

The TaxWatch (2021) points out that some digital MNEs such as Google, Microsoft and Facebook stated that they were complying with VAT legislation in some African countries where the legislation was clear and, in some countries, they failed to comply because the legislation was unclear. According to Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) ambiguities crystallize themselves around key definitions of important terms such as digital services, electronic services, 'supply' of digital services as well as the 'place' of supply. To levy VAT on a transaction, it must be initially demonstrated that the goods or services supplied fall within the purview of the VAT Act or legislation. The articulation of fundamental definitions becomes crucial in this regard.

Definitions of Digital Services and Electronic Services

In some African countries, the definition of what constitutes digital services or electronic services is lean and fraught with vagueness. Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) assert that most of the VAT legislation and even that targeting the digital economy has not been regularly amended or updated in line with technological advancements, digital transformation, and the continuously evolving and emerging novel as well as complex business models. Most of the regulation has remained static and lagging technological developments in the digital economy. For example, in South Africa, the regulation remained static from promulgation in 2014 until 18 March 2019 when they were revised, and the revision became effective on 1 April 2019 (5 years after initial formulation and implementation). The revision was aimed to make the definition of electronic services expansive to give leeway for amendment in response to changes in business digital environment and advances in technological activities (Kabwe and van Zyl 2021). In Table 1, it is evident that countries such as Ghana and Malawi have not updated their VAT regulations despite the dynamism of the digital economy.

Supply of Digital Services

For example, while focusing on South Africa, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) allude to the fact that the VAT Act does not spell out distinct place of supply guidelines or what constitutes a supply. The place of supply must be derived from interpreting Section 7(1) of the South African VAT Act (the charging section) and Section 14 of the same Act (the section provides for the reverse charge framework). In the South African VAT Act, the definition of digital services is broad, and the Act defines these services as those outlined by the Minister of Finance in the legislation. Different international jurisdictions as well as African jurisdictions adopt different definitions for digital services and there are variations on the list of those that levied VAT. According to Kabwe and van Zyl (2021, p. 505) "the lack of international coordination and cooperation regarding a uniform definition of digital goods has resulted in a lot of confusion and uncertainty for foreign businesses". The complex and cumbersome rules will discourage digital MNEs from supplying customers in some tax jurisdictions. The variations in VAT regulations also make it difficult for foreign digital companies to comply, as they must familiarize themselves with VAT legislation in all countries they supply with digital services. The uncertainty in VAT regulations can have potentially pervasive effects on international trade, economic development, digital transformation, digital financial inclusion, and the accomplishment of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in developing countries and Africa is no oddity.

Place of Supply

In some African countries, the VAT legislation on how to ascertain the place of supply is not clearly articulated. For example, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) posit that South Africa's new expanded rules have increased the interpretation conundrum of the use and consumption principle in establishing the place of supply. The place of supply definition remains unclear and not definitive. Furthermore, the researchers state that the all-inclusive definition given by the VAT Act does not differentiate between B2B and B2C, yet the OECD calls for a clear distinction between the two in both explication and treatment. Most African countries employ and lean on the destination principle as the rationale to impose VAT, implying the taxation of an economic activity is dependent on where the service is consumed and used. Despite the destination principle seeming to be clear, it is generally complicated for revenue authorities to determine that a supply of services happened within their country. Therefore, ascertaining the place of supply is pivotal to the administration and enforcement of VAT legislation on digital services. There are times where it is easy to employ the use and consumption principle to identify the place of supply and instances where the place of supply cannot be easily identified, meaning proxies must be applied. The problem is that the VAT legislation does not articulate possible proxies or alternative rules for identifying the place of supply if the use and consumption principle is inadequate in addressing the situation. Citing Rooi (2015), Kabwe and van Zyl (2021, p. 508) portend that "if the place of supply is unidentifiable, then it becomes impractical, ineffective and inefficient to implement the relevant legislation". In South Africa, the link between enterprise and place of supply also poses challenges. Though broad and encompassing even foreign companies that supply services to South Africa on a regular basis (deemed to be carrying on an enterprise), the problem arises where the provider of digital services cannot be linked to any physical presence in the world but conducts his business activities in the cloud (Kabwe and van Zyl 2021). Therefore, with the absence of transparent and decisive 'place of supply' provisions, it is challenging to assign the transaction to a particular sovereignty, and to require them to account for VAT.

3.4.3. Complexity of Some of the Provision of the VAT Legislation

The complexity of tax legislation has a negative influence on tax administration, enforcement, and compliance (Liganya 2020; Mpofu 2021a). The TaxWatch (2021) points to a lack of simplified registration rules affecting VAT compliance in Nigeria. The report further alludes to difficulties for digital suppliers with no physical presence to comply with VAT regulations, as they might not be keen to register for VAT. The report also points out that in Senegal, the challenge is that the country has no system in place for digital services suppliers to remotely register for VAT in Senegal while they are in their foreign domiciles. In Tanzania, Liganya (2020) also alludes to the complexity of tax legislation, coupled with the lack of awareness as well as the lack of clarity in the legal and regulatory framework for taxing the digital economy. Therefore, there is a need for a simplified registration and compliance regime for foreign companies to register and collect VAT at a rate equal to the rate used for domestic companies. In South Africa, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021), raise the issue of residency, which is used as proxy in the determination of whether the transaction was supplied to South Africa and hence liable for VAT, where the place of supply rules are not sufficient or distinctive enough to support the taxing of the transaction. The researchers argue that while the VAT Act provides three conditions for deemed residency determination, it is not clear on who is responsible for establishing the residence of the person receiving electronic services. These conditions include the residence of recipient in South Africa, payment of the transaction originating in South Africa and the business address or residential address of the customer being in South Africa) (Van Zyl 2014; Van Zyl and Schulze 2014). It is as if the foreign company is saddled with this responsibility. This seemingly brings unwarranted administrative responsibility on foreign companies. This complexity seems to contradict OECD guidelines that encourage clarity and simplicity in the construction of tax rules to allow for easy comprehension of the provisions of the Act, how to account for a transaction, when and how to do so as well as the likely consequences of not complying. The adequacy and accuracy of the three conditions in determining residency remains debatable. Many questions arise regarding scenarios where the foreign company fails to identify all the three conditions provided by the Act. The conditions or proxies are much wider in developed country legislation, such as that of Australia. These include the recipient's bank address, the recipient's billing address, the recipient's IP address, the user's fixed land line via which the service in question was provided with and other additional commercially applicable information (Kabwe and van Zyl 2021). Perhaps African countries can assess some of these proxies and their relevance to their contexts to tighten the legislative provisions to minimize disputes and ambiguities.

3.4.4. Registration

There are different provisions in the African countries referring to who must register for VAT. For example, in Zimbabwe, the Act refers to a registered operator who must levy and collect tax on goods and services supplied in the furtherance of trade, and in South Africa, a vendor must charge and collect VAT on goods and services supplied by a vendor in furtherance of his enterprise. There is sometimes confusion on who has the ultimate responsibility to register for VAT. In some instances, the responsibility falls on the foreign entity and in some cases the local customer or user of services (reverse charge mechanism).

3.4.5. Administration, Monitoring and Enforcement Challenges

These are divided into administrative challenges and monitoring and enforcement challenges for easier discussion.

Administrative Constraints

According to Rukundo (2020) and Sigadah (2018), administrative constraints should never be overlooked. Despite the VAT legislation provisions, online advertising companies are not complying. The researchers further allude to the fact that African revenue authorities are resource repressed, face capacity challenges and have feeble legal and administrative frameworks. The countries also face problems in accessing data and enforcing legal tax obligations on foreign companies (Mpofu 2021b; Sebele-Mpofu et al. 2021a). For example, according to The TaxWatch (2021), Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) and Bunn et al. (2020), despite African countries having put in place and announced the legislative conditions for digital MNEs to register for VAT, no notice has been taken of these. Political power imbalances are also at play causing administrative and compliance challenges. The TaxWatch (2021) point out the discriminatory treatment of the African continent, which could be linked to the absence of an opportunity to offset input tax against output tax. For example, VAT collected by Google in the UK is offset against input VAT charges for purchases of taxable supplies from the UK. VAT-free sales become preferable for digital MNEs when dealing with African countries, as they reduce the cost to users or customers, thus increasing sales. The segregated treatment is even evident on different African countries. For example, Google charged VAT for South African accounts, while for other African countries, they argued that the consumers in these other countries should self -assess to pay VAT through reverse charge method (TaxWatch 2021). With respect to Facebook, African countries with Facebook invoices that are inclusive of VAT include South Africa, Cameroon, and Zimbabwe. Cameroon and Zimbabwe invoices started reflecting the VAT charges recently.

MNEs tend to argue that African countries' legislation on VAT is not clear; this is despite the African countries having put the regulations in place, the policy briefs that are released by large Accountancy firms (such as Deloitte, KPMG, and Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC)) and other development bodies on recent development in legislation in Africa. The lack of clarity in legislation concerns might hold water to some extent, but to a greater extent, political and trade power imbalances (near monopoly) could be the main reason for non-compliance.

Monitoring and Enforcement Challenges

The lack of clarity in VAT legislation aiming to tax the digital economy is a concern in African countries. In Tanzania, Liganya (2020) alludes to the fact that legislation outlining how e-commerce transactions should be taxed is not clear. With specific reference to South Africa, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021, p. 516) raise thought-provoking concerns portending "Currently, there are no provisions in the VAT Act that enable SARs to monitor the compliance of foreign businesses. Moreover, there are currently no provisions in place within the VAT Act that impose penalties on foreign suppliers of "electronic services" in event of non-compliance". The other African countries are no exception to this. Ngeno (2020) and Kapkai et al. (2021) allude to enforcement challenges in Kenya. Even though the noncompliance penalties and interest thereon applicable to VAT defaulters in general is applicable, the Commissioner generally is not granted additional extra-jurisdictional power to collect unpaid taxes and accompanying penalties as well as interest. With no information exchange treaties and multilateral treaties in place, extra-territorial enforcement of VAT legislation becomes difficult if not impracticable. While Tax Commissioner Generals in African countries with VAT legislation on digital services are theoretically empowered to impose penalties for failure to register for VAT on foreign companies supplying digital services in African countries, the practicality of enforcing these penalties remains doubtful. According to Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) under these circumstances, the only reason that could compel foreign companies to comply with VAT legislation on digital services is the need to protect their names and avoid reputational damages for failure to comply. This is not something that African revenue authorities can rely on to foster compliance. It is something that they have no control over.

3.4.6. Lack of Knowledge and Awareness

There is lack of knowledge and awareness regarding taxes directed towards the taxation of the digital economy, including both DSTs and VAT in African countries, perhaps due to the infancy of regulations. The dearth of tax knowledge affects both tax administrators and taxpayers (Mpofu 2021a). Articulating this challenge with respect to South Africa, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) state that the reverse charge framework is a fall-back option, in cases where a foreign company registered for VAT does not collect VAT from a South African customer. SARs normally reverts to the customer to claim the VAT not collected and paid, because in terms of the Act, the customer must self-assess. SARs officials seemed not to be aware of the reverse mechanism assessment (Kabwe and van Zyl 2021). In some cases, foreign companies are not aware of the VAT legislation on digital services. This signals the need for effective communication and dissemination of information as well as taxpayer education programs. Without adequate knowledge and awareness, in both B2B and B2C scenarios, the taxpayer may fail to account for VAT due to ignorance or perceptions that it is a burdensome, time-consuming and unnecessary. Revenue authorities in Africa lean more on the honesty of consumers when it comes to the reverse charge framework (Van Zyl and Schulze 2014). This is a weakness in legislation; otherwise, there must be a legal provision in the Act to enforce compliance with specific reference to the reverse charge apparatus. There is indeed a likelihood that a substantial number of B2C transactions escape the VAT legislation. Revenue authorities might consider them insignificant; they might not be substantial when viewed individually, but might be material when aggregated, thus leading to the erosion of the tax base in African countries.

4. Implications and Recommendations for Future VAT Policy in Africa with Respect to the Digital Economy

This section discusses the implications of employing VAT as a tax revenue mobilization tool in African countries and discusses possible suggestions for ameliorating VAT administration and its effectiveness at tapping tax revenues from the digital economy.

4.1. Implications

Several implications could be attributed to the implementation of VAT legislation in taxing the digital economy. These ramifications must be effectively assessed in conjunction with the possible constraints as well as the likely opportunities and advantages of applying VAT legislation to the digital economy. Etim et al. (2020) submit the following possible consequences of applying VAT legislation: increased administration and compliance costs, negative effects on other government policies and tax heads, heightened tax evasion and resistance to policy and increased tax burden for consumers. The application could further lead to a reduction in consumption, change in consumption patterns, modifications to the market structure and increased uncertainty for the future growth of the digital economy (Guyu 2019; Munoz et al. 2022).

Katz (2015), while focusing on Gabon, pinpointed problems that could possibly emanate from charging tax on the digital economy. These challenges were explored from the perspectives of telecommunications and e-service providers and consumers. Katz (2015) drew four major conclusions. Firstly, from the consumers' point of view, digital taxes heighten the affordability challenges in the adoption of technology as the tax cost increases the price. The increase in the prices of digital services could negatively affect not only affordability but access and usage. This could affect the growth and profitability of small telecoms business, ultimately affecting the tax heads such as income tax (both corporate and pay as you earn (PAYE)), leading to a fall in tax revenues. VAT could also affect startups and small and medium enterprises as well as self-employment. Overall, this affects employment creation; more so in African countries such as Zimbabwe, Kenya, Nigeria, and South Africa where unemployment is high among youths and these youths have been exploiting the digital space to engage in self-employment. For example, Islandinso and Omoju (2019) and Etim et al. (2020) cited the Nigerian Investment Promotion Commission table that Nigeria was envisaged to generate USD 88 billion and create over 3 million by the year 2021. Zimbabwe is argued to have the second biggest informal economy in the world which, contributes approximately over 60% of GDP (Medina and Schneider 2018). As of December 2019, Kenya's internet penetration was approximated at 89.5% (Kapkai et al. 2021). If all these projections and statistics are anything to go by. The affordability constraints of digital services could further perpetuate unemployment, poverty, and inequality, leading to a failure to attain the UN SDGs and indirectly crippling digital financial inclusion efforts.

Secondly, even though consumption taxes can be pushed to consumers, the responsibility to account for and pay VAT rests with the digital or e-service providers who may in turn be faced with a decrease in infrastructural investment. This could arise if taxes lead to a reduction in the total amount accessible for capital expenditure. Thirdly, taxes result in taxation asymmetry between global digital providers in the digital sector. For example, companies such as Amazon, Netflix, Google, and Facebook are taxed on online advertising, whereas other online advertising companies and social networks fall outside the ambit of digital taxation. Lastly, the origination of manipulative tax avoidance schemes lead to revenue leakages and losses in market jurisdictions when digital MNEs engage in tax avoidance and evasion measures that result in base erosion and profit shifting (BEPS) (Katz 2015). Chang (2019) states that 80% of Netflix revenues is attributable to international subscribers. While citing Statista (2020a, 2020b), Beebeejaun (2020) states that Facebook made USD 18.7 billion from advertising in the first quarter of 2020 and Google generated USD 160 billion. They also made 74 billion for the year 2019 from advertisements. Beebeejaun (2020) states that some of these digital MNEs engage in BEPS-shifting behavior by shifting profits to tax havens to the detriment of market jurisdictions where these profits are generated. Concerns regarding usage reduction, market distortions and possible negative impacts on economic growth were also proclaimed by Becker (2021), Kennedy (2019), Lowry (2019) and Munoz et al. (2022).

In addition, some researchers have criticized digital taxes for impeding the adoption of novel technologies and this may curtail economic growth and development, negatively affecting financial inclusion and the realization of the SDGs (Munoz et al. 2022, Kearney 2014;

Becker 2021). Youssef et al. (2021) emphasizes the role of technology and the digital economy on entrepreneurial development. The researchers posit that digital technologies are playing a fundamental role in the transformation of the global economy, especially the modification of entrepreneurship activities and processes. Levying VAT on digital services and products affects the adoption and usage of technologies, thus negatively affecting entrepreneurial development.

Kearney (2014) alludes to a negative correlation between taxation of wireless services providers' prices and the growth in the 3G internet penetration in emerging market countries. Affirming this, Beebeejaun (2020) states that taxes may disincentivize the provision of broadband mobile network in ways that are detrimental to strategic public policy construction and planning. Domus et al. (2017) and Kapkai et al. (2021) raise the possibility of double taxation implications arising from taxing services such international roaming that could possibly give rise to VAT in the home country and the foreign country visited.

The lack of clarity in VAT legislation, especially in the definition of key terms could be a weakness for most African countries' VAT legislation on the taxation of digital services that can exploited by MNEs to evade taxes or even those expected to account for VAT through the reverse charge mechanism. In addition, the fact that the place of supply rules must be inferred from reading certain sections of the Statutes in isolation or in conjunction with others is problematic in itself. While referring to South Africa, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) affirm this. The researchers adduce that deducing the place of supply by a combined reading of the charging provision (Section 7(1) of the South African VAT Act and Section 1, which defines vendor, electronic services, and enterprise as well as Section 14, which outlines the place of supply, is confusing for foreign digital services suppliers who are not conversant with South African laws. This could lead to companies genuinely failing to comply out of ignorance or lack of understanding of VAT legislation in African countries, noncompliance due to legislation complexity (unintentional) and not outright tax invasion (Mpofu 2021c). While in terms of the law, ignorance is no defense, Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) asseverate that complexity and lack of clarity in the structure of the VAT legislation on digital transaction could be a vital factor in non-compliance with the tax legislation and an increase in the administrative burdens for tax authorities. Sometimes, revenue authority officers must grapple with numerous calls and emails seeking clarification on the ambiguous areas in legislation, thus leading to frustration and, at times, their seemingly uncooperative nature.

Practical and Policy Implications for the Results

The implications discussed above, and the results of the study point to gaps in three areas. These areas are: (1) the level of development of VAT legislation towards taxing the digital economies; (2) VAT legislation implementation and administration; and (3) the evaluative analysis of the possible negative externalities or consequences of the VAT policy on the digital economy and the economy at a large in African countries.

The first gap suggests that African governments and policy would need to reassess and further develop their VAT legislation to cover the current crevices as they open loopholes for abuse. For effective enforcement, legislation must be free from ambiguities and vague provisions as these provide ammunition for taxpayers to avoid taxes, manipulate tax laws to their advantages or even successfully argue their cases in the court of law. All this happens to the detriment of effective domestic revenue mobilization, yet taxes contribute significantly to total national revenue in African countries.

Regarding the second gap, addressing the implementation challenges would equip both the revenue authorities and taxpayers to ensure effective VAT administration, enforcement, and compliance. Lastly, with respect to the third gap, it is key to evaluate policy, both proposed and current, in terms of the cost and benefit analysis, the negative externalities, strengths and weaknesses and the impact on the economy. Tax policy requires governments to continuously evaluate, adjust, and re-adjust in relation to the outcomes of the evaluation to ensure efficiency and effectiveness as well as adherence to other canons of taxation. Tax policy must be able to address other functions of tax policy and not blindly focus on revenue generation.

4.2. Recommendations

This section addresses recommendations derived from the review and Figure 1 foregrounds the discussions. Figure 1 makes suggestions related to the VAT legislation construction, implementation, and administration as well as areas to focus on in reducing the negative implications on the digital economy and other sectors of the economy.



Figure 1. Summary of Recommendations to improving VAT legislation with respect to the digital economy. Source: Author's Compilation.

4.2.1. Full Development of VAT Legislation, Clarity in Definitions, Continuous Revisit and Amendment of VAT Legislation

The researcher acknowledges that most of the tax legislation towards mobilizing revenue from the digital economy is still its nascent stages and is still being developed; therefore African countries are encouraged to work tirelessly towards ironing out the shortcomings. The countries must bring clarity in critical definitions and find ways of effectively communicating the legislation to foreign companies that supply digital services. Key definitions such as digital services, electronic services and place of supply must be clearly defined to enhance the transparency and simplicity of VAT on digital services regulation. Alternative treatment of the place of supply or the possible proxies for establishing it where it is not easy to apply the use and consumption principle must be provided for in regulation. Therefore, tax law should not be static because the business environment evolves, and taxpayers are always devising new ways to avoid and evade tax. Tax law and, in this case, tax legislation on digital transactions should be updated regularly to keep abreast with developments in the digital sector and changes in technology.

4.2.2. Cooperation, Collaboration and Learning from One Another by African Countries

Researchers such as Kabwe and van Zyl (2021) call for international cooperation and consensus on an acceptable or universal definition on the definition of digital services. This article reiterates this call, acknowledging that to apply the registration measures, and administer and enforce VAT legislation on digital transactions on a unilateralism

basis is challenging if not nearly impossible. International coordination and cooperation are key. This has been affirmed by several researchers who urge African countries to join, critique and contribute on international platforms on matters that concern them (Ahmed et al. 2021; Ahmed and Gillwald 2020; Onuoha and Gillwald 2022). Rukundo (2020, p. 22) specifically states, "African countries should participate in global debates through regional and international organizations, pushing for reform and for the development of international tax rules that consider their interests as source or market jurisdictions". While acknowledging the importance of their participation, it is important to note that African countries negotiate from a politically, economically and resource-disadvantaged or weak position.

This article also encourages African countries to work on a continental or regional definition for digital services, electronic services, and place of supply to reduce the complexity of VAT regulation on digital services. African countries should also learn from the mistakes and successes of each other and other developed countries and use the lessons drawn to improve their own digital tax legislation. For example, to limit the inundation with queries and questions, SARs inaugurated a Frequently Asked Question (FAQ) section on the revenue services' website in July 2019. This section is regularly updated. This is a worthwhile development that other African countries could draw on and improve, especially in the context of concerns regarding the ease of accessing the section and navigation raised by Kabwe and van Zyl (2021). Affirming the need for African countries to cooperate sincerely and effectively, Onuoha and Gillwald (2022, p. 20) state: "This will require close collaboration and synergies between the relevant regional institutions on the continent, including economic blocs, the AfCFTA and the ATAF secretariats, in the evolution of policy process that allows African countries to debate issues between themselves without fragmentation, and as a first chance of effectively negotiating their way out of the current North-South hegemony".

The idea is for the African nations to strongly influence tax policy as a unified front and to ensure MNEs pay taxes in the country where the revenue was generated (market jurisdictions).

4.2.3. Capacity Building, Training, Information Dissemination

Revenue authorities need to build capacity to tax the digital economy, train officers and disseminate information to stakeholders on the new or expanded VAT legislation targeting the digital economy. The invisible nature of the digital economy requires revenue authorities to capacitate their workforce with technical skills and knowledge to match this intricate sector. It is also vital for revenue authorities to be capacitated with financial resources so that they invest in digital and technological infrastructure that is current to be able to tap revenue from the sector. The audit departments in revenue authorities must be equipped to use technology to follow the digital footprints of transactions if tax compliance is to be effectively monitored and enforced. African nations could perhaps share technical resources and expertise through trainings and seminars conducted through ATAF or by seconding personnel to revenue authorities that have been using VAT to tax the digital economy for some time, such as SARs or other more developed economies.

4.2.4. Cost and Benefit Analysis

African governments are encouraged to do a cost and benefit analysis in relation to possible digital tax revenue mobilization and the likely creation of taxing distortions, before constructing a relevant indirect (VAT) system. Policymakers must consider the trade-off on revenue mobilization and other costs. Tax systems must build efficiency and reduce the cost of collection, guard against over-taxation and minimize the possible adverse consequences. It is crucial for governments to strike an equilibrium between collecting tax revenue from the digital economy and other important functions of taxation in the economy such as promoting economic growth, redistributing resources, and fulfilling the SDGs such as reducing inequalities, eradicating poverty, creating decent jobs, providing reliable health services and affordable education. Considering these other roles of taxation, governments must assess how levying VAT will affect these other roles and make evidencebased decisions. Tax policy construction must always strive to adhere to the principles of taxation such as economy, equity, simplicity, convenience, economy, neutrality, efficiency, transparency, and effectiveness.

5. Conclusions

As the digital economy continues to grow, technology continues to advancing and business models continue to evolve, a new set of challenges for tax administrators will continue to emerge. Revenue authorities must come to reality with the continuous growth of the digital economy and find ways of productively taxing the sector, otherwise significant tax revenue will go untapped. This would be a challenge for African countries that rely heavily on taxes such as corporate tax and VAT to fund government expenditure. The article concludes that revenue collection from the digital economy in African countries remains a formidable task. The issue of which is the most effective method or tax head to use to tax the digital economy remains hotly contested among stakeholders such academics, governments, and tax authorities. While the review revealed some opportunities and strengths of using VAT, challenges and weaknesses were also evident. This points to perhaps the need for future empirical research in countries that have implemented DSTs policy and the VAT policy to evaluate each policy and even make a comparative analysis of the performance of the tax heads (VAT and the DSTs or turnover taxes). This article recommends the need for policymakers to improve on the legislative transparency and clarity of VAT legislation, improve on administration capacity and collaborate on both continental and international levels to build a strong VAT policy and improve administration and enforcement. Since this article is a review article that is based on a review of secondary literature and previous studies, the discussions and findings might be subjective as their foundation is based on the work of others. Secondly, as the conceptual analysis is qualitative in nature, perhaps future researchers could focus on empirical research on the subject area and employ primary data or a quantitative approach. Studies based on literature reviews such as this one rely on secondary data as opposed to primary data to base their findings on, and therefore this is a limitation for this study. Further studies could focus on conducting empirical assessment of the application of VAT legislation in taxing the digital economy in Africa.

Funding: This research received no external funding, and the APC was funded by the University of Johannesburg.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: This a review article and there is no shared data available.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Adhikari, Bibek. 2016. The Economic Effects of Broad-Based and Flat-Rate Tax Systems. Ph.D. dissertation, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA.
- African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF). 2019a. Technical Note: The Challenges Arising in Africa from the Digitalisation of the Economy. Available online: https://events.ataftax.org/includes/preview.php?file_id=25&language=en_US (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF). 2019b. High Level Tax Policy Dialogue. Available online: https://www.globaltaxjustice. org/en/events/3rd-ataf-high-level-tax-policy-dialogue (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF). 2020. ATAF Publishes an Approach to Taxing the Digital Economy. Available online: https://www.ataftax.org/ataf-publishes-an-approach-to-taxing-the-digital-economy (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Ahmad, Tijjani H., Abubakar Umar Farouk, and Rabiu Saminu Jibril. 2021. Broadening Nigeria's Tax Base: Focusing on the Taxation of Digital Transactions. *Financing for Development* 1: 65–76.
- Ahmed, Shamira, and Alison Gillwald. 2020. Multifaceted Challenges of Digital Taxation in Africa. Available online: https://www.africaportal.org/documents/20840/Final-Tax-PB_30112020.pdf (accessed on 16 March 2022).

- Ahmed, Shamira, Tapiwa Chinembiri, and Naila Govan-Vassen. 2021. COVID-19 Exposes the Contradictions of Social Media Taxes in Africa. Available online: https://www.africaportal.org/documents/21197/COVID-19-social_media_taxes_in_Africa.pdf (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Akpen, Nater Paul. 2021. Digital Economy: An Emerging Economy in Africa. Available online: https://wataf-tax.org/wp-content/ uploads/2022/02/WATAF_NATER_EN.pdf (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Becker, Celia. 2021. Taxing the Digital Economy in Sub Saharan Africa. Available online: https://www.ibanet.org/Taxing-the-digitaleconomy-sub-Saharan-Africa (accessed on 16 March 2022).
- Beebeejaun, Ambareen. 2020. VAT on foreign digital services in Mauritius; a comparative study with South Africa. International Journal of Law and Management 63: 239–50. [CrossRef]
- Bowmans. 2020. VAT on Electronic Services-Amended Regulations and Guidance from SARS. Available online: https://www.bomanslaw. com/insights/tax/vat-on-electronic-services-amended-regulations-guidance-from-sars (accessed on 11 January 2022).
- Braun, Virginia, and Victoria Clarke. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 3: 77–101. [CrossRef]
- Braun, Virginia, and Victoria Clarke. 2019. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health 11: 589–97. [CrossRef]
- Bunn, Daniel, E. Asen, and Cristina Enache. 2020. *Digital Taxation around the World*. Washington, DC: Tax Foundation, Available online: https://files.taxfoundation.org/20200527192056/Digital-Taxation-Around-the-World.pdf (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Chang, F. 2019. Netflix tax and after effects. International Journal of Law, Humanities and Social Sciences 5.
- de Lima Carvalho, L. 2020. Literature Review: Tax and the Digital Economy: Challenges and Proposals for Reform, W. Haslehner, G. Kofler, K. Pantazatou & A. Rust (editors), Series on International Taxation 69, Wolters Kluwer. 2019. *Intertax* 48: 1062–67.
- Deloitte. 2020a. Digital Services Tax in Africa—The Journey So Far. Implementation of Digital Taxes across Africa. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/za/en/pages/tax/articles/digital-services-tax-in-africa-the-journey-so-far (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Deloitte. 2020b. VAT in a Digital Economy. Driving Co-Operation across Borders. Available online: https://www2.deloitte.com/za/ en/pages/tax/articles/vat-in-digital-economy.html. (accessed on 20 March 2022).
- Domus, A., L. Latre, and Karler. 2017. International taxation and International Communications. Journal of Law and Legal Sciences 3.
- Etim, Raphael S., Ofonime O. Jeremiah, and Augustine Udonsek. 2020. The Implementation of Value Added Tax (Vat) On E-Transactions in Nigeria: Issues and Implications. *American Journal of Business Management* 3: 1–9.
- Gulkova, E., M. Karp, and M. Tipalina. 2019. Tax challenges of the digital economy. Vestnik Universiteta 4: 89–95. [CrossRef]
- Guyu, J. 2019. Taxing a Digital Economy. Exploring Intangible Assets to Broaden Revenue Base in Kenya. Available online: https://press.strathmore.edu/uploads/journals/strathmore-law-review (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Hadzhieva, Eli. 2019. Impact of Digitalisation on International Tax Matters: Challenges and Remedies. Luxenmbourg: European Parliament.
- Isiandinso, O., and E. Omoju. 2019. Taxation of Nigeria's Digital Economy: Challenges and Prospects. Andersen Tax. Available online: https://www.mondaq.com/nigeria/tax-authorities/810276/taxation-of-nigeria39s-digital-economy-challenges-andprospects (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Ismail, Y. 2020. Digital Economy: State of Play and Implications for Developing Countries. Geneva: CUTS.
- Janse van Vuuren, Peiter-Willem. 2019. Taxation of the Digital Economy: The Impact of South Africa's Value-Added Tax Provisions on Tax Compliance. Pretoria: University of Pretoria.
- Kabala, Edna, and Manenga Ndulo. 2018. Transfer mispricing in Africa: Contextual issues. Southern African Journal of Policy and Development 4: 6.
- Kabwe, Ruddy, and Stephanus van Zyl. 2021. Value-added tax in the digital economy: A fresh look at the South African dispensation. Obiter 42: 499–528.
- Kapkai, Philip, Irene Muthee, Bonaventure Ngala, Nuh Musa, Ann Wanyeri, and Evelyn Gathoni. 2021. Enforcement of the Digital Economy Taxation. African Tax and Customs Review 4: 1–23.
- Katz, Raul. 2015. The impact of taxation on the digital economy. Paper presented at the 15th Global Symposium for Regulators, Libreville, Gabon, June 9–11; pp. 1–61.
- Kearney, A. T. 2014. A wealth of choices: From anywhere on Earth to no location at all. In The 2014 A.T. Kearney Global Services Location IndexTM. Chicago: A.T. Kearney, Inc.
- Kelbesa, Megersa. 2020. Digital Service Taxes and Their Application. Knowledge, Evidence and Learning for Development (K4D). Brighton: Institute of Development Studies. Available online: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.1 2413/16968/914_Digital_Service_Tax.pdf?sequence=1 (accessed on 15 March 2022).
- Kennedy, Joe. 2019. Digital Services Taxes: A Bad Idea Whose Time Should Never Come. Washington, DC: Information Technology and Innovation Foundation. Available online: https://itif.org/publications/2019/05/13/digital-services-taxes-bad-idea-whosetime-should-never-come (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Kim, Young Ran. 2020. Digital Services Tax: A Cross-Border Variation of the Consumption Tax Debate. *Alabama Law Review* 72: 131. Kirsten, Craig. 2019. Articles: Taxing the Digital Economy—Why Is Africa Not Getting Its Fair Share. Available online: https://www.articles.com/articles
- //www.bdo.co.za/en-za/insights/2019/tax/taxing-the-digital-economy-why-is-africa-not-getting-its-fair-share (accessed on 20 March 2022).

- KPMG. 2020. Zimbabwe: Taxation of Non-Resident e-Commerce Platforms, Satellite Broadcasting Services. Available online: https://home.kpmg/us/en/home/insight/2019/09/tnf-zimbabwe-taxation-non-resident-e-commerce-platforms-satellitebroadcasting-services.html (accessed on 15 February 2022).
- Kruger, Des, and Carmen Moss-Holdstock. 2014. The South African VAT implications for foreign suppliers of electronic services-the final regulations. Business Tax and Company Law Quarterly 5: 14–26.
- Latif, Layla. 2019. The Challenges in Imposing the Digital Tax in Developing African Countries. Journal of Legal Studies and Research 5: 102–33.
- Latif, Layla. 2020. The evolving 'thunder': The challenges around imposing the digital tax in developing African countries. *International Journal of Digital Technology & Economy* 4: 34–50.
- Liganya, Bhoke. 2020. Taxation of E-Commerce: Prospects and Challenges for Tanzania. Mzumbe: Mzumbe University.
- Lowry, Sean. 2019. Digital Services Taxes (DSTs): Policy and Economic Analysis. Washington, DC: Congressional Reasearch Service. Available online: https://www.wita.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/20190225_R45532_fab3b713f012038983da04c124f162 170410f3e2.pdf (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Luttmer, E. F., and M. Singhal. 2014. Tax morale. Journal of Economic Perspectives 28: 149-68. [CrossRef]
- Medina, Leandro, and Friedrich Schneider. 2018. Shadow Economies around the World: What Did We Learn over the Last 20 Years? Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. Available online: https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/001/2018/017 /article-A001-en.xml (accessed on 20 March 2022).
- Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2021a. A Critical Review of the Taxation of the Informal Sector in Zimbabwe. Ph.D. thesis, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa.
- Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2021b. Review Articles: A Critical Review of the Pitfalls and Guidelines to effectively conducting and reporting reviews. *Technium Social Sciences Journal* 18: 550–74.
- Mpofu, Favourate Y. S. 2021c. Informal Sector Taxation and Enforcement in African Countries: How plausible and achievable are the motives behind? A Critical Literature Review. Open Economics 4: 72–97. [CrossRef]
- Munoz, Laura, Giulia Mascagni, Wilson Prichard, and Fabrizio Santoro. 2022. Should Governments Tax Digital Financial Services? A Research Agenda to Understand Sector-Specific Taxes on DFS. ICTD Working Paper 136. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies. Available online: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/17171/ICTD_WP136.pdf?sequence=1 (accessed on 21 April 2022).
- Ndajiwo, Mustapha. 2020. The Taxation of the Digitalised Economy: An African Study. ICTD Working Paper 107. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.
- Ngeno, Nehemiah. 2020. Taxing Kenya's Digital Economy: The Digital Service Tax (DST) Explained (Lawyer Hub, 2020). Available online: https://lawyerhub.org/blog/Taxing-Kenyas-Digital-Economy-The-Digital-Service-Explained (accessed on 22 March 2022).
- Nigeria Value Added Tax Act No 102 of 1993. 1993. Available online: https://www.mondaq.com/nigeria/sales-taxes-vat-gst/111059 0/nigeria39s-value-added-tax-vat-regime-regulatory-update#:~{}:text=Certain%20goods%20and%20services%20including, from%20taxable%20persons%20in%20Nigeria (accessed on 20 March 2022).
- Onuoha, Raymond, and Alison Gillwald. 2022. Digital Taxation: Can It Contribute to More than Just Resource Mobilisation Post COVID-Pandemic Reconstruction? (Working Paper, No. 2), RIA. Digital New Deal for Africa-Research ICT Africa. Available online: https://www.africaportal.org/documents/22459/Digital-Taxation-contribute-to-more-just-resource-mobilisation-inpost-pandemi_HbbLoxs.pdf (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development. 2014. Broader tax challenges raised by the digital economy. In Addressing the Tax Challenges of the Digital Economy. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. The Role of Digital Platforms in the Collection of VAT/GST. Available online: https://www.oecd.org/tax/consumption/the-role-of-digital-platforms-in-the-collection-of-vat-gst-on-online-sales-e0e2dd2d-en.htm (accessed on 16 March 2022).
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2020. Revenue Statistics in Africa 2020. Available online: https://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-policy/brochure-revenue-statistics-africa-pdf (accessed on 12 December 2021).
- Paré, Guy, Marie-Claude Trudel, Mirou Jaana, and Spyros Kitsiou. 2015. Synthesizing information systems knowledge: A typology of literature reviews. Information & Management 52: 183–99.
- Price Waterhouse Coopers. 2020. Helping you navigate Africa's VAT landscape. Available online: https://www.pwc.co.za/en/assets/pdf/vat-in-africa-2020.pdf (accessed on 24 March 2022).
- Rooi, Tsogo-Karabo. 2015. An Evaluation of the Practical Application of the South African VAT Legislation on Electronic Services: A Case Study. Potchefstroom: North-West University.
- Rukundo, Solomon. 2020. Addressing the Challenges of Taxation of the Digital Economy: Lessons for African Countries. ICTD Working Paper 105. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies. Available online: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.5 00.12413/14990/ICTD_WP105.pdf?sequence=1 (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Russo, Karl. 2019. Superiority of the VAT to turnover tax as an indirect tax on digital services. National Tax Journal 72: 857–80. [CrossRef] Saint-Amans, Pascal. 2017. Tax Challenges, Disruption and the Digital Economy. Available online: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/ content/paper/0bbf97ab-en?crawler=true&mimetype=application/pdf (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Santoro, Fabrizio, Laura Munoz, Wilson Prichard, and Giulia Mascagni. 2022. Digital Financial Services and Digital Ids: What Potential Do They Have for Better Taxation in Africa? ICTD Working Paper 137. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, Available online: https:// opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/17113/ICTD_WP137.pdf?sequence=1 (accessed on 24 February 2022).

- Schiavone Panni, A. 2019. Taxing the Digital Economy: Issues and Possible Solutions. Available online: http://tesi.luiss.it/25811/1/69 9661_SCHIAVONE%20PANNI_ANNA.pdf (accessed on 24 February 2022).
- Sebele-Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2020a. Governance quality and tax morale and compliance in Zimbabwe's informal sector. Cogent Business & Management 7: 1794662.
- Sebele-Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2020b. Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences* 6: 1838706. [CrossRef]
- Sebele-Mpofu, Favourate Y. 2021. The Informal Sector, the "implicit" Social Contract, the Willingness to Pay Taxes and Tax Compliance in Zimbabwe. Accounting, Economics, and Law: A Convivium, 1–44. [CrossRef]
- Sebele-Mpofu, Favourate Y., Eukeria Mashiri, and Patrick Korera. 2021a. Transfer Pricing Audit Challenges and Dispute Resolution Effectiveness in Developing Countries with Specific Focus on Zimbabwe. *Accounting, Economics, and Law: A Convivium*, 1–47. [CrossRef]
- Sebele-Mpofu, Favourate, Eukeria Mashiri, and Samantha C. Schwartz. 2021b. An exposition of transfer pricing motives, strategies and their implementation in tax avoidance by MNEs in developing countries. *Cogent Business & Management* 8: 1944007.
- Sigadah, Mariciana Nekesa. 2018. Challenges Faced by the Current Kenyan Tax Law in Dealing with Electronic Commerce. Ph.D. dissertation, Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Simbarashe, Hamudi. 2020. Digitalisation and the Challenges for African Administrations. Financing for Development 1: 177-203.
- Snyder, Hannah. 2019. Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research* 104: 333–39. [CrossRef]
- Statista. 2020a. Facebook Global Revenue. Available online: https://www.statista.com/statistics/268604/annual-revenue-of-facebook/ (accessed on 15 March 2022).
- Statista. 2020b. Annual Revenue of Google. Available online: https://www.statista.com/statistics/2666206/googles-annual-global-revenues (accessed on 20 March 2022).
- TaxWatch. 2021. Digital Giants and VAT in Africa. Tech Companies Fail to Collect VAT in Africa. Available online: https://www.taxwatchuk.org/T1/textgreater{}africa_vat (accessed on 15 February 2022).
- Turina, Alessandro. 2018. Which 'Source Taxation' for the Digital Economy? Intertax 46: 495-519. [CrossRef]
- Turina, Alessandro. 2020. The progressive policy shift in the debate on the international tax challenges of the digital economy: A "pretext" for overhaul of the international tax regime? *Computer Law & Security Review* 36: 105382.
- United Nations Conference Trade and Development. 2020. Economic Development in Africa Report. Tackling Illicit Financial Flows for Sustainable Development in Africa. Available online: https://unctad.org/webflyer/economic-development-africa-report-2020 (accessed on 20 February 2022).
- Van Zyl, Stephanus Phillipus. 2013. The Collection of Value Added Tax on Online Cross-Border Trade in Digital Goods. Pretoria: University of South Africa.
- Van Zyl, Stephanus Phillipus. 2014. The collection of value added tax on cross-border digital trade-part 1: Registration of foreign vendors. Comparative and International Law Journal of Southern Africa 47: 154–86.
- Van Zyl, Stephanus Phillipus, and W. Schulze. 2014. The collection of value added tax on cross-border digital trade-part 2: VAT collection by banks. *Comparative and International Law Journal of Southern Africa* 47: 316–49.
- Youssef, Adel Ben, Sabri Boubaker, But Dedaj, and Mjellma Carabregu-Vokshi. 2021. Digitalization of the economy and entrepreneurship intention. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 164: 120043. [CrossRef]

MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland Tel. +41 61 683 77 34 Fax +41 61 302 89 18 www.mdpi.com

International Journal of Financial Studies Editorial Office E-mail: ijfs@mdpi.com www.mdpi.com/journal/ijfs


MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland

Tel: +41 61 683 77 34

www.mdpi.com



ISBN 978-3-0365-7165-2